The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry 118 *Series Editors:* Damià Barceló · Andrey G. Kostianoy

Mahmoud Nasr Abdelazim M. Negm *Editors*

Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies **Engineered Systems**

Deringer

The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry

Volume 118

Founding Editor: Otto Hutzinger

Series Editors: Damià Barceló • Andrey G. Kostianoy

Editorial Board Members: Jacob de Boer, Philippe Garrigues, Ji-Dong Gu, Kevin C. Jones, Abdelazim M. Negm, Alice Newton, Duc Long Nghiem, Sergi Garcia-Segura, Paola Verlicchi In over four decades, *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* has established itself as the premier reference source, providing sound and solid knowledge about environmental topics from a chemical perspective. Written by leading experts with practical experience in the field, the series continues to be essential reading for environmental scientists as well as for environmental managers and decision-makers in industry, government, agencies and public-interest groups.

Two distinguished Series Editors, internationally renowned volume editors as well as a prestigious Editorial Board safeguard publication of volumes according to high scientific standards.

Presenting a wide spectrum of viewpoints and approaches in topical volumes, the scope of the series covers topics such as

- local and global changes of natural environment and climate
- anthropogenic impact on the environment
- water, air and soil pollution
- remediation and waste characterization
- environmental contaminants
- biogeochemistry and geoecology
- chemical reactions and processes
- chemical and biological transformations as well as physical transport of chemicals in the environment
- environmental modeling

A particular focus of the series lies on methodological advances in environmental analytical chemistry.

The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry is available both in print and online via https://link.springer.com/bookseries/698. Articles are published online as soon as they have been reviewed and approved for publication.

Meeting the needs of the scientific community, publication of volumes in subseries has been discontinued to achieve a broader scope for the series as a whole.

Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies

Engineered Systems

Volume Editors: Mahmoud Nasr · Abdelazim M. Negm

With contributions by

S. A. M. Abd El-Azeem · E. E. Aleisa · A. M. Al-Mutiri · S. A. Al-Mutwalli · M. Aquino · M. B. Asif · A. H. Avci · C. Aydiner · F. C. Ballesteros Jr · V. Belgiorno · R. Bhateria · G. Boczkaj · L. Borea · E. Cako · R. Choudhary · M. V. A. Corpuz · E. Curcio · N. H. Dan · M. Darweesh · K. Dinesh · R. Dineshkumar · D. Domszy · H. L. Duong · A. El-Banna · H. Elbasiuny · F. Elbehiry · H. El-Ramady · A. M. Enitan-Folami · K. Fedorov · S. K. Gupta · M. F. Hamoda · P. Hlavínek · N. A. D. Ho · J. Hoinkis · B. Ikizoglu · Y. Jani · J. A. Khan · G. V. Korshin · D. Y. Koseoglu-Imer · K. Kubiak-Wójcicka · V. Kumar · M. Kumari · T. Le Luu · S. Machula · S. Mishra · J. A. H. Mohammed · V. Naddeo · M. Nasr · A. M. Negm · L. D. Nghiem · L. N. Nguyen · B. Pala · I. Pancha · N. Pathak · L. Pugliese · S. Ram · G. Rawat · S. Santoro · T. Sapmaz · N. Shareef \cdot R. Singh \cdot R. D. C. Soltani \cdot T. B. Son \cdot S. Straface \cdot F. M. Swalaha \cdot M. N. Taher \cdot N. C. Thuan \cdot E. Topuz \cdot B. Van Nhat \cdot M. T. Vu · Z. Wang · A. M. G. Zedan · Z. Zhang · A. Žižlavská



Editors Mahmoud Nasr D Environmental Engineering Department Egypt-Japan University of Science and Technology (E-JUST) Alexandria, Egypt

Abdelazim M. Negm Department Faculty of Engineering, Zagazig University Zagazig, Egypt

ISSN 1867-979X ISSN 1616-864X (electronic) The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry ISBN 978-3-031-12901-8 ISBN 978-3-031-12902-5 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-12902-5

 ${\ensuremath{\mathbb C}}$ The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Series Editors

Prof. Dr. Damià Barceló

Department of Environmental Chemistry Barcelona, Spain and Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA) Scientific and Technological Park of the University of Girona Girona, Spain *dbcqam@cid.csic.es*

Prof. Dr. Andrey G. Kostianoy

Shirshov Institute of Oceanology Russian Academy of Sciences Moscow, Russia and S.Yu. Witte Moscow University Moscow, Russia *kostianoy@gmail.com*

Editorial Board Members

Prof. Dr. Jacob de Boer VU University Amsterdam, Amsterdam, The Netherlands Prof. Dr. Philippe Garrigues Université de Bordeaux, Talence Cedex, France Prof. Dr. Ji-Dong Gu Guangdong Technion-Israel Institute of Technology, Shantou, Guangdong, China Prof. Dr. Kevin C. Jones Lancaster University, Lancaster, UK Prof. Dr. Abdelazim M. Negm Zagazig University, Zagazig, Egypt Prof. Dr. Alice Newton University of Algarve, Faro, Portugal Prof. Dr. Duc Long Nghiem University of Technology Sydney, Broadway, NSW, Australia Prof. Dr. Sergi Garcia-Segura Arizona State University, Tempe, AZ, USA Prof. Dr. Paola Verlicchi

University of Ferrara, Ferrara, Italy

Series Preface

With remarkable vision, Prof. Otto Hutzinger initiated *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* in 1980 and became the founding Editor-in-Chief. At that time, environmental chemistry was an emerging field, aiming at a complete description of the Earth's environment, encompassing the physical, chemical, biological, and geological transformations of chemical substances occurring on a local as well as a global scale. Environmental chemistry was intended to provide an account of the impact of man's activities on the natural environment by describing observed changes.

While a considerable amount of knowledge has been accumulated over the last four decades, as reflected in the more than 150 volumes of *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, there are still many scientific and policy challenges ahead due to the complexity and interdisciplinary nature of the field. The series will therefore continue to provide compilations of current knowledge. Contributions are written by leading experts with practical experience in their fields. *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* grows with the increases in our scientific understanding, and provides a valuable source not only for scientists but also for environmental topics from a chemical perspective, including methodological advances in environmental analytical chemistry.

In recent years, there has been a growing tendency to include subject matter of societal relevance in the broad view of environmental chemistry. Topics include life cycle analysis, environmental management, sustainable development, and socio-economic, legal and even political problems, among others. While these topics are of great importance for the development and acceptance of *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, the publisher and Editors-in-Chief have decided to keep the handbook essentially a source of information on "hard sciences" with a particular emphasis on chemistry, but also covering biology, geology, hydrology and engineering as applied to environmental sciences.

The volumes of the series are written at an advanced level, addressing the needs of both researchers and graduate students, as well as of people outside the field of "pure" chemistry, including those in industry, business, government, research establishments, and public interest groups. It would be very satisfying to see these volumes used as a basis for graduate courses in environmental chemistry. With its high standards of scientific quality and clarity, *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* provides a solid basis from which scientists can share their knowledge on the different aspects of environmental problems, presenting a wide spectrum of viewpoints and approaches.

The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry is available both in print and online via https://link.springer.com/bookseries/698. Articles are published online as soon as they have been approved for publication. Authors, Volume Editors and Editors-in-Chief are rewarded by the broad acceptance of *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* by the scientific community, from whom suggestions for new topics to the Editors-in-Chief are always very welcome.

Damià Barceló Andrey G. Kostianoy Series Editors

Preface

This is the second of two volumes that together provide a comprehensive overview of the currently reliable, practical, and cost-efficient wastewater treatment technologies applied in several developed and developing countries. The two volumes support the sustainable development goals (SDGs) and green economy of the contributing countries, concerning high-efficiency treatment of wastewater to ensure safe and applicable solutions to increase the availability of water resources for various uses. Therefore, we included in the book the latest experiences from developed countries such as the USA, China, and Denmark to raise the benefits of the book for audiences and stakeholders. The book also gives valuable information to several communities that lack financial and technical support/resources necessary for attaining an environment-economic-health nexus.

This volume is divided into 6 main themes: Part I: Introduction; Part II: Physicochemical-based Wastewater Treatment Systems; Part III: Biological-based Wastewater Treatment Systems; Part IV: Advanced and Tertiary Wastewater Treatment Systems; Part V: Wastewater Management and Sustainability; and Part VI: Conclusions and Recommendations. It consists of 22 chapters written by researchers, scientists, and experts from more than 10 countries, including Sweden, Italy, Germany, Czech Republic, Vietnam, China, Poland, Denmark, and the USA, and other countries from the Middle East/North Africa (MENA) region, representing more than 30 institutions worldwide. The book gives essential information on the engineered (mechanized) wastewater treatment technologies and demonstrates the current challenges in wastewater management and pathways toward sustainability, offering a global perspective on these topics.

The editors would like to thank all contributors to this volume. Without their hard work during all stages of the book, it was not possible for this volume to see the light. Great thanks to them for their patience during various revision phases of the chapters. Also, thanks to all the team of "The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry" for their help and support during all stages from the moment of receiving the proposal until the book gets published. It was a long journey during a difficult time of the COVID-19 pandemic. Although the editors and the authors of the chapters did their best to produce a unique and high-quality volume for the benefit of academia and stakeholders worldwide, they are still willing to improve the volume contents based on constructive comments from audiences.

Last but not least, the editor Mahmoud Nasr acknowledges Nasr Academy for Sustainable Environment (NASE). The editor Abdelazim M. Negm acknowledges the support of the Science, Technology, and Innovation Authority (STIFA) of Egypt in the framework of the grant no. 30771 for the project titled "A Novel Standalone Solar-driven Agriculture Greenhouse – Desalination System: That Grows its Energy and Irrigation Water" via the Newton-Mosharafa Funding Scheme Call 4.

Alexandria, Egypt Zagazig, Egypt Mahmoud Nasr Abdelazim M. Negm

Contents

Part I Introduction

Introduction to "Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems"	3
Part II Physicochemical-based Wastewater Treatment Systems	
Adsorption: A Cost-Effective Wastewater Treatment Technology for Removal of Conventional and Emerging Organic Contaminants Yahya Jani	17
Wastewater Treatment Using Biochar Technology	35
Part III Biological-based Wastewater Treatment Systems	
Biotechnology for Green Future of Wastewater Treatment	65
Wastewater Treatment Applications by Using Trickling Filter as a Low Energy Consumption Solution: Case Studies Worldwide Noama Shareef	83
Advanced Configuration for Efficient Membrane Bioreactors Vincenzo Naddeo, Mary Vermi Aizza Corpuz, Laura Borea, Florencio C. BallesterosJr, Vincenzo Belgiorno, and Gregory V. Korshin	101
Membrane Bioreactor for Wastewater Treatment: Current Status, Novel Configurations and Cost Analysis	147

Anaerobic Treatment System: A Sustainable Clean Environment and Future Hope of Renewable Energy Production	169
Prospects and Potential Role of Biological Treatment of Textile Effluent to Restore Water Reservoir	199
Degradation of Selected Xenobiotics from Wastewater by Wood-DecayFungiAdéla Žižlavská and Petr Hlavínek	213
Part IV Advanced and Tertiary Wastewater Treatment Systems	
Nanotechnology Enabled Multifunctional Materials for Removal of Toxicants from Wastewater	233
SnO₂-Mixed Oxide Electrodes for Water Treatment: Role of the Low-Cost Active Anode	255
RuO₂-Based Electrodes for Chlorine Evolution and Its Application in Water Treatment Tran Le Luu	285
Comparing Tertiary Wastewater Treatment to Seawater Desalination Using Life Cycle Assessment Esra E. Aleisa, Mohamed F. Hamoda, and Asmaa M. Al-Mutiri	307
Cavitation-Based Processes for Water and Wastewater Treatment Kirill Fedorov, Elvana Cako, Kumaravel Dinesh, Reza Darvishi Cheshmeh Soltani, Zhaohui Wang, Javed Ali Khan, and Grzegorz Boczkaj	331
Emerging Organic Compound (EOC) Removal from Water and Wastewater Using Innovative Technologies and Materials Derya Y. Koseoglu-Imer, Emel Topuz, Tugba Sapmaz, Sama A. Al-Mutwalli, Bahar Ikizoglu, Mustafa N. Taher, Burcu Pala, and Coskun Aydiner	379
Trihalomethanes (THMs) in Wastewater: Causes and Concerns Minashree Kumari and Sunil Kumar Gupta	421

Part V Wastewater Management and Sustainability

Change Conditions	443
Microbial Biosurfactants and Their Implication Toward Wastewater Management	463
Best Practices in Wastewater Management in Poland with Particular Emphasis on Swimming Pool Waters	485
Towards the Global Rise of Zero Liquid Discharge for Wastewater Management: The Mining Industry Case in Chile	505

Part VI Conclusions and Recommendations

Updates, Conclusions, and Recommendations for "Cost-efficient	
Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems"	521
Mahmoud Nasr and Abdelazim M. Negm	

Part I Introduction

Check for updates

Introduction to "Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems"

Mahmoud Nasr 💿 and Abdelazim M. Negm

Contents

1	Introduction	4
2	Aerobic Biological Treatment of Sewage	5
3	Anaerobic Biological Treatment of Sewage	5
4	Membrane Bioreactor (MBRs) for Wastewater Treatment	6
5	Electrochemical Methods of Wastewater Treatment	6
6	Disinfection for Pathogen Reduction	7
7	Cavitation in Wastewater Treatment	7
8	Improving Bioremediation Using Biosurfactants	8
9	Emerging Organic Contaminants (EOCs) Removal	8
10	Nanotechnology for Wastewater Treatment	9
11	Biochar Synthesis and Applications to Treat Wastewater	9
12	Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) of Wastewater Reuse	10
13	Conclusions	10
Refe	erences	11

Abstract Recently, the rise of population and expansion in urbanization and industrial and agricultural activities have been associated with the generation of huge quantities of wastewater. This wastewater carries different organic and inorganic contaminants, trace elements, and emerging pollutants that probably result in serious human health risks. Accordingly, wastewater should be subjected to adequate

M. Nasr (🖂)

e-mail: mahmoud-nasr@alexu.edu.eg; mahmoud.nasr@ejust.edu.eg

A. M. Negm

Mahmoud Nasr and Abdelazim M. Negm (eds.), *Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems*, Hdb Env Chem (2023) 118: 3–14, DOI 10.1007/698_2022_911, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022, Published online: 18 October 2022

Environmental Engineering Department, Egypt-Japan University of Science and Technology (E-JUST), Alexandria, Egypt

Sanitary Engineering Department, Faculty of Engineering, Alexandria University, Alexandria, Egypt

Water and Water Structures Engineering Department, Faculty of Engineering, Zagazig University, Zagazig, Egypt

treatment processes to have a final effluent complying with the national and international disposal of regulations. The design, implementation, and operation of wastewater treatment units depend on the process, being either natural (ecological) or engineered (mechanized). This chapter represents the basic ideas of the mechanized wastewater treatment units covered by the book volume "*Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems.*" It gives brief information on activated sludge system, trickling filter, anaerobic digestion, adsorption technology, green nanomaterial preparation and application, tertiary treatment by disinfection, emerging contaminants, and a life cycle assessment (LCA) approach. Some case studies clarifying the idea of wastewater treatment by engineered systems are demonstrated.

Keywords Environmental impacts, Mechanized systems, Recycling and reuse, Sustainability, Wastewater guidelines

1 Introduction

The population growth has recently increased exponentially, resulting in a wide expansion of the industrial, agricultural, and agro-industrial activities [1, 2]. This pattern is accompanied by the generation of large volumes of wastewater laden with organic and inorganic contaminants, dyes, heavy metals, trace elements, persistent toxic species, and micro-pollutants [3, 4]. These substances negatively affect the environmental matrices and cause various human health risks such as nausea, vomiting, stomach cramps, diarrhea, icterus, and liver toxicity [5]. Stakeholders, policymakers, and decision-makers should have enough information about the wastewater treatment technologies to attain sustainable solutions for the mitigation of environmental pollution [6, 7].

Generally, wastewater is treated using three subsequent steps, namely primary, secondary, and tertiary [8]. The primary phase (also known as the physical treatment process) includes screening, grit chamber, dissolved air flotation, and primary sedimentation units [9]. This phase is used to remove large objects (paper, wood, plastic, etc.), particulate matter (coarse gravel, glass, etc.), and floating objects (e.g., oil) [10]. This step is followed by the secondary phase, also known as the biological treatment process, where a group of microorganisms grows under certain environmental conditions such as aerobic, anaerobic, facultative, or fermentative [11]. The microorganisms tend to bio-convert the organic and nutrient pollutants into stable inorganic by-products simply separated from the wastewater [12]. Finally, the secondary treated wastewater enters a tertiary step, containing filtration, adsorption, disinfection, and/or other post-treatment units [13, 14]. Each treatment unit should be well designed and implemented to remove the desired pollutant species [15]. Moreover, the required equipment (e.g., pumps, diffusers, heaters, and control unit) should be appropriately selected to reduce the capital and operational costs.

This chapter gives general information on the engineered (mechanized) wastewater treatment systems covered by the book volume titled "*Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems.*" The essential knowledge, skills, and practices about influent/effluent wastewater quality, design criteria, required resources (energy, water, chemicals/reagents, etc.), and initial and running costs related to wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) are represented. The following sections of this chapter briefly describe the main technical elements of the book volume, offering cost-efficient, reliable, and practical solutions to address the emerging challenges accompanied by pollution control and resource recovery.

2 Aerobic Biological Treatment of Sewage

The biological treatment of wastewater could be maintained under an aerobic condition, where the microorganisms consume the dissolved oxygen supplied to the system for breaking down organic contaminants [12]. Other pollutants such as nitrogen and phosphorus could be subjected to the aerobic oxidation process; finally converted into stable inorganic elements [16]. A mechanical aeration device (e.g., diffuser, compressor, surface aerator, and air blowers) is used to supply the wastewater medium with the required amount of air/oxygen [17]. In activated sludge systems, this aeration technique is used to support the microorganism's metabolic activity and keep the bacterial biomass in a suspension condition, representing the mixed liquor suspended solids [18]. In this system, an aeration tank is designed and implemented to provide a suitable environment for microorganisms to convert the organic compounds into carbon dioxide and new cells in the presence of oxygen. Other aerobic-based systems such as trickling filters and bio-towers are equipped with a packing media (e.g., plastic sheets, cubic sponges, and rocks) that offer a suitable surface area to carry the bacterial biofilm. This scheme is known as an attached growth system, where a community of microorganisms able to degrade the organic contaminants is attached to the media surface. Other species located inside the media could grow under a denitrification process, consuming nitrate as an electron acceptor.

3 Anaerobic Biological Treatment of Sewage

Unmanaged disposal of organic wastes has been associated with oxygen depletion in the aquatic environment, causing special challenges in the conservation of fishes. Anaerobic digestion is a biological-based process used to convert these organic pollutants into value-added products, such as biogas, under oxygen-deficit conditions [19]. The produced biogas could be utilized as a source of energy to reduce natural gas consumption and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions [20]. This process also contributes to the generation of biohydrogen and biofertilizers. The design and operation of anaerobic digestion plants should consider the relation between GHGs emissions and economic profit [21]. Implementation of the farm-scale biogas plants has the potential to generate ecological benefits and mitigate climate change and eutrophication. It's essential to explore the environmental, bioeconomic, and social benefits of anaerobic digestion of organic wastes for energy generation. Biogas upgradation technologies and future perspectives should be robust, economic, efficient, and easy to implement.

4 Membrane Bioreactor (MBRs) for Wastewater Treatment

Membrane bioreactor (MBR) is an attractive technology for wastewater treatment that could maintain better removals of various organic and nitrogenous pollutants from wastewater compared with the conventional systems [22]. In particular, the secondary sedimentation tank of traditional activated sludge systems is replaced by a membrane module that separates the solid phase (e.g., biomass, mixed liquor, and particulates) from the aqueous phase (wastewater). However, membrane fouling and energy demand/consumption are the main challenges for the wide implementation of the MBR technology. Fouling mitigation methods of MBR include mechanical/ manual cleaning, vibratory shear enhanced process, and alternating electric field. Moreover, air scouring is employed by passing bubbles near the membrane surface to generate local shear forces that remove the fouling layer. Ceramic MBR has several benefits, including a longer lifespan, higher permeate flux, and greater ability to withstand various temperature conditions compared with the conventional membrane material [23]. The reciprocation MBR depends on the application of a particular lateral movement that generates inertial forces on the hollow fiber membrane modules. This movement is driven by a motor connected to a moving bed that carries the membrane cassettes. This configuration has positive effects on energy conservation and fouling reduction.

5 Electrochemical Methods of Wastewater Treatment

Electrochemical oxidation is a promising method used for oxidizing (degrading) organic pollutants to simple inorganic elements such as H_2O and CO_2 . It could also be used for the decontamination of wastewater laden with pharmaceuticals, phenol, and organic dyes that are hardly treated by the conventional biological treatment processes [24]. Two different pathways are basically involved in the destruction of complex organic pollutants by the electrochemical oxidation process [25] (1) direct charge transfer reactions (the mediation of the electrons) between the anode surface and the organic pollutants, and (2) indirect generation of multiple electroactive

species (e.g., electrogenerated active chlorine) at the anode surface. The main challenges of electrochemical oxidation include polarization (accumulation of gases on the electrode surface causing poor mass transfer), passivation (generation of polymeric and oligomeric compounds accompanied by electrode reactions), and corrosion (formation of corrosive products owing to the oxidation reactions of the anode material). The performance of electrochemical oxidation techniques depends largely on the electrode material, such as graphite, platinum, carbon, and metal oxides. For example, the RuO₂-based electrodes are effective electrocatalysts in the evolution of chlorine species for the degradation of organic compounds and microbes in wastewater. The selected electrodes should meet three requirements: (1) degradation of various types of toxic pollutants causing inhibition to microorganisms' activities, (2) high stability under anodic polarization conditions, and (3) cost-effective manufacturing process.

6 Disinfection for Pathogen Reduction

Chlorination is the most extensive and widely employed technique for the disinfection of treated wastewater [13]. However, disinfection of municipal drinking water by chlorine could generate harmful by-products, such as trihalomethanes (THMs), which cause carcinogenicity, teratogenicity, and genotoxicity [26]. The formation and control of THMs during wastewater disinfection rely on the raw water composition (e.g., organic matter and ammonia levels), operational factors, and residual chlorine [27]. Hence, wastewater effluents should be subjected to de-chlorination before their final disposal in nearby water bodies.

7 Cavitation in Wastewater Treatment

Cavitation is a phenomenon that describes the formation, growth, and subsequent collapse of microcavities, releasing large magnitudes of power in the fluid [28]. Cavitation is established by passing the liquid through a specially designed geometry of a cavitation device (hydrodynamic cavitation) or executing sound waves within a range of 16 kHz to 100 MHz to create cavitation in the solution (acoustic cavitation). The generated energy (high localized temperatures >5,000 K and pressures 500 atm) depends on the fluid properties, operative parameters, and device geometry (i.e., orifice plates, nozzles, and Venturi systems). Advanced oxidation processes based on cavitation (hydrodynamic and acoustic) have been used for the effective degradation of contaminants in wastewater treatment [29]. In this system, external oxidants (H₂O₂, ozone, and Na₂S₂O₈) are added to the cavitation system for releasing more reactive radical species. Subsequently, HO[•], [•]H, HO₂[•], and H₂O₂ useful for oxidation, decolorization, decomposition, bond cleavage, and mineralization are formed. The generated species also reveal a high synergism between oxidants and

cavitation to maintain the ultra-fast degradation of pollutants [30]. Also, this hybrid system allows for removing highly persistent pollutants (bio-refractory, organic, and toxic contaminants) from aqueous systems under ambient conditions.

8 Improving Bioremediation Using Biosurfactants

The development of genetically engineered microbial strain, as well as optimization of a biological process parameter, is a greener approach to lower down the waste generated from various industries. Biosurfactants (or biomolecules) are active and amphiphilic compounds that can be produced at the cell surface of microorganisms such as bacteria, yeasts, and filamentous fungi [31]. Biosurfactants may be extracellular (secreted outside the cells) or intracellular (located inside the cells, requiring a cellular disruption process) [32]. Biosurfactants are characterized by biodegradtoxicity, and environmental compatibility ability. lower [33]. These non-conventional surface-active molecules have been applied in treating wastewater from different agricultural, domestic, and industrial sources [34]. Biosurfactants could be used for the degradation of contaminants (e.g., oil, phenol, and grease), oil-water separation, and removal of heavy metals (e.g., Zn, Cu, and Pb) under wide operational conditions (temperature, pH, and salinity). Biosurfactants could also be used to enhance the separation efficiency of the dissolved air flotation unit [35]. Advanced molecular tools should be used for biosurfactant production on an industrial and commercial scale.

9 Emerging Organic Contaminants (EOCs) Removal

Emerging organic contaminants (EOCs) are a group of pollutants of worldwide concern that enter the environmental matrices (soil, water, waste, sediment, and air) through various agro-industrial activities [36]. These contaminants tend to threaten human health and deteriorate the aquatic environment. The EOCs group is associated with several substances such as hormones, personal care products (skin, cosmetics, and fragrances), pharmaceutical drugs, pesticides, detergents, surfactants, and flame retardants. The technologies used to reduce the EOC risk groups include membrane systems, adsorption process, oxidation schemes, particular biological treatment, and/or their combinations [15]. An economic evaluation of such technologies for treating wastewater containing EOCs is essential. Moreover, it's required to implement an international discussion board and platform agreement to avoid the release of EOCs from the industrial sector.

10 Nanotechnology for Wastewater Treatment

Due to the release of various emerging, newly, persistent, and non-traditional organic pollutants in aquatic ecosystems, access to clean water has been considered a major global challenge [37]. Nanotechnology has been used to overcome the drawbacks and limitations of conventional methods used for wastewater treatment [38]. With the advancement in nanotechnology, nanomaterials have been employed for water disinfection, contaminant removal/adsorption, and enhancement of microbial activity involved in the bio-processes [39]. Different kinds of nanomaterials, such as carbon-based nanomaterials, biodegradable polymer–nanomaterials composites, nanocomposites, hydrophilic nanoparticles, and antibacterial nanoparticles, have been used for contaminant removal from wastewater [40]. The integration of green chemistry and nanotechnology enhances the applicability of nanoparticles to remediate and improve the environment [41].

11 Biochar Synthesis and Applications to Treat Wastewater

Subjecting biomass residues to a pyrolysis process results in the generation of a carbon-rich solid material, namely biochar [28]. The physicochemical properties of biochar depend on the pyrolysis temperature that can vary from 300 to 600°C, residence time (0.5-24 h), and feedstock types (e.g., plant, food residues, and agricultural wastes) [42]. The application of biochar in different industrial and agricultural sectors is a reliable, cost-efficient, and environmentally benign approach; especially when the feedstock biomass is readily available [43]. Recently, biochar has been widely employed as a cost-effective and environmentally friendly adsorbent for wastewater treatment with high efficiency. Biochar properties could be modified (using chemical treatment, or thermal activation) to enhance its performance for adsorbing various organic and inorganic pollutants. Relatively higher pyrolysis temperature encourages the preparation of biochar with a larger surface area and micropore size distribution able to adsorb the organic contaminants mainly by hydrophobic interaction and partitioning mechanism [28]. However, some oxygen-based functional groups (e.g., carboxyl, phenolic, and lactonic) able to form binding with the heavy metals could be enriched at lower pyrolysis temperatures. More studies are required to illustrate the characterization and preparation of biochar, with demonstrating the major mechanisms involved in the removal of organic and inorganic contaminants from wastewater. Moreover, future research should aim to balance between the optimization of the biochar production process (e.g., optimum pyrolysis temperature) and the minimization of the preparation costs.

12 Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) of Wastewater Reuse

The world is facing a dual challenge of water scarcity and climate change, causing various unprecedented issues [44]. This problem reaches its peak in the arid areas, including the Arabian Gulf region, that rely on desalination using fossil fuels to raise the water resources availability and quality. Hence, the reuse of treated wastewater to cope with the water scarcity issue is an essential task. Life cycle assessment (LCA) should be performed to meet the missed opportunities and challenges associated with the full utilization of municipal recycled wastewater [45]. Life cycle assessment (LCA) includes the impacts of particulate matter (as kg PM2.5 equivalent), climate change (as kg CO₂ equivalent), fossil fuel depletion (as kg oil equivalent), human toxicity (as kg 1,4-dichlorobenzene equivalent), and metal depletion on the reuse of tertiary treated effluent for irrigation purposes [46]. The data used to construct the LCA system boundaries (from cradle-to-gate), including materials, energy/electricity requirements, and chemicals/reagents, could be collected via field visits, reports, or the literature. Specific crops able to grow by reclaimed water reuse should be defined to maintain appropriate management of high volumes of wastewater [47].

13 Conclusions

This chapter gives a brief overview of the main topics covered by the book volume titled "*Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems.*" This volume focuses on the application of engineered and well-designed systems used for treating various wastewater types. These systems could be implemented based on the process configuration (suspended growth, attached growth, or hybrid system), feeding scheme (batch, continuous, or semi-batch), and oxidation state (use oxygen, nitrate, or sulfate as electron acceptors). As such, this work successfully represented the cost-effective, practical, and feasible systems used in the wastewater treatment plants. Evaluation of wastewater treatment performance using the life cycle assessment (LCA) tool, regarding challenges of climate change, resource scarcity, and lack of funding is addressed. The chapter outputs would attract environmental managers, researchers, and policymakers alike.

Acknowledgments The editors who wrote this chapter would like to thank the authors of the chapters for their efforts during the different phases of the book including their inputs in this chapter. The first author acknowledges Nasr Academy for Sustainable Environment (NASE). The second author acknowledges the support of the Science, Technology, and Innovation Authority (STIFA) of Egypt in the framework of the grant no. 30771 for the project titled "A Novel Standalone Solar-driven Agriculture Greenhouse - Desalination System: That Grows its Energy and Irrigation Water" via the Newton-Mosharafa Funding Scheme Call 4.

References

- Ansari F, Ravindran B, Gupta S, Nasr M, Rawat I, Bux F (2019) Techno-economic estimation of wastewater phycoremediation and environmental benefits using Scenedesmus obliquus microalgae. J Environ Manage 240:293–302
- Fawzy M, Nasr M, Abdel-Rahman A, Hosny G, Odhafa B (2019) Techno-economic and environmental approaches of Cd2+ adsorption by olive leaves (Olea europaea L.) waste. Int J Phytoremediation 21(12):1205–1214
- 3. Fawzy M, Nasr M, Helmi S, Nagy H (2016) Experimental and theoretical approaches for Cd (II) biosorption from aqueous solution using Oryza sativa biomass. Int J Phytoremediation 18(11):1096–1103
- Kumi A, Ibrahim M, Nasr M, Fujii M (2020) Biochar synthesis for industrial wastewater treatment: a critical review. Mater Sci Forum 1008:202–212
- 5. USEPA (2009) Targeted National Sewage Sludge Survey Sampling and Analysis Technical Report. United States Environmental Protection Agency, Washington
- Ansari F, Nasr M, Rawat I, Bux F (2021) Artificial neural network and techno-economic estimation with algae-based tertiary wastewater treatment. J Water Process Eng 40:101761. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jwpe.2020.101761
- Nasr M, Shmroukh A (2020) Gray-to-green infrastructure for stormwater management: an applicable approach in Alexandria City, Egypt. In: Negm A (ed) Flash floods in Egypt. Advances in science, technology & innovation (IEREK interdisciplinary series for sustainable development). Springer, Cham, pp 369–379. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29635-3_16
- Ahmad Ansari F, Nasr M, Guldhe A, Kumar Gupta S, Rawat I, Bux F (2020) Techno-economic feasibility of algal aquaculture via fish and biodiesel production pathways: a commercial-scale application. Sci Total Environ 704:135259
- 9. Nasr M, Ismail S (2015) Performance evaluation of sedimentation followed by constructed wetlands for drainage water treatment. Sustain Environ Res 25(3):141–150
- Gupta S, Kumar N, Guldhe A, Ansari F, Rawat I, Nasr M, Bux F (2018) Wastewater to biofuels: comprehensive evaluation of various flocculants on biochemical composition and yield of microalgae. Ecol Eng 117:62–68
- Ansari F, Singh P, Guldhe A, Bux F (2017) Microalgal cultivation using aquaculture wastewater: integrated biomass generation and nutrient remediation. Algal Res 21:169–177
- Jin L, Sun X, Ren H, Huang H (2023) Hotspots and trends of biological water treatment based on bibliometric review and patents analysis. J Environ Sci 125:774–785
- Deepnarain N, Nasr M, Kumari S, Stenström T, Reddy P, Pillay K, Bux F (2020) Artificial intelligence and multivariate statistics for comprehensive assessment of filamentous bacteria in wastewater treatment plants experiencing sludge bulking. Environ Technol Innov 19:100853. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eti.2020.100853
- He Q, Li X, Ren Y (2022) Analysis of the simultaneous adsorption mechanism of ammonium and phosphate on magnesium-modified biochar and the slow release effect of fertiliser. Biochar 4(1):25
- 15. Fawzy M, Nasr M, Nagy H, Helmi S (2018) Artificial intelligence and regression analysis for Cd(II) ion biosorption from aqueous solution by Gossypium barbadense waste. Environ Sci Pollut Res 25(6):5875–5888
- 16. Zulkifli M, Abu Hasan H, Sheikh Abdullah S, Muhamad M (2022) A review of ammonia removal using a biofilm-based reactor and its challenges. J Environ Manage 315:115162
- 17. Xu D, Li J, Liu J, Qu X, Ma H (2022) Advances in continuous flow aerobic granular sludge: a review. Process Saf Environ Prot 163:27–35
- Jaiswal M, Hussain J, Gupta S, Nasr M, Nema A (2019) Comprehensive evaluation of water quality status for entire stretch of Yamuna River, India. Environ Monit Assess 191(4):208
- Dsane V, An S, Choi Y (2022) Distinctive differences in the granulation of saline and non-saline enriched anaerobic ammonia oxidizing (AMX) bacteria. J Environ Sci 122:162–173

- 20. Putro L (2022) Emissions of CH4 and CO2 from wastewater of palm oil mills: a real contribution to increase the greenhouse gas and its potential as renewable energy sources. Environ Nat Resour J 20(1):61–72
- Long S, Liu X, Chen J, Zhao L, Pavlostathis S (2022) Effect of tetracycline on bio-electrochemically assisted anaerobic methanogenic systems: process performance, microbial community structure, and functional genes. Sci Total Environ 837:155756
- 22. İlyasoglu G, Kose-Mutlu B, Mutlu-Salmanli O, Koyuncu I (2022) Removal of organic micropollutans by adsorptive membrane. Chemosphere 302:134775
- 23. Dao K-C, Yang C-C, Chen K-F, Tsai Y-P (2022) Effect of operational parameters on the removal of carbamazepine and nutrients in a submerged ceramic membrane bioreactor. Membranes 12(4):420
- 24. Martínez-Huitle C, Panizza M (2018) Electrochemical oxidation of organic pollutants for wastewater treatment. Curr Opin Electrochem 11:62–71
- 25. Garcia-Segura S, Ocon J, Chong M (2018) Electrochemical oxidation remediation of real wastewater effluents a review. Process Saf Environ Prot 113:48–67
- 26. Deepnarain N, Nasr M, Amoah I, Enitan-Folami A, Reddy P, Stenström T, Kumari S, Bux F (2020) Impact of sludge bulking on receiving environment using quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA)-based management for full-scale wastewater treatment plants. J Environ Manage 267:110660
- Khajouei G, Finklea H, Lin L-S (2022) UV/chlorine advanced oxidation processes for degradation of contaminants in water and wastewater: a comprehensive review. J Environ Chem Eng 10(3):107508
- Ezz H, Ibrahim M, Fujii M, Nasr M (2021) Dual biogas and biochar production from rice straw biomass: a techno-economic and sustainable development approach. Biomass Convers Biorefin
- Gawande G, Pinjari D, Chavan P (2022) Degradation of tartrazine using hydrodynamic cavitation-based hybrid techniques and Fenton chemistry. Chem Eng Technol 45(6):1148–1157
- 30. Cako E, Gunasekaran K, Soltani RC, Boczkaj G (2020) Ultrafast degradation of brilliant cresyl blue under hydrodynamic cavitation based advanced oxidation processes (AOPs). Water Resour Ind 24:100134
- Markande A, Patel D, Varjani S (2021) A review on biosurfactants: properties, applications and current developments. Bioresour Technol 330:124963
- 32. Karlapudi A, Venkateswarulu T, Tammineedi J, Kanumuri L, Ravuru B, Dirisala V, Kodali V (2018) Role of biosurfactants in bioremediation of oil pollution a review. Petroleum 4(3): 241–249
- 33. Saharan B, Sahu R, Sharma D (2012) A review on biosurfactants: fermentation, current developments and perspectives. Genet Eng Biotechnol J:1–14
- 34. Vieira I, Santos B, Ruzene D, Silva D (2021) An overview of current research and developments in biosurfactants. J Ind Eng Chem 100:1–18
- 35. Saleem H, Pal P, Haija M, Banat F (2019) Regeneration and reuse of bio-surfactant to produce colloidal gas aphrons for heavy metal ions removal using single and multistage cascade flotation. J Clean Prod 217:493–502
- 36. Nasr M (2019) Environmental perspectives of plant-microbe nexus for soil and water remediation. In: Kumar V, Prasad R, Kumar M, Choudhary D (eds) Microbiome in plant health and disease. Springer, Singapore, pp 403–419. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-8495-0_18
- 37. Nakum J, Bhattacharya D (2022) Various green nanomaterials used for wastewater and soil treatment: a mini-review. Front Environ Sci 9:724814
- Bayat F, Didar T, Hosseinidoust Z (2021) Emerging investigator series: bacteriophages as nano engineering tools for quality monitoring and pathogen detection in water and wastewater. Environ Sci Nano 8(2):367–389
- 39. Fito J, Kefeni K, Nkambule T (2022) The potential of biochar-photocatalytic nanocomposites for removal of organic micropollutants from wastewater. Sci Total Environ 829:154648
- 40. Raza A, Altaf S, Ali S, Ikram M, Li G (2022) Recent advances in carbonaceous sustainable nanomaterials for wastewater treatments. Sustainable Mater Technol 32:e00406

- 41. Fawzy M, Nasr M, Adel S, Helmi S (2018) Regression model, artificial neural network, and cost estimation for biosorption of Ni(II)-ions from aqueous solutions by Potamogeton pectinatus. Int J Phytoremediation 20(4):321–329
- 42. Kumi A, Ibrahim M, Fujii M, Nasr M (2020) Synthesis of sludge-derived biochar modified with eggshell waste for monoethylene glycol removal from aqueous solutions. SN Appl Sci 2(10): 1696
- 43. Kumi A, Ibrahim M, Fujii M, Nasr M (2022) Petrochemical wastewater treatment by eggshell modified biochar as adsorbent: a techno-economic and sustainable approach. Adsorpt Sci Technol 2022:2323836
- 44. Dewalkar S, Shastri S (2022) Integrated life cycle assessment and life cycle cost assessment based fuzzy multi-criteria decision-making approach for selection of appropriate wastewater treatment system. J Water Process Eng 45:102476
- 45. Al-Anbari M, Altaee S, Kareem S (2022) Using life cycle assessment (LCA) in appraisal sustainability indicators of Najaf wastewater treatment plant. Egypt J Chem 65(9):513–519
- 46. Deepak A, Sharma V, Kumar D (2022) Life cycle assessment of biomedical waste management for reduced environmental impacts. J Clean Prod 349:131376
- 47. Abdulla H, El-Shatoury S, El-Shahawy A, Ghorab S, Nasr M, Trujillo M (2019) An integrated bioaugmentation/electrocoagulation concept for olive mill wastewater management and the reuse in irrigation of biofuel plants: a pilot study. Environ Sci Pollut Res 26(16):15803–15815

Part II Physicochemical-based Wastewater Treatment Systems



Adsorption: A Cost-Effective Wastewater Treatment Technology for Removal of Conventional and Emerging Organic Contaminants

Yahya Jani

Contents

1	Introduction	18				
2	Water Contaminants					
3	Types of Adsorbents	21				
4	Thermodynamic of Adsorption	24				
5	Adsorption Mechanism and Kinetics	24				
	5.1 Elovich Model	25				
	5.2 Pseudo-First-Order Model	25				
	5.3 Pseudo-Second-Order Model	26				
6	Adsorption Isotherm Models	26				
	6.1 Langmuir Isotherm	27				
	6.2 Freundlich Isotherm	27				
	6.3 The BET Isotherm	28				
7	Adsorption Technology and Sustainable Development of Resources	28				
	7.1 Adsorption of Emerging Contaminants	29				
8	Conclusions	29				
Ret	ferences	29				

Abstract Water is a vital component for sustaining life on the earth because it is interacted with all metabolic activities of all living beings (human, plants, and others). The decomposition of organic pollutants, in general, causes oxygen deficiency in water bodies that can lead to severe damages in the ecosystem. Therefore,

Y. Jani (🖂)

Mahmoud Nasr and Abdelazim M. Negm (eds.), *Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems*, Hdb Env Chem (2023) 118: 17–34, DOI 10.1007/698_2022_867, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022, Published online: 18 May 2022

Department of Urban Studies/Unit of Built Environment and Environmental Science, Malmö University, Malmö, Sweden

Division of Sustainable Environment and Construction, School of Business Society and Engineering, Mälardalen University, Västerås, Sweden e-mail: yahya.jani@mdu.se; yahya.jani@mau.se

cost-effective innovative methods for the purification of wastewater is always needed. One of the most important methods that has gathered attention is adsorption. This method has witnessed continuous development in the case of the selected materials as adsorbents. Low cost as well as the production of new nano-materials have been used for the decontamination of water. In this chapter, a general overview based on the information available in the literature was produced to highlight the importance of adsorption as a method for the purification of water from conventional and emerging organic compounds.

Keywords Adsorption, Organic pollutants, Wastewater, Water contamination, Water purification

1 Introduction

The development of the standard of living with population growth and climate change are crucial factors that contribute to increase the demands for most of the Earth finite natural resources, in particularly fresh water. Different parts of the world are already suffering from a shortage of fresh water resources. This fresh water represents 2–3% of the total water found on the Earth and it is the main sources for sustaining life [1]. Although, 80% of the fresh water resources is wasted in different compartments such as industrial, agriculture, and others, as shown in Fig. 1, for Europe [2]. Most of the wastewater is then discharged directly to recipients (oceans, rivers, lakes, and other bodies) mostly without treatment [1]. This practice leads to the contamination of most of the fresh water sources all over the world, highlighting the demands for treatment per discharge.

In Sweden, for instance, industrial and household wastewater were discharged directly to the nearest water body without any treatment until 1950. Environmental and health aspects concerning the treatment of wastewater were first carried out in the middle of the 1950s due to a salmonella epidemic expansion which led to the use of a biological treatment step [3]. Public health was the main driving force towards the development of the wastewater treatment plants that witnessed an increase in their number and capacity during the 1950s. Problems of oxygen deficiency initiated the use of chemical techniques to treat nutrients that was first introduced during the 1960s [3]. Local as well as global restrictions of legislations and guidelines such as the European Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC) have led to the development of European wastewater plants by including series of physical, chemical, and biological treatment methods of wastewater before discharging to recipients.

On the other hand, water effluents from the industrial sectors have witnessed the development of different centralized and decentralized wastewater treatment systems. This was promoted by recycling as a step towards cost effectiveness especially for industries responsible for the generation of large volume of wastewater like mining industry and oil refineries. Besides, local legislations were also introduced to decrease the environmental and human health effects by industrial discharges



Fig. 1 Share of European fresh water used by each sector based on seasonal consumption [2]. For a high-resolution interactive image, please consult this figure at (https://www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/indicators/use-of-freshwater-resources-3/assessment-4)

containing conventional and emerging organic contaminants. Various methods such as ion exchange [4], filtration [5], distillation [4], extraction [6], and adsorption are used to capture most of these contaminants before reaching to the surrounding environment. These techniques have also been employed to recycle and reuse the organic and inorganic contaminates as an input back to the circular economy.

Adsorption is regarded as one of the widely used methods to decontaminate ground and drinking water and industrial wastewater from organic and inorganic pollutants. Adsorption is defined as a selective separation of an atom or a molecule (adsorbate) from a fluid (gas or a liquid) on a solid surface (adsorbent). It is a mass transfer process based on the solute concentration difference on the interface between the fluid and the solid phases. The adsorbate is bounded on the adsorbent by physical, chemical, or physico-chemical interactions.

2 Water Contaminants

Human being activities as well as natural actions have led to tremendous changes in the ecosystem. More than ten million sites have been reported to be potentially contaminated with different compounds in the whole world [7], while three million

	Trace	eleme	ent mg/	′kg				
Soil sample	Cr	Co	Ni	Cu	Zn	As	Ba	Pb
Mean values (30 samples)	71	251	58	108	2,482	570	1,576	5,339
Standard deviation	19	77	25	36	1,447	150	949	4,316
Swedish EPA guideline limits of	150	35	120	200	500	25	300	400
contaminated soil [10]								

sites have been reported in both Europe and the USA [8]. In Sweden alone, there are 80,000 potential contaminated sites with 24,500 sites confirmed a presence of different classes of contamination [9]. As an example, glass industry is responsible for the spread of many metals (like, Pb, Cd, and Sb) and metalloids (like As) to soils and ground and surface water around many of old and modern glassworks sites [10].

In the southeastern part of Sweden, for instance, around 50 glassworks are the main source of more than 500,000 tons of hazardous artistic and crystal glasses [9]. As shown in Table 1, these glasses contain circa 30% of the total weight Pb and considerable amounts of As, Sb, and others. Most of these metals have been emitted to the surrounding communities and are responsible for human health problems [10, 11]. According to Höglund et al. [12], the annual leaching from these sites to ground and surface water was estimated as 44 kg of As, 12 kg of Cd, and 165 kg of Pb. These metals represent a continuous hazard to human health and the environment due to their non-biodegradable properties. These metals have the ability to accumulate in human beings and interact with the nitrogen, oxygen, and sulphur contained in human bodies and cause damages of the peripheral central nerve system, gastrointestinal, cardiovascular, and other carcinogenic effects [13].

Furthermore, modern societies are responsible for the generation of large amounts of wastes each year, approaching 17 Gt with an estimation to reach to more than 27 Gt within the next 50 years [14]. Households, urban activities, and industries are the main contributors with different kinds of solid wastes. In Europe alone, there are between 150,000 and 500,000 close or still operating landfills and dumpsites [10, 15, 16]. These sites contain textile, pharmaceuticals, food, paper, glass, rubber, electronics, and other sorts of wastes [17, 18]. When water comes in contact with small particles of dumped or landfilled wastes, the particles acquire mobility and may transfer with water to reach to surface and ground water resources. Most of these particles have high molecular weight and complex chemical structure that are hard to degrade such as plastics [19].

Health care products and pharmaceuticals are other forms of water pollutants that are regarded as water emerging hazards [20]. Nanogram or milligram concentration of hormones, antibiotics, pain killers, and analgesics compounds may be toxic to all living organisms including human beings due to their bioaccumulation abilities, perseverance in the environment, and toxicological performance [20]. When these products enter a living body, they can inhibit the hormone receptors and hinder the metabolic process. It has been reported that conventional wastewater treatment plants are lacking the purification efficiency of these chemicals due to ageing and old used methods [21].

Adsorption, as a technique, has shown the capability to treat all of the abovementioned types of water contaminates. Silica gel [22], zeolites [23], activated carbon [24], and low-cost adsorbents produced from waste materials have been widely used for the extraction of these pollutants from wastewater [25].

3 Types of Adsorbents

Adsorbent is a solid material used to entrap the adsorbate pollutant. This substance can be synthesized from either natural or synthetic/commercial origin as the one shown in Fig. 2. A simple, low cost, and well-known example of natural adsorbent is sand that has been widely used for the purification of water laden with metal ions [26, 27]. Metals ions in water can interact with the surface functional group of silicates (sand), leading to the separation process. On the other hand, activated carbon is the best candidate to represent a synthetic adsorbent group as it is one of the most used adsorbents in the purification and capturing of different organic and inorganic water contaminates [28]. Table 2 lists various types of adsorbents that have been broadly used in the wastewater purification processes.

Any material that acts as an adsorbent need to have suitable properties such as selectivity, adsorption capacity, pore structure, internal surface area, particle size, durability, regeneration, availability, and cost efficient among others. These factors are connected to each other; for example, durability means long function period that is connected to reduced cost. Selectivity is the ability of an adsorbent to adhere an adsorbate from a mixture of elements, which is associated with capacity; therefore, selectivity can be calculated from the capacity ratio of one pollutant to that of another pollutant at a constant fluid concentration. Capacity is a function of fluid temperature and initial concentration, and it represents the extent of adsorbate that can be adsorbed per unit mass of an adsorbent. Of course, capacity is a vital parameter to design a machine that can be used for the whole treatment process, because capacity

Fig. 2 Sketch of the structure of synthesis molecular sieve based on the idea presented by Barrer [29]



Adsorbent	Adsorbates	Reference
Aluminium oxide (Al ₂ O ₃)	Azo-monosulphate ester2,4-Dinitrophenol Azo-disulphonated Monosulphonated Polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons Dodecylammonium chloride Phenol Alkyl sulphate esters 4-Aminoazobenzene	[30] [31] [32] [33]
Silicate (SiO ₂)	Anthraquinone dye, monosulphonated p-Nitrophenol C ₆ H ₅ .N:N.C ₆ H ₄ .NH ₂ -p,HCl	[34]
Cellulose	Haematoxylin 2-hydroxybiphenyl p-Aminoazobenzene 2-C ₁₀ H ₇ .SO ₃ H and Na salt 2-naphthol-6-sulphonic acid Benzidine hydrochloride 3-hydroxydiphenylamine 4,4-Diaminodiphenylmethane 2,2-Dihydroxybiphenyl Anthraquinone, disulphate ester Azo, monsulphonated Na alkylaryl sulphates	[35] [36] [37] [36] [37]
Carbon (C)	di- and tri-sulphonated aromatic compounds Glucose Phenol Sucrose n-Aliphatic acids (> C_4) n-Aliphatic alcohols Anthracene-1-sulphonic acid Na alkyl sulphates p-Nitrophenol	[38] [39] [40]
Wool	Benzyl alcohol Haematein Phenol derivatives (monosubstituted) p-Nitrophenol 2,4-Dinitrophenol Triphenylmethane, asymdisulphonated Anthraquinone-2,7-disulphonic acid Naphthalene-2-sulphonic acid Na alkyl sulphates Na palmitate Sulphuric acid Aliphatic alcohols Phenylazobenzene cpds HCl	[41] [42] [43]
Rice husk	Safranin Methylene blue Methylene blue dye	[44] [45] [46]

 Table 2 Different types of water purification adsorbents with organic pollutants

(continued)

Adsorbent	Adsorbates	Reference
	Indigo Carmine	[47]
	Basic blue 9	[48]
	Acid yellow 36	[49]
	p-Chlorophenol	[50]
	p-Nitrophenol	
Wheat bran	Reactive blue 19	[51]
	Reactive red 195	
	Reactive yellow 145	
Tea waste	Methylene blue	[52]
Coir pith waste	Rhodamine B	[53]
	Acid violet	
	Congo red	
Coconut	Methylene blue	[54]
	2,4,6-Trichlorophenol	[55]
Orange peel	Acid violet 17	[56]
	Direct Red 23	[57]
	Direct Red 80	[58]
	Methyl orange	
	Methylene blue	
	Rhodamine B	
	Methyl violet	
	Amino black 10B	
Banana peel	Phenolic compounds	[59]
	Methyl orange	[58]
	Methylene blue	
	Rhodamine B	
	Congo red	
	Methyl violet	
	Amino black 10B	
Sunflower stalks	Methylene blue	[60]
	Basic red 9	
Bagasse pith	Basic blue 69	[61]
	Basic red 22	
	Acid red 114	
	Acid blue 25	
Maize cob	2,4-Dichlorophenol	[62]
	Basic dyes	[63]
	Acid dves	

Table 2	(continued)
---------	-------------

specifies the needed volume to reach to desirable efficiency. Pore size defines the adsorbent potential uptake capacity and internal surface area, and it is divided into different ranges of sizes as macropores (pore size ≥ 500 Å), mesopores (between 20 and 500 Å), and micropores (pore size < 20 Å) [64]. Pore size can have different structure based on the pore shape (straight, slit, or cylinder), size, and connectivity (crystalline, amorphous, etc.) [64]. One of the most important parameters in the design of adsorption equipment is the internal surface area that can range from

0.0005 to 3,000 m²/g [65]. The selection of adsorbent with high internal surface area means decreasing the needed working volume, and hence, reducing the cost of the whole treatment system.

4 Thermodynamic of Adsorption

Adsorption is a mass transfer process that depends on the difference in adsorbate concentration between two different phases (liquid and solid in this chapter) and is related to the parameters effecting the mass transfer resistance like temperature, initial concentration, and pressure drop. This phenomenon can be either physical (physi-sorption) or chemical (chemi-sorption). The process is fully physical when van der Waals and electrostatic forces contribute to adsorption, and the interaction between the adsorbate and adsorbent is based on the polarization forces. Physical interaction, or the physi-sorption, is initiated with low activation energy, thus, it is weak and revisable even with multilayer adsorptions. This physi-sorption is an exothermic reaction (negative enthalpy and entropy differences) and the enthalpy is low (20 to 40 kJ/mol); therefore, it is always decreasing with increasing temperature [66].

Chemi-sorption, on the other hand, is a chemical reaction that involves strong chemical bonds and electrons transfer between the adsorbent and adsorbate. The endothermic reaction between the adsorbate and adsorbent is initiated with high activation energy because the chemi-sorption process increases with increasing temperature. The enthalpy of reaction is high (80 to 240 kJ/mol). The chemi-sorption process is slow and may be irreversible even with a monolayer reaction. Moreover, selectivity in chemi-sorption is favourable compared to the very low selectivity in physi-sorption [4].

5 Adsorption Mechanism and Kinetics

For the design of any chemical or physical based equipment such as adsorption, specific information must be available such as operating temperature, pressure, initial concentration, and flow rate [4]. This information is essential to specify, for instance, the volume of the equipment as well as operating cost, running cost, and the final cost of the whole unit operation. A key factor in all the mentioned parameters is the adsorption kinetic profile that needs to be specified through assessing the equilibrium time, rate of adsorption (chemi- or physi-sorption and desorption), and adsorption efficiency [67]. Adsorption equilibria is the time required to reach equilibrium between the rate of sorption (molecules adsorb onto the solid surface) and desorption (molecules released from the solid surface). Equilibrium data concerning water organic pollutants can be either found experimentally or available in the literature [67].

To find the rate of adsorption, different reaction models have been proposed and used for organic and inorganic water contaminants. However, most of the suggested and used models are based on the adsorption of gas–liquid systems due to the available information of the gas phase structure compared to that of liquid. Some of the eminent used models are discussed in the following sections.

5.1 Elovich Model

This model was first investigated by Zeldowitsch [68] and is based on the adsorption of CO (gas) on manganese dioxide (solid MnO_2). The Elovich model is derived to find the chemi-sorption kinetics of gases on heterogeneous surfaces. The model proposed an exponential relationship for the kinetic of the adsorption process as follows:

$$\frac{dc}{dt} = ke^{-bc} \tag{1}$$

where *c* is the amount of gas adsorbed (mmol/dm³), *t* is the time (min⁻¹), *k* is the desorption constant (mmol/g min), and *b* initial adsorption rate (g/mmol).

By assuming the initial conditions are c is zero at t zero and c equal to c at time t this will lead to:

$$c_t = bln(kb) + blnt \tag{2}$$

The Elovich model has been widely used for fitting and describing the kinetic data of different organic compounds like the dye (Sumifix Supra Scarlet 2GF) on chitosan [69].

5.2 Pseudo-First-Order Model

This model proposes a first-order differential equation to describe the reaction kinetic of adsorption based on the solid phase capacity [70]:

$$\frac{dc_t}{dt} = k \left(c_e - c_t \right) \tag{3}$$

where $c_t \pmod{g}$ is the adsorption capacity at time $t \pmod{1}$, $c_e \pmod{g}$ is the adsorption capacity at equilibrium, and $k \pmod{1}$ is the rate constant.

Solving this equation with the initial conditions c_t is zero when t is zero and c_t is c_t when t is t can give

$$c_t = c_e \left(1 - e^{kt} \right) \tag{4}$$

This model equation was suitable to fit the adsorption kinetics of many organic contaminants in water. As an example, the adsorption of food azo dyes on chitosan [71].

5.3 Pseudo-Second-Order Model

In this model, the adsorption is assumed to follow a second-order behaviour to describe the chemi-sorption of elements onto solid surfaces. The pseudo-second-order model was derived based on the chemi-sorption of copper (a divalent metal) on peat [72].

$$\frac{dc_t}{dt} = k(C_e - C_t)^2 \tag{5}$$

where $c_t \pmod{g}$ is the adsorption capacity at time $t \binom{\min^{-1}}{c_e} \binom{\log}{g}$ is the adsorption capacity at equilibrium, and $k \pmod{g/mg}$ min) is the rate constant.

The integration of this equation with the initial conditions $c_t = 0$ when t = 0 and $c_t = c_t$ when t = t is giving

$$c_t = \frac{1}{\frac{1}{h_o} + \frac{t}{c_e}} \tag{6}$$

where h_0 is the initial adsorption rate (mg/g min), which can be found from

$$h_o = kc_e^2 \tag{7}$$

The pseudo-second-order model has been widely used to describe the adsorption kinetics of different physical and chemical adsorption of organic and inorganic elements in water [73, 74].

6 Adsorption Isotherm Models

Most of the available theories of adsorption are based on gas-solid systems due to the accessible information of gas phase compared to that of liquid. However, for the applied science and designing and manufacturing of adsorption applications like packed beds columns [4], it is crucial to obtain the adsorption equilibrium data. For this case, semi-theoretical and empirical models have been used to fit the adsorption
equilibrium capacity data like Langmuir isotherm [75, 76], Freundlich isotherm equation [77], and BET-theory [78].

6.1 Langmuir Isotherm

This isotherm is based on the dynamic equilibrium between the adsorption and desorption rates on the adsorbents surface, while the surface fractional coverage is a function of the adsorbate concentration. Langmuir isotherm was derived based on the following assumptions: only monolayer adsorption coverage occurs, a site can be occupied by one adsorbate molecule, adsorbent surface is uniform with equivalent activation energy in all sites, and a molecule ability of occupation is not effected by neighbours occupied sites [75, 76]. The mathematical derivation for this isotherm is

$$\frac{1}{q_e} = \frac{1}{q_{mK_LC_e}} + \frac{1}{q_m} \tag{8}$$

where q_e is the amount of adsorbate per unit mass of adsorbent at equilibrium (mg/g); C_e is the amount of unadsorbed adsorbate per unit mass of adsorbent is solution at equilibrium (mg/L); q_m is the adsorbent theoretical monolayer saturation capacity (mg/g); K_L is Langmuir equilibrium constant (L/g).

The Langmuir isotherm model has been widely used by different researchers to describe the adsorption isotherm of organics and inorganics contaminates in water [79].

6.2 Freundlich Isotherm

One of the most popular isotherms is the Freundlich model [77], which is an empirical equation that assumes heterogeneous adsorption. Freundlich model is based on the variation of the amount of adsorbed gas per unit mass of adsorbent. The mathematical expression of Freundlich isotherm is

$$q_e = k C_e^{\frac{1}{n}} \tag{9}$$

where q_e is the amount of adsorbate per unit mass of adsorbent at equilibrium (mg/g); k (L/g) and n (g/L) are the equation constants and their values are function of adsorbent and adsorbate at a given temperature; C_e is the amount of unadsorbed adsorbate per unit mass of adsorbent is solution at equilibrium (mg/L).

Taking the logarithm of both sides of Eq. (9) will lead to

$$\log q_e = \log k + \frac{1}{n} \log C_e \tag{10}$$

This isotherm has been widely used for the fitting of the adsorption of many organic and inorganic pollutants from water [80].

6.3 The BET Isotherm

This theory was firstly developed by Brunauer, Emmett, and Teller in 1938 [78]. It is based on the same assumptions of Langmuir isotherm with one exception which it allows multilayers adsorption on different parts of the adsorbent surface. In addition, adsorption rate is related to the frequency of molecules that strike the surface and the area of that surface. The mathematical expression for liquid–solid adsorption can be written as

$$q_e = \frac{q_{\text{BET}}k_1c_e}{(1 - k_2c_e)(1 - k_2c_e + k_1c_e)}$$
(11)

where q_e is the amount of adsorbate per unit mass of adsorbent at equilibrium (mg/g); q_{BET} is the monolayer adsorption capacity (mg/g); $k_{1\&2}$ are the BET isotherm constants and based on the adsorbent and adsorbate (L/mg); c_e is the amount of unadsorbed adsorbate per unit mass of adsorbent is solution at equilibrium (mg/L).

This model has been also used to fit the adsorption of different organic and inorganic contaminants from water [81].

7 Adsorption Technology and Sustainable Development of Resources

Studies and researchers as well as field applications have shown that adsorption is a potential and suitable phenomenon for the treatment and decontamination of many organic and inorganic pollutants from water and wastewater. The technical flexibility, low energy constraint, and simple design and use are among other advantages of this phenomenon. The prospective future of nanomaterials as adsorbents have been highlighted in different applications especially water purification; for example, the adsorption of anionic dyes on nanosized alumina [82] or basic blue 3 dye on nanoscale zero valent iron [83]. The nano scale adsorption potential can give the opportunity of small-scale applications concerning drinking water and wastewater with a cost-effective purification.

Furthermore, the development and production of new green adsorbents based on wastes and byproducts from agriculture industry will add significant improvement to the effectiveness of adsorption as well as the reduction of dumped wastes by recycling these wastes back to the circular economy as new secondary materials. This will contribute towards the sustainability of natural resources by transferring these wastes to useful material for the environment and human health.

7.1 Adsorption of Emerging Contaminants

The technical development in analytical instruments has facilitated the detection of nano- and micro-gram concentrations of many elements especially personal care products, steroid hormones, pesticides, phytoestrogens, and other emerging contaminants [2]. The main source of these emerging contaminants is the industrial and municipal water sewages. It is well known that municipal wastewater treatment plants are lacking the effectiveness to control or treat these contaminants due to ageing. On the other hand, adsorption has shown the potential to decontaminate many of these emerging contaminants effectively using, for instance, activated carbon, zeolites [84], and cost-effective adsorbents [85].

8 Conclusions

In epidemic times when people health is under huge concern, clean water can be a key solution especially for hygienic or drinking purposes. Adsorption has been regarded as one of the most important methods for the purification of conventional and emerging organic pollutants in wastewater. This method has witnessing continuous development concerning adsorbents like food and agriculture wastes as costeffective adsorbents as well as nano-adsorbents. This chapter highlights some spotlights of adsorption process as a cost-effective technique to decontaminate organic pollutants.

Acknowledgement The author would like to acknowledge the support given by Kalmar and Växjö municipalities through Linnaeus University Stipendium for sustainable development, 2019.

References

- UN (2017) The United Nations World Water Development Report 2017, https://www.unwater. org/publications/world-water-development-report-2017/. Accessed 20 Feb 2020
- 2. European Environment Agency (2018) Water use in Europe-Quantity and quality face big challenges
- 3. Persson P (2011) Cleaner production: strategies & technology for environmental protection. KTH, Stockholm

- 4. Richardson J, Harker J, Backhurst J (2002) Coulson and Richardson's chemical engineering. Butterworth-Heinemann, Oxford
- Svensson H, Jani Y, Marques M, Hogland W (2014) Particle size characterization of oak wood leachate: COD and toxicity distribution within different fraction. Water Sci Technol 70(3): 502–509
- Al-Hemiri A, Jani Y (2008) Study of drop size distribution in RTL contactor. J Eng 14:2959– 2974
- He Z, Shentu J, Yang X, Baligar V, Zhang T, Stoffella P (2015) Heavy metal contamination of soils: sources, indicators and assessment. In: 21st international conference on environmental indicators. Journal of Environmental Indicators, Windsor, pp 17–18
- Fedje K, Strömvall A (2019) Enhanced soil washing with copper recovery using chemical precipitation. J Environ Manag 236:68–74
- 9. Jani Y, Hogland W (2017) Reduction-melting extraction of trace elements from hazardous waste glass from an old glasswork's dump in the southeastern part of Sweden. Environ Sci Pollut Res 24(34):26341–26349. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-017-0243-4
- Jani Y, Burlakovs J, Augustsson A, Marques M, Hogland W (2019) Physicochemical and toxicological characterization of hazardous wastes from an old glasswork dump at southeastern part of Sweden. Chemosphere 237(1–8):124568
- Brahmapurkar K, Lanjewar A, Zodpey S, Shrote V, Khan Q, Khakse G, Sinha T, Giri V, Shrivastava P, Chauhan V (2013) Morbidities in the glass factory workers of Central India. J Dental Med Sci 7:29–33
- Höglund LO, Fanger G, Yesilova H (2007) Slutrapport Glasbruksprojektet 2006–2007. Kemakta Konsult AB, Stockholm
- Sripaiboonkij P, Sripaiboonkij N, Phanprasit W, Jaakkola M (2009) Respiratory and skin health among glass microfiber production workers: a cross-sectional study. Environ Health 36:1–10
- Laurent A, Bakas I, Clavreaul J, Bernstad A, Niero M, Gentil E, Hauschild MZ, Christensen TH (2014) Review of LCA studies of solid waste management systems part I: lessons learned and perspectives. Waste Manag 34:573–588
- 15. Jani Y, Hogland W (2018) Chemical extraction of trace elements from contaminated fine fraction at an old glasswork's dump. Chemosphere 195:825–830
- Jani Y (2018) Recovery of a dwindling resource. Materials recycling world, UK, p 29 https:// www.mrw.co.uk/knowledge-centre/recovery-of-a-dwindling-resource/10030727.article
- Jani Y, Kaczala F, Marchand C, Hogland M, Kriipsalu M, Hogland W, Kihl A (2016) Characterization of mined fine fraction and waste composition from a Swedish landfill. Waste Manag Res 34(12):1292–1299
- Jani Y, Kriipsalu M, Pehme K, Burlakovs J, Hogland M, Denafas G, Hogland W (2017) Composition of waste at an early EU landfill of Torma in Estonia. IJEE 8(2):113–117
- 19. Vital R, Saibaba K, Shaik K (2016) Dye removal by adsorption: a review. J Bioremed Biodegr 7:1–4
- 20. World Health Organization (2011) Pharmaceuticals in drinking water. WHO Press, Geneva
- Nghiem L, Fujioka T (2016) Removal of emerging contaminants for water reuse by membrane technology. In: Hankins NP, Singh R (eds) Emerging membrane technology for sustainable water treatment. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 217–247
- 22. Fukahori S, Fujiwara T, Ito R, Funamizu N (2011) pH-dependent adsorption of sulfa drugs on high silica zeolite: modeling and kinetic study. Desalination 275:237–242
- Hernandez V, Perez M, Mendoza D, Moreno M, Bonilla A (2013) Competitive adsorption of dyes and heavy metals on zeolitic structures. J Environ Manag 116:213–221
- 24. Gholamia P, Khataeea A, Soltanid R, Bhatnagar A (2019) A review on carbon-based materials for heterogeneous sonocatalysis: fundamentals, properties and applications. Ultrasonics Sonochem 58:104681
- 25. Bhatnagar A, Sillanpaa M (2017) Removal of natural organic matter (NOM) and its constituents from water by adsorption a review. Chemosphere 166:497–510

- Awan M, Qazi I, Khalid I (2003) Removal of heavy metals through adsorption using sand. J Environ Sci (China) 15:413–416
- 27. Kyzas G, Fu J, Matis K (2013) The change from past to future for adsorbent materials in treatment of dyeing wastewaters. Materials (Basel) 6:5131–5158
- 28. Kariim I, Abdulkareem A, Abubakre O (2020) Development and characterization of MWCNTs from activated carbon as adsorbent for metronidazole and levofloxacin sorption from pharmaceutical wastewater: kinetics, isotherms and thermodynamic studies. Sci Afr 7:00242
- 29. Barrer RM (1959) New selective sorbents: porous crystals as molecular filters. Br Chem Eng 4: 267
- 30. Giles CH, Mehta HV, Stewart CE, Subramanian RVR (1954) J Chem Soc:4360
- 31. Giles CH, Mehta HV, Rahman CE, RVR S (1959) J Appl Chem 9:457
- 32. Tamamushi B, Tamaki K (1959) Trans Faraday SOC 55:1007
- 33. Cummings T, Garven HC, Rahman SMK, Snedden JG, Stewart CE (1959) J Chem Soc:535
- 34. Allingham MM, Cullen JM, Giles CH, Jain SK, Woods JS (1958) J Appl Chem 8:108
- Arshid FM, Desai JN, Duff DJ, Giles CH, Jain SK, Macneal IR (1954) J Soc Dyers Colourists 70:392
- 36. Lamparsky, Rack, Kolloid-Z (1958) 160:7
- 37. Giles CH, Hassan ASA (1958) J Soc Dyers Colourists 74:846
- Galbraith JW, Giles CH, Halliday AG, Hassan ASA, McAllister DC, Macaulay N, Macmillan NW (1958) J Appl Chem 8:416
- 39. Hansen F, Bartell J (1948) Phys Colloid Chem 52:374
- 40. Vold RD, Sivaramakrishnan NH (1958) J Phys Chem 62:984
- 41. Haisman (1959) PhD thesis, London
- 42. Harker (1957) J Soc Dyers Colourists 73:554
- 43. Giles C, MacEwan T, Nakhwa S, Smith D (1960) Studies in adsorption. Part XI. A system of classification of solution adsorption isotherms, and its use in diagnosis of adsorption mechanisms and in measurement of specific surface areas of solids. J Chem Soc:3973–3993
- 44. McKay G, Porter JF, Prasad GR (1999) The removal of dye colours from aqueous solutions by adsorption on low-cost materials. Water Air Soil Pollut 114:423–438
- Kaur S, Prasad N (2001) Adsorption of dyes on rice husk ash. Indian J. Chem Sect A 40:388– 391
- 46. Chandrasekhar S, Pramada PN (2006) Rice husk ash as an adsorbent for methylene blue-effect of ashing temperature. Adsorption 12:27–43
- 47. Lakshmi UR, Srivastava VC, Mall ID, Lataye DH (2009) Rice husk ash as an effective adsorbent: evaluation of adsorptive characteristics for Indigo Carmine dye. J Environ Manag 90:710–720
- Kannan N, Sundaram MM (2001) Kinetics and mechanism of removal of methylene blue by adsorption on various carbons – a comparative study. Dyes Pigments 51:25–40
- 49. Malik PK (2003) Use of activated carbons prepared from sawdust and rice-husk for adsorption of acid dyes: a case study of acid yellow 36. Dyes Pigments 56:239–249
- 50. Ahmaruzzaman M, Sharma DK (2005) Adsorption of phenols from wastewater. J Colloid Interface Sci 287:14–24
- Fatma C, Dursun O, Ahmet O, Ayla O (2007) Low cost removal of reactive dyes using wheat bran. J Hazard Mater 146:408–416
- Uddin MT, Islam MA, Mahmud S, Rukanuzzaman M (2009) Adsorptive removal of methylene blue by tea waste. J Hazard Mater 164:53–60
- 53. Namasivayam C, Radhika R, Suba S (2001) Uptake of dyes by a promising locally available agricultural solid waste: coir pith. Waste Manag 21:381–387
- 54. Hameed BH, Mahmoud DK, Ahmad AL (2008) Equilibrium modeling and kinetic studies on the adsorption of basic dye by a low-cost adsorbent: coconut (Cocos nucifera) bunch waste. J Hazard Mater 158:65–72

- Hameed BH, Tan IAW, Ahmad AL (2008) Adsorption isotherm, kinetic modeling and mechanism of 2,4,6-trichlorophenol on coconut husk-based activated carbon. Chem Eng J 144:235– 244
- 56. Sivaraj R, Namasivayam C, Kadirvelu K (2001) Orange peel as an adsorbent in the removal of acid violet 17 (acid dye) from aqueous solutions. Waste Manag 21:105–110
- 57. Arami M, Limaee NY, Mahmoodi NM, Tabrizi NS (2005) Removal of dyes from colored textile wastewater by orange peel adsorbent: equilibrium and kinetic studies. J Colloid Interface Sci 288:371–376
- Annadurai G, Juang R-S, Lee D-J (2002) Use of cellulose-based wastes for adsorption of dyes from aqueous solutions. J Hazard Mater 92:262–274
- 59. Achak M, Hafidi A, Ouazzani N, Sayadi S, Mandi L (2009) Low cost biosorbent "banana peel" for the removal of phenolic compounds from olive mill wastewater: kinetic and equilibrium studies. J Hazard Mater:117–125
- 60. Sun G, Xu X (1997) Sunflower stalks as adsorbents for color removal from textile wastewater. Ind Eng Chem Res 36:808–812
- McKay G, El Geundi M, Nassar MM (1987) Equilibrium studies during the removal of dyestuffs from aqueous solutions using bagasse pith. Water Res 21:1513–1520
- 62. Sathishkumar M, Binupriya AR, Kavitha D, Selvakumar R, Jayabalan R, El-Geundi MS (1991) Colour removal from textile effluents by adsorption techniques. Water Res 25:271–273
- 63. El Geundi M. (1991) Homogeneous surface diffusion model for the adsorption of basic Dyestuffs onto natural clay in batch adsorbers. Adsorption Sci Technol 8:217–225
- 64. Suhas P, Carrot M (2007) Lignin-from natural adsorbent to activated carbon: a review. Bioresour Technol 98:2301–2312
- Aranovich G, Donohue M (1997) Determining surface areas from linear adsorption isotherms at supercritical conditions. J Colloid Interface Sci 194:392–397
- 66. Dabrowski A (2001) Adsorption-from theory to practice. Adv Colloid Interf Sci 93:135-224
- 67. Dotto G, Ocampo R, Moura J, Cadaval R, Pinto L (2016) Adsorption rate of reactive black 5 on chitosan based materials: geometry and swelling effects. Adsorption 22:973–983
- Zeldowitsch J (1934) Uber den mechanismus der katalytischen oxydation von CO an MnO₂. Acta Phys Chim URSS 1:364–449
- Wu F, Tseng R, Juang R (2009) Characteristics of Elovich equation used for the analysis of adsorption kinetics in dye-chitosan systems. Chem Eng J 150:366–373
- Lagergren S (1898) About the theory of so-called adsorption of soluble substances. Kungliga Svenska Vetenskapsakademiens. Handlingar 24:1–39
- Cadaval T, Dotto G, Pinto L (2015) Equilibrium isotherms, thermodynamics, and kinetic studies for the adsorption of food azo dyes onto chitosan films. Chem Eng Commun 202: 1316–1323
- 72. Ho Y, McKay G (2000) The kinetics of sorption of divalent metal ions onto sphagnum moss peat. Water Res 34:735–742
- Tseng R, Wu F, Juang R (2003) Liquid-phase adsorption of dyes and phenols using pinewoodbased activated carbons. Carbon 41:487–495
- 74. Örnek A, Özacar M, Sengil I (2007) Adsorption of lead onto formaldehyde or sulfuric acid treated acorn waste: equilibrium and kinetic studies. Biochem Eng J 37:192–200
- 75. Langmuir I (1916) J Am Chem Soc 38:2221
- 76. Langmuir I (1918) J Am Chem Soc 40:1361
- 77. Freundlich H (1926) Colloid and capillary chemistry. Methuen, London, p 120
- 78. Brunauer S, Emmett P, Teller E (1938) J Am Chem Soc 60:309
- 79. Ahmad M, Rajapaksha A, Lim J, Zhang M, Bolan N, Mohan D, Vithanage M, Lee S, Ok Y (2014) Biochar as a sorbent for contaminant management in soil and water: a review. Chemosphere 9:19–33
- Bhatnagar A, Sillanpää M (2010) Utilization of agro-industrial and municipal waste materials as potential adsorbents for water treatment – a review. Chem Eng J 157:277–296
- 81. Damia B (2005) Emerging organic pollutants in waste waters and sludge. Springer, Berlin

- Wu G, Koliadima A, Her Y, Matijević E (1997) Adsorption of dyes on nanosize modified silica particles. J Colloid Interface Sci 195:222–228
- Khan M, Ahmad A, Bangash F, Shah S, Khan P (2013) Removal of basic dye from aqueous solutions using nano scale zero valent iron (NZVI) as adsorbent. J Chem Soc Pak 35:744–748
- Lule G, Atalay M (2014) Comparison of fenitrothion and trifluralin adsorption on organozeolites and activated carbon. Particul Sci Technol 32:426–430
- 85. Zhu J et al (2018) Removal of toluene from waste gas by adsorption-desorption process using corncob-based activated carbons as adsorbents. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 165:115–125

Wastewater Treatment Using Biochar Technology



S. A. M. Abd El-Azeem

Contents

1	Introduction	36
2	Wastewater Treatment	38
3	Technology of Biochar	39
	3.1 Definition	39
	3.2 Production of Biochar	39
	3.3 Biochar Characterization	40
4	Biochar Modifications	42
	4.1 Physical Activation	42
	4.2 Chemical Oxidation and Reduction	42
	4.3 Metal Impregnation	42
5	Application of Biochar for Wastewater Treatment	43
	5.1 Removal of Inorganic Pollutants	44
	5.2 Removal of Organic Pollutants	50
6	Adsorption Mechanism by Biochar	51
7	Economic and Environmental Benefits of Biochar in Wastewater Treatment	54
8	Conclusions and Future Work	56
Ret	eferences	57

Abstract Water is one of the life requirements for individuals and societies, and it affects the global economy. The contamination of water is a worldwide problem that threatens the environment and poses abundant hazardous effects on the quality of water and aquatic species. Numerous techniques are known to remove the contaminants from wastewater. Biochar-based material has a novel ability to remediate wastewater due to its distinctive physicochemical properties. It has been considered a promising candidate material for the removal of pollutants through adsorption in the practical application processes. Researchers have reported numerous methods to modify the biochar to enhance their adsorption efficiency. Biochar is considered a

S. A. M. Abd El-Azeem (🖂)

Soil and Water Department, Faculty of Agriculture, Suez Canal University, Ismailia, Egypt e-mail: samy_abdelmalik@agr.suez.edu.eg

Mahmoud Nasr and Abdelazim M. Negm (eds.),

Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems, Hdb Env Chem (2023) 118: 35–62, DOI 10.1007/698_2022_881, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022, Published online: 24 August 2022

cost-effective, environmentally friendly, and sustainable sorbent that has an extraordinary potential to proficiently remove potentially toxic organic and inorganic pollutants from water and wastewater. Adsorption is one of the most efficient techniques to remove pollutants from water and wastewater. These adsorption processes include several mechanisms for the removal of organic and inorganic pollutants as discussed in this chapter. Modified biochar, known also as engineered/ designed biochar, has a larger surface area, high adsorption capacity, and predominant surface functional groups that gave a new type of biochar with a great application approach in different wastewater treatment plants compared to natural or pristine biochar. Additionally, the properties of biochar are depended on the type of feedstocks materials and pyrolysis conditions.

In this chapter, the currently available research regarding wastewater treatment using biochar technologies has been reviewed. Specifically, we have critically reviewed the (1) wastewater treatment; (2) production and characterization of biochar; (3) application of biochar for wastewater treatment concerning its role for removal of organic and inorganic pollutants; (4) capacity and mechanism of adsorbing hazardous pollutants from wastewater using biochar. Moreover, the economics and potential risks of biochar in wastewater treatment have been also discussed. This chapter demonstrates the predominant scientific chances for a comprehensive understanding of using biochar as an emerging technique for wastewater treatments. Finally, we also introduced some conclusions and recommendations for further work to enhance the efficiency of biochar for wastewater treatment.

Keywords Adsorption mechanism, Biochar, Pollutants removal, Wastewater treatment

1 Introduction

Water is a vital and crucial component of life since it is essential for the efficient functioning of the earth's ecosystems. Water pollution has recently increased because of rapid industrialization, urbanization, mismanaged of water resources, global warming, and rising of populations [1]. Specifically, around 80% of the global untreated wastewater is discharged and a large volume of untreated wastewater flows back into groundwater resources, lakes, polluting rivers, the environment, and oceans. Furthermore, this discharge polluted the water body with various organic and mineral (inorganic) pollutants such as dyes, heavy metals, surfactants, pharmaceuticals, pesticides, nutrients like nitrogen and phosphate, and personal care products from industries and municipalities [2]. Additionally, wastewater from urban areas is high in nitrogen and phosphorus compounds, which originate primarily from urine and industrial by-products. Most of these contaminants are extremely persistent in nature and would otherwise transform to refractory forms if left uncontrolled. The unregulated discharge of these pollutants into ecosystems is a subject of concern

because of their significant negative effects [3]. Hence, wastewater treatment, reuse, and safe disposal have become critical for long-term sustainability. Wastewater treatment has recently become a difficult issue for living organisms and the biophysical environment [4]. Wastewater treatment, as one of the greatest critical concerns in environmental remediation programs, is urgently required to provide sanitary water for the ever-growing global population [5]. This finding agrees with the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals, "clean water and sanitation" required in the 2030s vision [6]. Conventional technologies are commonly applied to eliminate organic and inorganic pollutants from wastewater, these technologies include chemical precipitation, conventional coagulation/filtration, ion exchange, membrane separation, electrodialysis, and electrolysis [1]. These technologies are not only expensive, but they also produce secondary pollutants, and inadequate removal of pollutants, and they need high energy requirements. Several researchers have been received great attention for the adsorption process because of its easy operation and high efficiency. However, eco-friendly and low-cost adsorbent and efficient preparation procedures are important concerns in the adsorption process [7].

Biochar with rich carbon content is a product of thermal decomposition obtained from biomass feedstock with little or no oxygen [8]. Pyrolysis, hydrothermal carbonization, gasification, torrefaction, and microwave heating are all types of thermal decomposition that differ in thermochemical temperature and duration [9]. Biochar has some desirable properties such as high specific surface area, good ion exchange capacity, high porosity, rich oxygen functional groups, and multidisciplinary applications, indicating that it has a lot of potential in various sustainable environmental treatment applications, particularly wastewater treatment [10, 11]. It is usually produced from numerous biomass feedstocks including crop straw, municipal wastes, and industrial by-products [12]. Innovative ways for transforming organic matters into valuable materials like biochar as well as their subsequent applications have piqued interest in numerous research fields. Numerous investigators reported that biochar-based materials are extremely effective for wastewater cleanup. Modification of biochar using physical activation and chemical treatment has been applied to improve its sorption ability. Moreover, the modified biochar (engineered biochar) is highly efficient for removal of pollutants from wastewater than the unmodified biochar (pristine biochar) due to larger surface area and some other enhanced properties such as porosity, larger positive surface charge, greater surface oxygen-containing functional groups, and incorporation of surface amino functional groups [8, 13-19]. For instance, incorporating amino functional groups into the biochar surface by chemical processes or mixing biochar with amino-rich polymers (polyethylenimine and chitosan) enhances sorption ability by producing strong complexation between pollutants and the amino sites [20, 21].

Previous literatures have shown that biochar has a high adsorption capability for organic and inorganic pollutants from wastewater [22–28]. Due to the differing retention mechanisms of lead and atrazine, biochar produced from dairy manure could effectively remove both lead and atrazine at the same time with little competition [29].

Although biochar has shown to be useful in the treatment of wastewater, the potential negative effects of biochar addition should be also considered. Biochar may contain various heavy metals and other contaminants that may be released during its use in aqueous solutions, and severity of these negative effects is largely determined by the type of feedstocks used and the conversion procedure used to produce it. Thus, more research is required to investigate the stability of biochar and its relationship to the experimental conditions used during biochar production. In this chapter, we will look at some of the most recent research on biochar as a low-cost adsorbent for wastewater remediation. Specifically, the chapter covers details on the production and modification of biochar, as well as mechanisms of organic and inorganic pollutants removal from water and wastewater and some recommendations for future research.

2 Wastewater Treatment

Water is often the most misused and mispriced component in several sectors (domestic, industrial, and agricultural). Increased global population and industrialization, particularly in developing countries, have resulted in an increase in water demand and have caused the generation of wastewater that is contaminated with harmful pollutants such as oxygen-demanding substances, nutrients, pathogens, toxic inorganic and organic substances, dyes, and other cancer-causing chemicals. These pollutants caused serious problems to aquatic life and increased the algal growth and eutrophication [4]. Additionally, the amounts of these contaminants considerably differed based on the wastewater source. Furthermore, if wastewater was not correctly treated, hazardous or toxic pollutants might percolate into the ground, eventually contaminating the groundwater resources. According to United Nations World Water Development reports, almost 80% of all industrial and municipal wastewater is discharged into nature without being treated, resulting in water quality degradation either directly or indirectly [30].

Physical, chemical, and biological processes, as well as their combinations, are used in traditional wastewater treatment approaches. In brief, physical processes such as screens and filters are used to remove particles from wastewater. To remove complex pollutants, chemical and physical processes are frequently combined. Microorganisms are used in biological processes to remove and degrade toxic organic pollutants [31]. Wastewater treatment is most effective when done in phases, which usually include primary, secondary, and tertiary stages, as well as sludge treatment options [32].

Toxic compounds have been removed from water and wastewater using different treatment technologies (precipitation, coagulation/filtration, ion exchange, membrane separation, flotation, and electrochemical removal) [33]. Nevertheless, these technologies have significant problems such as partial removal, high operating and maintenance cost, and high energy requirements [33]. Several strategies for the development of cheaper and more effective technologies to remove pollutants

from water and wastewater have recently been investigated. Therefore, biochar has concerned a lot of interest due to its promising role in many environmental management concerns. Many scientists in the wastewater treatment area have considered biochar-based technology because of the great requirement for lower costs, improved efficiency, and a more superficial method. Hence, biochar is a promising wastewater treatment that has been widely employed as an adsorbent to remove toxic metals, organic pollutants, and nutrients from wastewater [34].

3 Technology of Biochar

3.1 Definition

Biochar (BC) has not been provided a clear definition, but the International Biochar Initiative (IBI) (http://www.biochar-international.org/biochar), defines biochar as a solid material obtained from the thermochemical conversion of biomass in an oxygen-limited condition [35]. The IBI divides biochar into three classes based on carbon content: Class 1 biochar (contains 60% carbon or more), Class 2 biochar (between 30 and 60% carbon), and Class 3 biochar (between 10% and 30% carbon). Biochar is a carbon-rich substance that can be produced from solid waste pyrolysis (agricultural solid waste and sludge from wastewater treatment plants). Biochar can be used as fuel and adsorbents in various ways, depending on the degree of thermochemical conversion. Other definitions of biochar include "biological charcoal" with various sizes based on the size of the initial biomass and BC is a type of carbon-rich pyrogenic materials.

Biochar is a solid substance produced from the pyrolyzing feedstock or biomass at 300–800°C under anoxic conditions. Biochar differs from charcoal and similar materials in that it is produced with the intent to be applied to soil to improve soil condition, to filter and retain nutrients from percolating soil water, and to provide carbon storage [36]. The term "pristine biochar" refers to biochar produced through slow pyrolysis of feedstock at temperatures of up to 700°C with or without oxygen ($\leq 2\%$).

3.2 Production of Biochar

Biochar production technology is quite simple and suitable for many regions of the world, but large-scale development requires optimization and economic evaluation. Figure 1 shows the simple procedure of biochar production. Firstly, raw material of feedstock is treated to several pretreatment procedures (dewatering/air drying, crushing, sieving, etc.), following which pyrolysis takes place. The final product is produced by simply treating the pyrolysis product. The main thermochemical processes used for biochar production include fast pyrolysis, slow pyrolysis



Fig. 1 Process of biochar preparation [37]

(conventional carbonization), flash carbonization, and gasification [18]. The constituents of feedstock (cellulose, hemicellulose, lignin, fat, and starch) are thermally degraded during these processes, resulting in three components: biochar (solid), bio-oil (partly condensed volatile matter), and non-condensable gases such as CO₂, CO, CH₄, and H₂. The bio-oil and gases can be captured to generate energy and the yield of biochar is determined by the pyrolysis process conditions [38]. In this regard, Ahmad et al. [39], Demirbas [40] observed that as the pyrolysis temperature increased, the biochar yield decreases. Slow pyrolysis ($350-500^{\circ}$ C and slow heating rate) produced higher yield of biochar (30%) than fast pyrolysis ($600-700^{\circ}$ C and fast heating rate) that produced 10% or less yield or gasification (700° C or above).

However, the materials should be pretreated in various ways (physical, chemical, and biological pretreatment processes) before producing biochar from various raw sources. Additionally, physical and chemical methods are used to increase the biochar's specific surface area, pore volume, surface chemistry, and functional agents [9]. Based on the pyrolysis temperature and time, the process is divided into three categories: slow, medium, and fast pyrolysis [17].

Different preparation methods of biochar affect the physical and chemical properties of biochar (yield, ash, specific surface area, pore structure, type and number of functional groups (acidic functional group, -COOH, -OH) and alkaline functional groups, and cation exchange capacity [11].

3.3 Biochar Characterization

The physical, chemical, and mechanical properties of biochar depend mostly on the sources and types of feedstocks, pretreatment methods, production conditions, i.e. residence time, temperature, heating rate, and reactor type, all of which significantly influence the capacity of biochar to adsorb various contaminants [34]. Biochar has a cheap cost, highly specific surface area, and a high capacity for adsorption. Modification and loading of nanoparticles onto biochar can also be used to create biochar composites. Biochar can help with nanoparticle dispersion and stability, as well as increasing the number of surface-active sites, which enhances the material's physicochemical properties. The adsorption performance and activation efficiency of biochar depend on physicochemical properties of materials that differ significantly depending on the type of feedstock and biochar production conditions.

Consequently, biochar production processes and control parameters greatly affected the physical and chemical properties of the resulting biochar [17]. The generated biochar may be classified into pristine biochars and engineered biochars (modified and composite biochars) depending on the technique and progress of the synthesis and modification procedures [16].

The physicochemical properties of biochars were greatly varied depending on pyrolysis process conditions. Hu et al. [41] revealed that pyrolysis temperature had a greater impact on biochar characteristics than pyrolysis time. When the temperature increases, biochar production decreases due to the presence of water and volatile organic compounds during the pyrolysis process [10]. The breakdown of acidic functional groups (carboxylic acids and phenols) in biomass may have resulted in a higher pH value in biochar produced at high temperature. This is accompanied by an increase in carbonization temperature and is associated to ash and mineral salts formation. For instance, Kwak et al. [42] reported that increasing the temperature of pyrolysis process led to an increase in electrical conductivity of produced biochars as a result of the decomposition of organic matter.

During the heating process, the chemical environment of the carbon in biochar is changed, resulting aromatic structures that are more resistant to microbial breakdown as compared to carbon present in most organic materials. Biochar's skeletal structure is mostly made up of carbon and minerals with varying pore diameter [43]. Micropores are responsible for surface area and high absorptive capacity, whereas mesopores are crucial for liquid-solid adsorption processes, and macropores are vital for aeration, hydrology, movement of roots, and bulk soil structure. Aromatic C-containing groups predominate in biochars generated above 350°C, which effectively adsorb heavy metals or toxic compounds. The aromatic rings' hydrogen, nitrogen, oxygen, phosphorus, and sulfur (H, N, O, P, and S) define the electronegativity of the biochar product that affecting the cation exchange capacity. Pyrolysis at temperatures exceeding 900°C induces deformation, resulting in the expansion of micropores due to the breakdown of walls between adjacent pores, resulting in an increase in surface area. As mentioned above, the nature, composition, and particle size of the feedstock and the processing parameters (temperature, heating rate, furnace residence time, and the type of pyrolytic reactor) affecting the quality of biochar or its characteristics. When compared to biochar derived from plant residues, biochar made from animal manure contains more nitrogen. Although the pore structure of biochar derived from plant materials is more structured, the fertilizer quality and heavy metal adsorption capacity of manure biochars were observed to be excellent [44]. For instance, higher heating rates and optimal feedstock-material processing temperatures improve the production of bio-oil, whereas slower rates and lower processing temperatures stimulate biochar production. Biochar composed of fixed or stable carbon, labile carbon and other volatile compounds, moisture, and ash components [44].

4 Biochar Modifications

The additions of biochar to sequester several pollutants are limited because of different parameters. The unmodified biochars have a poorer ability for contaminants removal than certain modified biochars, particularly at higher pollutant concentrations [45]. To excess the adsorption efficacy toward the removal of wastewater pollutants, several studies have been concentrated on biochar modifications through novel structures, surface characteristics improvement, and activation techniques. Increasing the surface area and porosity of biochar, enhancing the surface characteristics, and embedding other materials into the biochar matrix to generate useful biochar composites are all common modifications [19]. The activation of the initial biochar by physical and chemical techniques is referred to as the modification process. The properties of biochar are affected by the kind of activator, soaking duration, activation time, and activation temperature. Biochar can be modified in a variety of ways as described below [11]:

4.1 Physical Activation

The physical process includes treatment of biochar by gases (CO_2) and steam at the temperature above 700°C. In steam process, the partial combustion components are eliminated, and the porosity is enhanced, both of which increase the sites of sorption [19].

4.2 Chemical Oxidation and Reduction

Chemical oxidation means the oxidation of biochar surface using different oxidants such as HCl, HNO₃, H_2O_2 , and H_3PO_4 . This process led to an increase in oxygencontaining functional groups (i.e. -OH and -COOH), thereby increasing its hydrophilicity, enhanced adsorption capacity for polar adsorbate. For chemical reduction or alkali modification technique, the reducing agent (NaOH, KOH, and NH₄OH) was applied to reduce functional groups on the surface of biochar and enhance its non-polarity.

4.3 Metal Impregnation

The adsorption of certain heteroatoms or metal ions into the surface and pores of the biochar is referred to a metal impregnation. The specific surface area increased, and

metal ions were coupled with the adsorbate to enhance the adsorption act. Iron, magnesium, silver, and zinc are common metal ions.

5 Application of Biochar for Wastewater Treatment

As mentioned above, wastewater has been a worldwide concern that is a byproduct of domestic, industrial, and agricultural activities. The quantity of pollutants from industrial wastewater and their types are substantially increasing due to the rapid development of the industry such as mining, smelting, battery manufacturing, dyes, and chemical industry [8, 9]. The contamination of agricultural wastewater is becoming increasingly serious problem because of the quick development of agricultural industry and huge amount of toxic heavy metals discharged into farmlands. Additionally, most pollutants in the domestic wastewater are nitrogen, phosphorus, and organic matter which could be utilized as nutrients for plant growth [9].

The adsorption process is preferred over other water and wastewater treatment technologies due to its lower cost, simple design, and ease of operation. Activated carbon (an all-purpose adsorbent) is commonly used to remove wide range contaminants from water and wastewater. The goal of current research is to modify carbon surfaces to improve their adsorption capability for specific contaminants. However, because of its greater costs, commercial activated carbon is not always widely used, especially in developing or poor countries. As a result, efforts are being undertaken to develop low-cost adsorbents using plentiful natural materials such as agricultural and industrial waste materials. Use of waste materials as low-cost adsorbents is desirable since it helps to reduce waste disposal costs and so contributes to environmental conservation.

Most research have recently been conducted to study the use of biochar to remove pollutants from wastewater. Because of the wide availability of feedstocks, low-cost, and promising physical/chemical surface features, biochar has a good potential to efficiently combat water pollutants. Biochar and biochar composites have been widely used in wastewater treatment to improve the efficacy of Fenton-like processes (activation of hydrogen peroxide and persulfate) as an advanced oxidation method for organics removal and wastewater decontamination [17]. Thus, biochars are regarded as a cost-effective adsorbent that is also being recognized as an environmentally friendly and effective sorbent for the removal of organic and inorganic contaminants from water and wastewater [9, 46].

5.1 Removal of Inorganic Pollutants

5.1.1 Heavy Metals

Heavy metals contamination of wastewater endangers food safety and disrupts the ecosystem. Heavy metals in wastewater have received great interest due to their potential for harming human health even at extremely low concentrations, as well as their ability to bioaccumulate and persistency in water. Surprisingly, biochar-based materials have gotten a lot of attention because of their low cost, high absorbance characteristics, and lack of environmental impact. It also has a porous structure and a high specific surface area, which allows for a considerable amount of space for heavy metals adsorption and ensures adequate interaction between the adsorbent and adsorbate. During biomass pyrolysis, several functional groups (hydroxy, phenolic hydroxyl, carboxyl, and carbonyl) are formed on biochar, and they are mostly influenced by the nature of biomass, pyrolysis temperature, and heating rates [46].

Several research have focused into the use of biochar (produced from plant and animal residues) in the removal of heavy metals from water and wastewater using an effective adsorption technique [9, 47]. The potential of biochar to adsorb heavy metals in water and wastewater is summarized in Table 1. In this regard, Dong et al. [49] found that sugar beet tailing biochar has a hexavalent chromium (Cr(VI)) adsorption capacity of 123 mg g⁻¹ in an acidic condition. Biochar produced from fruit peel has been used to remove heavy metals from wastewater in previous research. For instance, Wang et al. [27] revealed that biochar derived from pineapple peel can adsorb Cr(VI), while in another recent study, Khan et al. [57] investigated the removal of Cu²⁺ and Zn²⁺ from simulated wastewater using muskmelon peel biochar. Rice husk biochar has some advantages, such as porous nature, heterogeneity, and metal ions adsorption characteristics, which make it useful for removing heavy metals from water and wastewater. This adsorption capacity was shown to be suitable for the removal of As³⁺ at 90% and Cu²⁺ at 93%, and other metals such as Cd²⁺, Ni²⁺, and Zn²⁺ metal ions from aqueous solutions [58].

Under 300, 500, and 700°C, tea waste biochar (TWBC) has maximal Cd adsorption capabilities of 8.90, 4.73, and 7.26 mg g⁻¹, respectively. The adsorption abilities of TWBC considerably decreased after acid washing that indicated that the soluble minerals in biochars played a key role during the Cd removal process. The functional groups at 300°C have an essential role in Cd removal, and the aromatic structure at 700°C may also play a role in Cd adsorption [59]. The pyrolysis temperature has the greatest impact on the effectiveness of Cd removal from water. For instance, Higashikawa et al. [60] showed that increasing the pyrolysis temperature during biochar preparation (sugarcane straw, rice husk, sawdust, and chicken manure + sawdust) from 350°C to 650°C resulted in higher Cd²⁺ removal from water.

Arsenic (As) is a very poisonous metal that can be found in drinking water and wastewater and is considered a human carcinogen (group I). The removal of As^{3+} and As^{5+} from water and wastewater is applied by the adsorption process using pristine (unmodified) biochar or modified biochar. In this regard, Van Vinh et al.

Dollutont	Biochar	Pyrolysis	Effort	Deferences
Arsenic As (III), As (V)	Waste leaves litter	800	Adsorption (endothermic and exothermic)	[48]
As (III and V) and Cd (II)	Sewage sludge digestate	350	Adsorption	[28]
Chromium	Oak wood	400-450	Sorption	[34]
Chromium	Sugar beet tailing	300	Electrostatic attraction: Reduc- tion of Cr(VI) to Cr (III): Complexation	[49]
Lead	Dairy manure	200	Precipitation with phosphate	[50]
Lead	Sewage sludge	550	Adsorption due to cation release, functional groups com- plexation, surface precipitation	[51]
Lead	Sewage sludge digestate	350	Adsorption	[52]
Lead	Sawdust of white spruce Canola straw, wheat straw Manure pellet	300, 400, and 500 with and with- out steam activation	Adsorption, precipitation, ion exchange, and inner-sphere complexation	[42]
Copper	Crop straw	400	Adsorption due to surface complexation	[53]
Copper	Pecan shell	800	Precipitation of azurite or tenorite at pH 7, 8, and 9; sorp- tion on humic acid at pH 6	[54]
Copper and zinc	Hardwood	450	Endothermic adsorption	[25]
Copper, cadmium, nickel, and zinc	Broiler straw Alfalfa stems	500	Adsorption onto inorganic frac- tion of biochar	[55]
Mercury	Soybean stalk	300-700	Precipitation, complexation, reduction	[56]

 Table 1
 Biochar utilization for heavy metals pollutants in water

[61] observed that surface modification of biochar by $Zn(NO_3)_2$ impregnation increased the ability of As^{3+} adsorption from 5.7 mg g⁻¹ to 7.0 mg g⁻¹. With biochar produced from paper mill sludge, the maximum adsorptive capacity of As^{3+} was 34.1 mg g⁻¹ [14]. Because of the negative charge on modified surface biochar, pristine biochar has a lower capacity removing As^{3+} from water than modified

biochar. In aquatic environments, for example, KOH-modified sewage sludge digestate-derived biochar improved As^{5+} and Cd^{2+} sorption capacity from 1.6 µmol g⁻¹ and 16.1 µmol g⁻¹ to 8.5 µmol g⁻¹ and 318.5 µmol g⁻¹, respectively compared to raw biochar [52]. This could be due to washing methods using ultrapure water after KOH treatment, which resulted in the release of phosphate and organic matter from the biochar, possibly leading to the oxidation of As^{3+} to As^{5+} .

Biochars can also be used to remove Pb^{2+} from wastewater. Biochars produced from fresh and dehydrated banana peels, for example, have Pb^{2+} removal efficiencies of 359 mg g¹⁻ and 193 mg g¹⁻, respectively. Additionally, biochar derived from fresh dehydrated banana peels also performed well in terms of Pb adsorption [62]. Biochars produced at various process conditions from wood bark, dairy manure, tailing of sugar beet, wood from pine and rice husk have been proven successful in removing heavy metals such as Cd, Cr, Hg, and Pb from wastewater [63, 64].

The efficiency of biochar in removing heavy metals from water is depended on pyrolysis temperature and the type of biomass used. In this regard, Islam et al. [65] investigated the sorption capacity of papermill sludge (PMS) and rice straw (RS) biochars (treated with N₂ and CO₂ as purging gas,) for Cd²⁺, Cu²⁺, Ni²⁺, and Pb²⁺. They found that PMS biochar had higher adsorption affinities for the removal of Cu²⁺, Ni²⁺, and Pb²⁺ in an aqueous solution, whereas RS biochar had higher adsorption capacity for Cd²⁺, indicating that the highest adsorption was related to metal specific. Biochar's specific surface area and pore volume were also increased because of the modification of biochar. For instance, Yin et al. [66] observed that the maximum adsorption capacity of cadmium from aqueous solution on MgCl₂-modified biochar (using *Pennisetum* sp. straw) was 763.1 mg g¹⁻ that was 11.2 times higher than that of the pristine biochar. Batch adsorption experiments revealed that the Cd²⁺ adsorption data of MgCl₂-modified biochar are highly fitted to the Langmuir isothermal and pseudo-second-order kinetic models, indicating a chemical adsorption has played a significant role in the system.

5.1.2 Nitrogen and Phosphorus

Wastewaters are rich in nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) compounds. The concentration of N and P in agricultural, industrial, and domestic wastewater is rapidly increasing due to human activities and anthropogenic features. Increasing the amount of soluble N and P in water encouraged the growth of weeds and algae, both of which have negative environmental impacts. In the water system, inorganic N and P are often found as NH₄-N, NO₃-N, and PO₄³⁻. These two elements are the primary causes of eutrophication in water. Water eutrophication is mainly occurred by the action of two or three different nutrients, such as NH₄⁺, NO₃⁻, and PO₄³⁻, which might change depending on the season and the trophic status of water [67]. In this regard, Zeng et al. [68] reported that the coexistence of NH₄-N, NO₃-N, and PO₄³⁻ produces water blooms, whereas the coexistence of NH₄⁺, NO₃⁻ has no effect on water bodies. Moreover, the coexistence of NH₄-N and PO₄³⁻ stimulates

phytoplankton more than the coexistence of NO₃-N and PO_4^{3-} . Water eutrophication is a serious global environmental problem that causes the degradation of the water ecosystem and the damage of the self-purification capacity of water.

On the other hand, inorganic contaminants have been successfully removed from water bodies using aluminum oxide, fly ash, zeolite, activated carbon, and synthetic materials. However, the use of activated carbon, ion exchange resin, and zeolite as adsorbents requires expensive raw materials and economical adsorbent such as biochar is needed [69]. Biochar's multifunctional properties have increased interest in its removal of N and P from water and wastewater. Table 2 contains a list of references that describe the use of biochar to remove inorganic contaminants (N and P) from water and wastewater. Biochar has recently been used to be a new type of adsorbent for the removal of N and P from water and wastewater. In this regard, Yin et al. [77] reviewed the use of biochar in the removal of inorganic N (NH_4^+ , NO_3^-) and P (PO $_4^{3-}$) from water due to the impact of actual properties of biochar on N/P adsorption as well as the possible adsorption mechanisms. They concluded that the adsorption of N and P on biochar is controlled by the collaborative interactions of several processes (physical and chemical). The physical adsorption is correlated to the porous structure and wide surface area of biochar, while chemical adsorption is related to the biochar types, the type and quantity of functional groups, and the compositions of biochar. Ion exchange and electrostatic adsorption between biochar surface functional groups and N are the main processes for N adsorption, whereas P adsorption is depended on the content and morphology of metallic compounds. Furthermore, the conditions of the adsorption solution exert effects on N and P adsorption. For instance, the adsorption of NH4⁺ using hydrous bamboo biochar was investigated by Fan et al. [78]. Their results showed that hydrous bamboo biochar is an adequate adsorption capacity for NH4+, with a maximum of 6.38 mM g^{-1} . The adsorption process was enhanced at higher ionic strength conditions and pH value was around 6.5, indicating that physical reactions possibly made contributions to the adsorption process such as electrostatic interactions, specific chemical bonds and surface precipitation to ammonium adsorption. This adsorption process was an endothermic and spontaneous adsorption process. Additionally, Hu et al. [41] investigated the relationship between NH_4^+ adsorption and physicochemical properties of biochars produced from various types of fruit peel (orange, pineapple, and pitaya), which were synthesized at 300, 400, 500, and 600°C with residence times of 2 h and 4 h. They demonstrated that the maximum adsorption abilities of NH_4^+ were related to biochars of orange peel (4.71 mg g⁻¹) and pineapple peel (5.60 mg g^{-1}), which produced at 300°C for 2 h. Moreover, the maximum adsorption of NH_4^+ (2.65 mg g⁻¹) was observed when used pitaya peel biochar that produced at 400°C for 2 h. Surface complexation, cation exchange, and electrostatic attraction were the most common adsorption processes.

Biochar modification is significant for increasing the ability of modified biochar for phosphate ion adsorption from wastewater. In this regard, Ajmal et al. [13] compared the efficiency of original (pristine) and modified biochars (magnetic modification) for removing PO_4^{-3} from wastewater. They observed that the ability of magnetic biochar for sorption process was twofold (25–28 mg g⁻¹) than that of

		tionit wave and wavewave of privative and		TOOLIGI		
	Treatment					
	temperature,		Target	Initial		
Biomass feedstock	°C	Production method	pollutants	concentration	Adsorption capacity	References
Oak wood	400-450	Pyrolysis	NH^{4+}	$1,000 \text{ mg NH}_4^+$	$129.4 \pm 34.8 \text{ mg g}^{1-}$	[70]
Greenhouse waste	400-450			11-	$118.2 \pm 26.9 \ \mathrm{mg\ g}^{1-}$	
Municipal waste	400-450				$137.3 \pm 0.6 \ { m mg g}^{1-}$	
Presscake from AD	400-450				$105.8 \pm 11.5 \ { m mg \ g}^{1-}$	
Oak wood	600-650				$123.5 \pm 28.7 \text{ mg g}^{1-}$	
Greenhouse waste	600-650				$99.3 \pm 28.5 \text{ mg g}^{1-}$	
Municipal waste	600-650				$128.3 \pm 6.7 \text{ mg g}^{1-}$	
Presscake from AD	600-650				$136.2 \pm 18.1 \text{ mg g}^1$	
Wood biochar	600	Slow pyrolysis for a retention time of	NH ⁴⁺ -N	$1,400 \text{ mg N } 1^{1-}$	$44.64 \pm 0.60 \text{ mg g}^{1-}$	[69]
Rice husks biochar		10 h			$39.8 \pm 0.54 \text{ mg g}^{1-}$	
Cassava peel	500	Bentonite powder and cassava peel	$\rm NH^{4+}$	200 mg NH_4^+	Maximum 23.67 mg NH ₄ ⁺	[71]
		mixed in water		1 ¹⁻	g^{1-}	
Oak sawdust	300	Pyrolysis feedstock impregnated with	$\rm NH^{4+}$	25.7 mg NH_4^+	$3.12 \text{ mg NH}_4^+ \text{ g}^{1-}$	[72]
Oak sawdust	300	LaCl ₃	$\rm NH^{4+}$	1^{1-}	$4.13 \text{ mg } \text{NH}_4^+ \text{ g}^{1-}$	
Peanut shells/corn-	300/450/600	Low pyrolysis temperatures	$\rm NH^{4+}$	$50 \text{ mg } \text{NH}_4^+$	$15.8-17.6 \text{ mg NH}_4^+ \text{ g}^{1-}$	[73]
cobs/cotton stalks				1^{1-}		
Oak sawdust	600	Pyrolysis feedstock impregnated with	NO_3^-	20.0 mg NO_3	2.81 mg NO ₃ g ^{1–}	[72]
Oak sawdust	600	LaCl ₃	NO_3^-	1^{1-}	8.7 mg NO ₃ g ^{1–}	
Peanut shells	600	Feedstock impregnated with MgO (MgO	NO_3^-	20.0 mg N l ¹⁻	95 mg g ^{1–}	[74]
Sugar beet tailings		nanoflakes)				
Walnut shell and	600	Pyrolysis for 3 h with different ratios of	PO_{4}^{3-}	$50 \text{ mg } 1^{1-}$	303.5 mg g^{1-} for pure	[75]
sewage sludge		the two feedstocks			sewage sludge biochar	
Wood and rice husks	600	Pyrolysis magnetic modification by co-precipitation of Fe^{2+}/Fe^{3+} ions	PO_4^{3-}	$10 \text{ g } 1^{1-}$	25–28 mg g ^{1–}	[13]
Oak wood	400-450	Pyrolysis	PO_4^{3-}	400 mg PO_4^{3-}	$5.5 \pm 19.0 \text{ mg P g}^{1-}$	[70]
Greenhouse waste	400-450			1 ¹⁻	$18.7 \pm 1.9 \text{ mg P g}^{1-}$	

Table 2 Removal of inorganic N and P from water and wastewater by pristine and ensineered biochar

Municipal waste Presscake from AD Oak wood Greenhouse waste Municipal waste Presscake from AD	400–450 400–450 600–650 600–650 600–650 600–650				11.9 \pm 4.3 mg P g ¹⁻ 7.8 \pm 1.4 mg P g ¹⁻ 3.6 \pm 6.1 mg P g ¹⁻ 9.1 \pm 6.5 mg P g ¹⁻ 14.3 \pm 0.6 mg P g ¹⁻ 30.0 \pm 24.9 mg P g ¹	
Cotton stalk	350	Biochar granulation and modification by ferric oxides	PO_4^{3-}	20 mg PO_4^{3-1} 1^{1-1}	$0.963 \text{ mg PO}_4^{3-} \text{g}^1$	[76]
Peanut shells Sugar beet tailings	600	Feedstock impregnated with MgO (MgO nanoflakes)	PO_4^{3-}	1,600 mg P l ^{1–}	835 mg g ¹⁻	[74]

the unmodified biochar (12–15 mg g⁻¹). Furthermore, the sorption of PO_4^{-3} on magnetic biochar is regulated by simultaneous mechanisms (electrostatic attraction, surface precipitation, and complexation), but this sorption mainly depends on electrostatic attraction for the original biochar. In addition, Kizito et al. [69] found that pristine and modified rice husk and wood biochar can adsorb NH₄⁺-N from piggery manure anaerobic digestate slurry and can be employed as nutrient filters prior to discharge into water streams. The adsorption of NH₄⁺-N was increased with increase as contact time, temperature, pH and increased the concentration of NH₄⁺-N, but it decreased as biochar particle size was increased. The sorption process was also endothermic, following Langmuir (R² = 0.995 and 0.998) and pseudosecond-order kinetic models (R² = 0.998 and 0.999). The sorption of ammonium in aqueous solution increased when biochar was produced at a low pyrolysis temperature [73].

5.2 Removal of Organic Pollutants

Antibiotics are crucial group of pharmaceuticals, and their utilization in medicine has been growing at an increasing rate each year. Antibiotics are carcinogenic, endocrine inherent nature, and are categorized based on their chemical structure, biological activity, and mode of action. Antibiotic pollution has resulted in an increase in the number of antimicrobial resistant bacteria in the environment. Unfortunately, even little amounts of these compounds in the wastewater cause serious processing problems because they are extremely difficult to remove from wastewater and necessitate highly effective techniques for removal. The concentration of antibiotics in wastewater ranges from $\mu g l^{1-}$ to $ng l^{1-}$ [79]. The adsorption process is a low-cost and effective method for removing of pharmaceutical compounds from various sources of wastewater.

Similarly, with the ability of biochar as adsorbent for removal of heavy metals and inorganic N and P from wastewater, the ability of biochar to removal of pharmaceutically active compounds (PhACs) such as antibiotics from wastewater has been reported in the previous literatures [16, 22, 23, 79]. Engineered biochars (physically, chemically, and biologically modified biochar) and their composites have also piqued interest as a means of increasing pharmaceuticals adsorption efficiency. The utilization of antibiotics and their relationship with environmental contamination and their removal using biochar-based materials have been reviewed by Krasucka et al. [16]. In this regard, Wang et al. [80] investigated the adsorption of tetracycline (TC) from aqueous solution using biochar that produced from pyrolysis of rice straw at 300, 500, and 700°C. They found that the adsorption of TC was more effective onto biochar produced at higher temperatures than at lower temperatures. The relative increase of TC adsorption from 300°C to 700°C is 250%. Similarly, increasing the temperature of pyrolysis process from 400°C to 600°C increased the adsorption of TC by 25% in swine manure biochar modified with H₃PO₄ [24] and pinewood (an increase from 600°C to 800°C promoted TC adsorption by 56%) [81]. These results were linked to increase biochar porosity during pyrolysis process at higher temperatures. In addition, the interaction between the aromatic rings on antibiotic and biochar is responsible for the high efficiency. The ring structure of the antibiotic molecule promotes π - π EDA interactions that are mainly responsible for TC adsorption onto biochar [24]. As the synthesis temperature increase, biochar increases the degree of graphitization on its surface, the number of arene rings participating in the binding of π - π EDA to the TC molecule, and thus the major fraction of this form of interaction in the adsorption process. The binding of TC with modified biochar may be influenced by hydrophobic interactions, hydrogen bonding, and electrostatic interactions [82].

Sulfonamide antibiotics (sulfamethoxazole and sulfapyridine) are also used to prevent and control infectious diseases in human and animals. In this regard, Xie et al. [83] found that pinewood biochar pyrolysis at 500°C had a higher sulfonamides adsorption than that produced at 400°C. This is attributed to the improved π - π electron–donor–acceptor interaction with the carbon surface of biochar (500°C) due to the higher degree of graphitization. At pH 4, the maximum adsorption capacity of chlortetracycline from wastewater onto sugarcane bagasse biochar was 16.96 mg g^{1–}, while at pH 5, the highest adsorption efficiency of chlortetracycline onto corn cob biochar was accomplished with a maximum adsorption of 12.39 mg g^{1–} [84].

6 Adsorption Mechanism by Biochar

Because of its advantages of cheaper cost, simple operation, good selectivity, and use of readily accessible renewable adsorbents, the adsorption technique has been widely used to remove organic and inorganic pollutants for a long time among various water and wastewater treatment systems, [5]. For the removal of many types of pollutants from water and wastewater, a universal adsorbent (activated carbon) and other materials such as clays, waste, oxides and hydroxides, and synthetic materials are usually used. However, there is a significant difficulty with their use in terms of high production costs, environmental unfriendliness, inconsistent performance, and regeneration issues. Therefore, use of waste materials as low-cost adsorbents is desirable due to their contribution to waste disposal cost reduction, and thus environmental conservation [9, 47, 85, 86]. Specifically, biochar is expected to be a high-efficiency, low-cost adsorbent with properties like activated carbon. It is also being accepted as an environmentally friendly and effective sorbent for reducing organic and inorganic pollutants, making it a tool for reducing the toxic pollutants pose on the worldwide environment [87]. The adsorption mechanisms vary corresponding to the properties of both biochar and contaminants. Pristine biochar and modified biochar (engineered and composites biochar) have a significant potential for practical uses as adsorbents for the removal of various pollutants due to their good pore structure, large specific surface area, and rich surface functional groups. In this chapter, we will go through the major mechanisms in the removal of organic contaminants, heavy metals, and other pollutants by biochars (Figs. 2 and 3).



Fig. 2 Adsorption mechanisms of biochar for heavy metals, organic pollutants, and inorganic pollutants [17]

The two basic types of adsorption mechanisms are physisorption and chemisorption. The first mechanism is mostly based on biochar's physical properties, whereas the second mechanism consist of numerous processes such as precipitation, electrostatic interaction, ionic exchange, and complexion with functional groups [87]. The pH value, mineral content, porosity, functional groups on the surface, chemical structure, active sites, particle size, stable molecular structure, and specific surface area are all factors that affect physisorption and chemisorption mechanisms [87, 88]. Therefore, more details about these two mechanisms affecting the adsorption of the target pollutants will aid in producing specific biochars for specific pollutants.

The adsorption mechanism of biochar is significantly depended on the properties of biochar or modified biochar including mineral and organic structure in feedstock, surface functional groups, surface electrical properties, nanomaterials, porous



Fig. 3 Sorption mechanisms of organic pollutants and heavy metals on biochar [8]

structure, and the types of target pollutants (type and properties of pollutants), in addition the coexisting components in wastewater [8, 86]. Furthermore, the removal processes of heavy metals from water and wastewater using biochar varied based on the valence state of the target metal at various solution pH [89]. The following are four hypothesized biochar processes for removing heavy metals from water and wastewater: (1) electrostatic attraction of heavy metals with surface of biochar; (2) ion exchange on biochar surface between heavy metals and alkali or alkaline earth metals or protons; (3) complexation with π electron-rich domain or surface functional groups; (4) co-precipitation to form insoluble compounds [63, 89, 90]. Biochar's adsorption activity for various agricultural pollutants varies greatly. In agricultural wastewater, the interactions between heavy metals and biochar-based functional materials include some mechanisms such as hydrogen bonding, intermolecular interaction, electrostatic interactions, surface complexation, ion exchange, hydrophobic interactions, precipitation, inner-sphere complexes, π - π interaction, and/or cation- π bonding [86]. The existing acidic function groups (phenolic-OH and carboxyl C=O) were strongly related with the increase of NH_4^+ adsorption. Increasing basic functional groups on lanthanum biochar (La-biochar) improved NO_3^- and PO_4^{3-} adsorption, and PO_4^{3-} was also potentially related to the formed La₂O₃ [72]. Yin et al. [66] reported that the removal of Cd²⁺ by MgCl₂-modified biochar was mostly known to the mechanisms in this order: Cd(OH)₂ precipitation (73.43%) > ion exchange (22.67%) > Cd²⁺- π interaction (3.88%), with negligible contributions from functional group complexation, electrostatic attraction, and physical adsorption.

Previous research confirmed that biochar formed from biomaterials has promising ability to remove organic pollutants [91]. Generally, the main mechanisms of organic contaminants sorption by biochar are pore-filling, hydrophobic effect, electrostatic interaction, and hydrogen bonds, that varying due to the physicochemical properties of the contaminants and biochar.

7 Economic and Environmental Benefits of Biochar in Wastewater Treatment

A few published literature for studying the cost-benefit biochars production from different materials. The use of biochar as adsorbent in the sorption of contaminants in wastewater treatment is regarded a significant economic factor due to the cheap prices of biochar production ($$350-$1,200 \text{ ton}^{1-}$) compared to activated carbon (\$ $1,100-1700 \text{ ton}^{1-}$) [92]. The cost of producing biochar varies based on the type of feedstocks or raw materials used, as well as collection and transportation, supply, distribution, and handling, the conversion technique, temperature, labor costs, and recycling and lifetime concerns. The lack of more information on all parameters of the biochar production led to difficulties in calculating the biochar's economic cost. In this regard, Haeldermans et al. [93] observed techno-economic analysis of biochar production plants for conventional (CPS) and microwave (MWP) pyrolysis using six different residue streams. They observed that minimal biochar selling prices in CPS range from \notin 436 ton¹⁻ to \notin 863 ton¹⁻, and between \notin 564 ton¹⁻ and \notin 979 ton¹⁻ in MWP, indicating that CPS is more practicable than MWP. Another interesting factor is labor cost in biochar production, which is extremely high in the United Kingdom and the United States (about $$5,000 \text{ ton}^{1-}$) and comparatively low in Philippines and India (\$ 90 ton¹⁻). For instance, Kulyk (2012) estimates the cost of biochar to be between \$ 50 and 200 ton¹⁻. The cost of biochar, according to the United States Biochar Initiative, is \$ 500 ton¹⁻. Furthermore, Shackley et al. [94] provide a range of values for biochar production costs ranging from 0 to 682.54 ton¹⁻ of biochar, based on the feedstock, the cost of pyrolysis unit, and other factors; a zero value here represents the assumption that the profitable of biochar production, and thus the biochar production cost is zero. Biochar's cost-effectiveness can be improved by utilizing a less expensive feedstock and more efficient production technique. However, due to applying the modifications and additional components in biochar, the



Fig. 4 Environmental interests and biochar research directions in the future [8]

production costs of modified biochar (Engineered biochar) increased. Consequently, future studies should focus on calculating the cost of producing engineered biochars to compare them to raw/pristine biochars. Figure 4 briefly illustrated the potential environmental concerns and propositional future research directions on proposed concerns.

Recycling of waste into biochar is of great environmental importance. This approach is consistent with recent trends of sustainable development and circular economy. In 2015, United Nations members adopted "The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development." Two of 17 main objectives of the agenda are: (1) Goal 11 Makes cities and human settlements inclusive, safe, resilient, and sustainable through decreasing the adverse per capita environmental impact of cities, including by paying special attention to air quality and municipal and other waste management, (2) Goal 12 ensures sustainable consumption and production patterns through sustainable waste management including their prevention, reduction, recycling, and reuse. Nevertheless, it should be considered the possible threats and restrictions resulting from the utilization of these type of feedstocks [6].

Biochar is promoted as a long-term, sustainable, and easy-to-monitor method for global warming mitigation. Biochar has a lot of potential in terms of reducing global warming. Pyrolyzing feedstocks into biochar and storing it in the soil – often known as "carbon negative" farming – helps to keep carbon out from circulation for thousands of years, which would otherwise be released by decomposing biomass. Converting biomass into biochar yields a recalcitrant compound and diverts carbon from a fast biological cycle into a slower biochar cycle. Production of bioenergy with biochar carbon storage helps in producing carbon-negative energy [36]. Additionally, data reveals that storing C in biochar reduces the emission of 0.1–0.3 billion tons of CO₂ year⁻¹ that economically may result in a reduction of cost for CO₂ offset [95]. Modified biochar has a better efficiency than other biochars as well as organic

and inorganic sorbents, making it a highly suitable source as a low-cost and effective material for remediation of contaminated wastewater.

8 Conclusions and Future Work

In this chapter, we gave an overview of the extensive application of biochar in wastewater remediation and to remove popular and promising organic and inorganic pollutants. The production of biochar was discussed, and it gave the reader informative knowledge about the biochar modification (engineered biochar) to improve its performance and their importance for pollutants removal from wastewater. The modification of biochar increased the surface area, porosity, reaction activity, surface sorption sites, and forming functional groups as well as using engineered biochar as an adsorbent to remove inorganic and organic contaminants, nitrogen and phosphorus from wastewater. The complicated adsorption processes are demonstrated as a foundation of studies on biochar sorption behavior. The adsorption mechanism of biochar is significantly depended on the properties of biochar or modified biochar including mineral and organic structure in feedstock, surface functional groups, surface electrical properties, nanomaterials, porous structure, and the types of target pollutants (type and properties of pollutants) as well as the coexisting components in wastewater. On the one hand, electrostatic attraction (between heavy metals and biochar surface), ion exchange (between heavy metals and alkali or alkaline earth metals or protons on biochar surface), complexation with π electron-rich domain or surface functional groups, and precipitation to form insoluble compounds are some of the multiple mechanisms for removing inorganic pollutants (heavy metals). Porefilling, hydrophobic effect, electrostatic interaction, and hydrogen bonds, on the other hand, are the key processes of organic pollutants sorption by biochar, which vary depending on the contaminants and biochar's physicochemical properties. Biochar application's environmental concerns are explored in terms of cost performance, stability, co-contaminant, and sustainability. Modification of biochar (Engineered biochar) led to an increase in their production costs because of the used modifications and additional components. Thus, future research should focus on estimating the cost of producing engineered biochars to compare them to raw/pristine biochars. Future study is being proposed to facilitate biochar more applicable.

Comparative research is really suggested to control the cost-effectiveness of biochar compared to other physical, chemical, and biological techniques that developed for the treatment of polluted waters and wastewaters. Additional studies are required to find ecotoxicological and environmental consequences of magnetic biochar after recycled. Economic analyses are also required to indicate the costeffectiveness of such novel biochar. Conditions of biochar production can affect the presence of some environmental pollutants (polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, volatile organic compounds). Therefore, we required identical methods for quantitative analysis of these compounds in the biochar structure especially under environmentally relevant conditions. Additional research is needed to combine technologies like solar power technology with the pyrolysis process to produce biochar and reducing the operating costs. More studies are required to investigate the economic parameters of biochar production and application of the remediation of polluted waters and wastewaters. Only a few social studies have proven that using biochar is socially acceptable. However, further studies are required to have a comprehensive conclusion on this subject [96]. The treatments of biochar will certainly increase the production cost as compared with traditional activated carbon. Hence, future research should aim to get a balance between optimizing the production process and maximizing biochar's applicability to reduce costs [8].

References

- 1. Unuabonah EI, Taubert A (2014) Clay–polymer nanocomposites (CPNs): adsorbents of the future for water treatment. Appl Clay Sci 99:83–92
- Enaime G, Bacaoui A, Yaacoubi A, Lübken M (2020) Biochar for wastewater treatment conversion technologies and applications. Appl Sci 10(10):3492
- Issa AA, Al-Degs YS, Al-Ghouti MA, Olimat AA (2014) Studying competitive sorption behavior of methylene blue and malachite green using multivariate calibration. Chem Eng J 240:554–564
- 4. Yenkie KM (2019) Integrating the three E's in wastewater treatment: efficient design, economic viability, and environmental sustainability. Curr Opin Chem Eng 26:131–138
- Shaheen SM, Niazi NK, Hassan NE, Bibi I, Wang H, Tsang DC, Ok YS, Bolan N, Rinklebe J (2019) Wood-based biochar for the removal of potentially toxic elements in water and wastewater: a critical review. Int Mater Rev 64(4):216–247
- 6. United Nations (2015) Transforming our world: the 2030 agenda for sustainable development. https://www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/resource-pdf/Resolution_A_RES_70_1_EN.pdf
- Sun Y, Wang T, Sun X, Bai L, Han C, Zhang P (2021) The potential of biochar and lignin-based adsorbents for wastewater treatment: comparison, mechanism, and application—a review. Ind Crop Prod 166:113473
- Wang X, Guo Z, Hu Z, Zhang J (2020) Recent advances in biochar application for water and wastewater treatment: a review. PeerJ 8:e9164
- 9. Xiang W, Zhang X, Chen J, Zou W, He F, Hu X, Tsang DCW, Ok YS, Gao B (2020) Biochar technology in wastewater treatment: a critical review. Chemosphere 252:126539
- Wang X, Chi Q, Liu X, Wang Y (2019) Influence of pyrolysis temperature on characteristics and environmental risk of heavy metals in pyrolyzed biochar made from hydrothermally treated sewage sludge. Chemosphere 216:698–706
- 11. Yang X, Zhang S, Ju M, Liu L (2019) Preparation and modification of biochar materials and their application in soil remediation. Appl Sci 9(7):1365
- Huang Q, Song S, Chen Z, Hu B, Chen J, Wang XJB (2019) Biochar-based materials and their applications in removal of organic contaminants from wastewater: state-of-the-art review. Biochar 1(1):45–73
- Ajmal Z, Muhmood A, Dong R, Wu S (2020) Probing the efficiency of magnetically modified biomass-derived biochar for effective phosphate removal. J Environ Manag 253:109730
- 14. Cho D-W, Yoon K, Kwon EE, Biswas JK, Song H (2017) Fabrication of magnetic biochar as a treatment medium for As (V) via pyrolysis of FeCl₃-pretreated spent coffee ground. Environ Pollut 229:942–949

- Godwin PM, Pan Y, Xiao H, Afzal MT (2019) Progress in preparation and application of modified biochar for improving heavy metal ion removal from wastewater. J Bioresour Bioprod 4(1):31–42
- 16. Krasucka P, Pan B, Sik Ok Y, Mohan D, Sarkar B, Oleszczuk P (2021) Engineered biochar a sustainable solution for the removal of antibiotics from water. Chem Eng J 405:126926
- 17. Pan X, Gu Z, Chen W, Li Q (2021) Preparation of biochar and biochar composites and their application in a Fenton-like process for wastewater decontamination: a review. Sci Total Environ 754:142104
- Rajapaksha AU, Chen SS, Tsang DCW, Zhang M, Vithanage M, Mandal S, Gao B, Bolan NS, Ok YS (2016) Engineered/designer biochar for contaminant removal/immobilization from soil and water: potential and implication of biochar modification. Chemosphere 148:276–291
- 19. Sizmur T, Fresno T, Akgül G, Frost H, Moreno-Jiménez E (2017) Biochar modification to enhance sorption of inorganics from water. Bioresour Technol 246:34–47
- Yang G-X, Jiang H (2014) Amino modification of biochar for enhanced adsorption of copper ions from synthetic wastewater. Water Res 48:396–405
- 21. Zhou Y, Gao B, Zimmerman AR, Fang J, Sun Y, Cao X (2013) Sorption of heavy metals on chitosan-modified biochars and its biological effects. Chem Eng J 231:512–518
- Ahmed MB, Zhou JL, Ngo HH, Guo W (2015) Adsorptive removal of antibiotics from water and wastewater: progress and challenges. Sci Total Environ 532:112–126
- 23. Algheethi A, Noman E, Radin Mohamed RMS, Mohammad Razi MA, Amir M (2018) Removal of pharmaceutically active compounds from contaminated water and wastewater using biochar as low-cost adsorbents, an overview. In: Handbook of environmental materials management. Springer, Cham
- 24. Chen T, Luo L, Deng S, Shi G, Zhang S, Zhang Y, Deng O, Wang L, Zhang J, Wei L (2018) Sorption of tetracycline on H3PO4 modified biochar derived from rice straw and swine manure. Bioresour Technol 267:431–437
- 25. Chen X, Chen G, Chen L, Chen Y, Lehmann J, McBride MB, Hay AG (2011) Adsorption of copper and zinc by biochars produced from pyrolysis of hardwood and corn straw in aqueous solution. Bioresour Technol 102(19):8877–8884
- 26. Mohan D, Pittman Jr CU, Bricka M, Smith F, Yancey B, Mohammad J, Steele PH, Alexandre-Franco MF, Gómez-Serrano V, Gong H (2007) Sorption of arsenic, cadmium, and lead by chars produced from fast pyrolysis of wood and bark during bio-oil production. J Colloid Interface Sci 310(1):57–73
- 27. Wang C, Gu L, Liu X, Zhang X, Cao L, Hu X, Biodegradation. (2016) Sorption behavior of Cr (VI) on pineapple-peel-derived biochar and the influence of coexisting pyrene. Int Biodeterior Biodegrad 111:78–84
- Wongrod S, Simon S, Guibaud G, Lens PNL, Pechaud Y, Huguenot D, van Hullebusch ED (2018a) Lead sorption by biochar produced from digestates: consequences of chemical modification and washing. J Environ Manag 219:277–284
- Cao X, Ma L, Gao B, Harris W (2009) Dairy-manure derived biochar effectively sorbs lead and atrazine. Environ Sci Technol 43(9):3285–3291
- 30. Droste RL, Gehr RL (2018) Theory and practice of water and wastewater treatment. Wiley
- 31. Tchobanoglous G, Burton FL, Stensel H (1991) Wastewater engineering. Management 7:1-4
- Crini G, Lichtfouse E (2019) Advantages and disadvantages of techniques used for wastewater treatment. Environ Chem Lett 17(1):145–155
- Barakat M (2011) New trends in removing heavy metals from industrial wastewater. Arab J Chem 4(4):361–377
- 34. Mohan D, Rajput S, Singh VK, Steele PH, Pittman Jr CU (2011) Modeling and evaluation of chromium remediation from water using low cost bio-char, a green adsorbent. J Hazard Mater 188(1–3):319–333
- 35. Kambo HS, Dutta A (2015) A comparative review of biochar and hydrochar in terms of production, physico-chemical properties and applications. Renew Sust Energ Rev 45:359–378

- 36. Kulyk N (2012) Cost-benefit analysis of the biochar application in the US cereal crop cultivation
- Tian J, Jin J, Chiu P, Guo M, Imhoff PT (2016) The impact of biochar on bioretention nitrogen removal and hydrologic performance. AGUFM 2016:B21A-0434
- 38. Pokharel A, Acharya B, Farooque A (2020) Biochar-assisted wastewater treatment and waste valorization. In: Applications of biochar for environmental safety. IntechOpen
- 39. Ahmad M, Lee SS, Dou X, Mohan D, Sung J-K, Yang JE, Ok YS (2012) Effects of pyrolysis temperature on soybean stover- and peanut shell-derived biochar properties and TCE adsorption in water. Bioresour Technol 118:536–544
- 40. Demirbas A (2004) Effects of temperature and particle size on bio-char yield from pyrolysis of agricultural residues. J Anal Appl Pyrolysis 72(2):243–248
- 41. Hu X, Zhang X, Ngo HH, Guo W, Wen H, Li C, Zhang Y, Ma C (2020) Comparison study on the ammonium adsorption of the biochars derived from different kinds of fruit peel. Sci Total Environ 707:135544
- 42. Kwak J-H, Islam MS, Wang S, Messele SA, Naeth MA, El-Din MG, Chang SX (2019) Biochar properties and lead (II) adsorption capacity depend on feedstock type, pyrolysis temperature, and steam activation. Chemosphere 231:393–404
- Warnock DD, Lehmann J, Kuyper TW, Rillig MC (2007) Mycorrhizal responses to biochar in soil–concepts and mechanisms. Plant Soil 300(1):9–20
- 44. Qambrani NA, Rahman MM, Won S, Shim S, Ra C (2017) Biochar properties and eco-friendly applications for climate change mitigation, waste management, and wastewater treatment: a review. Renew Sust Energ Rev 79:255–273
- 45. Rangabhashiyam S, Balasubramanian P (2019) The potential of lignocellulosic biomass precursors for biochar production: performance, mechanism and wastewater application-a review. Ind Crop Prod 128:405–423
- 46. Chen B, Zhou D, Zhu L (2008) Transitional adsorption and partition of nonpolar and polar aromatic contaminants by biochars of pine needles with different pyrolytic temperatures. Environ Sci Technol 42(14):5137–5143
- 47. Mohan D, Sarswat A, Ok YS, Pittman Jr CU (2014) Organic and inorganic contaminants removal from water with biochar, a renewable, low cost and sustainable adsorbent–a critical review. Bioresour Technol 160:191–202
- 48. Verma L, Singh J (2019) Synthesis of novel biochar from waste plant litter biomass for the removal of Arsenic (III and V) from aqueous solution: a mechanism characterization, kinetics and thermodynamics. J Environ Manag 248:109235
- 49. Dong X, Ma LQ, Li Y (2011) Characteristics and mechanisms of hexavalent chromium removal by biochar from sugar beet tailing. J Hazard Mater 190(1):909–915
- 50. Cao X, Harris W (2010) Properties of dairy-manure-derived biochar pertinent to its potential use in remediation. Bioresour Technol 101(14):5222–5228
- 51. Lu H, Zhang W, Yang Y, Huang X, Wang S, Qiu R (2012) Relative distribution of Pb2+ sorption mechanisms by sludge-derived biochar. Water Res 46(3):854–862
- 52. Wongrod S, Simon S, van Hullebusch ED, Lens PN, Guibaud G (2018b) Changes of sewage sludge digestate-derived biochar properties after chemical treatments and influence on As (III and V) and Cd (II) sorption. Int Biodeterior Biodegrad 135:96–102
- Tong X-J, Li J-Y, Yuan J-H, Xu R-K (2011) Adsorption of Cu (II) by biochars generated from three crop straws. Chem Eng J 172(2–3):828–834
- 54. Ippolito J, Strawn D, Scheckel K, Novak J, Ahmedna M, Niandou M (2012) Macroscopic and molecular investigations of copper sorption by a steam-activated biochar. J Environ Qual 41(4): 1150–1156
- 55. Lima IM, Boateng AA, Klasson KT (2010) Physicochemical and adsorptive properties of fastpyrolysis bio-chars and their steam activated counterparts. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 85(11): 1515–1521
- 56. Kong H, He J, Gao Y, Wu H, Zhu X (2011) Cosorption of phenanthrene and mercury (II) from aqueous solution by soybean stalk-based biochar. J Agric Food Chem 59(22):12116–12123

- 57. Khan TA, Mukhlif AA, Khan EA (2017) Uptake of Cu2+ and Zn2+ from simulated wastewater using muskmelon peel biochar: isotherm and kinetic studies. Egypt J Basic Appl Sci 4(3): 236–248
- Shukla P, Mishra A, Manivannan S, Melo JS, Mandal D (2020) Parametric optimization for adsorption of mercury (II) using self assembled bio-hybrid. J Environ Chem Eng 8(3):103725
- 59. Fan S, Zhang L (2021) Production and characterization of tea waste-based biochar and its application in treatment of Cd-containing wastewater. Biomass Convers Biorefinery 11(5): 1719–1732
- 60. Higashikawa FS, Conz RF, Colzato M, Cerri CEP, Alleoni LRF (2016) Effects of feedstock type and slow pyrolysis temperature in the production of biochars on the removal of cadmium and nickel from water. J Clean Prod 137:965–972
- 61. Van Vinh N, Zafar M, Behera S, Park H-S (2015) Arsenic (III) removal from aqueous solution by raw and zinc-loaded pine cone biochar: equilibrium, kinetics, and thermodynamics studies. Int J Environ Sci Technol 12(4):1283–1294
- 62. Zhou N, Chen H, Xi J, Yao D, Zhou Z, Tian Y, Lu X (2017) Biochars with excellent Pb (II) adsorption property produced from fresh and dehydrated banana peels via hydrothermal carbonization. Bioresour Technol 232:204–210
- Qian K, Kumar A, Zhang H, Bellmer D, Huhnke R (2015) Recent advances in utilization of biochar. Renew Sust Energ Rev 42:1055–1064
- 64. Yu KL, Lau BF, Show PL, Ong HC, Ling TC, Chen W-H, Ng EP, Chang J-S (2017) Recent developments on algal biochar production and characterization. Bioresour Technol 246:2–11
- 65. Islam MS, Kwak J-H, Nzediegwu C, Wang S, Palansuriya K, Kwon EE, Naeth MA, El-Din MG, Ok YS, Chang SX (2021) Biochar heavy metal removal in aqueous solution depends on feedstock type and pyrolysis purging gas. Environ Pollut 281:117094
- 66. Yin G, Tao L, Chen X, Bolan NS, Sarkar B, Lin Q, Wang H (2021) Quantitative analysis on the mechanism of Cd2+ removal by MgCl2-modified biochar in aqueous solutions. J Hazard Mater 420:126487
- 67. Hina K (2013) Application of biochar technologies to wastewater treatment. Massey University, Palmerston North
- 68. Zeng Q, Qin L, Bao L, Li Y, Li X (2016) Critical nutrient thresholds needed to control eutrophication and synergistic interactions between phosphorus and different nitrogen sources. Environ Sci Pollut Res 23(20):21008–21019
- 69. Kizito S, Wu S, Kirui WK, Lei M, Lu Q, Bah H, Dong R (2015) Evaluation of slow pyrolyzed wood and rice husks biochar for adsorption of ammonium nitrogen from piggery manure anaerobic digestate slurry. Sci Total Environ 505:102–112
- Takaya C, Fletcher L, Singh S, Anyikude K, Ross A (2016) Phosphate and ammonium sorption capacity of biochar and hydrochar from different wastes. Chemosphere 145:518–527
- Ismadji S, Tong DS, Soetaredjo FE, Ayucitra A, Yu WH, Zhou CH (2016) Bentonite hydrochar composite for removal of ammonium from Koi fish tank. Appl Clay Sci 119:146–154
- 72. Wang Z, Guo H, Shen F, Yang G, Zhang Y, Zeng Y, Wang L, Xiao H, Deng S (2015) Biochar produced from oak sawdust by Lanthanum (La)-involved pyrolysis for adsorption of ammonium (NH4+), nitrate (NO3–), and phosphate (PO43–). Chemosphere 119:646–653
- Gao F, Xue Y, Deng P, Cheng X, Yang K (2015) Removal of aqueous ammonium by biochars derived from agricultural residuals at different pyrolysis temperatures. Chem Spec Bioavailab 27(2):92–97
- 74. Zhang M, Gao B, Yao Y, Xue Y, Inyang M (2012) Synthesis of porous MgO-biochar nanocomposites for removal of phosphate and nitrate from aqueous solutions. Chem Eng J 210:26–32
- 75. Yin Q, Liu M, Ren H (2019) Biochar produced from the co-pyrolysis of sewage sludge and walnut shell for ammonium and phosphate adsorption from water. J Environ Manag 249: 109410

- 76. Ren J, Li N, Li L, An J-K, Zhao L, Ren NQ (2015) Granulation and ferric oxides loading enable biochar derived from cotton stalk to remove phosphate from water. Bioresour Technol 178: 119–125
- 77. Yin Q, Zhang B, Wang R, Zhao Z (2017) Biochar as an adsorbent for inorganic nitrogen and phosphorus removal from water: a review. Environ Sci Pollut Res 24(34):26297–26309
- Fan R, Chen C-L, Lin J-Y, Tzeng J-H, Huang C-P, Dong C, Huang CP (2019) Adsorption characteristics of ammonium ion onto hydrous biochars in dilute aqueous solutions. Bioresour Technol 272:465–472
- Akhil D, Lakshmi D, Kumar PS, Vo D-VN, Kartik A (2021) Occurrence and removal of antibiotics from industrial wastewater. Environ Chem Lett 19(2):1477–1507
- Wang H, Chu Y, Fang C, Huang F, Song Y, Xue X (2017) Sorption of tetracycline on biochar derived from rice straw under different temperatures. PLoS One 12(8):e0182776
- 81. Li C, Zhu X, He H, Fang Y, Dong H, Lü J, Li J, Li Y (2019) Adsorption of two antibiotics on biochar prepared in air-containing atmosphere: influence of biochar porosity and molecular size of antibiotics. J Mol Liq 274:353–361
- Jang HM, Kan E (2019) A novel hay-derived biochar for removal of tetracyclines in water. Bioresour Technol 274:162–172
- Xie M, Chen W, Xu Z, Zheng S, Zhu D (2014) Adsorption of sulfonamides to demineralized pine wood biochars prepared under different thermochemical conditions. Environ Pollut 186: 187–194
- 84. Zhang L, Tong L, Zhu P, Huang P, Tan Z, Qin F, Shi W, Wang M, Nie H, Yan G, Huang H (2018) Adsorption of chlortetracycline onto biochar derived from corn cob and sugarcane bagasse. Water Sci Technol 78(6):1336–1347
- 85. Shakoor MB, Ye Z-L, Chen S (2021) Engineered biochars for recovering phosphate and ammonium from wastewater: a review. Sci Total Environ 779:146240
- 86. Wei D, Li B, Huang H, Luo L, Zhang J, Yang Y, Guo J, Tang L, Zeng G, Zhou Y (2018) Biochar-based functional materials in the purification of agricultural wastewater: fabrication, application and future research needs. Chemosphere 197:165–180
- Akintola A, Akinlabi E, Masebinu SO (2020) Biochar as an adsorbent: a short overview. Valoriz Biomass Value-Added Commod 2020:399–422
- Nartey OD, Zhao B (2014) Biochar preparation, characterization, and adsorptive capacity and its effect on bioavailability of contaminants: an overview. Adv Mater Sci Eng 2014:715398
- 89. Li H, Dong X, da Silva EB, de Oliveira LM, Chen Y, Ma LQ (2017) Mechanisms of metal sorption by biochars: biochar characteristics and modifications. Chemosphere 178:466–478
- 90. Tan X, Liu Y, Zeng G, Wang X, Hu X, Gu Y, Yang Z (2015) Application of biochar for the removal of pollutants from aqueous solutions. Chemosphere 125:70–85
- Gwenzi W, Chaukura N, Noubactep C, Mukome FN (2017) Biochar-based water treatment systems as a potential low-cost and sustainable technology for clean water provision. J Environ Manag 197:732–749
- 92. Khan N, Chowdhary P, Gnansounou E, Chaturvedi P (2021) Biochar and environmental sustainability: emerging trends and techno-economic perspectives. Bioresour Technol 332: 125102
- 93. Haeldermans T, Campion L, Kuppens T, Vanreppelen K, Cuypers A, Schreurs S (2020) A comparative techno-economic assessment of biochar production from different residue streams using conventional and microwave pyrolysis. Bioresour Technol 318:124083
- 94. Shackley S, Sohi S, Brownsort P, Carter S, Cook J, Cunningham C, Gaunt J, Hammond J, Ibarrola R, Mašek O, Sims K (2010) An assessment of the benefits and issues associated with the application of biochar to soil. Food, Rural Affairs, U.G., London
- 95. Liu W-J, Jiang H, Yu H-Q (2015) Development of biochar-based functional materials: toward a sustainable platform carbon material. Chem Rev 115(22):12251–12285
- 96. Kamali M, Appels L, Kwon EE, Aminabhavi TM, Dewil R (2021) Biochar in water and wastewater treatment-a sustainability assessment. Chem Eng J 420:129946

Part III Biological-based Wastewater Treatment Systems

Biotechnology for Green Future of Wastewater Treatment



Marwa Darweesh, Amina M. G. Zedan, Antar El-Banna, Heba Elbasiuny, and Fathy Elbehiry

Contents

1	Introduction	66
2	Water Scarcity and the Need for Wastewater Treatment	67
3	Green Technologies for Wastewater Treatment	68
4	Biotechnology and its Role in Preventing Environmental Pollution	68
5	Biotechnology in Wastewater Treatments in Developing Countries	69
6	Genetically Engineered Microorganisms and Removal of Xenobiotic Compounds	74
	6.1 These Techniques Include	75
	6.2 Genetic Engineering and Induction of Mutation Are Tools for Gene Activation	77
7	Conclusion	78
Ret	ferences	79

Abstract A scarcity of water supply and inadequate wastewater treatment combined with intensified industrial activity have led to increased contamination in lakes, rivers, and other water bodies in developing countries. Nevertheless, some common techniques for wastewater treatment are not practicable for developing countries. The biotechnological approach is considered an important tool for wastewater treatment. The biological method is the method of choice for nutrient removal from wastewater because of its low cost and environmentally friendly. Also, it can be respected as a dynamic force for integrated environmental protection that leads to

Department of Genetics, Faculty of Agriculture, Kafrelsheikh University, Kafr El-Sheikh, Egypt

Central Laboratory of Environmental Studies, Kafrelsheikh University, Kafr El-Sheikh, Egypt

F. Elbehiry (⊠) Central Laboratory of Environmental Studies, Kafrelsheikh University, Kafr El-Sheikh, Egypt

Mahmoud Nasr and Abdelazim M. Negm (eds.), *Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems*, Hdb Env Chem (2023) 118: 65–82, DOI 10.1007/698_2021_788, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021, Published online: 28 July 2021

M. Darweesh, A. M. G. Zedan, and H. Elbasiuny

Environmental and Biological Sciences, Home Economics Faculty, Al-Azhar University, Tanta, Egypt

A. El-Banna
sustainable development. In this chapter, we show the useful tools of biotechnology to wastewater treatment such as activated sludge, membrane bioreactors, media filters, anaerobic treatment, biosorption, biocatalysts, soil biotechnology, and hydroponic system that are feasible in the context of the developing countries in addition to the role of the genetic engineering in this context.

Keywords Biotechnology, Developing countries, Wastewater treatment

1 Introduction

Population growth and the diversification of its activities have resulted in an exponential increase in the generation of liquid and solid wastes in recent years. Wastewater is 99.9% water, while the other 0.1% is what causes concern. That 0.1% includes other materials that make up only a small portion of wastewater. However, these materials can be highly concentrated in water to endanger public health and the environment [1]. In developing countries, only a small quantity of the wastewater that comes from sewered communities is treated. The shortage of financial support is often the reason for the deficiency of wastewater treatment; however, it is also because of the ignorance of low-cost processes of wastewater treatment and the economic benefits of reusing treated wastewater [2].

Over 50% of the world's rivers, lakes, and coastal waters are dangerously polluted by untreated agricultural, domestic, and industrial wastewaters, and they have high numbers of fecal bacteria. This untreated wastewater causes major environmental damage and affects human health. Thus, wastewater should be treated for reducing the spread of excreta-related diseases and for mitigating water pollution and the consequential damage to aquatic biota. Therefore, effective wastewater treatment needs to be recognized, as an environmental and human health imperative [2]. There are a large number of technologies applied for wastewater treatment, and these have their advantages or disadvantages [3]. However, wastewater treatment within developing countries focuses on the treatment of sludge and disposal without respecting water treatment. Households are the most common wastewater type linked to combined discharges to sewage systems and then the septic tanks, commerce, industries, and storm water as in Fig. 1 [4].

Nowadays green technology processes are applied for wastewater treatment. Nonconventional and conventional methods are particularly selected based on the characteristics of wastewater to be treated [5].

An important part of wastewater treatment is a biological treatment that is recently identified as biotechnology. Microorganisms are isolated, subsequently chosen, mutated, and genetically engineered for effectual wastewater bioremediation. This can be operated in situ and ex situ treatments of contaminated wastewater. Biotechnology-based wastewater treatments involve bioaugmentation, bioreactors,



bioremediation, and phytoremediation. Treatment of wastewater can be done by aerobic, anaerobic, or mixing of both techniques [1].

2 Water Scarcity and the Need for Wastewater Treatment

Water is a scarce natural resource on our planet. The scarcity of water and pollution remain major challenges in urban settlements and rural areas in many developing countries. This is likely to increase with the increase in the number of the world's population, especially in countries where the rate of urbanization is at a faster rate. Because of rapid industrialization, the water pollution problem increased worldwide. These industries use large quantities of potable water for various industrial purposes and release them in the form of wastewater as a by-product [2, 6]. In addition to population growth, climate change, urbanization, and the expansion of agricultural activities and other industrial activities are among the factors that contribute to the scarcity of water in several developed countries face many social and environmental challenges. These include the lack of housing, poor sanitation, and deficiency of adequate energy sources, leading to limited access to fresh water [7].

The wastewater generated by different sources has major environmental concerns because it contains various hazardous pollutants, and the release of wastewater into the ecosystem leads to several harmful effects on both flora and fauna. Although it is not possible to stop releasing wastewater into the environment, it is feasible to overcome its harmful effects by treatment using various methods. The conventional treatment processes have been successfully applied sometime before, but these methods have many limitations [6]. Since viable alternatives, biological treatments are becoming more accepted day by day; they are eco-friendly, cost-effective, and energy-saving solutions for wastewater treatment. Biological wastewater treatment aims to remove the major contaminants from different wastewaters and enable disposing of them safely without posing threats to the public health and environment and to recycle them for many purposes [6, 8].

3 Green Technologies for Wastewater Treatment

The term "green technology of wastewater" indicates the adoption of ecological and sustainable approaches in wastewater treatment. Also, environmentally friendly materials, novel technologies, biotechnology, and new options for green chemistry should be utilized. There are different green methods for wastewater treatment such as mesoporous materials, nanocomposites and magnetic nanoparticles, catalysts, photocatalysis, electrochemical photo-Fenton, approach, and adsorption [9, 10]. Thus, green wastewater technology includes the development and expansion of the practices, processes, and applications that improve or replace the current technology and enable society to meet their requirements. Conversely, these alternative technologies substantially decrease the human impacts on the globe amid environmental scarcity and ecological risks. Developing clean alternate technologies to replace those that have negative impacts on health and environment and improving human manufacturing and expenses behavior to decrease the pollution resulted from releasing the waste release and contamination [10].

4 Biotechnology and its Role in Preventing Environmental Pollution

Biotechnology has been used increasingly to wastewater treatment for decades. This technology involves the manipulation of whole organisms; populations of organisms and nucleic components hold much promise for improving the quality of water and wastewater. Biotechnology provides various tools for manipulating the main processes of wastewater treatment. Also, biotechnology is "the integrated use of biochemistry, microbiology, and engineering sciences to achieve the technological utilization of the capacities of microorganisms and cultured tissue cells" [1, 11].

Bioaugmentation: A practice of introducing specific microorganisms to a system that enhances the desired activity to concentrate or accumulate specific compounds. It is achieved by adding oxygen, water, and nutrients [1, 11].

Bioremediation: The use of naturally occurring or genetically modified microorganisms to break down or degrade hazardous substances into less or non-toxic substances.

Bioreactors: Closed containers in which microorganisms are maintained under controlled conditions to create or destroy specific species [1, 11].

Phytoremediation: The use of vegetative species for the remediation of polluted sites/water bodies [1, 11].

5 Biotechnology in Wastewater Treatments in Developing Countries

In developing countries, wastewater treatments have recently improved; however, it is still a high priority and sustainability challenge. The methods based on biotechnology in wastewater treatments are activated sludge (AS), oxidation ponds, trickling filters, biofilters, and anaerobic treatment. Moreover, biotrickling filters, solid waste composting techniques, and biosorption are biotechnology applications examples in environmental engineering. It is essential in all methods to find appropriate microorganisms that will breakdown organic substances as well to accomplish the treatment steps in favorable conditions [12].

- (a) Activated sludge (AS): AS is a widely used biotechnique in wastewater treatment with the lowest cost among present techniques. The AS floc currently is primarily comprised of highly hydrophilic polar material and the zoogloea on AS floc has a strong adsorption capacity of pollutants. When heavy metals, organic pollutants, and other pollutants get close to the AS floc, they are adsorbed. Their adsorption is dependent on the characteristics of bacteria and the pollutant's attraction to organisms. This adsorption process involves both physical and chemical processes like complexation, ion exchange, coordination, non-polar micro-precipitation, oxide reduction, enzymatic mechanism, and electrostatic adsorption. It is found that the effects of AS were highly great on dyes, heavy metals, antibiotics, hepatic gas, and nanoparticles. It is also proven that the existence of extracellular polymers in sludge and the ions in sewage increased microbial adsorption [13].
- (b) Anaerobic treatment: Anaerobic treatment of wastewater is primarily focused on the removal of organic carbon after treatment of N, P, and infectious propagules. Anaerobic bioprocesses are realized to have advantages compared with the physicochemical techniques due to their cost-effective and eco-friendly nature. Anaerobic digestion is an attractive method for sludge treatment. It has the following advantages: considerable reductions in solids, BOD and COD, nitrates and phosphate, production of biogas, and bio-fertilizer. The method has a cheap operating cost [14]. Upflow anaerobic sludge blanket (UASB) reactors can be used to treat sulfur-rich wastewater [1]. This process produces fewer quantities of biological excess sludge with high treatment efficiency, low capital costs, no oxygen requirements, methane production, and low nutrient requirements. Anaerobic digestion performs poorly at low temperatures and therefore needs to be linked to low-value heat recovery processes [1]. Also, anaerobic digestion of swine wastewater with acclimatized exogenous granular sludge was much better than with indigenous anaerobic sludge, tenth-day COD removal efficiency of 85% and 37%, respectively [15]. The better performance of acclimatized exogenous granular sludge was ascribed to the more efficient breaking down of volatile fatty acids and a stronger tolerance to the ammonia inhibition of swine wastewater [15].

- (c) Membrane bioreactor (MBR) is the acronym for water and wastewater treatment processes which integrates a biological process with a membrane separation step. In general, membrane filtration is aimed at retaining biomass and other suspended materials to produce a clarified and disinfected permeate [16]. Membrane technology has got increasing significance in separation processes as a result of its advantages of modularity, easy to scale-up, lower footprint, and easy to incorporate with another process. A membrane bioreactor (MBR) has been counted as an attractive strategy for solving the limitations of the conventional AS process, such as poor sludge quality, biological instability, and low concentration of mixed liquor suspended solids [17]. MBR is used to efficiently removal COD and remove minor pollutants. MBR can be a suitable option to treat wastewater from different industrial and domestic sources. Although some present water treatment alternatives exceed the cost and energy efficacy of MBR technology, the potential advancements in bioreactor design and the efficiency of pollutant removal can make an MBR system a smart opportunity for wastewater treatment in nearby future [18]. Almost all the studies that tried to use MBR for polluted surface water treatment introduced activated sludge into the MBR system, which led to membrane fouling. To avoid this fouling problem of the membrane, an attached growth MBR could be an alternative technological solution wherein the immobilized microbes on the carrier could assist to keep biomass in the reactor which provides a good biodegradation rate [19]. Also, sequencing-batch membrane bioreactor (SMBR) could effectively remove antibiotics in swine wastewater and thus potentially reduce their ecological risk, SMBR could remove N60% of organic matter and nutrients [20].
- (d) Media filters (trickling filters): Biological trickling filter (BTF) processes have been successfully used for domestic wastewater treatment through the last few decades. The systems typically consist of a fixed bed of gravel, rocks, or plastic media where wastewater flows downward, and a layer of microbial biofilm grows on the media. The pollutants removal from the wastewater stream includes absorption and adsorption processes of organic and some inorganic compounds like nitrite and nitrate ions by microbial biofilm layer in aerobic conditions. As the biofilm layer gets thick, it ultimately sloughs off into the effluent and then forms a part of the secondary sludge. Usually, a clarifier (sedimentation tank) is needed to separate and remove the secondary sludge in the BTF effluents [21]. Biotrickling filtration has shown to be low cost-effective and efficient for removing volatile organic compounds. Microorganisms are the main component of BTFs, and the choice of certain strains has a significant influence on their effectiveness [22]. Also, the two-stage trickling filter can be applied as a low-cost desulfurization method to perform biogas purification and N elimination [23] (Fig. 2).
- (e) Rotating biological contactors (RBCs): A RBC is a fixed aerobic and anaerobic biological treatment film. It is commonly operated as a secondary treatment method of domestic and industrial wastewater. In RBC, disc biomass is liable for degrading the organic materials. RBC consists of a different size glass container (reactor) and chains of circular discs of polymer materials such as polyethylene,



Fig. 2 Schematic diagram of the two-stage TF system. Source: [23]

polystyrene, acrylic plastic, and polyvinyl chloride. These discs are immersed in wastewater and rotated across it by a variable-speed electric motor. RBC consists of single or multiple stages. There are many parameters influencing the performance of RBCs such as wastewater temperature, organic loading, biomass, hydraulic loading, RBC media, rotational speed, dissolved oxygen levels in addition to medium submergence. RBC as a biological method offers many advantages such as cheapness, simplicity, process stability, and eco-friendly operations and also has a high interfacial area created in the rotating disc for establishing good contact between the pollutants and microbial species. Also, RBC increases the efficiencies of phenol removal by more than 56% [24].

(f) Biosorption of heavy metals by microorganisms (fungi and bacteria): Recently, heavy metals pollution is one of the most serious environmental problems. Mechanisms of metal removal commonly include ion exchange, physical adsorption, complexation, chelation, and micro-precipitation. Biosorption is defined as the pollutants' passive uptake by dead or inactive biomaterials through several physicochemical methods. Biosorption includes many metabolism-independent processes that take place principally in the cell wall. The mechanisms responsible for metal binding vary based on the biomass type. Bacteria, fungi, algae (fresh and marine), animals and fruits skin, plant residues, biopolymers, and active sludge are examples of commonly used biosorpents for metal ions removal. It is worth noted that the majority of the published researches in biosorption worked on the removal capacity of a specific biosorbent toward one metal in synthetic solution under laboratory conditions. It was shown a good removal efficiency of these biosorbents toward different metals. Biosorption is considered one of the cost-effective biotechnologies for the treatment of high volume and low concentration complex wastewaters having heavy metal(s) in the order of 1–100 mg L^{-1} [25–27].

- Fungi are well-acknowledged for tolerating and detoxifying heavy metals contaminated effluents. The biomass of fungi is usually used as biosorbents of heavy metals as polysaccharides in their cell wall enhance biosorption [28]. One of these biosorbents is Saccharomyces cerevisiae as is a natural, low-cost, and abundant sorbent and has the potential to be utilized as biosorpent of very low concentrations of Pb and Cd. This is useful in reducing the contaminations of foodstuff and drinking water with green technologies [29]. Chen et al. [30] reported that the resistant strains to Cu (II) and Ni (II) (Aspergillus niger, Aspergillus awamori, and Aspergillus flavus) were isolated from their contaminated habitats and have better suitability and application in bioremediation of heavy metals from the wastewater and sludge [31]. Moreover, *rhizobial* strain may play a role in stimulating metal uptake of the nodulated plant [30]. Also, Pseudomonas and Bacillus are broadly used to remove heavy metals from soil and wastewater because of their high metal binding affinities. Bacterial functional groups like carboxyl, hydroxyl, amide, sulfonate, and phosphonate groups are mostly concerned with the metal's uptake process from aqueous solutions [28].
- (g) Biocatalysts: Biocatalysts are catalysts based on native enzymes. They received considerable attention because they showed relatively higher wastewater treatment efficiency and are considered a potential alternative to conventional methods. Therefore, it can be applied as a secondary or primary treatment. Enzymatic biodegradation presents high specificity, selectivity, and catalytic activity, mild reaction conditions, and few byproducts formation [32]. Industrial enzymes as protease, lipase, amylase which are non-toxic, complex, biodegradable protein molecules are commercially employed as biocatalysts in different industries such as detergent, paper, pharmaceuticals, textile, leather, food, beverages, biofuels, and in environmental applications. Usually, these biocatalysts are created by the cultivation of particular microorganisms that have activity against particular substrates. Thus, biocatalyst production with many activities is now required for working in complex substrates. Biocatalysts could be yielded by biomass anaerobic digestion such as food and agricultural processing wastes [33]. Biocatalysts give a persistent reduction for the microenvironment, and it is showing a good correlation with dye degradation in the anaerobic system [34]. Also, a multi-hydrolytic biocatalyst was used for pre-treatment of municipal waste activated sludge as the sludge has various complex organic molecules and thus this pre-treatment would assist to increase the usability of the enormous quantity of sludge for industrial purpose. The enzymatic pre-treatment of the sludge at improved conditions led to an increase of sCOD (32%), sProtein (53.57%), and sCarbohydrate (76.71%). Thus, a low-cost multi-purpose biocatalyst could be well produced from organic solid wastes and used to enhance the treatment of municipal waste activated sludge [33].
- (h) A soil biotechnology system: Soil biotechnology (SBT) is a green technology for treating the wastewater effectively, eco-friendly, and less costly which uses the granular media such as soil, sand, and gravels or biological media such as bacteria, earthworms, and plants. Thus, this technology is useful comparing

with the conventional wastewater treatment systems. This technology can maintain better socioeconomic and environmental benefits and thus is usually considered to be one of the most promising technologies to treat wastewater. It has many advantages such as its low cost, low energy demand, simple operation, minimum maintenance, low noise, and free of odor. It can also be used for the removal of heavy metals. The low maintenance cost, use of treated effluent, its environmental impact, and social acceptance are the main advantages of this technology [35, 36]. Arvindbhai and Vyas [37] reported that the overall efficacy of COD in the treated petrochemical wastewater from the soil biotechnology was decreased 81 to 82% (at 6 h detention time) and 88 to 91% (at 12 h detention time). It provides primary, secondary, and tertiary treatments all in one unit in a single evergreen facility opened to the atmosphere. The treated water over the soil biotechnology can be used for groundwater recharging, irrigation, construction, industrial processes, flushing, gardening, road/car wash, etc.

- (i) A bio-hedge water hyacinth is an improved constructed wetland water hyacinth system using bio-hedges to phytoremediation of wastewater. The bio-hedge is an advanced form of shallow pond water hyacinth system in which plastic meshes type structures (bio-hedges) were provided to achieve higher biomass concentrations. The bio-hedge process is supposed to have many advantages over types of water hyacinth and elective ponds. In this system, the elimination of high pollutants can be achieved with simple and cheap tools. This exceptional process provides a pronounced cell mass content and microbial activity in treating wastewater. The particular arrangements of the bio-hedge system hinder the related problems of odor and insects because of the effective transfer of O across the root zone in addition to the short retention time (14 h). Thus, the bio-hedge system performance can offer quantitative advantage provided rather smaller footprints and lower capital cost. Water hyacinth can be used for wastewaters with higher levels of suspended solids. Bio-hedge water hyacinth is a suitable eco-technology process due to improved biofilm formation, reduced footprint, energy savings, and increased quality effluent [38, 39] (Fig. 3).
- (j) *Hydroponic system*: Hydroponics is defined as the technique of plant cultivation without soil using only water and dissolved nutrients. It presents many advantages, including faster growth, high productivity, easy handling, and greater efficiency in water use [40]. The hydroponic system use for municipal wastewater treatment has a lot of advantages and it is more sustainable than another conventional biological system of wastewater treatment. It needs less space and can work with any type and volume of flows. This helps to eliminate human risks from parasites and transferable diseases consequently the reduction of weeds and soil-borne diseases. Moreover, the system does not need a particular drainage system making it cheaper for producing crops. Hydroponics can support the growth of almost several plant species and many types of planter beds can be applied ranging from channels, containers, pipes, etc. The system has proven to have many advantages through field crop production such as the accelerating of plant growth rate from 30 to 50% than a plant grown under similar conditions in the soil. Furthermore, the required land for crop production in the hydroponic wastewater treatment and reuse system is eliminated. Also, the risk of soil



Fig. 3 Schematic diagram of the bio-hedge water hyacinth. Source [38]

contamination by salts and solids accumulations as a result of effluent reuse is reduced. Nevertheless, there are some limitations related to high setup cost and the technology can be quite demanding for small scale systems [41]. The system proved to be a cheaper method of wastewater treatment and its applications may offer an alternative to the problems of wastewater treatment in areas where modern systems are either unavailable or cost-ineffective. The removal of these contaminants is statistically significant. The removal of ammonia, nitrite, nitrate, total P, and fecal coliforms reached 87%, 96%, 99%, 87%, and 92%, respectively [42].

6 Genetically Engineered Microorganisms and Removal of Xenobiotic Compounds

There are a lot of technique including genetic engineering microorganism to improve treatment of wastewater and removing xenobiotic compounds, a definition of xenobiotics includes compounds which released in every compartment of the environment by the action of peoples and thus occur in a concentration which is higher than natural [43].

6.1 These Techniques Include

6.1.1 Gene Transfer

Gene transfer also called lateral gene transfer [44] where microorganisms may obtain genetic information from any related or phylogenetically populations in the community by horizontal gene transfer. Gene transfer in microbial includes transduction, conjugation [45, 46], and natural transformation. Cabezon et al. [47] reported that bacterial conjugation is one of the main mechanisms for horizontal gene transfer. Most genes correlated to the biodegradation of xenobiotics are found on catabolic plasmids. The first degradation plasmids of organic xenobiotics were reported just about three decades ago, since then many of such catabolic plasmids have been reported in the literature. Catabolic plasmids are generally rather large (>50 kb) and genetic reports have indicated that such catabolic plasmids have complete sets of transfer and catabolic genes. In a microbial population, plasmid-encoded catabolic pathways confer a further advantage for assistance horizontal transfer of the genes of catabolic, this contributes to a quick adaptation of bacteria and fungi to new aromatic pollutants existing in a particular ecosystem. Examples of catabolic plasmids, Pseudomonas sp. contain pVI150 catabolic plasmid. P. fluorescens contains CF600 and pL6.5 catabolic plasmids, R. eutropha JMP134 contains pJP4 catabolic plasmid, P. putida NCBI 9816-4 contains pDTG1 catabolic plasmid, P. putida R1 contains SAL1 catabolic plasmid, pPS12-1 in Burkholderia sp. and Alcaligenes sp. contains pSAH catabolic plasmid, which are implicated in the biodegradation of phenol, naphthalene, toluene, 3-chlorobenzoate, salicylate, tetrachlorobenzene, and 2-aminobenzoate sulfonates, respectively [48]. Furthermore, NAH7 and pWW0 from gammaproteobacterial Pseudomonas putida strains are IncP-9 conjugative plasmids that carry the genes for degradation of naphthalene and toluene, respectively [49].

Burlage et al. [50] have reported that pAC25, pSS50, pBRC60, and pJP4 catabolic plasmids carry genes that degradation of chloroaromatic. Shintani et al. [51] reported that plasmid pCAR3 is a carbazole-degradative plasmid from Sphingomonas sp. strain KA1. Retrospective studies indicated that mobile genetic elements play a major function concerning the in situ proliferate and yet de novo construction of pathways for catabolic in microorganisms, allowing microbial communities to rapidly adapt to new xenobiotics [52].

The formation of novel pathways occurs by the employment of catabolic genes or gene segments from different organisms into a new suitable host. This was later confirmed by the detection of relics genes precursor encoding the degradation of toluene, chlorobenzene-degradation flanking gene clusters were detected in two independently isolated bacterial strains [53, 54]. Horizontal gene transfer has allowed for the insertion of the transposon for TN4371 biphenyl from R. oxalatica, which circulated genes for biphenyl degradation [55]. Horizontal transfer of catabolic genes will improve bacterial adaptability and this could

elucidate the heterogeneity between different E. coli strains belong to their ability to mineralize aromatic compounds [56].

Gene transfer from one organism to another has been applied for metal bioremediation. Genetic engineering can redesign microorganisms, consequently, biological metal sequestering systems are more tolerant to ambient conditions and they have a higher intrinsic capability and specificity, for example, the genetically engineered strain of E. coli JM109, which expresses a Hg²⁺ transport system and metallothionein used for removal Hg²⁺ from contaminated solutions or wastewater that are resistant to widespread treatments. The potential application of JM109 would be to eliminate Hg²⁺ from Hg²⁺-contaminated soil and particulates by washing them with a Hg²⁺ chelator, then regenerating the chelator by passing the solution through a reactor containing the JM109 strain [57].

Genetically engineering bacteria such as E. coli and Moraxella sp. can accumulate up to 25-fold more cadmium or mercury than the wild type strain resulting from expressing a metal-binding peptide EC20 (with 20 cysteines) intracellularly or on the cell surface [58–60]. Expression of a metal-binding peptide (EC20 with 20 cysteines) in *Pseudomonas putida* 06909 not only enhanced cadmium binding but also removed the cellular toxicity of cadmium. More importantly, inoculation of sunflower roots with the engineered *Pseudomonas putida* 06909 resulted in a noticeable decrease in cadmium phytotoxicity also a 40% augment in cadmium accumulation in the plant root. Because of significantly improved growth characteristics of both the engineered *Pseudomonas* and plant, the use of this strain with organic-degrading capabilities may be a hopeful strategy to remediate contaminated sites with heavy metals [61].

6.1.2 Genome Rearrangements

Microorganisms live in nature as members of mixed and complex communities. The microbial communities in bioreactors of industrial wastewater have a new metabolic pathway and this phenomenon occurs in native ecosystems. The microorganisms compete for different carbon sources in these bioreactors and always have to evolve new metabolic abilities for survival. So, industrial bioreactors are a rich source of new biocatalysts [62]. To grow and survive in toxic environments, bacteria have evolved a difficult range of mechanisms at the molecular and cellular levels, including membranes, catabolic enzymes, responsible genes, protein synthesis machinery, and so on [63].

Genome rearrangements are a phenomenon observed in microorganisms concerned with the biodegradation of aromatic hydrocarbons, for instance, Clc-catabolic genes (genes are specialized for the degradation of chlorocatechols) appear to translocate as a separate DNA part from one plasmid to another. These DNA parts carrying the catabolic genes of plasmids pAC27 and pJP4 somewhat look like transposons (transposable genetic elements). Such catabolic modules have been reported for other catabolic genes and plasmids such as the lac and transposons [64]. A. calcoaceticus and P. putida contain groups of genes encoding pathways of

ortho-cleavage. These genes were seen to be different from each other and similar genes of other microorganisms, possibly as a consequence of genomic DNA rearrangements in the related loci [64, 65]. Oltmanns et al. [66] isolated three 1,4DCB-growing microorganisms from sewage samples and river water as well as the construction of 1,4DCB-growing microorganisms by mating a benzene-growing strain with other strains that degrade chlorocatechol. The majority of the aromatic catabolic genes from E. coli are strictly connected to mobile genetic elements that could help their mobilization. So, the maopaa and mhp genes are located at chromosomal sites that are rich in IS30 and IS2 insertion elements. Furthermore, the presence of REP and BIME sequences within the hpa and mhp clusters, respectively, perhaps also contributes to the genetic rearrangements and spread of these clusters [56].

6.2 Genetic Engineering and Induction of Mutation Are Tools for Gene Activation

Recent progress in biotechnology has made novel opportunities for research in genetic engineering about biodegradation. The principle of engineering a microbial metabolism to break toxic compounds in water and soil is an appealing opportunity for remediating heavily polluted soil and wastewater. To utilize this component of microbial metabolism that results in polychlorinated biphenyls and polycyclic aromatic, hydrocarbons degradation requires a greater depth of understanding of the genes at play in the system. Identifying and targeting the genetic elements which control xenobiotic biodegradation in microorganisms can allow scientists to better attribute elements of the xenobiotic degradation mechanism to precise enzymatic activity. With this type of control, it would be possible to modify the process, upregulating the production of enzymes responsible for xenobiotic degradation [67]. To increase the ability of microorganisms to degrade xenobiotics, microbe improvement by gene manipulation should be accomplished. Gene manipulation can be classified into four categories: mutagenesis, DNA recombinant-based editing, posttranscriptional manipulation by gene silencing with RNA interference (RNAi), and endonuclease-based editing. Induction of mutation or genetic engineering of microorganisms has been reported in the literature. Bacillus amyloliquefaciens was exposed to diverse doses of gamma radiation and mutants isolated. The isolated mutants were grown on diverse polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. The results indicated that mutant MAM-62 (4) showed higher growth on the four polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons sources especially on benzo-a-anthracene and pyrene when compared with wild type. This study indicated that B. amyloliquefacians wild type (MAM-62) was different from its mutant (MAM-62 (4)) in their intermediates and pathways [68].

Gene expression rate can be activated by the insertion of genetic elements that have been observed in the operons that are related to the degradation of aromatic compounds. The examples for this are, (1) constructing a mixture pathway in Pseudomonas strains for 2-chlorotoluene biodegradation via toluene dioxygenase to generate 2-chlorobenzyl alcohol, (2) the TOL higher pathway to alter 2-chlorobenzvl alcohol to 2-chlorobenzoate, and (3) modified ortho-cleavage pathway to mineralize 2-chlorobenzoate [69]. Walker and Keasling [70] reported that introducing the Flavobacterium- opd gene ATCC 27551 and the genes of pnitrophenol degradation from Pseudomonas sp. ENV2030 into KT2440 strain for P. putida to construct a parathion-degrading pathway. As well, introducing the genes encoding the 2,4-dinitrotoluene (2,4-DNT) degradation pathway from Burkholderia sp. strain DNT into Pseudomonas fluorescens ATCC 17400, which could completely degrade 2,4-DNT was also reported [71]. In addition, it was also reported the using of E. coli as a host for cloning and expressing the genes encoding a novel partial reductive pathway for 4-chloronitrobenzoate and nitrobenzene from Comamonas sp. strain CNB-1 [72]. Chen et al. [73] reported cloning of catechol 2,3-dioxygenase (C23O) gene, responsible for the conversion of catechol to 2-hydroxy-muconic semialdehyde due to cleavage of aromatic C-C bond at the meta-position of dihydroxylated aromatic substrates, from P. aeruginosa ZD 4-3 in the E. coli expression system.

7 Conclusion

The need for water supply under increasing water contamination and water scarcity requires a practical solution, especially in developing countries. In this regard, adopting green technologies mean the direction toward sustainable approaches in wastewater treatments. Biotechnology is a promising way for achieving that. It is the integrated use of many sciences, i.e. biochemistry, microbiology, and engineering sciences to utilize the microorganism's capacities and cultured tissue cells. Activated sludge among other biotechnological methods is widely used in wastewater treatment with the lowest cost. It is effectively adsorbed pollutants from wastewater. Additionally, anaerobic treatment has some advantages compared to the physicochemical techniques due to their cost-effective and eco-friendly nature. Membrane bioreactors, media filters, rotating biological contactors, biosorption by microorganisms, biocatalysts, and other techniques are also used as biotechnological methods. Furthermore, genetic engineering microorganisms are used also to improve wastewater treatment and remove the xenobiotic compound. Although there are many biotechnological methods to treat wastewater, there is a need to develop and adopt new other biotechnological methods that have many advantages in this regard.

References

- Devi R (2013) Evaluation of low-cost bio-technology for community-based domestic wastewater treatment. In: Salar RKG, Siwach SK, Duhan PJS (eds) Biotechnology: prospects and applications, vol 17. Springer, pp 227–234
- Zhang D, Jinadasa Q, Gersberg KBSN, Liu RM, Ng Y, Tan WJ, S. K. (2014) Application of constructed wetlands for wastewater treatment in developing countries e A review of recent developments (2000-2013). J Environ Manag 141:116–131
- Crini G, Lichtfouse E (2019) Advantages and disadvantages of techniques used for wastewater treatment. Environ Chem Lett 17:145–155. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10311-018-0785-9
- Gallego-Schmid A, Tarpan RRZ (2019) Life cycle assessment of wastewater treatment in developing countries: A review. Water Res 153:63–79
- Hodaifa G, Paladino O, Malvis A, Seyedsalehi M, Neviani M (2019) Green techniques for wastewaters. Interface Sci Technol 30:217–240
- 6. Singh RL, Singh RP (2019) Advances in biological treatment of industrial waste water and their recycling for a sustainable future. Applied environmental science and engineering for a sustainable future. Springer
- Magwaza S, Magwaza T, Odindo LS, Mditshwa AO (2020) Hydroponic technology as decentralized system for domestic wastewater treatment and vegetable production in urban agriculture: a review. Sci Total Environ 698:134154
- Owa FD (2013) Water pollution: sources, effects, control and management. Mediterr J Soc Sci 4 (8):65–68
- 9. Naushad M, Rajendran S, Lichtfouse E (2020) Green methods for wastewater treatment. Environmental chemistry for a sustainable world, vol 35. Springer
- Vasantha T, Jyothi NVV (2020) Green technologies for wastewater treatment. In: Naushad M, Rajendran S, Lichtfouse E (eds) Green methods for wastewater treatment. Environmental chemistry for a sustainable world, vol vol 35. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16427-0_9
- 11. Li Y, Yanga G, Li L, Suna Y (2018) Bioaugmentation for overloaded anaerobic digestion recovery with acid-tolerant methanogenic enrichment. Waste Manag 79:744–751
- Buyukgungor H, Gurel L (2009) The role of biotechnology on the treatment of wastes. Afr J Biotechnol 8(25):7253–7262
- Chen L, Feng W, Fan J, Zhang K, Gu Z (2019) Removal of silver nanoparticles in aqueous solution by activated sludge: mechanism and characteristics. Sci Total Environ. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.135155
- Asia IO, Oladoja NA, Bamuza-Pemu EE (2006) Treatment of textile sludge using anaerobic technology. Afr J Biotechnol 5(18):1678–1683
- Zeng Z, Zhang M, Kang D, Li Y, Yu T, Li W, Xu D, Zhang W, Shan S, Zheng P (2019) Enhanced anaerobic treatment of swine wastewater with exogenous granular sludge: performance and mechanism. Sci Total Environ 697:1–8
- Bertanza G, Pedrazzani R (2011) Removal of trace pollutants by application of MBR technology for wastewater treatment. In: Green technologies for wastewater treatment. Energy recovery and emerging compounds removal. Springer briefs in molecular science, pp 31–43. https:// doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-1430-4
- Wenten G, Friatnasary DL, Khoiruddin K, Setiadi T, Boopathy R (2019) Extractive membrane bioreactor (embr): recent advances and applications. Bioresour Technol. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biortech.2019.122424
- Khana M, Ngo A, Guo HH, Liu W, Chang Y, Nguyen SW, Nghiem DD, L. D. and Liang, H. (2018) Can membrane bioreactor be a smart option for water treatment? Bioresour Technol Rep 4:80–87
- Li L, Suwanate S, Visvanathan C (2017) Performance evaluation of attached growth membrane bioreactor for treating polluted surface water. Bioresour Technol 240:3–8

- 20. Xu Z, Song X, Li Y, Li G, Luo W (2019) Removal of antibiotics by sequencing-batch membrane bioreactor for swine wastewater treatment. Sci Total Environ 684:23–30
- Park JB, Tanner K, Craggs CC, R. J. (2018) Assessment of sludge characteristics from a biological trickling filter (BTF) system. J Water Process Eng 22:172–179
- Zhang Y, Liu J, Li J (2020) Comparison of four methods to solve clogging issues in a fungibased biotrickling filter. Biochem Eng J 153:107401
- 23. Tanikawa D, Fujise R, Kondo Y, Fujihira T, Seo S (2018) Elimination of hydrogen sulfide from biogas by a two-stage trickling filter system using effluent from anaerobic–aerobic wastewater treatment. Int Biodeterior Biodegrad 130:98–101
- 24. Rana S, Gupta N, Ranac RS (2018) Removal of organic pollutant with the use of rotating biological contactor. Mater Today Proc 5:4218–4224
- Wang J, Chen C (2006) Biosorption of heavy metals by Saccharomyces cerevisiae: A review. Biotechnol Adv 24:427–451
- 26. Vijayaraghavan K, Balasubramanian R (2015) Is biosorption suitable for decontamination of metal-bearing wastewaters? A critical review on the state-of-the-art of biosorption processes and future directions. J Environ Manag 160:283–296
- 27. Beni AA, Esmaeili A (2020) Biosorption, an efficient method for removing heavy metals from industrial effluents: a review. Environ Technol Innov 17:100503
- Kayalvizhi K, Kathiresan K (2019) Microbes from wastewater treated mangrove soil and their heavy metal accumulation and Zn solubilization. Biocatal Agric Biotechnol 22:101379
- Hadiani M, Darani R, Rahimifard KK, N.and Younesi, H. (2018) Biosorption of low concentration levels of Lead (II) and cadmium (II) from aqueous solution by Saccharomyces cerevisiae: response surface methodology. Biocatal Agric Biotechnol 15:25–34
- 30. Chen W, Wu C, James EK, Chang J (2008) Metal biosorption capability of *Cupriavidus taiwanensis* and its effects on heavy metal removal by nodulated *Mimosa pudica*. J Hazard Mater 151:364–371
- Rose PK, Devi R (2018) Heavy metal tolerance and adaptability assessment of indigenous filamentous fungi isolated from industrial wastewater and sludge samples. Beni-Suef Univ J Basic Appl Sci 7:688–694
- 32. Velvizhi G, VenkataMoha S (2011) Biocatalyst behavior under self-induced electrogenic microenvironment in comparison with anaerobic treatment: evaluation with pharmaceutical wastewater for multi-pollutant removal. Bioresour Technol 102:10784–10793
- 33. Selvakumar P, Sivashanmugam P (2018) Multi-hydrolytic biocatalyst from organic solid waste and its application in municipal waste activated sludge pre-treatment towards energy recovery. Process Saf Environ Prot 117:1–10
- 34. Sreelatha S, Nagendranatha Reddy C, Velvizhi G, Venkata Mohan S (2015) Reductive behaviour of acid azo dye based wastewater: biocatalyst activity in conjunction with enzymatic and bio-electro catalytic evaluation. Bioresour Technol 188:2–8
- 35. Kamble SJ, Chakravarthy Y, Singh A, Chubilleau C, Starkl M, Bawa I (2017) A soil biotechnology system for wastewater treatment: technical, hygiene, environmental LCA and economic aspects. Environ Sci Pollut Res 24:13315–13334
- 36. Kanani H, Patel B (2017) Domestic wastewater treatment by soil biotechnology. IJARIIE 3 (2):4143–4147
- Arvindbhai CE, Vyas DS (2016) Treatment of petrochemical wastewater by soil biotechnology. IJARIIE 2(3):492–496
- Valipour A, Raman VK, Ahn Y (2015) Effectiveness of domestic wastewater treatment using a bio-hedge water hyacinth wetland system. Water 7:329–347
- 39. Valipour A, Ahn Y (2017) Green technologies and environmental sustainability: a review and perspective of constructed wetlands as a green technology in decentralization practices. Springer, pp 1–45
- 40. Carvalho RS, Bastos CRG, Souza CF (2018) Influence of the use of wastewater on nutrient absorption and production of lettuce grown in a hydroponic system. Agric Water Manag 203:311–321

- 41. Magwaza ST, Magwaza LS, Odindo AO, Mditshw A (2020) Hydroponic technology as decentralised system for domestic wastewater treatment and vegetable production in urban agriculture: A review. Sci Total Environ 698:134–154
- Ndulini SF, Sithole GM, Mthembu MS (2018) Investigation of nutrients and faecal coliforms removal in wastewater using a hydroponic system. Phys Chem Earth 106:68–72
- 43. Leisinger T (1983) Microorganisms and xenobiotic compounds. Experientia 39:1183-1220
- 44. Liu ST, Sulfita JM (1993) Ecology and evolution of microbial populations for bioremediation. Trends Biotechnol 11:344–352
- Zeph LR, Onaga MA, Stotzky G (1988) Transduction of Escherichia coli by bacteriophage P1 in soil. Appl Environ Microbiol 54:1731–1737
- 46. Saye DJ, Ogunseitan A, Sayler GS, Miller RV (1990) Transduction of linked chromosomal genes between Pseudomonas aeruginosa strains during incubation in situ in a freshwater habitat. Appl Environ Microbiol 56:140–145
- 47. Cabezon E, Ripoll-Rozada J, Pena A, de la Cruz F, Arechaga I (2015) Towards an integrated model of bacterial conjugation. FEMS Microbiol Rev 39:81–95
- 48. Dennis J (2005) The evolution of IncP catabolic plasmids. Curr Opin Biotechnol 16(3):291-298
- 49. Kishida K, Inoue K, Ohtsubo Y, Nagata Y, Tsuda M (2017) Host range of the conjugative transfer system of IncP-9 naphthalene-catabolic plasmid NAH7 and characterization of its oriT region and relaxase. Appl Environ Microbiol 83:e02359–e02316. https://doi.org/10.1128/ AEM.02359-16
- Burlage RS, Bemis LA, Layton AC, Sayler GS, Larimer F (1990) Comparative genetic organization of incompatibility group P degradative plasmids. J Bacteriol 172:6818–6825
- 51. Shintani M, Urata M, Inoue K, Eto K, Habe H, Omori T, Yamane H, Nojiri H (2007) The Sphingomonas plasmid pCAR3 is involved in complete mineralization of carbazole. J Bacteriol 189:2007–2020
- 52. Eva MT, Dirk S (2003) The role of mobile genetic elements in bacterial adaptation to xenobiotic organic compounds. Curr Opin Biotechnol 14(3):262–269
- 53. Werlen C, Kohler HPE, van der Meer JR (1996) The broad substrate chlorobenzene dioxygenase and cis-chlorobenzene dihydrodiol dehydrogenase of Pseudomonas sp. P51 are linked evolutionarily to the enzymes for benzene and toluene degradation. J Biol Chem 271:4009–4016
- 54. Beil S, Timmis K, Pieper D (1999) Genetic and biochemical analysis of the tec operon suggests a route for evolution of chlorobenzene degradation genes. J Bacteriol 181:341–346
- 55. Toussaint A, Merlin C, Monchy S, Benotmane MA, Leplae R, Mergeay M, Springael D (2003) The biphenyl-and 4-chlorobiphenyl-catabolic transposon Tn4371, a member of a new family of genomic islands related to IncP and Ti plasmids. Appl Environ Microbiol 69:4837–4845
- 56. Eduardo D, Abel F, María AP, Jose LG (2001) Biodegradation of aromatic compounds by Escherichia coli. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 65(4):523–569
- 57. Chen S, Wilson DB (1997) Genetic engineering of bacteria and their potential for Hg2+ bioremediation. Biodegradation 8:97–103
- Bae W, Chen W, Mulchandani A, Mehra R (2000) Enhanced bioaccumulation of heavy metals by bacterial cells displaying synthetic phytochelatins. Biotechnol Bioeng 70:518–523
- Bae W, Mehra RK, Mulchandani A, Chen W (2001) Genetic engineering of Escherichia coli for enhanced uptake and bioaccumulation of mercury. Appl Environ Microbiol 67:5335–5338
- Bae W, Wu CH, Kostal J, Mulchandani A, Chen W (2003) Enhanced mercury biosorption by bacterial cells with surface-displayed MerR. Appl Environ Microbiol 69:3176–3180
- Cindy HW, Thomas KW, Mulchandani A, Chen W (2006) Engineering plant-microbe symbiosis for rhizoremediation of heavy metals. Appl Environ Microbiol 72(2):1129–1134
- Michael GB, Vasantha N (2000) Industrial wastewater bioreactors: sources of novel microorganisms for biotechnology. Trends Biotechnol 18(12):501–505
- 63. Naresh KS, Aiyagari R, Kannan P (2011) Bacterial degradation of aromatic xenobiotic compounds: an overview on metabolic pathways and molecular approaches. In: Microorganisms in environmental management. Springer, pp 201–220

- 64. Ghosal D, You IS (1989) Operon structure and nucleotide homology of the chlorocatechol oxidation genes of plasmids pJP4 and pAC27. Gene 83:225–232
- Perkins EJ, Gordon MP, Caceres O, Lurquin PF (1990) Organization and sequence analysis of the 2,4-dichlorophenol hydroxylase and dichlorocatechol oxidative operons of plasmid pJP4. J Bacteriol 172(5):2351–2359
- 66. Oltmanns RH, Hans GR, Walter R (1988) Degradation of 1,4-dichlorobenzene by enriched and constructed bacteria. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 28:609–616
- 67. Stein HP, Rafael NP, Elisabet A (2018) Potential for CRISPR genetic engineering to increase xenobiotic degradation capacities in model fungi. In: Approaches in Bioremediation. Springer, Cham, pp 61–78
- Partila AM (2013) Biodegradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon in petroleum oil contaminating the environment. Ph. D. (Microbiology)
- Haro MA, de Lorenzo V (2001) Metabolic engineering of bacteria for environmental applications: construction of Pseudomonas strains for biodegradation of 2-chlorotoluene. J Biotechnol 85:103–113
- 70. Walker AW, Keasling JD (2002) Metabolic engineering of Pseudomonas putida for the utilization of parathion as a carbon and energy source. Biotechnol Bioeng 78:715–721
- Monti MR, Smania AM, Fabro G, Alvarez ME, Argarana CE (2005) Engineering Pseudomonas fluorescens for biodegradation of 2,4-dinitrotoluene. Appl Environ Microbiol 71:8864–8872
- 72. Liu L, Wu JF, Ma YF, Wang SY, Zhao GP, Liu SJ (2007) A novel deaminase involved in chloronitrobenzene and nitrobenzene degradation with Comamonas sp. strain CNB-1. J Bacteriol 189(7):2677–2682
- Chen YX, Liu H, Zhu LC, Jin YF (2004) Cloning and characterization of a chromosomeencoded catechol 2,3-dioxygenase gene from Pseudomonas aeruginosa ZD 4-3. Microbiologia 73:802–809



Wastewater Treatment Applications by Using Trickling Filter as a Low Energy Consumption Solution: Case Studies Worldwide

Noama Shareef

Contents

1	Introduction		84
	1.1	Treatment Process of Trickling Filter	85
	1.2	Typical Application Area	85
	1.3	State of Research and General Design Criteria	86
2 Materials and Methods		rials and Methods	87
	2.1	Parameters Analysis	87
	2.2	Background Theory; Design BOD and Nitrifications Trickling Filters	88
3	Trick	ling Filters Case Studies	91
	3.1	Trickling Filter-Managua	91
	3.2	Case Study of Trickling Filters-Al Aweer-Dubai	93
4	Conc	lusions and Recommendation	97
Re	References		

Abstract The increasing environmental pollution because of wastewater generating in industry and municipal urban increases the need for sustainable and cost-effective treatment solutions. This helps to face many challenges in wastewater treatment applications and minimize treatment cost and energy consumption in the treatment phase. Therefore, the application of trickling filter technologies for years ago has provided valuable service in overcoming the above challenges. They have proven to be simple to operate, reliable, energy-efficient, and meet the treatment levels required for many discharge purposes.

This study demonstrates several applications of the trickling filters. These technologies were designed to treat different types of wastewater under different operational applications in different climate conditions. The operating experiences

N. Shareef (🖂)

Civil Environmental Engineering, The International Center of Migration and Development, Eschborn, Germany

Mahmoud Nasr and Abdelazim M. Negm (eds.),

Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems, Hdb Env Chem (2023) 118: 83–100, DOI 10.1007/698_2022_870, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022, Published online: 18 April 2022

generally show in detail a high rate of efficiency removal of organic content (BOD, COD), nitrogen (TN, NH4), total suspended solids TSS, etc., as a secondary treatment level. Even Trickling Filter is a simple technology, there is a lack of mathematical design and operation experience, as trickling filter mechanics are poorly understood. Therefore, some design criteria, including operation, low energy requirements, and high treatment efficiency were demonstrated and summarized in this Chapter.

Besides, the trickling filter application in this study shows low energy consumption, compared with the activated sludge system solution. Therefore, the case studies in this chapter were considered as the best practice of trickling filter application especially in a hot dry climate where such experience is limited.

Keywords Biodeck plastic filter media, Biofilm, Biological treatment, Denitrification, Design, Nitrification, Operation, Trickling filter

1 Introduction

A trickling filter is an old wastewater treatment technology using a biofilm system that depends on the biological treatment process in wastewater treatment. The trickling filter treatment process has been used in wastewater technology since the turn of the century [1]. Trickling filter usually consists of a cylindrical container/ structure and is filled with special packing elements (e.g., plastic elements, stones, textile, etc.). The wastewater trickles evenly over the packing, which is covered with a thin biofilm. The treatment process depends on the surface contact between the biofilm and wastewater [2]. Therefore, the microorganisms ideally process the dissolved water constituents into water and carbon dioxide for BOD reduction and nitrification of nitrogen compounds [3]. In order to prevent any clogging of the trickling filter due to excessive bacterial growth and solids, a certain flow rate and recirculation rate of wastewater are necessary as a rinsing agent [4]. Therefore, the recirculation rate of treated wastewater may be important to keep the bacteria wet, to increase the oxygen demand also to increase wastewater treatment efficiency in the treatment unit. Depending on the inflow wastewater organic load and the bio-filter filling material, it may be necessary to determine the optimum recirculation rate [5]. The required oxygen for the BOD reduction and nitrification stage is taken up by the wastewater when the trickling filter trickles out of the air. This happened because of the ventilation as the filter material is connected to the atmosphere from the top and bottom of the treatment unit [6]. Generally, the normal ambient air is sufficient for the bacteria, artificial ventilation is rarely required. When the wastewater flows through the trickling filter, groups of bacteria dissolve and contaminate the drain water with undissolved particles. These are separated in downstream clarifiers or sieves. This makes the trickling filter working in its full capacity to increase treatment efficiency and to avoid any clogged by coarse substances and other particles [7]. A trickling filter system usually consists of a good pretreatment stage, the trickling filter body as a biological treatment stage by biofilm system, and a final sedimentation tank. Typically, trickling filter components are: distribution system, trickling filter construction, filter media, underdrain system, and support material.

1.1 Treatment Process of Trickling Filter

A trickling filter is a biological treatment technology by biofilm. It needs very good pretreatment efficiency to keep the biofilm in biological treatment as the second stage works in its full capacity. In the biological stage, there is a reduction of the levels of BOD and ammonia within the wastewater to levels that can be discharged into watercourses or reused it for irrigation purposes, without compromising the condition of the receiving waters [8]. Therefore, the trickling filter application under several organic and hydraulic loads depending on several designs and operating factors was requested to test its efficiency. Wastewater supply can operate by gravity feed mode without using any additional energy. Therefore, the application of a trickling filter with an appropriate topographic layout of filters can save energy consumption and capital cost. There is the only aerobic water treatment process that offers this advantage. The organic loading rates applied to secondary filters are typically between 0.2 kg BOD/m³/day and 1.0 kg BOD/m³/day – depending on the required effluent quality after the GEA-Water company. The application of this filter gives high-level treatment efficiency and nitrification rate to meet tighter ammonia discharge consents. This type of treatment by biofilm system with the nature and type of biomass that establishes itself within tertiary nitrification filters produces fewer amounts of sludge. According to this effective application of the filter, and due to combining of many operation factors like long retention times, crossflow structure, and high specific surface area, this produces high treatment efficiency and nitrification rate with low ammonia concentrations in the effluent [9].

1.2 Typical Application Area

Trickling filters can be designed to treat municipal, domestic, and industrial wastewater in many conditions, to meet stringent standards of treated water discharged into water bodies or/and for irrigation purposes [10]. Therefore, they are the ideal process for good and cost-effective add-on stage either to decrease the organic load in the biological treatment as secondary or advanced treatment stages to meet the discharge standards dictated by legislation and to meet future needs of treatment efficiency and low layout and treatment cost [3].

Also many industrial wastewaters can be treated by using such kind of technologies, although many industrial wastewaters in general are characterized by special details like temperature, salinity different PH values, high and hard organic load [11]. Trickling filter technology can treat wastewater by producing a small Sludge quantity and high energy efficiency. In addition to saving of volume plant by using large biofilm service area and easy operation/supervision. In addition, the filters are particularly efficient to reduce wastewater temperature through the filter bodies as an additional effect of requiring partial treatment to meet consents for discharge into municipal sewers.

There are many types of filter media applied to produce BOD reduction, nitrification, and denitrification but the replacement of existing rock filter media by plastic media is one of the cost-effective high treatment levels; this is due to the open media structure and design in addition to high effective surface area [12]. Therefore, applying plastic media designed by several companies in Germany increases around 3 times the organic load and up to 10 times the hydraulic flow than to rock media. Depending on the above, many replacements of filter media in treatment plants increase the treatment efficiency by increasing the surface area and material of filter media as an effective solution.

High treatment efficiency can be achieved by using high rate trickling filters by increasing the surface area of connection between wastewater and biofilm on the filter media. They are normally designed to reduce the BOD loads between 50% and 70%. This is by applying organic loading rates of 1.0 kg BOD/m³/day up to 5.0 kg BOD/m³/day. The energy input is less than 0.2 Kwh per kg reduction in BOD. It was recommended by several researches that vertical flow media structure has the optimal structure to steadily expel the excess sludge and for good ventilation or aeration [13].

In modern technologies, the trickling filter is composed of plastic media filter of PP or PVC material. The influent pump station pumps wastewater through an overhead sprayer onto the filter bed to distribute it under control of speeds, where bacteria and other microorganisms have formed a biofilm on the filter media surfaces. In normal case the trickling filter is operated by natural ventilation system as no need to build an aeration system (Fig. 1).

1.3 State of Research and General Design Criteria

Germany and other countries have many years of experience in trickling filter technology applications to adapt to climate change. The resulting design specifications ensure adequate treatment performance and, as a rule, safe operation in these regions. However, since biological processes are strongly temperature-dependent, it is reasonable to assume that the design approaches applicable to temperate climates are only suitable to a limited extent at high temperatures and may lead to overdimensioning with regard to wastewater treatment by biofilm systems in hot climates [14]. The design approaches most commonly used in the literature for the design of single-stage trickling filters with and without nitrification are based on long-term experience or empirical mathematical equations, which were obtained from the observation of performance curves and degradation processes in the trickling filter.



The German design specifications can be found in the worksheet ATV-DVWK-A 281 [15]. The European standard EN 12255-7 [16] applies in Europe, which is available in different languages but only provides very general information. In the United States, similar approaches are published in two fact sheets by the US, which applied by the Environment Protection Agency [17, 18].

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Parameters Analysis

The locations of trickling filters in this study (as biological wastewater treatment applications) are selected in a goal-oriented manner, so that the approaches proposed in this study of trickling filter as wastewater technology in different countries can be systematically checked and promoted. Therefore, an inventory data evaluation is also provided for this study from 2 different trickling filter systems with sufficient data. Good data quality can be evaluated systematically in detail to present the treatment efficiency of the trickling filter as cost-effective solutions for different applications, rehabilitation purposes in different scales and different climates.

WWTPs	The aim of study
Trickling filter: Managua	Operation of WWTP-Managua in the higher load range (BR: 1.2 kg BOD/m ³ day) of municipal wastewater, and it is installed in 6 parallel nitrification trickling filter units

(continued)

WWTPs	The aim of study	
	Evaluation of treatment performance of the trickling filters to meet the designed limitation was an important issue to ensure the treatment efficiency	
Trickling filter: Al Awir: Dubai	The wastewater treatment plant in Dubai has 15 trickling filters to treat municipal wastewater of Dubai. One of the existing trickling filters was converted by GEA Water Technologies after the performance of the systems filled with filter material was unsatisfactory. Therefore, the optimization of aeration, water distribution, and improvements of notification were done, under specific operations (not only with regard to nitrification but also for improving the ventilation in the hot season)	

This study evaluates the treatment efficacy of two different trickling filter types. The filter media used technical solution for hot climate as an effective cost solution. All parameters were tested (biochemical oxygen demand (BOD), total suspended solids (TSS), chemical oxygen demand (COD), total nitrogen concentrations) to monitor the operational factors and treatment efficiency. The physical, chemical, and biological parameters are monitored for each trickling filter effluent in this study and were also determined for evaluation. This leads to more reduction in concentrations of ammonia-nitrogen, nitrite-plus nitrate nitrogen, total phosphate, and BOD concentration in tow trickling filters for different places and climates. The existing data could be queried and included in the comparison with other results. The selected trickling filters were implemented, designed, and tested by GEA Water Technologies. Influent and effluent flowrates, BOD, COD, TN, TSS concentrations, and temperatures were collected from the above trickling filter plants where they were obtained.

2.2 Background Theory; Design BOD and Nitrifications Trickling Filters

Especially in emerging and developing countries, cost-effective wastewater treatment technologies are needed to be reliable in operation and also to be used by less skilled personnel. On the other hand, treatment systems must be robust which have easy operation and maintenance. They should have a low cost-benefit ratio as well as flexibility and good expansion options. All of these approaches (German ATV-DVWK-A 28, European standards EN 12255-7, and U.S. EPA 832) assume that the organic load is decisive for the treatment performance of a trickling filter. Depending on the desired treatment goal and the filling material, permissible surface loads are recommended, from which the trickling filter volume can be calculated. A major disadvantage of these approaches is that the influence of different climatic conditions, in particular the temperature, is not taken into account when determining the volume. Experience has shown, however, that an increase in temperature leads to an increase in the growth rate of the microorganisms and thus to an increase in treatment performance. Since the above design data are based on experience in temperate climates, their use can lead to oversized systems in hot climate effects. Therefore, concepts cannot be easily transferred to regions where there are other climatic conditions under the premise of high economic efficiency. Other mathematical model approaches for the design of trickling filters take the temperature into account, but the deviations between the models are considered at high temperatures. The Velz equation [19] is important with regard to trickling filters for the BOD reduction. In general, the previous mathematical model approaches to assess the temperature effect may only be used to a limited extent. Incorrect dimensioning cannot be ruled out. The existing design approaches can basically be divided into two groups. On the one hand, there are design approaches that contain empirical values from the observation of existing systems. This group includes the design approaches of ATV-DVWK worksheet A 281 (ATV 2001, BS EN 12255-72006, U.S. EPA 832-F-00-0142000 & U.S. EPA 832-F-00-0152000a). On the other hand, some approaches based on mathematical or empirical equations, such NRC equation [20], the Velz equation [5], and the Approach [21], are used in Trickling Filter calculation.

Due to the often large fluctuation ranges of these values, a relatively high degree of freedom can be expected when using this information to dimension a new trickling filter. BS EN 12255-72006, U.S. EPA 832-F-00-0142000, and U.S. EPA 832-F-00-0152000a summarize typical load and operating values of existing trickling filter systems. In some cases, the specific surface and empirically determined filling material constants are taken into account. Some of the algorithms are limited to the solved BOD. This can lead to a large volume deviation. The ATV-DVWK worksheet A 281 [15] does not contain a design algorithm but specifies room loads. Possible influencing factors such as different material structures, the influence of the fill level, and others are not taken into account or are excluded by being guided by the worst case. By using this approach, hardly any volume deviations are to be expected. Worksheet A 281 contains information on recirculation, area loading, and washing power. Designing trickling filter systems for complete carbon removal with or without nitrification using worksheet A 281 thus enables a safe but not optimized dimensioning. A plausibility checks with the information in BS EN 12255-72006, U.S. EPA 832-F-00-0142000, and U.S. EPA 832-F-00-0152000a is definitely recommended. Highly loaded trickling filters are not taken into account in worksheet A 281 because the maximum permissible volume loads contained therein are limited for operational safety reasons. If heavily loaded trickling filters are designed for partial cleaning, the information in BS EN 12255-72006 and U.S. EPA 832-F-00-0142000a can be used. Since the design approaches based on empirical values are based on findings from regions with temperate climates, they must be used critically in hot climates. Due to the strong influence of temperature on the biochemical and physical processes in the trickling filter, over-dimensioning can be expected at higher wastewater temperatures [4]. The influence of temperature is only taken into account in approaches that are based on mathematical or empirical equations. However, due to the relatively little experience with systems at high temperatures, there is great uncertainty when adjusting the temperature coefficients. A suboptimal dimensioning cannot, therefore, be ruled out.

The NRC approach was designed exclusively for the design of random mediafilled trickling filters for BOD removal completely or partially. According to [22], a high organic load elimination effort can be achieved by trickling filter technologies, this is by over-dimensioning trickling filters. The temperature can be taken into account by correcting the treatment performed using the formula $kT = k20 \cdot \Theta$ (T-20). However, a correct interpretation cannot be guaranteed.

The Velz equation [19] is available for the design of plastic-filled trickling filters for complete or partial BOD removal. The influence of temperature can be also determined by the above formula, the formula with a correction of the empirical coefficient k20 must be taken into account. A major disadvantage of this approach is that the coefficient k20 is filler-specific. An incorrect assumption for k20 can lead to considerable volume deviations. In addition to DWA 281, the approaches of Okev and Albertson [20] are available for the design of trickling filter systems for nitrification. Boller and Gujer developed a design algorithm for downstream trickling filters [23]. It can thus be summarized that the previous design approaches can lead to considerable deviations in the design of trickling filter systems, especially at high temperatures. With regard to the design of denitrification trickling filters, reference can be made to [15]. In international plant construction, especially in wastewater treatment plants, suppliers of important process engineering components are very often involved in the design of the components by both the customer and the treatment plant. In most cases, the process is only analyzed on a random basis. Therefore, it needs more applications and researches to analyze more factors to find climatic boundary conditions and to test its behavior especially in hot climate conditions, etc. [7]. The influence of temperature is very clear for BOD reduction and nitrification which can be determined [11]. Therefore, demonstration of trickling filters worldwide as successful case studies in large- and small-scale plants intends to create a knowledge base that reliably presents the objective advantages of trickling filters technology in the respective fields of application [24]. This makes it easier to communicate such solutions to customers. In order to use the design approaches and operating recommendations for trickling filters. which was obtained from semi-engineering under country-specific influencing factors, i.e. primarily in warm Climates. It is important to be a reliable basis for practical application and to enable the recommendations to be updated, and to be economically advantageous solutions. This was needed to compare the dimensioning according to the existing standards [25]. Therefore, several trickling filters were selected, which have different boundary conditions with regard to the climatic conditions and the operating range and mode of operation of trickling filters, to be demonstrated according to the operational boundary conditions and practical operating methods, as well as treatment efficiency factors. These will be successful case studies and experience collection for operators.

3 Trickling Filters Case Studies

3.1 Trickling Filter-Managua

3.1.1 Full-Scale System and Design

Wastewater Treatment plant of Managua was designed in 6 trickling filters as in Fig. 2 to treat municipal wastewater type. About 135,000 PE are connected to the treatment plant to the date June 2013 and the number of connected households is increasing but not as fast as the prognosis for 2025. The Water type into wastewater treatment plant of Managua is municipal waste water: WWTP-Managua received about 69% domestic, 26% commercial areas & offices, and 5% industrial wastewater after pretreatment. The industry is mainly food industry, e.g. Pepsi and Cola, etc. The first step is a screening of the water with screens size of 6 mm spacing. Then the water goes through a grease and sand trap followed by primary sedimentation in 9 lamella tanks.

The pretreated wastewater is pumped over 6 trickling filter each of them is 35 m dimeter, 5.1 m filter media depth, 5000 m³ volume, and total volume is 30,000 m³. Trickling filters design based on modified Velz equation proved as reliable.

3.1.2 Operation and Treatment Performance

The 9 primary sedimentation tanks were designed to remove 19% BOD and 50% TSS. The primary stage shows high treatment efficiency more than required, that it removes 25-28% BOD and 65-70% TSS. The designed filter plastic media type is: FB 10.27 with a surface area of $100 \text{ m}^2/\text{m}^3$ from the German supplier GEA GmbH. The organic loading into the TF is 1.46 kg/m³/d but the operational situation to the study time is more like 0.45-0.85 kg/m³/d Managua trickling filters show high treatment efficiency in BOD, COD reduction and nitrification rate of the effluent of the treatment plant in 2012. The effluent values are approximately: 15-40 mg/l;



Fig. 2 Wastewater treatment plant of Managua: 6 trickling filters



Effluent concentration of BOD and COD of Managua wastewater treatment

Fig. 3 Effluent of COD, BOD by trickling filter Managua during operation time-2012

BOD (limit requested 90 mg/l), 45–80 mg/l; COD (limit requested 180 mg/l), 18–40 mg/l TSS (limit requested 80 mg/l) (Fig. 3). Nitrification: With good nitrification rate, the influent ammonia concentration is 15–20 mg/l and in the effluent 5–8 mg/l. Phosphorus elimination at the treatment plant is just biological elimination by the trickling filters. The inflow concentration of total phosphorus is between 3 and 4 mg/l and about 50% of that is removed in the treatment plant. The maximum amount of recirculation possible is 704 l/s, this is controlled by the frequency of the pump. It turns out that it is regulated by a gate that separates the incoming water to the TFs from the TF effluent, letting effluent flow to the influent channel when recirculation is necessary. The recirculation is used when the incoming flow is below 1,290 l/s. However, it is controlled by a flow meter in the pumping station to the trickling filter.

As a recommendation, denitrification stage might be necessary to avoid any eutrophication in the future. This can be done in additional denitrification tanks; in case the effluent discharge will be pumped into lake Managua about 200 m from the shore.

Effluent quality of treated wastewater by trickling filters was far better than requested of COD <180 mg/l, BOD <33 mg/l, it was achieved COD <80 mg/l and BOD <14 mg/l and TSS to 150% reduction with high quality standard.

3.1.3 Result and Economic Aspect

To demonstrate the economic aspect and energy saving by implementing trickling filter technology, energy demand was calculated of the municipal wastewater treatment cost of WWTP-Managua by using trickling filter against activated sludge system for the same wastewater to compare the energy consumption in the two cases to find out the energy saving in kwh for BOD removal and its cost in euro. Tables 1 and 2 present energy/cost saving by using trickling filter in comparison with activated sludge treatment for the same treatment efficiency [26].

The benefit of trickling filter application for WWTP-Managua was low-cost solution by low energy demand and high cost saving against activated sludge plant, in addition to high process reliability and simple control equipment.

3.2 Case Study of Trickling Filters-Al Aweer-Dubai

3.2.1 Full-Scale System and Design

The WWTP-Al Aweer has 15 trickling filters filled with random media. Over 2010, GEA has retrofitted one trickling filter with structured media BIOdek[®]. The Al Aweer Sewage Treatment Plant (STP) is currently the only wastewater treatment plant serving Dubai City. Both domestic wastewater and sewage are collected by sewers and pumped to the treatment plant site, about 25 km away from the city center. The plant provides tertiary treated effluent for reuse in irrigation and treated sludge converted to manure for use as a soil conditioner and fertilizer. Al Aweer Sewage Water Treatment Plant consist of 15 trickling filter for nitrification. One of these filters uses GEA 2H structured media (Figs. 4 and 5).

Process treatment description: First stage is mechanical treatment which consists of seven screens followed by grit removal.

 Table 1
 Energy demand for BOD removal by application of trickling filterers and activated sludge treatment technologies for WWTP-Managua

Energy demand/BOD removal	
Calculated for Managua	For comparison: typical average energy demand for activated
ulckning inter	sluge plant
0.21 kwh/kg BOD removed	0.6 kwh/kg BOD removed

Table 2 Cost saving by application of trickling filter comparing with sludge activated sludge forWWTP-Managua

Annual energy saving by trickling filter	Annual energy cost saving by trickling filter
36,700 kg/day 360 days (0.6-0.21) kwh/kg day	(0.1 Euro/kwh)
5.492,155 kwh	550.000 Euro



Fig. 4 Waste water treatment process of the wastewater treatment plant-Al Aweer-Dubai



Fig. 5 Existing filter media filling in trickling filter before re-habitation WWTP-Alaweer

The second step of process treatment is the Preparation tank then the primary settling tanks. The primary effluent passes through the aeration tanks where only BOD is removed. The ammonia is treated with biological filters followed by the tertiary settling tanks. After sand filters the effluent is chlorinated and supplied to the city for horticulture irrigation. However, the primary and the biological stage sludge are thickened with polymer and fed to the anaerobic digesters. The anaerobically digested sludge is dewatered with centrifuges and sent for thermal drying and windrow drying. The dried product is used for horticulture by the city and the general public. Trickling filters in 2009 with their structured cross fluted media. Inflow data into GEA-nitrification trickling filter: inflow is 33,000 m³/day per filter: BOD 12.5 mg/l, TSS 12.7 mg/l, TN-NH4 30.5 mg/l. Even with the random media, efficient nitrification was not taking place because of some of operation problems.

3.2.2 Improvement Trickling Filter Performance

Furthermore, few problems were observed which proved to be obstacles for the efficient working of the trickling filters. The operation problems being faced are as follows:

- No even biofilm formation
- Algae growth



Fig. 6 The random media being used in the trickling fitters

- Ineffective distribution s/m
- Ineffective ventilation

The rehabilitation of one trickling filter was requested to improve the nitrification efficiency and test it under specific operations. Therefore, it was necessary to replace the filling random by GEA plastic fixed media and improve the ventilation process via the hot summer.

The aim of this rehabilitation is to improve the nitrification capacity as the old system was not able to meet the limitation in the outlet. Therefore, it was necessary to replace existing random media filling by new media type and design. It was designed to install two kinds of filter media with different surface area. The media filling types for the rehabilitation filter are BIOdek TKP619/TKP612 with total volume of 2,503 m³ which is pp: plastic media produced in Germany and installed at WWTP-Al Aweer in Dubai (Fig. 6) (Welded at the WWTP without solvent).

The first specific surface area: $185 \text{ m}^2/\text{m}^3$ on the top part of the trickling filter $150 \text{ m}^2/\text{m}^3$, and the below layers specific surface area is $240 \text{ m}^2/\text{m}^3$ with media depth of 2.75 m filled in the existing trickling filter of 34.1 m diameter.

On the other hand, to improve the ventilation over very hot summer months; the existing situation was the trickling filter has only side-openings for forced ventilation as the natural ventilation is not possible because of the hot summer. So the forced ventilation pressed air at too high level into the filter.

This was changed by GEA 2H Water Technologies GmbH to the new situation; therefore, the air is blown into the discharge canal below the media as a good solution for improving the forced ventilation which improves also the treatment efficiency. However, and after some changes by GEA, air is distributed under the media support (Fig. 7). Open support and media structure (horizontal media section is to 95% open for air flow) achieve very good oxygen supply to biofilm.



Old Situation: side-openings for forced ventilation



New Situation: the air is blown into the discharge canal below the media

Fig. 7 Old and new situations for the aeration in the trickling filter over hot months at Al Aweer WWTP-Dubai. *Old Situation*: side-openings for forced ventilation; *New Situation*: the air is blown into the discharge canal below the media



Fig. 8 Nitrification efficiency of modified trickling filter before and after rehabilitation

3.2.3 Improving Nitrification Rate/Result

Trickling filter commissioning was in November 2010 by GEA to insure the improvement of nitrification rate after some changes/rehabilitation of an old trickling filter by replacement of the filling media and improvement in the aeration via hot season. The new operation, design shows a very high nitrification rate. The result is clear in Fig. 8 which indicates to the effluent from BIOdek Filter is <1 mg/l NH4-N in comparing with the other filters effluent values (the improving in nitrification is very clear in Fig. 8). The Data from April to August (operation time after rehabilitation) were tested and received from the customer WWTP-Dubai. So GEA proposes to replace one of the 15 trickling filters with structured media as a substitute to the random media and was able to insure the efficiency of structured media over

random media for nitrification, also vertical structured media was recommended to improve the ventilation via operation time.

4 Conclusions and Recommendation

Trickling filter plants for wastewater treatment (BOD and nitrogen elimination) are characterized by simple operation management, low maintenance costs, and a long service life. This is not only advantageous for modern trickling filter application, but also especially for the possibility of combining it with other technologies. They have a low energy consumption, as no energy is required for the oxygen supply and distribution required for nitrification. There are no operational problems such as bloating sludge, floating sludge, or foam formation. In addition, there is no need for returned sludge for treatment process at all, and circulations rate is needed sometimes for an operational issue. Based on the criteria mentioned above, the worldwide use of such systems is recommended.

Incidentally, other processes in the trickling filter are influenced by the temperature, some of which can have opposite effects, like the diffusion of oxygen and other nutrients into the biofilm, the oxygen solubility, the ventilation, or the biofilm strength. In particular, for planning or adapting the operating parameters – hydraulic loading, ventilation, flushing power – there are no robust design regulations.

Therefore, the existing trickling filter concepts in the EU-countries cannot be transferred directly to other countries where different climatic conditions prevail.

A major disadvantage of these approaches is that the influence of different climatic conditions, in particular temperature and hot dry climate, is not taken into account in the volume determination of trickling filters.

Because of specific operations under several circumstances and poor experience of trickling filter operation in many counties, capacity building and intensive training in O&M operation and maintenance are highly need. These enable operators to test the media under several circumstances, operational and design situations, wastewater types, deferent loads, and different climate effects.

Acknowledgments The two case studies were implemented by the GEA Water Technologies-Germany. The author was involved in above projects' implementation, operation and providing capacity building and technical skills in O&M via and after her work for the GEA-Germany as a Project Engineer. The author presents the study applications as successfully case studies of trickling filter applications especially in hot dry climate. Trickling filter Managua was financed by KFW.

References

1. Andersson B, Aspegren H, Parker D, Lutz M (1993) High rate nitrifying trickling filters. Presented at the Second International Specialized Conference on Biofilm Reactors, Paris, France

- 2. Albertson OE (2003) Excess biofilm control by distributor-speed modulation. J Environ Eng 121(4):330
- 3. Tekippe TR, Hoffman RJ, Matheson RJ, Pomeroy B (2006) A simple solution to big snail problems-A case study at VSFCD's Ryder Street Wastewater Treatment Plant. Proceedings of the 80th Water Environment Federation Technical Exhibition and Conference; Dallas, Texas; Water Environment Federation: Alexandria, Virginia
- 4. Boltz JP, La Motta EJ (2007) The kinetics of particulate organic matter removal as a response to bio flocculation in aerobic biofilm reactors. Water Environ Res 79:725
- Parker DS, Bratby JR (2001) Review of two decades of experience with TF/SC process. J Environ Eng 127(5):380
- 6. ATV (Abwassertechnische Vereinigung) (1983) Grunds5itze fdr die Bemessung von einstufigen Tropfkbrpem und Scheibentauchkbrpern mit Anschluwerter tiber 500 Einwohnergleichwerten (Dimensioning of Trickling Filters and Rotating Biological Contactors); ATVDVWK-A 281E; St. Augustine: Germany. (In German and English)
- 7. Boltz JP (2010) Trickling filter and trickling filter-activated, sludge process design and operation. In: Biofilm Reactors. WEF Manual of Practice No. 35; Water Environment Federation: Alexandria, Virginia
- Stenquist RJ, Parker DS, Dosh TJ (1974) Carbon oxidation nitrification in synthetic media trickling filters. J Water Pollut Control Fed 46(10):2327
- 9. Norris DP (1982) High quality trickling filter effluent without tertiary treatment. Water Pollut Control Fed 54:1087
- Maimon A, Tal A, Friedler E, Gross A (2010) Safe on-site reuse of greywater for irrigation-a critical review of current guidelines. Environ Sci Technol 44(9):3213–3220
- Water Environment Federation (2000) Aerobic fixed-growth reactors; Special Publication; Water Environment Foundation. Alexandria, Virginia
- Crine M, Schlitz M, Vandevenne L (1990) Evaluation of the performances of random plastic media in Aerobic Trickling Filters. Water Sci Technol 22(1/2):227
- Boiler M, Gujer W, Nyhuis G (1990) Tertiary rotating biological Contactors for nitrification. Water Sci Technol 22:1/2
- 14. Bharati L, Gurung P, Jayakody P, Smakhtin V, Bhattarai U (2014) The projected impact of climate change on water availability and development in the Koshi Basin, Nepal. Mountain Res Dev 34(2):118–130
- 15. ATVDVWK-A 281E (Abwassertechnische Vereinigung) (2001) Dimensioning of trickling filters and rotating biological contactors. ATVDVWK-A 281E, St. Augustine, Germany
- 16. BS EN (2006) Metallic materials test methods part 1: tensile testing at ambient temperature. British Standards Institution (BSI), 3 January
- 17. EPA (2000) Trickling Filters. Wastewater Technology. Fact Sheet. EPA 832-F-00-014, USA
- EPA (2000) Chemical Precipitation. Wastewater Technology. Fact Sheet. EPA 832-F-00-018, USA
- Parker DS, Merrill DT (1984) Effect of plastic media configuration on trickling filter performance. J Water Pollut Control Fed 56(8):955
- Metcalf & Eddy (2003) Wastewater engineering: treatment and reuse.4th edn. McGraw-Hill, Boston, pp 602–607
- Okey RW, Albertson OE (1989) The role of diffusion in regulating rate and masking temperature effects on fixed film nitrification. Water Pollut Control Fed 61:500
- NRC (1946). Sewage treatment at military installations. Sew Work J, vol. 18, p. 787. Rittmann, B. E. and P. L.

- Boller M, Gujer W (1986) Nitrification in tertiary trickling filters followed by deep filters. Water Res 20:1363
- 24. Mohamed R, Saphira RM, Chan CM, Senin H, Kassim M, Hashim A (2014) Feasibility of the direct filtration over peat filter media for bathroom greywater treatment. J Mater Environ Sci 5(6):2021–2029
- 25. Jackson DR, Ripley LE, Maurina T, Hubbell S (2007) Up to the challenge. Water Environ Technol, pp 51–55
- 26. Shareef N (2019) Innovation technologies in wastewater treatment: a cost-effective solution. Waste management book, Springer, ISBN 978-3-030-18350-9. July

Advanced Configuration for Efficient Membrane Bioreactors



Vincenzo Naddeo, Mary Vermi Aizza Corpuz, Laura Borea, Florencio C. Ballesteros Jr, Vincenzo Belgiorno, and Gregory V. Korshin

Contents

1	Intro	duction	103
2 Recent Advances in Membrane Bioreactors			104
	2.1	Self-Forming Dynamic Membrane Bioreactors	104
	2.2	Electro Membrane Bioreactors (eMBRs)	113
	2.3	Anaerobic Membrane Bioreactors	117
	2.4	Removal of Emerging Contaminants Using Advanced Membrane Bioreactors	122
3 Technologies for Energy-Harvesting Membrane Bioreactors		nologies for Energy-Harvesting Membrane Bioreactors	125
	3.1	Anaerobic Membrane Bioreactors	125
	3.2	Membrane Bioreactors and Bio-Electrochemical Systems (MBR-BES)	127
4	Econ	omic Feasibility of Currently Developed Membrane Bioreactors	131
5	Challenges and Future Perspectives		133
6	Conc	lusions	134
Re	References 1		

Abstract Membrane bioreactors (MBRs) for wastewater treatment are being extensively studied and optimized to achieve the following: (a) higher pollutant removal efficiency, (b) better fouling control, (c) lower energy consumption, or (d) higher

Mahmoud Nasr and Abdelazim M. Negm (eds.), Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems, Hdb Env Chem (2023) 118: 101-146, DOI 10.1007/698_2022_869,

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022, Published online: 18 April 2022

V. Naddeo (2), L. Borea, and V. Belgiorno

Sanitary Environmental Engineering Division (SEED), Department of Civil Engineering, University of Salerno, Fisciano, Italy

e-mail: vnaddeo@unisa.it; lborea@unisa.it; v.belgiorno@unisa.it

M. V. A. Corpuz and F. C. Ballesteros Jr

Environmental Engineering Program, National Graduate School of Engineering, University of the Philippines Diliman, Quezon City, Philippines

e-mail: mamorales1@up.edu.ph; fcballesteros@up.edu.ph

G. V. Korshin Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, USA e-mail: korshin@uw.edu

energy production in MBRs. These efforts have led to the development of a number of alternative advanced configurations of MBR. This chapter presents a review of non-conventional MBR systems, the directions being pursued to develop them further, and a discussion on how these systems can improve the efficiency and other aspects of wastewater treatment.

The chapter highlights new advances in MBRs, specifically in Self-Forming Dynamic Membrane Bioreactors (SFDMBRs) and Electro Membrane Bioreactors (eMBRs). This chapter also presents designs and configurations of novel MBR systems developed for energy production, notably Anaerobic Membrane Bioreactors (AnMBR) and MBR coupled with Bioelectrochemical Systems (MBR-BES) that may be used for simultaneous wastewater treatment and energy harvesting. A comparison of the performances of these advanced MBR systems in terms of conventional and emerging contaminant removal, fouling mitigation, and energy production rates is also provided.

Another part of the chapter examines the economic feasibility of practical applications of advanced configurations of MBR. Particular attention is given to the specific energy demand of the advanced MBRs. Finally, the chapter discusses the challenges encountered in using non-conventional MBRs and their future prospects.

Keywords Anaerobic membrane bioreactors, Bioelectrochemical systems, Electro membrane bioreactors, Self-forming dynamic membrane bioreactors

A/O-DMBR	Anoxic-oxic dynamic membrane bioreactor
AHL	N-Acyl homoserine lactone
AMX	Amoxicillin
Anammox	Anaerobic ammonium oxidation
AnDMBR	Anaerobic dynamic membrane bioreactor
AnFCMBR	Anaerobic fluidized bed ceramic membrane bioreactor
AnFMBR	Anaerobic fluidized membrane bioreactor
AnMBR	Anaerobic membrane bioreactor
AnOMBR	Anaerobic forward osmosis membrane bioreactor
ARB	Antibiotic resistant bacteria
ARG	Antibiotic resistant genes
BES	Bioelectrochemical systems
CAS	Conventional activated sludge
CNT-HFM	Carbon nanotube hollow-fiber membrane
COD	Chemical oxygen demand
CZ	Carbamazepine
DFC	Diclofenac
DM	Dynamic membrane
EC	Emerging contaminant
eMBR	Electro membrane bioreactor

Abbreviations
EPS	Extracellular polymeric substances
EPSp	Protein fraction of EPS
GAC	Granulated activated carbon
MBR	Membrane bioreactor
MEC	Microbial electrolysis cell
MFC	Microbial fuel cell
MMBR	Moving bed membrane bioreactor
MPBR	Membrane algae photobioreactor
MRC	Microbial nutrient recovery cell
NH4 ⁺ -N	Ammonium-Nitrogen
NO_3^-	Nitrate
OMBR	Osmotic membrane bioreactor
PAC	Powdered activated carbon
PPCP	Personal care products
PVDF	Polyvinylidene fluoride
QQ	Quorum quenching
QS	Quorum sensing
SFDMBR	Self-forming dynamic membrane bioreactor
SMP	Soluble microbial products
SMX	Sulfamethoxazole
SS	Stainless steel
TCS	Triclosan
TEP	Transparent exopolymer particles
TMP	Transmembrane pressure
TOC	Total organic carbon
TrOC	Trace organic contaminants
TSS	Total suspended solids

1 Introduction

The use of MBRs in wastewater treatment has been extensively studied. MBRs are reactors that combine biodegradation and membrane filtration for pollutant removal [1]. This technology is an improvement of the conventional activated sludge (CAS) process since it eliminates the use of secondary clarifier to separate sludge from wastewater. The membrane filtration action leads to 100% retention of sludge in the reactor, leaving the effluent practically free from solids and pathogenic microorganisms [1–3].

Conventional MBRs have been shown to be efficient for removing conventional pollutants such as Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD), Total Organic Carbon (TOC), Total Suspended Solids (TSS), Total Phosphorus, and Total Nitrogen [4–7]. The potential of MBR technology has also been demonstrated in the removal of emerging contaminants, notably pharmaceutical products and other organic pollutants [6, 8],

endocrine disrupting compounds [9], antibiotic resistant bacteria (ARB), and antibiotic resistant genes (ARG) [10] from wastewater.

Other advantages of MBR include smaller footprint, longer solids retention time, and no requirement of additional chemicals. However, membrane fouling is a major limitation of MBRs. Membrane fouling results from the mass transport, adsorption, and accumulation of fouling substances on the membrane surface [11]. This phenomenon manifests itself as the increase of transmembrane pressure (TMP) and reduction of permeate flux.

To optimize the potential of MBRs for wastewater treatment applications, studies are being conducted to improve its performance. These studies focus both on further enhancement of pollutant removal and mitigation of membrane fouling.

Efforts to improve the MBR performance have led to the development of advanced configurations of such reactors. In addition to the goal of achieving optimum pollutant removal and fouling alleviation, new developments have aimed to reduce costs due to membrane material and energy requirements.

The focus of this book chapter is accordingly given to advanced membrane bioreactors, notably the AnMBRs, SFDMBRs, eMBRs, and MBR-BES.

2 Recent Advances in Membrane Bioreactors

2.1 Self-Forming Dynamic Membrane Bioreactors

The SFDMBRs make use of the biofilm layer, which is formed on the surface of a support material, as membrane filter. The support material has a relatively larger pore size (10–200 μ m) compared to the ultra-filters and micro-filters (0.01–0.4 μ m) used in conventional MBRs [12, 13].

In this type of MBR, the biofilm layer formed as a result of the degradation of organic matter in wastewater has a lower pore size than the support material on which it builds [13]. This makes the accumulated permeable biofilm act as an effective filtration layer [11, 14].

One advantage of the SFDMBR is that it makes use of a low-cost filter material as a support and of the biofilm as a membrane instead of expensive ones used in conventional MBRs [15]. The materials commonly used as support for self-forming dynamic membranes (SFDMs) are nylon mesh, polyester mono-filamentous mesh, polypropylene mono-filamentous mesh, and woven and nonwoven fabrics. These aspects of SFDMBRs design are summarized in Table 1. Another advantage of the SFDMBR is its lower filtration resistance compared to that of the conventional MBR [15].

The SFDMBR is different from the biofilm MBRs, in which inert support materials such as biofilm carriers carbon fibers are mainly used to provide additional surface area for the attachment of microorganisms. On the other hand, the biofilm or dynamic membrane (DM) layer in the SFDMBR mainly acts as the filtration layer due to its porous structure [13].

Table 1 Aerobic, anaerobi	ic, and anammox ?	SFDMBRs used in	recent studies				
	Biological	Sumort	Pore Size of summer				
Reactor type	condition	material	material, µm	Wastewater treated	DM formation time	Scale	Reference
Continuous-flow sub- merged SFDMBR	Aerobic	Nonwoven fabric	100	High-strength pyri- dine wastewater (synthetic)	15 days	Laboratory- scale	[16]
Integrated fixed-film activated sludge (IFAS) and SFDMBR	Aerobic	Nylon mesh	50	Real municipal wastewater	n.r.	Laboratory- scale	[1]
Submerged SFDMBR	Aerobic	Nylon mesh	20; 50	Real municipal wastewater	n.r.	Laboratory- scale	[18]
Submerged SFDMBR	Aerobic	Nylon woven fabric mesh	55	Real industrial wastewater	n.r.	Pilot-scale	[19]
Submerged SFDMBR	Aerobic	Nylon mesh	80	Real municipal wastewater	3 days	Pilot-scale	[20]
Submerged SFDMBR (with agitator)	Aerobic	Polyester flat- sheet mono-fil- amentous mesh	30	Synthetic wastewater	14 min	Laboratory- scale	[21]
Submerged SFDMBR (with recycle permeate line at first part of operation)	Aerobic	Polyester monofilament mesh filter	30	Synthetic wastewater	5 min	Laboratory- scale	[22]
Submerged SFDMBR	Aerobic	Nylon mesh	25	Synthetic wastewa- ter with COD of 180 mg/L	n.r.	Laboratory- scale	[14]
Submerged SFDMBR succeeding an anoxic tank	Aerobic (at submerged SFDMBR)	Nylon 6 woven mesh	20.71 ± 4.60	Synthetic wastewater	With permeate flux of 1 $m^3/m^2/day$: 7 days; With permeate flux of 2 $m^3/m^2/day$: 3 days	Laboratory- scale	[23]
				•			(continued)

Advanced Configuration for Efficient Membrane Bioreactors

105

			Pore Size of				
	Biological	Support	support				
Reactor type	condition	material	material, µm	Wastewater treated	DM formation time	Scale	Reference
Submerged SFDMBR and submerged	Aerobic	Nylon mesh	75	Real domestic wastewater with	Submerged SFDMBR: 5-20 min	Laboratory- scale	[24]
SFDMBR with pow-				COD of 110.6-	Submerged SFDMBR		
dered activated carbon (PAC)				204.4 mg/L	with PAC: 5 min		
Submerged SFDMBR	Aerobic	Polyester non-	Not specified	Synthetic wastewa-	Approximately 10–	Laboratory-	[25]
		(0.20 kg/m^2)		$300 \pm 5 \text{ mg/L}$	mean diameter and rela-	Scarc	
					tive hydrophobicity of sludge particles)		
Submerged SFDMBR	Aerobic	Dacron mesh	100	Real municipal	15-30 min	Laboratory-	[13]
				wastewater with		scale	
				COD of 97.9-			
				371.7 mg/L			
Anaerobic dynamic	Anaerobic	Polyamide/	200	Synthetic high-	n.r.	Laboratory-	[26]
membrane bioreactor		nylon monofil-		strength municipal		scale	
(AnDMBR) using exter-		ament woven		wastewater with			
nal crossflow filter		mesh		COD of 900 mg/L			
Submerged AnDMBR	Anaerobic	Acrylonitrile	100	Synthetic anthra-	n.r.	Laboratory-	[27]
succeeding an anaerobic		butadiene sty-		quinone textile dye		scale	
reactor		rene filament		wastewater			
Upflow anaerobic sludge	Anaerobic	Nylon 6 woven	26;	Synthetic wastewa-	60–90 min	Laboratory-	[12]
blanket (UASB) with		mesh	38;	ter with COD of		scale	
side-stream crossflow			54;	320 mg/L			
filter			61; 31				
			/4				

Table 1 (continued)

External AnDMBR; Submerged AnDMBR	Anaerobic	Polypropylene monofilament woven fabric	10	Synthetic wastewa- ter with COD of $20,100 \pm 310 \text{ mg/L}$	External AnDMBR: 20 days Submerged AnDMBR: 10 days	Laboratory- scale	[28]
Submerged AnDMBR	Anaerobic	Polyester non- woven fabric	30	Synthetic municipal wastewater with COD of 361 ± 20 mg/L	40–55 min	Laboratory- scale	[15]
Submerged anaerobic ammonia oxidation (anammox) SFDMBR	Anammox	Nylon woven mesh	20–25	Synthetic wastewa- ter with 100– 730 mg NH ₄ ⁺ - N/L	7–8 days	Laboratory- scale	[29]
Side-stream anammox SFDMBR	Anammox	Polyamide/ nylon mesh	200; 52 (starting day 32 of experiment)	Synthetic wastewa- ter with 50 mg NH ₄ ⁺ /L and 50 mg NO2 ⁻ /L	<5 min	Laboratory- scale	[30]
StDMBR SFDMBR	Anammox	Nonwoven fabric	100	Synthetic wastewa- ter with 25–500 mg NH4 ⁺ -N/L	n.r.	Laboratory- scale	[31]

Note: n.r. Not reported

It is important that the biofilm or the DM layer also contributes to pollutant degradation. In a study by Wu et al. [32], the DM was found to remove a portion of COD, colloids, and total and organic nitrogen from wastewater. Fan and Huang [13] found that the DM in an SFDMBR contributed 37.0% removal of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) from municipal wastewater. This removal was attributed to two mechanisms: *i*) rejection of large molecules by the formed DM, and *ii*) removal of small molecules through degradation of organic carbon by the microorganisms in the DM as the permeate passed through the biological layer.

The quality of permeate from an SFDMBR is comparable to that of the permeate from the conventional MBRs. In the study by Sabaghian et al. [22], the COD and ammonium-nitrogen (NH_4^+ -N) removals from a synthetic wastewater using an aerobic SFDMBR were 92% and 98%, respectively. In another aerobic SFDMBR treating synthetic municipal wastewater, COD removal achieved was 98% [21]. The SFDMBR has also been studied to treat real wastewaters such as domestic wastewater [24], dairy wastewater [33], and real canning and winery wastewaters [34].

2.1.1 Dynamic Membrane Structure and Formation

The formation of the DM is a critical process in terms of pollutant removal from the wastewater and of obtaining a stable amount and quality of permeate from the SFDMBR. Fan and Huang [13] suggested that the DM is composed of two sublayers, the cake and gel layers. Results of their study revealed that the cake layer is composed of sludge flocs that are similar to the flocs suspended in the bulk wastewater. The particles in the cake layer are easily detached from the module once it is removed from the suspension. On the other hand, the gel layer is tightly attached to the surface of the support material. It has been shown to be composed of mainly extracellular polymeric substances (EPS), making the layer permeable. The pore size of the gel layer has been reported to be at a range of $<0.10-0.50 \ \mu m \ [13, 23]$. Its structure makes the gel layer the primary DM component that rejects the fine particles in the wastewater. Aside from the structure of the DM, its formation time is an important consideration in the operation of SFDMBRs. In previous studies on SFDMBRs for wastewater treatment (Table 1), the DM formation time was reported to be at a range of 5 min to 20 days. A shorter formation time of stable DM is needed to prevent sludge flocs loss and to reduce amount of low effluent quality produced during the start-up period [35].

Several factors influence the formation and performance of the DM, including (a) support material, (b) bulk sludge properties, (c) aeration/gas sparging rates and mechanisms, and (d) backwashing strategies as discussed below.

The work of Ersahin et al. [36] suggested that the type of support material used affects the DM layer formation in an AnDMBR. In the latter study, it was shown that mono-monofilament filter cloth, which had a smooth surface, favored the formation of a homogenous DM layer which retained the solid particles in this layer. In contrast, the severe accumulation of particles in the pores of staple yarn support material was observed, making it unsuitable for DM filtration. This blocking of pores

was due to the twisted structure and uneven surface of the staple yarn. A similar study was conducted by Isik et al. [37] to compare DM formation using two different materials. The reported results showed that a homogenous DM was formed with polyester as support material. In contrast, the DM layer with glass fiber as support material had fine sludge particles that were deposited in between the filaments, which led to filter clogging. This difference in the characteristics of DM formed was attributed to the difference in structure of the support materials, in which the glass fiber was observed to have more filaments than the polyester material. The mesh size of the support material also affects the time of DM formation as shown by Hu et al. [35]. The latter study showed that nylon mesh with the lowest pore size (25 μ m compared to 38, 48, and 75 μ m) had the shortest DM formation time and lowest effluent turbidity [35]. Salerno et al. [18] also found that smaller mesh size (20 μ m compared to 50 μ m) of a nylon mesh as support material resulted in faster DM formation. However, Cai et al. [38] noted that support materials with mesh size of 10 µm or lower were not suitable for SFDMBRs due to low permeate flux obtained in such systems.

The study conducted by Liang et al. [25] demonstrated that the properties of the bulk sludge influence the DM's formation, filtration resistance, and fouling propensity. Their results demonstrated that the presence of sludge with more numerous large diameter particles with relatively high hydrophobicity tends to reduce the DM formation time. During the initial stage of SFDMBR operation, larger particles tended to be intercepted more than the smaller particles by the support material. Hydrophobic particles would also be easily deposited to hydrophobic support materials. The higher proportion of large particles in the dynamic layer led to the formation of a more porous DM, and consequently resulted in lower filtration resistance. It was also shown that among the bulk sludge properties, the EPS content strongly influenced the DM fouling propensity. Sludge with high EPS concentration tended to be strongly attached to fresh DMs, which led to fouling. Sabaghian et al. [22] also found that a 5,000–9,000 mg/L Mixed Liquor Suspended Solids (MLSS) concentration could result in higher non-Newtonian activity of activated sludge, resulting in fouling.

Continuous air scouring resulted in less prominent increase in TMP in an SFDMBR [18]. However, large air scouring flow rates were observed to increase turbidity in the effluent. This finding is similar to that obtained by Sabaghian et al. [22], which showed that higher aeration rates tend to destroy the DM due to large shear stress. Aerobic SFDMBRs have utilized aeration to maintain dissolved oxygen (DO) and to keep solids suspended in the reactor. Rezvani et al. [21] used both a mechanical axial-flow stainless-steel (SS) agitator and aeration to keep the bulk liquid mixed and supply the DO in an aerobic submerged SFDMBR. The agitator was used to keep the sludge flocs in the mixed liquor suspended during the DM formation stage. This was important to the operation since the DM formation stage involved the accumulation of the suspended particles on the surface of the support material. After the initial DM formation, the agitator was turned off to switch to the aeration stage. This study suggested that the flow-pattern due to the agitation provided a more uniform DM structure and shortened the DM formation time

[21]. However, this effect of the agitator on the DM structure and formation time must be further validated in future studies.

In submerged downflow AnDMBRs, the gases produced in the anaerobic process are used for gas sparging, keeping the bulk liquid mixed. Application of intermittent biogas recycle to the reactor was found to improve the DM formation compared to that obtained during use of continuous biogas recycle [39].

A recent study by Siddiqui et al. [40] examined the effects of time-based and TMP-based backwashing strategies on the accumulation of EPS in the DM of an AnDMBR. The reported results demonstrated that less frequent backwashing (TMP-based) led to less EPSc accumulation in the DM compared to that obtained from more frequent backwashing (time-based). However, this behavior must be further studied using long-term operations and using aerobic SFDMBRs.

The results of the studies discussed in this section (Sect. 2.1.1) demonstrate that achieving a detailed understanding of the mechanism of DM formation and the factors affecting is highly important for an efficient long-term operation of the SFDMBR.

2.1.2 Aerobic, Anaerobic, and Anammox SFDMBRs

While SFDMBRs that use aerobic processes have been widely studied, their applicability for anaerobic process has been addressed only recently. Siddiqui et al. [12] examined the treatment of low-strength synthetic wastewater using an upflow anaerobic sludge blanket reactor with a side-stream anaerobic SFDMBR. In another study, Alibardi et al. [26] investigated the treatment of high-strength wastewater using an anaerobic SFDMBR, which made use of an anaerobic tank with an external crossflow filter. In the latter study, the DM was found to contribute about 20% to the total COD removal.

In addition to aerobic and anaerobic applications, the SFDMBR approach has been studied in the context of applications of the anaerobic ammonium oxidation (Anammox) process. The Anammox SFDMBR has been shown to be suitable for the treatment of ammonium-rich and low Carbon to Nitrogen (C/N) ratio wastewater. The DM formed on the mesh support materials used in the recent studies provided enhanced biomass retention and favorable condition for the growth of anammox bacteria [29–31].

Results from the study by Zhu et al. [29] showed that the mean value of total nitrogen removal rate (TNRR) in the anammox SFDMBR $(0.85 \pm 0.1 \text{ kg N m}^{-3} \text{ day}^{-1})$ was higher than in the conventional MBR with polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) ultra-filters $(0.62 \pm 0.2 \text{ kg N m}^{-3} \text{ day}^{-1})$. This was attributed to the improved stability of activity of anammox bacteria retained in the DM. Meng et al. [31] reported in an earlier study that the DM formed on a nonwoven fabric module contributed 11–26% to the total TNRR from a synthetic ammonia-rich wastewater.

Anammox bacteria have a slow growth rate, with a 30 days doubling time in a fluidized bed reactor [41] and 11 days in a sequencing batch reactor [42]. The study by Saleem et al. [30] showed that the doubling time of Anammox bacteria was

shortened to 6.9 days in an Anammox SFDMBR. The retention of the biomass in the SFDMBR prevented the loss of the slow-growing Anammox bacteria. Zhu et al. [29] also showed that the Anammox bacteria retention in the SFDMBR is comparable to that observed in an MBR with PVDF module.

Membrane fouling mitigation was also observed in the anammox SFDMBR, as shown by the low TMP values. Meng et al. [31] reported <0.5 kPa during the 380 days of operation of Anammox SFDMBR. Zhu et al. [29] observed a TMP value of 10 kPa for 50 days of operation. In the latter work, the EPS content of the DM deposited on the nylon mesh was found to be much lower than the EPS deposited on the PVDF membrane. The thickness of the DM was 95% lower than thickness of foulant layer deposited on the PVDF membrane. Low concentration of EPS was observed in the Anammox bulk sludge, which led to improved sludge filterability and reduced membrane fouling. Meng et al. [31] suggested that the porous structure of the biofilm with Anammox and the release of nitrogen gas (N₂ gas) contributed to the decrease in membrane fouling rate.

2.1.3 Configurations

Most studies on SFDMBRs utilize the submerged configuration and a few have employed the external crossflow filter configuration (see Table 1 and Fig. 1).

Aerobic SFDMBRs (Fig. 1a-e) commonly have an aeration tank equipped with a submerged membrane module [14, 18, 25]. Fan & Huang [13] and Y.-K. Wang et al. [20] utilized aeration tanks with baffles for internal loop circulation. Modifications of this configuration have been developed to improve membrane fouling mitigation or pollutant removal. An example is the system employed by C. Hou et al. [43], where a continuous air lift reactor (CFAR) preceded an aerobic SFDMBR. In this system, the CFAR is an aeration tank with baffles that allowed retention of aerobic granular sludge. This led to the process in which only flocculant sludge instead of granular ones entered the subsequent submerged SFDMBR. Vergine et al. [17] examined the performance of an integrated fixed-film activated sludge SFDMBR (IFAS-SFDMBR), which consisted of one aerated tank with a submerged membrane module and polyethylene carriers. The polyethylene carriers were added to provide surface for attached growth of biomass. However, the presence of the carriers led to reduction of size of sludge flocs due to mechanical action, and consequently to an increased frequency of mesh clogging. On the other hand, the presence of Powdered Activated Carbon (PAC) in a submerged SFDMBR reduced the concentration of EPS and SMP in the DM [44]. Potential foulants' concentrations were decreased by adsorption to or biodegradation by the PAC particles in the reactor. In addition, the presence of PAC produced a more porous and less dense DM layer.

Most of the AnDMBRs in previous studies have utilized the submerged membrane configuration (Fig. 1f, g). In downflow submerged AnDMBRs, agitators or gas sparging is employed to mix the sludge and regulate the deposition of sludge to the DM [15, 39]. Another type of submerged AnDMBR consists of an Upflow Anaerobic Sludge Blanket (UASB) reactor and a dynamic membrane module. This



Fig. 1 Alternative configurations of SFDMBRs presented in previous studies. (a) Submerged Aerobic SFDMBR, (b) Submerged Aerobic SFDMBR with Agitator, (c) Submerged Aerobic SFDMBR with Baffle, (d) Submerged Aerobic SFDMBR with Inert Carriers, (e) Submerged Aerobic SFDMBR with Powdered Activated Carbon, (f) Submerged AnDMBR, (g) Submerged Upflow AnDMBR, (h) External AnDMBR, (i) Submerged Anammox SFDMBR, and (j) External Anammox SFDMBR

AnDMBR consists of a sludge zone (bottom portion) and a settling zone (upper portion) where the dynamic membrane module is submerged [45, 46].

Aside from submerged configuration, some studies have used AnDMBR system where an external filtration module is coupled to another anaerobic reactor (Fig. 1h) [12, 26, 47]. Ersahin et al. [28] compared the performance of external and submerged AnDMBRs. Longer DM formation time was observed using the external AnDMBR

compared to the submerged AnDMBR. In addition, lower filtration resistance was observed in the external AnDMBR. However, the results in this study by Ersahin et al. [28] suggested that the external circulation of the sludge may have led to decreased diversity of microbial community in the external AnDMBR. As a result, the external AnDMBR had lower COD removal and lower biogas production.

Anammox SFDMBRs have also utilized both the submerged and external membrane configurations, as shown in Fig. 1i, j) [29–31].

Aside from the addition of fixed media carriers and powdered activated carbon, SFDMBRs have not yet been widely integrated with other wastewater treatment technologies such as electrochemical processes and advanced oxidation processes.

2.2 Electro Membrane Bioreactors (eMBRs)

Electro membrane bioreactors (eMBRs) are advanced MBRs that make use of the integration of biological process, electrochemical process, and membrane filtration to treat wastewater [48–51]. The integration of MBRs with electrochemical processes is aimed to enhance the MBR performance in terms of pollutant removal and membrane fouling mitigation.

2.2.1 Configurations, Electrode Materials, and Operating Conditions

In early designs, the integration of electrochemical processes with MBR for wastewater treatment utilized electrode plates or meshes that were bound with the membrane modules (Fig. 2a, d). J.-P. Chen et al. [52] first studied effects of the application of electric field to the membrane flux in a submerged MBR. The reactor was composed of two compartments: a tank with anoxic and oxic zones and another aerated pool with the membrane module. The electric field was applied through perforated stainless-steel electrodes connected to an external power supply. The electrodes were placed on the membrane surface. In another study, Akamatsu et al. [2] used platinum mesh as electrodes, which were attached to sides of an external membrane.

As the eMBR was continually studied, new configurations were developed (Fig. 2b–d). Bani-Melhem and Elektorowicz [53] developed a submerged eMBR where the biodegradation, filtration, and electrochemical processes occur in a single tank. In this reactor, the electrodes were located at a certain distance from the membrane module instead of being bound to the membrane. This was to prevent possible oxidation of the polymeric membrane. Perforated circular anode was located near the wall of the tank. The perforated circular cathode was placed at the inner part of the tank at a distance from the anode. The membrane module was at the center of the reactor. In this way, two zones of wastewater treatment were created. The first zone from the wall of the tank to the cathode was the zone for simultaneous biodegradation and electrochemical processes. The second zone from the cathode to



Fig. 2 Alternative configurations of eMBRs (a) Submerged eMBR with electrodes bound with membrane module, (b) External coagulation unit and submerged MBR, (c) Submerged eMBR with circular electrodes, (d) External eMBR

the membrane was for biodegradation and filtration. L. Liu et al. [54] also used a submerged eMBR in one vessel, where the stainless-steel anode is located at a distance from the membrane and copper wire cathode sealed in the membrane module.

Another configuration of eMBR used is one where the wastewater goes through an electrocoagulation unit before a submerged MBR unit. Bani-Melhem and Smith [55] investigated the performance of this configuration to treat grey water. The electrocoagulation unit served as a pre-treatment step that enhanced fouling alleviation and pollutant removal.

Applied voltages in eMBRs range from 0.1 to 20 V/cm [2, 52, 53, 56]. The study of Bani-Melhem and Elektorowicz [48] showed that even a low electric field gradient at 1 V/cm could lead to better anti-fouling performance of the eMBR. It was also shown that intermittent application of low voltage in an eMBR could lead to efficient fouling mitigation and pollutant removal, without an adverse effect to the microbial community in an eMBR [2, 51, 57].

2.2.2 Conventional Pollutant Removal in eMBRs

In enhancing permeate quality, the electrochemical processes contribute through different mechanisms. One of such processes is electrocoagulation. In eMBRs, the metal anode is oxidized to release metal ions (e.g., Al^{3+} , Fe^{3+}) that act as in situ generated coagulants [50, 58]. The coagulants allow the formation of larger particles, increasing retention of pollutants inside the reactor. Pollutants tend to be adsorbed to or entrapped in the flocs formed [48]. This results in their further degradation as the microorganisms in the eMBR have longer contact time with the pollutants.

In a study by Yang et al. [59], electrochemically assisted aerobic MBRs with conductive carbon nanotubes hollow-fiber membranes (CNTs-HFMs) obtained COD removal of >92%, which was higher than the removal by the conventional MBRs used in the study. The eMBRs achieved >88% NH_4^+ -N removal, which was also higher than NH_4^+ -N removal in the MBRs without electrochemical assistance. The application of voltage notably favored the growth of microorganisms *Gemmatimonas*, *Cloacibacterium*, and *Delftia*, and as a result it enhanced organic matter breakdown. In an eMBR examined by Jiang et al. [56], phenol and COD degradation reached up to 100% during a long-term operation. The study revealed that the application of electric field resulted in an increase in the activity of key enzymes related to phenol degradation, namely phenol hydroxylase (PH) and catechol 2,3-dioxygenase (C230).

A submerged eMBR was used to successfully treat landfill leachate [60]. Higher COD and NH_4^+ -N removals were observed in the submerged eMBR compared to those in a conventional MBR. Metal removals (Chromium, Magnesium, Zinc, and Iron) were also generally higher in the eMBR compared to those obtained in the conventional MBR. The efficiency in metal removal of the eMBR was attributed to the following mechanisms: (a) surface complexation, (b) electrostatic attraction,

(c) adsorption, and (d) precipitation due to interaction between metal pollutant and coagulant floc.

2.2.3 Membrane Fouling Mitigation in eMBRs

The presence of electric field in eMBRs has been shown to enhance the mitigation of membrane fouling. Akamatsu et al. [2] reported that an eMBR with platinum electrodes had a permeate flux that was 3.5 times higher than that produced from an MBR without applied electric field. In this study, the alleviation of membrane fouling was attributed to the enhanced repulsion between the negatively charged sludge particles and the membrane. This agrees with the result of the study made by Zhang et al. [61] where SS anodes and membrane module with titanium cathodes were used. In this eMBR, the TMPs obtained were 25.3–40.4% lower than those obtained in MBR without applied voltage. In the latter study, fouling rate reduction was also explained by the repulsion between the foulants and the membrane surface. Another reason for the lowering of fouling rate in eMBR treatment was the reaction of iron ions from the SS anode with the organic matter in the mixed liquor. This reaction led to reduction of TOC and the membrane fouling pre-cursors soluble microbial products (SMP) polysaccharides.

A new approach to mitigate membrane fouling in eMBRs is the regulation of quorum sensing (OS). OS is a system used by bacteria to communicate and coordinate their activities by producing and secreting signal molecules [62-64]. Studies have shown correlations between biofilm formation and quorum sensing. Quorum Quenching (QQ) or the disruption of QS resulted in decrease of concentration and in degradation of the signal molecules, commonly N-Acyl Homoserine Lactones (AHLs) [62, 65–67]. Reduction of the levels of the signal molecules was found to inhibit the formation of biofilm, and consequently led to reduced membrane fouling. Most of the studies of QQ as a membrane fouling prevention strategy have been focused on the action of QQ bacteria [62, 64, 67], or QQ enzymes [66, 68]. On the other hand, recent studies have investigated the role of electric field application as QQ strategy in eMBRs. Borea et al. [65] confirmed in their study that the application of electric field affected microorganisms in the eMBR and disrupted their production of N-octanoyl-L-homoserine lactone (C8-HSL) signal molecules. The reduction in C8-HSL content led to lower concentrations of the protein fraction of extracellular polymeric substances (EPSp) and transparent exopolymeric particles (TEP), which resulted in reduced membrane fouling.

Jiang et al. [56] also examined the role of electric field in QS regulation as a membrane fouling reduction strategy in an eMBR. In this work, the degradation of N-acyl homoserine lactone (AHL) molecules was caused by two mechanisms. One of them was the oxidation of carbon chains in AHL molecules by the hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) generated at the cathode of the eMBR. Another mechanism was the effect of electric field, resulting in an increase of QQ bacteria and decrease of QS bacteria. This led to lower production of AHLs, which caused lower EPS production and reduced membrane fouling.

2.3 Anaerobic Membrane Bioreactors

AnMBRs combine anaerobic degradation and membrane filtration to remove pollutants from wastewater [69, 70]. One important advantage of the anaerobic process is the high rate of pollutant biodegradation by anaerobic microorganisms. However, anaerobic microorganisms are slow-growing and therefore require high biomass retention in the reactor. This biomass retention is increased when the anaerobic reactor is integrated with a membrane [71]. The increased biomass retention inside AnMBRs results in lower suspended solids concentrations in the effluent [72].

Applications of AnMBRs to treat various types of wastewater have been examined in previous studies. AnMBRs have been applied to treat high-strength [73–77] and low-strength wastewaters [78–80]. Different configurations applied in AnMBRS are shown in Fig. 3. Most AnMBR studies have utilized the submerged AnMBR configuration [76, 77, 81–83], where the membrane module is immersed in the anaerobic reactor, thus anaerobic degradation and filtration occurs in a single vessel. Another examined configuration includes an anaerobic bioreactor coupled with a submerged AnMBR tank [74, 84–86] and involves recirculation of a portion of the sludge from the membrane tank to the other anaerobic reactor. A few studies have also utilized the external side-stream AnMBR configuration [87, 88]. Common membrane materials used in AnMBRs are polymeric (PVDF, polyethylene, polyethersulfone) or ceramic membranes with pore sizes ranging from 0.05 to 1.0 μ m [74, 78, 88–90].

2.3.1 Conventional Pollutant Removal in AnMBRs

The different configurations of AnMBRs have been reported to achieve 86% to >99% COD removal from low and high-strength wastewaters [74–78, 81, 84]. C. Chen et al. [91] compared the performance of two AnMBR configurations for treating municipal wastewater. The latter study showed that both configurations, (a) a submerged AnMBR (membrane immersed in an Upflow Anaerobic Granular Bioreactor (UAGB) and (b) a UAGB coupled with an external submerged AnMBR tank, obtained similar COD removal efficiencies >91%.

A limitation in the use of AnMBRs to treat wastewater is their performance in the removal of nutrients. Free ammonia $(NH_4^+ \text{ and } NH_3)$ and orthophosphate (PO_4^{3-}) are released during the degradations of amino acids and organic phosphorus compounds through anaerobic processes. This leads to high levels of nutrients in the effluent of AnMBRs [92–96]. Hence, post-treatment processes are needed to remove nutrients from the permeate of AnMBRs. The effluent of a pilot-scale gas-sparged AnMBR was subjected to coagulation to remove and recover phosphorus [93]. In the same study, an ion exchanger was used to remove ammonia. Ion exchange using natural zeolite was successfully applied by Deng et al. [97] to remove ammoniumnitrogen from AnMBR permeates. Vu et al. [96] proposed a system of coupled AnMBR and membrane algae photobioreactor (MPBR) for simultaneous



Fig. 3 Alternative AnMBR configurations. (a) Submerged AnMBR, (b) Two-stage Anaerobic CSTR and submerged AnMBR with Sludge Recirculation, (c) External AnMBR, (d) AnFMBR, and (e) AnMBR with Fixed Bed of Inert Material/Support Material

wastewater treatment, and energy and nutrients recovery. In this system, the wastewater was first treated by the AnMBR. The effluent of the AnMBR was fed to the MPBR, which consisted of a membrane module submerged in media composed of microalgae culture and ANMBR effluent. High levels of NH_4^+ and PO_4^{3-} were obtained in the AnMBR effluent (at levels higher than those of the influent by 1.9 and 1.4 times, respectively). These concentration levels made the AnMBR effluent suitable for microalgae cultivation, having the capability to assimilate dissolved nitrogen and phosphorus. The microalgal biomass can potentially be used as feed-stock for biofuel production. The integration of an anaerobic forward osmosis membrane bioreactor (AnOMBR) with a microbial electrochemical recovery unit was also studied to recover NH_4^+ and PO_4^{3-} from the bulk wastewater [16]. Both the microbial nutrient recovery cell (MRC) and the AnOMBR were submerged in that study in a single tank. The potential generated across the electrodes in the submerged MRC allowed extraction of charged ions from the bulk liquid in the reactor. Results showed approximately 28–45% and 41–65% recovery of NH_4 -N and PO4-P, respectively, from the bulk solution.

2.3.2 Membrane Fouling and Mitigation in AnMBRs

The high solids concentration in the AnMBR leads to membrane fouling. Several factors contribute to membrane fouling, notably (a) operating conditions, (b) configuration and membrane type, and (c) supernatant and sludge properties, as presented below.

Operating conditions in AnMBRs affect membrane fouling rates. One significant operating condition that should be considered is the Solids Retention Time (SRT) in AnMBRs. It has been demonstrated that at low Hydraulic Residence Time (HRT), prolonged SRT (>60 days SRT or infinite SRT meaning no wasting of sludge) in a submerged AnMBR can result in low rate of degradation and uptake of nutrients by microorganisms [78]. This consequently led to high rate of SMP production, which contributed to membrane fouling. Extended SRT also resulted in too low EPS protein and carbohydrates content, which prevented flocculation of particles and increased number of finer particles in the reactor. These processes aggravated membrane fouling in the AnMBR. In contrast, a short SRT in an AnMBR treating phenol wastewater led to higher rate of increase in TMP values [98]. In the latter study, the protein content of EPS increased at shorter SRT. This was attributed to the response of the microorganisms to the increase in phenol loading, by increasing EPS production to degrade the phenol. The results of these studies demonstrated the need to optimize SRT in AnMBRs to minimize membrane fouling, since there are also other contributing factors.

In AnMBRs, the dominant mechanism of membrane fouling is cake formation [99, 100]. One of the operating conditions influencing the cake resistance in AnMBRs is the food-to-microorganism (F/M) ratio. Y. Liu et al. [100] found that higher F/M ratio in a submerged AnMBR increased SMP and the ratio of tightly bound EPS to loosely bound EPS in the cake layer formed on the membrane. The increase in these values improved the cake layer filtration resistance. Lin et al. [101] noted that a high F/M ratio led to higher ratio of protein to polysaccharide content of bound EPS, which promoted cake formation and consequently led to membrane fouling in a submerged AnMBR.

The system configuration (Fig. 3a-e) also influences membrane fouling in ANMBRs. For example, C. Chen et al. [91] observed higher fouling rate in the

submerged AnMBR compared to that in the UAGB coupled with an external AnMBR. This was due to higher EPS and SMP in the mixed liquor of UAGB compared to that in the external AnMBR tank. The membrane material also influences membrane fouling as shown in a study on a submerged AnMBR for treating pharmaceutical wastewater [102]. In the latter study, a hollow-fiber membrane was found to be more prone to irreversible fouling due to pore blocking compared to a flat-sheet membrane. A study made by Z. Liu et al. [103] compared irreversible fouling of a polymeric membrane (PVDF) and a ceramic membrane (CM) used in an external submerged AnMBR coupled with an anaerobic CSTR (Continuous Stirred Tank Reactor). Fouling rate was higher for the PVDF membrane. A difference in the structure and composition of the gel layer formed in the two types of membranes was also observed. More organics were adsorbed onto the PVDF membrane because of its hydrophobicity. On the other hand, more inorganics such as Ca and Mg were observed in the gel layer in the CM. Information on the structure and composition of the irreversible fouling layers are important considerations in the choice of fouling mitigation and membrane cleaning approaches.

The sludge floc size was also shown to affect sludge cake formation in an AnMBR [104]. Fine particles corresponded to higher cake formation rates. Lower back transport force of the fine particles promoted their deposition on the membrane surface. Z. Zhou et al. [105] showed that fine particles (of size from 0.45 to 10 μ m) were the more dominant fouling substances compared to dissolved organics in a submerged AnMBR. In another study, these fine particles were associated with microorganisms that favored biofilm formation, increased filtration resistance, and caused pore blocking [90].

Membrane fouling is a major limitation in the application of AnMBRs. One of the strategies to control membrane fouling is the use of biogas sparging [106, 107]. Biogas sparging provides scouring action on the layer formed and also reduces the deposition of foulants on the membrane surface [108]. Berkessa et al. [81] developed a submerged AnMBR which consisted of two zones: bottom portion for bulk sludge digestion and upper portion for submerged membrane module in a relatively lower MSS solution. A three-phase separator is located between the two zones to enhance solid stratification, and eventually reduce membrane fouling.

Another approach to reduce fouling in AnMBRs is to integrate it with other processes, leading to development of modified configurations. Modified configurations can be aimed to mitigate membrane fouling and at the same time to enhance pollutant degradation, as discussed below.

2.3.3 Integration of AnMBR with Other Processes

AnMBR Integrated with Fluidized Bed Process

To reduce membrane fouling, AnMBRs have been modified in some studies to integrate it with fluidized bed processes (Fig. 3b). In this configuration, the

membrane is in contact with fluidized particles of a solid phase, for instance Granulated Activated Carbon (GAC) or zeolite.

Kim et al. [109] examined the performance of an anaerobic fluidized membrane bioreactor (AnFMBR) as a post-treatment system after an anaerobic reactor. The fluidized GAC particles contributed to the mitigation of fouling because of their scouring action exerted on the surface of the polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) hollow-fiber membrane. In the MBR system without fluidized GAC particles, TMP reached 0.32 bar in just 0.5 days. In contrast, the TMP reached only 0.05–0.07 bar during first 20 days of operation in the presence of fluidized GAC particles in the MBR system. The addition of the AnFMBR as a second stage in the treatment system resulted in an 87% removal of COD from the pre-treated wastewater.

Another study [110] showed that in the first 100 days of operation of a single stage anaerobic fluidized bed ceramic membrane bioreactor (AnFCMBR), TMP was <0.1 bar. The scouring action of the fluidized particles on the membrane also resulted in reduction of fouling.

Aside from membrane fouling reduction, the integration of AnMBR with fluidized GAC particles increased its potential to degrade recalcitrant compounds due to the adsorptive capacity of the GAC [111].

In a recent study by M. Kim et al. [109], PVDF media was used instead of GAC as fluidization agent in an AnFMBR. TMP was kept at levels below 0.05 bar with the fluidization with PVDF. COD removal of 90% was also achieved using the reactor.

AnMBR with Additional Inert Support Material for Biomass

An alternative approach to modify AnMBRs makes use of materials supported on a fixed bed (Fig. 3e). The intended function of these materials is to reduce the concentration of suspended solids or biomass that would be deposited on the membrane's surface. Diez et al. [72] examined the performance of an Anaerobic Filter Membrane Bioreactor, which consisted of a biological chamber filled with suspended inert support material (Biofill-C, Bio-fil, Spain) and of a membrane filtration tank. In this modified AnMBR configuration, biomass was retained by the support material. Suspended particles and organic matter were then trapped and degraded by the biomass attached to the support material. This reduced the amount of solids carried into the subsequent membrane filtration tank, thus reducing membrane fouling.

Li et al. [112] used an Anaerobic Biofilm Membrane Bioreactor (ABMBR) which had a mesh filter as support for the dynamic membrane from biomass, and carbon fiber packing. The carbon fiber packing material served as an additional base for microorganism growth and for pollutant adsorption. This configuration was also observed to reduce the rate of membrane fouling in the reactor.

AnMBR Integrated with Electrochemical Processes

AnMBRs have been modified by combining with them with electrochemical systems. As is the case for aerobic eMBRs, electrochemical processes have been found to increase the potential of AnMBRs to degrade pollutants and mitigate membrane fouling.

Yang et al. [113] found that an anaerobic electrochemical membrane bioreactor with CNTs-HFMs obtained a higher COD removal (95%) than that achieved in AnMBRs without electrochemical assistance. The electric field application increased COD rejection through repulsion by the membrane and COD degradation through enhanced microorganism activity. Ding et al. [114] showed in their study that an electrochemically assisted AnMBR (with applied voltage of 0.6 V) could obtain a COD removal rate that is 20% higher than that of an AnMBR without electric field application.

The latter study also showed that electric field application in the AnMBR process resulted in a decreased membrane fouling rate. The application of increasing voltage to the electrochemically enhanced AnMBR increased the zeta potential and decreased the viscosity of sludge particles. The increased zeta potential prevented formation of compact layer on the membrane. Additionally, the decrease in viscosity lowered the tendency for the sludge particles to form agglomerates and less tendency to form a compact layer. These mechanisms led to the mitigation of membrane fouling.

2.4 Removal of Emerging Contaminants Using Advanced Membrane Bioreactors

Emerging contaminants, which tend to be included in the broader group of trace organic contaminants (TrOC), are defined as the pollutants that are not yet regulated or not routinely monitored but may enter the environment and pose ecological and human health risks [115, 116]. Common emerging contaminants are pharmaceutical products, personal care products (PPCPs), plasticizers, endocrine disrupting compounds, flame retardants, pesticides, fluorinated surfactants, and microbiological entities [115–117].

Because of the potential adverse ecological and human health effects, several studies have examined emerging contaminants' removal from water and wastewater. MBR methods are among the wastewater treatment technologies being studied for emerging contaminants' removal. As discussed, MBRs have been shown to efficiently degrade pollutants found in wastewater mainly because of their capacity to retain microorganisms inside the reactor. Advanced MBRs are being widely developed to enhance the capability of MBRs in the degradation of emerging contaminants (ECs), as discussed in the following section.

2.4.1 Emerging Contaminants Removal by SFDMBRs

In general, research on the use of SFDMBR has been primarily focused on the removal of conventional pollutants. Investigation of the performance of SFDMBRs in the removal of emerging contaminants is still very limited but this aspect of SFDMBRs performance can be examined based on the example of pyridine. Pyridine is a recalcitrant and toxic compound usually used in manufacture of herbicides and pharmaceutical products [118]. In a study by Hou et al. [119], pyridine was degraded using an anoxic/oxic dynamic membrane bioreactor (A/O-DMBR). In the reactor, the influent passed through the anoxic zone first, then to the oxic zone with the dynamic membrane. A portion of the effluent of oxic zone was recirculated back to the anoxic zone. Pyridine degradation started in the anoxic zone of the reactor with the cleavage of the pyridine ring, releasing NH_4^+ . The DM in this type of SFDMBR was crucial in retaining the biomass, which converted the NH_4^+ to Nitrate (NO₃⁻). The released NO_3^{-} was recirculated back to the anoxic zone and became an electron acceptor, resulting in further degradation of pyridine. Residual pyridine was observed to be degraded further in the oxic zone of the reactor where the DM was located.

In a study by Monsalvo et al. [120] on the removal of different TrOCs using an AnMBR, the concentration of retained compounds in the fouling layers (external, cake, irreversible and pore-blocking layers) was examined. The results of the study revealed that the retention on these layers provided a significant contribution to the rejection of the TrOCs. Although this study used an ultrafilter, the results suggested that the potential of the DMs in the retention of TrOCs is worth investigating in future studies.

2.4.2 Emerging Contaminants Removal by AnMBRs

AnMBRs have the potential to degrade recalcitrant compounds in wastewater due to the higher rate of degradation by anaerobic microorganisms. AnMBRs have a high biomass retention, allowing more time for the microorganisms to degrade emerging contaminants such as micropollutants. In a study by Wijekoon et al. [121], adsorption of TrOCs onto the sludge in an AnMBR was shown to increase their biodegradation. Adsorption to the sludge increased the TrOCs' retention time inside the reactor, allowing more time for degradation by the anaerobic microorganisms. Adsorption capacity is also enhanced by presence of the membrane, which is another solid–liquid interface for sorption of the pollutants [122].

Several studies have examined the application of AnMBRs in the treatment of wastewaters with antibiotics [43, 82, 123–125]. Other types of wastewater treated using AnMBR were pharmaceutical effluents containing the non-steroidal antiinflammatory drug etodolac [102], and endocrine disruptor compounds [126]. Caffeine, which can also be qualified as an emerging contaminant, found in coffee processing effluents, was also found to be degraded using an AnMBR [127]. In that study, caffeine removal at 87.5 \pm 5.3% was achieved by methanogenesis degradation.

The performance of hybrid AnMBRs in the removal of emerging contaminants from wastewater has been investigated as well. The efficiency of an AnMBR with powdered activated carbon (PAC) in removing pharmaceutical compounds from wastewater was investigated by Xiao et al. [128]. In the latter work, the removal of trimethoprim, sulfamethoxazole (SMX), triclosan (TCS), diclofenac (DFC), and carbamazepine (CZ) was increased by the action of PAC in the modified AnMBR. The mechanisms of removal were adsorption and increased biotransformation of the compounds. Chen et al. [129] utilized a pilot-scale Staged Anaerobic Fluidized Membrane Bioreactor (SAnFMBR) to treat municipal wastewater containing ibuprofen, naproxen, CZ, and DFC. Naproxen was found to be removed more efficiently by the SAnFMBR compared to ibuprofen, CZ, and DC.

Another modified AnMBR with a downstream nano-filtration (NF) module was used to treat wastewater with 15 TrOCs, which included anticonvulsants, antibiotics, antidepressants, antibiotics, analgesic, antihistamine, flame retardants, insect repellents, herbicide, beta-blocker, and stimulant. The NF module improved the removal efficiency of TrOCs due to filtration and enhanced degradation because of increased retention by the concentrate recycle line from NF module to the AnMBR [130].

In these latter studies utilizing AnMBRs, the removal efficiency of the emerging contaminants by the anaerobic system was observed to be significantly influenced by the nature of the pollutants. Molecular structure, size, and charge affect the removal of emerging contaminants from water [120, 131]. In the recent studies, those that were more efficiently degraded by AnMBR were contaminants with strong electron donating groups such as amino functional groups (-NH₂, -NHR, -NR₂) [129, 130]. In another study [120], highly hydrophobic compounds such as triclosan, testosterone, androsterone, triclocarban, and nonylphenol were the TrOCs efficiently removed by an AnMBR due to sorption to sludge.

2.4.3 Emerging Contaminants Removal by eMBRs

Combined biodegradation, membrane filtration, and electrochemical processes make eMBRs viable for treatment of wastewater with emerging contaminants.

Removal of pharmaceuticals Amoxicillin (AMX), DCF, and CZ from wastewater using an eMBR was investigated by Borea et al. [49]. The application of electric field resulted in the enhanced removal of the pharmaceuticals due to the effects of electrocoagulation. The generation of the positively charged coagulant (Al³⁺) from the anode resulted in neutralization of the negatively charged pharmaceutical compounds. This resulted in the formation of agglomerates that adsorbed the small molecules of the pharmaceuticals. This led to the increase in the pharmaceutical compounds' rejection by the membrane filter.

Chen et al. [132] studied effects of electric field to a moving-bed membrane bioreactor (MMBR) for the treatment of wastewater with low-concentration SMX. Using the control MMBR (without electric field application), the SMX removal

efficiency was at 44%. The use of the electro MMBR favored the growth of the microorganisms *Actinobacteria* and *Gemmatimonadete*, which contributed to the degradation of SMX. This resulted in an increase in removal efficiency of SMX to 89%.

Tetracycline hydrochloride antibiotics removal using a coupled MBR and MFC was examined by Y. Li et al. [133]. In this type of MBR/MFC system, GAC doped with FeOOH/TiO₂ was utilized over the cathode membrane. The removal of tetracycline hydrochloride reached in this case up to 90%. This was attributed to the adsorption and bio-electrochemical catalytic reaction, specifically oxidation by \cdot OH released from oxygen reduction reactions.

3 Technologies for Energy-Harvesting Membrane Bioreactors

MBRs for wastewater treatment have been shown to have a potential to produce energy. This chapter discusses the performance of AnMBR and MBR-BES for simultaneous wastewater treatment and energy-harvesting.

3.1 Anaerobic Membrane Bioreactors

Anaerobic processes in an AnMBR produce gases, notably methane (CH₄) formed upon the degradation of organic matter present in the wastewater by anaerobic microorganisms called methanogens [134]. This production of gas makes the AnMBR a potential source of energy.

To examine the utility of this energy source, multiple studies of AnMBRs have examined the composition and quantity of biogas produced from these reactors. The theoretical amount of methane produced at standard temperature and pressure is 0.34 L CH_4 per 1 g COD removed [134]. Due to the dissolution of methane in the liquid and other losses in the process, actual yields are lower than this theoretical value (see Table 2).

Recovery of methane from AnMBRs is also influenced by the organic loading rate [77, 135], temperature [137, 139, 140], hydraulic retention time [73], sulfate concentration in the influent [141], and configuration of AnMBR.

Methane yields are typically reported as L of CH_4 per 1 g of COD removed [135]. Different configuration of AnMBRs was reported to obtain methane yield at a range of 0.13–0.33 L CH_4 per 1 g COD removed (see Table 2).

Recovery of the methane produced from the AnMBR is one way of reducing its net energy requirement. The biogas produced from AnMBRs has been used within the treatment system for mixing, suspension, and fouling control [73].

Reactor type	Wastewater treated	Influent COD, mg/L	Methane yield, L CH ₄ /g COD _{removed}	References
Submerged AnMBR	Meat processing wastewater	2050– 6,880	0.13–0.18	[135]
Submerged AnMBR	Municipal wastewater	320– 496	0.15-0.20	[136]
Submerged AnMBR with three-phase separator between bulk sludge and membrane module	Synthetic wastewater	-	0.28–0.29	[81]
Submerged AnMBR with mesh filter and carbon fiber	Synthetic wastewater	1,120	0.29	[112]
External AnMBR	Domestic wastewater	_	At 35°C: 0.30 At 20– 25°C: 0.24 At 15°C: 0.15	[137]
Single-stage AnFMBR	Low-strength synthetic wastewater	260	0.27 ^a	[110]
Submerged AnMBR	Malting wastewater	4,244– 5,130	0.14-0.28	[77]
External AnMBR with sludge recirculation ratio of 3	Synthetic wastewater	500	0.44	[84]
Anaerobic forward osmosis membrane bioreactor with MEC	Synthetic wastewater	2000	0.33 ^b	[138]

 Table 2
 Methane yields in different configurations of AnMBRs

 a Reported yield in moles CH_4/m^3 wastewater was converted to L CH_4/g COD $_{removed},$ assuming ideal gas at Standard Temperature and Pressure

 $^{\rm b}$ Reported yield in L CH₄/g COD_{in influent} was converted to L CH₄/g COD_{removed}, using the value of 86.1% COD removal

Smith et al. [83] reported that 40–50% of total methane produced by an AnMBR (operated at 15°C) was present as dissolved methane in the effluent. An average of 24% of the total methane produced was found to be dissolved in the effluent of a pilot-scale gas-sparged AnMBR operated at a temperature range of 12.7–31.5°C depending on the season. A common post-treatment process to recover the dissolved methane from the effluent is to use degassing membranes [83, 93, 142]. Longer solids retention time (40 days compared to 20 days) in an AnMBR was found to reduce the concentration of dissolved methane in the permeate and to increase the methane yield [143].

3.2 Membrane Bioreactors and Bio-Electrochemical Systems (MBR-BES)

Integration of membrane bioreactors with bio-electrochemical systems not only enhances the performance of MBRs in terms of pollutant removal and of membrane fouling mitigation but it also allows this type of MBR system to become a source of energy or to lower its net energy requirement [144].

There are two common types of bio-electrochemical systems, namely Microbial Fuel Cells (MFCs) and Microbial Electrolysis Cells (MECs). MFCs are designed to produce electricity from the degradation of organic matter by microorganisms through reduction-oxidation reactions [145, 146]. The production of electricity by the MFC is an advantage and may be used to reduce or meet the energy requirements of an MBR integrated with an MFC (MBR-MFC).

On the other hand, MECs use electrical power to enable the electrochemical reactions for hydrogen production. In an MFC, the hydrogen (H_2) gas is produced at the cathode [146, 147]. The production of this gas makes an MBR integrated with MEC (MBR-MEC) a potential source of alternative energy.

3.2.1 MBR Integrated with MFC

In an MFC, microorganisms break down organic matter through oxidation. The released electrons are transmitted to the anode. The electrons then flow to the cathode through an external circuit. This flow of electrons from the anode to the cathode produces electricity [145].

Different configurations are designed for MBRs combined with MFCs (Fig. 4ac), as discussed below. The configurations influence pollutant removal, membrane fouling mitigation, and even the energy production (Table 3).

In some studies, an external MFC is integrated with MBRs. In a study by D. Hou et al. [152], MFC was coupled with a submerged osmotic membrane bioreactor (OMBR) to simultaneously treat wastewater and produce energy. In this reactor, high salinity wastewater was pumped first to the MFC. The effluent of MFC is then sent to the OMBR. A portion of the solution inside the OMBR is recycled and mixed with the wastewater fed to the MFC. Coupling the MFC with an OMBR increased the power density from 3 W/m³ to 11.5 W/m³. This significant increase in power density was attributed to the increased conductivity of the solution fed to the MFC due to the recycle line from the OMBR. The MFC was also shown to reduce membrane fouling because it served as a pre-treatment stage of the wastewater before going to the OMBR.

The electricity produced from an MFC can be used for fouling control for MBRs. This was demonstrated in an integrated external MFC and anoxic-oxic eMBR [153]. In the hybrid reactor, wastewater was fed first into the anoxic reactor. The effluent of anoxic reactor flowed to the oxic reactor, which consisted of a membrane module and graphite electrodes. A separate MFC was fed with a portion of the



Fig. 4 Alternative configurations of MBR-BES. (a) Two-chamber MBR-MFC, membrane as cathode/membrane in cathode chamber (b) MBR-MFC with tubular cathode chamber, membrane in cathode chamber, (c) Two-stage MFC and AnFMBR, and (d) Anaerobic MBR-MEC, membrane as cathode

Reactor type	Reactor details: MFC electrodes	Wastewater	Energy produced	References
Over-flow type eMBR (MFC)	<i>Anode</i> : O ring carbon felt <i>Cathode</i> : SS mesh, also served as membrane with 38 μm pore size	Synthetic wastewater	Power density: 629 mW/m ³ or 7.18 mW/m ²	[148]
Anaerobic reactor and external AnMBR- MFC	First set-up: Anode: Filtering anode with SS filter plate Cathode: Platinum mesh Second set-up: Anode: Hybrid anode (PVDF membrane + SS mesh as support) Cathode: Platinum mesh	Synthetic brew- ery wastewater	Current den- sity: (1) Filtering anode: <1 A/ m ² (2) Hybrid anode: 2.48 A/ m ²	[144]
Combined submerged MBR and MFC	<i>Anode</i> : Iron <i>Cathode</i> : Conductive mem- brane modified by polypyrrole (base is poly- ester cloth)	Synthetic waste- water with con- ductivity of 0.41 mS/cm	Power density: 0.86-2.6 mW/ m^2 <i>Cell potential</i> : 0.2 V with 100Ω resistor	[149]
Combined submerged MBR and MFC	Anode: Granular graphite Cathode: Stainless-steel mesh which also served as the membrane with 40 µm pore size	Synthetic wastewater	Power density: 4.35 W/m ³ Current den- sity: 18.32 A/m ³ Coulombic efficiency: 8.2%	[150]
Submerged MBR and MFC	<i>Anode</i> : Activated carbon fiber <i>Cathode</i> : Carbon felt	Synthetic waste- water with COD of 400 mg/L	<i>Power density</i> : 6.0 W/m ³	[151]
External MFC and sub- merged OMBR	<i>Anode</i> : Carbon brush <i>Cathode</i> : Air-cathode	Synthetic high salinity wastewater	Power density: 11.5 W/m ³	[152]
External MFC and anoxic- oxic eMBR	<i>Anode</i> : Carbon felt <i>Cathode</i> : Carbon cloth	Synthetic wastewater	Cell potential: $0.52 \pm 0.02 V$ with 1,000 Ω resistor Electric field density: 0.114 V/cm	[153]

 Table 3 Different configurations of and energy produced from MBR-MFC

supernatant of the anoxic reactor. The electricity produced from this MFC was used to supplement the DC power for the electrodes in the oxic reactor. Although only a small portion of the wastewater COD (0.5%) was converted to electricity, it was used to mitigate fouling in the eMBR and reduce energy consumption of the system. In an MFC integrated with an AnFMBR, the energy consumption of the AnFMBR was

 0.0186 kWh/m^3 of effluent [154]. The energy demand was mostly for the fluidization of the GAC particles in the system (52.5% of the total energy requirement). In the latter study, the energy produced by the external MFC could supply 100% of the system's electrical energy requirement.

Other studies have utilized the configuration where the MFC and MBR are submerged in one vessel, as discussed in the following subsections.

MBR-MFC with Cathode as Membrane/Cathode in Membrane Chamber

MBR-MFC configurations can utilize the cathode serving either the membrane itself or it is located in the same chamber as the membrane (Fig. 4a, b). For example, Tian et al. [155] used an integrated AnMBR and MFC, in which the hollow-fiber membrane installed inside an SS frame served as the cathodic chamber, to treat wastewater and produce electricity. In another MBR integrated with MFC, a polypyrrole-modified filter functioned as the cathodic membrane [149].

Wang et al. [150] showed that both a conductive SS filter and the formed biofilm on it served as cathode for an MBR-MFC. The growth of biofilm on the SS mesh was shown to be significant in the context of electricity generation in the MBR-MFC. Microorganisms in the biofilm catalyzed the reduction of oxygen at the cathode membrane. This process resulted in a higher output voltage as the biofilm formed on the membrane in the reactor. However, the thickness of the biofilm also restricted oxygen transfer at the cathode, which resulted in a drop in the output voltage after some time of operation of the system.

MBR-MFC with Anode as Membrane/Anode in Membrane Chamber

A recently investigated MBR-MFCs configuration is one in which the anode is either the same material as the membrane or it is combined with the membrane. In the study of Kocatürk-Schumacher et al. [144], AnMBR was integrated with two designs of the microbial anode. The first one is a filter anode made of SS plate. The second one is a hybrid anode, in which an SS anode is combined with a PVDF membrane. Use of the SS anode obtained current density of $<1 \text{ A/m}^2$, while the hybrid anode obtained up to 2.48 A/m².

3.2.2 MBR Integrated with MEC

As discussed in Sect. 3.2, H_2 gas is produced in the cathode side of MECs. One way of harnessing this source of energy is to integrate AnMBRs with MECs to increase CH₄ production. A common configuration used for integrated AnMBRs with MECs is that in which the membrane is also used as the cathode material (Fig. 4d) [113, 114, 156]. The study by Katuri et al. [156] developed an AnMBR combined with an MEC (AnMBR-MEC), in which a porous nickel-based hollow-fiber membrane served as both the cathode and the membrane filter. The latter work examined simultaneous wastewater treatment and energy harvesting. In addition to a 95% COD reduction, a higher amount of CH₄, which was 71% of the energy based on substrate, was recovered from the AnMBR-MEC. This increase in gas yield was due to the conversion of H₂, which was produced in the cathode, into CH₄.

In another AnMBR-MEC study [113], novel carbon nanotube hollow-fiber membranes (CNTs-HFMs) were used as both the cathode and membrane. The CH₄ yield obtained was higher in this AnMBR-MEC compared to the AnMBRs without electrochemical assistance. The H₂ produced from the cathode was converted to CH₄, contributing to the higher yield. The electric field was observed to increase the growth rate of *Methanomicrobia* and hydrogenotrophic methanogens. These microorganisms aided in the breakdown of Volatile Fatty Acids (VFAs), resulting in more CH₄ produced.

A combined AnOMBR and MEC was used to treat wastewater and recover CH_4 [138]. The application of electric field to the AnOMBR increased the CH_4 yield by 11.04%. The electric field also enhanced the growth rate of H_2 -utilizing methanogens, and consequently increased CH_4 yield.

However, the study of Ding et al. [114] has also shown that excessively high voltage applied to an AnMBR could lead to lower COD removal and lower methane production. High voltage could result in destruction of cells of microorganisms, slowing down the processes of COD degradation and methane generation. The results of the study demonstrated the need for optimization of applied voltage in AnMBR-MECs. In this study by Ding et al. [114], the optimum voltage was found to be at 0.6 V.

4 Economic Feasibility of Currently Developed Membrane Bioreactors

The use of the advanced MBRs discussed in this review for enhanced pollutant removal and membrane fouling mitigation is promising. However, to obtain optimal performance and operational utility of such reactors, costs related to acquisition of new materials, energy consumption during operation, cleaning and maintenance of the system need to be accounted for. This section gives particular attention to the specific energy demand of the different advanced MBRs.

In AnMBRs, energy requirement is typically defined by the need to operate the pumps, and blowers for biogas sparging. In modified AnMBRs, additional requirements are associated with fluidization (such as in AnFMBRs), electricity to drive electrochemical reactions, or dissolved methane recovery [93, 110, 157]. In one pilot-scale gas-sparged AnMBR, the total energy demand per volume of treated wastewater was 0.349 kWh/m³, 48.7% of which was attributed to biogas sparging.

Reactor type	Energy requirement per volume of treated wastewater, kWh/m ³	Equivalent electrical energy generated from CH_4 produced, kWh/m^{3a}	Scale	Reference
AnFMBR with GAC	0.058	0.19	Laboratory- scale	[157]
AnFMBR with PVDF media	0.019	0.246	Laboratory- scale	[109]
AnFCMBR with GAC	0.0387	0.226	Laboratory- scale	[110]
Anaerobic fluid- ized reactor coupled with AnFMBR	0.047	0.082	Laboratory- scale	[158]
Downflow float- ing media filter (DFF) with AnMBR	0.05-0.13	0.22 ^b	Laboratory- scale	[88]
Gas-sparged AnMBR	0.349	0.254	Pilot-scale	[93]
Submerged AnMBR	At 35°C: 0.31–0.33 At 25°C: 0.19–0.58 At 15°C: 0.97	At 35°C: 0.42 At 25°C: 0.34 At 15°C: 0.17	Laboratory- scale	[137]

Table 4 Energy requirements and energy produced by different AnMBRs

^a This accounts for the efficiency of the conversion of CH₄ into electrical energy

^b This value reported by the researchers was assumed based on another prior study

In an AnFMBR studied by Kim et al. [157], the energy demand per volume of permeate was 0.058 kWh/m³. In the AnFCMBR investigated by [110], it was 0.039 kWh/m³. As seen in Table 4, the range of energy consumption of AnMBRs from previous studies is 0.019-0.97 kWh/m³. In comparison, full-scale conventional MBRs have been reported to consume 0.64–6.6 kWh/m³ [159–161]. In addition, the specific energy consumption in conventional activated sludge (CAS) treatment systems ranges from 0.1–2.9 kWh/m³ [161].

As discussed in the section on energy-harvesting MBRs, AnMBRs produce CH_4 gas which may be utilized to reduce the overall energy requirement of AnMBR systems. The electrical energy that can be generated from the CH_4 produced from the anaerobic process can supply 73% to more than 100% of the energy requirement of some previously studied AnMBR systems, as shown in Table 4. However, it can be noted that the current process of conversion of CH_4 to energy results in only a 21% efficiency due to the operational losses from the pumps, electric motors, and inverters [157].

No study has so far reported the specific energy consumption in SFDMBRs. As in conventional MBRs, the aeration of the mesh and activated sludge in an aerobic SFDMBR is a significant contributor to the energy requirement of the system. In an AnDMBR, this may be reduced via the use of the biogas that may be produced in the system. The main economic advantage of the SFDMBR over the conventional

MBRs is the use of low-cost support materials instead of the micro-filters and ultrafilters.

Previous studies of laboratory-scale aerobic eMBRs reported specific energy requirement for operation from 0.038 to 2.1 kWh/m³ of treated effluent [59, 162]. A pilot-scale aerobic submerged eMBR was also found to have a specific energy demand at a range of 1.1–1.6 kWh/m³ treated wastewater [163]. It is noted that in these aerobic eMBRs, the highest energy requirement is for aeration of the system. In an aerobic eMBR, the aeration energy requirement was reported to be more than 50% of the total energy requirement [59]. In the same study, only 4% of the total energy requirement was used to drive the electrochemical reactions.

An AnMBR-MEC, which was used to treat low-strength organic solution and produce methane and hydrogen, was found to have a specific energy demand of 0.23–0.62 kWh/m³ permeate [156]. However, this energy demand could be reduced by the energy recovered from the production of methane.

5 Challenges and Future Perspectives

Advanced MBRs are still continually being studied, with the objective of being able to apply these technologies on full-scale. The potential of SFDMBRs as a technology to treat wastewater with optimum pollutant removal and minimal costs has been shown in laboratory-scale studies. As of the time of writing of this review, there have been only a limited number of pilot-scale studies made on SFDMBRs [19, 164]. On the other hand, several pilot-scale AnMBRs have already been studied [73, 85, 93, 123, 165, 166]. A few full-scale AnMBR applications have been documented, notably in treatment of industrial wastewater from beverage industry [167] although its full-scale application on treatment of municipal wastewater has not yet been reported. Previous eMBR studies have been mostly on the laboratory scale [50]. Hasan et al. [163] investigated a pilot-scale submerged eMBR to treat raw municipal wastewater. Most integrated MBR-BES applications for wastewater treatment are also on the laboratory-scale [168].

There are current limitations of the advanced MBRs that still need to be addressed for these technologies to be suitable for larger scale applications. The limitations on the following aspects are given attention in this section: (a) pollutant removal, (b) membrane fouling, (c) energy demand and production.

Since the application of SFDMBRs in wastewater treatment is relatively in the nascent stage compared to MBR systems, further studies still must be made to achieve optimum pollutant removal. Areas of research on SFDMBRs that still need more consideration include removal of TrOCs, removal of pathogens, and further application using the anaerobic process.

AnMBRs have been demonstrated to achieve excellent COD removal from highstrength and low-strength wastewaters. Several emerging contaminants were also shown to be potentially removed by AnMBRs. However, as discussed in Sect. 2.3.1, AnMBR effluents tend to have high nutrient concentrations. The limitation of nutrient removal is also the same in AnDMBRs. With the need for a removal of nutrients after treatment with AnMBR or AnDMBR, optimum integration with other processes to obtain efficient pollutant removal and minimized costs need further studies.

Membrane fouling mitigation mechanisms in conventional MBRs include aeration, backwashing, modification of membrane properties, physical and chemical cleaning. In the advanced MBRs, membrane fouling mitigation strategies involve integration with other processes such as fluidization, use of fixed bed of packing material, and electrochemical processes. As previously presented, regulation of QS is a new approach in membrane fouling mitigation and the use of electric field as a QQ strategy has been recently studied. Further research on this new fouling reduction approach is also to be considered.

One significant concern on application of MBRs is the energy consumption. As discussed in Sect. 3, AnMBRs are utilized for simultaneous wastewater treatment and energy harvesting. The produced energy provides a potential to reduce the net energy requirement of the system. However, a concern is on the dissolved methane in the effluent, notably in psychrophilic operations. Post-treatment processes incur additional costs and complexity in system operations. Thus, optimization of parameters to reduce dissolved methane and increase methane yield should be considered in further studies.

One of the largest energy requirements in aerobic MBRs (such as in aerobic SFDMBRs and eMBRs) is the aeration of the bulk liquid and the membrane. With this, reduction of energy demand must be geared towards decreasing energy requirements due to aeration.

6 Conclusions

Advanced MBRS, including SFDMBRs, AnMBRs, eMBRs, and MBR-BES, have been developed to obtain efficient pollutant removal, reduced membrane fouling, and reduced net energy requirement.

Different mechanisms such as aerobic or anaerobic biodegradation, adsorption, electrochemical oxidation and reduction, electrocoagulation, and filtration are utilized by the advanced MBRs to remove pollutants from wastewater. Advanced MBRs have been demonstrated to not only remove conventional pollutants but also a wide range of emerging pollutants. Integration of advanced MBRs with other processes can further enhance the system's performance in pollutant removal and membrane fouling mitigation.

AnMBRs and MBR-BES are systems that can be used for simultaneous wastewater treatment and energy production. The energy produced in these MBRs can be utilized in these systems to reduce net energy requirements.

Use of advanced MBRs in large-scale applications is yet to be realized. The challenges that need to be addressed in future studies include poor nutrient removal in AnMBRs, reduced energy recovery in AnMBRs due to dissolved methane in

effluent, and high energy demand due to aeration requirements in aerobic advanced MBRs.

Acknowledgements The authors would like to express their sincere gratitude to the support from (a) Sanitary Environmental Engineering Division (SEED) and grants (FARB projects) from University of Salerno coordinated by prof. V. Naddeo; (b) University of the Philippines Diliman and the Engineering Research and Development for Technology (ERDT) through the Department of Science and Technology Philippines.

References

- 1. Judd S (2008) The status of membrane bioreactor technology. Trends Biotechnol 26(2): 109–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2007.11.005
- Akamatsu K, Lu W, Sugawara T, Nakao S (2010) Development of a novel fouling suppression system in membrane bioreactors using an intermittent electric field. Water Res 44(3):825–830. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2009.10.026
- Song X, Liu R, Chen L, Kawagishi T (2017) Comparative experiment on treating digested piggery wastewater with a biofilm MBR and conventional MBR: simultaneous removal of nitrogen and antibiotics. Front Environ Sci Eng 11(2):11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11783-017-0919-5
- Huang X, Liu R, Qian Y (2000) Behaviour of soluble microbial products in a membrane bioreactor. Process Biochem 36(5):401–406. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0032-9592(00)00206-5
- Kimura K, Nishisako R, Miyoshi T, Shimada R, Watanabe Y (2008) Baffled membrane bioreactor (BMBR) for efficient nutrient removal from municipal wastewater. Water Res 42(3):625–632. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2007.08.012
- Radjenovic J, Petrovic M, Barceló D (2007) Analysis of pharmaceuticals in wastewater and removal using a membrane bioreactor. Anal Bioanal Chem 387(4):1365–1377. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00216-006-0883-6
- Wang Z, Wu Z, Tang S (2009) Extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) properties and their effects on membrane fouling in a submerged membrane bioreactor. Water Res 43(9): 2504–2512. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2009.02.026
- Prasertkulsak S, Chiemchaisri C, Chiemchaisri W, Itonaga T, Yamamoto K (2016) Removals of pharmaceutical compounds from hospital wastewater in membrane bioreactor operated under short hydraulic retention time. Chemosphere 150:624–631. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2016.01.031
- 9. Hu JY, Chen X, Tao G, Kekred K (2007) Fate of endocrine disrupting compounds in membrane bioreactor systems. Environ Sci Technol 41(11):4097–4102. https://doi.org/10. 1021/es062695v
- Le T-H, Ng C, Tran NH, Chen H, Gin KY-H (2018) Removal of antibiotic residues, antibiotic resistant bacteria and antibiotic resistance genes in municipal wastewater by membrane bioreactor systems. Water Res 145:498–508. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.08.060
- Guo W, Ngo H-H, Li J (2012) A mini-review on membrane fouling. Bioresour Technol 122: 27–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.04.089
- Ahmar Siddiqui M, Dai J, Guan D, Chen G (2019) Exploration of the formation of selfforming dynamic membrane in an upflow anaerobic sludge blanket reactor. Sep Purif Technol 212:757–766. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seppur.2018.11.065
- Fan B, Huang X (2002) Characteristics of a self-forming dynamic membrane coupled with a bioreactor for municipal wastewater treatment. Environ Sci Technol 36(23):5245–5251. https://doi.org/10.1021/es025789n

- Huang J, Wu X, Cai D, Chen G, Li D, Yu Y, Petrik LF, Liu G (2019) Linking solids retention time to the composition, structure, and hydraulic resistance of biofilms developed on support materials in dynamic membrane bioreactors. J Membr Sci 581:158–167. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.memsci.2019.03.033
- Sun F, Zhang N, Li F, Wang X, Zhang J, Song L, Liang S (2018) Dynamic analysis of selfforming dynamic membrane (SFDM) filtration in submerged anaerobic bioreactor: performance, characteristic, and mechanism. Bioresour Technol 270:383–390. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biortech.2018.09.003
- Hou D, Lu L, Sun D, Ge Z, Huang Z, Cath TY, Ren ZJ (2017) Microbial electrochemical nutrient recovery in anaerobic osmotic membrane bioreactors. Water Res 114:181–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.02.034
- Vergine P, Salerno C, Berardi G, Pollice A (2018) Sludge cake and biofilm formation as valuable tools in wastewater treatment by coupling Integrated Fixed-film Activated Sludge (IFAS) with Self Forming Dynamic Membrane BioReactors (SFD-MBR). Bioresour Technol 268:121–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.07.120
- Salerno C, Vergine P, Berardi G, Pollice A (2017) Influence of air scouring on the performance of a Self Forming Dynamic Membrane BioReactor (SFD MBR) for municipal wastewater treatment. Bioresour Technol 223:301–306. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.10.054
- Guan D, Fung WC, Lau F, Deng C, Leung A, Dai J, Chen GH (2014) Pilot trial study of a compact macro-filtration membrane bioreactor process for saline wastewater treatment. Water Sci Technol 70(1):120–126. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2014.180
- Wang Y-K, Sheng G-P, Li W-W, Yu H-Q (2012) A pilot investigation into membrane bioreactor using mesh filter for treating low-strength municipal wastewater. Bioresour Technol 122:17–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.04.020
- Rezvani F, Mehrnia MR, Poostchi AA (2014) Optimal operating strategies of SFDM formation for MBR application. Sep Purif Technol 124:124–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seppur. 2014.01.028
- 22. Sabaghian M, Mehrnia MR, Esmaieli M, Noormohammadi D (2018) Formation and performance of self-forming dynamic membrane (SFDM) in membrane bioreactor (MBR) for treating low-strength wastewater. Water Sci Technol 78(4):904–912. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2018.368
- 23. Guan D, Dai J, Watanabe Y, Chen G (2018) Changes in the physical properties of the dynamic layer and its correlation with permeate quality in a self-forming dynamic membrane bioreactor. Water Res 140:67–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.04.041
- 24. Hu D, Xu J, Chen Z, Wu P, Wang Z, Wang P, Xiao T, Su H, Li X, Wang H, Zhang Y (2017) Performance of a pilot split-type anaerobic membrane bioreactor (AnMBR) treating antibiotics solvent wastewater at low temperatures. Chem Eng J 325:502–512. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cej.2017.05.086
- Liang S, Qu L, Meng F, Han X, Zhang J (2013) Effect of sludge properties on the filtration characteristics of self-forming dynamic membranes (SFDMs) in aerobic bioreactors: formation time, filtration resistance, and fouling propensity. J Membr Sci 436:186–194. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.memsci.2013.02.021
- Alibardi L, Bernava N, Cossu R, Spagni A (2016) Anaerobic dynamic membrane bioreactor for wastewater treatment at ambient temperature. Chem Eng J 284:130–138. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cej.2015.08.111
- Berkessa YW, Yan B, Li T, Jegatheesan V, Zhang Y (2020) Treatment of anthraquinone dye textile wastewater using anaerobic dynamic membrane bioreactor: performance and microbial dynamics. Chemosphere 238:124539. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.124539
- Ersahin ME, Tao Y, Ozgun H, Gimenez JB, Spanjers H, van Lier JB (2017) Impact of anaerobic dynamic membrane bioreactor configuration on treatment and filterability performance. J Membr Sci 526:387–394. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2016.12.057

- 29. Zhu Y, Cao L, Wang Y (2019) Characteristics of a self-forming dynamic membrane coupled with a bioreactor in application of anammox processes. Environ Sci Technol 53(22): 13158–13167. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b04314
- Saleem M, Lavagnolo MC, Concheri G, Stevanato P, Squartini A, Spagni A (2018) Application of anaerobic dynamic membrane bioreactor (AnDMBR) for the successful enrichment of anammox bacteria using mixed anaerobic and aerobic seed sludge. Bioresour Technol 266: 532–540. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.06.100
- Meng F, Su G, Hu Y, Lu H, Huang L-N, Chen G-H (2014) Improving nitrogen removal in an ANAMMOX reactor using a permeable reactive biobarrier. Water Res 58:82–91. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.watres.2014.03.049
- Wu Y, Huang X, Wen X, Chen F (2005) Function of dynamic membrane in self-forming dynamic membrane coupled bioreactor. Water Sci Technol 51(6–7):107–114. https://doi.org/ 10.2166/wst.2005.0628
- 33. Paçal M, Semerci N, Çallı B (2019) Treatment of synthetic wastewater and cheese whey by the anaerobic dynamic membrane bioreactor. Environ Sci Pollut Res 26(32):32942–32956. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-019-06397-z
- 34. Vergine P, Salerno C, Berardi G, Pappagallo G, Pollice A (2019) The Self-Forming Dynamic Membrane BioReactor (SFD MBR) as a suitabletechnology for agro-industrial wastewater treatment. New Biotechnol 56:87–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.10.0540960-8524/
- 35. Hu Y, Wang XC, Tian W, Ngo HH, Chen R (2016) Towards stable operation of a dynamic membrane bioreactor (DMBR): operational process, behavior and retention effect of dynamic membrane. J Membr Sci 498:20–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2015.10.009
- 36. Ersahin ME, Ozgun H, van Lier JB (2013) Effect of support material properties on dynamic membrane filtration performance. Sep Sci Technol 48(15):2263–2269. https://doi.org/10. 1080/01496395.2013.804840
- 37. Isik O, Hudayarizka R, Abdelrahman AM, Ozgun H, Ersahin ME, Demir I, Koyuncu I (2020) Impact of support material type on performance of dynamic membrane bioreactors treating municipal wastewater. J Chem Technol Biotechnol. https://doi.org/10.1002/jctb.6426
- Cai D, Huang J, Liu G, Li M, Yu Y, Meng F (2018) Effect of support material pore size on the filtration behavior of dynamic membrane bioreactor. Bioresour Technol 255:359–363. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.02.007
- 39. Yurtsever A, Basaran E, Ucar D (2020) Process optimization and filtration performance of an anaerobic dynamic membrane bioreactor treating textile wastewaters. J Environ Manag 273: 111114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2020.111114
- 40. Siddiqui MA, Dai J, Luo Y, Chen G (2020) Investigation of the short-term effects of extracellular polymeric substance accumulation with different backwashing strategies in an anaerobic self-forming dynamic membrane bioreactor. Water Res 185:116283. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.watres.2020.116283
- 41. van de Graaf AA, de Bruijn P, Robertson LA, Jetten MSM, Kuenen JG (1996) Autotrophic growth of anaerobic ammonium-oxidizing micro-organisms in a fluidized bed reactor. Microbiology 142(8):2187–2196. https://doi.org/10.1099/13500872-142-8-2187
- 42. Strous M, Heijnen JJ, Kuenen JG, Jetten MSM (1998) The sequencing batch reactor as a powerful tool for the study of slowly growing anaerobic ammonium-oxidizing microorganisms. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 50(5):589–596. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002530051340
- 43. Hou C, Shen J, Zhang D, Han Y, Ma D, Sun X, Li J, Han W, Wang L, Liu X (2017) Bioaugmentation of a continuous-flow self-forming dynamic membrane bioreactor for the treatment of wastewater containing high-strength pyridine. Environ Sci Pollut Res 24(4): 3437–3447. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-016-8121-z
- 44. Hu Y, Yang Y, Wang XC, Hao Ngo H, Sun Q, Li S, Tang J, Yu Z (2017) Effects of powdered activated carbon addition on filtration performance and dynamic membrane layer properties in a hybrid DMBR process. Chem Eng J 327:39–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2017.06.072

- 45. Hu Y, Zang Y, Yang Y, Duan A, Wang XC, Ngo HH, Li Y-Y, Du R (2020) Zero-valent iron addition in anaerobic dynamic membrane bioreactors for preconcentrated wastewater treatment: performance and impact. Sci Total Environ 742:140687. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2020.140687
- 46. Zhang X, Wang Z, Wu Z, Lu F, Tong J, Zang L (2010) Formation of dynamic membrane in an anaerobic membrane bioreactor for municipal wastewater treatment. Chem Eng J 165(1): 175–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2010.09.013
- Jeison D, Días I, van Lier JB (2008) Anaerobic membrane bioreactors: are membranes really necessary? Electron J Biotechnol 11(4). https://doi.org/10.2225/vol11-issue4-fulltext-9
- Bani-Melhem K, Elektorowicz M (2011) Performance of the submerged membrane electrobioreactor (SMEBR) with iron electrodes for wastewater treatment and fouling reduction. J Membr Sci 379(1–2):434–439. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2011.06.017
- 49. Borea L, Ensano BMB, Hasan SW, Balakrishnan M, Belgiorno V, de Luna MDG, Ballesteros FC, Naddeo V (2019) Are pharmaceuticals removal and membrane fouling in electromembrane bioreactor affected by current density? Sci Total Environ 692:732–740. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.07.149
- Ensano BMB, Borea L, Naddeo V, Belgiorno V, de Luna MDG, Ballesteros FC (2016) Combination of electrochemical processes with membrane bioreactors for wastewater treatment and fouling control: a review. Front Environ Sci 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2016. 00057
- Zeyoudi M, Altenaiji E, Ozer LY, Ahmed I, Yousef AF, Hasan SW (2015) Impact of continuous and intermittent supply of electric field on the function and microbial community of wastewater treatment electro-bioreactors. Electrochim Acta 181:271–279. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.electacta.2015.04.095
- Chen J-P, Yang C-Z, Zhou J-H, Wang X-Y (2007) Study of the influence of the electric field on membrane flux of a new type of membrane bioreactor. Chem Eng J 128(2–3):177–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2006.10.010
- Bani-Melhem K, Elektorowicz M (2010) Development of a novel submerged membrane electro-bioreactor (SMEBR): performance for fouling reduction. Environ Sci Technol 44(9): 3298–3304. https://doi.org/10.1021/es902145g
- 54. Liu L, Liu J, Gao B, Yang F (2012) Minute electric field reduced membrane fouling and improved performance of membrane bioreactor. Sep Purif Technol 86:106–112. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.seppur.2011.10.030
- 55. Bani-Melhem K, Smith E (2012) Grey water treatment by a continuous process of an electrocoagulation unit and a submerged membrane bioreactor system. Chem Eng J 198–199:201–210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2012.05.065
- 56. Jiang B, Zeng Q, Hou Y, Li H, Liu J, Xu J, Shi S, Ma F (2020) Impacts of long-term electric field applied on the membrane fouling mitigation and shifts of microbial communities in EMBR for treating phenol wastewater. Sci Total Environ 716:137139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.137139
- 57. Tafti AD, Seyyed Mirzaii SM, Andalibi MR, Vossoughi M (2015) Optimized coupling of an intermittent DC electric field with a membrane bioreactor for enhanced effluent quality and hindered membrane fouling. Sep Purif Technol 152:7–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seppur. 2015.07.004
- Belli TJ, Battistelli AA, Costa RE, Vidal CMS, Schlegel AE, Lapolli FR (2019) Evaluating the performance and membrane fouling of an electro-membrane bioreactor treating textile industrial wastewater. Int J Environ Sci Technol 16(11):6817–6826. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13762-019-02245-2
- 59. Yang Y, Qiao S, Jin R, Zhou J, Quan X (2019) A novel aerobic electrochemical membrane bioreactor with CNTs hollow fiber membrane by electrochemical oxidation to improve water quality and mitigate membrane fouling. Water Res 151:54–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. watres.2018.12.012
- Kurtoğlu Akkaya G, Bilgili MS (2020) Evaluating the performance of an electro-membrane bioreactor in treatment of young leachate. J Environ Chem Eng 8(4):104017. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jece.2020.104017
- 61. Zhang J, Satti A, Chen X, Xiao K, Sun J, Yan X, Liang P, Zhang X, Huang X (2015) Low-voltage electric field applied into MBR for fouling suppression: performance and mechanisms. Chem Eng J 273:223–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2015.03.044
- Ergön-Can T, Köse-Mutlu B, Koyuncu İ, Lee C-H (2017) Biofouling control based on bacterial quorum quenching with a new application: rotary microbial carrier frame. J Membr Sci 525:116–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2016.10.036
- 63. Khan M, Khan SJ, Hasan SW (2019) Quorum sensing control and wastewater treatment in quorum quenching/submerged membrane electro-bioreactor (SMEBR(QQ)) hybrid system. Biomass Bioenergy 128:105329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2019.105329
- 64. Ouyang Y, Hu Y, Huang J, Gu Y, Shi Y, Yi K, Yang Y (2020) Effects of exogenous quorum quenching on microbial community dynamics and biofouling propensity of activated sludge in MBRs. Biochem Eng J 157:107534. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2020.107534
- Borea L, Naddeo V, Belgiorno V, Choo K-H (2018) Control of quorum sensing signals and emerging contaminants in electrochemical membrane bioreactors. Bioresour Technol 269:89– 95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.08.041
- 66. Jiang W, Xia S, Liang J, Zhang Z, Hermanowicz SW (2013) Effect of quorum quenching on the reactor performance, biofouling and biomass characteristics in membrane bioreactors. Water Res 47(1):187–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2012.09.050
- 67. Oh H-S, Tan CH, Low JH, Rzechowicz M, Siddiqui MF, Winters H, Kjelleberg S, Fane AG, Rice SA (2017) Quorum quenching bacteria can be used to inhibit the biofouling of reverse osmosis membranes. Water Res 112:29–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.01.028
- Lee J, Won Y-J, Choi D-C, Lee S, Park P-K, Choo K-H, Oh H-S, Lee C-H (2019) Micropatterned membranes with enzymatic quorum quenching activity to control biofouling in an MBR for wastewater treatment. J Membr Sci 592:117365. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci. 2019.117365
- 69. Maaz M, Yasin M, Aslam M, Kumar G, Atabani AE, Idrees M, Anjum F, Jamil F, Ahmad R, Khan AL, Lesage G, Heran M, Kim J (2019) Anaerobic membrane bioreactors for wastewater treatment: novel configurations, fouling control and energy considerations. Bioresour Technol 283:358–372. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2019.03.061
- Musa M, Idrus S, Che Man H, Nik Daud N (2018) Wastewater treatment and biogas recovery using anaerobic membrane bioreactors (AnMBRs): strategies and achievements. Energies 11(7):1675. https://doi.org/10.3390/en11071675
- Skouteris G, Hermosilla D, López P, Negro C, Blanco Á (2012) Anaerobic membrane bioreactors for wastewater treatment: a review. Chem Eng J 198–199:138–148. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cej.2012.05.070
- 72. Diez V, Iglesias A, Cámara JM, Ruiz MO, Ramos C (2018) A novel anaerobic filter membrane bioreactor: prototype start-up and filtration assays. Water Sci Technol 78(9):1833–1842. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2018.309
- 73. Chen Z, Li X, Hu D, Cui Y, Gu F, Jia F, Xiao T, Su H, Xu J, Wang H, Wu P, Zhang Y, Jiang N (2018) Performance and methane fermentation characteristics of a pilot scale anaerobic membrane bioreactor (AnMBR) for treating pharmaceutical wastewater containing m-cresol (MC) and iso-propyl alcohol (IPA). Chemosphere 206:750–758. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2018.05.008
- 74. Hufnagel D, Chang S, Hong Y, Wu P, Zytner RG (2015) Anaerobic membrane bioreactor for high-strength wastewater treatment: batch and continuous operation comparison. J Water Reuse Desalin 5(2):95–103. https://doi.org/10.2166/wrd.2015.058
- 75. Jensen PD, Yap SD, Boyle-Gotla A, Janoschka J, Carney C, Pidou M, Batstone DJ (2015) Anaerobic membrane bioreactors enable high rate treatment of slaughterhouse wastewater. Biochem Eng J 97:132–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2015.02.009

- Mahmoud I, Gao WJ, Liao BQ, Cumin J, Dagnew M, Hong Y (2018) Development of a highrate submerged anaerobic membrane bioreactor. Environ Technol 39(5):640–650. https://doi. org/10.1080/09593330.2017.1309076
- 77. Maleki E, Bokhary A, Leung K, Liao BQ (2019) Long-term performance of a submerged anaerobic membrane bioreactor treating malting wastewater at room temperature (23 ± 1 °C). J Environ Chem Eng 7(4):103269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jece.2019.103269
- 78. Huang Z, Ong SL, Ng HY (2011) Submerged anaerobic membrane bioreactor for low-strength wastewater treatment: effect of HRT and SRT on treatment performance and membrane fouling. Water Res 45(2):705–713. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2010.08.035
- 79. Mei X, Wang Z, Miao Y, Wu Z (2018) A pilot-scale anaerobic membrane bioreactor under short hydraulic retention time for municipal wastewater treatment: performance and microbial community identification. J Water Reuse Desalin 8(1):58–67. https://doi.org/10.2166/wrd. 2017.164
- Wang Z, Ye S, Wu Z, Tang S (2010) Application of anaerobic membrane bioreactor to the treatment of low-strength municipal wastewater. In: 2010 4th International conference on bioinformatics and biomedical engineering, pp 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICBBE.2010. 5518308
- Berkessa YW, Yan B, Li T, Tan M, She Z, Jegatheesan V, Jiang H, Zhang Y (2018) Novel anaerobic membrane bioreactor (AnMBR) design for wastewater treatment at long HRT and high solid concentration. Bioresour Technol 250:281–289. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech. 2017.11.025
- Do MT, Stuckey DC (2019) Fate and removal of ciprofloxacin in an anaerobic membrane bioreactor (AnMBR). Bioresour Technol 289:121683. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech. 2019.121683
- Smith AL, Skerlos SJ, Raskin L (2013) Psychrophilic anaerobic membrane bioreactor treatment of domestic wastewater. Water Res 47(4):1655–1665. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres. 2012.12.028
- 84. Aslam A, Khan SJ, Shahzad HMA (2019) Impact of sludge recirculation ratios on the performance of anaerobic membrane bioreactor for wastewater treatment. Bioresour Technol 288:121473. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2019.121473
- Foglia A, Akyol Ç, Frison N, Katsou E, Eusebi AL, Fatone F (2020) Long-term operation of a pilot-scale anaerobic membrane bioreactor (AnMBR) treating high salinity low loaded municipal wastewater in real environment. Sep Purif Technol 236:116279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. seppur.2019.116279
- Sung H-N, Katsou E, Statiris E, Anguilano L, Malamis S (2019) Operation of a modified anaerobic baffled reactor coupled with a membrane bioreactor for the treatment of municipal wastewater in Taiwan. Environ Technol 40(10):1233–1238. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 09593330.2017.1420102
- Martin Vincent N, Tong J, Yu D, Zhang J, Wei Y (2018) Membrane fouling characteristics of a side-stream tubular anaerobic membrane bioreactor (AnMBR) treating domestic wastewater. PRO 6(5):50. https://doi.org/10.3390/pr6050050
- Seib MD, Berg KJ, Zitomer DH (2016) Low energy anaerobic membrane bioreactor for municipal wastewater treatment. J Membr Sci 514:450–457. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. memsci.2016.05.007
- Lin H, Peng W, Zhang M, Chen J, Hong H, Zhang Y (2013) A review on anaerobic membrane bioreactors: applications, membrane fouling and future perspectives. Desalination 314:169– 188. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.desal.2013.01.019
- 90. Zhou Z, Tao Y, Zhang S, Xiao Y, Meng F, Stuckey DC (2019) Size-dependent microbial diversity of sub-visible particles in a submerged anaerobic membrane bioreactor (SAnMBR): implications for membrane fouling. Water Res 159:20–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres. 2019.04.050
- 91. Chen C, Guo W, Ngo HH, Chang SW, Duc Nguyen D, Dan Nguyen P, Bui XT, Wu Y (2017) Impact of reactor configurations on the performance of a granular anaerobic membrane

bioreactor for municipal wastewater treatment. Int Biodeterior Biodegradation 121:131–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibiod.2017.03.021

- 92. Baek SH, Pagilla KR, Kim H-J (2010) Lab-scale study of an anaerobic membrane bioreactor (AnMBR) for dilute municipal wastewater treatment. Biotechnol Bioprocess Eng 15(4): 704–708. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12257-009-0194-9
- 93. Lim K, Evans PJ, Parameswaran P (2019) Long-term performance of a pilot-scale gas-sparged anaerobic membrane bioreactor under ambient temperatures for holistic wastewater treatment. Environ Sci Technol 53:7347–7354. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b06198
- 94. Priya KS, Burman I, Tarafdar A, Sinha A (2019) Impact of ammonia nitrogen on COD removal efficiency in anaerobic hybrid membrane bioreactor treating synthetic leachate. Int J Environ Res 13(1):59–65. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41742-018-0153-4
- 95. Seco A, Mateo O, Zamorano-López N, Sanchis-Perucho P, Serralta J, Martí N, Borrás L, Ferrer J (2018) Exploring the limits of anaerobic biodegradability of urban wastewater by AnMBR technology. Environ Sci Water Res Technol 4(11):1877–1887. https://doi.org/10. 1039/C8EW00313K
- 96. Vu MT, Vu HP, Nguyen LN, Semblante GU, Johir MAH, Nghiem LD (2020) A hybrid anaerobic and microalgal membrane reactor for energy and microalgal biomass production from wastewater. Environ Technol Innov 19:100834. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eti.2020. 100834
- 97. Deng Q, Dhar BR, Elbeshbishy E, Lee H-S (2014) Ammonium nitrogen removal from the permeates of anaerobic membrane bioreactors: economic regeneration of exhausted zeolite. Environ Technol 35(16):2008–2017. https://doi.org/10.1080/09593330.2014.889759
- He C, Yang C, Yuan S, Hu Z, Wang W (2020) Effects of sludge retention time on the performance of anaerobic ceramic membrane bioreactor treating high-strength phenol wastewater. Archaea 2020:1–10. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/8895321
- 99. Charfi A, Ben Amar N, Harmand J (2012) Analysis of fouling mechanisms in anaerobic membrane bioreactors. Water Res 46(8):2637–2650. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2012. 02.021
- 100. Liu Y, Liu H, Cui L, Zhang K (2012) The ratio of food-to-microorganism (F/M) on membrane fouling of anaerobic membrane bioreactors treating low-strength wastewater. Desalination 297:97–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.desal.2012.04.026
- 101. Lin HJ, Xie K, Mahendran B, Bagley DM, Leung KT, Liss SN, Liao BQ (2009) Sludge properties and their effects on membrane fouling in submerged anaerobic membrane bioreactors (SAnMBRs). Water Res 43(15):3827–3837. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2009. 05.025
- 102. Kaya Y, Bacaksiz AM, Bayrak H, Vergili I, Gönder ZB, Hasar H, Yilmaz G (2019) Investigation of membrane fouling in ananaerobic membrane bioreactor (AnMBR) treating pharmaceutical wastewater. J Water Process Eng 31:100822. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jwpe.2019. 100822
- 103. Liu Z, Zhu X, Liang P, Zhang X, Kimura K, Huang X (2019) Distinction between polymeric and ceramic membrane in AnMBR treating municipal wastewater: in terms of irremovable fouling. J Membr Sci 588:117229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2019.117229
- 104. Lin HJ, Xie K, Mahendran B, Bagley DM, Leung KT, Liss SN, Liao BQ (2010) Factors affecting sludge cake formation in a submerged anaerobic membrane bioreactor. J Membr Sci 361(1–2):126–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2010.05.062
- 105. Zhou Z, Tan Y, Xiao Y, Stuckey DC (2016) Characterization and significance of sub-visible particles and colloids in a submerged anaerobic membrane bioreactor (SAnMBR). Environ Sci Technol 50(23):12750–12758. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b03581
- 106. Fox RA, Stuckey DC (2015) The effect of sparging rate on transmembrane pressure and critical flux in an AnMBR. J Environ Manag 151:280–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman. 2014.08.011

- 107. Mahmoud I, Liao B (2017) Effects of sludge concentration and biogas sparging rate on critical flux in a submerged anaerobic membrane bioreactor. J Water Process Eng 20:51–60. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jwpe.2017.09.012
- 108. Li N, Hu Y, Lu Y-Z, Zeng RJ, Sheng G-P (2016) In-situ biogas sparging enhances the performance of an anaerobic membrane bioreactor (AnMBR) with mesh filter in low-strength wastewater treatment. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 100(13):6081–6089. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00253-016-7455-2
- 109. Kim M, Lam TYC, Tan G-YA, Lee P-H, Kim J (2020) Use of polymeric scouring agent as fluidized media in anaerobic fluidized bed membrane bioreactor for wastewater treatment: system performance and microbial community. J Membr Sci 606:118121. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.memsci.2020.118121
- 110. Aslam M, McCarty PL, Shin C, Bae J, Kim J (2017) Low energy single-staged anaerobic fluidized bed ceramic membrane bioreactor (AFCMBR) for wastewater treatment. Bioresour Technol 240:33–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.03.017
- 111. Lim M, Ahmad R, Guo J, Tibi F, Kim M, Kim J (2019) Removals of micropollutants in staged anaerobic fluidized bed membrane bioreactor for low-strength wastewater treatment. Process Saf Environ Prot 127:162–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psep.2019.05.004
- 112. Li N, He L, Lu Y-Z, Zeng RJ, Sheng G-P (2017) Robust performance of a novel anaerobic biofilm membrane bioreactor with mesh filter and carbon fiber (ABMBR) for low to high strength wastewater treatment. Chem Eng J 313:56–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2016. 12.073
- 113. Yang Y, Qiao S, Jin R, Zhou J, Quan X (2019) Novel anaerobic electrochemical membrane bioreactor with a CNTs hollow fiber membrane cathode to mitigate membrane fouling and enhance energy recovery. Environ Sci Technol 53(2):1014–1021. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs. est.8b05186
- 114. Ding A, Yang Y, Sun G, Wu D (2016) Impact of applied voltage on methane generation and microbial activities in an anaerobic microbial electrolysis cell (MEC). Chem Eng J 283:260– 265. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2015.07.054
- 115. da Silva AK, Amador J, Cherchi C, Miller SM, Morse AN, Pellegrin M-L, Wells MJM (2013) Emerging pollutants – part I: occurrence, fate and transport. Water Environ Res 85(10): 1978–2021. https://doi.org/10.2175/106143013X13698672323065
- 116. Poynton HC, Robinson WE (2018) Contaminants of emerging concern, with an emphasis on nanomaterials and pharmaceuticals. In: Green chemistry. Elsevier, pp 291–315. https://doi. org/10.1016/B978-0-12-809270-5.00012-1
- 117. Wilkinson J, Hooda PS, Barker J, Barton S, Swinden J (2017) Occurrence, fate and transformation of emerging contaminants in water: an overarching review of the field. Environ Pollut 231:954–970. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2017.08.032
- 118. Gao Q, Wang L, Li Z, Xie Y, He Q, Wang Y (2019) Adsorptive removal of pyridine in simulation wastewater using coke powder. PRO 7(7):459. https://doi.org/10.3390/pr7070459
- 119. Hou C, Shen J, Jiang X, Zhang D, Sun X, Li J, Han W, Liu X, Wang L (2018) Enhanced anoxic biodegradation of pyridine coupled to nitrification in an inner loop anoxic/oxicdynamic membrane bioreactor (A/O-DMBR). Bioresour Technol 267:626–633. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.07.105
- 120. Monsalvo VM, McDonald JA, Khan SJ, Le-Clech P (2014) Removal of trace organics by anaerobic membrane bioreactors. Water Res 49:103–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres. 2013.11.026
- 121. Wijekoon KC, McDonald JA, Khan SJ, Hai FI, Price WE, Nghiem LD (2015) Development of a predictive framework to assess the removal of trace organic chemicals by anaerobic membrane bioreactor. Bioresour Technol 189:391–398. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech. 2015.04.034
- 122. Lim M, Patureau D, Heran M, Lesage G, Kim J (2020) Removal of organic micropollutants in anaerobic membrane bioreactors in wastewater treatment: critical review. Environ Sci Water Res Technol 6(5):1230–1243. https://doi.org/10.1039/C9EW01058K

- 123. Huang B, Wang H-C, Cui D, Zhang B, Chen Z-B, Wang A-J (2018) Treatment of pharmaceutical wastewater containing β-lactams antibiotics by a pilot-scale anaerobic membrane bioreactor (AnMBR). Chem Eng J 341:238–247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2018.01.149
- 124. Ng KK, Shi X, Ng HY (2015) Evaluation of system performance and microbial communities of a bioaugmented anaerobic membrane bioreactor treating pharmaceutical wastewater. Water Res 81:311–324. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2015.05.033
- 125. Wei C-H, Sanchez-Huerta C, Leiknes T, Amy G, Zhou H, Hu X, Fang Q, Rong H (2019) Removal and biotransformation pathway of antibiotic sulfamethoxazole from municipal wastewater treatment by anaerobic membrane bioreactor. J Hazard Mater 380:120894. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2019.120894
- 126. Abargues MR, Ferrer J, Bouzas A, Seco A (2018) Fate of endocrine disruptor compounds in an anaerobic membrane bioreactor (AnMBR) coupled to an activated sludge reactor. Environ Sci Water Res Technol 4:226–233. https://doi.org/10.1039/c7ew00382j
- 127. Chen R, Jiang H, Li Y-Y (2017) Caffeine degradation by methanogenesis: efficiency in anaerobic membrane bioreactor and analysis of kinetic behavior. Chem Eng J 334:444–452. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2017.10.052
- 128. Xiao Y, Yaohari A, De Araojo C, Sze CC, Stuckey DC (2017) Removal of selected pharmaceuticals in an Anaerobic Membrane BioReactor (AnMBR) with/without powdered activated carbon (PAC). Chem Eng J. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2017.03.118
- 129. Chen W-H, Wong Y-T, Huang T-H, Chen W-H, Lin J-G (2019) Removals of pharmaceuticals in municipal wastewater using a staged anaerobic fluidized membrane bioreactor. Int Biodeterior Biodegradation 140:29–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibiod.2019.03.008
- 130. Wei C-H, Hoppe-Jones C, Amy G, Leiknes T (2016) Organic micro-pollutants' removal via anaerobic membrane bioreactor with ultrafiltration and nanofiltration. J Water Reuse Desalin 6(3):362–370. https://doi.org/10.2166/wrd.2015.138
- 131. Kim S, Chu KH, Al-Hamadani YAJ, Park CM, Jang M, Kim D-H, Yu M, Heo J, Yoon Y (2018) Removal of contaminants of emerging concern by membranes in water and wastewater: a review. Chem Eng J 335:896–914. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2017.11.044
- 132. Chen M, Xu J, Dai R, Wu Z, Liu M, Wang Z (2019) Development of a moving-bed electrochemical membrane bioreactor to enhance removal of low-concentration antibiotic from wastewater. Bioresour Technol 293:122022. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2019. 122022
- 133. Li Y, Liu L, Yang F (2017) Destruction of tetracycline hydrochloride antibiotics by FeOOH/ TiO2 granular activated carbon as expanded cathode in low-cost MBR/MFC coupled system. J Membr Sci 525:202–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2016.10.047
- 134. Grady CPL, Daigger GT, Love NG, Filipe CDM, Grady CPL, Grady CPL (2011) Biological wastewater treatment. CRC Press: IWA Pub
- 135. Galib M, Elbeshbishy E, Reid R, Hussain A, Lee H-S (2016) Energy-positive food wastewater treatment using an anaerobic membrane bioreactor (AnMBR). J Environ Manag 182:477–485. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2016.07.098
- 136. Ji J, Sakuma S, Ni J, Chen Y, Hu Y, Ohtsu A, Chen R, Cheng H, Qin Y, Hojo T, Kubota K, Li Y-Y (2020) Application of two anaerobic membrane bioreactors with different pore size membranes for municipal wastewater treatment. Sci Total Environ 745:140903. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.140903
- 137. Mei X, Wang Z, Miao Y, Wu Z (2016) Recover energy from domestic wastewater using anaerobic membrane bioreactor: operating parameters optimization and energy balance analysis. Energy 98:146–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2016.01.011
- 138. Zhang H, Jiang W, Cui H (2017) Performance of anaerobic forward osmosis membrane bioreactor coupled with microbial electrolysis cell (AnOMEBR) for energy recovery and membrane fouling alleviation. Chem Eng J 321:375–383. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2017. 03.134

- Ferrari F, Balcazar JL, Rodriguez-Roda I, Pijuan M (2019) Anaerobic membrane bioreactor for biogas production from concentrated sewage produced during sewer mining. Sci Total Environ 670:993–1000. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.03.218
- 140. Giménez JB, Martí N, Ferrer J, Seco A (2012) Methane recovery efficiency in a submerged anaerobic membrane bioreactor (SAnMBR) treating sulphate-rich urban wastewater: evaluation of methane losses with the effluent. Bioresour Technol 118:67–72. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biortech.2012.05.019
- 141. Pretel R, Monino P, Robles A, Ruano MV, Seco A, Ferrer J (2019) Economic and environmental sustainability og an AnMBR treating urban wastewater and organic fraction of municipal solid waste. J Environ Manag 179(0301–4797):83–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jenvman.2016.04.057
- 142. Sanchis-Perucho P, Robles Á, Durán F, Ferrer J, Seco A (2020) PDMS membranes for feasible recovery of dissolved methane from AnMBR effluents. J Membr Sci 604:118070. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.memsci.2020.118070
- 143. Yeo H, Lee H-S (2013) The effect of solids retention time on dissolved methane concentration in anaerobic membrane bioreactors. Environ Technol 34(13–14):2105–2112. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/09593330.2013.808675
- 144. Kocatürk-Schumacher NP, Madjarov J, Viwatthanasittiphong P, Kerzenmacher S (2018) Toward an energy efficient wastewater treatment: combining a microbial fuel cell/electrolysis cell anode with an anaerobic membrane bioreactor. Front Energy Res 6:95. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fenrg.2018.00095
- 145. Logan BE, Hamelers B, Rozendal R, Schröder U, Keller J, Freguia S, Aelterman P, Verstraete W, Rabaey K (2006) Microbial fuel cells: methodology and technology [†]. Environ Sci Technol 40(17):5181–5192. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0605016
- 146. Ramírez-Vargas C, Prado A, Arias C, Carvalho P, Esteve-Núñez A, Brix H (2018) Microbial electrochemical technologies for wastewater treatment: principles and evolution from microbial fuel cells to bioelectrochemical-based constructed wetlands. Water 10(9):1128. https:// doi.org/10.3390/w10091128
- 147. Kadier A, Simayi Y, Abdeshahian P, Azman NF, Chandrasekhar K, Kalil MS (2016) A comprehensive review of microbial electrolysis cells (MEC) reactor designs and configurations for sustainable hydrogen gas production. Alex Eng J 55(1):427–443. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.aej.2015.10.008
- 148. Zhou G, Zhou Y, Zhou G, Lu L, Wan X, Shi H (2015) Assessment of a novel overflow-type electrochemical membrane bioreactor (EMBR) for wastewater treatment, energy recovery and membrane fouling mitigation. Bioresour Technol 196:648–655. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biortech.2015.08.032
- 149. Liu J, Liu L, Gao B, Yang F (2013) Integration of bio-electrochemical cell in membrane bioreactor for membrane cathode fouling reduction through electricity generation. J Membr Sci 430:196–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2012.11.046
- 150. Wang Y-K, Sheng G-P, Li W-W, Huang Y-X, Yu Y-Y, Zeng RJ, Yu H-Q (2011) Development of a novel bioelectrochemical membrane reactor for wastewater treatment. Environ Sci Technol 45(21):9256–9261. https://doi.org/10.1021/es2019803
- 151. Wang Y-P, Liu X-W, Li W-W, Li F, Wang Y-K, Sheng G-P, Zeng RJ, Yu H-Q (2012) A microbial fuel cell–membrane bioreactor integrated system for cost-effective wastewater treatment. Appl Energy 98:230–235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2012.03.029
- 152. Hou D, Lu L, Ren ZJ (2016) Microbial fuel cells and osmotic membrane bioreactors have mutual benefits for wastewater treatment and energy production. Water Res 98:183–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2016.04.017
- 153. Wang J, Bi F, Ngo H-H, Guo W, Jia H, Zhang H, Zhang X (2016) Evaluation of energydistribution of a hybrid microbial fuel cell-membrane bioreactor (MFC-MBR) for costeffective wastewater treatment. Bioresour Technol 200:420–425. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biortech.2015.10.042

- 154. Ren L, Ahn Y, Logan BE (2014) A two-stage microbial fuel cell and anaerobic fluidized bed membrane bioreactor (MFC-AFMBR) system for effective domestic wastewater treatment. Environ Sci Technol 48(7):4199–4206. https://doi.org/10.1021/es500737m
- 155. Tian Y, Ji C, Wang K, Le-Clech P (2014) Assessment of an anaerobic membrane bio-electrochemical reactor (AnMBER) for wastewater treatment and energy recovery. J Membr Sci 450:242–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2013.09.013
- 156. Katuri KP, Werner CM, Jimenez-Sandoval RJ, Chen W, Jeon S, Logan BE, Lai Z, Amy GL, Saikaly PE (2014) A novel anaerobic electrochemical membrane bioreactor (AnEMBR) with conductive hollow-fiber membrane for treatment of low-organic strength solutions. Environ Sci Technol 48(21):12833–12841. https://doi.org/10.1021/es504392n
- 157. Kim J, Kim K, Ye H, Lee E, Shin C, McCarty PL, Bae J (2011) Anaerobic fluidized bed membrane bioreactor for wastewater treatment. Environ Sci Technol 45(2):576–581. https:// doi.org/10.1021/es1027103
- 158. Yoo R, Kim J, McCarty PL, Bae J (2012) Anaerobic treatment of municipal wastewater with a staged anaerobic fluidized membrane bioreactor (SAF-MBR) system. Bioresour Technol 120: 133–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.06.028
- 159. Fenu A, Roels J, Wambecq T, De Gussem K, Thoeye C, De Gueldre G, Van De Steene B (2010) Energy audit of a full scale MBR system. Desalination 262(1–3):121–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.desal.2010.05.057
- 160. Gil JA, Túa L, Rueda A, Montaño B, Rodríguez M, Prats D (2010) Monitoring and analysis of the energy cost of an MBR. Desalination 250(3):997–1001. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.desal. 2009.09.089
- 161. Krzeminski P, van der Graaf JHJM, van Lier JB (2012) Specific energy consumption of membrane bioreactor (MBR) for sewage treatment. Water Sci Technol 65(2):380–392. https:// doi.org/10.2166/wst.2012.861
- 162. Huang J, Wang Z, Zhang J, Zhang X, Ma J, Wu Z (2015) A novel composite conductive microfiltration membrane and its anti-fouling performance with an external electric field in membrane bioreactors. Sci Rep 5(1):9268. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep09268
- 163. Hasan SW, Elektorowicz M, Oleszkiewicz JA (2014) Start-up period investigation of pilotscale submerged membrane electro-bioreactor (SMEBR) treating raw municipal wastewater. Chemosphere 97:71–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.11.009
- 164. Xue N, Xia J, Huang X (2010) Fouling control of a pilot scale self-forming dynamic membrane bioreactor for municipal wastewater treatment. Desalin Water Treat 18(1–3): 302–308. https://doi.org/10.5004/dwt.2010.1812
- 165. Gouveia J, Plaza F, Garralon G, Fdz-Polanco F, Peña M (2015) Long-term operation of a pilot scale anaerobic membrane bioreactor (AnMBR) for the treatment of municipal wastewater under psychrophilic conditions. Bioresour Technol 185:225–233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biortech.2015.03.002
- 166. Ramos C, García A, Diez V (2014) Performance of an AnMBR pilot plant treating highstrength lipid wastewater: biological and filtration processes. Water Res 67:203–215. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2014.09.021
- 167. Kanai M, Ferre V, Wakahara S, Yamamoto T, Moro M (2010) A novel combination of methane fermentation and MBR — Kubota submerged anaerobic membrane bioreactor process. Desalination 250(3):964–967. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.desal.2009.09.082
- 168. Wang J, Zhao S, Kakade A, Kulshreshtha S, Liu P, Li X (2019) A review on microbial electrocatalysis systems coupled with membrane bioreactor to improve wastewater treatment. Microorganisms 7(10):372. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms7100372
- 169. Ding A, Fan Q, Cheng R, Sun G, Zhang M, Wu D (2018) Impacts of applied voltage on microbial electrolysis cell-anaerobic membrane bioreactor (MEC-AnMBR) and its membrane fouling mitigation mechanism. Chem Eng J 333:630–635. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2017. 09.190

Membrane Bioreactor for Wastewater Treatment: Current Status, Novel Configurations and Cost Analysis



Muhammad B. Asif, Zhenghua Zhang, Minh T. Vu, Johir A. H. Mohammed, Nirenkumar Pathak, Long D. Nghiem, and Luong N. Nguyen

Contents

Introduction	148		
Application of Full-Scale MBR 1			
2.1 Overview of the Technology	149		
2.2 Effluent Water Quality	151		
Cost Analysis of MBR Process	152		
3.1 Capital Expenditure (CAPEX)	152		
3.2 Operating Expenditures (OPEX) and Specific Energy Consumption	153		
3.3 Cost Comparison MBR vs. CAS	154		
Energy Reduction in MBR	156		
4.1 Novel Configurations	156		
4.2 Process Optimization	157		
4.3 Success Stories	160		
Life Cycle Assessment of MBR 161			
Future Research Outlook 16			
Conclusions 16			
ferences	163		
	Introduction Application of Full-Scale MBR 2.1 Overview of the Technology 2.2 Effluent Water Quality Cost Analysis of MBR Process 3.1 Capital Expenditure (CAPEX) 3.2 Operating Expenditures (OPEX) and Specific Energy Consumption 3.3 Cost Comparison MBR vs. CAS Energy Reduction in MBR 4.1 Novel Configurations 4.2 Process Optimization 4.3 Success Stories Life Cycle Assessment of MBR Future Research Outlook Conclusions ferences		

Abstract The membrane bioreactor (MBR) process is a ground-breaking innovation in the field of wastewater treatment, which involves a biological activated sludge process coupled with the membrane separation. The main highlights of the

M. B. Asif and Z. Zhang

Institute of Environmental Engineering and Nano-Technology, Tsinghua-Shenzhen International Graduate School, Tsinghua University, Shenzhen, Guangdong, China

T. M. Vu, J. A. H. Mohammed, N. Pathak, L. D. Nghiem, and L. N. Nguyen (⊠) Centre for Technology in Water and Wastewater, School of Civil and Environmental Engineering, University of Technology Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia e-mail: luongngoc.nguyen@uts.edu.au

Mahmoud Nasr and Abdelazim M. Negm (eds.), *Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems*, Hdb Env Chem (2023) 118: 147–168, DOI 10.1007/698_2022_871, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022, Published online: 24 August 2022

MBR are its low footprint, which is due to the elimination of secondary sedimentation process in the conventional activated sludge (CAS). MBR can produce high and consistent effluent quality, which can be a non-potable water source or be readily treated in downstream processes for potable water reuse. With the decrease in the cost of membrane modules over the years, full-scale deployment of MBR plants continues to increase worldwide with scale up to 800 MGD to date. Nevertheless, membrane fouling and energy consumption in MBRs are two technical challenges. MBR membranes are prone to fouling by organic matter originating from the microbial cells. Energy consumption in MBRs is higher than the CAS due to the aeration requirements, particularly for membrane scouring. Several mitigations strategies to address these challenges have been developed, which showed promising results by reducing the operating cost of the MBR plants. These strategies include the development of new membrane materials with chemical and biological resistant properties, novel configurations for enhanced process performance as well as fouling mitigation and control. This chapter aims to present a succinct overview of the status of MBR technology for municipal and industrial wastewater treatment to cover the recent development of energy reduction and fouling mitigation. It is envisioned that MBR will continue as a domain technology in wastewater treatment sector.

Keywords Cost analysis, Energy consumption, Membrane bioreactors (MBR), Membrane fouling, Novel configurations

1 Introduction

Membrane filtration technologies have emerged as a mainstream technology in many industrial applications including wastewater treatment, water reclamation and bioprocessing. The membrane process offers numerous advantages such as stable performance, high efficiency, compact and modular design, and easy operation. There are four types of pressure-driven membrane processes according to their nominal pore size: (i) microfiltration (MF), ultrafiltration (UF), nanofiltration (NF), and reverse osmosis (RO). MF and UF membranes have been commonly integrated with a biological reactor to form a membrane bioreactor (MBR) system. The MBR technology is a ground-breaking innovation in the field of wastewater treatment, which essentially is an upgrade of the conventional activated sludge process by addition of a membrane-based separation process. With the decrease in the cost of membrane modules over the years, the development in membrane configurations, membrane materials, and process optimization experience to alleviate the two bottlenecks (i.e. membrane fouling and energy consumption), MBR has become a preferred wastewater treatment process.

This chapter aims to provide a critical summary of the most recent developments of the MBR process to support the ambitious target of cost-efficient wastewater treatment technology. The chapter reviews the MBR capital and operating expenditures as well as cost analysis of the MBR technology in comparison with the conventional activated sludge process. Process configurations and optimization are discussed along with some successful achievements on the energy reduction. Life cycle assessment of the MBR is also reviewed to delineate the benefit of water reuse and cost reduction of large-scale MBRs. Data corroborated in this chapter are in the favour of supporting the MBR process.

2 Application of Full-Scale MBR

2.1 Overview of the Technology

The MBR technology, as already stated above, is a compact and robust process combining a conventional activated sludge process with a membrane separation to produce a high-quality effluent [1]. This integration can not only ensure effective removal of diverse pollutants (such as bulk organics and nutrients) but can also reduce the footprint due to the absence of the secondary clarifier [2]. MBRs have been widely advanced in municipal and industrial wastewater treatment [3–5]. The application of MBR in wastewater treatment was first reported in 1969, when an ultrafiltration membrane was utilized for the separation of the activated sludge to produce high-quality secondary-treated effluent [1]. In recent years, the MBR technology has also demonstrated its readiness and robustness for the treatment of industrial and high strength wastewater, e.g. textile industries, paper and pulp industries, tanning (leather) industries and landfill leachate [2, 6–12].

Due to the escalating need for high-quality effluent, which can be directed towards water reuse applications, the demand for MBR may eventually exceed than that of conventional activated sludge process (CAS), especially if competitive treatment cost can be realized. Indeed, the number of large-scale (i.e. 80–800 mega gallons per day, MGD) MBR plants continue to increase worldwide (Table 1).

The configuration of the membrane separation in MBR is dependent on the placement of membrane module relative to the bioreactor. Based on the configuration of the membrane module, MBR could be categorized as follows: submerged/internal MBR (iMBR) (Fig. 1a) and side-stream/external MBR (sMBR) (Fig. 1b) [13]. Each configuration has its own advantages and disadvantages in wastewater applications as presented in Table 2. iMBRs can be usually applied to treat municipal and industrial wastewater, while sMBRs are mainly used for the treatment of industrial and high strength wastewater [13, 14]. The geometric configuration of MBR refers to the geometry of the membrane and the direction of water transmission. This configuration involves three categories (i.e. flat sheet, hollow fibre and tubular) [1]. The flat-sheet and hollow fibre membrane modules are usually applied in iMBR, while the tubular configuration is used in sMBR [1].

The membranes for MBRs can be manufactured using a range of materials (i.e. polymers, ceramics, and metals) with different advantages and disadvantages [15–18] (Table 3). Ceramic and polymeric materials are most commonly used for

Installation	Location	Technology supplier	Peak daily flow (MLD)	Average daily flow (MLD)	(Expected) commissioning date
Beihu WWTP	Hubei, China	Beijing Origin Water Technology Co., Ltd. (BOW)	1,040.0	800.0	2019
Henriksdal WWTP	Stockholm, Sweden	SUEZ – Water Tech- nologies & Solutions	864.0	536.0	2026
Tuas water reclamation plant	Singapore	CH2M	800.0	800.0	2025
Seine Aval WWTP	Acheres, France	SUEZ – Water Tech- nologies & Solutions	357.0	224.0	2016
Canton WWTP	Ohio, USA	Ovivo (GLV Group)	333.0	159.0	2017
9th and 10th WWTP	Kunming Yunnan, China	Beijing Origin Water Technology Co., Ltd. (BOW)	325.0	250.0	2013
Wuhan Sanjintan WWTP	Hubei, China	Beijing Origin Water Technology Co., Ltd. (BOW)	260.0	200.0	2015
Jilin WWTP	Jilin Prov- ince, China	Beijing Origin Water Technology Co., Ltd. (BOW)	260.0	200.0	-
Euclid WWTP	Ohio, USA	SUEZ – Water Tech- nologies & Solutions	250.0	83.0	2018
Shunyi WWTP	Beijing, China	SUEZ – Water Tech- nologies & Solutions	234.0	180.0	2016

Table 1 List of the 10 largest MBR plants in the world



Fig. 1 Two configurations of MBR including (a) internal/submerged MBR (iMBR) and (b) external/side-stream MBR (sMBR)

manufacturing UF/MF membranes [15, 16]. Polymeric membranes are made of a polymer monolith such as polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF), polyethylene (PE), polypropylene, polyethersulfone, and polytetrafluoroethylene [19]. Among these

Table 2 Typical characteristics of iMBRs and sMBRs [15, 16]	Factors for consideration	iMBR	sMBR	
	Operational complexity	Flexible	Complicated	
	Footprint	Small	Large	
	Cost per m ² membrane area	Low	High	
	Water flux	Low	High	
	Cleaning mode	Less frequent	Frequent	
	Energy consumption	Low	High	

 Table 3 List of membrane materials and their characteristics [15–18]

Membrane materials	Advantages	Disadvantages
Ceramic materials	 Resistance against chemicals Resistance against abrasion Better concentration polarization control via backwashing High fouling reversibility 	 Expensive Fragile Need supporting materials in hollow fibre or flat-sheet configuration
Metallic materials	 Mechanical strength High hydraulic performance High fouling reversibility Resistance to temperature Resistance to chemicals 	• Expensive
Polymeric materials	Cost effectiveHigh self-supporting ability	 Vulnerable to chemicals Susceptible to temperature variations Moderate hydraulic performance Susceptible to fouling

polymeric materials, PE is broadly applied [19]. Ceramic membranes are suitable for high strength wastewater treatment due to high resistance against chemical agents [15].

2.2 Effluent Water Quality

The MBRs can guarantee high-quality effluent. A combination of biodegradation and sorption of pollutants on sludge and membrane separation are removal mechanisms in the MBR process. High biomass concentration and prolonged solids retention time (SRT) in MBR could result in high COD and Trace organic compounds TrOC removal. It was reported that 79–97% COD removal could be achieved by MBR during the treatment of municipal wastewater [3–5, 20– 22]. MBR has also been reported to achieve excellent removal of hydrophobic TrOCs (80–95%) [23–26]. The addition of membrane unit in MBR can improve suspended solid removal efficiency up to 100% [27–29]. An MBR is capable of removing a wide range of microorganisms because the pore size of the membranes (e.g. MF, UF, and NF) employed in MBRs is much smaller than most of the microorganisms. It was demonstrated that an MF membrane can remove total coliform (*E.coli*), faecal streptococci, and salmonella to levels below the detection limit (<1 CFU/100 ml) in the MBR effluent [30].

3 Cost Analysis of MBR Process

3.1 Capital Expenditure (CAPEX)

Total CAPEX to install an MBR can be estimated by considering both the engineering and non-engineering costs. According to the available literature [31, 32], construction of tanks/reactors and equipment procurement account for approximately 70% of the total construction costs, while the layout of the piping network and the membrane module could be around 10 and 20% of those, respectively. In terms of treatment type or level, Xiao et al. [33] reported that the cost of construction can grossly range from 10 to 20% for primary treatment units, 55–85% for the MBR unit (i.e. biological and membrane units), 0–30% for tertiary treatment units, and 5–10% for sludge treatment units.

In the last two decades, CAPEX of an MBR project has been reported in several published articles. For instance, Côté et al. [34] estimated that the CAPEX of an MBR with a capacity of 38,000 m³/day was approximately 900 USD/m³. In another study by Verrecht et al. [32], CAPEX of an MBR project with an average capacity of 20,851 m³/day was estimated to be approximately 376 EUR/m³ (~425 USD/m³). Based on the assessment of five full-scale MBR plants (1,100–2,000 m³/day) in Spain, Iglesias et al. [35] estimated that CAPEX of MBR plants ranged between 625 EUR/m³ (~706 USD/m³) and 3,277 EUR/m³ (~3,703 USD/m³). In a recent study, a total of 175 full-scale MBR plants (>10,000 m³/day) for municipal wastewater treatment in China were surveyed by Xiao et al. [33]. The CAPEX of the surveyed MBRs was between 2,500 and 5,500 CNY/m³ (~380 and 800 USD/m³) with an average capital cost of approximately 4,000 CNY/m³ (~600 USD/m³). It is important to note that average CAPEX of MBRs in China is higher than that of all municipal wastewater treatment plants. According to the 'China Environment Yearbook 2016', average CAPEX of municipal wastewater treatment plants was 2,500 CNY/m³ (~400 USD/m³). The CAPEX of MBRs has been reported to range between 308 and 5,993 USD/m³ (Fig. 2). It is inappropriate to compare the CAPEX values reported in different studies. This is because the design capacity and unit operations of MBR plants, as well as difference in the costs associated with different components and labour costs, are highly location specific [36].



3.2 Operating Expenditures (OPEX) and Specific Energy Consumption

Operating expenditures (OPEX) of full-scale MBR plants can be mainly divided into energy consumption, sludge disposal and chemical consumption costs. In addition, Labour costs, equipment replacement and maintenance as well as water quality testing and membrane depreciation costs can contribute to the OPEX of MBR plants. Based on the comprehensive survey of 175 full-scale MBR plants ($>10,000 \text{ m}^3/\text{day}$) in China, energy consumption, chemical consumption, sludge disposal and other costs account for 40-60%, 10-30%, 5-15% and 5-20% of OPEX, respectively [33]. Depending on their capacity, OPEX of MBR plants has been reported to range between 1.12–2.54 USD/m³ in Netherlands [37], 0.27–2.64 USD/m³ in Spain [35] and 0.015–0.045 USD/m³ in China [33]. Owing to considerable improvement in this technology (e.g. reduction in membrane cost and energy efficiency) over the last two decade, a succinct overview of the existing literature suggests a slight reduction in overall operating costs of full-scale MBR plants [36]. For instance, the OPEX of MBRs installed during 2006–2014 in China was reported to range between 0.12 and 0.2 USD/m³. On the other hand, MBR plants commissioned after 2014 had an overall OPEX of 0.11–0.18 USD/m³ [33].

During the operation of an MBR, energy is mainly required for aeration (for bacterial metabolism and membrane scouring), sludge mixing, sludge recirculation, and membrane filtration [31, 32, 38]. Brepols et al. [37] surveyed an MBR plant to identify the main energy consumers and found that aeration required for membrane scouring accounts for approximately 49% of the total energy consumption. The other major energy consumers were aeration for bacterial metabolism (12%), sludge mixing (11.5%), sludge recirculation (1.3%), and membrane filtration (2.7%). In

the last 20 years, the development in MBR technology has made it energy efficient, and consequently, specific energy consumption (SEC) by MBR has reduced from approximately 5 kWh/m³ (in 2001–2005) to less than 1 kWh/m³ [38–40].

SEC by the full-scale tabular side-stream MBRs was very high $(6-8 \text{ kWh/m}^3)$ and was mainly associated with the energy required for crossflow pumping [41]. Notably, the submerged MBR, which was invented in 1988 [42], can effectively reduce the specific energy required for mixed liquor pumping from more than 3 kWh/m³ to less than 0.01 kWh/m³ [29, 43]. According to a study conducted by Cornel et al. [44], SEC could be reduced by submerging the membrane directly in the aeration tank. The SECs of the MBRs without and with separate membrane tank were around 1 and 2.5 kWh/m³, respectively [44]. Owing to process optimization as well as advances in membrane module development, more than twofold reduction was observed in the SEC of the full-scale MBRs commissioned in Europe during 2001–2006 [45]. Similarly, the SEC of full-scale MBRs (>10,000 m³/day) commissioned during the period 2006-2014 in China was 0.5-0.7 kWh/m³, while the full-scale MBRs (>10,000 m³/day) commissioned after 2014 had an overall SEC of 0.35–0.65 kWh/m³ [33]. This considerable reduction in SEC could be attributed to improved design and operation of membrane modules as well as efficient aeration equipment. In addition, different operational strategies such as aeration modes, filtration and relaxation cycles, and process automation have all been reported to be favourable for reducing SEC [46-50]. The SECs of the full-scale MBR in different regions of the world have been reported to range from 0.9 to 2.25 kWh/ m³ in Netherlands [37, 38]; 0.8–2.4 kWh/m³ in France [51]; 0.35–0.9 kWh/m³ in China [31, 33, 40]; 0.8–3 kWh/m³ in Japan [52] and 0.4–2.1 kWh/m³ in Spain [46].

It is important to note that the capital, operating, and energy consumption costs appear to reduce with the increase in MBR capacity. The CAPEX and energy consumption costs would largely reduce exponentially with the increase in the capacity of full-scale MBRs, and the data collected from literature can be fitted using exponential decay model (Fig. 3a). Similarly, despite the difference in unit operations and designs, the OPEX would decrease with the increase in the capacity of MBRs (Fig. 3b).

3.3 Cost Comparison MBR vs. CAS

The MBR has become an established technology with installation in more than 200 countries [53, 54]. However, it is still considered to be expensive, particularly for implementation in developing countries. Comparison of the costs associated with the construction and operation of MBR and CAS has been reported in several studies. Based on the cost analysis over the useful life of the plants, MBR technology was reported to demonstrate overall cost benefits as compared to the CAS technology. However, OPEX of the MBR technology is higher than the CAS technology [55, 56]. This is mainly due to the difference in the extent of energy consumption by the MBR and CAS. The SEC of MBR could be 10–100% higher than that of the



Fig. 3 CAPEX (a), OPEX (b) and energy consumption costs (c) of full-scale MBR plants as a function of MBR capacity. Data extracted from [34, 37]; and [35]

CAS technology [38, 47, 57]. Based on the survey of 985 municipal wastewater treatment plants, Mizuta and Shimada [58] reported that the SEC by CAS ranged from 0.3 to 1.9 kWh/m³. An SEC of 0.1–0.6 kWh/m³ has also been reported for the CAS technology [44, 59, 60]. As noted in Sect. 4, MBR has become an energy-efficient technology as evident from reduction in SEC, i.e. from approximate 5 kWh/m³ (2001–2005) to less than 1 kWh/m³ (2010 to date). This indicates that the advances in MBR technology have made the gap between the MBR and CAS technology narrower.

Cost analysis of the MBR and CAS technologies should be carried out at equivalent effluent quality for a fair comparison. In a study by Iglesias et al. [35], CAPEX and OPEX values of MBR plants in Spain were estimated for comparison with the CAS using conventional (i.e. physicochemical, sand filtration and disinfection) and advanced (i.e. membrane filtration) tertiary treatment processes. For comparable treatment capacity, the CAPEX values were estimated to be 700–960 EUR/m³ (~910 and 1,248 USD/m³) for MBRs, 730–850 EUR/m³ (~949 and 1,105 USD/m³) for CAS with conventional tertiary treatment processes and 1,050–1,250 EUR/m³ (~1,365 and 1,625 USD/m³) for CAS with advanced tertiary treatment processes. On the other hand, the OPEX values of MBRs were comparable to those of the CAS with extended aeration or conventional tertiary treatment processes. Importantly, they found that MBR becomes a cost-competitive technology when

effluent quality suitable for water reuse applications is required [35]. This is consistent with the findings of other studies on the cost comparison of CAS and MBR technologies [37, 56]. Based on the discussion presented above, the CAPEX and OPEX values of MBR technology are higher than those of the stand-alone CAS technology but are comparable to CAS with tertiary treatment processes. The MBR technology becomes cost-competitive as excellent quality effluent is required for water reuse applications.

4 Energy Reduction in MBR

One of the critical drawbacks of MBR systems is energy-intensive consumption for the treatment process, which accounts for 40–60% of total operating expenditure [33]. As explained above in Sect. 3, an MBR consumes a significant amount of energy for its processes such as aeration for bacterial metabolism and membrane scouring, sludge mixing, water transportation and sludge recirculation. Among these, aeration required for membrane scouring to mitigate membrane fouling has a significant contribution to overall energy consumption. It has been reported that membrane scouring, biological aeration and sludge recirculation are three major activities consuming a large amount of energy in MBR systems [51]. Apart from them, pumping for water transportation also partially contributes to energy consumption in MBR [47]. Establishing measures against the major causes of energy consumption is vital for the reduction of SEC of MBRs and for the widespread applications of this technology. This section aims to systematically discuss a wide range of measures for energy-saving in MBRs.

4.1 Novel Configurations

Novel MBR configurations have been recently explored to mitigate membranefouling propensity, thus, consequently reducing the cleaning frequency and intensity. As a result, the aeration energy required for membrane scouring can be significantly reduced or even eliminated. These configurations consist of rotation MBR (RMBR), vibration MBR (VMBR), reciprocation MBR (rMBR) and electrochemical MBR (EMBR) [61–65]. Three configurations (i.e. RMBR, VMBR and rMBR) use dynamic shear-enhanced filtration through rotation, vibration and reciprocation movement to mitigate membrane fouling and concentration polarization [62–64]. These fouling preventing measures can be low-energy alternatives to intensive aeration for membrane scouring. In addition, the application of an electric field to mitigate membrane fouling in the EMBR configuration is also an alternative to energy-intensive air scouring [65]. In such case, the decreased fouling tendency is ascribed to the charge neutralization of colloids or particles in wastewater via electro-coagulation, electrophoresis, electroosmotic and electrostatic repulsion/ rejection effects created by intermittent electric field [61, 65].

Derived from direct energy-saving perspectives, two new MBR configurations bioelectrochemical membrane reactor (BEMR) and including membrane photobioreactor (MPBR) have been introduced to offset or reduce the total energy consumption by an MBR. An BEMR is a hybrid process, which combines conventional MBR and microbial fuel cells (MFC) [66, 67]. In this concept, microorganisms in MFC are responsible for oxidizing organic matter and generating electricity, which compensates for the energy required for membrane scouring by an MBR [66, 67]. However, the complexity in the operation of this hybrid system and power generation remains a hurdle for the maturity of this technology [47]. The second configuration is the combination of an MBR and microalgae bioreactor for organic and nutrient removal and biomass production. Organic removal is accomplished by the MBR, while nutrients are removed during microalgae cultivation in the photobioreactor, thus reducing energy requirements for nutrient removal in the MBR system [68, 69].

4.2 Process Optimization

Optimization of operating conditions such as aeration rate, hydraulic utilization of membrane, water and sludge transportation has been demonstrated to significantly reduce SEC of the MBR. Briefly, energy-saving in the MBR can be implemented by reducing aeration for membrane scouring, optimizing aeration for biological process, decreasing pumping energy for water transportation and minimizing energy for sludge recirculation (Fig. 4). Furthermore, apart from reducing the total energy consumption, increasing permeate production capacity is beneficial for the decrease in SEC as presented in Fig. 4.

Reduction in aeration required for membrane scouring by directly adjusting air supply modes or by indirectly decreasing the membrane fouling severity is an efficient way to reduce SEC of the MBR (Fig. 5). The direct adjustment of aeration



Fig. 4 Overview of measures adopted to reduce the specific energy consumption (SEC) of an MBR system



Fig. 5 Detailed measures to reduce the energy consumption (SEC) of an MBR system

intensity can be carried out by installing variable frequency drivers (VFDs) to lower air supply and generate an intermittent aeration mode for the air blowers. Moreover, aeration intensity during operation can be adjusted to be low during filtration and high during backwash by the installation of the aeration control system [47]. Several measures to prevent or control membrane fouling can be applied to reduce the aeration demand for membrane scouring, which would lead to the reduction in SEC.

Besides the novel configurations presented in Sect. 4.1, the application of novel membranes and membrane modules, early detection of fouling, optimization of MLSS and permeate flux and the employment of primary clarification ahead of MBR is effective to reduce membrane fouling and subsequent energy consumption in MBR. New generation membranes with fouling resistance properties and high water productivity can significantly mitigate fouling and save energy [47]. For example, a General Electric company in 2011 reported that the introduction of a new MBR system called LEAP MBR using novel membranes could reduce the energy consumption by 30% and increase productivity by 15% with a 20% smaller footprint as compared to their previous products.

On-line fouling detection via monitoring permeate flux at given trans-membrane pressure is an effective tool for early identification of fouling tendency, which would facilitate in timely adjustment of air-scouring rate. It is reported that applying this automatic control system can reduce membrane scouring rate by 22% without negative impacts on filtration performance [70]. Optimization of MLSS concentration can reduce the membrane fouling potential and severity, thus, lowering the aeration requirement for membrane scouring. According to the data reported by Tao et al., the average SEC of 0.549 kWh/m³ could be achieved by reducing MLSS concentration in MBR from 10,000 to 6,000 mg/L [71]. This could be attributed to lower sludge density and better aeration efficiency [72].

Selection of an appropriate flux value plays a key role in preventing the occurrence of severe fouling during operation, thus, lowering the aeration energy for membrane scouring. Operation with water flux higher than the critical flux can cause severe fouling and clogging of the membrane, which is linked with the energy penalty for subsequent fouling mitigation measures. In this regard, reducing the permeate flux to the level lower than the critical flux can result in SEC reduction. It is demonstrated that when permeate flux reduces from 27 to 23 LMH, the SEC in a hollow fibre MBR system can be reduced by 14% on average [46].

Use of primary clarification ahead of the MBR can be capable of decreasing an average via reducing the power requirements associated with aeration and the biological tank volume. Reduction of organic loading by using primary clarification allows the MBRs to operate at low MLSS. Low MLSS concentration decreases membrane-fouling tendency. Thus, cleaning intervals and membrane life can be prolonged, and oxygen transfer efficiency can be improved, leading to lower power consumption by the air blowers [47].

Measures to optimize aeration demand for the biological process are necessary to save energy during MBR operation (Fig. 4). Reduction of the total aeration demand in MBR can be accomplished by lowering aerobic dissolved oxygen (DO) set point required to achieve complete treatment. This step can avoid over aeration in the aerobic tank. It has been reported that when DO set point decreased from 1.5 to 0.5 mg O_2/L , up to 81% reduction in biological aeration consumption could be achieved [73]. In addition, implementation of intermittent aeration for biological purposes and reduction in MLSS concentration have demonstrated to be effective to decrease SEC. Gabarron et al. [46] pointed out that by applying sequenced aeration and reducing MLSS content, SEC of a flat-sheet stand-alone MBR could be reduced from 1.12 to 0.71 kWh/m³.

Permeate withdrawal and sludge recirculation pumping contributes to SEC of MBR systems. There are opportunities to adapt new methods to reduce the energy consumption at during permeate withdrawal and sludge recirculation (Fig. 5). Syphon filtration and airlift circulation can be adopted to save energy in the total system [74]. Syphon filtration takes advantage of the syphon effect caused by the difference in water head as suction filtration power, whilst airlift circulation uses the driving force of air bubbles for scouring or biological aeration as circulation power. It is noted that the utilization of syphon filtration can be implemented through MLSS optimization and the coupling of sludge recirculation to the influent flow [47]. According to the results reported by Yamashita et al. [74], an SEC of 0.29 kWh/m³ could be achieved by decreasing the scouring aeration rate and decreasing the pump power.

In addition to minimizing the aeration rate for membrane scouring and biological process as well as facilitating water and sludge transportation, increasing effluent production capacity can lead to the reduction of SEC (Fig. 4). This purpose can be implemented through the operation at appropriate flux, which is close, but lower than critical flux or close to the design flux recommended from manufacturers, and increasing packing density of the membrane modules [46, 47, 74]. The former is to maximize the membrane hydraulic utilization without causing severe fouling. The latter aims at increasing the effective surface area of the membrane, thus obtaining more permeate volume at a constant aeration rate. Reduction of the outer diameter of the membrane fibres and extension of the membrane fibre length can be applied to enhance the packing density of the membrane module [47, 74].

4.3 Success Stories

Reduction of SEC to the range of 0.4-0.5 kWh/m³ has been reported in the literature. Tao et al demonstrated that the adoption of comprehensive and systematic optimization measures (i.e. increasing membrane flux and reducing aeration), the SEC of pilot-scale MBR plants decreased from 1.3 kWh/m³ to less than 0.8 kWh/m³ [71]. A further reduction to 0.37 kWh/m³ was achieved, when energy audit and other optimization strategies, namely decreasing aeration flow-rate by setting up VFDs, applying gravity-driven flow between reaction tanks, reducing MLSS concentration to 6 g/L, controlling biological aeration and introducing 10/30 s on/off cyclic membrane aeration mode were adopted in a municipal full-scale MBR

[71]. Krzeminski et al. reported that the minimum SEC of a large pilot-plant MBR could be only 0.37 kWh/m³, which was derived from 40% total energy reduction due to the successful implementation of energy-saving solutions including using higher packing density membrane modules [47]. In another study, Yamashita et al. (2019) evaluated four energy-saving MBR systems and indicated that the SEC of the systems could be reduced to 0.26–0.39 kWh/m³, depending on the specific energy-saving measures applied [74]. These measures consist of increasing packing density by using a stack of modules, decreasing pump power by using syphon filtration and airlift circulation and reducing aeration rate for membrane scouring [74].

5 Life Cycle Assessment of MBR

Environmental impacts of different processes or products or services at each stage of their life could be effectively assessed by performing life cycle assessment (LCA). This tool has been widely implemented in wastewater treatment processes to gain a deep understanding of their environmental impacts [47], which would be helpful for policymaking. An overview of studies on LCA of MBRs is presented in this section as follows.

Ortiz et al. [75] attempted to analyse and compare the environmental impacts of different wastewater treatment processes using an LCA analysis tool (SimaPro 5.1). They selected four treatment processes including a stand-alone CAS, a CAS with tertiary treatment, a submerged MBR and a side-stream MBR. According to the LCA analysis, the stand-alone CAS would be an environmentally friendly option, while the environmental impacts of the CAS with tertiary treatment and both MBR configurations would be comparable. Importantly, as compared to the stand-alone CAS, the LCA analysis showed that environmental impacts of MBRs would not significantly increase, and MBR would make it possible to reuse water for different applications [75].

In a study by Memon et al. [76], LCA analysis was performed to assess the impacts of four processes (MBR, membrane chemical reactor, reed rocks and green roof water recycling system) for greywater treatment. Impacts of the selected treatment processes were assessed based on environmental performance as well as impacts on natural resources, ecosystem and human health. The LCA analysis showed that the impacts of natural treatment processes (e.g. reed rocks) are significantly lower than those of the MBR and membrane chemical reactors [76]. In a recent study on greywater reclamation, Jeong et al. [77] investigated the impacts of combining a submerged MBR with conventional wastewater treatment process on on-site greywater treatment and compared its LCA scores with the stand-alone conventional wastewater treatment process. The LCA scores of the stand-alone conventional wastewater treatment process, and energy consumption by MBR appeared to play a key role in the LCA scores of the combined process. Similar concerns were reported

in several other studies [78, 79], meaning that extensive energy consumption by MBR contributes significantly to its environmental impacts. The sensitivity analysis showed that the life cycle impacts of the combined process could be reduced by increasing the population density [77]. Kobayashi et al. [80] performed LCA analysis for decentralized treatment of greywater using constructed wetlands and MBR. According to the LCA analysis, the constructed wetlands outperformed the MBR for decentralized greywater treatment. However, MBR may become an environmentally friendly technology in the case of greywater reuse scenario [80]. In a study by Cashman et al. [81], LCA analysis was performed to assess the suitability of aerobic and anaerobic MBRs for decentralized wastewater treatment. The results showed that the psychrophilic anaerobic MBR was superior to aerobic MBR in terms of net energy benefits at all scales. In the case of drinking water displacement, aerobic MBRs started to show net energy benefits at the treatment capacity of one million gallons per day [81]. Therefore, the benefits of MBR technology could be realized by increasing the treatment capacity as well as by using the large amounts of MBR effluent for water reuse applications.

6 Future Research Outlook

Application of MBR for wastewater treatment should be an informed decision. MBR technology has been demonstrated to be a feasible treatment option for obtaining excellent effluent water [31, 33]. In addition, MBR technology could be easily combined with other processes for potable and non-potable production. These advantages of MBR technology should be kept in mind to maximize its practical value.

MBR technology has been extensively applied as an alternative to the CAS technology for municipal wastewater treatment. However, there is still some scope of reduction in the CAPEX and OPEX of MBRs, which would make them even more attractive for implementation in developing countries. Although membrane modules have been significantly improved, research efforts are required to further: (1) increase the lifetime of membrane for reducing its depreciation cost; (2) improve the resistance of membrane against fouling and chemicals oxidants; and (3) improve the hydraulic performance (i.e. permeate flux) of membranes. As for the OPEX, focus on the reduction in SEC is critical. This could be achieved by improving the design of membrane modules; optimizing the aeration and scouring intensities and refining the process automation and control.

LCA studies on MBR exclusively emphasize the environmental dimensions and may not always consider the socioeconomic and technical aspects to evaluate the sustainability of MBR technology [47, 79]. This could result in an incomplete LCA analysis, which may affect the decision-making process. For example, if the main goal of MBR is to produce high-quality effluent for water reuse applications and to reduce nutrients load on surface water, advantages of MBR could overweigh its disadvantages (e.g. energy consumption). Therefore, all the internal and external factors, as well as benefits associated with water reuse and environmental protection, should be considered for an all-inclusive LCA.

7 Conclusions

MBR has gained its commercial competitiveness as alternative to the CAS to meet stringent effluent discharge regulation and to support non-potable and potable water reuse applications. The number of large-scale MBR plants increase worldwide. It results from combined factors including high effluent quality, stable performance, and reduction in membrane cost, enhancement in operation experience (i.e. new way of operation and new configuration to reduce energy). Indeed, specific energy consumption in the MBR has reduced significantly from 5 kWh/m³ to below 1 kWh/m³. Energy consumption continuously reduces to 0.35 kWh/m³ at MBR plant with the capacity of $>10,000 \text{ m}^3/\text{day}$. Processes to reduce aeration energy consumption for membrane scouring and biological metabolisms as well as new pumping design for water transportation and sludge recirculation are the four main developments to reduce energy consumption in the MBR technology. Another significant reduction in OPEX is membrane replacement due to the development techniques in increasing permeate (effluent) volume. Information corroborated in this chapter demonstrates the robustness of MBR technology and suggests its future progression to be the dominant technology in wastewater treatment sector.

References

- 1. Golbabaei Kootenaei F, Aminirad H (2014) Membrane biological reactors (MBR) and their applications for water reuse. Int J Adv Biol Biomed Res 2(7):2208–2216
- 2. Zhang J, Xiao K, Huang X (2020) Full-scale MBR applications for leachate treatment in China: practical, technical, and economic features. J Hazard Mater 389:122138
- Gurung K, Ncibi MC, Sillanpää M (2017) Assessing membrane fouling and the performance of pilot-scale membrane bioreactor (MBR) to treat real municipal wastewater during winter season in Nordic regions. Sci Total Environ 579:1289–1297
- Herrera-Robledo M, Cid-León DM, Morgan-Sagastume JM, Noyola A (2011) Biofouling in an anaerobic membrane bioreactor treating municipal sewage. Sep Purif Technol 81(1):49–55
- Krzeminski P, Iglesias-Obelleiro A, Madebo G, Garrido JM, van der Graaf JHJM, van Lier JB (2012) Impact of temperature on raw wastewater composition and activated sludge filterability in full-scale MBR systems for municipal sewage treatment. J Membr Sci 423–424:348–361
- Badani Z, Ait-Amar H, Si-Salah A, Brik M, Fuchs W (2005) Treatment of textile waste water by membrane bioreactor and reuse. Desalination 185(1):411–417
- Chung Y-J, Choi H-N, Lee S-E, Cho J-B (2004) Treatment of tannery wastewater with high nitrogen content using anoxic/oxic membrane bio-reactor (MBR). J Environ Sci Health A 39(7): 1881–1890
- Gao WJ, Han MN, Xu C, Liao BQ, Hong Y, Cumin J, Dagnew M (2016) Performance of submerged anaerobic membrane bioreactor for thermomechanical pulping wastewater treatment. J Water Process Eng 13:70–78

- 9. Goltara A, Martinez J, Mendez R (2003) Carbon and nitrogen removal from tannery wastewater with a membrane bioreactor. Water Sci Technol 48(1):207–214
- Yan Z, Wang S, Kang X, Ma Y (2009) Pilot-scale hybrid coagulation/membrane bioreactor (HCMBR) for textile dyeing wastewater advanced treatment. 2009 3rd international conference on bioinformatics and biomedical engineering, 11–13 June 2009. pp 1–4
- 11. Yigit NO, Uzal N, Koseoglu H, Harman I, Yukseler H, Yetis U, Civelekoglu G, Kitis M (2009) Treatment of a denim producing textile industry wastewater using pilot-scale membrane bioreactor. Desalination 240(1):143–150
- Zhang Y, Ma C, Ye F, Kong Y, Li H (2009) The treatment of wastewater of paper mill with integrated membrane process. Desalination 236(1):349–356
- 13. Ji J, Kakade A, Yu Z, Khan A, Liu P, Li X (2020) Anaerobic membrane bioreactors for treatment of emerging contaminants: a review. J Environ Manage 270:110913
- 14. Vinardell S, Astals S, Peces M, Cardete MA, Fernández I, Mata-Alvarez J, Dosta J (2020) Advances in anaerobic membrane bioreactor technology for municipal wastewater treatment: a 2020 updated review. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 130:109936
- Burggraaf AJ, Keizer K (1991) Ceramic membranes. In: Brook RJ (ed) Concise encyclopedia of advanced ceramic materials. Pergamon, Oxford, pp 62–67
- Meng F, Chae S-R, Drews A, Kraume M, Shin H-S, Yang F (2009) Recent advances in membrane bioreactors (MBRs): membrane fouling and membrane material. Water Res 43(6): 1489–1512
- Jin L, Ong SL, Ng HY (2010) Comparison of fouling characteristics in different pore-sized submerged ceramic membrane bioreactors. Water Res 44(20):5907–5918
- Lin H, Gao W, Meng F, Liao B-Q, Leung K-T, Zhao L, Chen J, Hong H (2012) Membrane bioreactors for industrial wastewater treatment: a critical review. Crit Rev Environ Sci Technol 42(7):677–740
- Hofs B, Ogier J, Vries D, Beerendonk EF, Cornelissen ER (2011) Comparison of ceramic and polymeric membrane permeability and fouling using surface water. Sep Purif Technol 79(3): 365–374
- 20. Khan SJ, Hasnain G, Fareed H, Aim RB (2019) Evaluation of treatment performance of a fullscale membrane bioreactor (MBR) plant from unsteady to steady state condition. J Water Process Eng 30:100379
- Martinez-Sosa D, Helmreich B, Netter T, Paris S, Bischof F, Horn H (2011) Anaerobic submerged membrane bioreactor (AnSMBR) for municipal wastewater treatment under mesophilic and psychrophilic temperature conditions. Bioresour Technol 102(22): 10377–10385
- 22. Wan C-Y, De Wever H, Diels L, Thoeye C, Liang J-B, Huang L-N (2011) Biodiversity and population dynamics of microorganisms in a full-scale membrane bioreactor for municipal wastewater treatment. Water Res 45(3):1129–1138
- 23. Ahmed MB, Zhou JL, Ngo HH, Guo W, Thomaidis NS, Xu J (2017) Progress in the biological and chemical treatment technologies for emerging contaminant removal from wastewater: a critical review. J Hazard Mater 323:274–298
- 24. Hai FI, Nghiem LD, Khan SJ, Asif MB, Price WE, Yamamoto K (2019) Removal of emerging trace organic contaminants (TrOC) by MBR. In: Membrane biological reactors: theory, modeling, design, management and applications to wastewater reuse. IWA Publishing
- Taheran M, Brar SK, Verma M, Surampalli RY, Zhang TC, Valero JR (2016) Membrane processes for removal of pharmaceutically active compounds (PhACs) from water and wastewaters. Sci Total Environ 547:60–77
- 26. Asif MB, Ansari AJ, Chen S-S, Nghiem LD, Price WE, Hai FI (2019) Understanding the mechanisms of trace organic contaminant removal by high retention membrane bioreactors: a critical review. Environ Sci Pollut Res 26(33):34085–34100
- Churchouse S (1997) Membrane bioreactors for wastewater treatment operating experiences with the Kubota submerged membrane activated sludge process. Membr Technol 1997(83):5–9

- Ergas SJ, Rheinheimer DE (2004) Drinking water denitrification using a membrane bioreactor. Water Res 38(14):3225–3232
- Ueda T, Hata K, Kikuoka Y (1996) Treatment of domestic sewage from rural settlements by a membrane bioreactor. Water Sci Technol 34(9):189–196
- Dittrich J, Gnirss R, Peter-Fröhlich A, Sarfert F (1996) Microfiltration of municipal wastewater for disinfection and advanced phosphorus removal. Water Sci Technol 34(9):125–131
- 31. Xiao K, Xu Y, Liang S, Lei T, Sun J, Wen X, Zhang H, Chen C, Huang X (2014) Engineering application of membrane bioreactor for wastewater treatment in China: current state and future prospect. Front Environ Sci Eng 8(6):805–819
- Verrecht B, Maere T, Nopens I, Brepols C, Judd S (2010) The cost of a large-scale hollow fibre MBR. Water Res 44(18):5274–5283
- 33. Xiao K, Liang S, Wang X, Chen C, Huang X (2019) Current state and challenges of full-scale membrane bioreactor applications: a critical review. Bioresour Technol 271:473–481
- 34. Côté P, Masini M, Mourato D (2004) Comparison of membrane options for water reuse and reclamation. Desalination 167:1–11
- 35. Iglesias R, Simón P, Moragas L, Arce A, Rodriguez-Roda I (2017) Cost comparison of fullscale water reclamation technologies with an emphasis on membrane bioreactors. Water Sci Technol 75(11):2562–2570
- 36. Judd SJ (2017) Membrane technology costs and me. Water Res 122:1-9
- Brepols C, Schäfer H, Engelhardt N (2010) Considerations on the design and financial feasibility of full-scale membrane bioreactors for municipal applications. Water Sci Technol 61(10): 2461–2468
- Krzeminski P, van der Graaf JHJM, van Lier JB (2012) Specific energy consumption of membrane bioreactor (MBR) for sewage treatment. Water Sci Technol 65(2):380–392
- 39. Buer T, Cumin J (2010) MBR module design and operation. Desalination 250(3):1073-1077
- 40. Wang S, Zou L, Li H, Zheng K, Wang Y, Zheng G, Li J (2020) Full-scale membrane bioreactor process WWTPs in East Taihu basin: wastewater characteristics, energy consumption and sustainability. Sci Total Environ 723:137983
- 41. van Dijk L, Roncken GCG (1997) Membrane bioreactors for wastewater treatment: the state of the art and new developments. Water Sci Technol 35(10):35–41
- 42. Yamamoto K, Hiasa M, Mahmood T, Matsuo T (1988) Direct solid-liquid separation using hollow fiber membrane in an activated sludge aeration tank. In: Lijklema L, Imhoff KR, Ives KJ, Jenkins D, Ludwig RG, Suzuki M, Toerien DF, Wheatland AB, Milburn A, Izod EJ (eds) Water pollution research and control brighton. Pergamon, pp 43–54
- Visvanathan C, Aim RB, Parameshwaran K (2000) membrane separation bioreactors for wastewater treatment. Crit Rev Environ Sci Technol 30(1):1–48
- 44. Cornel P, Wagner M, Krause S (2003) Investigation of oxygen transfer rates in full scale membrane bioreactors. Water Sci Technol 47(11):313–319
- 45. Giesen A, Van Bentem A, Gademan GEH (2008) Lessons learnt in facility design, tendering and operation of MBR's for industrial and municipal wastewater treatment. In: Proceedings of WISA biennial conference and exhibition, paper 102, Sun City, South Africa
- 46. Gabarrón S, Ferrero G, Dalmau M, Comas J, Rodriguez-Roda I (2014) Assessment of energysaving strategies and operational costs in full-scale membrane bioreactors. J Environ Manage 134:8–14
- 47. Krzeminski P, Leverette L, Malamis S, Katsou E (2017) Membrane bioreactors a review on recent developments in energy reduction, fouling control, novel configurations, LCA and market prospects. J Membr Sci 527:207–227
- 48. Sun J, Liang P, Yan X, Zuo K, Xiao K, Xia J, Qiu Y, Wu Q, Wu S, Huang X, Qi M, Wen X (2016) Reducing aeration energy consumption in a large-scale membrane bioreactor: process simulation and engineering application. Water Res 93:205–213
- 49. Yan X, Xiao K, Liang S, Lei T, Liang P, Xue T, Yu K, Guan J, Huang X (2015) Hydraulic optimization of membrane bioreactor via baffle modification using computational fluid dynamics. Bioresour Technol 175:633–637

- 50. Habib R, Asif MB, Iftekhar S, Khan Z, Gurung K, Srivastava V, Sillanpää M (2017) Influence of relaxation modes on membrane fouling in submerged membrane bioreactor for domestic wastewater treatment. Chemosphere 181:19–25
- Barillon B, Ruel SM, Langlais C, Lazarova V (2013) Energy efficiency in membrane bioreactors. Water Sci Technol 67(12):2685–2691
- 52. Itokawa H, Tsuji K, Yamashita K, Hashimoto T (2014) Design and operating experiences of full-scale municipal membrane bioreactors in Japan. Water Sci Technol 69(5):1088–1093
- Santos A, Ma W, Judd SJ (2011) Membrane bioreactors: two decades of research and implementation. Desalination 273(1):148–154
- Judd S, Judd C (2011) The MBR book: principles and applications of membrane bioreactors for water and wastewater treatment.2nd edn. Elsevier, Amsterdam. ISBN: 9780080966823
- 55. Young T, Smoot S, Peeters J, Côté P (2013) When does building an MBR make sense? How variations of local construction and operating cost parameters impact overall project economics. Proc Water Environ Fed 2013(8). https://doi.org/10.2175/193864713813716444
- 56. Young T, Smoot S, Peeters J, Côté P (2014) Cost-effectiveness of membrane bioreactors treatment system for low-level phosphorus reduction from municipal wastewater. Water Pract Tech 9(3):316–323
- 57. van Bentem AGN, Nijman N, Schyns PFT, Petri CP (2010) MBR varsseveld: 5 years of operational experience. Water Pract Tech 5(1)
- Mizuta K, Shimada M (2010) Benchmarking energy consumption in municipal wastewater treatment plants in Japan. Water Sci Technol 62(10):2256–2262
- 59. Gnirss R, Dittrich J (2000) Microfiltration of municipal wastewater for disinfection and advanced phosphorus removal: results from trials with different small-scale pilot plants. Water Environ Res 72(5):602–609
- 60. Yang L, Zeng S, Chen J, He M, Yang W (2010) Operational energy performance assessment system of municipal wastewater treatment plants. Water Sci Technol 62(6):1361–1370
- Akamatsu K, Lu W, Sugawara T, Nakao S-I (2010) Development of a novel fouling suppression system in membrane bioreactors using an intermittent electric field. Water Res 44(3): 825–830
- Ho J, Smith S, Roh HK (2014) Alternative energy efficient membrane bioreactor using reciprocating submerged membrane. Water Sci Technol 70(12):1998–2003
- 63. Kola A, Ye Y, Ho A, Le-Clech P, Chen V (2012) Application of low frequency transverse vibration on fouling limitation in submerged hollow fibre membranes. J Membr Sci 409–410: 54–65
- 64. Rector TJ, Garland JL, Starr SO (2006) Dispersion characteristics of a rotating hollow fiber membrane bioreactor: effects of module packing density and rotational frequency. J Membr Sci 278(1):144–150
- Asif MB, Maqbool T, Zhang Z (2020) Electrochemical membrane bioreactors: state-of-the-art and future prospects. Sci Total Environ 741:140233
- 66. Wang Y-K, Sheng G-P, Li W-W, Huang Y-X, Yu Y-Y, Zeng RJ, Yu H-Q (2011) Development of a novel bioelectrochemical membrane reactor for wastewater treatment. Environ Sci Technol 45(21):9256–9261
- Wang Y-P, Liu X-W, Li W-W, Li F, Wang Y-K, Sheng G-P, Zeng RJ, Yu H-Q (2012) A microbial fuel cell-membrane bioreactor integrated system for cost-effective wastewater treatment. Appl Energy 98:230–235
- 68. Gao F, Yang Z-H, Li C, Zeng G-M, Ma D-H, Zhou L (2015) A novel algal biofilm membrane photobioreactor for attached microalgae growth and nutrients removal from secondary effluent. Bioresour Technol 179:8–12
- 69. Nguyen LN, Truong MV, Nguyen AQ, Johir MAH, Commault AS, Ralph PJ, Semblante GU, Nghiem LD (2020) A sequential membrane bioreactor followed by a membrane microalgal reactor for nutrient removal and algal biomass production. Environ Sci Water Res Technol 6(1): 189–196

- Huyskens C, Brauns E, Van Hoof E, Diels L, De Wever H (2011) Validation of a supervisory control system for energy savings in membrane bioreactors. Water Res 45(3):1443–1453
- 71. Tao G, Kekre K, Oo MH, Viswanath B, Yusof AMD, Seah H (2010) Energy reduction and optimisation in membrane bioreactor systems. Water Pract Tech 5(4)
- 72. Germain E, Nelles F, Drews A, Pearce P, Kraume M, Reid E, Judd SJ, Stephenson T (2007) Biomass effects on oxygen transfer in membrane bioreactors. Water Res 41(5):1038–1044
- 73. Ferrero G, Rodríguez-Roda I, Comas J (2012) Automatic control systems for submerged membrane bioreactors: a state-of-the-art review. Water Res 46(11):3421–3433
- 74. Yamashita K, Itokawa H, Hashimoto T (2019) Demonstration of energy-saving membrane bioreactor (MBR) systems. Water Sci Technol 79(3):448–457
- 75. Ortiz M, Raluy RG, Serra L (2007) Life cycle assessment of water treatment technologies: wastewater and water-reuse in a small town. Desalination 204(1):121–131
- Memon FA, Zheng Z, Butler D, Shirley-Smith C, Lui S, Makropoulos C, Avery L (2007) Life cycle impact assessment of greywater recycling technologies for new developments. Environ Monit Assess 129(1):27–35
- 77. Jeong H, Broesicke OA, Drew B, Crittenden JC (2018) Life cycle assessment of small-scale greywater reclamation systems combined with conventional centralized water systems for the City of Atlanta, Georgia. J Clean Prod 174:333–342
- Høibye L, Clauson-Kaas J, Wenzel H, Larsen HF, Jacobsen BN, Dalgaard O (2008) Sustainability assessment of advanced wastewater treatment technologies. Water Sci Technol 58(5): 963–968
- 79. Hospido A, Sanchez I, Rodriguez-Garcia G, Iglesias A, Buntner D, Reif R, Moreira MT, Feijoo G (2012) Are all membrane reactors equal from an environmental point of view? Desalination 285:263–270
- Kobayashi Y, Ashbolt NJ, Davies EGR, Liu Y (2020) Life cycle assessment of decentralized greywater treatment systems with reuse at different scales in cold regions. Environ Int 134: 105215
- 81. Cashman S, Ma X, Mosley J, Garland J, Crone B, Xue X (2018) Energy and greenhouse gas life cycle assessment and cost analysis of aerobic and anaerobic membrane bioreactor systems: influence of scale, population density, climate, and methane recovery. Bioresour Technol 254: 56–66

Anaerobic Treatment System: A Sustainable Clean Environment and Future Hope of Renewable Energy Production



Abimbola Motunrayo Enitan-Folami and Feroz Mahomed Swalaha

Contents

1	Introduction 17		
2	2 Overview of Anaerobic Technologies for Waste-to-Energy Management		
	2.1 Anaerobic Reactor Types	171	
	2.2 Bioeconomy and Ecological Benefits of Energy Recovery from Wastes Using AD		
	Technologies	174	
3	Development of Biorefinery for Bioenergy Production		
	3.1 Utilization of Anaerobic Reactor for Conversion of Wastes to Bioenergy in		
	South Africa	181	
4	Biochemistry and Microbiology of Anaerobic Digestion Process	185	
	4.1 Functions of Methanogenic Archaea in Biogas Production	187	
5	Determination of Microbial Fingerprint in an Anaerobic Reactor Using Molecular		
	Techniques	189	
6	Conclusions	191	
7	Recommendation and Future Perspectives		
Re	References 1		

Abstract Anaerobic digestion (AD) of organic wastes is a popular biological treatment method. It is a useful technology in waste management and environmental health especially for mitigating greenhouse gases (GHSs). It is an economic process that treats a wide range of low- to high-strength organic materials for the production of value-added products such as feed biobased products and bioenergy through a diverse group of microorganisms. Several anaerobic digestion systems have been widely employed to treat both domestic and industrial wastes before they are discharged into the environment. The application of anaerobic technologies is considered a significantly viable economically sustainable system for treatment of both solid and liquid wastes. Its benefits include removal of organic matter, high

A. M. Enitan-Folami (🖂) and F. M. Swalaha

Department of Biotechnology and Food Technology, Durban University of Technology, Durban, South Africa

Mahmoud Nasr and Abdelazim M. Negm (eds.),

Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems, Hdb Env Chem (2023) 118: 169–198, DOI 10.1007/698_2021_792, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021, Published online: 23 July 2021

treatment efficiency, pathogens removal, production of renewable energy, capable of power generation at a low cost, and less biomass production. Nonetheless, this chapter is a review of the following: different anaerobic digestion systems in the treatment of waste products; the bioeconomic and social importance of using anaerobic reactor for biofuel production and methods of identification and quantification of microbial consortia in an anaerobic reactor. The review further highlights the role of different methanogens as the major group of archaea for biogas production. Other ways to increase biofuel generation are also explored. The chapter concludes that environmental and economic challenges in waste management and energy resource scarcity could be alleviated sufficiently using an anaerobic digestion system.

Keywords Anaerobic reactor, Bioeconomic, Biogas, Methanogens, Wastes management

1 Introduction

Increase in energy demand, persistent interruption in power supply, and emission of greenhouse gases (GHGs) have led to quest for alternative energy sources in recent years. The use of traditional fossils fuels for energy production is non-renewable and the causes of many environmental issues, like GHGs emissions, global warming, and oil spillage [1, 2]. These environmental issues have led to the need for alternative energy production strategies with less adverse environmental and health effects. Therefore, anaerobic production of bioenergy is a sustainable process for converting organic waste into energy and value-added chemicals through various conversion pathways and treatment methods. For many years, biotechnological production of biofuels such as biomethane, biohydrogen, biodiesel, and bioethanol has been under examination [3]. To this end, the production of bioenergy has been identified as an alternate energy source to substitute fossil fuel with little negative effects on the environment and health [1].

2 Overview of Anaerobic Technologies for Waste-to-Energy Management

Anaerobic digestion technology has proven to be an established oldest biotechnological tool for bioconversion of complex organic wastes produced by human societies. This process takes place in a warm and airtight container (the reactor) where, thorough mixing during treatment creates the ideal conditions for microorganisms to ferment the organic matter into biofuel and useful slurry that can be used as fertilizers [4, 5]. Anaerobic systems' benefits make this method a better alternative

Parameter	Aerobic digestion	Anaerobic digestion
Start-up	Short start-up period	Long start-up period
Space requirement	Large space required for the reactor.	Compact reactor with small area requirements
State of development	Established technology	Still under development for specific applications
Process	Integrated nitrogen and phosphorus removal possible High sludge formation Large reactor volume necessary High nutrient requirement	No significant nitrogen or phosphorus removal. Post-treatment is required for nutrients removal Less sludge formation (5–20%) Small reactor volume and simple con- figuration Low nutrient requirement
Carbon balance	50–60% conversion of organic mate- rials degradation into CO_2 40–50% conversion of organic mate- rials degradation into biomass	95% conversion to biogas 5% into microbial biomass
Energy balance	Requires a large amount of process energy 60% of available energy is used in new biomass; 40% lost as process heat	Requires less energy instead produces bioenergy 90% retained as CH_4 , 3–5% is lost as heat, and 5–7% is used in new biomass formation
Residuals	Excess sludge production No need for post-treatment	Biogas, nitrogen mineralized to ammo- nia Post-treatment required for removal of remaining organic matter and malodor- ous compounds
Costs	High operating costs for aeration, additional nutrient, and sludge removal, and maintenance	Often moderate investment costs Low operating costs due to low power consumption and additional nutrients hardly required

 Table 1
 Comparison of aerobic and anaerobic digestion [6]

for waste treatment and generation of bioeconomic by-products when compared with the aerobic treatment of waste materials (Table 1) [7, 8].

2.1 Anaerobic Reactor Types

In the last three decades, different reactor technologies have been developed and installed to stabilize the sludge and degrade organic matter present in wastewater and solid wastes [9]. Among these technologies are up-flow anaerobic sludge bed (UASB) reactor [10–12], up-flow anaerobic solid-state reactor (UASS), anaerobic plug-flow reactor (APFR), expanded granular sludge bed (EGSB) [13], membrane bioreactor (MBR) [14], and hybrid upflow anaerobic sludge-filter bed (UASFB) [15]. Among other reactors that have been widely used for wastes treatment are anaerobic contact reactor (ACR), anaerobic baffled reactor (ABR), anaerobic

sequencing batch reactor (ASBR) [16], continuous stirred tank reactors (CSTR) [2, 17, 18], anaerobic fixed-bed reactors (AFBR), and membrane technology [19, 20]. These reactors have been reported to treat different types of low- and high-strength wastewater such as brewery, cheese whey, palm oil mill, pharmaceutical compounds, and hospital wastewaters among other industrial wastes [2, 13, 21, 22]. However, the EGSB, CSTRs, and UASB reactors are the most widely used to treat high-rate anaerobic reactor and biogas production [23].

2.1.1 Continuous Stirred Tank Reactors (CSTRs)

Lagoons and continuous stirred tank reactors (CSTRs) are the simplest anaerobic systems [18]. The CSTR is also known as a vat- or back mix reactor, [24, 25] and its runs at the steady-state condition with a continuous and uniform feed of substrates and products' removal. Lagoon system that has no unique sludge retention because hydraulic retention time (HRT) is equal to the sludge retention time (SRT); thus, reducing the suspended biomass concentration and limiting the biological treatment capacity [26]. Unlike lagoon system, when sludge is introduced into a CSTR, an impeller or biogas blowers stir the liquor to ensure proper mixing while the outflow from the CSTR is moved into the settler. In the settler, the treated liquid separates from the biomass then returns the biomass to the CSTR (Fig. 1). This reactor is very efficient in treating different organic-rich wastewater [27]. However, it has limitations such as high operational costs, labor-intensive, and operates at relatively low volumetric loading rates due to the flocculent. It also dilutes the nature of the



Fig. 1 Schematic diagram of a continuous stirred tank reactor (CSTR)

anaerobic sludge [18, 28]. Although, the CSTR is simple to operate, but less efficient in effluent quality than other reactor technologies [7].

2.1.2 Expanded Granular Sludge Bed (EGSB) Reactor

The use of effluent recirculation combined with a high height/diameter ratio reactors resulted in expanded granular sludge bed (EGSB) reactor [29, 30]. EGSB combines both characteristics of upflow sludge blanket (USB) and biofilm fluidized bed (BFB) processes [31]. It is considered to be a completely mixed tank digester in which both the EGSB and UASB processes use granular anaerobic biomass. They have the same operational principles but differ in terms of geometry and process parameters. A high superficial liquid velocity is applied in this type of reactor for wastewater to pass through the sludge bed while the biomass is present in a granular form. The upflow liquid velocity (10 m/h) causes the granular sludge bed to expand, which enabled the elimination of dead zones resulting in better sludge wastewater contact with the granules for better gas production (7 m/h) [10]. An increase in upflow velocity rate is accomplished by either tall reactor dimension or recirculation of effluent or both (Fig. 2) [32] while hydraulic condition determines the structure of biofilm in the



reactor. The high load and mass transfer also affect the microbial proliferation and matrix of the reactor granules [30]. The EGBS reactor is highly efficient for treating low strength wastewater (WW) (0.7–0.9 g COD/L) with good granular composition for biogas production [33, 34]. Likewise, EGSB can be operated as an ultra-high load anaerobic reactor (up to 30 kg COD/m³/day) to treat effluents from chemical, biochemical, and biotechnological industries [13, 30].

Besides, there is a problem of instability of the granular conglomerates during continuous operation, washout, and granule disintegration due to high upflow velocities application in the EGSB reactor. Due to these facts, so much research had reported the application of EGSB combined with other reactors like anoxic and aerobic bioreactors [13, 33, 35]. Others have recommended the attachment of an extra dissolved air flotation (DAF) system which is often used before secondary biological processes to reduce sludge washout and treat difficult toxic streams [33, 36, 37]. Based on studies conducted by Wenta and Hartman [38], about 95% reduction in TSS concentration during the treatment of pulp and paper mill wastewater was observed when DAF method was used.

2.1.3 Upflow Anaerobic Sludge Blanket (UASB) Reactors

The UASB reactor designed by Lettinga et al. [39] has made anaerobic digestion the most competitive and favorable treatment technology for high-strength organic wastewaters [40, 41]. It has been widely employed to treat industrial and domestic wastes around the world due to its features such as simple design, easy construction, maintenance, low operating cost, high removal efficiency, short retention time, stability, temperature, and low energy demand [11, 42, 43]. Like EGSB, a UASB reactor is highly dependent on granular sludge as the core component during wastewater treatment for effective conversion of organic matter to biogas (Fig. 3) [44, 45]. Several laboratories, pilot, and full-scale reactors have been optimized to treat different types of domestic and industrial wastewaters [46-48]. Some of the industrial effluents treated by UASB reactor include slaughterhouse [49], pulp and paper, textile [50], pharmaceutical [51], sugar factories [52, 53], and brewery wastewater among others [40, 54, 55]. Despite the benefits and simplicity of the UASB reactor, maintaining a steady-state condition is still one of the difficulties faced by UASB reactor operators [6]. Descriptions and further information about other types of reactors have been reviewed in the literature [14, 16, 41].

2.2 Bioeconomy and Ecological Benefits of Energy Recovery from Wastes Using AD Technologies

Over the years, mankind have relied on various energy sources especially coal as the primary energy generator. However, in the twentieth century, waste management strategies and reduction of environmental impacts caused by waste disposal have gained more attention due to its effects on climate change and environmental health



Fig. 3 Schematic diagram of an upflow anaerobic sludge bed (UASB) reactor with red balls indicating granules and yellow balls indicating evolved biogas

concerns. For instance, in 2016 only, the reported data for GHGs produced worldwide from various industrial sectors and processes was about 50 billion tonnes (Fig. 4) [56]. Hence, high measures are being put in place to comply and reduce the biodegradable liquid and solid wastes flowing into water bodies and landfills in order to reduce the amount of GHGs emissions into the environment.

Since methane and carbon dioxide are considered potent GHGs, approximately 18% of global warming is thought to be caused by anthropogenic derived methane emissions. The carbon dioxide released through natural mineralization is considered neutral in terms of GHGs. For example, the uptake of carbon from the atmosphere by plants and its return to the atmosphere as part of the carbon cycle is considered a green approach to mitigate environmental pollution [5]. Therefore, environmental and economic aspects of waste management should be maintained as a circular relationship for facing existing environmental problems and resource scarcity [57]. Treatment of wastes through AD technology is an economic process that



OurWorldinData.org – Research and data to make progress against the world's largest problems. Source: Climate Watch, the World Resources Institute (2020). Licensed under CC-BY by the author Hannah Ritchie (2020).

Fig. 4 Global greenhouse gas emission data with 49.4 billion tonnes CO_2 eq. produced from industrial sectors in 2016. Source: Our World in Data, (2020) licensed permission to reuse under the Creative Commons Attribution License – By the author Hannah Ritchie [56]

involves converting waste streams into value-added products, such as feed, biobased products, and bioenergy [3, 57]. Hence, anaerobic treatment of wastes or biomass before being discharged into the environment or municipal sewers is considered an essential aspect of waste management. Such process not only reduces topsoil and freshwater pollution, but also helps in cleaning the atmospheric air, thus prevents the emission of greenhouse gases into an open environment and reduces the coal usage for energy generation [21, 58].

2.2.1 Anaerobic Reactor for Value-Added Products Recovery

Bioenergy (biogas, bioethanol, etc.) production through anaerobic digestion of wastes is a worldwide promising energy source which offers many environmental and socio-economic advantages. The benefits are multifaceted and the process of
using anaerobic digestion for the treatment of both solid and liquid wastes are without side effects (Fig. 5). These significant benefits include:

- (a) Fermentation of animal/human wastes: Fermentation of wastes produced by animal and humans helps to mitigate environmental issues that could arise due to improper discharge or runoff into the water bodies. This ultimately prevents the spread of pathogens.
- (b) Provision of alternative material to unsustainable deforestation: Anaerobic treatment of wastes and biogas production with high CH₄ content is an excellent alternative to fossil fuel because human and industrial activities produce sufficient amounts of wastes [59]. It is interesting to note that if biogas produced during wastes treatment contains more than 50% of CH₄, it could be used as fuel energy; for heating, cooking, lighting, or to generate electricity for domestic and broader industrial activities [60], hence mitigate the act of deforestation [14, 61].
- (c) Improves air quality: As earlier mentioned, AD technology combines the treatment of industrial wastes and energy production to reduce environmental pollution. It prevents methane, a GHGs, from entering into the atmosphere by confining the degradation processes in a closed environment. It also helps to control gas flaring leading to production of carbon neutral carbon dioxide back into the carbon cycle. It lowers carbon dioxide production that is not part of the recent carbon cycle [5]. It also cuts down the impacts of emissions during energy generation from coal.
- (d) Alternative energy source: Biofuel is a veritable alternative energy source to fossil fuel. Its produce can be used to generate electricity through internal engine combustion and instead of flaring the gas, the resulting biogas is combusted for boiler heating and energy to operate distillation column (see Fig. 6) [2, 62, 63]. Thus, the problems of residual stillage treatment are solved by conversion into biofuel gas and thus mitigate the problems with energy supply and spending [64]. Similarly, biodiesel from fermented animal fats and crops, bioethanol from starch crops, and sugar have shown that AD system, when used properly, could be an efficient and sustainable biofuel generator [65, 66].
- (e) Production of by-products: Furthermore, an anaerobic reactor is also beneficial for producing treated sludge that farmers can use as fertilizer. Due to inconsistency in price and environmental pollutions, there are more reasons for more clean and sustainable by-products like biofertilizers. With these, global demands for fertilizers can be met because the effluent from bioreactor has proven to be very rich in nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium. This suggests that they are useful for agricultural application. Therefore, AD system is effective for waste recycling, production of high-quality manure, and biofuel generation with zero discharge into the environment.

2.2.2 Social-Economic Benefits of AD Technology and Human Empowerment

Bioenergy is an emerging industry. Its development provides several opportunities both economically and socially. For economic and social benefits example, the use







Fig. 6 Conceptual framework of the relationship between environment, circular economy system (CES), waste-to-energy (WTE), and supply chains [56]

of AD system for wastes treatment engenders human empowerment, integrated agriculture through fertilizer production, carbon emissions reduction, and national policy incentives (Fig. 5) [67]. It enhances job creation through the manufacturing of small-scale biogas digesters. More importantly, the use of biogas could assist the female folks to concentrate less on the utilization of wood and charcoal in their cooking activities. In 2016, about 41.6 million rural households in China used biogas [67, 68], which shows that the biogas industry is empowering people, creating jobs, and reducing air pollutants like particulate matters that could be inhaled by people. This is aiding the prevention of health-related issues and thus mitigates the effects of GHGs on the environment and its impact on climate change [69].

3 Development of Biorefinery for Bioenergy Production

From a Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) point of view, mitigating CH_4 emissions is fascinating since the Global Warming Potential (GWP) of Methane is 21 times higher than that of CO_2 [70]. Under anaerobic conditions, CH_4 , CO_2 ,

nitrogen (N₂), hydrogen (H₂), hydrogen sulfide (H₂S), and oxygen (O₂) called "biogas" are produced [71] with calorific values of 21-24 Mj/m³, an equivalent value of 6 KWh/m³ of CH_4 [9, 72]. Energy generation from biomass is classified as a "carbon neutral" process because CO₂ released during this process is balanced by the CO₂ absorbed by plants during their growth [70]. Electricity production from renewable energy is increasing through the fermentation of sludge produced from sewerage treatment plants into liquid fuels [73]. Tons of biosolids are converted into crude oil that can be used to replace oil extraction from beneath the earth's surface. Based on the US Department of Energy, bioenergy technologies treating municipal wastewater have been described as promising bioenergy production sources [74]. Methane gas from AD as a renewable energy source has been adopted as one of the CDM to obtain a certified emission reduction (CER) credit under the Kvoto Protocol. The ignition of biogas burns cleanly without soot or foul smell as compressed natural gas (CNG) and liquefied petroleum gas (LPG). It, therefore, facilitates biogas promotion for the reduction of greenhouse effect by cutting down methane emissions into the atmosphere.

Biogas generation has been widely adopted in Asia, particularly in places like Bangladesh, China, India, and Nepal for energy production [75, 76]. This offers such developing countries the advantage of foreign investments in sustainable renewable energy projects [76, 77]. Between 2007 and 2015, for instance, implementing national biomass energy from industrial wastes was passed in China with over 118 biomass CDM projects approved by the National and Local Development and Reform Commissions (NDRC and LDRC) [70, 76, 78]. In 2009, the Danish Carbon Fund (DCF) signed six emission reduction purchase agreements (ERPA) (1) with the Thailand Sapthip Wastewater Management project, (2) two China Baotou Energy Efficiency projects, and (3) one Mexico Monterrey II LFG. The worth of these projects was valued at €53.8 million (\$77 million) with total emission reductions of 6.6 million tons of CO2. The Sapthip Wastewater Management Project in Thailand aimed at reducing the emissions at the Sapthip Company's bioethanol plant as part of a clean development mechanism to generate and capture methane-containing biogas produced during the treatment of wastewater in anaerobic reactors. The biogas produced can be used as fuel to operate two 20-ton-per-hour-capacity boilers that supply steam to the ethanol plant's backup capacity [79].

Excluding household biogas plants, approximately 113,000 biodigesters were built throughout China [80], among which 6, 737 are large scale and 34 are super large scale. About 306 reactors treat industrial wastes, 458 plants utilize a straw, and approximately 99.6% of these plants use animal manure as feedstock [67]. In 2015, upgrade of biogas to bio-natural gas (BNG) projects was for the first time carried out at the central government level in China with a total of 65 BNG projects between 2015 and 2017. Meanwhile, 197 projects are estimated to be functioning by the end of 2020 [69]. Yet, it was estimated that fossil energy would gradually be replaced by hydroelectric power and nuclear energy. By 2035, more than half of China's demands will be filled by renewable energy [67]. The Indian waste-to-energy market is presently 750 MW, which is expected to reach a whopping 3 GW by 2050 [81]. In

Brazil, on the other hand, renewable energy was converted to electricity with the capacity of 30 kW microturbine [67].

3.1 Utilization of Anaerobic Reactor for Conversion of Wastes to Bioenergy in South Africa

In Africa, bioenergy generation from wastes is still at the infant stage. Most developing countries like South Africa have paid little attention to implementing national biomass energy from wastewater than the world's implementation of AD technology [82]. The first anaerobic digester in the countries was installed by John Fry to treat wastes produced by a pig farm in 1957. By 1958, the first bioelectricity was generated from the same plant to power pumps [83]. Many digesters have since been installed in the country, although at a slow rate compared to market penetration in the aforementioned countries. South Africa, among other African countries, have been using anaerobic reactors to treat industrial wastes [6, 84]. There was a report on four full-scale reactors treating abattoir, brewery, egg processing, and petrochemical wastes to generate biogas that can be converted to electricity. In another survey, four leading international companies (ADI, Biothane, Paques, and Enviroasia) installed anaerobic treatment plants with typical application of UASB reactors to wastewater from different industries [85]. About 700 installed reactors are currently being employed to treat various South African wastes as shown in Table 2 [83, 87].

For energy sustainability, more development in renewable and sustainable energy was developed by different sectors. For instance, Talbot & Talbot installed four on-site anaerobic digesters to treat food and beverage wastes to produce biogas that can be harvested to power boilers for fuel production which could replace fossil fuel usage [82, 88]. Based on a literature survey, most industries are still flaring or venting the biogas produced from the on-site anaerobic reactor into the atmosphere [86]. It has been shown that biogas produced during the anaerobic treatment process is 10% to 11% of the total energy required to safeguard the power supply for many industries [88]. This demonstrates that the usage of bioenergy from AD system has poorly been integrated into the energy sector, and the opportunity to mitigate greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions has not been fully embraced in many countries.

However, few on-site digesters use biogas to power their reactor, heat boiler, and building spaces [86]. For example, Cape Flats wastewater treatment plant in Cape Town, PetroSA's gas-to-liquids refinery in Mossel Bay, SA breweries Prospecton, Durban, and some isolated communities, households, and small-scale industrial anaerobic digesters are a few exceptions where biogas plants have been adopted for energy generation [82, 86, 89]. Cape Flats wastewater treatment plant in Cape Town installed a reactor to treat dry and pellets wastewater sludge for biogas production while reducing environmental contamination and sludge disposal costs. This plant serves as an energy source while the pellets were reported to have ~16.6 MJ/kg helping a local cement factory as an additional energy source to

Wastenster			Energy potential: thermal	
type	Volume produced	Approach to calculation	(MWt)	Area
Brewery		Distributed. Seven breweries	17	
Distillery	-	Distributed. Grain, grape, and sugar-cane (molasses) are consid- ered. Compared to grain and grape, molasses have the most significant energy potential; they are not seasonal and less distributed (three signifi- cant plants, all in Kwa- Zulu-Natal)	70	KwaZulu- Natal
Winery	0.7 and 3.8 m3/ton of grapes processed (0.8– 4.4 L/L of wine pro- duced) COD = 6 g/L; 1,000 ML/year of wastewater	Distributed and seasonal	3	
Fruit processing	20% of 2,100,000 ton citrus fruit (2005) was used For juice, wastewater COD = 15 g/L; 205,000 ton deciduous in 1999/ 2000 for which the wastewater COD aver- ages 5 g/L	Distributed and sea- sonal. Only the waste- waters from canning and juicing in Western cape are considered (pulp and pomace excluded). Operates 4 months of the year	68	Western cape
Petrochemical waste	PetroSA electricity plant produces 12 MW electricity using biogas as the raw material	Sasol is assumed to pro- duce $3 \times$ more based on plant size. PetroSA and Sasol. Four refineries and one gas to liquid fuel refinery	48	
Textile industry	-	Distributed	22	
Pulp and paper		17 mills	45-100	
Olive production	100 g/L; 89ML/year	Distributed and seasonal	4	
Animal husbandry		Cattle in feedlots. Mixed solid and liquid wastes slurries. They represent point sources that can be accessed through on-site energy recovery. Nine	79–215	

 Table 2 Energy potentials of wastewaters from various South Africa sectors [86]

(continued)

			Energy potential:	
Wastewater			power	
type	Volume produced	Approach to calculation	(MWt)	Area
		feedlots represent more than half the total cattle in feedlots		
		Red meat and poultry abattoirs consider liquid wastes only	1–55	
		Piggeries mixed solid and liquid waste slurries	18–715	
		Poultry farms considers solid waste only	940– 2,976	
		Rural cattle considers solid waste only that are collected at night in kraals. Only a small per- centage of this energy is realistically recoverable	1,271– 3,445	
		Dairies mixed solid and liquid waste slurries col- lected including washing and milk spills	117–121	
Domestic Blackwater (human feces)	200 L/day wastewater per person. Population of SA = 48.5 million, hence $9,70 \times 10^9$ L/day is generated. COD esti- mated at 0.860 g/L, Energy content = 15 MJ	Municipal treatment plants serve only 60% of the population, therefore only 60% of human feces are currently cap- tured. These plants are distributed, approxi- mately 968 WWT plants exist in SA. The majority of these plants are small at <0.5 ML/day, with larger plants of 2.5 ML/day. Treatment plants also receive domestic urine, greywater, and industrial load, not considered here	509-842	
Abattoir	4 t of wastes/day	-	100 kW	Bredasdorp
Abattoir	20 t of wastes/day	-	500 kW	Cavatter

Table 2 (continued)

power their kilns [86]. In 2018, a waste-to-energy generator was launched in Cape Town as a sustainable power production with a capacity of 220 kw using a combined heat and power unit (CHP) system for the treatment of abattoir waste with the capacity to produce electrical power and thermal energy.

South Africa's first independent State-owned power plant, PetroSA's gas-toliquids refinery near Mossel Bay in South Africa was commissioned in 2007 and funded by carbon credits generated under the CDM of the Kyoto Protocol [90]. It is a combined heat and power plant to utilize the biogas production from wastewater treatment plant (WWTP). The electrical output replaces 4.2 MW of grid-based electricity and the plant was expected to produce approximately 33, 000 t per year of certified emissions' reductions (CERs). Along with receiving debt financing from the Development Bank of South Africa, the sale of emissions credits has contributed to the PetroSA project's economic viability [86, 90]. Stafford et al. [86] and Mutungwazi et al. [87] reviewed the treatment of different types of wastewater using an anaerobic reactor (industries and domestic blackwater) (Table 2). Anaerobic reactor was reported to have the potential to recover 3,200–9,000 MWth of energy equating about 7% of current electrical power supply in South Africa with approximately 140,000 MWth or 42,000 MWe energy demand [86].

Anaerobic treatment technology has helped in multifaceted areas by providing solutions to social, economic, and environmental issues with robust commercial viability in biofuel production that can generate heat, electricity, transportation fuel, and mitigation of GHGs [81]. However, implementation of the full potential of bioenergy at the commercial level is facing challenges in South Africa due to limitations such as insufficient skills by anaerobic reactor operators, lack of awareness about AD biogas technology, and non-implementation of research findings among many other factors (Fig. 7) [86].



Fig. 7 Various challenges facing the future of wastes-to-bioenergy production

4 Biochemistry and Microbiology of Anaerobic Digestion Process

Understanding the overall biochemistry and microbial composition of technology is necessary to improve bioenergy recovery during the anaerobic digestion process. During this process, there are four key sequential stages, namely; hydrolysis, acidogenesis, acetogenesis, and methanogenesis. At each stage, the breakdown of feedstock in the substrates is facilitated by a group of facultative, obligate, and strictly anaerobic bacteria [91, 92]. These organisms are divided into four groups based on the biochemical processes and the metabolites they produce (Fig. 8, Table 3). Under ideal conditions, these microorganisms breakdown the complex organic compounds through a variety of intermediates into the components of biogas. Example of elements are CH_4 and CO_2 with small levels of H_2S , H_2 , and N_2 based on the overall reaction shown in Eq. (1) [6, 92, 96, 97].



Fig. 8 The key stages of anaerobic digestion process during the treatment of wastes products [6]

Reaction	$\Delta G (\text{kJ mol}^{-1})$	
Acidogenesis:		
$C_6H_{12}O_6 + 2H_2O \rightarrow 2 \text{ ethanol} + 2HCO_3^- + 2H^+$	-225.4	
$\hline C_6H_{12}O_6 + 2H_2O \rightarrow butyrate + 2HCO_3^- + 3H^+ + 2H_2$	-254.4	
$C_6H_{12}O_6 \rightarrow 2 \text{ lactate + } 2\text{H}^+$	-198.1	
$C_6H_{12}O_6 \rightarrow 3 \text{ acetate } + 3H^+$	-310.6	
$C_6H_{12}O_6 + HCO_3^- \rightarrow succinate^{2-} + acetate^- + formate^- + 3H^+ + H_2O$	-144.0	
$3 \text{ lactate}^- \rightarrow 2 \text{ propionate}^- + \text{ acetate}^- + \text{HCO}_3^- + \text{H}^+$	-164.8	
$2 \text{ lactate}^- + 2\text{H}_2\text{O} \rightarrow \text{butyrate}^- + 2\text{HCO}_3^- + \text{H}^+ + 2\text{H}_2$	-56.2	
Acetogenesis:		
Ethanol + 2HCO ₃ \rightarrow acetate + 2 formate ⁻ + H ₂ O + H ⁺	+7.0	
Ethanol + $H_2O \rightarrow acetate + 2H_2 + H^+$	+9.6	
Lactate ⁻ + 2H ₂ O \rightarrow acetate ⁻ + 2H ₂ ⁺ + H ⁺	-3.9	
Butyrate ⁻ + $2H_2O \rightarrow 2 \text{ acetate}^- + 2H_2^+ + H^+$	+48.1	
Benzoate ⁻ + $6H_2 \rightarrow 3$ acetate ⁻ + $3H_2^+$ + CO_2 + $2H^+$	+53.0	
succinate ²⁻ + $4H_2O \rightarrow acetate^-$ + $2HCO_3^-$ + $3H_2^+$ + H^+	+56.1	
$Propionate^{-} + 3H_2O \rightarrow acetate^{-} + HCO_3^{-} + 3H_2 + H^+$	+76.1	
Homoacetogenesis:		
$4H_2^+ + 2HCO_3^- + H^+ \rightarrow acetate^- + 4H_2O$	-104.5	
Methanogenesis:		
Acetate ⁻ + $H_2O \rightarrow$ methane + HCO_3^-	-31.0	
$4H_2^+ + HCO_3^- + H^+ \rightarrow methane + 3H_2O$	-135.6	
$4\text{HCO}_2^- + \text{H}^+ + \text{H}_2\text{O} \rightarrow \text{methane} + 3\text{HCO}_3^-$	-130.4	
4 methanol \rightarrow 3 methane + HCO ₃ ⁻ + H ⁺ + H ₂ O	-312.8	

 Table 3
 Fermentation reactions associated with the anaerobic conversion process in a successful operating bioreactor [93–95]

Organic matter
$$\rightarrow CH_4 + CO_2 + H_2 + NH_3 + H_2S$$
 (1)

On the one hand, about 70% of the total CH_4 production by methanogenic archaea during AD is from acetic acid. On the other hand, the remaining 30% comes from H₂ and CO₂ conversion [98]. It has been reported that about 80–90% CH_4 composition can be produced in reactors treating wastewater and more from biosolid wastes. The origin of the AD process and the biodegradable materials determine the composition of biogas produced. The percentage composition of methane is based on biodegradable feedback used in the digestion process and running conditions of the anaerobic reactor (Table 4). The stability of the microbial ecosystem in the AD process has been shown to depend on the methanogenic activity, which is characterized by slow growth rates of microorganisms. They are very sensitive to operational and environmental variations such as salinity, sludge properties, temperature, pH, mineral composition, loading rate, HRT, carbon-tonitrogen ratio, and volatile fatty acids (VFAs). These factors influence organic matter and biogas production [12, 99].

Table 4 Percentage of meth- ane composition from differ- ent anaerobic fermented feedstocks	Feedstock	Composition of methane (%)
	Barley straw	77
	Beet leaves	84.8
	Cattle manure	50.60
	Corn silage	54.5
	Grass	84
	Dried leaves	58
	Poultry waste	68
	Pig manure	60
	Sheep dung	65
	Horse dung	84
	Wheat straw	77

4.1 Functions of Methanogenic Archaea in Biogas Production

Unlike bacteria, methanogens are archeons. They have no typical peptidoglycan (mureinic) skeleton. Instead, several genera in archaea domain have pseudomurein. Others have walls consisting of lipids composed of isoprenoid hydrocarbons glycerol lipids with different metabolism [100, 101]. They are slow-growing archeons with a generation time between 3 days at 35 °C and 50 days at 10 °C [102]. Generally, methanogens are largely differentiated morphologically. They exhibit almost all in bacteria including cocci (Methanococcus), shapes occurring rods (Methanobacterium), short rods (Methanobrevibacter), spirillaceae (Methanospirillum), sarcina (Methanosarcina), and filiforms (Methanothrix) [6]. They are strict anaerobes and contain neither catalase nor superoxide dismutase with size ranges from 0.3 to 7.4 μm [103].

Studies have shown that three different major pathways exist for CH_4 formation depending on the source of the reducing potential and the carbon compound used as substrate (Fig. 9); which include hydrogenotrophic, aceticlastic, and the methylotrophic [100, 104]. Hydrogenotrophic methanogens are H₂ using organism. They use H₂ as an electron donor to reduce CO_2 to CH_4 (Fig. 9; Eq. (2)). This group helps in maintaining very low levels of partial pressure needed by the aceticlastic methanogens for the conversion of VFA and alcohols to acetate [93].

$$CO_2 + 4H_2 \rightarrow CH_4 + 2H_2O \tag{2}$$

Abundance of *Methanobacterium*, *Methanobrevibacter*, and *Methanococcus* of orders *Methanobacteriales*, *Methanomicrobiales*, *and Methanococcales* in different types of anaerobic bioreactor wastewaters treatment has been reported [18, 54, 105, 106]. The second group is the acetotrophic or aceticlastic methanogens which convert acetate to CH_4 and CO_2 [105, 107]. The overall reaction is shown in Eq. (3);



Fig. 9 Biochemical pathways of methanogenesis: hydrogenotrophic (double-lined arrows), aceticlastic (solid arrows), and methylotrophic (broken gray arrows) during anaerobic treatment. Licensed permission to reuse under the Creative Commons Attribution License (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/) [104]

$$CH_3COOH \rightarrow CH_4 + CO_2$$
 (3)

The most commonly reported aceticlastic methanogens from bioreactors belong to the genera *Methanosaeta* (coccoid bacteria) and *Methanosarcina*-sheathed rods or long filaments bacteria [106, 108]. This group of methanogens helps in the production of about 70% of the total CH₄ generated during the AD of wastewater [98]. *Methanosaeta* sp. such as *M. thermophila* and *M. concilii* belonging to genus *Methanosaeta* utilize acetate, while *Methanosarcina* strains like *M. barkeri*, *M. mazei*, and *M. thermophila* utilize acetate, methanol, methylamines, H₂, and CO₂ as [108]. The abundance of *Methanosarcina* sp. at high acetate levels and *Methanosaeta* sp. at low acetate concentrations was also reported [108]. An abundance of Methanosarcina and Methanosaeta sp. in granules treating different wastewaters at steady-state conditions has been reported in the literature [109, 110]. The third group is the methylotrophic methanogens belonging to order Methanosarcinales and Methanobacteriales which are directly responsible for producing CH_4 from assimilation of methyl groups (- CH_3), methylamines [(CH_3)³-N], and methanol (CH₃OH) as substrate [93]. Methanol is usually found as organic pollutant in several wastewaters and is a substrate for both methanogens and acetogens [104]. Ziemiński and Frac [100] reviewed the sensitivity of biochemistry, physiology, and ecology of methanogens to oxygen. Some of their characteristics include their sensitivity to changes in pH and temperature, inhibiting their growth by a high level of H₂, sulfur, NH₃, VFAs, and other compounds in the environment or in the anaerobic bioreactor [100, 111]. For sustainable and economic development using renewable energy and maximization of biofuel yield during anaerobic digestion, operational parameters must be properly optimized to encourage the growth of microorganisms required to produce biofuel of interest [112]. These, therefore influence biogas production during anaerobic digestion of solids and liquid wastes. For more details on this, see Sawyerr et al. [113] and Tabatabaei et al. [112].

5 Determination of Microbial Fingerprint in an Anaerobic Reactor Using Molecular Techniques

The main aims of studying microbial ecology include identifying, classifying, and determining microbial activity in an anaerobic reactor [100]. In the past, traditional methods of identification used to determine the morphology and phenotypic characteristics [114] were time-consuming and limited. Many microorganisms, especially the methanogens, are difficult to culture using such traditional methods because they are slow-growing organisms with restricted environmental conditions and particular nutritional requirements [115]. The development of advanced molecular techniques (Fig. 10) to study the complex microbial populations in environmental samples by targeting the 16S rRNA gene has eliminated the use of more elaborate traditional methods of culturing microorganisms. It has increased our understanding of the microbial communities present in anaerobic bioreactors and contributed to development of an improved process that encourages the growth of desirable microorganisms and enhances bioenergy yield.

Molecular techniques are grouped into two main groups; quantitative and qualitative. Qualitative methods include polymerase chain reaction (PCR), PCR-based denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (PCR-DGGE) [116, 117], temperature gradient gel electrophoresis (TGGE), and terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism (TRFLP). The most recent technique is next-generation sequencing such as Illumina platform, Pyrosequencing, and Ion Torrent platforms [105, 116, 118]. Microbial profiling techniques involve the amplification of isolated nucleic acids, sequencing and identification by comparing the generated sequences with



Fig. 10 Flow diagram of different steps used in studying microbial communities' structure and functions in an environmental sample

known sequences in the database. Next-generation sequencing (NGS) has emerged as a powerful tool for studying microbial communities because it is less costly and time-consuming and produces a greater yield of sequence data [119]. These methods have successfully been used to determine the shift and microbial populations in the laboratory- and industrial-scale bioreactors [105, 119, 120]. Due to the high cost of reagents and the need for technical skills to interpret the data generated, NGS's application remains at infant stage to determine the anaerobic organisms. A number of reports are however available on applying next-generation sequencing to understand microbial composition of full-scale bioreactors treating solid and liquid wastes [105, 116, 118, 121].

On the other hand, fluorescence in-situ hybridization (FISH) and quantitative real-time PCR (QPCR) are quantitative techniques that have been adopted for surveying microbial ecologies [52, 106, 122–124]. Fluorescence in-situ hybridization technique is based on the hybridization of whole cells with specific probes and microscopic analysis of dyed hybridized cells using epifluorescence microscopy,

flow cytometry, or scanning electron microscopy [106, 122, 125, 126]. Fluorescence in-situ hybridization has been used to analyze and understand microorganisms' spatial distribution [106, 115]. Quantitative real-time PCR, on the other hand, can be used to amplify and simultaneously quantify targeted DNA sequences by employing a PCR-based technique that enables one to quantify the number of gene copies or the relative number of gene copies in a given sample. The reliability and amplified gene copy number of QPCR results strongly depend on the extracted genomic DNA and reflect the relative abundance of the sample's microbial population [123]. The amplification principle of QPCR is similar to that of PCR. It monitors the amplified target's concentration after each PCR cycle using a fluorescent dye or probe change in fluorescence intensity that reflects the amplified gene's concentration in the real-time assay [123]. Either absolute or relative quantification can be used to determine the concentration of DNA or RNA in an extracted sample. The technique has been widely used to quantify the microbial population and dynamics in anaerobic reactors in their natural environments [124, 127].

However, it is challenging to monitor specific groups or a domain using only one technique as each technique has its own merits and demerits. Therefore, a combination of qualitative and quantitative methods, including PCR-DGGE, QPCR, and microarrays could be used to overcome the limitations of using one technique [128]. A combination of different molecular methods such as electron microscopy, PCR-based DGGE, cloning, and FISH to gain insight into the physical appearance, function, and structure of microbial diversity of methanogenic granules in a bioreactor treating wastewater has been explored in the past [18, 129]. The PCR-based DGGE and FISH analysis identify the microbial populations in a full-scale UASB treating brewery wastewater. Delta and Gammaproteobacteria, reactor Methanosaeta concilii, and Methanobacterium formicicum were reported as some of the dominant bacterial and Archaea bands detected in the full-scale UASB reactor [129]. Likewise, PCR-DGGE was used to fingerprint and identify the microbial consortium present in different types of granules collected from the UASB reactor treating brewery wastewater [108] and wastewater polluted with organic solvents [129]. Methanogens such as Methanosarcina, Methanosaeta, Methanobacterium, and uncultured bacteria in the Archaea domain were identified and fingerprinted using PCR-DGGE [108]. FISH and PCR also detected the microbial community present in a full-scale reactor treating industrial wastewater [106]. Similarly, microbial fingerprints in a full-scale reactor treating agricultural and industrial wastes were compared using TRFLP and Illumina platforms [130]. Further reviews of the molecular detection of anaerobes that enhances biogas-rich reactors performance are found in the literature [65, 66].

6 Conclusions

As discussed, anaerobic digestion technology is an economic process that uses a biological treatment method to treat a wide range of low- to high-strength organic materials to produce value-added products, such as feed, biobased products, and

bioenergy through a diverse group of microorganisms. Due to these benefits, the AD process is considered a significantly viable competent and economically sustainable system in treating organic wastes at a low cost with less biomass production and high treatment efficiency. It has also been shown that the technology is efficient in the removal of suspended solids, chemical and biological oxygen demand notwithstanding the digester temperature with the recovery of bio-nutrients and renewable energy in an enclosed system. Such processes will also reduce topsoil and freshwater pollution; help to clean the atmospheric air; prevent greenhouse gas emissions into an open environment; and reduce coal usage for energy generation. In essence, environmental and economic problems facing waste management and resource scarcity could be tackled using an anaerobic digestion system.

7 Recommendation and Future Perspectives

The principal aims of the anaerobic reactors are to reduce greenhouse gas and improve methane-biogas content for energy generation by treating different types of wastes to produce millions of megawatt-hours of electricity per year. However, there is a need to optimize the digesters for proper functioning and increase the methane content for energy generation by operating the reactors in optimum conditions to avoid formidable technological and dissemination challenges. In addition to the future research focus mentioned in Fig. 5, more research on the mechanisms of action by different microbial groups in the AD reactor for biogas production needs to be investigated. Collaboration and information-sharing between research groups, government agencies, and municipal practitioners on bioenergy production should be encouraged. Furthermore, there should be more emphasis on generating clean and renewable energy by giving incentives such as feed-in tariffs, green energy tariffs, or peak tariffs at the local level. Offer on the certified emission reductions and the production of other secondary products such as fertilizer that could tip the balance of economic feasibility when implementing energy from a wastewater project should be available.

References

- Divya D, Gopinath LR, Merlin Christy P (2015) A review on current aspects and diverse prospects for enhancing biogas production in sustainable means. Renew Sust Energ Rev 42:690–699
- Arfiana A, Finalis ER, Nurdin A (2020) Design of biogas cooling processing from pome for (CSTR) continuous stirred tank reactor system. Majalah Ilmiah Pengkajian Industri 14 (2):137–144
- Rajesh Banu J et al (2020) Biorefinery of spent coffee grounds waste: viable pathway towards circular bioeconomy. Bioresour Technol 302:122821

- Singh SP, Prerna P (2009) Review of recent advances in anaerobic packed-bed biogas reactors. Renew Sust Energ Rev 13:1569–1575
- 5. Ward JA et al (2008) Optimisation of the anaerobic digestion of agricultural resources. Rev Bioresour Technol 99:7928–7940
- 6. Enitan AM (2015) Microbial community analysis of a UASB reactor and application of an evolutionary algorithm to enhance wastewater treatment and biogas production, PhD thesis
- 7. Kaparaju P, Serrano M, Angelidaki I (2010) Optimization of biogas production from wheat straw stillage in UASB reactor. Appl Energy 87(12):3779–3783
- Karagiannidis A, Perkoulidis G (2009) A multi-criteria ranking of different technologies for the anaerobic digestion for energy recovery of the organic fraction of municipal solid wastes. Bioresour Technol 100:2355–2360
- 9. Kumaran P et al (2016) A review on industrial scale anaerobic digestion systems deployment in Malaysia: opportunities and challenges. Renew Sust Energ Rev 56:929–940
- Lettinga G (1995) Anaerobic digestion and wastewater treatment systems. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 67(1):3–28
- Ryan P et al (2010) Enrichment of acetogenic bacteria in high rate anaerobic reactors under mesophilic and thermophilic conditions. Water Res 44(14):4261–4269
- 12. Chong S et al (2012) The performance enhancements of upflow anaerobic sludge blanket (UASB) reactors for domestic sludge treatment a state-of-the-art review. Water Res 46 (11):3434–3470
- 13. Cruz-Salomón A et al (2020) Treatment of cheese whey wastewater using an expanded granular sludge bed (EGSB) bioreactor with biomethane production. PRO 8(8):931
- 14. Newman N (2019) Unexpected ways factories are saving energy. Eng Technol 14(5):70-73
- 15. Rajagopal R et al (2010) Evaluation of a hybrid upflow anaerobic sludge-filter bed reactor: effect of the proportion of packing medium on performance. Water Sci Technol 61 (6):1441–1450
- 16. Shao X et al (2008) Treatment of brewery wastewater using anaerobic sequencing batch reactor (ASBR). Bioresour Technol 99(8):3182–3186
- 17. Kaparaju P, Rintala J (2005) Anaerobic co-digestion of potato tuber and its industrial by-products with pig manure. Resour Conserv Recycl 43(2):175–188
- Diaz EE et al (2006) Phenotyic properties and microbial diversity of methanogenic granules from a full scale upflow anaerobic sludge bed reactor treating brewery wastewater. Appl Environ Microbiol 72(7):4942–4949
- Parawira W et al (2005) A study of industrial anaerobic treatment of opaque beer brewery wastewater in a tropical climate using a full-scale UASB reactor seeded with activated sludge. Process Biochem 40:593–599
- 20. Zhou P et al (2006) Treatment of high-strength pharmaceutical wastewater and removal of antibiotics in anaerobic and aerobic biological treatment processes. J Environ Eng 132 (1):129–136
- Enitan AM et al (2014) Assessment of brewery effluent composition from a beer producing industry in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. Fresenius Environ Bull 23(3):693–701
- 22. IEA (2001) Biogas and more! Systems and markets overview of anaerobic digestion. International Energy Agency (IEA)
- Kassam Z, Yerushalmi L, Guiot S (2003) A market study on the anaerobic waste-water treatment systems. Water Air Soil Pollut 143:179–192
- 24. Deepa S, Anipriya N, Subbulakshmy R (2015) Design of controllers for continuous stirred tank reactor. Int J Power Electron Drive Syst 5(4):576
- 25. Jain A, Tayal D, Sehgal N (2013) Brain emotional learning intelligent controller and its application to jacketed continuous stirred tank reactor. Int J Electr Electron Eng Res 3 (1):241–248
- 26. Liu X, Yan Z, Yue Z (2011) 3.10-Biogas. In: Comprehensive biotechnology. Elsevier, pp 99–114

- Mirzoyan N, Tal Y, Gross A (2010) Anaerobic digestion of sludge from intensive recirculating aquaculture systems: review. Aquaculture 306(1–4):1–6
- 28. Marchaim U (1992) Biogas processes for sustainable development. FAO, Rome
- 29. Zoutberg GR, Frankin R (1996) Anaerobic treatment of chemical and brewery waste water with a new type of anaerobic reactor: the Biobed EGSB reactor. Water Sci Technol 34:375–381
- Zhang C et al (2017) Effect of parameters on anaerobic digestion EGSB reactor for producing biogas. Proc Eng 205:3749–3754
- 31. Seghezzo L et al (1998) A review: the anaerobic treatment of sewage in UASB and EGSB reactors. Bioresour Technol 65(3):175–190
- Field J (2002) Anaerobic granular sludge bed technology. http://www.uasb.org/discover/agsb. htm. Accessed 5 Dec 2011
- 33. Basitere M et al (2016) Performance of an expanded granular sludge bed (EGSB) reactor coupled with anoxic and aerobic bioreactors for treating poultry slaughterhouse wastewater. Water Pract Technol 11(1):86–92
- 34. Xing W et al (2009) Reactor performance and microbial community of an EGSB reactor operated at 20 and 15 C. J Appl Microbiol 107(3):848–857
- 35. Centurion V et al (2018) Anaerobic co-digestion of commercial laundry wastewater and domestic sewage in a pilot-scale EGSB reactor: the influence of surfactant concentration on microbial diversity. Int Biodeterior Biodegradation 127:77–86
- 36. Shan L et al (2017) Performance of CSTR–EGSB–SBR system for treating sulfate-rich cellulosic ethanol wastewater and microbial community analysis. Environ Sci Pollut Res 24 (16):14387–14395
- Ansari S, Alavi J, Yaseen ZM (2018) Performance of full-scale coagulation-flocculation/DAF as a pre-treatment technology for biodegradability enhancement of high strength wastepaperrecycling wastewater. Environ Sci Pollut Res 25(34):33978–33991
- Wenta B, Hartman B (2002) Dissolved air flotation system improves wastewater treatment at glatfelter. Pulp Pap 76:43–46
- 39. Lettinga G et al (1980) Use of the upflow sludge blanket (USB) reactor concept for biological waste treatment, especially for anaerobic treatment. Biotechnol Bioeng 22:699–734
- 40. Enitan AM et al (2018) Principal component analysis and characterization of methane community in a full-scale bioenergy producing UASB reactor treating brewery wastewater. Phys Chem Earth Parts A B C
- 41. Abbasi T, Abbasi SA (2012) Formation and impact of granules in fostering clean energy production and wastewater treatment in upflow anaerobic sludge blanket (UASB) reactors. Renew Sust Energ Rev 16(3):1696–1708
- 42. Alvarez J et al (2006) Start-up alternatives and performance of an UASB pilot plant treating diluted municipal wastewater at low temperature. Bioresour Technol 97:1640–1649
- Tiwari M et al (2006) Influence of extrinsic factors on granulation in UASB reactor. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 71:145–154
- 44. Bastone DJ et al (2002) Anaerobic digestion model no. 1 (ADM1). IWA Publication, London
- 45. Enitan AM et al (2015) Anaerobic digestion model to enhance treatment of brewery wastewater for biogas production using UASB reactor. Environ Model Assess 20:673–685
- 46. Atashi H, Ajamein H, Ghasemian S (2010) Effect of operational and design parameters on removal efficiency of a pilot-scale UASB reactor in a sugar factory world. Appl Sci J 11 (4):451–456
- 47. Alcaraz-Ibarra S et al (2020) Treatment of chocolate-processing industry wastewater in a low-temperature pilot-scale UASB: reactor performance and in-situ biogas use for bioenergy recovery. Biomass Bioenergy 142:105786
- 48. Karim M, Moss BL (2017) A preliminary laboratory investigation of methane generation potential from brewery wastewater using UASB reactor. Heighpubs J Civil Environ Eng 1:034–041

- 49. Nacheva PM, Pantoja MR, Serrano EA (2011) Treatment of slaughterhouse wastewater in upflow anaerobic sludge blanket reactor. Water Sci Technol 63(5):877–884
- 50. Muda K et al (2011) The effect of hydraulic retention time on granular sludge biomass in treating textile wastewater. Water Res 45:4711–4721
- 51. Herumurti W, Isa MH, Kutty SRM (2008) Treatment of pharmaceutical wastewater using mesophilic UASB and hybrid UASB reactors. In: 4th International conference on sustainable water environment: innovative technologies and energy efficient solutions, Singapore, 17– 19 November 2008
- 52. Demirel B, Scherer P (2008) Production of methabne from sugar beet silage without manure addition by a single-stage anaerobic digestion process. Biomass Bioenergy 32:203–209
- Hampannavar US, Shivayogimath CB (2010) Anaerobic treatment of sugar industry wastewater by Upflow anaerobic sludge blanket reactor at ambient temperature. Int J Environ Sci 1 (4):631–639
- 54. Kovacik WPJ et al (2010) Microbial dynamics in upflow anaerobic sludge blanket (UASB) bioreactor granules in response to short-term changes in substrate feed. Microbiology 156:2418–2427
- 55. Madukasi EI, Zhang GM (2010) A two bioreactor treating brewery wastewater. Adv Mater Res 113–116:1138–1142
- 56. Ritchie H, Roser M (2020) CO₂ and greenhouse gas emissions. Published online at OurWorldInData.org. Retrieved from https://ourworldindata.org/emissions-by-sector [Online Resource]
- Pan S-Y et al (2015) Strategies on implementation of waste-to-energy (WTE) supply chain for circular economy system: a review. J Clean Prod 108:409–421
- 58. Simate GS et al (2011) The treatment of brewery wastewater for reuse: state of the art. Desalination 273(2–3):235–247
- 59. Tauseef S, Abbasi T, Abbasi S (2013) Energy recovery from wastewaters with high-rate anaerobic digesters. Renew Sust Energ Rev 19:704–741
- 60. Srisertpol J et al (2010) Estimation dynamical model of an anaerobic digestion of shrimp culture pond sediment in a biogas process using genetic algorithm. In: Proceedings of the 9th WSEAS international conference on system science and simulation in engineering. World Scientific and Engineering Academy and Society (WSEAS)
- Heffernan B, van Lier JB, van der Lubbe J (2011) Performance review of large scale up-flow anaerobic sludge blanket sewage treatment plants. Water Sci Technol 63:100–107
- Yuan H, Zhu N (2016) Progress in inhibition mechanisms and process control of intermediates and by-products in sewage sludge anaerobic digestion. Renew Sust Energ Rev 58:429–438
- Mao C et al (2015) Review on research achievements of biogas from anaerobic digestion. Renew Sust Energ Rev 45:540–555
- 64. Damyanova S, Beschkov V (2020) Biogas as a source of energy and chemicals. In: Biorefinery concepts. IntechOpen
- 65. Bozan M et al (2017) Application of next-generation sequencing methods for microbial monitoring of anaerobic digestion of lignocellulosic biomass. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 101(18):6849–6864
- 66. Naik S et al (2010) Characterization of Canadian biomass for alternative renewable biofuel. Renew Energy 35(8):1624–1631
- 67. Grover D, Rao S (2020) Inequality, unemployment, and poverty impacts of mitigation investment: evidence from the CDM in Brazil and implications for a post-2020 mechanism. Clim Pol 20(5):609–625
- Grover R, Marwaha SS, Kennedy JF (1999) Studies on the use of an anaerobic baffled reactor for the continuous anaerobic digestion of pulp and paper mill black liquors. Process Biochem 39:653–657
- 69. Zheng L et al (2020) Bio-natural gas industry in China: current status and development. Renew Sust Energ Rev 128:109925

- 70. CSES (The Centre for Sustainable Environmental Sanitation) (2009) Opportunities for German know-how and CDM application' the Chinese biomass sector. In: T.Z.G.G. Deutsche Gesellschaft für, Beijing Office, Sunflower Tower 1100, 37 Maizidian Street, Chaoyang District, 100125 Beijing, PR China and www.gtz.de (ed) CDM perspective in China. The University of Science and Technology, Beijing. http://www.jiko-bmu.de/files/inc/application/pdf/gtz-china_cdm_sector_study-waste_water_0907.pdf
- Wen Q et al (2009) Electricity generation and modeling of microbial fuel cell from continuous beer brewery wastewater. Bioresour Technol 100(18):4171–4175
- Bond T, Templeton MR (2011) History and future of domestic biogas plants in the developing world. Energy Sustain Dev 15(4):347–354
- 73. Sharma R et al (2020) Conventional and advanced techniques of wastewater monitoring and treatment. In: Green sustainable process for chemical and environmental engineering and science. Elsevier, pp 1–48
- 74. Nguyen QA et al (2020) Total and sustainable utilization of biomass resources: a perspective. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 8:546–546
- 75. Dutschke M et al (2006) Risks and chances of combined forestry and biomass projects under the clean development mechanism: UNEP Riso Centre. In Energy, climate and sustainable development. Working paper no. 1, pp 1–14
- 76. (NSWAI-ENVIS) National Solid Waste Association of India (2007) Urban municipal solid waste management. New Delhi. www.nswai.com
- Malek AA, Hasanuzzaman M, Abd Rahim N (2020) Prospects, progress, challenges and policies for clean power generation from biomass resources. Clean Techn Environ Policy:1–25. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10098-020-01873-4
- National Solid Waste Association of India, N-E (2007) Urban municipal solid waste management. New Delhi. www.nswai.com
- 79. Carbon Finance For Sustainable Development (CFSD) (2009) The Danish carbon fund participants. Annual report www.carbonfinance.org. http://siteresources.worldbank.org/ INTCARBONFINANCE/Resources/11804Final_LR.pdf. Accessed 02 Nov 2012
- 80. China, National Bureau of Statistics of China (2013) China statistical yearbook 2013. China Statistics Press, Beijing
- Bhatia RK et al (2020) Conversion of waste biomass into gaseous fuel: present status and challenges in India. Bioenergy Res 13:1046–1068
- Uglov V et al (2016) On physical properties of nanoparticles: size effect and scale of nanoobjects. Phys Status Solidi C 13(10–12):903–907
- Ogwang JO (2020) An investigation into the optimisation of small scale anaerobic digestion process systems for rural south Africa
- 84. Ross WR, Louw JM (1987) Monitoring and control of anaerobic digestion. Water SA 13:193–196
- Fang H, Liu Y (2001) Anaerobic wastewater treatment in (sub-) tropical regions. In: Matsuo T, Hanaki K, Takizawa S, Satoh H (eds) Advances in water and wastewater treatment technology, pp 285–294
- 86. Stafford W et al (2013) Technologies for recovery of energy from wastewaters: applicability and potential in South Africa. J Energy South Afr 24:00–00
- Mutungwazi A, Mukumba P, Makaka G (2018) Biogas digester types installed in South Africa: a review. Renew Sust Energ Rev 81:172–180
- Cloete R (2008) Biogas train on track for completion. In: Engineering news, renewable energy. http://www.talbot.co.za/wp-content/uploads/2012/12/Biogas_train.pdf. Accessed 07 Nov 2013
- Energy A (2007) Integrated biogas solutions. www.90x2030.org.za/oid%5Cdownloads% 5CAgama%20Biogas%20technology%20and%20applications.pdf. Accessed Nov 2013
- 90. van der Merwe C (2007) Cape biogas-to-electricity project up and running. http://www. engineeringnews.co.za/article/cape-biogastoelectricity-project-up-and-running-2007-11-02. Accessed Nov 2013

- Mshandete A et al (2005) Enhancement of anaerobic batch digestion of sisal pulp waste by mesophilic aerobic pre-treatment. Water Res 39:1569–1575
- 92. Appels L et al (2008) Principles and potential of the anaerobic digestion of waste-activated sludge. Prog Energ Combust 34:755–781
- Gerardi MH (2003) The microbiology of anaerobic digesters. Wiley-Interscience, Hoboken, pp 51–57
- 94. Schulz S, Conrad R (1996) Influence of temperature on pathways to methane production in the permanently cold profundal sediment of Lake Constance. FEMS Microbiol 20:1–14
- 95. Keyser M (2006) PCR detection, denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) fingerprinting and identification of the microbial consortium in different types of UASB granules. Department of Food Science, Faculty of AgriSciences, University of Stellenbosch, pp 1–140
- 96. Amani T et al (2011) Study of syntrophic anaerobic digestion of volatile fatty acids using enriched cultures at mesophilic conditions. Int J Environ Sci Technol 8(1):83–96
- Mirzoyan N, Tal Y, Gross A (2010) Anaerobic digestion of sludge from intensive recirculating aquaculture systems. Rev Aquacult 306:1–6
- 98. Ahring BK (2003) Biomethanation I and II. Springer, Berlin
- Akarsubasi AT et al (2005) Effect of wastewater composition on archaeal population diversity. Water Res 39(8):1576–1584
- 100. Ziemiński K, Frąc M (2012) Methane fermentation process as anaerobic digestion of biomass: transformations, stages and microorganisms. Afr J Biotechnol 11(18):4127–4139
- 101. Whitman WB, Bowen TL, Boone DR (2006) The methanogenic bacteria. In: Dworkin M et al (eds) The prokaryotes: volume 3: archaea. Bacteria: firmicutes, actinomycetes. Springer, New York, pp 165–207
- Bitton G (1994) Anaerobic digestion of wastewater and sludge. In: Wastewater microbiology. Wiley-Liss
- 103. Karakashev D et al (2006) Acetate oxidation is the dominant pathway from acetate in the absence of Methanosaetaceae. Appl Environ Microbiol 72:5138–5141
- 104. Bapteste É, Brochier C, Boucher Y (2005) Higher-level classification of the archaea: evolution of methanogenesis and methanogens. Archaea 1(5):353–363
- 105. Enitan AM et al (2019) Microbiota of a full-scale UASB reactor treating brewery wastewater using Illumina MiSeq sequencing. Open Microbiol J 13(1):1–9
- 106. Enitan AM et al (2014) Kinetic modelling and characterization of microbial community present in a full-scale UASB reactor treating brewery effluent. Microb Ecol 67(2):358–368
- 107. Anukam AI et al (2020) Improving the understanding of the bonding mechanism of primary components of biomass pellets through the use of advanced analytical instruments. J Wood Chem Technol 40(1):15–32
- 108. Keyser M et al (2006) PCR-based DGGE fingerprinting and identification of methanogens detected in three different types of UASB granules. Syst Appl Microbiol 29(1):77–84
- 109. Fang HHP, Chui H-K, Li Y-Y (1995) Anaerobic degradation of butyrate in a UASB reactor. Bioresour Technol 51(1):75–81
- 110. McHugh S et al (2003) Anaerobic granular sludge bioreactor technology. Rev Environ Sci Biotechnol 2:225–245
- 111. Nakasaki K, Kwon SH, Takemoto Y (2015) An interesting correlation between methane production rates and archaea cell density during anaerobic digestion with increasing organic loading. Biomass Bioenergy 78:17–24
- 112. Tabatabaei M et al (2011) Influential parameters on biomethane generation in anaerobic wastewater treatment plants. Alternative fuel. IntechOpen
- 113. Sawyerr N et al (2019) An overview of biogas production: fundamentals, applications and future research. Int J Energy Econ Policy 9(2):105–116
- 114. Liu W-T, Chan O-C, Fang HHP (2002) Characterization of microbial community in granular sludge treating brewery wastewater. Water Res 36(7):1767–1775

- 115. Briones A, Raskin L (2003) Diversity and dynamics of microbial communities in engineered environments and their implications for process stability. Curr Opin Biotechnol 14 (3):270–276
- 116. Brito J et al (2020) Characterization of eubacterial communities by denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) and next generation sequencing (NGS) in a desulfurization biotrickling filter using progressive changes of nitrate and nitrite as final electron acceptors. New Biotechnol 57:67–75
- 117. Bolzonella D et al (2020) Biological thermophilic post hydrolysis of digestate enhances the biogas production in the anaerobic digestion of agro-waste. Renew Sust Energ Rev 134:110174
- 118. Jantharadej K et al (2020) Identification of sulfate-reducing and methanogenic microbial taxa in anaerobic bioreactors from industrial wastewater treatment plants using next-generation sequencing and gene clone library analyses. J Environ Sci Health A 55:1283–1293
- 119. Owusu-Agyeman I et al (2019) The study of structure of anaerobic granules and methane producing pathways of pilot-scale UASB reactors treating municipal wastewater under sub-mesophilic conditions. Bioresour Technol 290:121733
- 120. Na J-G et al (2016) Microbial community analysis of anaerobic granules in phenol-degrading UASB by next generation sequencing. Biochem Eng J 112:241–248
- 121. Świątczak P, Cydzik-Kwiatkowska A, Rusanowska P (2017) Microbiota of anaerobic digesters in a full-scale wastewater treatment plant. Arch Environ Prot 43(3):53–60
- 122. Tabatabaei M et al (2010) Importance of the methanogenic archaea populations in anaerobic wastewater treatments. Process Biochem 45(8):1214–1225
- 123. Bergmann I et al (2010) Influence of DNA isolation on Q-PCR-based quantification of methanogenic archaea in biogas fermenters. Syst Appl Microbiol 33(2):78–84
- 124. Traversi D et al (2012) Application of a real-time qPCR method to measure the methanogen concentration during anaerobic digestion as an indicator of biogas production capacity. J Environ Manag 111:173–177
- 125. Petriglieri F et al (2018) In situ visualisation of the abundant Chloroflexi populations in fullscale anaerobic digesters and the fate of immigrating species. PLoS One 13(11):e0206255
- 126. Jupraputtasri W et al (2005) Use of an alternative archaea-specific probe for methanogen detection. J Microbiol Methods 61(1):95–104
- 127. Yu Y, Kim J, Hwang S (2006) Use of real-time PCR for group-specific quantification of aceticlastic methanogens in anaerobic processes: population dynamics and community structures. Biotechnol Bioeng 93:424–433
- 128. Park JY, Yoo YJ (2009) Biological nitrate removal in industrial wastewater treatment: which electron donor we can choose. Appl Environ Microbiol 82(3):415–429
- 129. Torres K et al (2019) Intermittent operation of UASB reactors treating wastewater polluted with organic solvents: process performance and microbial community evaluation. Environ Sci Water Res Technol 5(7):1270–1284
- 130. De Vrieze J et al (2018) Terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism is an "old school" reliable technique for swift microbial community screening in anaerobic digestion. Sci Rep 8 (1):1–12



Prospects and Potential Role of Biological Treatment of Textile Effluent to Restore Water Reservoir

Shristi Ram, Ramalingam Dineshkumar, Imran Pancha, and Sandhya Mishra

Contents

1	Introduction	200		
2	Sources and Discharges of Textile Wastes	203		
3	Impact on Health and Lifestyle			
4	Microbe Assisted Dye Degradation			
	4.1 Mode of Action	206		
	4.2 Factors Affecting Microbial Mediated Bioremediation	207		
5	Present Challenges and Future Prospects	209		
6	Conclusion			
Re	References			

Abstract Standing at a second place after agriculture, the textile industries are a source of income to almost 45 million Indian population. Indian textile industries contribute to around 2% of India's GDP, 15% share in export earning, and 7% of industrial output. However, the alluring benefits delivered by the textile industries are intertwined with severe aquatic pollution, which if remains unchecked would soon prove to be catastrophic for humankind and aquatic life. Textile industries are one of the large consumers of harmful dyes, water, and chemicals. The industrial revolution that has first claimed to be a boon is now standing at the edge of turning

e-mail: dineshkumar@csmcri.res.in; smishra@csmcri.res.in

I. Pancha

Academy of Scientific and Innovative Research (AcSIR), Ghaziabad, India

Mahmoud Nasr and Abdelazim M. Negm (eds.), *Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems*, Hdb Env Chem (2023) 118: 199–212, DOI 10.1007/698_2022_873, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022, Published online: 24 August 2022

S. Ram, R. Dineshkumar (⊠), and S. Mishra (⊠)

Academy of Scientific and Innovative Research (AcSIR), Ghaziabad, India

Applied Phycology and Biotechnology Division, CSIR–Central Salt and Marine Chemicals Research Institute, Bhavnagar, India

Department of Biology, SRM University-AP, Amaravati, Andhra Pradesh, India

into a bane for the marine ecosystem. The unchecked release of textile dyes into the water bodies has resulted in hazardous aftermath primarily for the vital human commodity (water). Synthetic dyes are broadly classified into azo, anthraquinone, and triphenylmethane dyes. The release of colored dyes and its harmful intermediates into the water streams blocks the sunlight, hampering its light penetration and causing disturbance to the ecosystem. Since safe drinking water is one of the most crucial commodities in the developing countries, the water pollution arising from tons of untreated-textile dye discharges needs a spearheaded, efficient, feasible, and eco-friendly approach. In recent decades, several chemical and biological mediated remediation strategies have been reported by several research groups that focused on evading textile dye menace by degrading the harmful chemical dyes into lessharmful forms. This objective has been attained by controlling the physical parameters of effluent such as Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD), Biological Oxygen Demand (BOD), Dissolved Oxygen (DO), Total Dissolved Solids (TDS) content, etc. This chapter discusses the current perspectives and future prospects of textile dyes remediation scenarios in India, and the associated challenges and reasons for its sustainable implementations for the revival of the existing parched marine environment.

Keywords Biodegradation, Dye, Textile waste, Wastewater management

1 Introduction

Globally, textile industries are considered as the second largest pollution generators. These industries release large amounts of dyes, chemicals, and effluent that pose serious concerns to flora and fauna of the environment. To meet the increasing global demands, most of the industries are situated in developing countries like India, Pakistan, China, and Bangladesh as these sectors create enormous job opportunities playing a significant role in the country's economic growth. India's textile export stood at 11.8% during 2019–2020 [1]. Moreover, the Indian textile industries are the major consumer (80%) of dyestuffs [2]. Annual dye production is estimated to cross 7×10^5 tons, where 3,600 different dyes are identified and 8,000 dyeing chemicals are consumed under various textile processes such as dyeing, bleaching, and finishing [3]. It should be noted that the low utilization efficacy enables 2–50% dye to enter into the effluent streams [4]. Additionally, the untreated industrial discharge loads the end sink (water reservoir) with harmful chemicals, resulting in compromised biodiversity and generation of unfit water (Fig. 1).

Chromophore group and structural characteristics determine the major classes of dyes such as azo, anthraquinone, nitroso, phthalein, nitro, indigoid, and triphenylamine. All of them are able to absorb the visible wavelengths of 400–600 nm producing visible color. The intensity of the color is so strong that



Fig. 1 Schematic diagram depicting the deleterious effect of textile dye effluent on the environment



Fig. 2 Chemical structure of popular dyes used in the textile industries

even at lower concentrations, i.e., 1 ppm, water gets pigmented rendering it aesthetically unacceptable. The color decreases its transparency, light penetration, and gas solubility and hence, critically affecting photosynthesis, oxygen deprivation leading to intoxication of fish and adverse health effect on mammals. Some of the popular dyes used in textile industries are shown in Fig. 2.

A maximum azo dye percentage of 70–80% is used in textile industries under different operations [5]. This dye is the most diversified group of dye having its characteristic -N=N- bond linked with benzene or naphthalene compound. The presence of such compound confers toxicity to the dye molecule [6]. The second most pursued dye after azo belongs to anthraquinone group, which is bestowed with relatively higher stability. Hence, these dyes are more toxic toward humans and microorganisms due to their complex molecular structure [7].

Additionally, to meet the growing global needs, every day a new molecular structure is articulated in such a way, offering superior dyeing performance, persistent fabric color, resisting sweat, sunlight, soap, and oxidizing agents. Such measures greatly challenge their ability to degrade in the marine ecosystem, rendering them as recalcitrant and less responsive toward classical mitigation technologies [8].

Thus, the production and effluent management systems in textile industries are in dire need for an effective abatement reform to pave the way for a sustainable, economical, and eco-friendly strategy that can ensure fewer carbon footprints. Taking this into account, this chapter intends to throw light in the textile effluent generation, its sources, entry pathway into the environment and gradually into the food chain, potential health threat to aquatic life and humans, present effluent management techniques and challenges and future perspective.

2 Sources and Discharges of Textile Wastes

Generation and dispersion of enormous volume of untreated effluent wastes (e.g., chemicals and dyes) into the nearby water reservoirs leave behind an intense color blended with organic pollutant, chlorine salts, finishing agents, inorganic agents, total phosphates [9], high biological oxygen demand (BOD) and chemical oxygen demand (COD) [10]. Textile effluent not only pollutes the water bodies through untreated effluent discharge but also percolates groundwater and soil through leaching, causing considerable environmental pollution (Fig. 1). The discharge of textile effluent into the water streams is taken up by marine life through ingestion and accumulates inside their organs causing serious problems. Fish, crabs, mussels, crustaceans, turtles, bivalves, and mammals feeding on dye contaminated water also take up these compounds and suffer through various lethal effects. Contaminated sea-food acts as a vector for bioaccumulation inside the human body, showing its deleterious health effect.

3 Impact on Health and Lifestyle

In the present circumstances, it is well to state beyond doubt that dispense of dyes into water unfolds many associated health hazards not only to the marine ecosystem but also back toward humans. The lethal components of the effluent have been associated to cause detrimental effects on humans such as bleeding, skin and mucous membrane ulceration, dermatitis, irritation, and adverse effects on immune system and nausea [11]. Intensified research for evaluating the toxic effect of azo dye triggered soon after 1895, when workers exposed to azo dye were identified with bladder cancer [12].

4 Microbe Assisted Dye Degradation

Preliminary effluent treatment focuses on the discolouration of textile dyes, followed by the removal of salts, heavy metal contaminants, and other chemical and organic ingredients [13]. The removal strategies aim at reducing BOD and COD of the effluent to a lower limit of 10 ppm (for BOD) and 20 ppm (for COD) as per the latest National Green Tribunal (NGT) norms for treated water in India [14]. Physical and chemical remediation strategies include adsorption, filtration, fenton oxidation [15], photocatalytic oxidation [16], ozone oxidation [17], ultrasonic catalytic oxidation [18], and microwave catalysis [19]. The physical remediation strategies suffer from drawbacks like time consumption, secondary pollution generation, concentrated sludge production requiring additional remediation strategy, high costs, installation of specialized facilities, effective on narrow range of dyes, and being chemical and



Fig. 3 Various approaches employed for textile wastewater remediation

energy intensives. The chemical-based remediation processes yield potent carcinogenic substances, such as aromatic amines [20]. Moreover, these methods are impractical due to narrow dye susceptibility and associated higher costs.

Greener alternatives such as seeds of *Moringa oleifera* and orange peel have been reported to show superior coagulating properties which are further intensified through the addition of bivalent cations (Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+}), enabling the formation of clear solution rapidly [21, 22]. However, the disposal of such a concentrated dye adsorbed material again becomes an environmental concern. In such a case, microbial assisted degradation offers a more logical and holistic approach by completely mineralizing the pollutants into non-toxic forms (CO_2 and H_2O) and without causing any secondary pollutants. Thus, the microbial remediation technique is considered highly effective, broad-range, and eco-friendly strategy. Nevertheless, employing a single strategy for the remediation process can be time-consuming, thus, demanding an integrative abatement strategy for efficient remediation and eco-friendly disposal [23, 24]. The overview of textile pollution remediation is presented in Fig. 3.

Anaerobic conditions facilitate the breakdown of azo bond; however, these anaerobic processes are incapable of subsequently degrading the potential carcinogens (aromatic amines) formed during the process under prevailing anaerobic conditions [25]. Also, anaerobic bacteria profusely secrete decolorizing enzymes under oxygen deprivation conditions, since oxygen of carbonyl group itself acts as a

Technique	Method	Advantage	Disadvantage
Physico- chemical processes	Coagulation and precipitation	Less time and low cost. Better removal ability	High cost of coagulants and chemicals for pH adjustment; dewatering needed
	Adsorption	Act on broad-range dyes	Concentrated sludge formation
	Ion exchange	Recycling of used resins	Ineffective on neutral dyes
	Membrane filtration	Works on broad-range of dye	Concentrated sludge forma- tion, need additional remedia- tion strategy
	Electrochemical	Non-toxic by products	High cost of electrical supply
Oxidative processes	Fenton's reagent	Works on soluble and non-soluble dye	Concentrated sludge generation
	Ozonation	Effective on most azo dyes, improves biodegradability	Safety concern, high cost, influence of pH and tempera- ture on effectiveness
	Reactive oxi- dizing radicals (OCl^{-1})	Sludge free	Production of carcinogenic substances (aromatic amines)
Biological processes	Microbes	Green process, cost-effective, and environmental friendly, complete mineralization	Complex dyes are tough to decompose, time-consuming, need for integrative approach
	Enzymes	High specificity	Expensive process due to maintenance of enzyme stabil- ity, purity, and immobilization

Table 1 Advantages and disadvantages associated with various remediation techniques

desirable terminal electron acceptor [26]. Therefore, the utilization of sequential integration of anaerobic/aerobic technique offers higher diversity and metabolic co-operation among species facilitating improved biodegradation efficiencies, hence, making the approach cost-effective and environmentally friendly, yielding complete mineralization of textile wastewater. The advantages and disadvantages of various degradation strategies are listed in Table 1.

The use of microbes for bioremediation has seen an escalated interest among researchers as a potential zero waste strategy. Many microbes such as microalgae, actinomycetes, fungi, and bacteria [13, 27, 28] were found to be proficient dye degraders. Bacterial counterparts offer superior alternatives than other microbes due to their less time consumption, ability to grow at extreme conditions, less nutrient requirement, and complete mineralization of pollutants. Important microbes capable of dye degradation are listed in Table 2.

		%		
Dye	ppm	Degradation	Microbes	References
Reactive blue 2	100	24	Pseudomonas strain GM3	[29]
Acid green 27	100	84	Pseudomonas strain GM3	[29]
Direct red-81	200	81	Shewanella	[30]
Reactive blue 19	50	90	<i>Enterobacter</i> sp. F NCIM 5,545	[31]
Bromaminic acid	100	>96	Sphingomonas xenophaga QYY	[32]
Acid blue 277	300	>60	Escherichia coli DH5α	[33]
Remazol brilliant blue R	125	60	Serratia liquefaciens PT01	[34]
Methyl red	100	100	Klebsiella strain Y3	[35]
Remazol brilliant blue R	100	100	Staphylococcus sp. K2204	[36]
Reactive blue 4	50	97	Staphylococcus hominis subsp. hominis DSM 20,328	[13]
Reactive red BS C.I. 111		91	P. aeruginosa	[37]
Synozol red 6HBN		88	Aspergillus niger	[38]
Synozol red 6HBN		96	Nigrospora sp	[38]
Red 3B		93	A. faecalis E5.Cd	[39]

Table 2 List of microbial assisted degradation of various dyes

4.1 Mode of Action

The first step in the microbial degradation of dye occurs when the dye molecule is adsorbed onto the cellular surface via covalent, molecular, and electrostatic forces. Dye adherence on a bacterial cell is dependent on its cellular composition and presence of functional groups that act as a critical binding agent. It is reported that Gram-positive bacterial membrane having 40–80% peptidoglycan is more effective (5–10 times) for dye adsorption than Gram-negative cell wall having 10% peptidoglycan composition [40]. Further, the presence of NH₂ group on the bacterial surface impacts dye adherence significantly, in comparison with CH₂OH, C-O, CONR₂, CO-O-C, NH₂, C-N, COO-, and PO₂ groups [41]. Walker and Weatherley [42] reported that autoclaving at 110°C for 15 min increased the cell membrane permeability that improved its biosorption rates up to 13%, 19%, and 18% for Acid Blue 277 dye in inactivated cultures of *Bacillus godonae*, *Bacillus benzeovorans*, and *Pseudomonas putida*, respectively [42]. However, decolorization activity is attributed to living cells than dead cell.

The surface adhered dye initially undergoes catalytic reduction by the bacterial reductase, resulting into the cleavage of chromophore groups into intermediates of single rings or simple polycyclic aromatic compounds (like naphthalene and anthracene) which are finally and completely degraded into non-toxic forms after further

degradation. However, the difference in the exertion of degradation capability is mainly attributed to the difference in the structural and functional moiety. For example, the degradation pathway of Brilliant Blue K2RL determined that parent compound breaks from the attachment site of the reactive group into diffuorochlorotrizine ring and anthraquinone complex [43].

4.2 Factors Affecting Microbial Mediated Bioremediation

Many researchers have reported that the variation in physicochemical parameters greatly influences the degradation efficacy. The degradation of dye hinges on the prevailing physical parameters like pH, media components, temperature, dye concentration, aerobic and anaerobic conditions [44]. Simple dye structures are easily dissimilated whereas the complex and branched molecular structures are utilized with difficulty. The presence of a functional group also affects the degradation potential. Hitz et al. [45] have provided sequential degradation trend under different substituents:

-SO₃>-NO₂>-Br>-Cl>-H>-NH₂>-OCH₃>CH₃>-COOH>-OH [45].

4.2.1 Carbon and Nitrogen Sources

Wastewater sludge is not sufficient for the growth promotion of indigenous microbes. So, for spiking the microbial activity, the supplementation of carbon and nitrogen sources has been shown to enhance the degradation efficiencies and the maintenance of microbial diversity. Most commonly used carbon and nitrogen source in lab-scale is glucose, glycerol, L-rhamnose, beef extract, sucrose, yeast extract, tryptone, creatinine, and ammonium salts. However, for successful implementation, cheap sources are required which could be obtained using a by-product of agricultural or industrial production, wastewater having biofertilizer potential, and microbial biomass as a carbon or nitrogen source. A higher concentration of external glucose supplementation has been reported to diminish degradation by delimiting tricarboxylic acid cycle [31, 46]. For efficient degradation, the statistical optimization of operational parameters is needed for determining the most significant process.

4.2.2 pH

The solution pH dictates osmotic potential of the microbe and directly influences the growth and metabolism of the microbe. Thus, altering the pH influences the culture conditions and either suppresses or improves the degradation process. Depending on the culture conditions, the microbes which are suitable for a specific pH range are supported for their growth promotion and enhanced metabolism. It helps in playing crucial role in the degradation of various dyes. *Corynebacterium glutamicum* was a

potent biosorbent and found to be dependent on pH of dye solution as maximum decolorization was observed under a range of pH 2–5 [47].

4.2.3 Temperature

High temperature is beneficial for dye degradation since high temperature affects the kinetic energy of the solute and increases its surface activity. Increasing the temperature further enhances the uptake of ions and dye molecules by microorganisms. On the other hand, low temperature reduces bacterial metabolism and activities greatly retarding its degradation abilities. Exploration of extremophiles would be beneficial in future remediation technologies, as they can tolerate extreme conditions.

4.2.4 Aeration Condition

Oxygen acts as the terminal electron acceptor in the electron transport chain. For aerobic bacteria, oxygen is vital for growth and metabolism. Whereas, the presence of oxygen inhibits anaerobes, thus, hindering their sustenance and growth. In one study, it was found that *Bacillus cereus* DC11 was able to degrade 55% of Acid Blue 25 (100 μ mol/L) under anaerobic conditions, however, presence of oxygen reduced the rate of degradation tremendously till 5%. This implies that the carbonyl group oxygen was utilized as the preferred terminal electron acceptor under anaerobic conditions [26].

4.2.5 Dye Concentration

Initial dye concentration has a great impact on the efficiency of dye degradation. A higher dye concentration (substrate) requires large volume of inoculum sizes for its efficient uptake and remediation. If dye concentration is too low, the available enzyme forms the enzyme-substrate complex [48], which is swiftly degraded by the inoculum. These findings are in accordance with Liu et al. [49], who reported that 70% decolorization of Remazol Brilliant Blue R as observed 10–30 ppm profoundly decreased to 15% when the dye concentration increased to 200 ppm. However, under high dye conditions, the higher substrate is present in the media overpopulates the available enzymes by blocking its active sites and lowering the overall degradation efficiency of the system consuming more time.

4.2.6 Enzyme

The presence of peroxidase in *Vibrio cholera* (VcDyP) is identified to degrade Reactive Blue 19 at arginine (Arg) 230 and aspartic acid (Asp) 144 radical site [50]. Laccase from *Klebsiella pneumoniae* is reported to be effective for degrading

anthraquinone dyes. However, the use of enzyme for biodegradation is challenged with the associated expense, stability, and product inhibition. White rot fungi has been extensively reported in degradation studies, their wide applicability is attributed to its competent oxidoreductases enzymatic system capable of degrading aromatic compounds [3].

5 Present Challenges and Future Prospects

Development of robust strains using molecular engineering techniques that are able to utilize broad classes of dye and can work well under high dye concentrations. Bioreactors like microbial fuel cell (MFC) provide novel and eco-friendly dye remediation techniques and it can be coupled with a simultaneous electricity generation [51, 52]. It is essential to elucidate the dye degradation pathway to unravel mechanism and mode of action associated during degradation. Enzymes are a suitable alternative for degradation due to their higher specificity, sensitivity, and recyclability; therefore, further studies on novel enzymes with potential degradation ability need to be explored. Identification of effective and inexpensive agro-waste as carbon and nitrogen source can further cut down the associated cost. Lab-scale degradation studies revolve around classic dyes ignoring the present and more persistent dyes developed on a daily basis, therefore, the lab-cultivated strains fail to deliver convincing results when exposed in field conditions. So, more emphasis is needed to screen the degradation of modern dye structures evolving daily in the textile industry. For the containment of the present dismal conditions because of waste generated from textile industries, we need a two-sword technology, first to combat the present wastes and second to restart eco-friendly productions as bio pigments. Certain natural pigments such as carotenoids (with red, orange and yellow colors) obtained from plants, algae, fungi, yeast, and some bacteria may be exploited. Utilizing these organisms to generate pigments having proficient prophylactic activities would not only uproot the present environmental crisis but also reinstate healthy living.

6 Conclusion

The deleterious impact of textile effluent to the environment needs to be addressed by developing a highly efficient wastewater remediation approach using combinatorial techniques. Reinforcement of stringent laws on textile industries needs to be strictly established for discharging effluent with little or no effect on the environment. Further, in order to achieve an economically viable and effective textile treatment process, it is essential to integrate microbial consortium offering dynamic metabolic intermediates and myriad potential enzyme machineries that are effective against complex dye structures. **Acknowledgments** SR would like to acknowledge CSIR-HRDG for financial support and AcSIR for Ph.D. registration. CSIR-CSMCRI Registration No. PRIS 48/2020 has been assigned to this manuscript.

References

- 1. Ministry of Textiles (2021) Annual report 2020–21. New Delhi: ministry of textiles. Government of India
- 2. Mathur N, Bhatnagar P, Bakre P (2006) Assessing mutagenicity of textile dyes from Pali (Rajasthan) using Ames bioassay. Appl Ecol Environ Res 4:111–118
- 3. Parmar ND, Shukla SR (2019) Decolourization of dye wastewater by microbial methods-a review. Indian J Chem Technol 25:315–323
- Cui D, Zhang H, He R, Zhao M (2016) The comparative study on the rapid decolorization of azo, anthraquinone and triphenylmethane dyes by anaerobic sludge. Int J Environ Res Public Health 13:1053. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph13111053
- Fernando E, Keshavarz T, Kyazze G (2012) Enhanced bio-decolourisation of acid orange 7 by Shewanella oneidensis through co-metabolism in a microbial fuel cell. Int Biodeterior Biodeg-radation 72:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibiod.2012.04.010
- Kovacic P, Somanathan R (2014) Nitroaromatic compounds: environmental toxicity, carcinogenicity, mutagenicity, therapy and mechanism. J Appl Toxicol 34(8):810–824. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/jat.2980
- Novotný Č, Dias N, Kapanen A, Malachová K, Vándrovcová M, Itävaara M, Lima N (2006) Comparative use of bacterial, algal and protozoan tests to study toxicity of azo-and anthraquinone dyes. Chemosphere 63:1436–1442. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2005.10.002
- Seshadri S, Bishop PL, Agha AM (1994) Anaerobic/aerobic treatment of selected azo dyes in wastewater. Waste Manag 14:127–137
- Khandegar V, Saroha AK (2013) Electrocoagulation for the treatment of textile industry effluent-a review. J Environ Manag 128:949–963. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2013. 06.043
- Pereira L, Alves M (2012) Dyes—environmental impact and remediation. In: Environmental protection strategies for sustainable development. Springer, pp 111–162. https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-94-007-1591-2_4
- Lee YH, Matthews RD, Pavlostathis SG (2006) Biological decolorization of reactive anthraquinone and phthalocyanine dyes under various oxidation–reduction conditions. Water Environ Res 78:156–169. https://doi.org/10.2175/106143005X89616
- 12. Rehn L (2016) Blasengeschwulste bei Fuchsin-Arbeitern. Arch Klin Chir 50:588-600
- Parmar ND, Shukla SR (2018) Biodegradation of anthraquinone based dye using an isolated strain *Staphylococcus hominis* subsp. hominis DSM 20328. Environ Prog Sustain Energy 37: 203–214. https://doi.org/10.1002/ep.12655
- Shagun K (2019) After NGT asks for stringent norms for STPs a new dilemma. Down to earth,
 May. https://www.downtoearth.org.in/news/waste/after-ngt-asks-for-stringent-norms-forstps-a-new-dilemma-64412
- 15. Khataee A, Gholami P, Vahid B, Joo SW (2016) Heterogeneous sono-Fenton process using pyrite nanorods prepared by non-thermal plasma for degradation of an anthraquinone dye. Ultrason Sonochem 32:357–370. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ultsonch.2016.04.002
- Zhang S, Lu X (2018) Treatment of wastewater containing reactive brilliant blue KN-R using TiO2/BC composite as heterogeneous photocatalyst and adsorbent. Chemosphere 206:777– 783. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.05.073
- Lovato ME, Fiasconaro ML, Martín CA (2016) Degradation and toxicity depletion of RB19 anthraquinone dye in water by ozone-based technologies. Water Sci Technol 75:813–822. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2016.501

- Samanta M, Mukherjee M, Ghorai UK, Sarkar S, Bose C, Chattopadhyay KK (2018) Ultrasound assisted catalytic degradation of textile dye under the presence of reduced graphene oxide enveloped copper phthalocyanine nanotube. Appl Surf Sci 449:113–121. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.apsusc.2018.01.118
- Park H, Mameda N, Choo K-H (2018) Catalytic metal oxide nanopowder composite Ti mesh for electrochemical oxidation of 1, 4-dioxane and dyes. Chem Eng J 345:233–241. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cej.2018.03.158
- 20. Singh A, Pal DB, Mohammad A, Alhazmi A, Haque S, Yoon T et al (2022) Biological remediation technologies for dyes and heavy metals in wastewater treatment: new insight. Bioresour Technol 343:126154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2021.126154
- Khamis SN, Moustafa AF, Aboud AA, Halim KSA (2019) Effective utilization of *Moringa* seeds waste as a new green environmental adsorbent for removal of industrial toxic dyes. J Mater Res Technol 8:1798–1808. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmrt.2018.12.010
- Kumar D, Pandit PD, Patel Z, Bhairappanavar SB, Das J (2019) Perspectives, scope, advancements, and challenges of microbial technologies treating textile industry effluents. In: Microbial wastewater treatment. Elsevier, pp 237–260. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-816809-7. 00011-7
- Rybczyńska-Tkaczyk K, Święciło A, Szychowski KA, Korniłłowicz-Kowalska T (2018) Comparative study of eco-and cytotoxicity during biotransformation of anthraquinone dye alizarin blue black B in optimized cultures of microscopic fungi. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 147:776–787. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2017.09.037
- Solís M, Solís A, Pérez HI, Manjarrez N, Flores M (2012) Microbial decolouration of azo dyes: a review. Process Biochem 47:1723–1748. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2012.08.014
- Van der Zee FP, Lettinga G, Field JA (2001) Azo dye decolourisation by anaerobic granular sludge. Chemosphere 44:1169–1176. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(00)00270-8
- 26. Deng D, Guo J, Zeng G, Sun G (2008) Decolorization of anthraquinone, triphenylmethane and azo dyes by a new isolated *Bacillus cereus* strain DC11. Int Biodeterior Biodegradation 62:263– 269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibiod.2008.01.017
- Otto B, Schlosser D (2014) First laccase in green algae: purification and characterization of an extracellular phenol oxidase from *Tetracystis aeria*. Planta 240:1225–1236. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s00425-014-2144-9
- Chittal V, Gracias M, Anu A, Saha P, Rao KB (2019) Biodecolorization and biodegradation of azo dye reactive orange-16 by marine Nocardiopsis sp. Iranian. J Biotechnol 7(3): e1551:10.29252/ijb.1551
- 29. Yu J, Wang X, Yue PL (2001) Optimal decolorization and kinetic modeling of synthetic dyes by *pseudomonas* strains. Water Res 35:3579–3586. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0043-1354(01) 00100-2
- 30. Imran M et al (2016) Yeast extract promotes decolorization of azo dyes by stimulating azoreductase activity in *Shewanella* sp. strain IFN4. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 124:42–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2015.09.041
- Holkar CR, Pandit AB, Pinjari DV (2014) Kinetics of biological decolorisation of anthraquinone based reactive blue 19 using an isolated strain of *Enterobacter* sp. F NCIM 5545. Bioresour Technol 173:342–351. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.09.108
- 32. Lu H, Guan X, Wang J, Zhou J, Zhang H (2015) Enhanced bio-decolorization of 1-amino-4bromoanthraquinone-2-sulfonic acid by *Sphingomonas xenophaga* with nutrient amendment. J Environ Sci 27:124–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jes.2014.05.041
- Cerboneschi M, Corsi M, Bianchini R, Bonanni M, Tegli S (2015) Decolorization of acid and basic dyes: understanding the metabolic degradation and cell-induced adsorption/precipitation by *Escherichia coli*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 99:8235–8245. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00253-015-6648-4
- Tian JH, Pourcher AM, Peu P (2016) Isolation of bacterial strains able to metabolize lignin and lignin-related compounds. Lett Appl Microbiol 63:30–37. https://doi.org/10.1111/lam.12581

- 35. Cui D, Li G, Zhao M, Han S (2014) Decolourization of azo dyes by a newly isolated *klebsiella* sp. strain Y3, and effects of various factors on biodegradation. Biotechnol Biotechnol Equip 28: 478–486. https://doi.org/10.1080/13102818.2014.926053
- Velayutham K, Madhava AK, Pushparaj M, Thanarasu A, Devaraj T, Periyasamy K, Subramanian S (2018) Biodegradation of Remazol brilliant blue R using isolated bacterial culture (*Staphylococcus* sp. K2204). Environ Technol 39:2900–2907. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 09593330.2017.1369579
- Sheth N, Dave S (2009) Optimisation for enhanced decolourization and degradation of reactive red BS CI 111 by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* NGKCTS. Biodegradation 20:827. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10532-009-9270-2
- 38. Ilyas S, Rehman A (2013) Decolorization and detoxification of Synozol red HF-6BN azo dye, by Aspergillus niger and Nigrospora sp. Iran J Environ Health Sci Eng 10:12. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/1735-2746-10-12
- 39. Saha AK, Sultana N, Mohanta MK, Mandal A, Haque MF (2017) Identification and characterization of azo dye decolourizing bacterial strains, *Alcaligenes faecalis* E5. Cd and *A. faecalis* Fal. 3 isolated from textile effluents. Am Sci Res J Eng Technol Sci 31:163–175
- Cai J, Huang Y, Li X (2008) Cytological mechanisms of pollutants adsorption by biosorbent. Chin J Ecol 27:1005–1011
- 41. Du L-N, Wang B, Li G, Wang S, Crowley DE, Zhao Y-H (2012) Biosorption of the metalcomplex dye acid black 172 by live and heat-treated biomass of *Pseudomonas* sp. strain DY1: kinetics and sorption mechanisms. J Hazard Mater 205:47–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jhazmat.2011.12.001
- 42. Walker G, Weatherley L (2000) Biodegradation and biosorption of acid anthraquinone dye. Environ Pollut 108:219–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0269-7491(99)00187-6
- 43. Andleeb S, Atiq N, Robson GD, Ahmed S (2012) An investigation of anthraquinone dye biodegradation by immobilized *Aspergillus flavus* in fluidized bed bioreactor. Environ Sci Pollut Res 19:1728–1737. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-011-0687-x
- 44. Krishnan J, Kishore AA, Suresh A, Madhumeetha B, Prakash DG (2017) Effect of pH, inoculum dose and initial dye concentration on the removal of azo dye mixture under aerobic conditions. Int Biodeterior Biodegradation 119:16–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibiod.2016. 11.024
- 45. Hitz H, Huber W, Reed R (1978) Publication sponsored by ETAD the adsorption of dyes on activated sludge. J Soc Dye Colour 94:71–76. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1478-4408.1978. tb03396.x
- 46. Sadykov MR et al (2013) Inactivation of the Pta-AckA pathway causes cell death in *Staphylococcus aureus*. J Bacteriol 195:3035–3044. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.00042-13
- Vijayaraghavan K, Yun YS (2008) Bacterial biosorbents and biosorption. Biotechnol Adv 26 (3):266–291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2008.02.002
- 48. Li H-H, Wang Y-T, Wang Y, Wang H-X, Sun K-K, Lu Z-M (2019) Bacterial degradation of anthraquinone dyes. J Zhejiang Univ-SCI B 20:528–540. https://doi.org/10.1631/jzus. B1900165
- 49. Liu N et al (2017) Performance and microbial community structures of hydrolysis acidification process treating azo and anthraquinone dyes in different stages. Environ Sci Pollut Res 24:252– 263. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-016-7705-y
- Uchida T, Sasaki M, Tanaka Y, Ishimori K (2015) A dye-decolorizing peroxidase from Vibrio cholerae. Biochemistry 54:6610–6621. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.biochem.5b00952
- Chandrasekhar K, Kadier A, Kumar G, Nastro RA, Jeevitha V (2018) Challenges in microbial fuel cell and future scope. In: Microbial fuel cell. Springer, pp 483–499. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-319-66793-5_25
- 52. Saba B, Christy AD, Park T, Yu Z, Li K, Tuovinen OH (2018) Decolorization of reactive black 5 and reactive blue 4 dyes in microbial fuel cells. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 186:1017–1033. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12010-018-2774-7
Degradation of Selected Xenobiotics from Wastewater by Wood-Decay Fungi



Adéla Žižlavská and Petr Hlavínek

Contents

1	Introduction	214				
2	State of the Art: Application of Wood-Decay Fungi in Wastewater Treatment	215				
3	Biocarriers Produced by 3D Printing	218				
4	Testing of Biocarriers Produced by 3D Print	219				
	4.1 Tested Substances: Sulfonamides Antibiotics	219				
	4.2 Inoculation and Fructification Process	219				
	4.3 Testing 2					
	4.4 Analysis and Evaluation	221				
5	Conclusions	226				
6	Recommendations	226				
Ret	References 2					

Abstract The occurrence of xenobiotics in the aquatic environment is a consequence of the development of the chemical and pharmaceutical industries and the massive use of synthetic substances in various manufacturing sectors. It has a completely different effect on the environment than "normal" organic pollution. It does not primarily affect water quality but acts directly on organisms. It can damage immunity, growth, metabolic processes, reproduction, and the natural behavior of biota. The main source of xenobiotics in the water cycle is an outflow of wastewater treatment plants. Xenobiotics are a diverse group of micropollutants with high persistence and resistance to the normal process of biological treatment in WWTP. For this reason, it is necessary to look for and test new methods and possibilities of

A. Žižlavská

Faculty of Civil Engineering, AdMaS Centre, Brno University of Technology, Brno, Czech Republic

e-mail: gotzingerova@fce.vutbr.cz

P. Hlavínek (🖂)

Faculty of Civil Engineering, Institute of Municipal Water Management, Brno University of Technology, Brno, Czech Republic e-mail: hlavinek.p@fce.vutbr.cz

Mahmoud Nasr and Abdelazim M. Negm (eds.), *Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems*, Hdb Env Chem (2023) 118: 213–230, DOI 10.1007/698_2022_879, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022, Published online: 16 April 2022 their elimination in the water management sector. Promising technology is the bioremediation system's effective use of wood-destroying "white root fungi," whose enzymatic apparatus is able to metabolize more complex substances.

This chapter deals with the influence of wood-destroying fungi on the degradation of selected xenobiotics from wastewater and the development of bioremediation technology with a biofilter inoculated with *Trametes Versicolor* mycelium, which could be practically applied in the tertiary stage of wastewater treatment.

Keywords 3D print, Biofiltration, Bioremediation, Environment, Micropollutants, Wastewater, Wastewater treatment technology, Wood-decay fungi, Xenobiotics

1 Introduction

Thanks to advances in the development of water chemical analysis technology, an increased occurrence of substances in natural waters that are not specific to the natural aquatic environment has been observed in the last 30 years. Due to their unnatural origin compared to common organic pollution, they are often referred to as "Xenobiotics." This situation is the result of the development of the chemical and pharmaceutical industry and the massive use of chemicals in various manufacturing or processing industries, which has become indispensable for our society. Xenobiotics represent a large group of substances including pharmaceuticals, pesticides, detergents, paints, varnishes, plastic packaging, food additives, cosmetics, and many others [1].

The name is derived from the Latin terms for xenos – foreign and bios – biological. These are often substances with completely different chemical–physical properties. Their concentration in water is in range of ng L^{-1} –µg L^{-1} . However, even in these low concentrations, the effects of xenobiotics on living organisms are much more dangerous than conventional organic pollutants. Conventional organic pollution usually degrades the state of water, such as turbidity, oxygen conditions, etc. In contrast, xenobiotics directly affect the organism, for example, at gene levels or through the endocrine system. It may evoke carcinogenic growth, mutagenic or teratogenic reproductive changes, or suppress the animal instinct of self-preservation. These effects may also occur in the next few subpopulations that have not been exposed to the harmful substance [2].

Xenobiotics are mostly completely persistent to common biological and chemical degradation processes, which take place in nature or during conventional wastewater treatment. Most of these substances practically go through the treatment cycle and freely spread to surface waters. Xenobiotics also may infiltrate groundwater and contaminate drinking water sources (xenobiotics such as pesticides was also found in drinking water resources) [3–6].

In addition, they enter the water not only in the original parent form, but also in the form of metabolites, which during transport from the source to the recipient (or in the process of water purification at the WWTP) may deconjugate back to the parent form or create new conjugates with other substances [7].

Xenobiotics pose a dangerous threat to all living organisms, including humans, in natural waters and water sources. At present, the issue of these substances is finally beginning to be addressed somewhat more intensively, and the elimination of these substances is in the interests of both the European Union and, for example, the EU (WFD, CIRCAB, EU Watch List [8–11], WHO (The International Program on Chemical Safety [12]), USEPA, and many others.

The terminology on these "new pollutants" is not entirely uniform. It is possible to find names other than "xenobiotics" within the scientific literature, for example, PTS – persistent toxic substances, PBT – persistent, bioaccumulative, and toxic substances, micropollutants (with regard to the range of low concentrations), EC – emerging pollutants, CEC – contaminants of emerging concern, etc. It will be primarily called "Xenobiotics" for the purposes of this chapter. The above names may appear in the text in the case of literary references or citations.

Wood-destroying fungi belong to the parasitic fungi of the Basidiomycetes division, which obtain energy from living or dead tree bodies. The ability of basidiomycetes (mainly white-rot fungi species) to degrade a wide range of substances is based on their non-specific ligninolytic extracellular and intracellular enzymatic system [13–16].

The chapter summarizes the current state of use of white-rot fungi in the field of wastewater treatment and focuses in more detail on the development and testing of bioremediation technology using a 3D printed biofilter inoculated by *Trametes Versicolor* mycelium to degradation of selected pharmaceuticals from water.

2 State of the Art: Application of Wood-Decay Fungi in Wastewater Treatment

Bioremediation methods include use of fungal, bacterial, algae, or plant (phytoremediation) species for the treatment of wastewater. Technological constructions of bioremediation are bioreactors, biofiltration, membrane reactors, root treatment plant, and constructed wetlands.

In general, this method of treatment is suitable either directly for a clean source of pollution (hospital, effluent of industry) or as a tertiary stage of WWTP after biological treatment. At the tertiary stage, organic pollution is already sufficiently degraded, which could cause inhibition of the growth of the bioremediation medium (algae, fungi) due to the excessive growth of activated sludge bacteria [17–19].

Fungi and fungus-like organisms are a relatively complex biological group. For example, they do not have plastids and their corresponding structures compared to the common representatives of the plant kingdom. Fungi do not have an assimilation pigment (except lichen), which leads to a heterotrophic diet. A large number of fungal representatives are parasites, as they obtain nutrients directly from living plant cells (or from more or less dead tissues). Currently, 65,000–70,000 species of fungi are described, with an estimated 1.5 million as yet undetected species [20]. In 2017, there were 2,189 new species of fungi discovered [21]. Wood-decay fungi belong to parasitic fungi from the species division of basidiomycetes (stem-spore fungi) and obtain their energy from living or dead bodies of woody plants. Based on the type of color decomposition of wood, we divide wood-decay fungi into:

- white-rot,
- soft rot,
- brown rot (a specific group is red root fungi, which includes wood-destroying fungi producing the metabolite Fomannoxin [22, 23]).

Wider use of basidiomycetes occurs in the 1980 with the development of enzymology, when enzymes, especially peroxidase, began to be used in the paper industry to remove paint in wastewater from bleaching plants [24]. Gradually, this trend spread to other industries to remove dyes from water, as most synthetic dyes resist common biodegradation processes, which causing a significant esthetic problem in the discharged waters. Since 1990, there has been begun intensive surveys of white-rot fungus ligninolytic enzymatic system utilization for the degradation of organic pollutants such as polychlorinated biphenyls, polyaromatic hydrocarbons, chlorophenols, and various types of synthetic dyes [13–16, 25]. During the test was used the whole fungal culture or the enzyme preparations containing most or all of the extracellular enzymes. Several species of fungi have been verified in studies, such as *Phanerochaete chrysosporium* [26], *Pycnoporus cinnabarinus* [27], *Pleurotus sp.* [28], *Trametes versicolor* [29], and *Bjerkandera adusta* [30].

It was later found that enzymes of the intracellular system (i.e. Cytochrome P450) also play an important role in degradation processes.

The ability of basidiomycetes and predominantly white-rot fungi to degrade a wide range of substances lies in their non-specific ligninolytic extracellular enzyme system, which includes enzymes:

- manganese peroxidase (MnP),
- lignin peroxidase (LiP),
- pyranose 2-oxidase (P2O),
- Lacasse,

as well as intracellular enzyme complexes (cytochrome P450).

Based on comparative studies [31] performed on various representatives of the white-rot fungi, it is known that one of the most effective wood-destroying fungi in removing micropollutants from water is demonstrably the species *Trametes Versicolor*.

Currently, there are three methods of application of wood-decay fungi in the cleaning of water matrices:

– enzymatic methods [32–35] – use of only individual enzymes, or their combinations.

Enzymatic methods – enzymatic preparations are used in which the individual components of enzymes are already predefined. These are subsequently subjected to biocatalytic degradation and enzymes being immobilized on a mediator (often natural compounds such as coumaric acid (PCA), syringaldehyde (SYR), and acetosyringone (ACE)) the biocatalytic reaction is realized in reactors. Most of these methods allow re-use, but they are not living organisms, but only individual enzymes.

 mycelial pellets and suspensions [36, 37] – production of activated pellets or solutions.

Mycelial pellets and suspensions are a very commonly used method, which was discovered in 1978 and is used, for example, in the paper or textile industry in the treatment of water containing synthetic dyes. The production of mycelial pellets consists of inoculating malt agar plugs (2%), which are placed in 500 ml Erlenmeyer flasks containing 150 ml of malt extract medium (2%). The flasks are then placed in an orbital shaker (135 rpm, r = 25 mm) at 25°C. After 4–5 days, a dense mycelial mass is formed, which is ground with a homogenizer. The resulting mycelial suspension is stored in sterilized saline (0.85% NaCl) at 4°C.

This suspension is then used directly to obtain pellets by inoculating 1 ml of the suspension with 250 ml of malt extract medium (2%) (adjusted to pH 4.5) in a 1 1 Erlenmeyer flask. The flask is further incubated on an orbital shaker (135 rpm, r = 25 mm) at 25°C for 5–6 days. This produces pellets that can be stored in sterilized saline (0.85% NaCl) at 4°C, where they remain active without loss of morphology for a maximum of 2 months [37]. In laboratory tests, pellets are used in smaller tests directly in Erlenmeyer flasks, or in larger volume tests at aerated bioreactor.

- cultivation on bio carriers - inoculation and fructification of carrier media.

Immobilization on solid supports – Another possibility is to cultivate the mycelial form immobilized on solid supports. So far, loofah skeletons, zeolites, wood chips, crushed nut shells, corn leaves, and chopped pallet wood have been tested as culture carriers [38, 39].

The design and build of a reactor with suitable conditions for mycelial growth is a crucial problem of the technology application of white-rot fungi in wastewater treatment. There are various prototype configurations successfully applied in the degradation of xenobiotics in wastewater:

- stirred tank reactor [40] operating with continuous air supply or periodic pulsation of oxygen,
- aerated reactor [41]
- bubble column reactor [42]
- fluidized bed reactor [17–19]
- aerated full bed bioreactor [43]
- counter current leakage bioreactor [39]
- in combination with MBR [44].

Current foreign research focuses mainly on testing a fluidized bed bioreactor with pulsed air and a counter current leakage bioreactor. However, over time, both of these technologies began to show a significant decrease in efficiency during continuous operation under non-sterile conditions, especially when testing with real matrices of wastewater samples without pre-treatment at the WWTP. This deterioration in performance is usually caused by the overgrowth of bacteria that inhibit fungal growth and enzyme production [38, 39]. This phenomenon was observed more markedly in technologies working with the mycelial form of basidiomycetes, on the contrary, the technology using lignocellulosic carriers is able to at least partially resist this bacterial inhibition. Furthermore, it has been shown that in reactors operating in the submerged mode, after 14 days, the efficiency decreases by up to 20%, on the contrary, in leakage reactors and MBR it does not occur [44].

3 Biocarriers Produced by 3D Printing

The method of biocarriers is clearly the best choice in terms of practical operation, economy, and long-term sustainability at real WWTP [44]. The basic condition for the functioning of white-rot fungi as a bioremediator is to use a biocarrier containing a sufficient amount of lignin and cellulose for inoculation. Dried loofah fruits, zeolites, wood chips, crushed nutshells, corn leaves, and chopped pallet wood have so far been tested as culture carriers [39]. Within the AdMaS research centre, we have developed a completely unique type of biocarrier made by 3D printing from PLA material with an admixture of wood up to 30% with the working name "3D cubes" (Fig. 1). The biocarriers are designed in the shape of perforated cubes with side ribbing so that they can be joined into compact sheets. The internal structure and perforation of the cubes were designed on the basis of the internal hierarchical arrangement of the dried fruit of the *Luffa cylindrica* plant.



Fig. 1 Biocarrier model $25 \times 25 \times 15$ mm (left: AutoCAD model, model viewed in PrusaControl 09.4_415 beta program, real biocarrier after print)

4 Testing of Biocarriers Produced by 3D Print

4.1 Tested Substances: Sulfonamides Antibiotics

Sulfonamides are broad-spectrum bacteriostatic antibiotics that have found wide applications in human and veterinary medicine. Currently, there are limitations to the use of sulfonamides antibiotics in human medicine due to increasing bacterial resistance and the availability of more active antibiotics. However, their use in veterinary medicine persists and they are very often used in pigs and cattle to treat bacterial diseases [45]. They are metabolized in the liver and excreted in the urine and excrement. A significant amount of these substances enters the wastewater either in the form of metabolites or even unchanged due to poor adsorption and degradability in the intestines of humans and animals [46]. Sulfonamides do not completely removed by wastewater treatment plants. Even during the removal, it was often found a higher concentration of sulfamethoxazole in the WWTP outflows than in input which was a result of the reverse conversion of the metabolite N⁴-acetyl sulphonamide [47]. Sulfapyridine, sulfamethoxazole, and its acetylated metabolite N^4 -acetylsulfamethoxazol are most often detected in wastewater [48] wherein 20% of the urinary sulfamethoxazole is unchanged drug, 15-20% is the N-glucuronide conjugate and 50-70% is the acetylated metabolite.

The mixed solution of the monitored sulfonamides antibiotics contained Sulfapyridin – SPY (Sigma Aldrich, assay \geq 99%), Sulfamethaxazole – SMX (Sigma Aldrich, assay \geq 99%), Sulfamethoxazol-d4 SMX d4 (Neochema GmbH, 100 µg/ml v MeOH), Sulfamethazine – SMZ (Sigma Aldrich, assay \geq 99%), Sulfathiazole – STZ (Sigma Aldrich, assay \geq 99%), Sulfathiazole-d4-STZ-d4 (Toronto Research Chemicals), Sulfamerazine – SMR (Sigma Aldrich, assay \geq 99%), Sulfadiazine – SDZ (Sigma Aldrich, assay \geq 99%).

The distilled water was used as model water in the Printscreen test and spiked drinking water and wastewater taken from the Modřice Brno WWTP drain was used in the Setup test.

4.2 Inoculation and Fructification Process

The inoculation of the 3D print cubes took place in sterilized 500 mL jars fitted with a perforated aluminum screw cap and cellulose wadding filter. The jars were sterilized in water at 100°C for 30 min. The cubes were printed at least 24 h before inoculation.

The fully grown *Trametes Versicolor* maternal fruiting bodies were used as inoculum, which was cut into approximately 2×2 cm pieces and placed in a seed glass along with the cubes. Increased growth was supported by the agar-glucose solution that was added to each sample. The agar-glucose solution was made from 10 g of glucose, 15 g of agar, and 1 L of distilled water. All samples were stored in

the dark at about 20°C. Mycelium growth was controlled each 3–4 days after the inoculation process. At the same time was again added 5 mL of agar-glucose solution. The biocarriers were fully fructified 10–12 days after inoculation. The excess AG solution was pipetted from the jars before testing.

4.3 Testing

The testing of biocarriers took place in two tests. The first so-called Printscreen test was performed in order to verify the efficiency of degradation of sulfonamides antibiotics from model water containing a concentration of 1 mg \cdot L⁻¹ sulfonamides antibiotics where distilled water used as a model medium. Such a high concentration was approached due to concerns about the possible negative effect of the matrix effect on the evaluation of the tests.

The second test, called the Setup test, aimed to obtain basic key data to verify the effectiveness of degradability depending on the different variations in sulfonamides antibiotic concentration levels and residence time. As part of the tests, there were also used real samples of wastewater from the Modřice WWTP outflow in Brno.

Basic test parameters:

- Printscreen test The concentration of monitored substances was 1 mg L^{-1} for each analyte in distilled water. The duration of the test was 7 days. Mycelial age 12 days. Cubes measuring $25 \times 25 \times 25$ mm were used as inoculation carrier. A total of three samples were evaluated. The sample was marked as Test I, Test II, and Test III.
- Setup test Concentration of monitored substances was 20 μ g L⁻¹, 100 μ g L⁻¹, for each analyte in drink water and 20 μ g L⁻¹ of each analyte in the wastewater. Test durations for concentration levels 20 μ g L⁻¹, 100 μ g L⁻¹ were set at 3.5 and 7 days. Mycelial age 10 days. Cubes measuring 25 × 25 × 15 mm were used as inoculation carrier.

Testing was performed after completion of the fructification of the biocarriers after removal of any excess agar-glucose solution directly in the inoculation jars, to which was added 250 mL of model water contaminated with the mixed solution. The inlet pH of each sample was measured, and the glasses were provided with an aluminum perforated overlay and placed in a thermoset in the absence of light at 25° C.

4.4 Analysis and Evaluation

4.4.1 Materials and Analysis Methods

Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (HPLC/MS) analysis of sulfonamide concentration in aqueous samples was carried out by these instruments and materials: Agilent 1,100 Series liquid chromatography, Kinetex C18 column length 150 mm, internal diameter 3 mm, particle size 2.6 μ m, Ascentis Express C18 column length 150 mm, internal diameter 2.1 mm, particle size 2.7 μ m, Ascentis Express HILIC column length 150 mm, internal diameter 2.1 mm, particle size 2.7 μ m, and Agilent Ion Trap 6,320 LC/MS mass spectrometer.

4.4.2 Evaluation of Printscreen Test

The highest degradation efficiency was achieved with sulfamethoxazole, where the values reached <99.99 removals in all samples (Table 1). On the other hand, the lowest degradability rate was shown by the sulfonamides sulfamerazine, for which the average elimination value was 3.97%, while in sample Test 3 the elimination efficiency was evaluated as zero. In terms of the total content of degraded sulfonamides, the most successful sample was Test 2, where the average value of degradation per sample reaches 31%. The average removal amount was 1.86 mg L⁻¹ from all analytes monitored (Fig. 2).

4.4.3 Evaluation of the Setup Test

The Table 2 shows that sulfamethoxazole was best degraded, even within the mean values, as the only one above the limit of 90%, the lowest removal rate was shown by sulfamethazine. For sulfapyridine, sulfamethoxazole, we can observe that the average values after 5 days decrease compared to the values after 3 days, while after 7 days the values increase again compared to the results from the third day. The data also clearly show that during the first 3 days in the test with a concentration of 20 ug L^{-1} achieves the greatest progress in terms of effectiveness. On the contrary, the test with a concentration of 100 ug L^{-1} increases in aging efficiency after 5 days. The comparing of efficiencies of the test with drink water and wastewater with concentration 20 ug L⁻¹ shows the total amount of degraded substances was higher in the wastewater samples (Table 2). A comparison of individual analytes shows that the only exception is sulfapyridine, whose elimination rate at 7 days is higher in the case of drink water but the difference is only 3%. The ability of Trametes Versicolor to degrade sulfonamides better in wastewater is probably due to richer stores of organic matter, especially polysaccharides, which provide the mycelium with the energy needed for metabolic processes to allow faster decomposition of more complex macromolecular substances [19, 38].

	Sample						Efficiency of	elimination E	
	Test 1	Test 2	Test 3	Test 1	Test 2	Test 3	Σ		
Sulfonamides	Efficiency of c	legradation (%)		Residual conc	entration µg L ⁻	-	E(%)	S (%)	μg
Sulfapyridine	26,15	22,01	16,85	738,55	779,93	831,49	21,67	4,66	216,68
Sulfadiazine	10,12	10,25	5,77	898,75	897,52	942,28	8,71	2,55	87,15
Sulfamethoxazole	<99.99	<99.99	<99.99	0,00	0,00	0,00	<99.99	0,00	1,000,00
Sulfathiazole	14,60	14,39	3,53	853,97	856,12	964,74	10,84	6,33	108,39
Sulfamerazine	6,64	5,28	0,00	933,59	947,21	1,000,00	3,97	3,51	39,73
Sulfamethazine	39,40	50,19	32,83	605,99	498,09	671,75	40,81	8,77	408,06

test results	
Printscreen	
of the	
Summary	
Table 1	



Fig. 2 Graphical comparison of Printscreen test results at degradation efficiency

The degradation efficiency range of sulfonamides in wastewater at a concentration of up to 20 μ g L⁻¹ after retention time 3–7 days for: Sulfapyridine – 67–80%, Sulfadiazine – 54–81%, Sulfamethoxazole – 78–99%, Sulfathiazole – 51–86%, Sulfamerazine – 49–72%, Sulfamethazine – 46–70%.

Based on the results of the test, it was also possible to compare the degradation efficiency in different water matrix samples at the sulfonamides concentration of 20 ug L^{-1} (Fig. 3). Figure 4 shows that of the total amount of degraded substances, the effluent wastewater matrix samples were clearly more effective. Exception is Sulfapyridine, whose elimination rate at 7 days is higher in the case of tap water, however the difference is about 3%. This effect is conditioned by richer reserves of organic substances in wastewater. Especially polysaccharides provide energy needed for the metabolic processes of the ligninolytic intracellular system enabling the decomposition of more complex macromolecular substances. For example, the degradation of 4-nitrophenol by the white-rot fungi Trametes Versicolor was tested with dilute tomato puree (or tomato juice) as a polysaccharide source [49]. When comparing the data, it is evident that the presence of organic substances in the water sample results in a higher production of mycelia, which is also reflected in an increase of the degradation efficiency. The increase is best observed when comparing the results of tests completed after 3 and 5 days.

Table 2 The Setup test si	ummary results	s of the sulfon	amides antibiotic	cs removed by	Trametes Vers	icolor in the difi	erent concentra	tions	
	3 days			5 days			7 days		
	20	100	20WW	20	100	20WW	20	100	20WW
	ug·L ⁻¹								
Sulfonamides	Degradation	[%]							
Sulfapyridine	72,25	25,20	75,10	67,31	32,22	73,58	80,88	86,31	78,33
Sulfadiazine	54,74	12,69	75,68	58,93	21,37	79,86	73,34	32,48	81,30
Sulfamethoxazole	78,17	7,42	77,38	70,21	25,92	96,73	94,58	99,84	99,80
Sulfathiazole	53,53	0,00	81,42	65,77	5,13	87,86	81,66	50,38	86,01
Sulfamerazine	49,86	0,00	69,72	51,42	0,00	69,06	66,33	20,52	72,05
Sulfamethazine	46,41	1,92	68,96	53,56	12,38	62,34	54,72	7,40	70,23

oncent	
ferent c	
e dif	
n th	
ori	
icol	
Vers	
Frametes ¹	
b,	
s removed	
antibiotics	
namides	
ne sulfo	
of tl	
y results	
summar	
test	
e Setup	
Ę	
e 2	
Cabl	



Fig. 3 Comparison of the degradation efficiency of sulfonamides antibiotics in spiked drink water and wastewater at an initial concentration of 20 $\mu g~L^{-1}$



Fig. 4 Degradation efficiency comparison of sulfonamides antibiotics in tap and wastewater at an initial concentration of $\mu g L^{-1}$

5 Conclusions

The xenobiotics represent a very wide group of substances with non-uniform physicochemical properties and different degrees of biodegradability. Their presence in wastewater is highly variable and depends on many other factors. These are very persistent and resistant to conventional methods of wastewater treatment, and in some cases during treatment can even form toxic conjugates, which are often more dangerous than the parent substances. In addition, in the case of the presence of antibiotics in the process of biological treatment is the rising risk of bacterial resistance to antibiotics.

Therefore, it can be expected that the legislation in this direction will put increased pressure on WWTPs operators to ensure their sufficient removal in the future. The assumption is that the elimination of xenobiotics will be solved mainly by building a tertiary stage of wastewater treatment which becomes a common part of WWTP.

The bioremediation methods seem to be very promising in the terms of the degree of degradation efficiency, economical aspect, and the current social trend of green technologies inspired by nature.

Wood-decay fungi as a bioremediator have demonstrated the high elimination efficiency of a wide range of xenobiotics from different environmental matrices in various studies. Laboratory testing of *Trametes Versicolor* mycelium immobilized on carriers produced by 3D printing carried out at the AdMaS center (Brno University of Technology) brought very good results. Two different tests have shown an apparent effect on the reduction of sulfonamide antibiotics in model and real wastewater. If these results will be proven by pilot testing, mycelium immobilized on 3D-printed media may be a cost-effective option to reduce xenobiotic contamination at the tertiary level of WTTP.

6 **Recommendations**

Although fungi, especially wild ones, are still a very unexplored area, their successful testing for medical, biotechnological, or decontamination purposes reveals their great potential, which will certainly bring new and unexpected discoveries in the future. Currently, the application of wood-decay fungi (white-rot fungi) is carried out only on a pilot scale, but the next step should be the transfer of technology to the operational facility, which would better assess their potential from a practical point of view. However, it will be necessary to perform another extensive validation testing for operational facilities, including the effect of hydrodynamic conditions, retention time, pollutants interactions, inoculation and fructification process directly in bioreactors, and especially to verify elimination efficiencies in larger volumes of water. **Acknowledgments** This chapter has been worked out under the project No. LO1408 "AdMaS UP – Advanced Materials, Structures and Technologies," supported by Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports under the "National Sustainability Programme I."

References

- 1. Fatta-Kassinos D, Bester K, Kümmerer K (2010) Xenobiotics in the urban water cycle. Mass flows, environmental processes, mitigation and treatment strategies. Environ Pollut
- Jobling SATR (2003) Endocrine disruption in wild freshwater fish. Pure Appl Chem 75(10–11): 2219–2234
- Sultanna T, Murray C, Kleyweght S, Metcalfe CD (2018) Neonicotinoid pesticides in drinking water in agricultural regions of southern Ontario, Canada. Chemosphere 202:506–513
- Klarich K, Pflug N, DeWald E, Hladik M, Kolpin D, Cwiertny D (2017) Occurrence of neonicotinoid insecticides in finished drinking water and fate during drinking water treatment. Environ Sci Technol 4(5):168–173
- 5. Schipper P, Vissers M, van der Linden A (2008) Pesticides in groundwater and drinking water wells: overview of the situation in the Netherlands. Water Sci Technol 57(8):1277–1286
- Matsushita T, Morimoto A, Kuriyama T (2018) Removals of pesticides and pesticide transformation products during drinking water treatment processes and their impact on mutagen formation potential after chlorination. Water Res 138:67–76
- Onesios K, Bouwer E (2021) Biological removal of pharmaceuticals and personal care products during laboratory soil aquifer treatment simulation with different primary substrate concentrations. Water Res 46(7):2365–2375
- Komise E. EU pesticides database [Online]. http://ec.europa.eu/food/plant/pesticides/eupesticides-database/public/?event=homepage&language=CS
- Klein W (1999) Final report revised proposal for list of priority substances in the context of the water framework directive (COMMPS procedure) [Online]. http://ec.europa.eu/environment/ water/water-dangersub/pdf/commps_report.pdf
- 10. EUR (2015) Development of the first watch list under the environmental quality standards directive: EUR scientific and technical research reports
- 11. Directive 2008/105/EC: environmental quality standards in the field of water policy (2008)
- 12. IPCS The International Program on Chemical Safety (2014) [Online]. http://www.inchem. org/. Přístup získán 2021-04-27
- Field J, Jong E, Feijoo-Costa G, Bont J (1993) Screening for ligninolytic fungi applicable to the biodegradation of xenobiotics. Trends Biotechnol 11(2):44–49
- Morgan P, Lewis S, Watkinson R (1991) Comparison of abilities of white-rot fungi to mineralize selected xenobiotic compounds. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 34(5):693–696
- 15. Reddy C (1995) The potential for white-rot fungi in the treatment of pollutants. Curr Opin Biotechnol 6(3):320–328
- Kirby N, Mc Mullan G, Marchant R (1995) Decolourisation of an artificial textile effluent by Phanerochaete chrysosporium. Biotechnol Lett 17(7):761–764
- Badia-Fabregat M, Lucas D, Pereira M, Alves M, Pennanen T, Fritze H, Rodríguez-Mozaz S, Barceló D, Vicent T, Caminal G (2016) Continuous fungal treatment of non-sterile veterinary hospital effluent: pharmaceuticals removal and microbial community assessment. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 100(5):2401–2415
- Mir-Tutusaus J, Sarrà M, Caminal G (2016) Continuous treatment of non-sterile hospital wastewater by Trametes Versicolor: how to increase fungal viability by means of operational strategies and pretreatments. J Hazard Mater 318:561–570
- Cruz-Morató C, Lucas D, Llorca M, Rodriguez-Mozaz S, Gorga M, Petrovic M, Barceló D, Vicent T, Sarrà M, Marco-Urrea E (2014) Hospital wastewater treatment by fungal bioreactor:

removal efficiency for pharmaceuticals and endocrine disruptor compounds. Sci Total Environ 493:365–376

- Kalina T, Váňa J (2010) SINICE,ŘASY, HOUBY, MECHOROSTY a podobné organismy v současné biologii. NAKLADATELSTVÍ KAROLINUM, Praha
- Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew (2018) Kew science [Online]. https://stateoftheworldsfungi. org/2018/reports/SOTWFungi_2018_Full_Report.pdf
- Hansson D, Menkis A, Olson Å, Stenlid J, Broberg A, Karlsson M (2012) Biosynthesis of fomannoxin in the root rotting pathogen Heterobasidion occidentale. Phytochemistry 84:31–39
- Horlacher N, Nachtigall J, Schulz D, Süssmuth RD, Hampp R, Fiedler H-P, Schrey SD (2013) Biotransformation of the fungal phytotoxin fomannoxin by soil streptomycetes. J Chem Ecol 39(7):931–941
- 24. Hakulinen R (1988) The use of enzymes for wastewater treatment in the pulp and paper industry a new possibility. Water Sci Technol 20(1):251–262
- 25. Royer G, Desrochers M, Jurasek L (1985) Batch and continuous decolorisation of bleached kraft effluents by a white-rot fungus. J Chem Technol Biotechnol Biotechnol 35B(1):14–22
- 26. Paszczynski A, Pasti M, Goszczynski S, Crawford D, Crawford R (1991) New approach to improve degradation of recalcitrant azo dyes by Streptomyces spp. and Phanerochaete chrysosporium. Enzym Microb Technol 13(5):378–384
- Schliephake K, Lonergan GT, Jones CL, Mainwaring DE (1993) Decolourisation of a pigment plant effluent by Pycnoporus cinnabarinus in a packed-bed bioreactor. Biotechnol Lett 15(11): 1185–1188
- Sannia G, Limongi P, Cocca E, Buonocore F, Nitti G, Giardina P (1991) Purification and characterization of a veratryl alcohol oxidase enzyme from the lignin degrading basidiomycete Pleurotus ostreatus. BBA Gen Sub 1073(1):114–119
- Swamy J, Ramsaya J (1999) The evaluation of white rot fungi in the decoloration of textile dyes. Enzym Microb Technol 24(3–4):130–137
- 30. Heinfling A, Martínez M, Martínez A, Bergbauer M, Szewzyk U (1998) Transformation of industrial dyes by manganese peroxidases from Bjerkandera adusta and Pleurotus eryngii in a manganese-independent reaction. Appl Environ Microbiol 64(8):2788–2793
- Bollag J, Leonowicz A (1984) Comparative studies of extracellular fungal laccases. Appl Environ Microbiol 48(4):849–854
- 32. Uhnáková B, Ludwig R, Pěknicová J, Homolka L, Lisá L, Šulc M, Petříčková A, Elzeinová F, Pelantová H, Monti D, Křen V, Haltrich D, Martínková L (2011) Biodegradation of tetrabromobisphenol A by oxidases in basidiomycetous fungi and estrogenic activity of the biotransformation products. Bioresour Technol 102(20):9409–9415
- 33. Sánchez-Trasviña C, Enriquez-Ochoa D, Arellano-Gurrola C, Tinoco-Valencia R, Rito-Palomares M, Serrano-Carreón L, Mayolo-Deloisa K (2019) Strategies based on aqueous two-phase systems for the separation of laccase from protease produced by Pleurotus ostreatus. Fluid Phase Equilib 502:112281
- 34. Sun K, Hong D, Liu J, Latif A, Li S, Chu G, Qin W, Si Y (2021) Trametes Versicolor laccaseassisted oxidative coupling of estrogens: conversion kinetics, linking mechanisms, and practical applications in water purification. Sci Total Environ 782:146917
- 35. Bilal M, Noreen S, Asgher M, Parveen S (2021) Development and characterization of crosslinked laccase aggregates (lac-CLEAs) from Trametes Versicolor IBL-04 as ecofriendly biocatalyst for degradation of dye-based environmental pollutants. Environ Technol Innov 21: 101364
- 36. Binupriya A, Sathishkumar M, Swaminathan K, Kuz C, Yun S (2008) Comparative studies on removal of Congo red by native and modified mycelial pellets of Trametes Versicolor in various reactor modes. Bioresour Technol 99(5):1080–1088
- 37. Blánquez P, Casas N, Font X, Gabarrell X, Sarrà M, Caminal G, Vicent T (2004) Mechanism of textile metal dye biotransformation by Trametes Versicolor. Water Res 38(8):2166–2172

- Torán J, Blánquez P, Camina G (2017) Comparison between several reactors with Trametes Versicolor immobilized on lignocellulosic support for the continuous treatments of hospital wastewater. Bioresour Technol 243:966–974
- 39. Li X, Xu J, Toledo R, Shim H (2015) Enhanced removal of naproxen and carbamazepine from wastewater using a novel countercurrent seepage bioreactor immobilized with Phanerochaete chrysosporium under non-sterile conditions. Bioresour Technol 197:465–474
- 40. Rodarte-Morales AI et al (2012) Biotransformation of three pharmaceutical active compounds by the fungus Phanerochaete chrysosporium in a fed batch stirred reactor under air and oxygen suplf. Biodegradation 24(1):145–156
- Zhou P, Su C, Li B, Qian Y (2006) Treatment of high-strength pharmaceutical wastewater and removal of antibiotics in anaerobic and aerobic biological treatment processes. J Environ Eng 132(1):129–136
- 42. Cerrone F, Barghini P, Pesciaroli C, Fenice M (2011) Efficient removal of pollutants from olive washing wastewater in bubble-column bioreactor by Trametes Versicolor. Chemosphere 84(2): 254–259
- 43. Ehlers G, Rose P (2005) Immobilized white-rot fungal biodegradation of phenol and chlorinated phenol in trickling packed-bed reactors by employing sequencing batch operation. Bioresour Technol 96(11):1264–1275
- 44. Nguyen L, Hai F, Yang S, Kang J, Leusch F, Roddick F, Price W, Nghiem L (2013) Removal of trace organic contaminants by an MBR comprising a mixed culture of bacteria and white-rot fungi. Bioresour Technol 148:234–241
- 45. Hruška K, Fránek M (2012) Sulfonamides in the environment: a review and a case report. Vet Med 57:1–35
- 46. Sarmah AK, Meyer MT, Boxall AB (2006) A global perspective on the use, sales, exposure pathways, occurrence, fate and effects of veterinary antibiotics (VAs) in the environment. Chemosphere 65(5):725–759
- 47. Chang H, Hu J, Asami M, Kunikane S (2008) Simultaneous analysis of 16 sulfonamide and trimethoprim antibiotics in environmental waters by liquid chromatography–electrospray tandem mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1190(1–2):390–393
- 48. Rößler M, Marx C, Diamond S, Schubert S, Oertel R, Fauler J (2015) Occurrence and removal of frequently prescribed pharmaceuticals and corresponding metabolites in wastewater of a sewage treatment plant. Sci Total Environ 532:762–770
- 49. Levin L, Carabajal M, Hofrichter M, Ullrich R (2016) Degradation of 4-nitrophenol by the white-rot polypore Trametes Versicolor. Int Biodeterior Biodegradation 107:174–179

Part IV Advanced and Tertiary Wastewater Treatment Systems

Nanotechnology Enabled Multifunctional Materials for Removal of Toxicants from Wastewater



Rachna Bhateria and Rimmy Singh

Contents

1	Intro	duction	234
2	Treat	ment Methods	235
	2.1	Conventional Technologies	235
	2.2	Nanotechnology	236
3	Nanc	technology Enhanced Nanomaterials	237
	3.1	Metal Based Nanomaterials	237
	3.2	Polymer Based Nanomaterials	238
	3.3	Membrane Based Nanomaterials	238
	3.4	Carbon Nanotubes	239
	3.5	Anti-Microbial Nanomaterials	239
4	Appl	ication of Nanomaterials in Wastewater Treatment	240
	4.1	Disinfection	240
	4.2	Media Filtration	242
	4.3	Membrane Systems	243
	4.4	Monitoring and Sensing	244
5	Conc	lusion	247
Ret	ferenc	es	247

Abstract Providing clean and potable water for human use is a great challenge of the twenty-first century. Globally, water supply wrestles to keep flow with the rapidly increasing demand which is aggravated by global climate change, increasing population and drop-down in water quality. Hence, to enable integrated water management, the need for technological innovation cannot be exaggerated.

R. Bhateria

Department of Environmental Science, MDU, Rohtak, India

R. Singh (🖂)

DPG Institute of Technology and Management, Gurugram, India

Mahmoud Nasr and Abdelazim M. Negm (eds.),

Department of Environmental Science, MDU, Rohtak, India

Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems, Hdb Env Chem (2023) 118: 233–254, DOI 10.1007/698_2022_868, © Springern Network Switzerland AC 2022 Published engineer 16 April 2022

Nanotechnology shows high potential in improving water and wastewater treatment efficiencies as well as enhancement of water supply by safeguarding unconventional water sources. Therefore, next generation water supply systems can be the result of leapfrogging opportunities provided by advancement in nanotechnology. The sustainability of our current water treatment, their distribution and discharge system are no longer viable due to their dependency on conveyance and centralized systems. The provided review accounts for nanotechnology enabled water treatment solutions through various multifunctional nanomaterials capable of transforming the current water treatment systems. High surface area, tunable pore size, optical, catalytic and magnetic properties, antimicrobial activity and surface chemistry are some of the magnificent properties of nanomaterials which make them a potential candidate for multiple applications. These properties of nanomaterials are applicable in water treatment as adsorbents, sensors for water quality monitoring, disinfection and for preparation of high quality nanomembranes. More importantly, the highly efficient, flexible and multifunctional materials enabled by nanotechnology provide a promising route both to retrofit aging infrastructure and to develop high performance, low maintenance decentralized treatment systems including point-of-use devices.

Keywords Adsorbent, Disinfection, Membrane, Nanomaterials, Sensors

1 Introduction

For the sustenance of human civilization and all other forms of the life, water is regarded as the most precious and essential resource. In the twenty-first century, access to clean and potable water is the most important humanitarian goal, but has become a major global challenge for the society [1]. In the early ages from 1900s to 1970s, the objectives of water treatment focussed on (a) the elimination of floating, colloidal and suspended substances (b) treatment of biodegradable organic compounds and (c) decontamination from pathogenic microbes. Unfortunately, these objectives have not been achieved properly. From the 1970s to 1980, environment and aesthetic concerns were the primary objectives for wastewater treatment [2]. Meanwhile, the objectives of pathogen, biological oxygen demand (BOD) and total suspended solid (TSS) reductions were in continuation phase but parallelly nutrients such as phosphorus and nitrogen were also started adding with contaminated substances. Therefore, the intensity of water treatment has increased significantly [3].

In current municipal treatment technologies, water disinfection is achieved by chemical disinfectants such as chlorine and chloramine and by germicidal UV radiations [4]. Processes using multi-barrier approach have no significant effect against all groups of pathogenic microorganisms such as bacteria, viruses and protozoa which are of the emerging global concerns. Extensive infrastructure is required by current large-scale centralized water treatment plants for disinfection [5]. However, there are certain complicated halogenated compounds released during the

disinfection processes which require sophisticated optimization and high-profile infrastructure facilities. These techniques can be proved fruitful to developed countries due to the availability of infrastructure and facilities but are not well suited to developing countries and in areas with low population [6]. Hence, there is need to shift on the advanced yet affordable technologies which are capable of decontaminating water and less dependent on chemical and energy. It should be modularly designed but simple to maintain and implement for treating pollutants [7].

Since nanotechnology has shown its potential into various applications of wastewater treatment and environmental remediation, simple and efficient nanomaterials have come up to the way which have high abilities of water treatment. Engineered nanomaterials have large surface area and specific reactivity [8] which can function efficiently in designing a well-defined centralized water system. Engineered nanomaterials (ENM) enabled nanoscale materials have cell wall disruption abilities [9–12], electrostatic interactions based on surface active processes [13], photochemical generation of reactive oxygen species [14–16] and targeted delivery of disinfecting agents [17]. Pathogens can be trapped through nanomaterial-based biofilm inhibition as they have unique surface properties as well as reactivity [9].

For wastewater treatment, engineered nanomaterials show wide applications as they exhibit newer properties which have the capability to develop highly reactive and improved membranes, photocatalytic substances and absorbents [18]. Various organic (phenols, azo dyes, pesticides, etc.), inorganic (Pb, Cr, Hg, Cd, etc.) and biological materials (algae, viruses, bacteria, etc.) can be detected and eliminated by engineered nanoparticles, nanotubes and nanomembranes [19]. Nanomaterials have the potential to offer solutions to disinfection, adsorption, catalysis and water cleaning [20, 21]. For the removal of some specific contaminants, nano traps have been designed. Likewise, researchers in Rice University fabricated iron oxide ceramic membranes (ferroxane membrane) for organic waste decontamination in water [22].

In the present review, we have discussed and highlighted various kinds of nanomaterials that are used in wastewater treatment. Moreover, a brief discussion is addressed on how nanotechnology overcomes the limitations of conventional technologies for water treatment. Nanotechnological applications in water disinfection, media filtration, membrane filtration and in monitoring and sensing are also described in the trailing sections of the review.

2 Treatment Methods

2.1 Conventional Technologies

To meet the complicated wastewater treatment problems, various technologies such as reverse osmosis for inorganic contaminants removal, aeration for odour and taste control, adsorption and ion exchange for ions removal have been developed time to time. But the concern has driven to framework the strategies regarding the

Conventional			
technologies	Advantages	Disadvantages	Application
Chlorine	Easy to handle and econom- ical; residual concentration; technologies consolidated	High contact time; by-product formation; residual toxicity of the effluent; very corrosive	Drinking water; wastewater
Chlorine dioxide	More effective than chlorine over short contact; long residual	Residual toxicity of the effluent; by-product formation; generation onsite; medium-high management costs; increase the concentration of solids in the effluent	Drinking water; wastewater
Ozone	Short contact time	No residues of disinfectant; by-product formation; generation onsite; high energy demand; high management costs	Wastewater
Peracetic acid	Simple solution; residual concentration	Increase BOD and COD concen- tration in the effluent; by-product formation	Wastewater
UV radiation	No by-products formation; short contact time; inactiva- tion of virus	No residues; high energy demand; high cost; unsuitable for water with high levels of suspended solids, turbidity, colour or soluble organic matter	Wastewater

 Table 1
 Conventional disinfection technologies [36, 37]

availability and deliverance of clean and potable water to the growing demands [23-26]. To aggravate the situation, wastewater effluent already emerges toxic and lethal pollutants which include but not limited to endocrine disrupting compounds (EDCs), textile dyes, plasticizers and pharmaceutical products which have potential health effects [23, 27–30]. Conventional wastewater treatment technologies primarily focus on the removal of solid materials while reducing chemical oxygen demand (COD) and biological oxygen demand (BOD) in secondary treatment. Parallelly high levels of nitrogen and phosphorus were added to the water bodies released during conventional treatment practices, which leads to eutrophication. The increase in turbidity results in addition of high levels of disinfectants such as chlorine which can form the carcinogenic by-products (Table 1). In conventional treatment, technoeconomic challenges are also associated with the removal of microbes from the treatment plant. Conventional treatments have not yet applied to the large scale due to high capital investment, complexity of process, high cost of operation and other environmental impacts [31]. Therefore, to develop accessible wastewater treatment technologies, researchers have explored low-cost, sustainable and/or renewable alternatives (such as adsorbents and enzymes) [32-35].

2.2 Nanotechnology

Nano is derived from a Greek word which means "dwarf." Nanotechnology ("nanotech") is the handling of matter at an atomic, molecular and supra-molecular level.

	Treatment		
Nanomaterial	process	Action	Reference
Silver (Ag)	Disinfection	Release of Ag+ ions, cell membrane disruption	[43, 44]
Gold (Au)	Disinfection	Enhanced antimicrobial activity	[45]
Magnetic nanoadsorbent	Adsorbent	Expulsion of Pb (II)	[46]
Zerovalent nanocopper	Dye degradation	Methyl orange	[47]
ZnO/Zn	Photocatalysis	Methylene blue	[48]
TiO ₂ /trititanate	Photocatalysis	Rhodamine B	[49]
AgBr/ZnO	Photocatalysis	Methylene blue degradation	[50]
ZnS nanocrystals	Adsorbent	Removal of Hg (II)	[51]

Table 2 Nanomaterials for water treatment

Simply, "nanotechnology is the design, characterization, production and application of structures, devices and systems by controlling the shape and size at the nanometre scale". Nanotechnology is capable of significantly improving the environmental quality and sustainability by pollution prevention, treatment and remediation. Large infrastructure-based wastewater treatment solutions can be replaced by highly efficient nanomaterials which will provide affordable and clean water [38]. For the expulsion of toxic heavy metals and organic wastes, nanomaterials play a significant role in water decontamination (Table 2) [39]. The application of nanotechnology in drinking water treatment and pollution clean-up is promising as demonstrated by a number of field-based (pilot and full scale) and bench-scale studies [40–42].

3 Nanotechnology Enhanced Nanomaterials

3.1 Metal Based Nanomaterials

For heavy metal and radionuclide expulsion, oxides of iron, titanium and alumina act as economical and effective adsorbents. Adsorption is mainly facilitated by the complexation reaction between heavy metals and oxygen of metal oxides [52]. Activated carbon has been replaced with nanomaterials as they have immense potential of eliminating heavy metals such as lead, chromium, arsenic, copper and zinc [53]. Among various heavy metals, arsenic is of major concern and attracted researchers. Activated carbon has limited absorption capacity for arsenic, especially for As(V) but can be good adsorbent for other organic and inorganic contaminants [54]. Magnetite and TiO₂ nanoparticles have shown superior adsorption capacity for arsenic and other metal oxides than activated carbon [55, 56]. The properties of various nanocomposites are illustrated in Fig. 2. There are certain other mechanisms such as co-precipitation, surface complexation and electrostatic attractions that are often used for the extraction of contaminants by metallic nanoparticles [57]. Furthermore, preconcentration and diffusion of contaminants can be facilitated by charged support in order to trap them in the pores of nanomaterials [58]. Various types of bacteria were reported to be killed by metallic NPs (Ag, Au and Cu) by simply disrupting their cell membranes [59].

3.2 Polymer Based Nanomaterials

Polymer nanosorbents have functional groups with large surface area, hence they have efficient and fast adsorption rate. Dendrimers are another class of polymerbased nanomaterials and they are the tailored adsorbents which are efficient in the adsorption of heavy metals and organic compounds. Dendrimers have a unique structure which includes interior hydrophobic shells for the adsorption of organic compounds while exterior branches can be tailored for heavy metal adsorption. Adsorption is based on the hydrogen bonding, complexation reactions, hydrophobic effect and electrostatic interactions between adsorbent and heavy metal [60]. For the recovery of metal ions, a dendrimer-based ultrafiltration system was designed [61]. A highly branched nanoscale dendrimers can act as "cages" for metal ions and trap them to solubilize in apt medium for binding onto specific surface. Polyamidoamine (PAMAM) dendrimers were explored for the removal of copper from water by Diallo et al. [62]. Diaminobutane poly(propylene imine) dendrimers functionalized with long aliphatic chains can remove organic impurities like polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons from water.

3.3 Membrane Based Nanomaterials

Nanomaterial based membranes show potential in fouling reduction, increment in antimicrobial activity, separation performance and upgrading of other novel functionalities [63–68]. Generally, the membrane material decides the performance of membrane systems. Functional nanomaterials doped into membrane improve the thermal and mechanical stability, membrane permeability and fouling resistance as well as develop new functionalities for contaminant degradation and self-cleaning. The addition of zeolite NPs in TFN (thin film nanomembrane) reverse osmosis membranes helps in controlling the transport process to reach the percolation threshold in the dense selective layer with an individual particle [65, 68]. Zeolite nanoparticle-based TFN membranes show higher permeability, greater negative surface charge and are thick membranes irrespective of the nanoparticle size. Similarly, a thin coating of bundled single-walled CNTs was overlaid on the surface of a poly vinylidene fluoride (PVDF) microporous membrane, which possesses high potentiality in the removal of viral and bacterial pathogens from water at low-pressure inputs [69].

3.4 Carbon Nanotubes

Carbon nanotubes (CNTs) are the allotropes of carbon with a cylindrical nanostructure. CNTs can be single-walled or multi-walled nanotubes depending on the synthesis process, respectively. CNTs are known for their adjustable surface chemistry, high surface area and they possess great accessible adsorption sites. Carbon nanotubes are prone to high aggregation due to hydrophobic nature of surface and therefore have to be stabilized in aqueous suspension. They can be used for the detection as well as adsorption of contaminants [70]. Chemical bonding and electrostatic attractions make metal ions to adsorb on CNTs [71]. Adsorption of different organic chemicals is highly efficient in CNTs than activated carbon [72]. Large external surface area provides high adsorption capacity for contaminants and CNTs interactions [73]. CNTs have interstitial space and grooves which provide high energy sites for organic molecules [70].

3.5 Anti-Microbial Nanomaterials

Metal nanoparticles such as copper, gold and silver found effective to kill certain bacteria. Engineered nanometals have specific mechanism of action and properties. Disruption of cell membrane metabolism is the main antimicrobial mechanism possessed by nanometals [74] (Fig. 1). The antimicrobial ability of nanometals demonstrates different functions which are effective in infrastructure deficient regions. Several ENMs have been explored for water disinfection, including semi-conductor photocatalysts such as titanium dioxide [75], nano-silver [17], molybde-num disulphide [47], nano-zinc oxide [76], carbon nanotubes [12] and their functional derivatives [77, 78] as well as carbon-based materials such as fullerenes



Fig. 1 Cell membrane disruption by antimicrobial mechanism of metallic nanoparticles (modified and adapted from Ref. [83])



Fig. 2 Illustration of typical environmental nanocomposites and nano-enabled properties (adapted from Ref. [84])

[77, 78]. Recently, silver nanoparticles (nAg) [79], aqueous fullerene nanoparticles (nC60) [80], photocatalytic TiO₂ [14, 81], fullerol [82] and carbon nanotubes (CNT) [12] are some of the nanomaterials which show strong antimicrobial activities. Antimicrobial nanomaterials are not strong oxidants and they are inert in water compared to conventional chemical disinfectants. Therefore, harmful DBPs are not expected to be produced and have the capability to replace or enhance conventional disinfection methods (Fig. 2).

4 Application of Nanomaterials in Wastewater Treatment

4.1 Disinfection

Pathogens in potable water are mainly responsible for acute waterborne diseases around the world, especially in developing countries. Biologically unsafe water attributes to over two million deaths, mainly of children, in a year [85]. Engineered nanomaterials provide unique functionalities for pathogen inactivation, such as large surface area and specific reactivity through mechanisms that have not been well exploited by conventional disinfectants [8]. Various nanomaterials kill microbes by specific methods such as chitosan nanoparticles kill by degrading microbial cell membrane [86], nano silver (nAg) by releasing certain toxins [87] and photocatalytic nanoparticles (TiO₂) by generation of reactive oxygen species (RoS) [88, 89]. Nano disinfectants are capable of continuous operation with high efficiency and low energy consumption which attracts decentralized water and wastewater treatment systems.

4.1.1 Photocatalytic Processes

For the removal of trace contaminants and pathogens from water, photocatalysis is an advanced process. Photocatalysis is a better pre-treatment process for the biodegradation of hazardous and non-biodegradable pollutants [90]. Photocatalysis can be efficient in remediating recalcitrant organic compounds [38]. Semiconductors mainly, cadmium sulphide titanium oxide, tungsten oxide, cerium oxide, zinc sulphide, iron (III) oxide, tin oxide and zinc oxide can be used as photocatalysts [39, 91–93]. Organic contaminants can be oxidized by photocatalysts to safe and substances. Groundwater pollutants such as nontoxic toluene, cis-1, 3 chloromethanes, 1-dichloroethane, xylenes, 2-dichloroethane can be degraded by nano photocatalysts [92]. Among many semiconductors, titanium dioxide is a promising photocatalyst [94] because of its facile synthesis, high photoactivity, semi conductivity, stability and optimum band gap (3.6 eV).

A number of nanomaterials have been used for the photocatalytic degradation of contaminants (Fig. 3). Dyes like rhodamine B and methylene blue can be degraded by photocatalytic TiO_2 nanoparticles. Two per cent Cu doped TiO_2 nanocomposite is effective in catalysing the *Escherichia coli infection* [95]. For the reduction of heavy metal ions (HMIs), hollow structured nanomaterials could be the promising photocatalyst. Similarly, photocatalytic degradation of Cr(VI) into Cr(III) can be



achieved using TiO₂ hollow spheres [96]. Oxides and hydroxides were formed in solution by TiO₂ hollow spheres during photocatalytic reduction [97]. Kim et al. doped TiO₂ with another photocatalyst, developing a TiO₂/SiO₂ hollow sphere catalyst using a poly (styrene-methyl acrylic acid) matrix. This catalyst provided a photodegradation rate for methylene blue that was 2.5 times greater than that of pure TiO₂ hollow spheres [98].

4.1.2 Nano-Silver (Ag)

From over 100 years, silver has medical applications. Historically recognized and applied antimicrobial properties of silver and its components have been used in disinfection of medical devices, home appliances and water treatment [99-101]. Nano-silver (Ag nanoparticles) is capable of destroying infectious microbes making it the strongest antimicrobial agent. Quang et al. investigated the antibacterial water disinfection potential of silver nanoparticles supported silica beads (Ag-NPBs) [102]. Silver being less toxic and broad-spectrum antimicrobial agent has been used in the modification of surface membranes. Various researches revealed that nano-silver and nanozeolite surfaces have long-lasting antimicrobial activity at the membrane surface (based on polyvinyl alcohol and polydopamine). Nano-silver can be controlled and released rapidly, stably and efficiently because of the synergetic effect of two components (polyvinyl alcohol and polydopamine) [103]. Zarpelon et al. clarified that silver or polyelectrolyte nanomaterials with self-assembled thin films can remove 93% of total coliform, especially E. coli, within 6 h for reuse and 90% for first use of untreated industrial water. This process is influenced by pH, temperature and coliform concentration [104].

4.2 Media Filtration

4.2.1 Adsorbents

Nanomaterials have come up as excellent adsorbents due to their smaller size and high surface area [105] which is responsible for increased adsorption capacity and high chemical activity [105, 106]. Under equilibrium conditions, Langmuir adsorption coefficient K_d determines the process of adsorption and recitation partitioning of heavy metals or organic pollutants [107, 108]. Moreover, for persistent inorganic pollutants redox reaction is favoured to start the ionic structure transformation [109]. Toxicity of pollutants alters with redox conditions [110, 111]. The nanoparticles used for the adsorption of heavy metals are ferric oxides, manganese oxide, graphene, titanium oxide, magnesium oxide, zinc oxide and carbon nanotubes [109]. Nano-adsorbents have innate surface and external functionalization properties. The extrinsic surface structure, intrinsic composite and apparent size of nanoadsorbents relate to their material, physical and chemical properties [112]. In

the aqueous environment, the additional factors (other than agitation time, dosage, temperature and ion concentration) affecting the adsorption process are high surface area, adsorption activity, chemical activity, location of atoms on surface, lack of internal diffusion resistance and high surface binding energy [113]. Nanozero-valent ions have been used as adsorbents for contaminant removal and separation by catalysing the chemical and photochemical oxidation process for expulsion of toxic substances. They can be used as beads, powder or porous granules [39]. The adsorption mechanism primarily depends on the chemical and physico-chemical properties of water and the adsorbent [114].

4.3 Membrane Systems

Wastewater treatment has emerged with the introduction of membrane separation technology. Membrane is a selective material with porous structure and allows only water to pass through and inhibits the bacteria, metal salts, etc. [115]. Membranes can be classified as synthetic, nuclear and biological. The nanomaterial-based membranes are the most effective membrane wastewater filtration technique [116– 118]. Nanomembranes possess fouling resistance, new and advance functions, high permeability and catalytic reactivity [119]. Low space requirement, quality of water treatment and effective disinfection make this nanomaterial-based membrane technology highly adaptable [120]. Nanomembranes comprise one-dimensional nanomaterials including nanofibers, nanotubes and nanoribbons [121]. Carbonaceous nanofibers (CNFs) assembled with beta cyclodextrin have shown high potential of phenolphthalein and fuchsin acid removal [122]. Zeolite based nanomembranes can be used for the osmotic separation in aqueous solution. Linde type A, sodalite and MFI- type are some of the common zeolite materials used in membranes while the mostly used zeolite in nanomembranes is Zeolite ZSM-5 (MFI) [119]. In addition, the capturing potential of nanoparticles and other small molecules can be positively enhanced by the interconnection of nanoparticles and negatively charged bodies on macroscopic disk-like titanate-nanoribbon membrane [121, 123].

4.3.1 High Performance Membranes

Recent advancement in membrane technology has taken it up to the next level of high-performance membranes. The efficiency of membranes can be enhanced by impregnation of nanomaterials, for example, doping of silver nanoparticles (AgNPs) into membranes improves antibacterial properties of the membrane. Silver nanoparticles were coated on the surface on the membrane which inhibits dissolution of AgNPs and Ag⁺. Therefore, enhanced water flux and antibacterial performance can be achieved by the nanocomposite [124]. Nano-Ag, CNTs, nano-TiO₂ and nano-zeolites have been used in thin film composites. Amount, type and size of

nanoparticles decide the selectivity and permeability of the membrane. Similarly, nano-zeolites have been used as dopants in TFN to enhance permeability. The addition of nano-zeolites leads to more permeable, negatively charged and thicker polyamide active layer [66]. Modified nanotube membranes have also been synthesized. Carboxyl multi-walled carbon nanotubes/calcium alginate (CMWCNT/CA) composite was synthesized by Jie et al. [125] using a pore forming agent polyethylene glycol with hydrogel nanofiltration membrane. Electrospun nanofiber membranes (ENMs) have been recognized as efficient membrane to treat wastewater [38, 126, 127]. The ENM is a leapfrogging technique which is less expensive, low energy consumption and facile process compared to conventional technologies. This technique is advantageous due to high surface to volume ratio and porosity [128, 129]. Electrospinning is another technique being capable of producing thinner fibres as the diameter of the fibre affects the porosity. Nanofiber membranes have been widely applied in wastewater treatment containing heavy metals, particulate microbes and salts (desalination). In a study by Xu et al. [130] electrospun polysulfone fibre membrane was used to remove the particles from biotreated wastewater.

4.3.2 Antifouling Membranes

Integrated water treatment has an important component, i.e. membrane technology. Hydrophobic membrane when interacts with organic compounds in water results in membrane fouling. Deposition of particles and molecules in the pore or surface causes fouling [131–133]. As a result of fouling, the quality of treated water degrades. Moreover, reduction in the reliability of membrane filtration can be observed [134]. Nanofiltration membranes show lower flux at low pressures [135]. Membrane fouling caused by reduction in flux needs to be cleaned either chemically or mechanically and sometimes should be replaced [133]. Therefore, to minimize the fouling problem, certain techniques such as membrane modification, feed solution properties and optical conditions have been developed [136]. Modification of membrane can be achieved by hydrophilic polymer coating with polyvinyl alcohol and chitosan; however, it has certain constraints of high cost, complexity and pollutant production [125]. Mixed matrix membranes (MMMs) with carbon nanotubes (CNTs) have been synthesized which act as membrane and found to have potential to accelerate flux [137, 138].

4.4 Monitoring and Sensing

Water quality monitoring system faces certain challenges in efficient detection of pathogens and high complexity of the water/wastewater matrices. Current system lacks innovative sensors with high sensitivity and selectivity and reckless response. Therefore, nanosensor can be the alternative solution for water pollutant detection and sensing.

4.4.1 Sensors

A basic nanosensor consists of a nanomaterial and a recognition element for signal transduction. Recognition element interacts with analyte to be detected and produces a detectable signal. When an analyte interacts with nanosensor, the sensitivity arises due to the magnetic, optical and electrical properties of the nanomaterial as well as by transduction method used to induce a signal. Effective integration of nanomaterials and recognition agents (e.g. antibodies, aptamers, carbohydrates and antimicrobial peptides) could yield fast, sensitive and selective sensors for microbial detection [139]. Improved sensor sensitivity speed and multiplex target detection can be achieved by nanomaterial-based sensors as they have unique electrochemical, optical and magnetic properties. The nanosensor research has flourished in CNTs, quantum dots (QDs), noble metal nanoparticles and dye doped NPs. Multiplex target detection can be achieved by single excitation source such as quantum dots that have wide adsorption bands, narrow and stable fluorescent emission spectra [140]. Nanotechnology-enabled sensors are capable of replacing existing water-quality sensors. Till date, a number of nanosensors have been developed for the detection of toxins, pH and pathogens in water [141–144].

4.4.2 High Efficiency Sample Preconcentration

Nanomaterials can be used for the detection of trace organic and inorganic contaminants. CNTs show high adsorption capacity, increased recovery rate and fast kinetics, thus contributes to environmental analysis of trace elements and contaminants. The preconcentration factors of metal ions were found to be between 20 and 300 with fast adsorption kinetics [145]. Preconcentration of organic compounds in real water samples by CNTs has also been studied widely [146]. Changes in conductance affect the adsorption of charged species on CNTs that provides the basis for correlation between analyte concentration and current fluctuation [147]. However, certain other nanomaterials mainly, nano-Au and Quantum dots have also been explored for sample preconcentration. In a colorimetric assay, nano-Au has been shown detection of pesticides at parts per billion level (ppb) [148]; modified nano-Au was shown to detect Hg²⁺ and CH₃Hg⁺ rapidly with high sensitivity and selectivity [149]. QD modified TiO₂ nanotubes lowered the detection limits of PAHs to the level of pica-mole per litre based on fluorescence resonance energy transfer [150]. Nano-sensor based on CoTe QDs immobilized on a glassy carbon electrode surface was reported to detect Bisphenol A in water at low concentrations of w10 nM within 5 s [151]. Hence advanced nanomaterials provide a wide range of applications such as elimination of heavy metals and related pollutants, eradication and dormancy of pathogens and conversion of highly toxic substances to least toxic [152]. The major applications of the nanomaterials in wastewater treatment are summarized in Table 3.

	Representative	Desirable nanomaterial	
Applications	nanomaterials	properties	Enabled technologies
Adsorption	Carbon nanotubes	High specific surface area, highly assessable adsorption sites, diverse contaminant-CNT interactions, tunable surface chemistry, easy reuse	Contaminant preconcentration/detec- tion, adsorption of recal- citrant contaminants
	Nanoscale metal oxide	High specific surface area, short intraparticle diffusion distance, more adsorption sites, com- pressible without significant surface area reduction, easy reuse, some are superparamagnetic	Adsorptive media filters, slurry reactors
Membranes and mem- brane	Nano-zeolites	Molecular sieve, hydrophilicity	High permeability thin film nanocomposite membranes
processes	Nano-Ag	Strong and wide-spectrum anti- microbial activity, low toxicity to humans	Anti-biofouling membranes
	Carbon nanotubes	Antimicrobial activity (unaligned carbon nanotubes) Small diameter, atomic smooth- ness of inner surface, tunable opening chemistry, high mechanical and chemical stability	Anti-biofouling mem- branes Aligned carbon nanotube membranes
	Nano-TiO ₂	Photocatalytic activity, hydro- philicity, high chemical stability	Reactive membranes, high performance thin film nanocomposite membranes
	Nano- magnetite	Tunable surface chemistry, superparamagnetic	Forward osmosis
Photocatalysis	Nano-TiO ₂	Photocatalytic activity in UV and possibly visible light range, low human toxicity, high stabil- ity, low cost	Photocatalytic reactors, solar disinfection systems
Disinfection and microbial control	Nano-Ag	Strong and wide-spectrum anti- microbial activity, low toxicity to humans, ease of use	POU water disinfection, anti-biofouling surface
Sensing and monitoring	Quantum dots	Broad absorption spectrum, nar- row, bright and stable emission which scales with the particle size and chemical component	Optical detection
	Noble metal nanoparticles	Enhanced localized surface plasmon resonances, high conductivity	Optical and electrochemi- cal detection
	Magnetic nanoparticles	Tunable surface chemistry, superparamagnetism	Sample preconcentration and purification

 Table 3 Potential applications of nanotechnology in water and wastewater treatment (adapted from Qu et al. [38])

5 Conclusion

Nanotechnology has enabled the wastewater treatment technologies for improving the centralized water system. It has gained momentum worldwide as nanomaterials possess unique properties to revolutionize water treatment technologies. To meet the global challenge of clean and affordable water, novel water management approaches are required. Hence, nanotechnology plays a critical role in the transformation of water supply systems towards a treatment paradigm. The future prospect of nanotechnology has significant effect on reshaping the water supply systems to make them more sustainable and smarter. Engineered nanomaterials of varied shape, size and composition have been studied for pathogen inactivation, contaminants expulsion and separation with membrane at laboratory scale.

References

- 1. Qu X, Brame J, Li Q, Alvarez PJ (2012) Nanotechnology for a safe and sustainable water supply: enabling integrated water treatment and reuse. Acc Chem Res 46(3):834–843
- Tchobanoglous G, Burton FL, Stensel HD (1991) Wastewater engineering. Management 7:1– 4
- Nnaji CO, Jeevanandam J, Chan YS, Danquah MK, Pan S, Barhoum A (2018) Engineered nanomaterials for wastewater treatment: current and future trends. Fundam Nanopart:129–168
- Collivignarelli MC, Abbà A, Benigna I, Sorlini S, Torretta V (2018) Overview of the main disinfection processes for wastewater and drinking water treatment plants. Sustainability 10(1):86
- 5. Di Iaconi C, Mascolo G (2011) Innovative and integrated Technologies for the Treatment of industrial wastewater. IWA Publishing, London
- Mauter MS, Zucker I, Perreault F, Werber JR, Kim JH, Elimelech M (2018) The role of nanotechnology in tackling global water challenges. Nat Sustain 1(4):166–175
- 7. Committee on Public Water Supply Distribution Systems: Assessing and Reducing Risks (2006) National Research Council. Drinking Water Distribution Systems: Assessing and Reducing Risks. The National Academies Press
- Li Q, Mahendra S, Lyon DY, Brunet L, Liga MV, Li D, Alvarez PJ (2008) Antimicrobial nanomaterials for water disinfection and microbial control: potential applications and implications. Water Res 42(18):4591–4602
- Bhadra CM, Truong VK, Pham VT, Al Kobaisi M, Seniutinas G, Wang JY, Juodkazis S, Crawford RJ, Ivanova EP (2015) Antibacterial titanium nano-patterned arrays inspired by dragonfly wings. Sci Rep 5:16817
- Ivanova EP, Hasan J, Webb HK, Gervinskas G, Juodkazis S, Truong VK, Wu AH, Lamb RN, Baulin VA, Watson GS, Watson JA (2013) Bactericidal activity of black silicon. Nat Commun 4:2838
- Gazit E (2007) Self-assembled peptide nanostructures: the design of molecular building blocks and their technological utilization. Chem Soc Rev 36(8):1263–1269
- Kang S, Pinault M, Pfefferle LD, Elimelech M (2007) Single-walled carbon nanotubes exhibit strong antimicrobial activity. Langmuir 23(17):8670–8673
- 13. Wang Y, El-Deen AG, Li P, Oh BH, Guo Z, Khin MM, Vikhe YS, Wang J, Hu RG, Boom RM, Kline KA (2015) High-performance capacitive deionization disinfection of water with graphene oxide-graft-quaternized chitosan nanohybrid electrode coating. ACS Nano

- Cho M, Chung H, Choi W, Yoon J (2005) Different inactivation behaviors of MS-2 phage and Escherichia coli in TiO2 photocatalytic disinfection. Appl Environ Microbiol 71(1):270–275
- 15. Liu C, Kong D, Hsu PC, Yuan H, Lee HW, Liu Y, Wang H, Wang S, Yan K, Lin D, Maraccini PA (2016) Rapid water disinfection using vertically aligned MoS 2 nanofilms and visible light. Nat Nanotechnol 11(12):1098
- Zhang D, Li G, Jimmy CY (2010) Inorganic materials for photocatalytic water disinfection. J Mater Chem 20(22):4529–4536
- Xiu ZM, Zhang QB, Puppala HL, Colvin VL, Alvarez PJ (2012) Negligible particle-specific antibacterial activity of silver nanoparticles. Nano Lett 12(8):271–4275
- Wiesner M, Li Q, Burgess J, Kaegi R, Dixon D (2013) Progress towards the responsible application of nanotechnology for water treatment. Water Res 47(12):3865
- Bethi B, Sonawane SH, Bhanvase BA, Gumfekar SP (2016) Nanomaterials-based advanced oxidation processes for wastewater treatment: a review. Chem Eng Process 109:178–189
- 20. Olvera RC, Silva SL, Robles-Belmont E, Lau EZ (2017) Review of nanotechnology value chain for water treatment applications in Mexico. Resour-Effic Technol 3(1):1–11
- Kharisov BI, Dias HR, Kharissova OV, Jiménez-Pérez VM, Pérez BO, Flores BM (2012) Ironcontaining nanomaterials: synthesis, properties, and environmental applications. RSC Adv 2(25):9325–9358
- 22. Cortalezzi MM, Colvin V, Wiesner MR (2002) Controlling nanoparticle template morphology: effect of solvent chemistry. MRS Online Proceedings Library Archive 752
- Malato S, Fernández-Ibáñez P, Maldonado MI, Blanco J, Gernjak W (2009) Decontamination and disinfection of water by solar photocatalysis: recent overview and trends. Catal Today 147(1):1–59
- Richardson SD, Thruston AD, Collette TW, Patterson KS, Lykins BW, Ireland JC (1996) Identification of TiO2/UV disinfection byproducts in drinking water. Environ Sci Technol 30(11):327–3334
- 25. Suárez S, Carballa M, Omil F, Lema JM (2008) How are pharmaceutical and personal care products (PPCPs) removed from urban wastewaters? Rev Environ Sci Biotechnol 7(2): 125–138
- 26. Wintgens T, Salehi F, Hochstrat R, Melin T (2008) Emerging contaminants and treatment options in water recycling for indirect potable use. Water Sci Technol 57(1):99–107
- Bousselmi L, Geissen SU, Schroeder H (2004) Textile wastewater treatment and reuse by solar catalysis: results from a pilot plant in Tunisia. Water Sci Technol 49(4):331–337
- Mozia S, Tomaszewska M, Morawski AW (2007) Photocatalytic membrane reactor (PMR) coupling photocatalysis and membrane distillation—effectiveness of removal of three azo dyes from water. Catal Today 129(1–2):3–8
- 29. Naddeo V, Rizzo L, Belgiorno V (2011) Water, wastewater and soil treatment by advanced oxidation processes (AOPs). Edizioni ASTER
- 30. Rizzo L, Meric S, Guida M, Kassinos D, Belgiorno V (2009) Heterogenous photocatalytic degradation kinetics and detoxification of an urban wastewater treatment plant effluent contaminated with pharmaceuticals. Water Res 43(16):4070–4078
- Lopez A, Di Iaconi C, Mascolo G, Pollice A (2011) Innovative and integrated technologies for the treatment of industrial wastewater. IWA Publishing
- 32. Ahmaruzzaman M (2008) Adsorption of phenolic compounds on low-cost adsorbents: a review. Adv Colloid Interfac 143(1–2):48–67
- 33. Torres E, Bustos-Jaimes I, Le Borgne S (2003) Potential use of oxidative enzymes for the detoxification of organic pollutants. App Catal B Environ 46(1):1–15
- 34. Magri ML, De las Nieves Loustau M, Victoria M, Cascone O (2007) Immobilisation of soybean seed coat peroxidase on its natural support for phenol removal from wastewater. Biocatal Biotransformation 25(1):98–102
- Demarche P, Junghanns C, Nair RR, Agathos SN (2012) Harnessing the power of enzymes for environmental stewardship. Biotechnol Adv 30(5):33–953

- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (1986) Municipal wastewater disinfection design manual; EPA-625/1-86-021. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Cincinnati
- 37. Metcalf E (2006) Ingegneria Della Acque Reflue, Trattamento e Riuso. McGraw-Hill, New York
- Qu X, Alvarez PJ, Li Q (2013) Applications of nanotechnology in water and wastewater treatment. Water Res 47(12):3931–3946
- 39. Aminn MT, Alazba AA, Manzoor U (2014) A review of removal of pollutants from water/ wastewater using different types of nanomaterials. Adv Mater Sci Eng
- Mueller N, Braun J, Bruns J, Cernik M, Rissing P, Rickerby D, Nowack B (2012) Application of nanoscale 870 zero valent iron (NZVI) for groundwater remediation in Europe. Environ Sci Pollut Res 19:550–558
- Karn B, Kuiken T, Otto M (2009) Nanotechnology and in situ remediation: a review of the benefits and potential risks. Environ Health Perspect 117:1823–1831
- Kuiken T (2010) Cleaning up contaminated waste sites: is nanotechnology the answer? Nano Today 5(875):6–8
- 43. Jung WK, Koo HC, Kim KW, Shin S, Kim SH, Park YH (2008) Antibacterial activity and mechanism of action of the silver ion in Staphylococcus aureus and Escherichia coli. Appl Environ Microbiol 74(7):2171–2178
- 44. Vazquez-Muñoz R, Avalos-Borja M, Castro-Longoria E (2014) Ultrastructural analysis of Candida albicans when exposed to silver nanoparticles. PLoS One 9(10):108876
- Bankar A, Joshi B, Kumar AR, Zinjarde S (2010) Banana peel extract mediated synthesis of gold nanoparticles. Colloid Surf B: Biointerf 80(1):45–50
- 46. Khani R, Sobhani S, Beyki MH (2016) Highly selective and efficient removal of lead with magnetic nano-adsorbent: multivariate optimization, isotherm and thermodynamic studies. J Colloid Interface Sci 466:198–205
- 47. Liu H, Gong C, Wang J, Liu X, Liu H, Cheng F, Wang G, Zheng G, Qin C, Wen S (2016) Chitosan/silica coated carbon nanotubes composite proton exchange membranes for fuel cell applications. Carbohyd Polym 136:1379–1385
- Lin ST, Thirumavalavan M, Jiang TY, Lee JF (2014) Synthesis of ZnO/Zn nano photocatalyst using modified polysaccharides for photodegradation of dyes. Carbohyd Polym 105:1–9
- Chen CC, Lin CL, Chen LC (2015) Functionalized carbon nanomaterial supported palladium nano-catalysts for electrocatalytic glucose oxidation reaction. Electrochim Acta 152:408–416
- 50. Guan S, Hao L, Lu Y, Yoshida H, Pan F, Asanuma H (2016) Fabrication of oxygen-deficient TiO2 coatings with nano-fiber morphology for visible-light photocatalysis. Mat Sci Semicon Proc 41:358–363
- Qu Z, Yan L, Li L, Xu J, Liu M, Li Z, Yan N (2014) Ultraeffective ZnS nanocrystals sorbent for mercury (II) removal based on size-dependent cation exchange. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 6(20):18026–18032
- Koeppenkastrop D, De Carlo EH (1993) Uptake of rare earth elements from solution by metal oxides. Environ Sci Technol 27(9):1796–1802
- Sharma YC, Srivastava V, Singh VK, Kaul SN, Weng CH (2009) Nano-adsorbents for the removal of metallic pollutants from water and wastewater. Environ Technol 30(6):583–609
- Daus B, Wennrich R, Weiss H (2004) Sorption materials for arsenic removal from water: a comparative study. Water Res 38(12):2948–2954
- 55. Deliyanni EA, Bakoyannakis DN, Zouboulis AI, Matis KA (2003) Sorption of as (V) ions by akaganeite-type nanocrystals. Chemosphere 50(1):155–163
- 56. Mayo JT, Yavuz C, Yean S, Cong L, Shipley H, Yu W, Falkner J, Kan A, Tomson M, Colvin VL (2007) The effect of nanocrystalline magnetite size on arsenic removal. Sci Technol Adv Mater 8(1–2):71
- 57. Pan BC, Xu JS, Wu B, Li ZG, Liu XT (2013) Enhanced removal of fluoride by polystyrene anion exchanger supported hydrous zirconium oxide nanoparticles. Environ Sci Technol 47(16):9347–9354

- Jiang ZM, Lv L, Zhang WM, Du QO, Pan BC, Yang L, Zhang QX (2011) Nitrate reduction using nanosized zero-valent iron supported by polystyrene resins: role of surface functional groups. Water Res 45(6):2191–2198
- 59. Dizaj SM, Lotfipour F, Barzegar-Jalali M, Zarrintan MH, Adibkia K (2014) Antibacterial activity of the metals and metal oxide nanoparticles. Mater Sci Eng 44(1):278
- 60. Crooks RM, Zhao M, Sun L, Chechik V, Yeung LK (2001) Dendrimer-encapsulated metal nanoparticles: synthesis, characterization, and applications to catalysis. Acc Chem Res 34(3): 181–190
- 61. Diallo MS, Christie S, Swaminathan P, Johnson JH, Goddard WA (2005) Dendrimer enhanced ultrafiltration. 1. Recovery of Cu (II) from aqueous solutions using PAMAM dendrimers with ethylene diamine core and terminal NH2 groups. Environ Sci Technol 39(5):1366–1377
- 62. Diallo MS, Balogh L, Shafagati A, Johnson JH, Goddard WA, Tomalia DA (1999) Poly (amidoamine) dendrimers: a new class of high capacity chelating agents for Cu (II) ions. Environ Sci Technol 33(5):820–824
- 63. Luo ML, Tang W, Zhao JQ, Pu CS (2006) Hydrophilic modification of poly (ether sulfone) used TiO2 nanoparticles by a sol-gel process. J Mat Process Technol 172(3):431–436
- 64. Bae TH, Kim IC, Tak TM (2006) Preparation and characterization of fouling-resistant TiO2 self-assembled nanocomposite membranes. J Membrane Sci 275(1–2):1–5
- 65. Jeong BH, Hoek EM, Yan Y, Subramani A, Huang X, Hurwitz G, Ghosh AK, Jawor A (2007) Interfacial polymerization of thin film nanocomposites: a new concept for reverse osmosis membranes. J Membrane Sci 294(1–2):1–7
- 66. Lind ML, Ghosh AK, Jawor A, Huang X, Hou W, Yang Y, Hoek EM (2009) Influence of zeolite crystal size on zeolite-polyamide thin film nanocomposite membranes. Langmuir 25(17):10139–10145
- Lee HS, Im SJ, Kim JH, Kim HJ, Kim JP, Min BR (2008) Polyamide thin-film nanofiltration membranes containing TiO2 nanoparticles. Desalination 219(1–3):48–56
- 68. Lind ML, Jeong BH, Subramani A, Huang X, Hoek EM (2009) Effect of mobile cation on zeolite-polyamide thin film nanocomposite membranes. J Mater Res 24(5):1624–1631
- Brady-Estévez AS, Kang S, Elimelech M (2008) A single-walled-carbon-nanotube filter for removal of viral and bacterial pathogens. Small 4(4):481–484
- 70. Pan B, Lin D, Mashayekhi H, Xing B (2008) Adsorption and hysteresis of bisphenol A and 17α -ethinyl estradiol on carbon nanomaterials. Environ Sci Technol 42(15):5480–5485
- Rao GP, Lu C, Su F (2007) Sorption of divalent metal ions from aqueous solution by carbon nanotubes: a review. Sep Purif Technol 58(1):224–231
- 72. Pan B, Xing B (2008) Adsorption mechanisms of organic chemicals on carbon nanotubes. Environ Sci Technol 42(24):9005–9013
- 73. Yang K, Xing B (2010) Adsorption of organic compounds by carbon nanomaterials in aqueous phase: Polanyi theory and its application. Chem Rev 110(10):5989–6008
- 74. Wang L, Hu C, Shao L (2017) The antimicrobial activity of nanoparticles: present situation and prospects for the future. Int J Nanomedicine 12:1227
- 75. Yu JC, Ho W, Yu J, Yip H, Wong PK, Zhao J (2005) Efficient visible-light-induced photocatalytic disinfection on sulfur-doped nanocrystalline titania. Environ Sci Technol 39(4):1175–1179
- 76. Raghupathi KR, Koodali RT, Manna AC (2011) Size-dependent bacterial growth inhibition and mechanism of antibacterial activity of zinc oxide nanoparticles. Langmuir 27(7): 4020–4028
- 77. Lee J, Mackeyev Y, Cho M, Li D, Kim JH, Wilson LJ, Alvarez PJ (2009) Photochemical and antimicrobial properties of novel C60 derivatives in aqueous systems. Environ Sci Technol 43(17):6604–6610
- Cho M, Snow SD, Hughes JB, Kim JH (2011) Escherichia coli inactivation by UVC-irradiated C60: kinetics and mechanisms. Environ Sci Technol 45(22):9627–9633
- Morones JR, Elechiguerra JL, Camacho A, Holt K, Kouri JB, Ramírez JT, Yacaman MJ (2005) The bactericidal effect of silver nanoparticles. Nanotechnology 16(10):2346
- Lyon DY, Adams LK, Falkner JC, Alvarez PJ (2006) Antibacterial activity of fullerene water suspensions: effects of preparation method and particle size. Environ Sci Technol 40(14): 4360–4366
- Wei C, Lin WY, Zainal Z, Williams NE, Zhu K, Kruzic AP, Smith RL, Rajeshwar K (1994) Bactericidal activity of TiO2 photocatalyst in aqueous media: toward a solar-assisted water disinfection system. Environ Sci Technol 28(5):934–938
- Badireddy AR, Hotze EM, Chellam S, Alvarez P, Wiesner MR (2007) Inactivation of bacteriophages via photosensitization of fullerol nanoparticles. Environ Sci Technol 41(18): 6627–6632
- Lakshminarayanan R, Ye E, Young DJ, Li Z, Loh XJ (2018) Recent advances in the development of antimicrobial nanoparticles for combating resistant pathogens. Adv Healthc Mater 7(13):1701400
- 84. Zhang Y, Wu B, Xu H, Liu H, Wang M, He Y, Pan B (2016) Nanomaterials-enabled water and wastewater treatment. NanoImpact 1(3):22–39
- 85. Progress on Drinking Water, Sanitation and Hygiene: 2017 Update and SDG Baselines (World Health Organization (WHO) and United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), 2017). 8. US Environmental Protection Agency (2016) Drinking water contaminant candidate list. Fed Reg 81:81099–81114
- Higazy A, Hashem M, ElShafei A, Shaker N, Hady MA (2010) Development of antimicrobial jute packaging using chitosan and chitosan–metal complex. Carbohyd Polym 79(4):867–874
- Rai M, Yadav A, Gade A (2009) Silver nanoparticles as a new generation of antimicrobials. Biotechnol Adv 27(1):76–83
- Hebeish AA, Abdelhady MM, Youssef AM (2013) TiO2 nanowire and TiO2 nanowire doped Ag-PVP nanocomposite for antimicrobial and self-cleaning cotton textile. Carbohyd Polym 91(2):549–559
- Zhang Y, Wu B, Xu H, Liu H, Wang M, He Y, Pan B (2016) Nanomaterials-enabled water and wastewater treatment. Nano Impact 3:22–39
- Reddy PAK, Reddy PVL, Kwon E, Kim KH, Akter T, Kalagara S (2016) Recent advances in photocatalytic treatment of pollutants in aqueous media. Environ Int 91:94–103
- 91. Crini G, Badot PM (2008) Application of chitosan, a natural aminopolysaccharide, for dye removal from aqueous solutions by adsorption processes using batch studies: a review of recent literature. Prog Polym Sci 33(4):399–447
- 92. Yunus IS, Harwin Kurniawan A, Adityawarman D, Indarto A (2012) Nanotechnologies in water and air pollution treatment. Environ Technol Rev 1(1):136–148
- Wang W, Huang G, Jimmy CY, Wong PK (2015) Advances in photocatalytic disinfection of bacteria: development of photocatalysts and mechanisms. J Environ Sci 34:232–247
- 94. Kaur S, Singh V (2007) Visible light induced sonophotocatalytic degradation of reactive red dye 198 using dye sensitized TiO2. Ultrason Sonochem 14(5):531–537
- 95. Karunakaran C, Abiramasundari G, Gomathisankar P, Manikandan G, Anandi V (2010) Cu-doped TiO2 nanoparticles for photocatalytic disinfection of bacteria under visible light. J Colloid Interface Sci 352(1):68–74
- 96. Li H, Wu T, Cai B, Ma W, Sun Y, Gan S, Han D, Niu L (2015) Efficiently photocatalytic reduction of carcinogenic contaminant Cr (VI) upon robust AgCl: Ag hollow nanocrystals. App Catal B: Environ 164:344–351
- 97. Yang Y, Wang G, Deng Q, Wang H, Zhang Y, Ng DH, Zhao H (2014) Enhanced photocatalytic activity of hierarchical structure TiO 2 hollow spheres with reactive (001) facets for the removal of toxic heavy metal Cr (VI). RSC Adv 4(65):34577–34583
- Kim HR, Choi KY, Shul YG (2007) Preparation of TiO 2/SiO 2 hollow spheres and their activity in methylene blue photodecomposition. Korean J Chem Eng 24(4):596–599
- Bosetti M, Masse A, Tobin E, Cannas M (2002) Silver coated materials for external fixation devices: in vitro biocompatibility and genotoxicity. Biomaterials 23(3):887–892

- 100. Chou WL, Yu DG, Yang MC (2005) The preparation and characterization of silver-loading cellulose acetate hollow fiber membrane for water treatment. Polymer Adv Technol 16(8): 600–607
- 101. Gupta A, Silver S (1998) Silver as a biocide: will resistance become a problem? Nat Biotechnol 16:888
- 102. Quang DV, Sarawade PB, Jeon SJ, Kim SH, Kim JK, Chai YG, Kim HT (2013) Effective water disinfection using silver nanoparticle containing silica beads. App Surf Sci 266:280–287
- 103. Bishoge OK, Zhang L, Suntu SL, Jin H, Zewde AA, Qi Z (2018) Remediation of water and wastewater by using engineered nanomaterials: a review. J Environ Sci Health A 53(6): 537–554
- 104. Zarpelon F, Galiotto D, Aguzzoli C, Carli LN, Figueroa CA, Baumvol IJR, Machado G, da Silva CJ, Giovanela M (2016) Removal of coliform bacteria from industrial wastewaters using polyelectrolytes/silver nanoparticles self-assembled thin films. J Environ Chem Eng 4(1): 137–146
- 105. Gubin SP, Koksharov YA, Khomutov GB, Yurkov GY (2005) Magnetic nanoparticles: preparation, structure and properties. Russian Chem Rev 74(6):489
- 106. Kalfa OM, Yalçınkaya Ö, Türker AR (2009) Synthesis of nano B2O3/TiO2 composite material as a new solid phase extractor and its application to preconcentration and separation of cadmium. J Hazard Mater 166(1):455–461
- 107. Hu H, Wang Z, Pan L (2010) Synthesis of monodisperse Fe3O4@ silica core-shell microspheres and their application for removal of heavy metal ions from water. J Alloys Compd 492(1–2):656–661
- 108. Mehrizad A, Zare K, Dashti Khavidaki H, Dastmalchi S, Aghaie H, Gharbani P (2011) Kinetic and thermodynamic studies of adsorption of 4-chloro-2-nitrophenol on nano-Ti02. J Phys Theor Chem 8(1):33–38
- 109. Gupta VK, Tyagi I, Sadegh H, Shahryari-Ghoshekand R, Makhlouf ASH, Maazinejad B (2015) Nanoparticles as adsorbent; a positive approach for removal of noxious metal ions: a review. Sci Technol Dev 34:195
- Chen X, Mao SS (2007) Titanium dioxide nanomaterials: synthesis, properties, modifications, and applications. Chem Rev 107(7):2891–2959
- 111. Ray PC (2010) Size and shape dependent second order nonlinear optical properties of nanomaterials and their application in biological and chemical sensing. Chem Rev 110(9): 5332–5365
- 112. Mirkin CA, Letsinger RL, Mucic RC, Storhoff JJ (1996) A DNA-based method for rationally assembling nanoparticles into macroscopic materials. Nature 382(6592):607
- 113. Khajeh M, Laurent S, Dastafkan K (2013) Nanoadsorbents: classification, preparation, and applications (with emphasis on aqueous media). Chem Rev 113(10):7728–7768
- 114. Apul OG, Karanfil T (2015) Adsorption of synthetic organic contaminants by carbon nanotubes: a critical review. Water Res 68:34–55
- 115. Kunduru KR, Nazarkovsky M, Farah S, Pawar RP, Basu A, Domb AJ (2017) Nanotechnology for water purification: applications of nanotechnology methods in wastewater treatment. Water Purification Academic Press, pp 33–74
- 116. Ho HL, Chan WK, Blondy A, Yeung KL, Schrotter JC (2012) Experiment and modeling of advanced ozone membrane reactor for treatment of organic endocrine disrupting pollutants in water. Catal Today 193:120–127
- 117. Zhang F, Ge Z, Grimaud J, Hurst J, He Z (2013) Long-term performance of liter-scale microbial fuel cells treating primary effluent installed in a municipal wastewater treatment facility. Environ Sci Technol 47:4941–4948
- 118. Zhang S, Wang R, Zhang S, Li G, Zhang Y (2013) Development of phosphorylated silica nanotubes (PSNTs)/ polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) composite membranes for wastewater treatment. Chem Eng J 230:260–271
- Pendergast MM, Hoek EM (2011) A review of water treatment membrane nanotechnologies. Energy Environ Sci 4:1946–1971

- 120. Jang JH, Lee J, Jung SY, Choi DC, Won YJ, Ahn KH, Park PK, Lee CH (2015) Correlation between particle deposition and the size ratio of particles to patterns in nano-and micropatterned membrane filtration systems. Sep Purific Technol 156:608–616
- 121. Liu T, Li B, Hao Y, Yao Z (2014) MoO3-nanowire membrane and Bi2Mo3O12/MoO3 nanoheterostructural photocatalyst for wastewater treatment. Chem Eng J 244:382–390
- 122. Chen H, Li J, Shao D, Ren X, Wang X (2012) Poly (acrylic acid) grafted multiwall carbon nanotubes by plasma techniques for co(II) removal from aqueous solution. Chem Eng J 210: 475–481
- 123. Cao X, Zhou Y, Wu J, Tang Y, Zhu L, Gu L (2013) Self assembled, robust titanate nanoribbon membranes for highly efficient nanosolid capture and molecule discrimination. Nanoscale 5: 3486–3495
- 124. Yin J, Zhu G, Deng B (2013) Multi-walled carbon nanotubes (MWNTs)/polysulfone (PSU) mixed matrix hollow fiber membranes for enhanced water treatment. J Membr Sci 437:237– 248
- 125. Jie G, Kongyin Z, Xinxin Z, Zhijiang C, Min C, Tian C, Junfu W (2015) Preparation and characterization of carboxyl multi-walled carbon nanotubes/calcium alginate composite hydrogel nano-filtration membrane. Mater Lett 157:112–115
- 126. Matsuura T, Feng C, Khulbe KC, Rana D, Singh G, Gopal R, Kaur S, Barhate RS, Ramakrishna S, Tabe S (2010) Development of novel membranes based on electrospun nanofibers and their application in liquid filtration, membrane distillation, and membrane adsorption. Maku (Japanese J Membr) 35:119–127
- 127. Botes M, Eugene Cloete T (2010) The potential of nanofibers and nanobiocides in water purification. Crit Rev Microbiol 36(1):68-81
- 128. Balamurugan R, Sundarrajan S, Ramakrishna S (2011) Recent trends in nanofibrous membranes and their suitability for air and water filtrations. Membranes 1(3):232–248
- 129. Tabe S (2014) Electrospun nanofiber membranes and their applications in water and wastewater treatment. Nanotechnol Water Treatment Purif:111–143
- 130. Xu Z, Gu Q, Hu H, Li F (2008) A novel electrospun polysulfone fiber membrane: application to advanced treatment of secondary bio-treatment sewage. Environ Technol 29(1):13–21
- 131. Baker RW (2012) Membrane technology and applications. John Wiley & Sons
- 132. Judd S (2010) The MBR book: principles and applications of membrane bioreactors for water and wastewater treatment. Elsevier
- 133. Yang B, Geng P, Chen G (2015) One-dimensional structured IrO2 nanorods modified membrane for electrochemical anti-fouling infiltration of oily wastewater. Separ Purific Technol 156:931–941
- 134. Gu Y, Wang YN, Wei J, Tang CY (2013) Organic fouling of thin-film composite polyamide and cellulose triacetate forward osmosis membranes by oppositely charged macromolecules. Water Res 47:1867–1874
- 135. Guo J, Zhang Q, Cai Z, Zhao K (2016) Preparation and dye filtration property of electrospun polyhydroxybutyrate–calcium alginate/carbon nanotubes composite nanofibrous filtration membrane. Separ Purific Technol 161:69–79
- 136. Altaee A, Al-Rawajfeh AE, Baek YJ (2010) Application of vibratory system to improve the critical flux in submerged hollow fiber MF process. Sep Sci Technol 45:28–34
- 137. Ismail AF, Goh PS, Sanip SM, Aziz M (2009) Transport and separation properties of carbon nanotube-mixed matrix membrane. Separ Purific Technol 70:12–26
- 138. Rajabi Z, Moghadassi AR, Hosseini SM, Mohammadi M (2013) Preparation and characterization of polyvinylchloride based mixed matrix membrane filled with multi walled carbon nanotubes for carbon dioxide separation. J Indus Eng Chem 19(1):347–352
- 139. Vikesland PJ, Wigginton KR (2010) Nanomaterial enabled biosensors for pathogen monitoring-a review. Environ Sci Technol 44(10):3656–3669
- 140. Wu X, Liu H, Liu J, Haley KN, Treadway JA, Larson JP, Ge N, Peale F, Bruchez MP (2003) Immunofluorescent labeling of cancer marker Her2 and other cellular targets with semiconductor quantum dots. Nat Biotechnol 21(1):41

- 141. Rodrigues SM, Demokritou P, Dokoozlian N, Hendren CO, Karn B, Mauter MS, Sadik OA, Safarpour M, Unrine JM, Viers J, Welle P (2017) Nanotechnology for sustainable food production: promising opportunities and scientific challenges. Environ Sci Nano 4(4):767–781
- 142. Chandran GT, Li X, Ogata A, Penner RM (2016) Electrically transduced sensors based on nanomaterials (2012–2016). Anal Chem 89(1):249–275
- 143. Farka Z, Jurik T, Kovar D, Trnkova L, Skladal P (2017) Nanoparticle-based immunochemical biosensors and assays: recent advances and challenges. Chem Rev 117(15):9973–10042
- 144. Vanegas DC, Gomes CL, Cavallaro ND, Giraldo-Escobar D, McLamore ES (2017) Emerging biorecognition and transduction schemes for rapid detection of pathogenic bacteria in food. Compr Rev Food Sci 16(6):1188–1205
- 145. Duran A, Tuzen M, Soylak M (2009) Preconcentration of some trace elements via using multiwalled carbon nanotubes as solid phase extraction adsorbent. J Hazard Mater 169(1–3): 466–471
- 146. Cai Y, Jiang G, Liu ZQ (2003) Multiwalled carbon nanotubes as a solid-phase extraction adsorbent for the determination of bisphenol a, 4-n-nonylphenol, and 4-tert-octylphenol. Analyt Chem 75(10):2517–2521
- 147. Mauter MS, Elimelech M, Osuji CO (2010) Nanocomposites of vertically aligned singlewalled carbon nanotubes by magnetic alignment and polymerization of a lyotropic precursor. ACS Nano 4(11):6651–6658
- 148. Lisha KP, Anshup PT (2009) Enhanced visual detection of pesticides using gold nanoparticles. J Environ Sci Health B Pesticides Food Contam Agric Wastes 44(7)
- 149. Lin YH, Tseng WL (2010) Ultrasensitive sensing of Hg2+ and CH3Hg+ based on the fluorescence quenching of lysozyme type VI-stabilized gold nanoclusters. Analyt Chem 82(22):9194–9200
- 150. Yang L, Chen B, Luo S, Li J, Liu R, Cai Q (2010) Sensitive detection of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons using CdTe quantum dot-modified TiO2 nanotube array through fluorescence resonance energy transfer. Environ Sci Technol 44(20):7884–7889
- 151. Yin H, Zhou Y, Ai S, Chen Q, Zhu X, Liu X, Zhu L (2010) Sensitivity and selectivity determination of BPA in real water samples using PAMAM dendrimer and CoTe quantum dots modified glassy carbon electrode. J Hazard Mater 174(1–3):236–243
- 152. Bhateria R, Singh R (2019) A review on nanotechnological application of magnetic iron oxides for heavy metal removal. J Water Process Eng 31:100845

SnO₂-Mixed Oxide Electrodes for Water Treatment: Role of the Low-Cost Active Anode



Ngo Anh Dao Ho, Hieu Linh Duong, Bui Van Nhat, Nguyen Hong Dan, Nguyen Chuyen Thuan, Trinh Bao Son, Jan Hoinkis, and Tran Le Luu

Contents

1	Intro	duction	256
2	Mecl	nanisms for Electrochemically Oxidizing Pollutants	257
	2.1	Indirect Electro-Oxidation Processes	257
	2.2	Direct Anodic Oxidation	258
	2.3	Typical Designs of Electrochemical Systems	259
3	Meth	ods for Fabrication of SnO ₂ Electrodes	260
	3.1	Chemical Vapor Deposition	260
	3.2	Thermal Decomposition	261
	3.3	Sol-Gel Dip-Coating	262
	3.4	Spray Pyrolysis	263
	3.5	Electrodeposition	264
	3.6	Stability of SnO ₂ -Based Electrodes	265
4	Prop	erties of SnO ₂	266
5	Appl	ication to Water Treatment	267
6	Outle	bok and Future Works with SnO ₂ -Based Electrodes	274
	6.1	Ordered Stake Micro-Structured SnO ₂ /TiO ₂ Nanotubes (TiO ₂ NTs)	274
	6.2	Sieve-Like Mp–SnO ₂ /TiO ₂ NTs	274

N. A. D. Ho and B. Van Nhat

Faculty of Environment and Labour Safety, Ton Duc Thang University, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam

H. L. Duong, N. H. Dan, N. C. Thuan, and T. Le Luu (⊠) Master Program in Water Technology, Reuse and Management, Vietnamese-German University, Thu Dau Mot, Binh Duong, Vietnam e-mail: luu.tl@vgu.edu.vn

T. B. Son

Institute for Environment and Resources, Vietnam National University, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam

J. Hoinkis

Center of Applied Research, Karlsruhe University of Applied Sciences, Karlsruhe, Germany

Mahmoud Nasr and Abdelazim M. Negm (eds.), *Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems*, Hdb Env Chem (2023) 118: 255–284, DOI 10.1007/698_2022_874, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022, Published online: 16 April 2022

	6.3	HOEP SnO ₂ /TiO ₂ NTs	275
	6.4	$(Ru_{0.3}Ti_{0.34}Sn_{0.3}Sb_{0.06})O_2$ -Ti O_2 NTs Anode	276
7	Conc	cluding Remarks	276
Re	References		

Abstract Recently, electrochemical oxidation water treatment is a promising method to solve environmental pollution issues. During the electrochemical oxidation process, electrode material is a critical factor affecting the treatment efficiency. Sb-doped SnO_2 electrodes are reported as superiors for the decomposition of organic matters from water through the oxidation process. But the weak electrochemical stability is also a drawback of SnO₂ electrodes, which limits their application. This article tries to review SnO2-based electrodes, which focuses on clarifying their stability and the application in water treatment as well as indicating future research prospects with the aim to highlight the attractive features of this electrode. Specifically, the properties and electrochemical oxidation mechanisms of SnO₂-based electrodes for different pollutants are presented. Furthermore, typical methods for preparation of SnO₂ electrodes along with respective nanostructures synthesized processes are also shown. Moreover, several studies on the application of SnO₂based electrodes in the treatment of different contaminated-water sources such as textiles, landfills, and phenol wastewaters are reviewed. In addition, recent research trends on development of SnO₂-based electrodes and their recyclability are reported. As a result, this study indicates that the stability and electrochemical performance of SnO₂-based electrodes can be increased by many approaches including doping metal oxide, new fabrication routes, and combining TiO₂ nanotubes with SnO₂. The study also indicates some operational parameters, which need to be considered thoroughly for the practical applicability of SnO₂ electrodes in wastewater treatment.

Keywords Electrochemical oxidation, Nanostructures, Organic matters removal, SnO₂-based anodes, Stability

1 Introduction

Due to the increasingly stringent effluent standards and regulations to approach the "zero-effluent" concept for the goals of sustainable development, more advanced and efficient wastewater treatment technologies need to be developed. On the other hand, depending on the different industrial processes, wastewater is generally contaminated by many organic and inorganic substances, which cause a highly complex wastewater characteristics and lead to a diverse treatment methods. Specifically, traditional biological technology is the most cost-effective and widely used for the organic-rich wastewater treatment. However, toxic and bio-refractory compounds existing originally in the wastewater may inhibit and affect the treatment

efficiency, which bases mostly on microbial activities. Therefore, advanced methods such as physicochemical technologies (flocculation, coagulation), chemical oxidation using ozone, chlorine, hydrogen peroxide, and advanced oxidation processes (AOP) using photocatalyst, electron beam, Fenton's are normally employed for treatment of industrial effluents [1, 2]. Nevertheless, many disadvantages are also found with these above methods. For instance, coagulation and flotation produce a huge quantity of sludge while chemical oxidations show low capacity rates and require the use of dangerous reactants, and also high investment costs for chemical and energy [3]. In this study, electrochemical oxidation is introduced as a promising approach for the treatment of organic matters since the reagent used for the electrochemical process is the electron, which is versatile, efficient, cost-effective, and clean [4–7]. Moreover, it is reported that electrochemical processes were effectively used for disinfection and purification of wastewater contaminated with organic matters [1, 2, 4, 8].

Generally, electrode material is the key factor that needs to be considered to develop electrochemical oxidation technique. An efficient electrode used for pollutant removal must be highly stable under anodic polarization conditions and low cost [9]. For the electrochemical oxidation of organic compounds, the electrodes possessing high oxygen evolution over-potential are favored. A variety of electrodes have been investigated by several researchers, including graphite [10, 11], glassy carbon [12], platinum [13], and boron-doped diamond (BDD) [14-17]. Metal-oxidebased electrodes include PbO₂ [18-22], IrO₂ [23, 24], RuO₂ [25], and SnO₂ [26-28]. Among these metal oxide electrodes, Sb-doped SnO₂ electrodes are reported as an ideal material for oxidizing organic matters [27, 29]. However, a major drawback of SnO₂ electrodes is their insufficient electrochemical stability [1]. Sn ion can be dissolved in the solution, which thus limits their application. Therefore, this study is conducted with the aim to highlight the advantages of SnO₂based electrodes used for the treatment of organic matter-contaminated water. For this, a summary of SnO_2 properties and mechanisms of electrochemical oxidation regarding specific pollutant is presented. Typical methods of preparing SnO₂ electrodes and respective nanostructures synthesis process are also summarized. The applicability of SnO₂-based electrodes to water treatment based on specific cases is clarified. This article also shows recent development and indicates future research with SnO₂-based electrodes, which may help to encourage further studies on electrochemical oxidation for water treatment.

2 Mechanisms for Electrochemically Oxidizing Pollutants

2.1 Indirect Electro-Oxidation Processes

Recently, electrochemical oxidation has been investigated as a new approach for the treatment of different wastewater sources, especially wastewater containing harmful organic pollutants, which can be completely oxidized to CO_2 and water. This

technology can be either direct and/or indirect oxidation of organic matter existing in wastewater at the electrode surface. The electrochemical oxidation of industrial wastewater attracts more interest due to many advantages, such as simple equipment, high capacity for medium and small scale deployment, low initial investment, easy for operation, low chemicals requirement, environmental friendly, and high selectivity [1]. Organic matters can be electrochemically oxidized through different mechanisms. One of the most popular methods is the utilization of the chlorine and hypochlorite produced at the anode. At high chlorine concentration (i.e., typically >3 g/L), most of the inorganic and organic compounds can be effectively degraded [30–37]. Since chlorinated organic compounds, intermediates, or final products are possibly generated during the Cl-based oxidation, it is not much feasible to employ this technique for practical application. If the raw wastewater contains a low chloride concentration, the addition of a large salt quantity is needed to improve the treatment efficiency [32, 38–40].

The electrically produced hydrogen peroxide is also reported as a reactant for oxidizing organic pollutants [41–46]. This mechanism is based on the electro-Fenton reaction with an addition of Fe²⁺ salts or the in-situ formation from a dissolving iron anode [43]. Another electrochemically generated product which can be used as a reactant for wastewater treatment is ozone [47, 48]. Another type of electro-oxidation, known as mediated electro-oxidation, was investigated to remove mixed and hazardous wastes [49]. Metal ions including Ag²⁺, Co³⁺, Fe³⁺, Ce⁴⁺, and Ni²⁺, usually called as mediators, are anodically oxidized to be a reactive, high valence state [49–54]. As a result, organic compounds can be degraded by these reactive ions. In addition, hydroxyl free radicals, which may be generated during the process, can also contribute to the removal of the organic matters. However, a highly acidic media is needed for the operation and the addition of the above metal ions results in the secondary waste, which may limit the application of this technique [1].

2.2 Direct Anodic Oxidation

Direct oxidation can be done by producing physically or chemically adsorbed "active oxygen" (i.e., adsorbed hydroxyl radicals, 'OH or oxygen in the oxide lattice, MO_{x+1} , respectively) [55]. During this process, organic compounds can be completely degraded by the •OH, while selective oxidation products can be generated from the O in MO_{x+1} . Generally, pollutants are oxidized more effectively by •OH than by O in MO_{x+1} [1].

Anodic oxidation is more attractive than other electro-oxidation processes as it does not require a huge amount of chemicals or O_2 to cathodes, which helps to reduce the generation of secondary pollutants and thus fewer accessories are needed [1]. Besides, the anode material is an essential factor, which affects the performance of anodic oxidation process. Several studies examined a variety of anode materials, such as glassy carbon [12], RuO₂ [25], Pt–Ir [56, 57], fiber carbon [35], MnO₂ [58, 59], Pt–carbon black [60, 61], porous carbon felt [62], stainless steel [30], and

reticulated vitreous carbon [63, 64]. However, these above materials do not satisfy two important features of anode electrodes, including the activity and the stability. Therefore, further studies have turned to investigate other materials, such as graphite [10, 11], platinum [13, 65], boron-doped diamond (BDD) [14–17], and various metal oxide electrodes including PbO₂ [18–22], IrO₂ [23, 24], and SnO₂ [26–28].

2.3 Typical Designs of Electrochemical Systems

There are a large variety of reactor configurations found in electrochemical oxidation researches, from basic systems like tank cells, filter-press cells, rotating cells, to complex types such as fluidized bed, packed bed cell, and porous carbon packing cells. The tank cell as shown in Fig. 1a is one of the simplest and the most common designs for electrochemical reactor. Determined by a process load, the extent of the tank cells can be easily increased or reduced. The quantity of electrochemical oxidation reactor design is the filter-press cell [68]. This design is normally comprised of several consecutive anode and cathode compartments, which are separated from each other by membrane layers.

The design and utilization of the rotating cathode cell (Fig. 1b) resulted from a need to increase mass transfer from the bulk to the electrode surface [69]. This reactor design was demonstrated to induce a decrease of 48.4 ppm in copper



Fig. 1 A simplified model of stirred tank cell (adapted from [66]) (a), rotating cylinder electrode (adapted from [1]) (b) in one module. Thanks to this module system, the reactor is designed, operated, and maintained fairly simply [67]

concentration when the system in a cascade version was employed [70]. Fluidized bed electrode was designed to improve the specific surface area and hence enhance the space-time yield [71]. Conductive particles were used as the cathode and arranged to contact with a porous feeder electrode. A disadvantage of the fluidized bed type is the sometimes non-contacting problem between the feeder electrode and cathode particles.

In order to control the problem of the fluidized bed electrode, the packed bed cell was produced [72]. It is shown that a packed bed of approximately 1 mm pellets of appropriate materials can be used as the anode [73, 74]. Moreover, the developed packed bed reactor, RenoCell, contains three-dimensional porous carbon cathode, which has a plating area 500 times much more than conventional two-dimensional cells [75].

A further developed electrochemical system has been a bio-electro reactor in which the surface of electrodes has a thin layer of biofilm. It was demonstrated that nitrification and denitrification process could occur simultaneously when there is the presence of respective microorganisms on the anode [76].

3 Methods for Fabrication of SnO₂ Electrodes

Generally, SnO_2 films can be fabricated by different common methods, such as chemical vapor deposition [77–79], thermal decomposition [80], sol-gel dip-coating [81], spray pyrolysis [82], and electrodeposition [83–87]. On the other hand, electrodes with metal oxide nanostructures show excellent chemical and physical properties due to their small size but large surface area. These nanostructure electrode types are different from those composing of bulk materials. In addition, the nanostructure material can enhance the performance and stability of the electrode [88, 89]. Therefore, this section focuses on the electrode fabrication methods using nanostructure materials, which are formed by respective preparation techniques. An overview of SnO_2 -based electrodes is also provided. Table 1 shows different methods for fabrication of SnO_2 electrodes and their characteristics.

3.1 Chemical Vapor Deposition

Chemical vapor deposition (CVD) is a synthetic process in which the reaction of chemical constituents occurs in the vapor phase to produce a solid deposit [2]. One of the methods of preparing SnO_2 films using CVD was introduced by Aboaf et al. [77] based on the reaction of $SnCl_4$ with water vapor. Briefly, the vapor deposition of SnO_2 films was performed on oxidized Si substrates in a resistance-heated tube furnace. N₂ gas was utilized to carry the high-purity $SnCl_4$ vapor to the furnace where an ambient of either N₂, H₂, or O₂ was preserved. In addition, water-vapor-saturated nitrogen was injected into the furnace approximately 50 mm away from the

Method	Principle	Characteristic
Chemical vapor deposition (CVD)	The reaction of chemical constituents occurs in the vapor phase to produce a solid deposit	– Uniform surface – Expensive
Thermal decomposition	Thermal deposition of Sn-precursor at high temperature	 Multilayer coating is necessary Inexpensive
Sol-gel dip-coating	Thermal deposition of colloid solution at high temperature	 Multilayer coating is necessary Inexpensive
Spray pyrolysis	The precursor solution is deposited at the electrode surface under carrier gas	– Uniform surface – Expensive
Electrodeposition	Deposition of SnO ₂ at the anodic or cathodic electrodes	Nonuniform coatingInexpensive

 Table 1
 Methods for fabrication of SnO₂ electrodes [88, 89]

homogeneous hot zone in order to minimize the reaction of SnCl₄ with H₂O before coming to the hot zone [77]. CVD method was also utilized by Sundaram and Bhagavat [78] in order to fabricate SnO_2 films. They used anhydrous tin (II) chloride melt by a heater to produce SnCl₂ vapor. SnO₂ films deposited on glass substrates were then formed when SnCl₂ vapor was driven by an oxygen flow through the furnace. The deposition occurred at different temperatures varying from 350 to 500°C. In conclusion, it is indicated that the films fabricated at a high temperature showed a lower resistivity as compared with the films produced at lower temperatures, with the result that the highest conductivity of 700 Ω^{-1} cm⁻¹ was accomplished at 500°C [79]. Applied CVD to fabricate the SnO₂ electronic conduction thin film. Briefly, the vaporization of liquid SnCl₄ was carried out with nitrogen gas flow, followed by mixing with oxygen gas flow on the way to a reaction chamber equipped with a quartz plate. SnO₂ was then produced by the reaction between SnCl₄ and O₂. The deposition of SnO₂ films happened on the quartz substrates at temperatures between 300 and 550°C with the formation of 5,000 Å thickness. It was demonstrated that the conductivity and carrier concentration of the films were considerably decided by the temperature. In this study, the highest conductivity of 935 Ω^{-1} cm⁻¹ was achieved at 450°C. Concerning nanostructures, using CVD at the temperature of 900°C, Ma et al. [90] successfully fabricated SnO₂ nanowires with the diameter of approximately 40-90 nm and the achievable length of above 20 nm. In addition, combustion chemical vapor deposition (CCVD) method, a new CVD technique, was used to synthesize SnO2 nanotubes with square or rectangular cross-sections on quartz substrates in an opened atmosphere with a temperature range of 850–1150°C [91].

3.2 Thermal Decomposition

 SnO_2 -based mixed oxide electrodes can be prepared based on the following thermal decomposition procedure [80]. Four types of SnO_2 -based anodes include



Fig. 2 SEM images of SnO_2 nanoparticles synthesized by thermal decomposition. Adapted from [92]. (a) SEM, (b) TEM, (c) HRTEM

Ti/SnO₂-Sb₂O₅, Ti/SnO₂-Sb₂O₅-PtO_x, Ti/SnO₂-Sb₂O₅-RuO₂, and Ti/SnO₂-Sb₂O₅-IrO₂ electrodes. A titanium substrate was firstly coated by solutions produced from SnO₂-Sb₂O₅ precursor dissolved in isopropanol, PtCl₆.6H₂O in isopropanol, RuCl₃.3H₂O in isopropanol, IrCl₃.3H₂O in ethanol. Besides, the final coating solutions should have 90 wt.% SnO2-Sb2O5 and 10 wt.% additive metal oxide. After that, a brush technique was utilized to paint the coating solutions onto the Ti substrates. For the next step, an evaporation of the excess solvent was performed with hot air at the temperature of around 80°C. The calcinations were then done at 450°C in 10 min. This process was repeated until a desired oxide coating load was accomplished. The fabrication process was finally finished by annealing at 450°C in 1 h. By using new precursor [Sn(HAP)₂] in oleylamine $(C_{18}H_{37}N)$ and triphenylphosphine (TPP), [92] synthesized successfully SnO₂ nanoparticles based on the thermal decomposition approach. The fabricated product exhibits tetragonal SnO₂ with no impurities. SnO₂ nanoparticles were demonstrated to have the average diameter of roughly 14-22 nm (Fig. 2). Also, rutile SnO₂ nanowires were successfully synthesized by using a thermal decomposition of precursor $Sn(CO_3)_2$ in the presence of NaCl [93]. The SnO₂ nanowires possess the diameters of 8-25 nm and the lengths of up to $10 \ \mu$ m.

3.3 Sol-Gel Dip-Coating

According to Chatelon et al. [81, 94], the preparation of sol-gel dip-coating technique was done by dissolving SnCI₂.2H₂O in absolute ethanol and SbCl₃ in absolute ethanol, followed by stirring and heating separately both mixtures in a closed vessel. After that, two powders were produced by performing the complete evaporation of the solvent. Depending on the doping level, the two powders were mixed together in ethanol. The stirring and heating to 50°C were then carried out for the doped solution in 2 h. Afterwards the dip-coating process was implemented. The substrate was put and taken out of the sol constantly. After completely removed from the solution, the substrate was dried during 6 h, and then drying at 100°C in the air was done for 15 min. In order to heal cracks and defects in the film, the coating procedure was performed twice. Finally, the fabrication process was finished by heating the substrate to 600°C.

SnO₂ nanostructures can be prepared by sol-gel method in which a chemical solution (i.e., sol) and colloidal nanoparticles are initially employed to produce an integrated network (i.e., gel). According to Zhang and Liu [95], different precursors like tin alkoxide and tin tetrachloride can serve as starting materials for the fabrication process. Nevertheless, the disadvantages of tin alkoxides are their high cost and their great sensitivity to moisture, heat, and light, causing the difficulty in process control and cost-ineffectiveness. On the contrary, sol-gel process using tin tetrachloride as precursors is not only cost-effective but also easy to control. In addition to tin tetrachloride, Zhang and Liu [95] used ethylene glycol as precursor to fabricate nanostructured tin oxide powders. Ethylene glycol is demonstrated to serve as a complexion agent to produce a polymeric network and as a spacer to adjust the distance between metal ions, making the aggregation of metal oxides avoided. It was reported that tin oxide began crystallizing at roughly 250°C, and the crystallization increased at higher temperatures. Finally, fine powders (i.e., the average size of particle is 12 nm) were produced by heating at 600° C for 2 h. In another study, Zhu et al. [96] used porous anodic alumina (PAA) membranes as the template to produce polycrystalline SnO₂ nanotubes which had a well-defined composition. Besides, the authors employed the hydrolysis of urea to change the pH value, resulting in the production of colloids. The wall of SnO2 nanotubes was estimated to be 20-nmthick.

In conclusion, the preparation of SnO_2 nanoparticles [95, 97] and nanotubes [96, 98] could be conducted successfully by using sol-gel process. However, there are some limitations on the morphologies of the nanostructures as it is hard to fabricate templates with various shapes and sizes.

3.4 Spray Pyrolysis

Correa-Lozano et al. [82] introduced spray pyrolysis process to fabricate the Ti/SnO₂-Sb₂O₅ electrode. Nitrogen gas was used as the carrier substance. The precursor solution included SnCl₄ (10%) prepared by SnCl₄.5H₂O in ethanol/ hydrochloric acid, SbCl₃, HCl (32%), and ethanol. The distance between the nozzle and the substrate was 17 cm and the experimental temperature was fixed between 400 and 700°C. The study reported that when IrO₂ was added into the layer placed between SnO₂-Sb₂O₅ and Ti substrate, the lifetime of the anode could be improved because the electrode became highly stable and an isomorphous structure with TiO₂ and SnO₂ could be formed [27].

Spray pyrolysis has been demonstrated to deposit nanostructured SnO_2 thin films on glass substrate utilizing the $SnCl_4.5H_2O$ precursor [83]. The product exhibits polycrystalline nature with the crystallite size of 29.92 nm and a pure phase formation. It was also indicated that the thin film was composed of pores with nanoparticles. Ong et al. [84] were also successful to synthesize the nanostructured SnO₂ thin films on glass substrate by using spray pyrolysis process with SnCl₄.5H₂O as a precursor. This study investigated the impact of precursor concentration, substrate temperature, and zinc dopant on the deposited product. Results showed that the grain size of the films could improve when there was an increase in the precursor concentration. Additionally, substrate temperature played an important role in establishing the film crystallinity as the film growth occurred at the temperature above 270° C. On the other hand, the grain size decreased when the dopant was added. It was indicated that the thickness of Zn-doped SnO₂ thin film (deposited at 350 °C and 0.5 M precursor concentration) is roughly 40 µm.

3.5 Electrodeposition

3.5.1 Anodic Method

In 1974, the synthesis of SnO_2 films was performed by the anodization of Sn sheets using an ethylene-glycol-based electrolyte in the voltage range of 6–50 V [85]. SnO_2 substrates crystallized at the temperature of under 200 °C with a polycrystalline structure having a thickness varying between 250 and 690 nm [85]. The fabrication of mesoporous SnO2 spheres with tunable particle size from tin foil electrochemically anodized in the electrolyte containing NaOH and NH4F in ethylene glycol was also investigated [86]. As a result, mesoporous SnO_2 spherical particles with a uniform size of 60 nm are formed from agglomeration of SnO_2 nanocrystals with grain size of 5–6 nm, which leads to a high internal surface area. In another study, a tin oxide film based on the electrochemical anodization of a tin film in a fluorinedoped tin oxide (FTO) electrode was fabricated [87]. The obtained nano-size porous tin oxide film possesses columnar-type pore channels with roughly 50 nm diameter and it is optically transparent [88, 89].

3.5.2 Cathodic Method

In 2002, nanostructured SnO₂ films performed on copper substrate were synthesized successfully by Chang et al. [99] by using the electrochemical deposition. Results showed that at 85°C, the films with only a low degree of crystallinity were fabricated. When heat-treatment at 400°C in vacuum condition for 4 h was applied, nanocrystals SnO₂ with tetragonal structure in a grain size of 4–7 nm were found. It is also indicated that a porous surface can be obtained at the current density of 5–15 mA/cm². The study was also investigated other conditions with nitric acid solution at 85°C to fabricate nano-crystalline two-layered SnO₂ coatings including an upper porous layer (about 400 nm thick with a surface area of 34.3 m²/g) and an underlying dense layer (about 12 nm thick) (Fig. 3) [100]. The nano-crystalline particles size in the two above layers were 5 and 10 nm. In this study, the electrolyte needed pre-treatment in order to convert Sn²⁺ ions to Sn⁴⁺ ions. Other researchers



Fig. 3 SEM images of (a) the top view and (b) the cross-sectional view of the nano-crystalline two-layered SnO_2 coatings. Adapted from [100]

also developed various electrodeposition processes of SnO_2 thin films with several investigated parameters, such as HNO_3 concentration, age of the electrolyte, the electrodeposition temperature, and voltage [101, 102].

Regarding 1D nanostructures, Lai et al. [103] yielded successfully electrodeposited SnO_2 nanotubes by employing a hard template of nanoporous polycarbonate membrane. Before being recovered by centrifugation, the as-deposited nanotubes were dissolved in dichloromethane. Spray and Choi [104] investigated the application of sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) as a surfactant. It is shown that interfacial SDS assemblies have been useful for obtaining well-ordered arrangements of Sn^{4+} ions, which are the skeleton of the SnO_2 film producing mesoporous frameworks during the electrodeposition process. Similarly, Ishizaki et al. [105] also fabricated SnO_2 nanowires by using SDS surfactant. This study indicated that the micelles of SDS in the solution resulted in the aggregation of the SnO_2 particles and anisotropic growth of SnO_2 nanowires.

3.6 Stability of SnO₂-Based Electrodes

Although $SnO_2-Sb_2O_5$ anodes are highly efficient in oxidizing contaminants, their electrochemical stability is insufficient, like PbO₂ [1]. Lipp and Pletcher [106] conducted an experiment using $SnO_2-Sb_2O_5$ electrode with 0.1 M H₂SO₄ solution and a constant potential of 2.44 V versus NHE. Study found that the current decreased from the initial value of 0.2 A to approximately 0.1 A after a few hours and to 0.06 A after 700 h [106]. The stability of $SnO_2-Sb_2O_5$ anodes was also tested by using an accelerated life test [27]. Results showed that at a current density of $1,000 \text{ A/m}^2$ in the existence of 1 M H₂SO₄ solution, the lifetime of Ti/SnO₂-Sb₂O₅ lasted only 12 h. When the experimental conditions were adjusted to be 10,000 A/m²

of current density and 3 M H_2SO_4 solution, the electrode had a lifetime of only a few seconds [107].

The deactivation of dimensionally stable anodes was explained by different reasons including the selective loss of the catalyst to the electrolyte, the resistive layer forming between the substrate and the coating, and the passive layer forming in the external layer of the coating [80]. In addition, the $SnO_2-Sb_2O_5$ electrodes were reported to be deactivated due to the nonconductive Sn(OH)₂ film forming in the external layer of the electrodes [29]. Several researchers suggested that the formation of the external passive layer should be prevented to improve the stability of SnO₂based electrodes. This can be obtained by using additive metal oxides in the SnO₂-Sb₂O₅ coating, which may extend substantially the lifetime of SnO₂-Sb₂O₅ electrodes [5, 9, 108–111]. For instance, the supplement of IrOx to the raw SnO₂–Sb₂O₅ mixture helped to increase the lifetime of the electrode which lasted 1,600 h under 3 M H₂SO₄ solution and current density of 1 A/cm² [108]. Study also indicated that this electrode has a superstable nature, the good conductivity, and the improved bonding with the TiO₂ interlayer. The incorporation of different metal oxides with the Sb-doped SnO₂ coating to increase the electrode lifetime was also demonstrated by Adams et al. [80]. In this study, the thermal decomposition method was employed to fabricate four different types of SnO₂-based electrodes, including Ti/SnO₂-Sb₂O₅, Ti/SnO₂-Sb₂O₅-PtO_x, Ti/SnO₂-Sb₂O₅-RuO₂, and Ti/SnO₂-Sb₂O₅-IrO₂ electrodes. Among these electrodes, Ti/SnO2-Sb2O5-IrO2 showed to possess the greatest service life (i.e., 155 days) obtained at current density of 160 mA/cm² in 0.5 M NaOH solution. On the other hand, Correa-Lozano et al. [27] demonstrated that the presence of IrO₂ film between SnO₂-Sb₂O₅ layer and Ti substrate helped to extend the electrode lifetime. Besides, the impact of solvent on the electrode stability was investigated by Coteiro et al. [112]. The ternary oxide Ru–Ti–Sn electrode was fabricated and investigated by thermal decomposition technique. The precursor solutions were prepared by dissolving the hydrates RuCl₃.nH₂O, TiCl₄, and SnCl₂.2H₂O with two different solvents including HCl/H₂O (1:1 v/v) and isopropanol. This study pointed out that when isopropanol was served as a solvent, the elimination of tin loss and higher stability could be accomplished.

4 Properties of SnO₂

The oxidation state of Tin (Sn) is either 2^+ in the stannous oxide form as SnO or 4^+ in stannic oxide as SnO₂ due to its dual valence, which facilitates the fluctuation of the surface element as oxygen [113]. SnO₂ possesses a tetragonal rutile structure with space group D_{4h}^{14} [P4₂/mnm] [114] and one unit cell is composed of six atoms including two tin and four oxygen atoms [113]. The ionic radii for O^{2-} and Sn⁴⁺ are 1.40 and 0.71 Å, respectively [114, 115]. Also, the SnO₂ is known as Cassiterite mineral [113]. Furthermore, pure SnO₂ is an n-type broadband gap (3.6 eV) semiconductor, which is highly conductive and nearly complete insulator-like transparent. Moreover, the carrier density of un-doped SnO₂ is up to 10^{20} cm⁻³ which is

comparable to that of semimetals (i.e., 10^{17} to 10^{20} cm⁻³) [114, 116]. In addition, SnO2 is a chemically inert substance which also has mechanically strength and high-temperature resistance [117].

Pure SnO2 is very high electrical resistant, which makes it be unsuitable for electrode fabrication [4]. However, the conductivity of SnO_2 considerably improved when mixing it with Ar, B, Bi, F, P, and Sb [29, 77, 114, 118–121]. Among the above doping agents, antimony (Sb) is the most widely used in electrochemical applications [82, 106, 122, 123]. The doped SnO_2 films used as transparent electrodes can be found in different applications, such as high-efficiency solar cells, gas detectors, far IR detectors, and transparent heating elements [124]. The onset potential of O₂ evolution on SnO₂ doped with Sb in 0.5 M H₂SO₄ solution is approximately 1.9 V versus NHE, which is similar to that on PbO₂ [1, 82]. Due to the high oxygen evolution over-potential, which results in a poor catalyst for oxygen evolution reaction, the Sb-doped SnO₂ is considered as a "non-active" anode. This feature, however, promotes the conversion of organic matters to CO_2 [3]. Hence, Sb-doped SnO_2 electrodes are effective in wastewater treatment [3], especially for oxidization of organic compounds [27-29]. Another advantage of SnO₂ is the low-cost feature, as compared to other precious materials (e.g., Pt and borondoped diamond) [80].

5 Application to Water Treatment

The application of different SnO_2 -based anodes in the electrochemical oxidation for removal of diverse contaminants from water is summarized in Table 2. A comparison of removal efficiency under different experimental conditions is also presented.

Specifically, the study found that organic contaminants (i.e., phenol) could be oxidized at the anode fabricated by titanium coating with Sb-doped SnO₂ (Ti/SnO₂-Sb₂O₅) [29]. Result showed that the phenol removal efficiency was five times higher than that obtained in the study using Pt electrode [28]. On the other hand, Bonfatti et al. [128] investigated the ability of glucose for mineralization reaction by using the electrochemical incineration in which Pt, SnO2-Pt composite, and PbO2 electrodes were used with the addition of H_2SO_4 1 M serving as the supporting electrolyte. However, results showed that the SnO₂-based electrode was not efficient to electrochemically oxide organic compounds. In another study, it was reported that the current efficiency for Ti/SnO₂-Sb₂O₅ of 0.58 was effective to degrade 71% of phenol. In case of PbO₂, IrO₂, RuO₂, and Pt, the current efficiency were 0.18, 0.17, 0.14, and 0.13, respectively, at the same experimental conditions (i.e., the current density of 500 A/m², pH 12.5, initial concentration of 10 mM, reaction temperature of 70°C) [129]. Grimm et al. [94] investigated the oxidization of phenol in a cyclic voltammetry using Ebonex/PbO₂ and Ti/SnO₂ electrodes. As a result, the Ti/SnO₂ electrode fabricated by using a sol-gel dip-coating technique showed better performance. Moreover, the study also showed that 10% Sb used for doping the sol-gel solution could help to improve the conductivity of the SnO₂-films and

Table 2Comparisonexplanation)	n of the performan	ice of different SnO ₂ -based electro	des in electrochemical oxidation us	ed for water treatment (see tex	kt for further
Electrode material	Pollutants investigated	Experimental conditions	Initial concentration	Removal efficiency (%)	References
Binary oxide anodes					
Ti/Sb ₂ O ₅ -SnO ₂	Dye – acid	200 A/m ² ; 6.25 Ah/L; 30°C; in	750 mg/L Orange II;	27% COD;	[66, 125,
	orange 7 (orange	2 g/L Na ₂ SO ₄	1,120 mg/L COD	98% color;	126]
	II)			16% current efficiency	
	Dye – reactive	200 A/m ² ; 6.25 Ah/L; 30°C; in	1,500 mg/L reactive red HE-3B;	22% COD;	[66, 125,
	red 120 (reactive	2 g/L Na ₂ SO ₄	920 mg/L COD	95% color;	126]
	red HE-3B)			11% current efficiency	
	2-chlorophenol	160 A/m ² ; electrolysis time	400-600 mg/L 2-chlorophenol;	70% COD;	[127]
	1	500 min; 1 cm ³ /s flow rate; 25° C;	1,000 mg/L COD	50% faradaic yield	
		in phosphoric solutions)		
	Glucose	375-900 A/m ² ; 1 M H ₂ SO ₄ ; elec-	1 g/L glucose	30%	[128]
		trolysis time 24 h; 25°C	1		1
	Phenol	300 A/m ² ; pH 12, in 0.25 M	1,000 mg/L	100%	[29]
		Na_2SO_4			
	Phenol	500 A/m ² ; pH 12.5; 70°C	10 mM	71%	[129]
	Cyanide	pH 12, in 1 mol/L K ₂ SO ₄ ;	1 mmol/L KCN	Half-life for the degradation	[130]
		4 mmol/L KCl added; 16 mA/		was 8.8 min ^{-1} ; apparent decay	
		cm^2 ; 25°C		rate was 0.079 min ⁻¹	
Ternary oxide anode	S				
Ti/	Landfill leachate	2 A; electrolysis time 8 h;	780 mg/L COD;	35% COD;	[131]
$Ti_{0.5}Ru_{0.45}Sn_{0.05}O_2$		$420 \text{ dm}^3/\text{h}$ flow rate	266 mg/L ammonium	52% color;	
				65% ammonium	
Ti/Sn-Pd-Ru oxide	Landfill leachate	15 A/dm ² ;	4,100-5,000 mg/L COD;	92% COD;	[39]
		7,500 mg/L chloride added; elec-	<1,000 mg/L BOD;	100% ammonium	
		trolysis time 4 h	2,100-3,000 mg/L ammonium;		
			2,500 mg/L chloride		

268

Ti/RuO ₂ -SnO ₂ -	Dye – reactive	$50 \text{ mA/cm}^2;$	100 mg/L	55% COD; 98% color; 37%	[132]
Sb ₂ O ₅	Black-5	2 g/L NaCl added; electrolysis time 1 h		TOC (at pH 2-3)	
Ti/IrO ₂ -SnO ₂ - Sb ₂ O ₅	Dye – Indigo	0.2 L/min flow rate; 7 mA/cm ² current density; in 0.05 M NaCl	1 mM	 100% indigo degraded; 80% current efficiency; 1.78 KWh/m³ energy consumption 	[133]
Ti/RuO ₂ -TiO ₂ - SnO ₂	Petroleum hydrocarbons	89 mA/cm ² ; 0.25 L/h; electrolysis time 2.3 h	25-30 mg/L of benzene, toluene, ethyl benzene, xylene; 5 mg/L phenol; 15,000 mg/L NaCl	98% organic contaminant degraded	[134]
Ti/SnO ₂ -Sb ₂ O ₃ - PtO	Aniline	15 mA/cm ² ; Electrolysis time 1 h; pH 11.0, in 10 g/L Na ₂ SO ₄	80 mg/L aniline; 225 mg/L COD	>88.9% of organic removal	[[1]
Ti/SnO ₂ -Sb ₂ O ₅ - IrO ₂	2-nitrophenol (2-NPh)	100 mA; electrolysis time 3 h; pH 2, in 0.5 M Na ₂ SO ₄	0.05-0.275 mM	7.66×10^{-3} - $8.17 \times 10^{-3} \text{min}^{-1}$ (rate constant)	[80]
	3-nitrophenol (3-NPh)	100 mA; electrolysis time 3 h; pH 2, in 0.5 M Na ₂ SO ₄	0.05-0.175 mM	3.61×10^{-3} - $3.86 \times 10^{-3} \text{min}^{-1}$ (rate constant)	
	4-nitrophenol (4-NPh)	100 mA; electrolysis time 3 h; pH 2, in 0.5 M Na ₂ SO ₄	0.05-0.175 mM	6.25×10^{-3} - $6.53 \times 10^{-3} \text{min}^{-1}$ (rate constant)	
Quaternary metal ox	ide anodes				
Ti/Ru-Ti-Sb-SnO ₂ Pt/Ru-Ti-Sb-SnO ₂	p-benzoquinone	Solid-state electrolyte used; 1.0 A (\sim 0.2 A/cm ²); electrolysis time 64 h	100 mg/L	TOC and COD dropped to 1-2 mg/L	[135]

produce higher current density for the oxidation [94]. Another study conducted by Zanta et al. [136] found that 75% of p-chlorophenol could be degraded during the oxidation using SnO₂–Sb₂O₅-based anodes. Similarly, Adams et al. [80] investigated the removal of 2-nitrophenol (2-NPh), 3-nitrophenol (3-NPh), and 4-nitrophenol (4-NPh) by using SnO₂-based mixed oxide electrodes, including Ti/SnO₂- Sb₂O₅, Ti/SnO₂- Sb₂O₅-PtO_x, Ti/SnO₂- Sb₂O₅-RuO₂, and Ti/SnO₂-Sb₂O₅-IrO₂. The study indicated that Ti/SnO₂-Sb₂O₅-IrO₂ would be a promising electrode for practical application of electrochemical technology in wastewater treatment due to its long lifetime and high reactivity for nitrophenols removal. In addition, the study confirmed that the current of 100 mA was the most effective for the electrochemical oxidation in which the reaction rate constants decreased in the order of 2-NPh > 4-NPh > 3-NPh. Besides, Polcaro et al. [127] used PbO₂-based and SnO₂-based anodes to examine the electrochemical oxidation of 2-chlorophenol. The study found that Ti/SnO₂ anode was more effective as it showed a better performance for oxidation of toxic substances with the faradaic yield of approximately 50%. However, the study also reported that the presence of the biodegradable substance as oxalic acid in the effluent, although with a small quantity, could inhibit the electrolysis at SnO₂ electrode.

Houk et al. [135] incinerated electrochemically p-benzoquinone using a Ti or Pt anode coated with a quaternary metal oxide film of Ti, Ru, Sn, and Sb. The film was stable and the anode showed good reactivity for the oxidation of benzoquinone. During the electrochemical experiments, a solid-state electrolyte was used between the anode and the cathode instead of a dissolved supporting electrolyte. It was reported that the solid-state electrolyte was advantageous in producing pure final product, which can be disposed without a further treatment. However, this substitution caused excessively long electrolysis periods. After 64 h, a solution containing 100 mg/L benzoquinone witnessed a drop to 1-2 mg/L in TOC and COD and a decrease from 5.0 to 4.0. Intermediate products including phenolic and carboxylic acid were detected. The study also indicated that the small amount of carbon content (i.e., <1%) in benzoquinone was converted into acetone and acetaldehyde.

That aniline solution was electrochemically oxidized in alkaline medium of pH 11.0 was investigated by Li et al. [111] in the application of Ti/SnO₂–Sb₂O₃–PtO anode and a Ti cathode. At Ti/SnO₂–Sb₂O₃–PtO anode, intermediates including dianiline, 4-anilino phenol, and azobenzol were detected. The decomposition of intermediates produced initially is done by hydroxyl radicals and the final products would be CO₂ and H₂O. The study results indicated that aniline was oxidized significantly faster at the Ti/SnO₂–Sb₂O₃–PtO anode than at the Ti/Pt, graphite, or Ti/SnO₂ anodes. Generally, it is concluded that aniline can be effectively degraded by electro-catalytic oxidation.

Fugivara et al. [130] investigated the electrochemical incineration of cyanide in alkaline media on Ti/SnO₂–SbO_x electrode at 25°C. The electro-oxidation of cyanide complies with a first-order rate law. In K₂SO₄ and KCN electrolyte, pH 12, and under 16 mA/cm² current density, a half-life value of 36 min and 69 min was estimated for Ti/SnO₂–SbO_x electrode and Ti/SnO₂–SbO_x–RuO₂ electrode, respectively. It is explained that the incorporation of RuO₂ into SnO₂-SbO_x mixture

changed the water discharge potential value from 2.3 V (SnO_2-SbO_x) to 1.7 V $(SnO_2-SbO_3-RuO_2)$, resulting in the fall in the cyanide electro-oxidation rate. Therefore, the current efficiency could drop when the $Ti/SnO_2-SbO_y-RuO_2$ electrode was used. Better cyanide electro-oxidation at Ti/SnO₂-SbO_x can be owing to greater levels of hydroxyl radicals formed on the surface of this electrode [55]. The study also evaluated the impact of an addition of chloride to the solution and pointed out that the rate law was not changed but the reaction rate increased. Specifically, the apparent decay rate values on Ti/SnO₂-SbO_x electrode were 0.019 min⁻¹ (without chloride added) and 0.079 min⁻¹ (with chloride added according to the ratio of [Cl-] to [CN-] standing at 4:1) at pH 12 and 16 mA/cm². Moreover, in the chloridecontaining solution, the apparent decay rate value on Ti/SnO₂-SbO_x was the highest, compared to SnO₂-SbO_x-RuO₂ and platinum electrodes. On the other hand, there was a growth in the reaction rate when the applied current increased and a plateau was likely to be reached when the current density was above 20 mA/cm². Regarding pH, in the range of 10-13.5, the reaction rate experienced a decrease when there was a growth in pH. The study indicated that the lifetime of the Ti/SnO_2 -SbO_x lasted 44 h at the current density of 16 mA/cm² and the SnO_2 -SbO_x electrode was superior to platinum electrode due to its higher current efficiency in oxidizing cyanide and lower cost [130].

Regarding the treatment of landfill leachate, the difference in electrochemical reactivity between Ti/SnO2-Sb2O5 and Ti/PbO2 anodes was not significant [137]. This might be because high levels of chlorides were present in this type of waste. Chiang et al. [39] used the electrochemical oxidation method to investigate the treatment of landfill leachate which has a low BOD/COD ratio. In this study, four types of anode electrode including graphite, PbO₂/Ti, binary Ru-Ti oxide-coated titanium, and ternary Sn-Pd-Ru oxide-coated titanium (SPR), were investigated. The best performance was obtained with the SPR electrode. Specifically, the experimental results indicated that the SPR anode yielded 92% of the COD treatment in the landfill leachate and a complete removal of 2,600 mg/L of ammonium using a current density of 15 A/dm², electrolysis time of 4 h, and an addition of 7,500 mg/L chloride concentration. This study showed that contaminants in the landfill leachate could be effectively removed thanks to the electrochemical oxidation method. Moreover, it is claimed that the contaminants could be chiefly removed due to the indirect oxidation impact of chlorine/hypochlorite which are the products of the electrolysis. Besides, the indirect oxidation impact was increased by the rises in current density and chloride concentration. The study also proved that the electrochemical oxidation has been a potential method for treating low BOD/COD landfill leachate ([39]). The treatment of landfill leachate by using electrochemical oxidation method was also carried out by Panizza and Martinez-Huitle [131] in which three types of anode including Ti-Ru-Sn ternary oxide (TiRuSnO₂), PbO₂, and borondoped diamond (BDD) were investigated. A stainless steel cathode installed in an undivided flow cell was used for the experiment. The operating conditions include 2 A constant current and 420 dm³/h flow rate. The study indicated that the average values of COD and NH₄⁺-N which were 780 mg/L and 266 mg/L, respectively,

underwent a removal of 35% COD, 52% color, and 65% ammonium using $Ti/RuSnO_2$ anode at the electrolysis time of 8 h [131].

Chen et al. [107]; Chen et al. [125]; Chen et al. [66] studied the oxidation of 25 mL of solutions of different azo-dyes at a Ti/Sb₂O₅-SnO₂ anode and 2 g/L Na₂SO₄ solution was served as supporting electrolyte. They utilized a stirred undivided cell equipped with a stainless steel cathode. The study showed that 27% COD decay, 98% color removal, and 16% current efficiency were accomplished for 750 mg/L of Orange II at a current density of 200 A/m². At the same initial condition for oxidation of 1.500 mg/L of Reactive Red HE-3B, the results were 95% color removal, 22% COD treatment, and 11% current efficiency [66, 125, 126]. It is also indicated a low mineralization of 1 g/L of 15 reactive dyes which were decolorized in 80% with 27-46% COD removal, and 19-48% current efficiency with an oxidation at pH 4.70-6.73 and 100 A/m² [107, 126]. Compared to Ti/Sb₂O₅-SnO₂ anode, a non-active Ti/BDD anode was shown to have much better mineralization for dvestuffs [66, 107, 125]. The better properties of Si/BDD anode as compared to that of Ti/SnO₂ electrode in degrading Orange II were also demonstrated by Hastie et al. [138]. Panizza and Cerisola [139, 140] also employed the electrochemical method for oxidation of 2-naphthol which is largely utilized in manufacturing azo-dyes and bio-refractory. The electrode materials including lead dioxide, boron-doped diamond (BDD), and Ti-Ru-Sn ternary oxide anodes were employed. The study indicated that all the electrodes were active in oxidizing naphthol in the potential region of supporting electrolyte stability, yet the formation of polymeric adhesive films giving rise to electrode fouling also occurred in this region [140]. Regarding the Ti-Ru-Sn ternary oxide electrode, the initial activity was not completely restored by an anodic polarization due to its low-oxygen-overvoltage property and the main reaction occurring being oxygen evolution [140]. On the other hand, the authors evaluated the impact of current density, flow-rate, and chloride concentration on the electrochemical oxidation of 2-naphthol [139]. The study showed that at TiRuSnO₂ electrode naphthol is only mineralized when chloride ions performing as redox mediators are present [139]. Moreover, chloride concentration had a significant impact on COD removal, whereas the current density and mass-transfer coefficient with the optimum values of NaCl 7.5 g/dm³ and pH 12 showed less effects [139]. In another study, the same authors investigated the electrochemical oxidation of methyl red using lead dioxide, boron-doped diamond (BDD), Ti-Ru-Sn ternary oxide, and platinum anodes in a one-compartment electrolytic flow cell equipped with parallel plate electrodes [141]. Experimental conditions were 0.5 M Na₂SO₄ as supporting electrolyte, 500 mA constant current, and 180 dm³/h recirculation flow rate. The same results with the incomplete reactivation of the TiRuSnO₂ anode resulting from anodic polarization were indicated. The study also pointed out that at the TiRuSnO₂ anode methyl red was only partially oxidized owing to recalcitrant intermediates accumulated during the oxidation process as well as only a small amount of COD was removed and a current efficiency was low [141]. In general, the authors confirmed the superiority of BDD over other electrode materials due to its less pronounced deactivation, faster reactivation, faster mineralization, and higher current efficiency [139-141]. In another aspect, Ruparelia and Soni [132] showed acceptable results in the electrochemical oxidation of Reactive Black-5 (RB-5), another azo type of dye widely utilized in textile dying and paper industries, based on Ti/RuO₂–SnO₂–Sb₂O₅ electrode. In this research, all experiments were conducted under a 50 mA/cm² current density and a distance of 8 mm between electrodes in a laboratory scale batch reactor with an addition of NaCl (2 g/L) as the electrolyte in solution. The electrode fabricated with thermal decomposition method provided considerably good results. At pH 2-3, initial concentration of 100 mg/L RB-5 experienced a reduction of 55% COD, 98% color, and 37% TOC. At pH 7-8, the figures for the removal of COD, color, and TOC were 47%, 99%, and 35%, respectively. These findings revealed that the removal efficiency of color, COD, and TOC was decided in the first 10 min of treatment when the maximum degradation happened. Also, five-minute mineralization is suggested as the optimum [132]. Similar results were also reported by León et al. [133] in the study of electrochemical treatment of indigo textile dye. In this research, the electrochemical reactor was an undivided filter-press flow cell with a single electrolyte compartment in which dimensionally stable anode (DSA) prepared by Pechini method was a mesh- $(Ti/IrO_2-SnO_2-Sb_2O_5)$ and platinum coated titanium flat sheet was served as the cathode. The authors proved that complete degradation of indigo by bulk electrolysis is favored at the Ti/IrO_2 -SnO₂-Sb₂O₅. The study results also confirmed that the formation of hydroxyl radical will gain an advantage at current densities varying from 5 to 7 mA/cm², whereas at 10 mA/cm² the oxygen evolution reaction is favored. Besides the predominant role of hydroxyl radical, other reactive species such as active chlorine formed during the electrochemical oxidation process can be responsible for removing simultaneously indigo and/or its by-products. The best results showed that at 0.2 L/min flow rate and 7 mA/cm² current density indigo (1 mM indigo in 0.05 M NaCl) was completely mineralized, with the current efficiency of 80% and the energy consumption of 1.78 kWh/m³. Additionally, the electrochemical reactor equipped with mesh-(Ti/IrO₂-SnO₂-Sb₂O₅) electrode used in this study proclaimed its usefulness for improving space-time yield which caused better interaction between oxidant species and pollutants, resulting in increases in the organic mineralization efficiency [133].

Electrochemical technology with a mesh Ti/RuO₂–TiO₂–SnO₂ anode and stainless steel cathode was applied to study treating petroleum hydrocarbons from produced water by petroleum exploration [134]. The produced water samples contain benzene, toluene, ethyl benzene, xylene, and phenol, with the NaCl concentration of 15,000 mg/L. The experiment was conducted in a one-compartment electrolytic flow cell at the current density of 89 mA/cm², temperature 25°C, and electrode area 19 cm². It was proclaimed that the flow rate had an effect on the electrode performance. Specifically, under the different flow rate of 0.25, 0.5, 0.8, and 1.3 L/h and the electrolysis time of 0.5–2.3 h, the organic contaminant degradation efficiencies were 98%, 97%, 95%, and 84%, respectively. However, it is important to mention that the removal efficiencies of phenol and ethyl benzene were low under the same experimental conditions. The authors proposed that direct oxidation of hydrocarbons was the main mechanism because higher flow rate impacted inconsiderably the oxidation rate [134].

6 Outlook and Future Works with SnO₂-Based Electrodes

Recently, the development of SnO_2 -based electrodes focuses mostly on the nanostructure material, such as nanotube, nanorod, honeycomb, which help to increase the surface area and mass transfer.

6.1 Ordered Stake Micro-Structured SnO₂/TiO₂ Nanotubes (TiO₂ NTs)

The electrochemical performance and stability of Sb-doped SnO_2 electrode can be increased by the design of its microstructure. Specifically, the ordered stake microstructured SnO_2/TiO_2 NTs is a representative example [142–144]. The ordered stake micro-structured SnO_2/TiO_2 NTs electrode was fabricated using electrochemical anodic oxidation and modified surfactant-assisted sol-gel method. This preparation process is useful for building a strong linkage between the Ti substrate and Sb-doped SnO_2 and increasing the electrode stability. In addition, because of the large specific surface and microstructure of TiO_2 NTs, there will be a considerable growth in the Sb-doped SnO_2 loading amount which is vital for the increase of electrochemical activity of SnO_2 electrode. Moreover, it is probable that the Sb-doped SnO_2 particles can reach nanoscale and be highly dispersed, leading to a substantial increase in the loading amount and active sites of Sb-doped SnO_2 . As a result, the electrochemical performance of the electrode may be improved.

In terms of electrochemical parameters, the apparent rate constant of benzoic acid (BA) removal on the SnO₂/TiO₂ NTs and SnO₂/Ti is $(1.44 \pm 0.04) \times 10^{-4} \text{ s}^{-1}$ and $(1.01 \pm 0.03) \times 10^{-4} \text{ s}^{-1}$, respectively. Moreover, BA was degraded on the SnO₂//TiO₂ NTs electrode with an initial instantaneous current efficiency of 26.8%, while the figure for the SnO₂/Ti electrode was merely 13.3%. It is demonstrated that the SnO₂/TiO₂ NTs electrode has possessed both excellent photocatalytic properties and excellent electro-catalytic properties. After 3.5-h electro-photocatalytic removal of BA, 100% COD is treated [142].

6.2 Sieve-Like Mp–SnO₂/TiO₂ NTs

Another electrode type with remarkable oxidation ability and strong stability is sieve-like macro-porous Sb-doped SnO_2 (Mp-SnO₂)/TiO₂ NTs prepared via a block copolymer based soft template method [143–145]. Such method is helpful to form Mp-SnO₂ with the pore size varying between 150 and 400 nm. These macropores are useful for increasing the specific surface area and providing more active sites.

The Mp-SnO₂/TiO₂ NTs exhibits excellent photocatalytic and electro-catalytic performances. It also has a remarkable photo-electro-catalytic synergistic oxidation ability to vanish the toxicity of p-nitrophenol in wastewater. In 4 h, the removal efficiency of the p-nitrophenol and TOC is 98% and 91%, respectively. In comparison with traditional SnO₂/Ti electrodes, the Mp-SnO₂/TiO₂ NTs has shown lower reaction activation energy, smaller electrochemical impedance, and a larger electrochemical surface absorption volume [145].

6.3 HOEP SnO₂/TiO₂ NTs

Due to very high oxidation potentials of aromatic hydrocarbons, traditional electrodes with a low oxygen evolution potential (OEP) are seemly hard to be used for electrochemical oxidation of such pollutants [3, 143]. In this regard, that the OEP of the SnO₂ electrode is enhanced via microstructure designing has received much attention. For instance, Wu et al. [146] used the pulse electrodeposition method to fabricate a high oxygen evolution potential (HOEP) SnO₂/TiO₂ NTs electrode. Anodic oxidation was also applied to produce an intermediate layer with TiO₂ NTs on a Ti substrate. Additionally, in order to increase the linkage between SnO₂ and the Ti substrate to enhance the electrode conductivity, the electrochemical method was used to reduce partially at the bottom of TiO₂ NTs and copper deposition was performed. Besides, the intermediate layer was advantageous to the deposition of SnO₂ with copper particles.

As compared to the common Sb-doped SnO₂ electrode fabricated by the sol-gel method, the HOEP SnO₂/TiO₂ NTs electrode proposed by Wu et al. [146] exhibits a higher crystallinity, a higher order degree of the atomic lattice, and a lower concentration of oxygen vacancies. Furthermore, the study revealed that the surface of the proposed electrode showed a three-dimension structure (i.e., Sb-doped SnO₂ nanoparticles with a certain micro-spherical structure), which increased significantly the specific area and active sites. This HOEP SnO₂/TiO₂ NTs electrode displayed excellent ability to oxidize fluorobenzene, which can be considered as a highly stable substance and cannot be removed on a BDD electrode possessing a strong oxidation capacity. It was indicated that after 1 h, the mineralization current efficiency (MCE) on HOEP SnO₂/TiO₂ NTs, BDD, and traditional SnO₂ are 16.2%, 8.03%, and 4.9%, respectively; while MCE after 4 h are 7.8%, 5.6%, and 4.1%, respectively. On the other hand, the HOEP SnO_2/TiO_2 NTs demonstrates the lowest energy consumption due to its lower cell voltage than traditional SnO_2 and BDD. Specifically, in order to degrade 60% TOC, BDD consumed the energy 3.1 times higher than HOEP SnO₂/ TiO₂ NTs.

6.4 $(Ru_{0.3}Ti_{0.34}Sn_{0.3}Sb_{0.06})O_2$ -TiO₂ NTs Anode

The same approach based on TiO_2 nanotubes is also used by Xiong et al. [147], but the authors further developed the method by preparing a quaternary metal oxide coating of Ti, Ru, Sn, and Sb. Generally, anodization, deposition, and annealing were utilized to fabricate the proposed ($Ru_{0.3}Ti_{0.34}Sn_{0.3}Sb_{0.06}$)O₂-TiO₂ nanotubes anode. It is indicated that the incorporation of an appropriate quantity of tin and antimony into the coating was helpful in enhancing the electrochemical stability of the electrode due to the firmed adhesion strength between the coating and the TiO₂ nanotubes. Compared with the conventional dimensionally stable anode, the proposed anode exhibited high over-potential for oxygen evolution reaction and improved selectivity toward chlorine evolution reaction. It also displayed a uniform and compact morphology without crack. In general, the resulting anode showed outstanding electro-catalytic performance and superior stability.

7 Concluding Remarks

Electrochemical oxidation has become a promising technology to solve many environmental pollution issues in general and wastewater treatment in particular. When SnO_2 -based electrodes are employed in wastewater treatment to remove organic substances, the operational parameters such as pH, current density, chloride addition are essential factors affecting the removal efficiency. Sb-doped SnO_2 is suggested to be appropriate for oxidizing organic matters due to its high oxygen evolution over-potential and low-cost feature as compared to other metal oxides.

However, some limitations for the practical application of SnO_2 electrodes are also found, which is due to their insufficient electrochemical stability. In order to tackle this issue and improve electrochemical performance, several studies have been conducted to develop new doping routes. The combination of TiO₂ nanotubes and SnO₂ catalyst is also a promising strategy, which can produce TiO₂ nanotubes based unique micro-structured electrodes with remarkable oxidation ability and strong stability. Therefore, more efforts should be put on optimizing the catalysts and the preparation routes with the aim to develop advanced electrochemical oxidation techniques using SnO₂-based electrodes. In addition, further studies are suggested to be done, which focus on the investigation of advanced SnO₂-based electrodes for the treatment of different types of wastewater to find out the optimal operational parameters.

Acknowledgement This research is funded by Vietnam Ministry of Education and Training (MOET) under grant number B2021-VGU-07.

References

- 1. Chen G (2004) Electrochemical technologies in wastewater treatment. Sep Purif Technol 38: 11–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seppur.2003.10.006
- Comninellis C, Chen G (2010) Electrochemistry for the environment. In: Electrochemistry for the environment. Springer, pp 55–69. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-68318-8
- 3. Panizza M, Cerisola G (2009) Direct and mediated anodic oxidation of organic pollutants. Chem Rev 109:6541–6569. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr9001319
- Martínez-Huitle CA, Ferro S (2006) Electrochemical oxidation of organic pollutants for the wastewater treatment: direct and indirect processes. Chem Soc Rev 35:1324–1340. https://doi. org/10.1039/b517632h
- Meaney KL, Omanovic S (2007) Sn0.86-Sb0.03-Mn0.10-Pt0.01-oxide/Ti anode for the electro-oxidation of aqueous organic wastes. Mater Chem Phys 105:143–147. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.matchemphys.2007.04.046
- 6. Rajeshwar K, Ibanez JG, Swain GM (1994) Electrochemistry and the environment. J Appl Electrochem 24:1077–1091
- Walsh FC (2001) Electrochemical technology for environmental treatment and clean energy conversion. Pure Appl Chem 73:1819–1837. https://doi.org/10.1351/pac200173121819
- Panizza M, Cerisola G (2007) Electrochemical processes for the treatment of organic pollutants. In: Zinger DV (ed) Advances in chemistry research, vol 2. Nova Science Publishers, New York, pp 1–38
- Montilla F, Morallon E, Vazquez JL (2005) Evaluation of the electrocatalytic activity of antimony-doped tin dioxide anodes toward the oxidation of phenol in aqueous solutions. J Electrochem Soc 152:B421–B427. https://doi.org/10.1149/1.2013047
- Awad M, Abuzaid S (1997) Electrochemical treatment of phenolic wastewater: efficiency, design considerations and economic evaluation. J Environ Sci Heal Part A Environ Sci Eng Toxicol 32:1393–1414. https://doi.org/10.1080/10934529709376617
- Piya-areetham P, Shenchunthichai K, Hunsom M (2006) Application of electrooxidation process for treating concentrated wastewater from distillery industry with a voluminous electrode. Water Res 40:2857–2864. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2006.05.025
- Gattrell M, Kirk DW (1990) The electrochemical oxidation of aqueous phenol at a glassy carbon electrode. Can J Chem Eng 68:997–1003
- Ferreira M, Varela H, Torresi RM, Tremiliosi-Filho G (2006) Electrode passivation caused by polymerization of different phenolic compounds. Electrochim Acta 52:434–442. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.electacta.2006.05.025
- Cañizares P, Lobato J, Paz R, Rodrigo MA, Sáez C (2005) Electrochemical oxidation of phenolic wastes with boron-doped diamond anodes. Water Res 39:2687–2703. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.watres.2005.04.042
- Pacheco MJ, Morão A, Lopes A, Ciríaco L, Gonçalves I (2007) Degradation of phenols using boron-doped diamond electrodes: a method for quantifying the extent of combustion. Electrochim Acta 53:629–636. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2007.07.024
- Scialdone O, Galia A, Guarisco C, Randazzo S, Filardo G (2008) Electrochemical incineration of oxalic acid at boron doped diamond anodes: role of operative parameters. Electrochim Acta 53:2095–2108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2007.09.007
- 17. Zhu X, Shi S, Wei J, Lv F, Zhao H, Kong J, He Q, Ni J (2007) Electrochemical oxidation characteristics of p-substituted phenols using a boron-doped diamond electrode. Environ Sci Technol 41:6541–6546
- Borrás C, Laredo T, Mostany J, Scharifker R (2004) Study of the oxidation of solutions of p-chlorophenol and p-nitrophenol on Bi-doped PbO2 electrodes by UV-Vis and FTIR in situ spectroscopy. Electrochim Acta 49:641–648. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2003.09.019
- Kong J, Shi S, Kong L, Zhu X, Ni J (2007) Preparation and characterization of PbO2 electrodes doped with different rare earth oxides. Electrochim Acta 53:2048–2054. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2007.09.003

- Liu H, Liu Y, Zhang C, Shen R (2008) Electrocatalytic oxidation of nitrophenols in aqueous solution using modified PbO2 electrodes. J Appl Electrochem 38:101–108. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s10800-007-9406-1
- Quiroz MA, Reyna S, Martínez-Huitle CA, Ferro S, De Battisti A (2005) Electrocatalytic oxidation of p-nitrophenol from aqueous solutions at Pb/PbO2 anodes. Appl Catal B Environ 59:259–266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apcatb.2005.02.009
- 22. Tong SP, Ma CA, Feng H (2008) A novel PbO2 electrode preparation and its application in organic degradation. Electrochim Acta 53:3002–3006. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta. 2007.11.011
- Hu JM, Zhang JQ, Meng HM, Zhang JT, Cao CN (2005) Electrochemical activity, stability and degradation characteristics of IrO2-based electrodes in aqueous solutions containing C1 compounds. Electrochim Acta 50:5370–5378. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2005.03.016
- 24. Kim K-W, Lee E-H, Kim J-S, Shin K-H, Jung B-I (2002) Material and organic destruction characteristics of high temperature-sintered RuO2 and IrO2 electrodes. J Electrochem Soc 149:D187–D192. https://doi.org/10.1149/1.1515280
- 25. Li XY, Cui YH, Feng YJ, Xie ZM, Gu JD (2005) Reaction pathways and mechanisms of the electrochemical degradation of phenol on different electrodes. Water Res 39:1972–1981. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2005.02.021
- 26. Borras C, Berzoy C, Mostany J, Herrera C, Scharifker R (2007) A comparison of the electrooxidation kinetics of p-methoxyphenol and p-nitrophenol on Sb-doped SnO2 surfaces: concentration and temperature effects. Appl Catal B Environ 72:98–104. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.apcatb.2006.09.017
- Correa-Lozano B, Comninellis C, De Battisti A (1997) Service life of Ti/SnO2-Sb2O5 anodes. J Appl Electrochem 27:970–974. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1018414005000
- Stucki S, Kötz R, Carcer B, Suter W (1991) Electrochemical waste water treatment using high overvoltage anodes. Part II: anode performance and applications. J Appl Electrochem 21:99– 104
- Kötz R, Stucki S, Carcer B (1991) Electrochemical waste water treatment using high overvoltage anodes. Part I: physical and electrochemical properties of SnO2 anodes. J Appl Electrochem 21:14–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01103823
- Abuzaid S, Al-Hamouz Z, Bukhari A, Essa M (1999) Electrochemical treatment of nitrite using stainless steel electrodes. Water Air Soil Pollut 109:429–442
- Allen J, Khader H, Bino M (1995) Electrooxidation of dyestuffs in waste waters. J Chem Tech Biotechnol 62:111–117
- Lin SH, Wu CL (1997) Electrochemical nitrite and ammonia oxidation in sea water. J Environ Sci Heal A 32:2125–2138
- Naumczyk J, Szpyrkowicz L, Faveri MDD, ZilioGrandi F (1996) Electrochemical treatment of tannery wastewater containing high strength pollutants. Trans IChemE B 74:59–68
- Naumczyk J, Szpyrkowicz L, Grandi FZ (1996) Electrochemical treatment of textile wastewater. Water Sci Technol 34:17–24
- Szpyrkowicz L, Naumczyk J, Zilio-Grandi F (1994) Application of electrochemical processes for tannery wastewater treatment. Toxicol Environ Chem 44:189–202
- 36. Vlyssides AG, Israilides CJ, Loizidou M, Karvouni G, Mourafeti V (1997) Electrochemical treatment of vinasse from beet molasses. Water Sci Technol 36:271–278
- Vlyssides AG, Israilides CJ (1997) Detoxification of tannery waste liquors with an electrolysis system. Environ Pollut 97:147–152
- Chiang LC, Chang JE, Wen TC (1995) Electrochemical oxidation process for the treatment of coke-plant wastewater. J Environ Sci Heal A 30:753–771
- Chiang LC, Chang JE, Wen TC (1995) Indirect oxidation effect in electrochemical oxidation treatment of landfill leachate. Water Res 29:671–678. https://doi.org/10.1016/0043-1354(94) 00146-X
- Vlyssides AG, Israilides CJ (1998) Electrochemical oxidation of a textile dye and finishing wastewater using a Pt/Ti electrode. J Environ Sci Heal A 33:847–862

- 41. Brillas E, Mur E, Sauleda R, Sanchez L, Peral F, Domenech X, Casado J (1998) Aniline mineralization by AOP's: anodic oxidation, photocatalysis, electro-Fenton and photoelectro-Fenton processes. Appl Catal B Environ 16:31–42
- 42. Brillas E, Sauleda R, Casado J (1998) Degradation of 4-chlorophenol by anodic oxidation, electro-Fenton, photoelectro-Fenton, and peroxi-coagulation processes. J Electrochem Soc 145:759–765
- Brillas E, Sauleda R, Casado J (1997) Peroxi-coagulation of aniline in acidic medium using an oxygen diffusion cathode. J Electrochem Soc 144:2374–2379
- 44. Brillas E, Bastida RM, Llosa E (1995) Electrochemical destruction of aniline and 4-chloroaniline for wastewater treatment using a carbon-PTFE O2-fed cathode. J Electrochem Soc 142:1733–1741
- 45. Brillias E, Mur E, Casado J (1996) Iron(II) catalysis of the mineralization of aniline using a carbon-PTFE O2-fed cathode. J Electrochem Soc 143:L49–L53
- Matsue T, Fujihira M, Osa T (1981) Oxidation of alkylbenzenes by electrogenerated hydroxyl radical. J Electrochem Soc 128:2565–2569
- 47. El-Shal W, Khordagui H, El-Sebaie O, El-Sharkawi F, Sedahmed GH (1991) Electrochemical generation of ozone for water treatment using a cell operating under natural convection. Desalination 99:149–157
- Stucki S, Baumann H, Christen HJ, Kotz R (1987) Performance of a pressurized electrochemical ozone generator. J Appl Electrochem 17:773–778
- Farmer JC, Wang FT, Hawley-Fedder RA, Lewis PR, Summers LJ, Foiles L (1992) Electrochemical treatment of mixed and hazardous wastes: oxidation of ethylene glycol and benzene by silver(II). J Electrochem Soc 139:654–662
- Bringmann F, Ebert K, Galla U, Schmieder H (1995) Electrochemical mediators for total oxidation of chlorinated hydrocarbons: formation kinetics of Ag(II), Co(III), and Ce(IV). J Appl Electrochem 25:846–851
- Cocheci V, Radovan C, Ciorba GA, Vlaiciu I (1995) Mediate electrochemical wastewater treatment. Rev Roum Chim 40:615–619
- 52. Farmer JC, Wang FT (1992) Electrochemical treatment of mixed and hazardous wastes: oxidation of ethylene glycol by cobalt(III) and iron(III). IChemE Symp Ser 127:203–214
- Hickman RG, Farmer JC, Wang FT (1993) Mediated electrochemical process for hazardous waste destruction. In: ACS symposium series 518, emerging technologies in hazardous waste management III. American Chemical Society, pp 430–438
- 54. Paire A, Espinoux D, Masson M, Lecomte M (1997) Silver(II) mediated electrochemical treatment of selected organics: hydrocarbon destruction mechanism. Radiochim Acta 78: 137–143
- Comninellis C (1994) Electrocatalysis in the electrochemical conversion/combustion of organic pollutants for waste water treatment. Electrochim Acta 39:1857–1862. https://doi. org/10.1016/0013-4686(94)85175-1
- Murphy OJ, Hitchens GD, Kaba L, Verostko CE (1992) Direct electrochemical oxidation of organics for wastewater treatment. Water Res 26:443–451
- Szpyrkowicz L, Naumczyk J, Zilio-Grandi F (1995) Electrochemical treatment of tannery wastewater using Ti/Pt and Ti/Pt/Ir electrodes. Water Res 29:517–524. https://doi.org/10. 1016/0043-1354(94)00176-8
- Rajalo G, Petrovskaya T (1996) Selective electrochemical oxidation of sulphides in tannery wastewater. Environ Technol 17:605–612
- Rao NN, Somasekhar KM, Kaul SN, Szpyrkowicz L (2001) Electrochemical oxidation of tannery. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 76:1124–1131
- 60. Boudenne JL, Cerclier O, Galea J, Vlist EV (1996) Electrochemical oxidation of aqueous phenol at a carbon black slurry electrode. Appl Catal A Gen 143:185–202
- Boudenne L, Cerclier O (1999) Performance of carbon black-slurry electrodes for 4-chlorophenol oxidation. Water Res 33:494–504

- 62. Polcaro AM, Palmas S (1997) Electrochemical oxidation of chlorophenols. Ind Eng Chem Res 36:1791–1798
- Hofseth CS, Chapman TW (1999) Electrochemical destruction of dilute cyanide by coppercatalyzed oxidation in a flow-through porous electrode. J Electrochem Soc 146:199–207
- 64. Manriquez J, Bravo JL, Gutierrez-Granados S, Succar SS, Bied-Charreton C, Ordaz AA, Bedioui F (1999) Electrocatalysis of the oxidation of alcohol and phenol derivative pollutants at vitreous carbon electrode coated by nickel macrocyclic complex-based films. Anal Chim Acta 378:159–168
- Gattrell M, Kirk DW (1993) A study of the oxidation of phenol at platinum and preoxidized platinum surfaces. J Electrochem Soc 140:1534–1540. https://doi.org/10.1149/1.2221598
- 66. Chen X, Chen G, Yue PL (2003) Anodic oxidation of dyes at novel Ti/B-diamond electrodes. Chem Eng Sci 58:995–1001. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0009-2509(02)00640-1
- 67. Ehdaie S, Fleischmann M, Jansson REW (1982) Application of the trickle tower to problems of pollution control. I. the scavenging of metal ions. J Appl Electrochem 12:59–67
- 68. López-López A, Expósito E, Antón J, Rodríguez-Valera F, Aldaz A (1999) Use of Thiobacillus ferrooxidans in a coupled microbiological-electrochemical system for wastewater detoxification. Biotechnol Bioeng 63:79–86. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0290 (19990405)63:1<79::AID-BIT8>3.0.CO;2-Z
- 69. Gabe DR, Walsh FC (1983) The rotating cylinder electrode: a review of development. J Appl Electrochem 13:3–21. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00615883
- Walsh FC, Gardner NA, Gabe DR (1982) Development of the eco-cascade-cell reactor. J Appl Electrochem 12:299–309. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00615095
- Backhurst R, Coulson M, Goodridge F, Plimley E, Fleischmann M (1969) A preliminary investigation of fluidized bed electrodes. J Electrochem Soc 116:1600–1607. https://doi.org/ 10.1149/1.2411628
- 72. Kreysa G, Reynvaan C (1982) Optimal design of packed bed cells for high conversion. J Appl Electrochem 12:241–251
- Sharifian H, Kirk DW (1986) Electrochemical oxidation of phenol. J Electrochem Soc 133: 921–924. https://doi.org/10.1149/1.2108763
- 74. Tennakoon CLK, Bhardwaj RC, Bockris JO (1996) Electrochemical treatment of human wastes in a packed bed reactor. J Appl Electrochem 26:18–29. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF00248184
- Sunderland JG, Dalrymple IM (1997) Cell and method for the recovery of metal from dilute solutions. U.S. Patent 5,690,806
- 76. Kuroda M, Watanabe T, Umedu Y (1996) Simultaneous oxidation and reduction treatments of polluted water by a bio-electro reactor. Water Sci Technol 34:101–108. https://doi.org/10. 1016/S0273-1223(96)00792-5
- 77. Aboaf JA, Marcotte V, Chou N (1973) Chemical composition and electrical properties of tin oxide films prepared by vapor deposition. J Electrochem Soc 120:701–702. https://doi.org/10. 1149/1.2403539
- Sundaram KB, Bhagavat GK (1981) Chemical vapour deposition of tin oxide films and their electrical properties. J Phys D Appl Phys 14:333–338
- Kojima M, Kato H, Imai A, Yoshida A (1988) Electronic conduction of tin oxide thin films prepared by chemical vapor deposition. J Appl Phys 64:1902–1905
- Adams B, Tian M, Chen A (2009) Design and electrochemical study of SnO2-based mixed oxide electrodes. Electrochim Acta 54:1491–1498. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2008. 09.034
- Chatelon JP, Terrier C, Bernstein E, Berjoan R, Roger JA (1994) Morphology of SnO2 thin films obtained by the sol-gel technique. Thin Solid Films 247:162–168
- Correa-Lozano B, Comninellis C, De Battisti A (1996) Physicochemical properties of SnO2-Sb2O5 films prepared by the spray pyrolysis technique. J Electrochem Soc 143:203–209
- Patil GE, Kajale DD, Gaikwad VB, Jain GH (2012) Spray pyrolysis deposition of nanostructured tin oxide thin films. ISRN Nanotechnol 1–5. https://doi.org/10.5402/2012/275872

- 84. Ong BH, Lee HC, Hamid SBA (2013) Morphological and structural study of nanostructured tin dioxide (SnO2) thin films by spray pyrolysis. Adv Mater Res 626:672–676. https://doi.org/ 10.4028/www.scientific.net/AMR.626.672
- Giani E, Kelly R (1974) A study of SnO2 thin films formed by sputtering and by anodizing. J Electrochem Soc 121:394–399. https://doi.org/10.1149/1.2401823
- 86. Hossain MA, Yang G, Parameswaran M, Jennings JR, Wang Q (2010) Mesoporous SnO2 spheres synthesized by electrochemical anodization and their application in CdSe-sensitized solar cells. J Phys Chem C 114:21878–21884
- Yamaguchi A, Iimura T, Hotta K, Teramae N (2011) Transparent nanoporous tin-oxide film electrode fabricated by anodization. Thin Solid Films 519:2415–2420. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.tsf.2010.11.049
- Le H (2013) Electrodeposition of nanostructured SnO2 films for DNA label-free electrochemical detection. Universite Grenoble Alpes
- Xiong J, Han C, Li Z, Dou S (2015) Effects of nanostructure on clean energy: big solutions gained from small features. Sci Bull 60:2083–2090. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11434-015-0972-z
- 90. Ma YJ, Zhou F, Lu L, Zhang Z (2004) Low-temperature transport properties of individual SnO2 nanowires. Solid State Commun 130:313–316. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssc.2004. 02.013
- 91. Liu Y, Liu M (2005) Growth of aligned square-shaped SnO2 tube arrays. Adv Funct Mater 15: 57–62. https://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.200400001
- Davar F, Salavati-Niasari M, Fereshteh Z (2010) Synthesis and characterization of SnO2 nanoparticles by thermal decomposition of new inorganic precursor. J Alloys Compd 496: 638–643. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jallcom.2010.02.152
- Wang W, Xu C, Wang G, Liu Y, Zheng C (2002) Synthesis and Raman scattering study of rutile SnO2 nanowires. J Appl Phys 92:2740–2742. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1497718
- 94. Grimm J, Bessarabov D, Maier W, Storck S, Sanderson RD (1998) Sol-gel film-preparation of novel electrodes for the electrocatalytic oxidation of organic pollutants in water. Desalination 115:295–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0011-9164(98)00048-4
- 95. Zhang G, Liu M (1999) Preparation of nanostructured tin oxide using a sol-gel process based on tin tetrachloride and ethylene glycol. J Mater Sci 34:3213–3219
- 96. Zhu W, Wang W, Xu H, Shi J (2006) Fabrication of ordered SnO2 nanotube arrays via a template route. Mater Chem Phys 99:127–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matchemphys.2005. 10.002
- 97. Manorama S, Gopal Reddy C, Rao V (1999) Tin dioxide nanoparticles prepared by sol-gel method for an improved hydrogen sulfide sensor. Nanostruct Mater 11:643–649. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0965-9773(99)00352-9
- 98. Huang J, Matsunaga N, Shimanoe K, Yamazoe N, Kunitake T (2005) Nanotubular SnO2 templated by cellulose fibers: synthesis and gas sensing. Chem Mater 17:3513–3518
- 99. Chang ST, Leu IC, Hon MH (2002) Preparation and characterization of nanostructured tin oxide films by electrochemical deposition. Electrochem Solid-State Lett 5:C71–C74. https:// doi.org/10.1149/1.1485808
- 100. Chang ST, Leu IC, Hon MH (2004) Electrodeposition of nanocrystalline SnO2 coatings with two-layer microstructure. J Cryst Growth 273:195–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcrysgro. 2004.07.087
- 101. Chen X, Liang J, Zhou Z, Duan H, Li B, Yang Q (2010) The preparation of SnO2 film by electrodeposition. Mater Res Bull 45:2006–2011. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.materresbull.2010. 07.029
- 102. Kim S, Lee H, Park CM, Jung Y (2012) Synthesis of tin oxide nanoparticle film by cathodic electrodeposition. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 12:1616–1619. https://doi.org/10.1166/jnn.2012. 4646

- 103. Lai M, Gonzalez Martinez JA, Gratzel M, Jason Riley D (2006) Preparation of tin dioxide nanotubes via electrosynthesis in a template. J Mater Chem 16:2843–2845. https://doi.org/10. 1039/b606433g
- 104. Spray RL, Choi K-S (2007) Electrochemical synthesis of SnO2 films containing threedimensionally organized uniform mesopores via interfacial surfactant templating. Chem Commun 35:3655–3657. https://doi.org/10.1039/b704428c
- 105. Ishizaki T, Saito N, Takai O (2009) Surfactant-assisted fabrication of tin oxide nanowires through one-step electrochemically induced chemical deposition. J Electrochem Soc 156: D413–D417. https://doi.org/10.1149/1.3190161
- Lipp L, Pletcher D (1997) The preparation and characterization of tin dioxide coated titanium electrodes. Electrochim Acta 42:1091–1099. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0013-4686(96)00257-5
- 107. Chen X, Gao F, Chen G (2005) Comparison of Ti/BDD and Ti/SnO2-Sb2O5 electrodes for pollutant oxidation. J Appl Electrochem 35:185–191. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10800-004-6068-0
- 108. Chen X, Chen G, Yue PL (2001) Stable Ti/IrOx–Sb2O5–SnO2 anode for O2 evolution with low Ir content. J Phys Chem B 105:4623–4628. https://doi.org/10.1021/jp010038d
- 109. Chen X, Chen G (2005) Investigation of Ti/IrO2-Sb2O5-SnO2 electrodes for O2 evolution calcination temperature and precursor composition effects. J Electrochem Soc 152:J59–J64. https://doi.org/10.1149/1.1922890
- 110. Feng YJ, Li XY (2003) Electro-catalytic oxidation of phenol on several metal-oxide electrodes in aqueous solution. Water Res 37:2399–2407. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0043-1354(03) 00026-5
- 111. Li Y, Wang F, Zhou G, Ni Y (2003) Aniline degradation by electrocatalytic oxidation. Chemosphere 53:1229–1234. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(03)00590-3
- 112. Coteiro RD, Teruel FS, Ribeiro J, De Andrade AR (2006) Effect of solvent on the preparation and characterization of DSA -type anodes containing RuO2 -TiO2 -SnO2. J Braz Chem Soc 17:771–779
- 113. Batzill M, Diebold U (2005) The surface and materials science of tin oxide. Prog Surf Sci 79: 47–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.progsurf.2005.09.002
- 114. Jarzebski ZM, Marton JP (1976) Physical properties of SnO2 materials. I. Preparation and defect structure. J Electrochem Soc 123:199C–205C. https://doi.org/10.1002/jrs
- 115. Mannie GJA (2013) Surface chemistry and morphology of tin oxide thin films grown by chemical vapor deposition. Technische Universiteit Eindhoven. https://doi.org/10.6100/ IR751861
- 116. Kılıç Ç, Zunger A (2002) Origins of coexistence of conductivity and transparency in SnO2. Phys Rev Lett 88:95501. https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.88.095501
- 117. Salehi H, Aryadoust M, Farbod M (2010) Electronic and structural properties of tin dioxide in cubic phase. Iran J Sci Technol Trans A 34:131–138
- 118. Hsu YS, Ghandhi S (1980) The effect of phosphorus doping on tin oxide films made by the oxidation of phosphine and tetramethyltin. II. Electrical properties. J Electrochem Soc 127: 1595–1599. https://doi.org/10.1149/1.2129959
- 119. Hsu YS, Ghandhi SK (1980) The effect of phosphorus doping on tin oxide films made by the oxidation of phosphine and tetramethyltin. I. Growth and etching properties. J Electrochem Soc 127:1592–1595. https://doi.org/10.1149/1.2129959
- Hsu YS, Ghandhi SK (1979) The preparation and properties of arsenic-doped tin oxide films. J Electrochem Soc 126:1434–1435
- Vincent CA, Weston DGC (1972) Preparation and properties of semiconducting polycrystalline tin oxide. J Electrochem Soc 119:518–521. https://doi.org/10.1149/1.2404242
- 122. Comninellis C, Pulgarin C (1993) Electrochemical oxidation of phenol for wastewater treatment using SnO2 anodes. J Appl Electrochem 23:108–112
- 123. Vicent F, Morallon E, Quijada C, Vázquez JL, Aldaz A, Cases FJ (1998) Characterization and stability of doped SnO2 anodes. J Appl Electrochem 28:607–612. https://doi.org/10.1023/ A:1003250118996

- 124. Nanthakumar A, Armstrong NR (1988) Studies in physical and theoretical chemistry. In: Semiconductor electrodes, vol 55. Elsevier, Amsterdam, p 203
- 125. Chen X, Chen G, Gao F, Yue PL (2003) High-performance Ti/BDD electrodes for pollutant oxidation. Environ Sci Technol 37:5021–5026. https://doi.org/10.1021/es026443f
- 126. Martínez-Huitle CA, Brillas E (2009) Decontamination of wastewaters containing synthetic organic dyes by electrochemical methods: a general review. Appl Catal B Environ 87:105– 145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apcatb.2008.09.017
- 127. Polcaro AM, Palmas S, Renoldi F, Mascia M (1999) On the performance of Ti/SnO2 and Ti/PbO2 anodes in electrochemical degradation of 2-chlorophenol for wastewater treatment. J Appl Electrochem 29:147–151. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1003411906212
- Bonfatti F, Ferro S, Lavezzo F, Malacarne M, Lodi G, De A (1999) Electrochemical incineration of glucose as a model organic substrate. I. Role of the electrode material. J Electrochem Soc 146:2175–2179. https://doi.org/10.1149/1.1391909
- 129. Comninellis C (1992) Electrochemical treatment of wastewater containing phenol. Trans IChemE B 70:219–224
- Fugivara CS, Sumodjo PTA, Cardoso AA, Benedetti AV (1996) Electrochemical decomposition of cyanides on tin dioxide electrodes in alkaline media. Analyst 121:541–545
- 131. Panizza M, Martinez-Huitle CA (2013) Role of electrode materials for the anodic oxidation of a real landfill leachate - comparison between Ti-Ru-Sn ternary oxide, PbO2 and boron-doped diamond anode. Chemosphere 90:1455–1460. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012. 09.006
- 132. Ruparelia JP, Soni BD (2012) Application of Ti/RuO2-SnO2-Sb2O5 anode for degradation of reactive Black-5 dye. World Acad Sci Eng Technol Int J Environ Chem Ecol Geol Geophys Eng 6:715–721
- León MI, Aguilar ZG, Nava JL (2014) Electrochemical combustion of indigo at ternary oxide coated titanium anodes. J Electrochem Sci Eng 4:247–258. https://doi.org/10.5599/jese.2014. 0061
- 134. Ramalho AMZ, Martínez-Huitle CA, da Silva DR (2010) Application of electrochemical technology for removing petroleum hydrocarbons from produced water using a DSA-type anode at different flow rates. Fuel 89:531–534. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2009.07.016
- 135. Houk LL, Johnson SK, Feng J, Houk RS, Johnson DC (1998) Electrochemical incineration of benzoquinone in aqueous media using a quaternary metal oxide electrode in the absence of a soluble supporting electrolyte. J Appl Electrochem 28:1167–1177. https://doi.org/10.1023/ a:1003439727317
- 136. Zanta CLPS, Michaud P-A, Comninellis C, De Andrade AR, Boodts JFC (2003) Electrochemical oxidation of p-chlorophenol on SnO2– Sb2O5 based anodes for wastewater treatment. J Appl Electrochem 33:1211–1215
- 137. Cossu R, Polcaro AM, Lavagnolo MC, Mascia M, Palmas S, Renoldi F (1998) Electrochemical treatment of landfill leachate: oxidation at Ti/PbO2 and Ti/SnO2 anodes. Environ Sci Technol 32:3570–3573. https://doi.org/10.1021/es9710940
- Hastie J, Bejan D, Teutli-Leon M, Bunce NJ (2006) Electrochemical methods for degradation of orange II (sodium 4-(2-hydroxy-1-naphthylazo)benzenesulfonate). Ind Eng Chem Res 45: 4898–4904
- Panizza M, Cerisola G (2004) Influence of anode material on the electrochemical oxidation of 2-naphthol. part 2. Bulk electrolysis experiments. Electrochim Acta 49:3221–3226. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.electacta.2004.02.036
- 140. Panizza M, Cerisola G (2003) Influence of anode material on the electrochemical oxidation of 2-naphthol. part 1. Cyclic voltammetry and potential step experiments. Electrochim Acta 48: 3491–3497. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0013-4686(03)00468-7
- 141. Panizza M, Cerisola G (2007) Electrocatalytic materials for the electrochemical oxidation of synthetic dyes. Appl Catal B Environ 75:95–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apcatb.2007. 04.001

- 142. Li P, Zhao G, Cui X, Zhang Y, Tang Y (2009) Constructing stake structured TiO₂-NTs/Sbdoped SnO₂ electrode simultaneously with high electrocatalytic and photocatalytic performance for complete mineralization of refractory aromatic acid. J Phys Chem C 113:2375– 2383. https://doi.org/10.1021/jp8078106
- 143. Tang B, Liu M, Zhao G (2016) Preparation of TiO₂ nanotubes-based electrophotocatalysts and their applications in organic pollutants oxidation. In: Nanostructured photocatalysts. Springer, pp 125–136. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-26079-2_6
- 144. Zhao G, Cui X, Liu M, Li P, Zhang Y, Cao T, Li H, Lei Y, Liu L, Li D (2009) Electrochemical degradation of refractory pollutant using a novel microstructured TiO2 nanotubes/Sb-doped SnO2 electrode. Environ Sci Technol 43:1480–1486. https://doi.org/10.1021/es802155p
- 145. Chai S, Zhao G, Li P, Lei Y, Zhang YN, Li D (2011) Novel sieve-like SnO2/TiO2 nanotubes with integrated photoelectrocatalysis: fabrication and application for efficient toxicity elimination of nitrophenol wastewater. J Phys Chem C 115:18261–18269. https://doi.org/10.1021/ jp205228h
- 146. Wu T, Zhao G, Lei Y, Li P (2011) Distinctive tin dioxide anode fabricated by pulse electrodeposition: high oxygen evolution potential and efficient electrochemical degradation of fluorobenzene. J Phys Chem C 115:3888–3898. https://doi.org/10.1021/jp110149v
- 147. Xiong K, Deng Z, Li L, Chen S, Xia M, Zhang L, Qi X, Ding W, Tan S, Wei Z (2013) Sn and Sb co-doped RuTi oxides supported on TiO2 nanotubes anode for selectivity toward electrocatalytic chlorine evolution. J Appl Electrochem 43:847–854. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10800-013-0570-1



RuO₂-Based Electrodes for Chlorine Evolution and Its Application in Water Treatment

Tran Le Luu

Contents

1	Introduction	286
2	Physicochemical Properties of RuO ₂	288
3	Mechanism of Chlorine Evolution Reaction	292
4	Application in Water Treatment	294
5	Conclusion and Future Remark	300
Re	References	

Abstract Chlorine evolution now becomes important in many applications as chemical industry, polymer, pharmaceutical, and water treatment. In chlorine evolution reaction, the RuO₂-based Dimensional Stable Anode is a technologically good and important electrode because of its unique characteristics such as high thermal and chemical stability, low resistivity, and low overpotential. This chapter reviews the chlorine evolution reaction in the RuO₂-based electrode and its application in water treatment, especially in degradation of organic compounds and disinfection. The physicochemical, electrochemical properties and the mechanism of chlorine evolution at RuO₂-based electrode surface. Increasing the chlorine evolution efficiency, the stability and reducing energy consumption become critical issues for the sustainable development of chlorine evolution. The development of nanostructure material for chlorine evolution reaction is a hot topic for wastewater treatment in the near future.

Keywords Degradation, Electrocatalysis, Electrochemical, Physicochemical

T. Le Luu (🖂)

Master Program in Water Technology, Reuse and Management, Vietnamese-German University, Thu Dau Mot, Binh Duong, Vietnam e-mail: luu.tl@vgu.edu.vn

Mahmoud Nasr and Abdelazim M. Negm (eds.), *Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems*, Hdb Env Chem (2023) 118: 285–306, DOI 10.1007/698_2022_875, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022, Published online: 16 April 2022

1 Introduction

Chlorine becomes one of the most important chemical in the industry, which is produced by the electrolysis of brine solution [1]. The annual chlorine production in chlor-alkali process now is about 70 million tons, which is used in a lot of application [2]. Approximately, 50% of the products marketed by the chemical industry, 85% of the pharmaceuticals, and 98% water treatment plant are derivatives of chlorine [3]. In chlor-alkali process, chlorine is produced by using the electrolytic of sodium chloride to convert chloride ions (Cl⁻) into molecular chlorine (Cl₂) at the anode, as the following reactions (1) and (2) [4]:

$$2H_2O + 2e^- \rightarrow H_2 + 2OH^- \tag{1}$$

$$2\mathrm{Cl}^- \to \mathrm{Cl}_2 + 2\mathrm{e}^- \tag{2}$$

Simultaneously with chlorine evolution, sodium hydroxide (NaOH) solution and hydrogen (H₂) are produced at the cathode side, inducing the rise in pH values. When the proton and the chloride concentrations are not high enough to maintain the Cl_2 species in its domain of stability, the electrogenerated molecular chlorine might undergo a disproportionation reaction in aqueous solution, forming Cl^- and HClO as Eqs. (3) and (4) [5, 6]:

$$Cl_2 + 2H_2O \rightarrow HClO + H_3O^+ + Cl^-$$
(3)

$$HClO + H_2O \rightarrow H_3O^+ + ClO^-$$
(4)

Hypochlorite ions are formed as a result of an acid-base equilibrium, and then chlorate is formed in a chemical reaction. The formation of chlorate in weakly alkaline media at a chlorine and oxygen-evolving anode is ascribed to two reactions, namely, the direct oxidation of chloride to chlorate and the conversion of hypochlorite as Eqs. (5) and (6)¹ [7, 8]:

$$2\text{HClO} + \text{ClO}^- \rightarrow \text{ClO}_3^- + 2\text{H}^+ + 2\text{Cl}^- \tag{5}$$

$$ClO_3^- + H_2O \rightarrow ClO_4^- + 2H^+ + 2e^-$$
(anode) (6)

For being a well-performing electrode material in the chlorine evolution reaction, four major requirements have to be fulfilled: high catalytic activity, high stability, high selectivity, and high electric conductivity [4, 5]. Ruthenium is a chemical element that can easily adopt various formal oxidation states from -II to +VIII in chemical bonds. RuO₂ reveals a complex and unique redox surface chemistry and acts as a versatile oxidation catalyst and electrocatalysis in many application. RuO₂ exhibits excellent corrosion resistance, electronically conducting, and low

¹Parts of this chapter have been reproduced from s-space.snu.ac.kr under CC BY 2.0 KR.


Fig. 1 Electrode potential in chlor-alkali electrolysis from NaCl aqueous solution as a function of current density (adapted from [11])

overpotential for anodic chlorine evolution reaction [6, 9]. Dimensional Stable Anodes (DSA) are such kind of catalytic electrodes for chlorine evolution, which consist of RuO_2 , IrO_2 , or a mixture of its metal oxides coated on metal substrate, mainly titanium. The use of DSA in chlor-alkali electrolysis industry came in the 1960s when Henri Beer invented this type of electrode, and further P. Hayfield, were then developed and industrialized by De Nora. The performance of RuO_2/Ti was so outstanding that all graphite anodes were replaced by these anodes in a few years of their discovery [10–14].

RuO₂ is a noble and expensive metal oxide, the price of ruthenium is about 10 times lower than that of platinum. Roughly 10–15% of the annual production of ruthenium goes into the production of such DSA (in 2010 about 3 tons) while most of the ruthenium is deployed as buffer layers and thin film resistors in the electronic industry (about 20 tons) [2]. Electricity is essential to produce chlorine in the chloralkali industry, and it accounts for about a half of the total production cost [15]. Energy savings arise primarily through using more efficient technologies, such as the replacement of the less energy-efficient mercury, diaphragm processes by the most energy-efficient and environment friendly membrane technology, which is shown in Fig. 1. The energy consumption in modern membrane cells is about 2,600–2,800 kWh per produced ton of Cl₂ [1, 2]. This power consumption can be further reduced to 1,600–1700 kWh per ton Cl₂, if the cathode is replaced by an

oxygen-depolarized cathode in which oxygen is reduced to water in a kind of internal fuel cell ($O_2 + 2H_2O + 4e^- \rightarrow 4OH^-$, $E_o = 0.4$ V/SHE), which is shown in Fig. 1 [15, 16]. The combination of these innovative techniques has been put into demonstration practice and becomes the most preferred choice in the design and construction of new chlor-alkali plants. Meanwhile, chlor-alkali industry is also one of the resource-intensive production processes, which depends highly on the use of the rare strategic metal ruthenium as catalysts [9].

High electrical efficiency is closely related with the electrocatalysis performance. High-quality electrodes can improve the electrocatalytic activity of the desired reactions, such as chlorine gas evolution, but depress the electrocatalytic activity of the side reactions, such as oxygen gas evolution [17]. The total consumption of electric power is proportional to the voltage applied to the cell for a given current density (the rate of electrode reaction). The cell voltage consists of several components as Eq. (7) [18]:

$$\Delta V = \Delta E + \Delta \eta + \mathrm{IR} + \Delta \nu \tag{7}$$

where ΔV is the thermodynamic potential difference for a given anode/cathode reaction, $\Delta \eta$ is the sum of the overpotentials for the anodic and cathodic reactions (which are dependent on the electrocatalysts), IR is the ohmic drop of the electrolyte, and $\Delta \nu$ is the additional ohmic drop from the membrane, gas bubble effect, stability of the electrode, etc.

In general, the intrinsic electrocatalytic properties of an electrode material can be simplified to the exchange current density and the Tafel slope. Chlorine evolution is characterized by a low Tafel slope about 40 mV at pure RuO_2 and 30 mV with RuO_2 -TiO₂ at the current densities of 200–250 mA/cm² in 5 M NaCl solution at 80–90°C (Fig. 2) [17, 19]. High exchange current density, low Tafel slope, and a high density of active sites are beneficial for electrocatalysis [18].

This chapter overviews about the chlorine evolution process at RuO₂-based electrodes and its application in water treatment, especially in degradation of organic compound and disinfection. It is organized as follows: first, discussing about the general physicochemical and electrochemical property of RuO₂. Later is involving of chlorine evolution reaction kinetic and mechanisms. Finally is the summary of recent development and future of chlorine evolution researches in the field of wastewater treatment.

2 Physicochemical Properties of RuO₂

In general, the electrons in d^n oxides of RuO_2 can quite easily be removed from the partially filled d orbitals so that d^n oxides are considered to be much more chemically active than d^o oxides. Its first valence state is Ru^{3+} , occurring as Ru_2O_3 at 0.738 V vs HE. Because this oxidized species is insoluble in the absence of complexing agents, the metal is passive in the higher potential range. The next redox step is Ru^{4+} as



Fig. 2 Electrochemical characteristic of RuO_2 -TiO₂ (35–75) electrode in 5 M HCl (adapted from [17])

 RuO_2 at 0.937 vs HE, volatile yellow ruthenium tetroxide (melting point 25.51°C, 1081°C), RuO₄. soluble H₂RuO₅ (Ru⁸⁺, yellow decomposition at or hyperruthenate), depending on the solution pH [20-23]. RuO₂ belongs to the class of metallic conducting transition metal oxides whose electrical resistivity is $35.2 \pm 0.5 \ \mu\Omega$ cm at room temperature, higher than that of metallic ruthenium (about 16 $\mu\Omega$ cm). Red balls are ruthenium atoms (this site is shared by other transition metal for the mixed oxide), and green balls are oxygen atoms [24]. The Fermi energy lies in the t_{2g} range of the density of states (DOS), falls in the relative minimum of the DOS between peaks originating from ruthenium-oxygen π and π^* states. Therefore, the π^* states are empty, explaining the stability of RuO₂ [25– 27]. The point of zero charge can be seen to shift towards higher pH values as the temperature of preparation is increased [28–37] (Fig. 3).

The electrochemical and interfacial properties of RuO_2 are of utmost importance for a deeper understanding of how RuO_2 catalyses electrochemical reactions. A number of investigations have pushed forward the idea that most of the features of oxide electrodes may be governed by the acid—base properties of the oxide/solution interface. For instance, the state of oxide surfaces depends critically on solution pH, which may point to the formation of surface hydroxyl complexes. The oxygen evolution and chlorine evolution in H⁺ or in OH⁻ has often been found to be fractional [38–41]. Equally important for the state of the electrode surface in solution is the specific adsorption of anions. The acid/base properties of RuO_2 (110) are related to the 1f-cus Ru and bridging O sites which serve as Lewis acid/base and Bronsted base, respectively. The potential of zero charge (PZC) is the potential value



Fig. 3 Tetragonal rutile structure (P42/mnm, space group 136) of the active phase (adapted from [18])

at which the surface is uncharged, that is, the surface dipole is compensated. From this one the potential of zero total charge is distinguished, which also includes possible adlayer species. Here the overall dipole of the surface adlayer is compensated. The PZC is governed by the strength of the interaction between the surface Ru atoms and the oxygen of the surface OH groups attached to it. Therefore, electrocatalytic properties and the PZC of oxide surfaces may be intimately interconnected. Using the Gouy–Chapman–Stern model for the double layer, the experimental capacitance is composed of two capacitors in series [42–46] (Fig. 4):

$$1/C = 1/C_d + 1/C_i \tag{8}$$

With C_d is the diffuse layer capacitance and C_i is the inner layer capacitance. The inner capacitance is independent of the electrolyte concentration and can be extracted from concentration-dependent measurements of 1/*C*. Assuming a planar geometry of the double layer, values of $C_i = 60-80 \ \mu\text{F/cm}^2$ is derived, while C_i is 300–500 $\mu\text{F/cm}^2$ for a spherical double layer. In an aqueous environment the oxide surface is normally covered by OH groups (due to water dissociation) which are stabilized by "co-adsorbed" and coordinated water and which mediate the interaction of the underlying metal ions with chemical species in the solution [43, 44]. RuO₂ in



Fig. 4 CV of a TiO_2 -RuO₂/Ti coating with 18 mol% Ru, recorded in 0.5 M H₂SO₄, room temperature, 100 mV s⁻¹ (adapted from [47])





 $2Cl^{-} - 2e^{-} \rightarrow Cl_{2}$

aqueous solution adsorbs water rapidly with a constant H/Ru ratio throughout the thickness of the oxide layer. Active sites on hydroxylated oxide surfaces act preferentially as Bronsted acids and bases. Hydrous RuO₂ is permeable to protons while dry RuO₂ is not. If protons are constituents of both the solid and the aqueous phase, a Nernstian response results as a consequence of the interfacial equilibrium of H⁺ ions. Because of the high electronic conductivity, space charge effects can be neglected for RuO₂ [45]. The surface response CV in Fig. 5 is related to redox reactions at the surface active sites which is assisted by proton exchange δ H⁺ with the solution and electron transfer δ e⁻ according to Eq. (9) [47]:

$$\operatorname{RuO}_{x}(\operatorname{OH})_{v} + z\mathrm{H}^{+} + z\mathrm{e}^{-} \to \operatorname{RuO}_{x-z}(\operatorname{OH})_{v+z}$$

$$\tag{9}$$

This behaviour plays an important role for hydrous-RuO₂ when applied as supercapacitors. The ionic adsorption strength on RuO₂ electrodes is constant as the electrode potential is varied. This can be understood by oxidation/reduction of the surface sites which are compensated by releasing or addition of protons into or from the electrolyte solution. There are two ways to charge an oxide surface: one is driven by the electrode potential, the other by the pH. Both change the electrochemical potential of the electrons. While the electrode potential acts on the metal sites whose charge variation is compensated by proton exchange, the pH variation acts on the surface hydroxyl complexes whose dissociation with the formation of a surface charge is compensated by adsorption of ions from the solution [48–51].

3 Mechanism of Chlorine Evolution Reaction

Figure 5 shows the kinetic of the chlorine evolution reactions at the anode side. The model mechanism of chlorine evolution at the electrode surface is described as the Volmer–Kristalik–Tafel mechanism (2002). Three different reaction mechanisms are distinguished according to the kinetics and the rate of the separate reaction steps as Eqs. (10) to (14) [52]:

$$-S^{Z} + H^{+} \to SH^{Z+1} \tag{10}$$

$$-\mathbf{S}^{\mathbf{Z}} \to \mathbf{S}^{\mathbf{Z}+1} + \mathbf{e}^{-} \tag{11}$$

$$-S^{Z+1} + Cl^{-} \rightarrow -SCl^{Z+1} + e^{-} \quad Volmer - step$$
(12)

$$-SCl^{Z+1} + Cl^{-} \rightarrow -S^{Z+} + Cl_{2} (g) \text{ Kristalik} - step$$
(13)

$$2 - SCl^{Z+1} \rightarrow 2 - S^{Z+1} + Cl_2 (g) \quad \text{Tafel} - \text{step}$$
(14)

Where $-S^Z$ and $-S^{Z + 1}$ are the non-oxidized and oxidized superficial sites, respectively, and reaction (10) is an equilibrium step independent of the chlorine evolution reaction, being an intrinsic property of the oxide. This step explains the dependence of the electrode behaviour on pH. Reaction (11) is the oxidation of the superficial sites (S^Z), which generate the active sites where the adsorbed chlorine intermediate is formed from the chloride ions. In this step, the active sites ($S^{Z + 1}$) are generated as one electron is released. Here, S^Z and $S^{Z + 1}$ are active sites in different oxidation states. In reaction (12), the chloride ion is electro-adsorbed on the generated active sites since the active site is the metallic cation site to give the atomic chlorine intermediate ($SCI^{Z + 1}$). There are δ and π interactions or construction from t_{2g} orbital of the surface between metal cation and p orbital of the adsorbed Cl atom. The later discharge of chlorine can occur either by the recombination of the adsorbed intermediates or by the reaction of an intermediate with a chloride ion (reactions (13))

and (14)). These reactions involve the formation of the Cl-Cl and the cleavage of the bond between the adsorbed Cl atom and the electrode surface accompanying with the electron transfer. The mechanism is based on experimental results from polarization resistance measurements close to the reversible potential. Theoretical potential decay curves were deduced for both the Krishtalik reaction and the Tafel reaction as a rate determining step in the formation of molecular chlorine. To maintain a current it is essential to supply reactants to the electrode surface and also remove the products (the mass-transfer processes, such as diffusion and convection of the reacting species between the electrode surface and bulk of the solution). The electrocatalytic properties of different oxides are correlated with the energy change involved in the lower \rightarrow higher valency state transition [9, 17, 53]. Electrocatalysis can be expressed, to a first approximation, in terms of bond strength between the electrode surface and reaction intermediates. The concepts applied to the oxygen evolution electrocatalysis can thus be extended to chlorine evolution, including the calculation of the change in the crystal field stabilization energy for the transition from one surface complex to another [54-56].

Another mechanism of chlorine evolution can be proposed by Erenburg and Jansen in 1981 and 1984 [9, 17]. Since metal cations on oxide electrodes are not directly accessible to Cl^- discharge because they are covered with surface OH groups. The oxidation of the anode surface precedes the Cl^- oxidation, and the Cl^- discharge happens over adsorbed oxygen. The last step of removal of chlorine is the lowest step. The reactant Cl^- moves to the interface (mass transport), electron transfer occurs close to the interface (electron transfer reaction), the product Cl_2 moves away from the anode to allow the fresh reactants to the anode surface as Eqs. (15) to (17):

$$S - OH \rightarrow S - O + H + +e^{-}$$
(15)

$$S - O + Cl^- \rightarrow S - OCl + e^-$$
 (16)

$$S - OCl + Cl^{-} + H^{+} \rightarrow +S - OH + Cl_{2}$$
(17)

The reaction pathway of the Cl_2 evolution reaction was investigated by combining electrochemical and Raman spectroscopy to monitor vibrations of the crystal lattice of RuO₂ and changes in the surface concentration of the adsorbed species as a function of the electrode potential, as depicted in Fig. 6. It is shown that oxidation and reconstruction of the catalyst surface during chlorine evolution is a consequence of the interaction between RuO₂ and water. Water (more precisely the OH adlayer) is understood not just as a medium that allows adsorption of intermediates, but also as an integral part of the intermediate formed during the electrochemical reaction. HClO was a crucial intermediate for the catalytic reaction. The vibrational modes of the crystal lattice of RuO₂ were very similar to the vibration of the ClO bond in HClO dissolved in water as Eqs. (18) to (20) [58]:



Fig. 6 DOC removal and SUVA254 vs Q in anodic oxidation in batch mode at 574 J = 250 A m⁻² of ROC-1 spiked with the trace organic contaminants \circ SUVA254, \bullet DOC/DOC₀ [57]

$$H_2O \leftrightarrow OH_{ad} + H + +e^-$$
 (18)

$$OH_{ad} + Cl^- \leftrightarrow HClO + e^-$$
 (19)

Rate determining step $b = 40 \text{ mV dec}^{-1}$

$$HClO + H^{+} + Cl^{-} \leftrightarrow Cl_{2} + H_{2}O$$
⁽²⁰⁾

Interpretation of the derived "volcano" curve suggests that electrocatalysis is governed by a resonance phenomenon using a dynamic catalytic descriptor. The characteristic vibration of the M-O bond and the maximum of the volcano curve corresponded to the vibration of the Cl-O bond in HClO [58].

4 Application in Water Treatment

Oxidative electrochemical technologies offer an alternative route to many environmental problems in the process industry because electrons are a versatile, efficient, cost-effective, easily automatic, and clean reagent [59]. RuO₂-based electrodes can be applied widely in wastewater treatment to degrade or remove trace amounts of contaminants or microorganism disinfection. Heterogeneous redox catalysis RuO₂ has been demonstrated for the electrooxidation of inorganic, organic molecules as ammonia, H₂S, formaldehyde, acetic acid, phenol pharmaceuticals, pesticides, etc., via indirect electrolysis [59–66]. Owing to the natural abundance of chloride in most polluted water, chlorine-mediated oxidation is the most widely used in situ generated chemical oxidant for wastewater treatment since the generated active chlorine species such as Cl_2 , HClO, ClO^- , and ClO_2^- can attack the organics [59, 67]. The additional generation of ClO_3^- and even the total transformation of the chlorinated ions into ClO_4^- have been suggested. The indirect transfer of oxygen to organic molecules can be obtained both on the anode surface through adsorbed oxy-chloro species or in the bulk of the solution through chlorine, hypochlorous acid, or hypochlorite depending on the pH. Nevertheless, the main drawback and concern of the electrochlorination process is the likely formation of chlorinated organic compounds during electrolysis, resulting in increased wastewater toxicity, as is known in common chlorination chemistry which can be considered to be mutagenic and carcinogenic [59, 68–71]. Table 1 shows the summary of the recent wastewater treatment using RuO₂-based electrode.

The predominant species are Cl₂ until pH near 3, HClO in the pH range 3-8, and ClO^{-} at pH > 8. The mediated oxidation with active chlorine species is faster in acid than in alkaline media because of the higher standard potential of Cl₂ $(E^{\circ} = 1.36 \text{ V vs. SHE})$ and HClO $(E^{\circ} = 1.49 \text{ V vs. SHE})$ compared to ClO⁻ $(E^{\circ} = 0.89 \text{ V vs. SHE})$ [93]. The combination of the generation of oxygen species (ROS) in the water treatment of non-chloride effluents and chlorine active species when using chloride effluents, makes the degradation rate and current efficiency of these processes to be a function of experimental parameters such as pH, temperature, stirring, substrate concentration [94]. Similarly showed a large decay of drug with a Ti/RuO₂-IrO₂ anode. It followed a pseudo first-order reaction and its rate increased with increasing current density. Tetracycline was directly oxidized at the anode via electron transfer without CO_2 production [95]. The same behaviour was described by Rossi et al. for the degradation of oxytetracycline hydrochloride with a Ti/RuO_2 anode, which led to complete loss of its antibacterial activity with respect to Staphylococcus aureus [96]. Radjenovic et al. addressed the electrochemical destruction of reverse osmosis concentrates generated by membrane treatment of secondary STW effluent contaminated with 27 pharmaceuticals and pesticides with contents between 8.1 and 33.7 μ g L⁻¹ using a divided flow reactor with a 24 cm⁻² Ti/Ru_{0.7}Ir_{0.3}O₂ anode [57]. Figure 6 shows that DOC and the specific UV absorbance at 254 nm decreased for current densities 5 mA cm⁻², reaching 9% and 27% reductions, respectively, at 25 mA cm $^{-2}$. In this current density range, free and total chlorine were largely accumulated in the system. The active chlorine species generated for current densities 15 mA cm^{-2} promoted the total destruction of most pharmaceuticals, except ibuprofen and iopromide. Electrocoagulation can combine with electrooxidation as an effective method for treatment of wastewater [97].

Ammonia is effectively removed by chlorine oxidation. The increases in both operating current density and chloride concentration also enhanced the indirect oxidation effect in the electrochemical oxidation treatment efficiency (Fig. 7) [98–100]. Main reactions in the aqueous phase as follows Eqs. (21) to (24) [101]:

Table 1 The recent wastewate	rr treatment using Ru()2-based electrode				
Matrix	Criteria	Anode material	Removal efficiency	[C1 ⁻]	Current density	Ref.
Landfill leachate wastewater	COD	SnO ₂ -PdO ₂ -RuO ₂	92%	$7,500 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$	$15 \mathrm{A} \mathrm{dm}^{-2}$	[72, 73]
Textile wastewater	Polyvinyl alcohol	Ti/RuO ₂	70.18%	17.1 mM	1.34 mA cm^{-2}	[74]
Textile waste water	COD	RuO ₂ /IrO ₂ /TaO ₂	54%	$5,069 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$	5.446 mA cm^{-2}	[75]
Biodiesel wastewater	COD	Ti/RuO ₂	95%	0.061 M	5.51 mA cm^{-2}	[76]
Glyphosate herbicide	Phosphate	RuO ₂	91%	$3,500 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$	50 mA cm^{-2}	[77]
Geosmin	Geosmin	RuO ₂ -Pt	%66	$3.0~{ m g~L^{-1}}$	40 mA cm^{-2}	[78]
Petroleum wastewater	Organic pollutants	RuO ₂ -TiO ₂ -SnO ₂	98%	$15,000 \text{ mg } \mathrm{L}^{-1}$	89 mA cm^{-2}	[<u>7</u> 9]
Naphthol	COD	Ti/RuO ₂ -SnO ₂	Almost 100%	7.5 g L^{-1}	33 mA cm^{-2}	[80]
Dye wastewater	Procion Black 5B	RuO ₂ /Ti	74.05% COD and 100% colour	0.1 M	$2.5 \mathrm{A} \mathrm{dm}^{-2}$	[81]
Wastewaters	Ammonia	RuO ₂ /Ti	61%	$10~{ m g~L}^{-1}$	80 mA cm^{-2}	[82]
Reverse osmosis concentrate	DOC	Ti/Ru _{0.7} Ir _{0.3} O ₂	25.1%	1.5 g L^{-1}	$250~\mathrm{A}~\mathrm{m}^{-2}$	[83]
Textile	TOC	Ti/Ru _{0.3} Ti _{0.7} O ₂	25%.	0.1 M	60 mA cm^{-2}	[84]
Reverse osmosis concentrate	Colour	RuO ₂ -TiO ₂	%06	0.1 M	$100~\mathrm{A}~\mathrm{m}^{-2}$	[85]
Domestic wastewater	H_2S	RuO ₂ -IrO ₂	77.1%	0.10 M	$10~{ m mA~cm^{-2}}$	[7]
Microcystins	Microcystins	RuO ₂ -TiO ₂	100%	1.85 mM	8.89 mA cm^{-2}	[8]
Wastewater	Ammonia	RuO ₂ -TiO ₂	88.7%	$7 \mathrm{g} \mathrm{L}^{-1}$	$1,200~{ m A}~{ m m}^{-2}$	[86]
Paracetamol	TOC	Ti/RuO ₂	80.0%	0.1 M	50 mV s^{-1}	[87]
Active Orange 5R	Colour, COD	RuO2-PdO-TiO2/Ti	98.14% colour, 51.43% COD	0.02 M	$0.36 {\rm mA} {\rm cm}^{-2}$	[88]
Phenol	COD	Ti/TiO ₂ -RuO ₂ -IrO ₂	99.7%	524 mg L^{-1}	$5.4 \mathrm{A} \mathrm{dm}^{-2}$	[89]
Ammonia	Nitrogen	RuO ₂ /Ti	88%	300 mg L^{-1}	$15.4 \mathrm{~mA~cm^{-2}}$	[00]
Wastewater	Ammonia	RuO ₂ -IrO ₂ -TiO ₂ /Ti	100%	400 mg L^{-1}	$10 \mathrm{~mA~cm}^{-2}$	[91]
Textile wastewater	COD, TOC	RuO ₂ -IrO ₂ -TiO ₂ /Ti	82.8% COD, 44.7% TOC	$1.5~{ m g~L}^{-1}$	36.1 mA cm^{-2}	[92]

	1 electro
-	basec-ر(
6	2 NY
	using
	treatment
	wastewater
F	The recent
	le I
- 7	-



Fig. 7 Influence of chloride concentration on ammonia oxidation rate (current density: 500A m⁻², pH of 5.5) (adapted from [98])

$$Cl_2 + H_2O \leftrightarrow HOCl + H^+ + Cl^-$$
 (21)

$$HOCl + 2/3NH_3 \rightarrow 1/3N_2 + H_2O + H^+ + Cl^-$$
 (22)

$$HOCl + 2/3NH_4^+ \rightarrow 1/3N_2 + H_2O + 5/3H^+ + Cl^-$$
 (23)

$$HOCl + 1/4NH_4^+ \rightarrow 1/4NO_3^- + 1/4H_2O + 3/2H^+ + Cl^-$$
 (24)

According to the classical breakpoint chlorination mechanism [102, 103], the addition of active chlorine species (HOCl or OCl⁻) to ammonia containing solutions results in stepwise formation of chloramine species (monochloramine, dichloramine, and trichloramine) according to Eqs. (25) to (27):

$$NH_4^+ + HOCl \rightarrow NH_2Cl + H_2O + H^+$$
(25)

$$NH_2Cl + HOCl \rightarrow NHCl_2 + H_2O$$
 (26)

$$NHCl_2 + HOCl \rightarrow NCl_3 + H_2O$$
(27)

The formation and speciation of chloramine species in a given solution depends mainly on the pH, temperature, and active chlorine to ammonia concentrations ratio [104]. Under operational parameters typical for conventional breakpoint chlorination (which is often used also to describe indirect ammonia electrooxidation), i.e., pH 7–8 and 20°C, a gradual increase in the Cl₂/N ratio should result in monochloramine formation during electrolysis, until a Cl₂/N mole ratio of 1 is attained. Considering

this mechanism, translated into the conditions prevailing in electrolytic cells, further electrolytic production of Cl_2 must then lead to decomposition of monochloramine, formation of dichloramine and its subsequent decomposition, and to $N_2(g)$ and NO_3^- release (trichloramine is reported to be the intermediate species of monoand di-chloramine decomposition) [105].

Electrochlorination can be used as pretreatment methods to reverse osmosis (RO) or can be used after electrocoagulation to remove the suspended solids. Then the wastewater was further treated by electrooxidation for COD removal. The RuO₂ mix metal oxide electrodes are widely used in water treatment [85]. It was found that Ru⁴⁺ doped into the cell while Pd anchored with enriched concentration on the surface of TiO₂. In the presence of Ru and Pd, the binding energy of Ru increased, while the oxygen vacancies of TiO₂ decreased. This interaction of metals accordingly raised the conductivity of the electrode. Therefore, the electrochemical ability of RuO₂–PdO–TiO₂/Ti anode was improved and Rhodamine B could be destructed effectively yielding a total organic carbon (TOC) removal of 71.70% within 30 min [103, 104].

A procion blue dye effluent was treated by photo and electrochemical oxidation process as well as by combining photocatalytic degradation using TiO₂ suspensions. The maximum COD reduction and colour removal were 96% and 100%, respectively. Photodegradation efficiency of dye was high when photolysis was carried out in the presence of 40 mg/L of TiO₂. The decrease in flow rate and increase in current density significantly increase the reduction of COD [105]. The chloride photoelectrochemical method is effective for mineralizing citric acid [106], humic acid [107], phenol degradation [108]. In this process, 100% of phenol and 75% of total organic carbon were removed within 6 h in the presence of 0.3 g L^{-1} NaCl electrolyte at a current density of 30 mA cm⁻² and pH 6. However, by assisting electrolysis with UV radiation, the total organic carbon (TOC) reduction rate was greatly improved. For instance, at 20 mA cm⁻², electrolysis was responsible for 25% of TOC reduction after 180 min of reaction time. On the other hand, the decrease during the photoelectrolysis reached 65% at the same current density and processing time, at pH 5.5 removed 59% of total organic carbon (TOC) in 4 h (NaCl ¹/₄ 200 mM, current ¹/₄ 5 A). UV irradiation (254 nm) in the reactor induced the photoelectrochemical reaction, increasing the TOC removal from 59% to 99.4%. Normally, UV-driven chlorine produces hydroxyl radicals (°OH) as Eq. (28) [109]:

$$HClO + UV \text{ protons} \rightarrow {}^{o}OH + Cl^{o}$$
 (28)

The most common method of electrochemical disinfection is the use of electrogenerated oxidants, such as active chlorine as disinfectants [61]. The characteristics of microbial inactivation as a function of electrode material were effective under the presence of an inert electrolyte using *Escherichia coli* as an indicator microorganism [14]. The electrochemical inactivation of selected bacteria living in paper mill circulating waters was investigated. It was observed that inactivation was mainly due to the electrochemically generated $Cl_2/HClO$. The good oxidation



Fig. 8 Inactivation of *Deinococcus geothermalis* in SPW using MMO electrode and different current densities during the galvanostatic electrolysis (pH = 7) (adapted from [110])

performance for inactivation these primary biofilm forming bacteria species with improved current efficiency by higher initial chloride concentrations. In summary, paper mill bacteria (*D. geothermalis*, *P. taiwanensis*, and *M. silvanus*) were inactivated effectively (>2 log) at MMO electrode with current density of 50 mA cm⁻² and contact time of 3 min. Increasing current density and initial chloride concentration of SPW fastened inactivation. Initial pH value of SPW did not have significant influence on the inactivation rate. Inactivation was mainly due to the indirect electrochemical oxidation (electrochemical formation of chlorine/ hypochlorite).

Comparing different bacteria species proved that they have different response to different oxidants. D. geothermalis was sensitive against other oxidants than chlorine/hypochlorite, while P. taiwanensis and M. silvanus were sensitive against chlorine/hypochlorite but not particularly against other oxidants. Current efficiency of the inactivation process was improved by higher initial chloride concentration of SPW because of higher amounts of chlorine/hypochlorite produced at anode during the experiments (Fig. 8) [110]. The electrochemical disinfection of germinated brown rice (GBR) circulating water and cooling tower water containing Legionella bacteria was investigated. Results showed the total aerobic plate counts (APC) in the treated GBR circulating water decreased significantly and the turbidity was largely improved at a pulse voltage of 1.0 kV, Legionella bacteria were also disinfected effectively at 1.0 kV. The disinfection was attributed to the synergistic effects of the oxide anode, the electric field, and the radicals formed during the electrochemical treatment. This suggests that electrochemical treatment could be applicable to the disinfection of water from other sources [111]. The bioluminescence inhibition test with Vibrio fischeri and the combined algae test with Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata indicated a substantial increase in non-specific toxicity of the reaction mixture due to the formed halogenated by-products, while the specific toxicity (inhibition of photosynthesis) remained unchanged. However, baseline toxicity as determined by Vibrio fischeri bioluminescence inhibition tests (Microtox) was increasing with higher applied charge during batch and continuous oxidation, indicating the formation of toxic oxidation products, possibly chlorinated and brominated organic compounds [112].

5 Conclusion and Future Remark

The industrial sector accounts for about a third of the both global primary energy consumption and energy-related CO₂ emissions. Industrial energy efficiency has a significant impact on the mitigation of the climate change, security of energy supply, and sustainability. In terms of electrocatalysis, the chemical reaction proceeds electrochemically driven by the electrode potential. Overpotential related to the electron transfer reactions at the electrode could be reduced by proper selection of electrode materials. Performance improvement in electrode coatings also plays a critical role in reducing energy consumption (overpotential) in the electrolytic chlorine production. The performance dependence on the electrode material, surface area (especially outer surface area), chemical composition, surface morphology, and phase structure of the oxide coatings has been investigated systematically. Thus, it is a key for chemists to develop and evaluate new catalytic materials and accordingly new preparation routes to meet the continuous expansion of industrial requirements. This is one of the motivations of the present research project to optimize the electrocatalysts and to innovate in the preparation strategy of electrocatalysts. Furthermore, the design in electrode coating morphology (surface and cross-section) was studied regarding the issue of electrode deactivation caused by the substrate passivation. Optimization in the electrode catalytic activity and stability has been accomplished through adopting alternative preparation routes such as sol-gel and electrodeposition. Particular emphasis has been put on nanostructuring of the anode in order to reduce the detrimental effects of gas bubble evolution. It is known that a major part of the overpotential originates from hindered bubble detachment from the electrode surface in particular at higher current density. Other studies relate with mixed metal oxide or lot of attention. The substrate development to increase the stability and conductivity also are received a chlorine indirect oxidation also will be developed. Multi-doping can be easily obtained by controlling the bath composition. The structural and crystal size-controlled preparation of mixed oxide catalyst coatings can be extended to the design of other multicomponent electrocatalyst fabrication routes for chlorine evolution. Further improvements of the electrolysis cell rely on decreasing the cathodic overpotential and membrane ohmic drop, since both contribute largely to the total cell voltage.

Acknowledgement This research is funded by Vietnam Ministry of Education and Training (MOET) under grant number B2021-VGU-07.

References

- 1. Schmittinger P (2000) Chlorine: principle and industrial practice. Wiley, New York, pp 21-34
- Srinivasan V, Arora P, Ramadass P (2006) Report on the electrolytic industries for the year 2004. J Electrochem Soc 153:K1
- Kerwick M, Reddy S, Chamberlain A, Holt D (2005) Electrochemical disinfection, an environmentally acceptable method of drinking water disinfection? Electrochim Acta 50: 5270–5277
- 4. Luu T, Kim J, Yoon J (2015) Physicochemical properties of RuO₂ and IrO₂ electrodes affecting chlorine evolutions. J Ind Eng Chem 21:400–404
- 5. Over H (2002) Ruthenium dioxide, a fascinating material for atomic scale surface chemistry. Appl Phys A 75:37–44
- 6. Trasatti S, Lodi G (1980) Electrodes of conductive metallic oxides, part A and part B. Elsevier, Amsterdam
- Pikaar I, Rozendal R, Yuan Z, Keller J, Rabaey K (2011) Electrochemical sulfide oxidation from domestic wastewater using mixed metal-coated titanium electrodes. Water Res 45:5381– 5388
- Shi H, Qu J, Wang A, Ge J (2005) Degradation of microcystins in aqueous solution with in situ electrogenerated active chlorine. Chemosphere 60:326–333
- 9. Trasatti S (1984) Electrocatalysis in the anodic evolution of oxygen and chlorine. Electrochim Acta 29:1503–1512
- 10. Beer H (1980) The invention and industrial development of metal anodes. J Electrochem Soc 127:303C–307C
- Trasatti S (2000) Electrocatalysis: understanding the success of DSA@. Electrochim Acta 45: 2377–2385
- 12. Hayfield PCS (1998) Development of the noble metal/oxide coated titanium electrode, part 1: the beginning of the story. Platin Met Rev 42:27–33
- Matsumoto Y, Sato E (1986) Electrocatalytic properties of transition metal oxides for the oxygen evolution reaction. Mater Chem Phys 14:397–426
- Jeong J, Kim C, Yoon J (2009) The effect of electrode material on the generation of oxidants and microbial inactivation in the electrochemical disinfection processes. Water Res 43:895– 901
- 15. Jorissen J, Turek T, Weber R (2011) Energy savings in the electrolysis chlorine production with oxygen depolarized cathode. Chemie in Unserer Zeit 45:172–176
- Gestermann F, Ottaviani A (2001) Chlorine production with oxygen-depolarised cathodes on an industrial scale. Mod Alkali Technol 8:49–55
- Janssen L (1984) Kinetics and mechanism of chlorine evolution on metal oxide electrodes by RuO₂-TiO₂ electrode. Electrochim Acta 29:1607–1612
- Chen R, Trieu V, Schley B, Natter H, Kintrup J, Bulan A, Weber R, Hempelmann R (2013) Anodic electrocatalytic coatings for electrolytic chlorine production: a review. Z Phys Chem 227:651–666
- 19. Electrochemistry encyclopedia. http://electrochem.cwru.edu/encycl/
- 20. Cotton F, Wilkinson G, Murillo C, Bachmann M (1999) Advanced inorganic chemistry. Wiley, New York
- Reuter K, Scheffler M (2001) Composition, structure, and stability of RuO₂ (110) as a function of oxygen pressure. Phys Rev B 65:035406
- 22. Haines J, Leger J, Schulte O (1996) Pa3 modified fluorite-type structures in metal dioxides at high pressure. Science 271:629–631
- Lundin U, Fast L, Nordstrom L, Johansson B, Wills M, Eriksson O (1998) Transition metal dioxide with a bulk modulus comparable to diamond. Phys Rev B 57:4979–4982
- Ryden W, Lawson A, Sartain C (1970) Electrical transport properties of IrO₂ and RuO₂. Phys Rev B 4:1494–1500

- Soratin P, Schwarz K (1992) Chemical bonding in rutile-type compounds. Inorg Chem 31: 567–576
- 26. Cox P (1995) Transition metal oxides: an introduction to their electronic structure and properties. Oxford University Press, Oxford
- Takasu Y, Sugimoto W, Nishiki Y, Nakamatsu S (2010) Structural analyses of RuO₂–TiO₂/Ti and IrO₂–RuO₂–TiO₂/Ti anodes used in industrial chlor-alkali membrane processes. J Appl Electrochem 40:1789–1795
- 28. Jin Y, Chao L, Lu C, Dong Y, Wei D, Jin L, Dong G (2010) Electronic structure and optical properties of rutile RuO₂ from first principles. Chin Phys B 19:077102
- 29. Oh S, Park C, Park C (2000) Thermal stability of RuO₂/Ru bilayer thin film in oxygen atmosphere. Thin Solid Films 359:118–123
- Kotz R, Stucki S (1986) Stabilization of RuO₂ by IrO₂ for anodic oxygen evolution in acid media. Electrochim Acta 31:1311–1316
- Over H, Seitsonen A, Lundgren E, Wiklund M, J. N. (2002) Andersen on the origin of the Ru³d^{5/2} satellite feature from RuO₂ (110). Surf Sci 504:L196
- 32. Bottcher A, Starke U, Conrad H, Blume R, Niehus H, Gregoratti L, Kaulich B, Barinov A, Kiskinova M (2002) Spectral and spatial anisotropy of the oxide growth on Ru(0001). J Chem Phys 117:8104–8109
- Bottcher A, Krenzer B, Conrad H, Niehus H (2002) Mesoscopic-scale growth of oxygen-rich films on Ru(0001) investigated by photoemission electron microscopy. Surf Sci 504:42–58
- 34. Martínez J, Abad E, Calle-Vallejo F, Krowne C, Alonso J (2013) Tailoring structural and electronic properties of RuO₂ nanotubes: a many-body approach and electronic transport. Phys Chem Chem Phys 15:14715–14722
- Huang S, Pollak F (1982) Raman investigation of rutile RuO₂. Solid State Comnun 43:921– 924
- Trasatti S, Petrii OA, Pizzini S, Buzzancae G, Mari C, Rossi L, Torchio S (1972) Preparation, structure and electrical properties of thick ruthenium dioxide films. Mat Res Bull 7:449–462
- 37. Atanasoska L, O'Grady W, Atanasoski R, Pollak F (1988) The surface structure of RuO₂: a LEED, auger and XPS study of the (110) and (100) faces. Surf Sci 202:142–166
- 38. Over H (2012) Surface chemistry of ruthenium dioxide in heterogeneous catalysis and electrocatalysis: from fundamental to applied research. Chem Rev 112:3356–3426
- 39. Trasatti S (1987) Oxide/aqueous solution interfaces, interplay of surface chemistry and electrocatalyst. Mater Chem Phys 16:157–114
- Iwahra C, Hirao K, Tamura H (1977) Preparation of ruthenium dioxide electrodes and their anodic polarization characteristics in acidic solutions. Electrochim Acta 22:335–340
- Arikado T, Iwakura C, Tamura H (1977) Electrochemical behavior of the ruthenium oxide electrode prepared by thermal decomposition method. Electrochim Acta 22:513–518
- 42. Trasatti S (1991) Physical electrochemistry of ceramic oxides. Electrochim Acta 36:225-241
- Ardizzone S, Daghetti A, Franceschi L, Trasatti S (1989) The point of zero charge of hydrous RuO₂. Colloids Surf 35:85–96
- 44. Siviglia P, Daghetti A, Trasatti S (1983) Influence of the preparation temperature of ruthenium dioxide on its point of zero charge. Colloids Surf 7:16–27
- Castelli P, Trassati S, Pollak F, O'Grady W (1986) Single crystals as model electrocatalysts oxygen evolution on RuO₂ (110). J Electroanal Chem 210:189–194
- 46. Trasatti S, Petrii O (1991) Real surface area measurements in electrochemistry. Pure Appl Chem 63:711
- 47. Trieu V, Schleya B, Nattera H, Kintrup J, Bulan A, Hempelmann R (2012) RuO₂-based anodes with tailored surface morphology for improved chlorine electro-activity. Electrochim Acta 78:188–194
- Malpass G, Neves R, Motheo A (2006) A comparative study of commercial and laboratorymade Ti/Ru_{0.3}Ti_{0.7}O₂ DSA@ electrodes: "in-situ" and "ex-situ" surface characterization and organic oxidation activity. Electrochim Acta 52:936–944

- Burke L, Murphy O (1980) Surface area voltammetric charge correlation for RuO₂/TiO₂ based anodes. J Electroanal Chem 112:39–50
- Zeradjanin AR, Mantia FL, Masa J, Schuhmann W (2012) Utilization of the catalyst layer of dimensionally stable anodes-interplay of morphology and active surface area. Electrochim Acta 82:408–414
- Uchida I, Urushibata H, Toshima S (1981) Electrocatalysis for chlorine electrode reaction on RuO₂ electrode in NaAlCl₄ melt. J Electrochem Soc 128:2351–2357
- 52. Fernandez J, Chialvo M, Chialvo A (2002) Kinetic study of the chlorine electrode reaction on Ti/RuO₂ through the polarization resistance, part III: proposal of a reaction mechanism. Electrochim Acta 47:1145–1152
- Demon D, Harrison J, Knowles R (1978) Automation of electrode kinetic IV. The chlorine evolution reaction on a RuO₂-TiO₂ plate electrode. Electrochim Acta 25:1147–1152
- 54. Arikado T, Iwakura C, Tamura H (1977) A consideration of the electrochemical mechanism in the chlorine evolution reaction. Electrochim Acta 23:799–801
- 55. Arikado T, Iwakura C, Tamura H (1978) Some oxide catalysts for the anodic evolution of chlorine: reaction mechanism and catalytic activity. Electrochim Acta 23:9–15
- Inai M, Iwakura C, Tamura H (1979) A consideration of the activation energy for the chlorine evolution reaction on RuO₂ and IrO₂ electrodes. Electrochim Acta 24:993–996
- 57. Radjenovic J, Escher B, Rabaey K (2011) Electrochemical degradation of the b-blocker metoprolol by Ti/Ru_{0.7}Ir_{0.3}O₂ and Ti/SnO₂-Sb electrodes. Water Res 45:3205–3214
- Zeradjanin A, Menzel N, Strasser P, Schuhmann W (2012) Role of water in the chlorine evolution reaction at RuO₂-based electrodes - understanding electrocatalysis as a resonance phenomenon. ChemSusChem 5:1897–1904
- 59. Comninellis C, Chen G (eds) (2010) Electrochemistry for the environment. Springer, pp 55-69
- Muthuraman G, Moon I (2012) A review on an electrochemically assisted-scrubbing process for environmental harmful pollutant's destruction. J Ind Eng Chem 18:1540–1550
- Kraft A (2008) Electrochemical water disinfection: a short review. Platin Met Rev. 52:177– 185
- 62. Mook W, Chakrabarti M, Aroua M, Khan G, Ali B, Islam M, Hassan M (2012) Removal of total ammonia nitrogen (TAN), nitrate and total organic carbon (TOC) from aquaculture wastewater using electrochemical technology: a review. Desalination 285:1–13
- Martinez-Huitle C, Brillas E (2009) Decontamination of wastewaters containing synthetic organic dyes by electrochemical methods: a general review. Appl Catal B Environ 87:105–145
- Juttner K, Galla U, Schmieder H (2000) Electrochemical approaches to environmental problems in the process industry. Electrochim Acta 45:2575–2594
- 65. Polcaro A, Palmas S, Renoldi F, Mascia M (2000) Three-dimensional electrodes for the electrochemical combustion of organic pollutants. Electrochim Acta 46:389–394
- Rajkumar D, Palanivelu K (2004) Electrochemical treatment of industrial wastewater. J Hazard Mater B113:123–129
- Over H (2013) Atomic scale insights into electrochemical versus gas phase oxidation of HCl over RuO₂-based catalysts: a comparative review. Electrochim Acta 93:314–333
- Raghu S, Lee C, Chellammala S, Palanichamya S, Ahmed Basha C (2009) Evaluation of electrochemical oxidation techniques for degradation of dye effluents - a comparative approach. J Hazard Mater 171:748–754
- 69. Zantaa C, Andradea A, Boodts J (1999) Solvent and support electrolyte effects on the catalytic activity of Ti/RuO₂ and Ti/IrO₂ electrodes: oxidation of isosafrole as a probe model. Electrochim Acta 44:3333–3340
- Una U, Altay U, Koparal A, Ogutveren U (2008) Complete treatment of olive mill wastewaters by electrooxidation. Chem Eng J 139:445–452
- 71. Santos I, Afonso JC, Dutr A (2010) Behavior of a Ti/RuO₂ anode in concentrated chloride medium for phenol and their chlorinated intermediates electrooxidation. Sep Purif Technol 76: 151–157

- 72. Chiangi L, Changi J, Wen T (1995) Indirect oxidation effect in electrochemical oxidation treatment of landfill leachate. Water Res 29:671–678
- Deng Y, Englehardt J (2007) Electrochemical oxidation for landfill leachate treatment. Waste Manag 27:380–388
- 74. Il S, Kim T, Park C, Shin E (2003) Electrochemical oxidation of polyvinyl alcohol using RuO₂/Ti anode. Desalination 155:49–57
- 75. Raju G, Karuppiah M, Latha S, Priya D, Parvathy S, Prabhakar S (2009) Electrochemical pretreatment of textile effluents and effect of electrode materials on the removal of organics. Desalination 249:167–174
- 76. Jaruwat P, Kongjao S, Hunsom M (2010) Management of biodiesel wastewater by the combined processes of chemical recovery and electrochemical treatment. Energy Convers Manag 51:531–537
- 77. Neto S, Andrade A (2009) Electrooxidation of glyphosate herbicide at different DSAR compositions: pH, concentration and supporting electrolyte effect. Electrochim Acta 54: 2039–2045
- 78. Li M, Xue Q, Zhang Z, Feng C, Chen N, Lei X, Shena Z, Sugiura N (2010) Removal of geosmin (trans-1,10-dimethyl-trans-9-decalol) from aqueous solution using an indirect electrochemical method. Electrochim Acta 55:6979–6982
- Ramalho A, Martínez-Huitle C, Silva D (2010) Application of electrochemical technology for removing petroleum hydrocarbons from produced water using a DSA-type anode at different flow rates. Fuel 89:531–534
- Panizza M, Cerisola G (2004) Influence of anode material on the electrochemical oxidation of 2-naphthol, part 2. Bulk electrolysis experiments. Electrochim Acta 49:3221–3226
- Raghu S, Ahmed Basha C (2007) Electrochemical treatment of Procion Black 5B using cylindrical flow reactor-a pilot plant study. J Hazard Mater 139:381–390
- 82. Mahvia A, Ebrahimia S, Mesdaghinia A, Gharibia H, Sowlata M (2011) Performance evaluation of a continuous bipolar electrocoagulation/electrooxidation–electroflotation (ECEO–EF) reactor designed for simultaneous removal of ammonia and phosphate from wastewater effluent. J Hazard Mater 192:1267–1274
- Radjenovic J, Bagastyo A, Rozendal R, Mu Y, Keller J, Rabaey K (2011) Electrochemical oxidation of trace organic contaminants in reverse osmosis concentrate using RuO₂/IrO₂coated titanium anodes. Water Res 45:1579–1586
- 84. Malpass G, Miwa D, Mortari D, Machado S, Motheo A (2007) Decolorisation of real textile waste using electrochemical techniques: effect of the chloride concentration. Water Res 41: 2969–2977
- 85. González A, Urtiaga A, Ibáñez R, Ortiz I (2012) State of the art and review on the treatment technologies of water reverse osmosis concentrates. Water Res 46:267–283
- Chen J, Shi H, Lu J (2007) Electrochemical treatment of ammonia in wastewater by RuO₂– IrO₂–TiO₂/Ti electrodes. J Appl Electrochem 37:1137–1144
- Boudreau J, Bejan D, Bunce N (2010) Competition between electrochemical advanced oxidation and electrochemical hypochlorination of acetaminophen at boron-doped diamond and ruthenium dioxide based anodes. Can J Chem 88:418–425
- Rajkumar D, Kim J (2006) Oxidation of various reactive dyes with in situ electro-generated active chlorine for textile dyeing industry wastewater treatment. J Hazard Mater B136:203– 212
- Yavuz Y, Koparal AS (2006) Electrochemical oxidation of phenol in a parallel plate reactor using ruthenium mixed metal oxide electrode. J Hazard Mater B136:296–302
- Kim K, Kim Y, Kim I, Park G, Lee E (2006) Electrochemical conversion characteristics of ammonia to nitrogen. Water Res 40:1431–1441
- 91. Fan N, Li Z, Lin Zhao NW, Zhou T (2013) Electrochemical denitrification and kinetics study using Ti/IrO₂-TiO₂-RuO₂ as the anode and cu/Zn as the cathode. Chem Eng J 214:83–90
- Malpass G, Miwa D, Machado S, Motheo A (2008) Decolourisation of real textile waste using electrochemical techniques: effect of electrode composition. J Hazard Mater 156:170–177

- Li M, Feng C, Zhang Z, Shen Z, Sugiura N (2009) Electrochemical reduction of nitrate using various anodes and a Cu/Zn cathode. Electrochem Commun 11:1853–1856
- 94. Ribeiro J, Purgato F, Kokoh B, Leger J, Andrade A (2008) Application of Ti/RuO₂-Ta₂O₅ electrodes in the electrooxidation of ethanol and derivants: reactivity versus electrocatalytic efficiency. Electrochim Acta 53:7845–7851
- 95. Sirés I, Brillas E (2012) Remediation of water pollution caused by pharmaceutical residues based on electrochemical separation and degradation technologies: a review. Environ Int 40: 212–229
- 96. Rossi A, Alves V, Silva L, Oliveira M, Assis D, Santos F (2009) Electrooxidation and inhibition of the antibacterial activity of oxytetracycline hydrochloride using a RuO₂ electrode. J Appl Electrochem 39:329–337
- Raju G, Karuppiah M, Latha S, Parvathy S, Prabhakar S (2008) Treatment of wastewater from synthetic textile industry by electrocoagulation–electrooxidation. Chem Eng J 144:51–58
- 98. Vanlangendonck Y, Corbisier D, Lierde A (2005) Influence of operating conditions on the ammonia electro-oxidation rate in wastewaters from power plants (ELONITA[™] technique). Water Res 39:3028–3034
- Simka W, Piotrowski J, Nawrat G (2007) Influence of anode material on electrochemical decomposition of urea. Electrochim Acta 52:5696–5703
- 100. Lahav O, Schwartz Y, Nativ P, Gendel Y (2013) Sustainable removal of ammonia from anaerobic-lagoon swine waste effluents using an electrochemically-regenerated ion exchange process. Chem Eng J 218:214–222
- 101. Li L, Liu Y (2009) Ammonia removal in electrochemical oxidation: mechanism and pseudokinetics. J Hazard Mater 161:1010–1016
- 102. Gendel Y, Lahav O (2012) Revealing the mechanism of indirect ammonia electrooxidation. Electrochim Acta 63:209–219
- 103. Du L, Wang Y, Dai S, Pei J, Qin S, Hu C (2011) Comparative study on the catalytic electrooxidative abilities of RuO_x-PdO-TiO₂/Ti and RuO_x-PdO/Ti anode. J Hazard Mater 185:1596–1599
- 104. Dua L, Wu J, Hu C (2012) Electrochemical oxidation of rhodamine B on RuO₂–PdO–TiO₂/Ti electrode. Electrochim Acta 68:69–73
- 105. Neelavannan M, Revathi M, Basha C (2007) Photocatalytic and electrochemical combined treatment of textile wash water. J Hazard Mater 149:371–378
- 106. Chen K, Shih Y, Huang Y (2013) Mineralization of citric acid wastewater by photoelectrochemical chlorine oxidation. J Environ Manag 121:1–5
- 107. Pinhedo L, Pelegrini R, Bertazzolib R, Motheo A (2005) Photoelectrochemical degradation of humic acid on a (TiO₂)_{0.7}(RuO₂)_{0.3} dimensionally stable anode. Appl Catal B Environ 57:75– 81
- 108. Zhang F, Li M, Li W, Feng C, Jin Y, Guo X, Cui J (2011) Degradation of phenol by a combined independent photocatalytic and electrochemical process. Chem Eng J 175:349–355
- 109. Xiao S, Qua J, Zhao X, Liua H, Wan D (2009) Electrochemical process combined with UV light irradiation for synergistic degradation of ammonia in chloride-containing solutions. Water Res 43:1432–1440
- 110. Sarkka H, Vepsalainen M, Pulliainen M, Sillanpa M (2008) Electrochemical inactivation of paper mill bacteria with mixed metal oxide electrode. J Hazard Mater 156:208–213
- 111. Henquína E, Colli AN, Bergmann M, Bisang J (2013) Characterization of a bipolar parallelplate electrochemical reactor for water disinfection using low conductivity drinking water. Chem Eng Process 65:45–52
- 112. Feng C, Suzuki K, Zhao S, Sugiura N, Shimada S, Maekawa T (2004) Water disinfection by electrochemical treatment. Bioresour Technol 94:21–25

Comparing Tertiary Wastewater Treatment to Seawater Desalination Using Life Cycle Assessment



Esra E. Aleisa, Mohamed F. Hamoda, and Asmaa M. Al-Mutiri

Contents

1	Intro	duction	308
2	Asse	ssing Wastewater Treatment Technologies Using LCA	309
	2.1	Goal and Scope in LCA of Wastewater Applications	311
	2.2	Life Cycle Inventories and Databases Used for Wastewater LCA	314
	2.3	Life Cycle Impact Assessment for Wastewater LCA	314
3	Meth	odology	315
	3.1	Goal	316
	3.2	The Functional Unit	316
	3.3	System Scope and Boundary	317
	3.4	Life Cycle Inventory	319
	3.5	Life Cycle Impact Assessment	321
4	Resu	lts	321
5	Conc	lusions	326
Re	ferenc	es	327

Abstract The Gulf Corporation Council (GCC) countries consume approximately half of their oil production for water and energy cogeneration. This intricate situation of increasing water consumption and freshwater scarcity paradox have made wastewater treatment and reuse indispensable. Reuse of treated wastewater contributes to

E. E. Aleisa (🖂)

Industrial and Management Systems Engineering Department, Kuwait University, Kuwait City, Kuwait

e-mail: e.aleisa@ku.edu.kw

M. F. Hamoda Civil Engineering Department, Kuwait University, Kuwait City, Kuwait e-mail: m.hamoda@ku.edu.kw

A. M. Al-Mutiri Ministry of Electricity and Water, Department of General Services and Training, Kuwait City, Kuwait

Mahmoud Nasr and Abdelazim M. Negm (eds.), *Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems*, Hdb Env Chem (2023) 118: 307–330, DOI 10.1007/698_2022_882, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022, Published online: 18 May 2022 savings fossil fuels and entailed environmental impacts. The objective of this chapter is to demonstrate the application of life cycle assessment (LCA) to evaluate the environmental impact and missed opportunity of treating municipal wastewater to tertiary quality compared to conventional water production. The conventional method compared is the dominant seawater desalination using multistage flash distillation (MSF). The study follows the ISO 14040/44 standards and uses a functional unit of 1 M m³ of tertiary treated effluent (TTE). The modeling concept adopts the cradle-to-gate consequential modeling paradigm. The life cycle inventory is based on filed data collection, reports, literature, and Ecoinvent database processes. The inventories include: infrastructure, grid, materials, energy requirements, chemical additives, and sludge disposal; for primary, secondary, and tertiary treatment. The life cycle impact assessment is applied on both the characterized and normalized level using the ReCiPe method. The normalized results indicate that MSF has over 70 times the impact on fossil depletion and over 8 times the impact on particulate matter formation, human toxicity, and climate change for water production compared to the effects of TTE. The TTE effluent is best for agricultural use.

Keywords Desalination, GCC countries, Kuwait, Life cycle assessment, Multistage flash distillation (MSF), Wastewater treatment, Water reuse

1 Introduction

The widening gap between the consumption and availability of potable water is now a worldwide problem. Water use has been growing globally at more than twice the rate of population increase in the last century [1]. By the year 2030, the global water demand will increase from 4,500 billion m^3 to 6,900 billion m^3 (53.3% increase) [2, 3]. More regions are reaching the limit at which water services can be sustainably delivered, especially in arid regions. This gap is at its peak in the Gulf Corporation Council (GCC) countries [4–6], as the GCC has the lowest renewable water resource index score worldwide [7–9].

To satisfy their demand for water, GCC countries primarily rely on expensive seawater desalination followed by nonrenewable groundwater resource extraction [10–13]. Over the past decade, water consumption has increased almost 12-fold, and the population has almost tripled during the same period [14]. Half of the oil produced in most of the GCC is consumed by cogeneration to power desalination plants [15–18]. The abundance of fossil fuels at relatively low extraction costs has allowed the predominant desalination technology in the GCC to be a thermal technology, namely, multistage flash distillation (MSF). Although numerous contracts in the GCC have been signed to make the transition to membrane-based desalination [19–22], MSF is still the leading technology due to its robustness with respect to distilling feed water turbidity and salinity [4, 18, 23–25]. Burning

fossil fuel entails considerable ecological and health impacts due to emissions of substances including greenhouse gases.

In response, wastewater (WW) reuse is now considered indispensable for meeting the staggering water demand, particularly under conditions of alarming water scarcity [26–29], which are now already affecting every continent [1]. The GCC has already embarked on constructing mega wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) and projects, most of which treat water to tertiary quality, except that the resultant tertiary treated effluent (TTE) is not utilized to realize sufficient reliance on desalinated water. We believe that the complex water scarcity situation will only be solved with a dual approach of sustainable water consumption and WW recycling and reuse. This chapter evaluates tertiary WW treatment using life cycle assessment (LCA) and compares the environmental impact of such treatment with that of desalination water.

2 Assessing Wastewater Treatment Technologies Using LCA

LCA has been repeatedly applied since the 1990s to assess the environmental impact of different technologies, scenarios, and operation alternatives associated with WW and sludge management [30–38]. To date, more than 100 research papers have been published in this field [39]. Detailed literature reviews comparing different LCA objectives, challenges, methodological choices and results related to WW treatment and sludge management can be found in Corominas et al. [39], Yoshida et al. [40], Pradel et al. [41], and Gallego-Schmid and Tarpani [42]. In addition, LCA has been used to analyze environmental impacts in the field of stormwater management [43]; to determine appropriate solutions in the field of the urban water cycle [44]; to control emitted greenhouse gases [45]; and to identify the environmental impacts of sea water desalination [46].

LCA has also been used to address the environmental impacts as well as the benefits of supplementing, upgrading, and improving treatment processes [47–50]. Liu, et al. [51] and Bai, et al. [48] used LCA as a standardized approach to evaluate the environmental performance of replacing secondary treatment units with green biosorption reactors and constructed wetlands, respectively. These authors used several scenarios to implement their LCA analysis, where the best choice was based on adverse impacts to the environment, reuse of materials or byproducts, and sustainability. Two different sewage treatment plants currently operating in China were selected as case studies. According to the results obtained, these two studies underline the importance of allowing the stakeholders of WWTPs to participate in the analysis of the results of LCA practitioners.

Awad, et al. [47] suggested additional tertiary treatment and sludge processing methods that comprise preliminary, primary, and secondary units to improve the performance of WWTPs in developing countries. To achieve this goal, several different scenarios were analyzed for their economic and environmental impacts: the addition of anaerobic digestion of sludge, the addition of a tertiary treatment stage, and the combination of the two.

Anastasopoulou, et al. [52] discussed the quality of WW discharged from two systems: the Nano Membrane Toilet with a conventional pour flush toilet and a urine-diverting dry toilet. These two sanitation systems have been suggested to be applied in South Africa due to the poor sanitation infrastructure in this country. Samples from WW effluents were taken and then subjected to microbial analysis to reflect the environmental impacts of each sanitation system on human health and the ecosystem. Afterward, LCA was used to compare the environmental impacts of each system. A similar study was conducted by Li, et al. [53] to determine the environmental impacts of organic pollutants at microconcentrations. LCA was used to compare the performance of three treatment technologies toward the removal of micropollutants in China. These technologies included reverse osmosis, adsorption using activated carbon, and ozonation.

Bai, et al. [48] discussed the environmental impacts that result from the implementation of wetlands for WW treatment. In their research, three scenarios were considered: a bioaugmented constructed wetland, a nonbioaugmented constructed wetland, and raw WW without treatment (reference scenario).

Liu, et al. [51] discussed four scenarios for upgrading an oxidation ditch by employing an emerging green biosorption reactor. LCA was used to model the data from four scenarios: an oxidation ditch model (reference scenario); a scenario in which end-of-life alum sludge remained the asset of the water treatment facility; a scenario in which end-of-life alum sludge was considered an input similar to WW and its final disposal process was considered; and the reuse of end-of-life alum sludge for agricultural application instead of landfilling. Tavakol-Davani, et al. [43] focused on several scenarios to control sewer overflows: toilet flushing, a high release rate, a hybrid system.

Pradel and Aissani [54] discussed possible scenarios regarding the environmental impacts of the production of sludge-based phosphate fertilizers, including biological dissolution by acidification to separate phosphorus from organic matter. In this approach, sludge is digested and then dewatered, and eventually, the phosphorus is recovered.

The guidelines of LCA [55] indicate that an LCA study needs to cover:

- 1. Definition of the goal and scope of the study,
- 2. Life cycle inventory (LCI),
- 3. Life cycle impact assessment phase (LCIA),
- 4. Results interpretation and decision-making.

The literature on how these elements have been addressed in WW LCA is provided in the following sections.

2.1 Goal and Scope in LCA of Wastewater Applications

The goal of an LCA states the intended application, the reasons for carrying out the study, the intended audience, and whether the results are intended to be used in comparative assertions to be disclosed to the public [56]. Table 1 shows the different goal statements for selected WW LCA studies.

2.1.1 The Scope and Functional Units in Wastewater LCA

The scope and systems boundaries indicate which aspects of the system are included to enable better comparative analysis and interpretation. The scope in WW LCA encompasses different boundaries, including the WW treatment itself, additional water purification, electricity production, the sewer system network, and materials production processes. In most WW LCA studies, the system boundaries have excluded end-of-life WWTP demolition due to the lower impact of this stage than other phases of the LCA. A comparison among different WW treatment scopes in LCA is shown in Table 2.

The functional unit (FU) applied in WWTPs is quantified by the specific volume of WW generated or treated as a result of human activities on a daily basis (m^3/day) [47, 48, 50]. It is used as a benchmark in the assessment of sewer systems from the generation point to the targeted treatment units [43, 44].

In Liu, et al. [51], the FU is defined in terms of 1 m³ of primary pretreated WW per day. All the chemical, physical, and biological constituents other than the treatment efficiency are calculated according to this FU. This FU constitutes the most common FU in WW LCA [47, 49, 58]. Bai, et al. [48] used an FU of 0.1 m³ of WW to be treated using the constructed wetland method. This unit was used to correspond to the processing capacity of the constructed wetland in one cycle. Guven, et al. [50] used two FUs in his dual WW and food waste treatment system. The first FU was 1 m³ of influent municipal WW to the Istanbul WWTP, which was used for LCA application for WWTP analysis. The second value is related to solid waste and was set to 2.88 kg of food waste. It was considered equivalent to 1 m³ of WW influent.

Ma, et al. [57] expressed the FU in terms of electricity produced, i.e. 1 kWh equivalent to replace electricity generated from coal. Along the same lines, Raghuvanshi et al. [45] considered an FU of 1 MJ produced from a biodiesel energy generator that consists of microalgae, which was applied in both WW and freshwater treatment systems.

Some studies in WW LCA have considered the system a multiproduct system, particularly when embracing concepts of a circular economy. Hence, when the boundaries include the municipal water cycle, treated WW will displace an equivalent amount of conventional potable water production in GCC seawater desalination. This invites the consideration of the ISO multiproduct/multifunction hierarchy. A process is multifunctional when it provides more than one function, meaning that

Litanatura	Intended	Cool	Country
Ma at al [57]	Desision	Goal	China
Ma et al. [57]	makers	freshwater consumption as well as WW discharge.	China
Bai et al. [48]	Stakeholders	Evaluation of different WW treatment pro- cesses using multiple weighting methods and conjoint analysis.	China
Liu et al. [51]	Stakeholders	To support the early stage and upgrade of a green biosorption reactor, i.e., an oxidation ditch treatment method; LCA was applied for this purpose.	China
Zhang et al. [46]	_	To identify and eventually reduce the envi- ronmental impacts of microbial desalination cells used in WWTP and seawater desalination.	USA
Tavakol-Davani et al. [43]	Stakeholders	To evaluate the environmental sustainability and benefits of rainwater harvesting systems used to control overflows in a combined sewer system.	USA
Anastasopoulou et al. [52]		Presents a comparison using Nano membrane toilets with different systems of lavatories.	South Africa
Petit-Boix et al. [44]	Decision makers	To determine critical variables and LCA stages of the urban water cycle.	Spain
Li et al. [53]	_	To investigate the critical issue of environ- mental impacts of organic micropollutants in advanced WWTPs for three different WW treatment technologies: Ozonation, granular activated carbon adsorption, and reverse osmosis.	China
Awad et al. [47]	Decision makers	Address the economic and environmental benefits of adding a tertiary treatment/sludge treatment unit to primary and secondary treatment processes by using LCA.	Egypt
Raghuvanshi et al. [45]	-	LCA was used in the assessment of the asso- ciated impacts from biodiesel production from microalgae feedstock cultivated in two differ- ent media: WW and fresh water.	India
Guven et al. [50]	-	LCA is used to compare two options for upgrading a preliminary WWTP. The first uses a high-rate activated sludge system. The second option adds a food waste process.	Turkey
Lopes et al. [49]	-	To evaluate the technical aspects and the environmental performance of a WWTP consisting of high-rate algal ponds as an alternative method for the activated sludge secondary treatment unit.	Spain

Table 1 The different LCA goal statements for selected WW LCA studies

(continued)

Literature	Intended audience	Goal	Country
Zhao et al. [58]	Decision makers	To investigate the importance of incorporating a regional impact category using LCA in order to reflect the local impact of organic pollution.	China
Pradel and Aissani [54]	-	To investigate the environmental impacts related to phosphorus recovery from WWTPs.	-

Table 1 (continued)

Literature	FU	Scope/system boundary
Ma et al. [57]	1 kWh of electricity With a reference flow of	Coal power supply plant: Coal mining, washing transportation and power genera-
	$3.2 \times 10^{-3} \text{ m}^3/\text{kWh}$	tion technology
Bai et al. [48]	0.1 m ³	The operational stages of the constructed wetland
Liu et al. [51]	1 m ³	WWTP: Green biosorption reactor/oxida- tion ditch
Zhang et al. [46]	0.001 m ³	Cradle to grave of microbial desalination cells
Tavakol-Davani et al. [43]	1 m ³	Rainwater harvesting system to control combined sewer overflows
Anastasopoulou et al. [52]	10-adult-occupant household	From cradle to grave: Nano membrane and conventional pour flush lavatories
Petit-Boix et al. [44]	1 m ³	Raw material procurement, pipe production, transport to the construction site, pipe installation and trench preparation, and operation and maintenance
Li et al. [53]	1 m ³	Ozone-sand filter, granular activated car- bon-sand filter, microfiltration-reverse osmosis, and disinfection (tertiary effluent)
Awad et al. [47]	1 m ³	Primary, secondary, and tertiary treatment stages and anaerobic digestion of sludge
Raghuvanshi et al. [45]	1 MJ of energy produced from biodiesel from fresh water and WW	Cradle-to-grave: The biodiesel production phases of cultivation, flocculation, centrifu- gation, extraction, and transesterification
Guven et al. [50]	1 m ³ of influent WW And 2.88 kg of food waste	Cradle-to-grave WW treatment, sludge treatment, and food waste treatment
Lopes et al. [49]	1 m ³	Cradle-to-gate: From the stage of untreated WW input to sludge treatment
Zhao et al. [58]	10,000 m ³	WWTPs
Pradel and Aissani [54]	1 kg	WWTPs

 Table 2
 The different FUs and scopes for selected WW LCA studies

 Literature
 EU

it delivers more than one product output and/or provides more than one service [59]. In our case, WW treatment (treatment of end-of-life waste) and water production are applied. According to the ISO [55], system expansion is recommended over

allocation to identify the net impacts of the original system without accounting for interactions due to impacts from the conventional products displaced by the coproducts, such as electricity or heat production (from methane or sludge), fertilizers, etc., that are subtracted from the primary system [49, 50, 54]. On the other hand, some WW LCA studies have applied system allocation or attributional analysis [50, 52]. Zhang, et al. [46] used attributional modeling to assess impacts associated with microbial desalination cell technology, where electricity generation is considered a byproduct of seawater desalination and WW treatment processes.

2.2 Life Cycle Inventories and Databases Used for Wastewater LCA

The life cycle inventory (LCI) lists the comprehensive collection of the required data associated with the input and output of materials, energy, and emissions of the system boundary under consideration, including foreground and background data and elementary flows for the scenarios under consideration [59, 60]. The typical application is to adapt processes found in available LCI databases, which vary according to the applied system boundary. The vast majority of WW LCA studies have used Ecoinvent [43–47, 49, 54]. The USEtox and Ecovalue databases were used in Li, et al. [53] and Zhao, et al. [58], respectively. Ma, et al. [57] created new LCI processes based on a coal-based power generation plant located in China. Liu, et al. [51] used a Chinese LCI Database. For WW LCA, the LCI database is often integrated within commercially available software such as SimaPro [44, 49, 52] or GaBi [43, 46]. Other software programs include Umberto NXT [45], e-Balance, open LCA, and others.

2.3 Life Cycle Impact Assessment for Wastewater LCA

Life cycle impact assessment (LCIA) is where the LCI's information on elementary flows is translated into environmental impact scores using an LCIA method. An ISO-compliant study mandates the selection of the appropriate impact categories. The LCA practitioner needs to justify this choice and clearly defend the reason for leaving out an impact category. The best way to do this is to look at existing studies or assess the concerns of the relevant stakeholders; after all, a study will only be accepted if the relevant stakeholders can find the desired information or understand why that information cannot be made available [61]. Table 3 shows some of the LCIA methods and impact categories discussed in WW LCA in various studies.

Interpretation typically follows LCIA to answer the questions posed as part of the goal definition. In WW LCA studies, sensitivity analysis and uncertainty analysis

Literature	LCIA method	Impact categories
Ma et al. [57]	USEtox™	Carcinogens, noncarcinogens, freshwater ecotoxicity, aquatic eutrophication, and water scarcity.
Bai et al. [48]	CML-AI	Acidification, eutrophication, human toxicity, photo- chemical oxidation, global warming, and abiotic deple- tion of fossil fuels.
Liu et al. [51]	CML2002	Fossil depletion potential, acidification potential, eutrophication potential, global warming potential, and the impacts of three emitted gases (CO_2 , NO_x , and SO_2).
Tavakol-Davani et al. [43]	TRACI based on US impact data	Global warming potential, ecotoxicity in water, eutro- phication potential, and ozone depletion potential
Anastasopoulou et al. [52]	ReCiPe	Damage to human health, damage to resources, and damage to ecosystems.
Li et al. [53]	USEtox	Ecotoxicity, human health related to carcinogenic or noncarcinogenic pharmaceutical compounds, global warming, ozone depletion, acidification, eutrophication, smog air, and fossil fuel depletion.
Awad et al. [47]	CML 2000	Acidification potential, global warming potential, eutrophication potential, photochemical oxidation, depletion of abiotic resources, ozone layer depletion potential, terrestrial ecotoxicity potential, and freshwa- ter aquatic ecotoxicity.
Guven et al. [50]	ReCiPe	Climate change, terrestrial acidification, freshwater acidification, marine eutrophication, human toxicity; terrestrial ecotoxicity, freshwater ecotoxicity, marine ecotoxicity, and fossil fuel depletion.
Lopes et al. [49]	CML-AI	Abiotic depletion of fossil fuels, global warming, ozone layer depletion, photochemical oxidant formation, acidification, and eutrophication.
Zhao et al. [58]	CML-AI	Eutrophication, acidification, freshwater aquatic ecotoxicity, human toxicity, ozone depletion, photo- chemical oxidation, global warming, abiotic depletion of fossil fuels, and abiotic depletion of elements.

Table 3 LCIA methods and categories used in selected WW LCA studies

have been applied as part of the interpretation to guide the development of conclusions [52, 57].

3 Methodology

WW treatment is a method used to eliminate impurities from WW so that it is returned to the water cycle with minimum harmful impacts on the environment or humans. The WW generated from activities of residential, governmental, commercial, and public areas is collected and then directed to the target treatment plant via dedicated sewer systems. In contrast, stormwater is drained by stormwater network lines and then discharged without treatment to the sea. The present LCA evaluates the environmental burden of TTE while adhering to the four stages outlined by ISO 14040 [62], including the goal and scope, a life cycle inventory (LCI), a life cycle impact assessment (LCIA) and interpretation according to the International Reference Life Cycle Data System, ILCD [63], to the best of our understanding [64].

3.1 Goal

The intended application is to assess the environmental impact of treating municipal WW to tertiary quality as opposed to using desalinated water. The final result is planned to be provided to policymakers in local governments, agricultural authorities, and/or farms while providing CE perspectives and maintaining ISO 14040 [65] standards.

3.2 The Functional Unit

The FU used is 1 Mm^3 of TTE meeting (not exceeding) the specifications found in Table 4.

	1	1	I
Parameter	Unit	Raw WW	Tertiary treatment
рН	—	6.5-8	6.5–7.5
Conductivity	µs/cm	1,200-3,000	1,100-2,200
T.S.S	mg/L	100-500	< 10
V.S.S	mg/L	70–350	< 7.0
C.O.D	mg/L	250-750	< 40
BOD ₅	mg/L	100-400	< 10
Grease & oil	mg/L	10-50	NIL
T.D.S.	mg/L	700–1800	800-1,500
Chloride	mg/L	200-400	200-400
Ammonia	mg/L	15-50	1–5
Nitrite	mg/L	0.04–0.7	0.1-1.5
Total count	Colony/100 mL	2.40E+09	1E+03
T. Coli	Colony/100 mL	3.20E+08	400
F. Coli	Colony/100 mL	4.10E+07	0-10
Salmonella	Colony/100 mL	4.50E+06	NIL
Streptococci	Colony/100 mL	1.40E+07	NIL

 Table 4
 Specifications of TTE used in FU [66]

3.3 System Scope and Boundary

The system boundaries are from cradle-to-gate, so all processes, materials, energy requirements, and chemical additives through operation are calculated through field visits, report, or the literature. It includes: Water delivery and disposal are excluded. Electricity generation is modeled by LCA to partially supply requisite power to major WWTPs in the GCC. The phases included in the system boundary are provided in the following sections. The system boundary is shown in Fig. 1.

3.3.1 Primary Treatment

Primary treatment is the physical/mechanical process that removes suspended and floating particles from WW entering the WWTP [67]. Primary treatment includes screening to screen grit and other suspended solids. WW primary treatment removes 50–60% of the total solids and 20–30% of the BOD [68]. Four bar screens are used to remove large objects from the WW, such as plastics, papers, packets, and rags. The WW then passes through grit chambers to separate inorganic particles/fine materials such as sand, hence preventing damage to pipes. Oils are removed from the WW using oil screens. The system includes eight oil screens. After this step, the WW undergoes an odor control process.

3.3.2 Secondary Treatment

Secondary treatment uses biological processes to digest and dissolve organic pollutants to produce settleable solids [27]. In this stage, microorganisms consume organic matter and then convert it to water, energy, and CO₂. The process is followed by aeration basins or settling tanks to clarify the influent by removing approximately 85% of its suspended solids and BOD [68, 69]. The biological treatment stage uses a vertical loop reactor (VLR), which is operated on the basis of partial ventilation and depends on a lack of oxygen [70]. The WW is then moved by gravity to secondary WW treatment, which consists of aeration chambers and primary clarifiers. The system includes four aeration tanks. Each aeration tank has two treatment systems: a VLR and return activated sludge (RAS) line. At the VLR, an average denitrification rate of approximately 80% is achieved without the need for internal recycling of sewage water. The oxygen supplying the VLR is supplied by six outside blowers into the aeration tank. The air is blown through diffusers at the upper end perforated with holes to form bubbles on the surface of the aeration tank. The suspended solids are reduced to no more than 15 mg/L using a peripheral feeding process using a hydraulic distribution system and sludge removal pipes at the bottom of the VLR [70]. The liquid from the aeration tanks passes to the clarifier and remains there for 8 h. The type of clarifier used is a "rim flow clarifier," which has a depth of six meters with an internal diameter of 45 m to accommodate maximum flow with a capacity of





 270 Km^3 /d. The flow inlet is at the center, while the outlet is along the periphery for the center feed clarifier. A concentric baffle spreads and distributes the discharge evenly in the radial direction. The resultant active sludge is continuously recycled to the aeration tank, where it mixes with incoming WW to feed bacteria and maintain the required food to microorganism (F/M) ratio. The surplus activated sludge (SAS) goes to sludge treatment.

3.3.3 Tertiary Treatment

Tertiary treatment eliminates over 95% of all impurities from sewage. Tertiary treatment upgrades conventional secondary treatment by removing additional pollutants, residual suspended solids, phosphorus and nitrogen from secondary treated WW [68]. The effluent discharge is distributed using a special chamber for purification using 24 rotating disc filters with a 100 m² effective filtration area per unit. The disc filters have a size of 10 μ m (0.000393 in.). The effluent is disinfected using an ultraviolet (UV) system. A four-channel UV system is used. The chlorination step is used for disinfection, color removal, and odor control. The effluent is treated at a concentration to achieve between 0.5 and 1.0 mg/L residual chlorine.

3.3.4 Sludge Treatment

Excess sludge is thickened to reduce its volume. The system under study includes three operating units. A polymer preparation unit (PPU) is used for additional thickening and flocculation [70]. Eight aerobic digesters use gravity belts that carry sludge for dewatering to form a sludge cake. This sludge cake is landfilled.

3.4 Life Cycle Inventory

The LCI is built in accordance with the system boundaries described earlier using processes from Ecoinvent version 3.0. The chemical additives used are found in Table 5.

		Amount (g/	
Chemicals	Formula	m ³)	Process [71]
Sodium hydroxide 50%	NaOH	1.096E+00	Sodium hydroxide 50% solution state
Sodium hypochlorite	NaOCl	2.740E+00	Sodium hypochlorite 15% solution
12.5%			state
Activated carbon	С	3.044E-02	Carbon black
Cationic polymer	—	1.461E+00	Cationic resin
Chlorine liquid	Cl	3.288E+00	Chlorine liquid

Table 5 Tertiary chemical additives per cubic meter of TTE

A new process was created for the UV disinfection system based on [72]. The disinfection system with a flow rate of 100 K m³/day is based on a 20-year lifetime. The LCI of the UV system is provided in Table 6.

The electrical energy required for tertiary treatment is 0.39452 kWh/m³. The electricity production process adopts the high voltage from Ecoinvent based on data found in Al-Shayji and Aleisa [73] and [14] using an energy mix of heavy fuel oil, diesel, crude oil, and natural gas (see Table 7).

		kg/M		Total (kg/	
Part List	Materials	m ³	Materials	Mm ³)	Process (Ecoinvent)
Quartz sleeve	Pure quartz	3.15E- 02	Quartz	3.15E +06	Silica sand
Pneumatic cylinder	Coated Aluminum	4.11E- 02	Aluminum	4.11E- 02	Aluminum removed by drilling, conventional
Ballast	Painted sheet steel	2.74E- 01	Steel	9.27E- 01	Steel, chromium steel 18/ 8, hot rolled
Flood gate	STS 304	2.19E- 01			
Junction box	STS 304	1.18E- 01			
Hoist	SSb400	1.16E- 01			
Sensor support bracket	STS 304	6.85E- 02			
Module frame	STS 316	3.29E- 02			
UV module	STS 316	3.29E- 02			
Automatic wash- ing equipment	STS 316	2.19E- 02			
Shaft	STS 304	1.64E- 02			
Support bracket	STS 304	1.37E- 02			
Bevel gear	STS 304	1.10E- 02			
Inspection window	STS 304	2.74E- 03			
UV lamp	UV glass	1.37E- 01	Glass	1.37E- 01	Glass tube, borosilicate
Lubricant (mL)		1.64E- 01		1.64E- 01	Lubricating oil
Inspection window	STS 304	2.74E- 03	STS 304	2.74E- 03	Ethylene bromide

 Table 6
 LCI of UV disinfection system [72]

Table 7 Modifications made in the electricity production process by Al-shayji and Aleisa [73]	Fuel type	Amount (g/kWh)
	Heavy fuel	2.98E-02
	Gas oil (diesel)	8.02E-03
	Natural gas	3.52E-02
	Crude oil	1.06E-02

The landfilling facility is designed for biogenic waste from the Ecoinvent database version 3.0. It has a design capacity of 1.8 million m^3 volume with a 30-year lifetime. It is equipped with a leachate and landfill gas collection system.

3.5 Life Cycle Impact Assessment

The LCIA phase is conducted according to ReCiPe 2016 (H) V1.03 on the midpoint [74, 75] to determine the adverse effects on the dominant environmental impact categories: climate change (CH) expressed in kg CO₂-eq to air, fossil fuel depletion (FD) in kg oil-eq, metal depletion (MD) in kg Cu-eq, human toxicity (HT) in kg 1,4-DCB-eq to urban air, and particulate matter formation (PM) in kg PM2.5-eq to air; these categories are considered the most critical in irrigation applications, which are the end use of TTE. The results are discussed in terms of both their characterized and normalized values, as are the process contributions and inventory substances with the most environmental impact.

4 Results

This section presents the LCIA results and their interpretation. The LCIA phase was performed according to ReCiPe 2016 (H) V1.03 to determine the adverse effects on the dominant environmental impact categories. Figure 2 shows the network flow chart with a cutoff value of 15%. The arrows present the flows between the processes. The red bars indicate the environmental load generated by each process and its upstream processes [61]. The chart shows that at the WWTP facility, the grid and energy contribute almost equally to the total impact.

Figure 3 shows the characterization results. The x-axis shows the different processes in tertiary water treatment, the y-axis is the percentile comparison of impact within an impact category. The characterized results shown in Fig. 3 and Fig. 4 are the relative environmental impact for each process with respect to midpoint impact categories. Infrastructure has the most significant impact on HT and MD. Generated electricity impacts CH and PM. Normalization enables an absolute comparison among scenarios on the basis of the average human consumption and footprint within each category. Values are measured with a composite single score index indicated as points (pt) as calculated using the ReCiPe (H) method.



Fig. 2 Process network flow chart with single score results using ReCiPe Midpoint (H) V1.10. The arrow thickness depicts the environmental impact at a 15% cutoff



Fig. 3 Characterized results for the production of TTE using ReCiPe Midpoint (H) V1.10



Fig. 4 Normalized results for the production of TTE using ReCiPe Midpoint (H) V1.10

Figure 4 shows the normalized results per impact category. According to ISO 14044 [62], normalization is an optional step that allows the interpretation of the characterized results in terms of relative environmental impacts. Nevertheless, normalization has an important role in providing a relevant representation for decision-making, to support the interpretation of the LCIA results [76]. In Fig. 4, the x-axis represents the different tertiary treatment processes and the y-axis represents the normalized "pt" or point in the Recipe method. As shown in Fig. 4, the categories that are most affected are MD, FD, and CH. The high impact in these categories is due to the high impact of the substances and processes. Substances high in manganese, iron, and nickel affect the MD category, while high coal, oil, and natural gas (NG) substances also affect the FD category. The normalized elementary flows or inventory results represent the significant number of substances with the greatest impact are fossil
depletion, carbon dioxide, dinitrogen monoxide fossil, fossil methane, and biogenic methane.

As indicated earlier, MSF remains the dominant water production technology in the GCC [14, 18, 73]. In this study, we applied the thermal energy requirements for MSF from Mezher et al. [6], 80 kWh/m³. The electrical energy required for MSF was set at 4 kWh/m³ [77]. The types and amounts of chemical additives per cubic meter of desalinated water were obtained from local desalination plants [78] and are provided in Table 8.

Figure 5 compares the characterized environmental impact of TTE with desalinated water produced using MSF and NG as an energy source using an FU of 1 Mm³ for irrigation purposes. Comparing the LCIA results of MSF and TTE for the same FU reveals staggering differences in environmental impact in all categories. The

		Amount g/		
Chemical	Formula	m ³	LCI materials in Simapro	
Sulfuric acid	H ₂ SO ₄	7.33111	Sulfuric acid	
Antifoam	$C_3H_8O_2$	4.3124E-01	Propylene glycol, liquid at plant	
Anti-corrosion	Na ₂ SO ₃	7.5467	Sulfite, inorganic chemical	
Sodium nitrite	NaNO ₂	1.33E-04	Nitro compounds, regional	
Anti-scalant	H ₃ PO ₄	2.52E-04	Phosphoric acid, industrial grade 85% in H_2O	
Cleaning	HC1	3.74E-03	Hydrochloric acid (30%) in H ₂ O	
Neutralization: Caustic soda	NaOH	3.01869	Sodium hydroxide 50% in H ₂ O mix	

 Table 8
 MSF chemical additives per cubic meter of desalinated water [18, 78]



Fig. 5 Characterized results comparing TTE with MSF desalination production using ReCiPe Midpoint (H) V1.10



Fig. 6 Normalized results comparing TTE with MSF desalination production using ReCiPe Midpoint (H) V1.10 The y-axis in million normalized points

largest drawback of MSF is its high energy requirement [5, 18, 79], which creates a high environmental burden [4, 80, 81]. Figure 6 shows the normalized LCIA results comparing MSF and TTE water. It is true that the water quality of MSF is generally better than that of TTE; however, MSF is not the best option for landscape or irrigation purposes. The normalized results indicate that MSF has over 70 times the impact on FD, over 10 times the impact on PM, and approximately 8 times the impact on HT and CH compared to the effects of TTE. With respect to MD, the results are similar. Regulations exclude all amenity uses for TTE and restrict agricultural use to safe crops even if its quality exceeds that for potable use [82]. Hence, TTE is utilized for landscaping and fodder irrigation, whereas MSF desalinated water is used for amenities through the municipal network in the GCC. Nonetheless, this approach has led to lost opportunities in the effective utilization of TTE. Research shows that TTE is a better option than MSF for crop irrigation, including irrigation of vegetables and fruits consumed raw. This is because TTE contains essential salts and nutrients that are necessary for plant growth. This saves a proportion of the cost of organic and inorganic fertilizers and chemical compounds that are typically added to maximize crop yield [82].

Despite the severe water scarcity in GCC countries, there is a huge difference between the actual cost of desalinated water production and the imposed tariff. On average, the tariff is no more than 10% of the actual cost [83]. The cost of desalinated water production ranges between 1.1 and 2.0 U.S. \$/m³, except in Bahrain, where the cost is reduced to 0.65 U.S. \$/m³ due to mixing of the less expensive groundwater with desalinated water at a 1:3 ratio [16, 84]. Moreover, the cost of tertiary treated water using filtration and chlorination reaches one-third of that of MSF desalination [22]. Thus, the first step towards meeting the challenge of the water scarcity problem is to reduce governmental water subsidies in the GCC and impose a tariff on WW

collection and treatment for all residents. Stepwise cost functions or block rates for the WW volumes generated could encourage consumers to maintain a reasonable water consumption level.

5 Conclusions

The objective of this chapter was to use LCA to evaluate the environmental burden of TTE while adhering to the four stages outlined by ISO 14040/44, including the goal and scope, LCI, and LCIA. The WW generated from residential, governmental, commercial, and public areas is collected and then directed to the target treatment plant via dedicated sewer systems. The scope of the LCA includes assessment of primary, secondary, tertiary treatment and sludge management. The system boundaries are from cradle-to-gate, so all processes, materials, energy requirements, and chemical additives through operation are calculated through field visits, report, or the literature. Electricity generation is modeled by LCA to partially supply requisite power to major WWTPs in the GCC. The FU used is 1 Mm³ of TTE meeting (not exceeding) the specifications found in local environmental authorities in terms of pH, conductivity, chloride, ammonia, and other specifications. The analyses were contrasted with the conventional MSF seawater desalination. The LCIA phase was conducted according to ReCiPe 2016 (H) V1.03 on the midpoint with respect to CH, FD, MD, HT, and PM. The results were discussed for both characterized and normalized values.

For TTE: Infrastructure has the most significant impact on HT and MD. Generated electricity impacts CH and PM. In normalized values, the categories that were most adversely affected were: MD, FD, and CH. The impact was due to the high manganese, iron, and nickel contribution to the MD category. Oil and NG contributed to FD. The normalized elementary flows indicated that the most significant polluting substances were: carbon dioxide, dinitrogen monoxide fossil, fossil methane, and biogenic methane.

When comparing TTE to MSF, the largest drawback of MSF was its high energy requirements. The normalized results indicated that MSF contributes over 70 times to the FD impact category compared to TTE, over 10 times the impact on PM, and approximately 8 times the impact on HT and CH compared to the effects of TTE. With respect to MD, the results are similar. Regulations exclude all amenity uses for TTE and restrict agricultural use to safe crops even if its quality exceeds that for potable use. Hence, TTE is utilized for landscaping and fodder irrigation, whereas MSF desalinated water is used for amenities through the municipal network in the GCC. Nonetheless, this approach has led to lost opportunities in realizing TTE full potential. The study provides cost and tariff comparison of TTE versus MSF. For MSF, in the GCC, the tariff is no more than 10% of the actual production cost. The cost of desalinated water production ranges between 1.1 and 2.0 U.S. \$/m³, while the cost of TTE is one-third of MSF. Although WW treatment in the GCC is commendable, the effluent reuse requires additional awareness, supporting legislation and

better applied strategies. Policies to promote sustainable water consumption remain by far the most important factor in addressing freshwater scarcity issues in the GCC.

Acknowledgments This research software was supported partially by Kuwait University. We thank Mr. Eisa Alrishidi and Ms. Huda Alengawi for their valuable assistance.

References

- 1. UN Water (2020) Water scarcity. https://www.unwater.org/water-facts/scarcity/
- McKinsey & Co. (2009) Charting our water future: economic frameworks to inform decisionmaking
- 3. Mujtaba IM, Srinivasan R, Elbashir N (2017) The water-food-energy nexus: processes, technologies, and challenges. CRC Press
- Moser M, Trieb F, Fichter T (2013) Potential of concentrating solar power plants for the combined production of water and electricity in MENA countries. J Sustain Dev Energy Water Environ Syst 1:122–140
- Jijakli K, Arafat H, Kennedy S, Mande P, Theeyattuparampil VV (2012) How green solar desalination really is? Environmental assessment using life-cycle analysis (LCA) approach. Desalination 287:123–131
- 6. Mezher T, Fath H, Abbas Z, Khaled A (2011) Techno-economic assessment and environmental impacts of desalination technologies. Desalination 266:263–273
- Roudi-Fahimi F, Creel L, Souza R-MD (2002) Finding the balance: population and water scarcity in the Middle East and North Africa. Population Reference Bureau (PRB), Washington, DC
- 8. Qadir M, Bahri A, Sato T, Al-Karadsheh E (2010) Wastewater production, treatment, and irrigation in Middle East and North Africa. Irrig Drain Syst 24:37–51
- 9. Pivac DZ (2015, 2017) Water scarcity in the Middle East. bq magazine. http://www.bq-magazine.com/industries/2015/02/water-scarcity-in-the-middle-east
- 10. Al-Otaibi A, Abdel-Jawad M (2007) Water security for Kuwait. Desalination 214:299-305
- 11. Lambert LA (2014) Water, state power, and tribal politics in the GCC: the case of Kuwait and Abu Dhabi. Center for International and Regional Studies Georgetown University School of Foreign Service in Qatar, p 46
- Lattemann S, Höpner T (2008) Environmental impact and impact assessment of seawater desalination. Desalination 220:1–15
- 13. Hamoda MF (2004) Water strategies and potential of water reuse in the South Mediterranean countries. Desalination 165:31–41
- Aleisa E, Heijungs R (2020) Leveraging life cycle assessment and simplex lattice design in optimizing fossil fuel blends for sustainable desalination. Int J Life Cycle Assess 25:744–759
- Darwish MA, Al-Najem NM, Lior N (2009) Towards sustainable seawater desalting in the Gulf area. Desalination 235:58–87
- 16. World Bank. A report on the assessment of the water sector in the countries of the Cooperation Council for the Arab Gulf States (Arabic) [Online]. http://siteresources.worldbank.org/ INTMNAREGTOPWATRES/Resources/GCC-AR-AGFUND-UpdComplete.pdf
- 17. Fattouh B, Mahadeva L (2014) Price reform in Kuwait's electricity and water sector assessing the net benefits in the presence of congestion. Oxford Institute for Energy Studies
- Aleisa E, Al-Shayji K (2018) Ecological–economic modeling to optimize a desalination policy: case study of an arid rentier state. Desalination 430:64–73
- 19. IRENA (2019) Renewable energy market analysis. Abu Dhabi, UAE
- Kaya A, Tok ME, Koc M (2019) A levelized cost analysis for solar-energy-powered sea water desalination in the emirate of Abu Dhabi. Sustainability 11:1691

- 21. Ventures ONSITE (2019) Mena desalination market. Ventures.com, Dubai
- 22. Aleisa E, Al-Zubari W (2017) Wastewater reuse in the countries of the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC): the lost opportunity. Environ Monit Assess 189:553
- 23. Chen X, Yip NY (2018) Unlocking high-salinity desalination with cascading osmotically mediated reverse osmosis: energy and operating pressure analysis. Environ Sci Technol 52:2242–2250
- Dahdah TH, Mitsos A (2014) Structural optimization of seawater desalination: I. A flexible superstructure and novel MED–MSF configurations. Desalination 344:252–265
- 25. Mannan M, Alhaj M, Mabrouk AN, Al-Ghamdi SG (2019) Examining the life-cycle environmental impacts of desalination: a case study in the State of Qatar. Desalination 452:238–246
- 26. AL-Jarallah R (2013) The potential for reusing grey water and its generation rates for sustainable potable water security in Kuwait. J Eng Res 1:97–112
- Al-Shammari SB, Shahalam AM (2006) Effluent from an advanced wastewater treatment plant
 — an alternate source of non-potable water for Kuwait. Desalination 196:215–220
- Corcoran E, Nelleman C, Baker E, Bos R, Osborn D, Savelli H (eds) (2010) Sick water? The central role of wastewater management in sustainable development (a rapid respose assessment). UNEP, UN-HABITAT, GRID-Arendal, Birkeland Trykkeri AS, Norway
- 29. UN Water (2021) Progress on level of water stress 2021 update: global status and acceleration needs for SDG indicator 6.4.2. Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations and United Nations Water, Rome. https://doi.org/10.4060/cb6241en
- Tillman A-M, Svingby M, Lundström H (1998) Life cycle assessment of municipal waste water systems. Int J Life Cycle Assess 3:145–157
- Heimersson S, Svanström M, Ekvall T (2019) Opportunities of consequential and attributional modelling in life cycle assessment of wastewater and sludge management. J Clean Prod 222:242–251
- 32. Machado AP, Urbano L, Brito AG, Janknecht P, Salas JJ, Nogueira R (2007) Life cycle assessment of wastewater treatment options for small and decentralized communities. Water Sci Technol 56:15–22
- Makisha N (2016) Waste water and biogas ecology and economy. Procedia Eng 165:1092– 1097
- Raghuvanshi S, Bhakar V, Sowmya C, Sangwan KS (2017) Waste water treatment plant life cycle assessment: treatment process to reuse of water. Procedia CIRP 61:761–766
- 35. Buyukkamaci N (2013) Life cycle assessment applications in wastewater treatment. J Pollut Effects Control 1:2
- McNamara G, Fitzsimons L, Horrigan M, Phelan T (2016) Life cycle assessment of wastewater treatment plants in Ireland. Sustain Dev Energy Water Environ Syst 4:216–233
- Kalbar PP, Karmakar S, Asolekar SR (2013) Assessment of wastewater treatment technologies: life cycle approach. Water Environ J 27:261–268
- Larsen HF (2018) LCA of wastewater treatment. In: Hauschild MZ, Rosenbaum RK, Olsen SI (eds) Life cycle assessment: theory and practice. Springer, Cham, pp 861–886
- Corominas L, Foley J, Guest JS, Hospido A, Larsen HF, Morera S et al (2013) Life cycle assessment applied to wastewater treatment: state of the art. Water Res 47:5480–5492
- Yoshida H, Christensen TH, Scheutz C (2013) Life cycle assessment of sewage sludge management: a review. Waste Manag Res 31:1083–1101
- 41. Pradel M, Aissani L, Villot J, Baudez J-C, Laforest V (2016) From waste to added value product: towards a paradigm shift in life cycle assessment applied to wastewater sludge a review. J Clean Prod 131:60–75
- 42. Gallego-Schmid A, Tarpani RRZ (2019) Life cycle assessment of wastewater treatment in developing countries: a review. Water Res 153:63–79
- 43. Tavakol-Davani H, Burian SJ, Butler D, Sample D, Devkota J, Apul D (2018) Combining hydrologic analysis and life cycle assessment approaches to evaluate sustainability of water infrastructure. J Irrig Drain Eng 144:05018006

- 44. Petit-Boix A, Arnal C, Marín D, Josa A, Gabarrell X, Rieradevall J (2018) Addressing the life cycle of sewers in contrasting cities through an eco-efficiency approach. J Ind Ecol 22:1092– 1104
- 45. Raghuvanshi S, Bhakar V, Chava R, Sangwan K (2018) Comparative study using life cycle approach for the biodiesel production from microalgae grown in wastewater and fresh water. Procedia CIRP 69:568–572
- 46. Zhang J, Yuan H, Deng Y, Zha Y, Abu-Reesh IM, He Z et al (2018) Life cycle assessment of a microbial desalination cell for sustainable wastewater treatment and saline water desalination. J Clean Prod 200:900–910
- 47. Awad H, Alalm MG, El-Etriby HK (2019) Environmental and cost life cycle assessment of different alternatives for improvement of wastewater treatment plants in developing countries. Sci Total Environ 660:57–68
- Bai S, Zhao X, Wang D, Zhang X, Ren N (2018) Engaging multiple weighting approaches and conjoint analysis to extend results acceptance of life cycle assessment in biological wastewater treatment technologies. Bioresour Technol 265:349–356
- 49. Lopes AC, Valente A, Iribarren D, González-Fernández C (2018) Energy balance and life cycle assessment of a microalgae-based wastewater treatment plant: a focus on alternative biogas uses. Bioresour Technol 270:138–146
- Guven H, Eriksson O, Wang Z, Ozturk I (2018) Life cycle assessment of upgrading options of a preliminary wastewater treatment plant including food waste addition. Water Res 145:518–530
- Liu R, Zhao Y, Yang Y, Awe OW (2018) Diagnosis and evaluation of an early-stage green biosorption reactor by life cycle assessment. J Clean Prod 200:100–109
- 52. Anastasopoulou A, Kolios A, Somorin T, Sowale A, Jiang Y, Fidalgo B et al (2018) Conceptual environmental impact assessment of a novel self-sustained sanitation system incorporating a quantitative microbial risk assessment approach. Sci Total Environ 639:657–672
- 53. Li Y, Zhang S, Zhang W, Xiong W, Ye Q, Hou X et al (2019) Life cycle assessment of advanced wastewater treatment processes: involving 126 pharmaceuticals and personal care products in life cycle inventory. J Environ Manag 238:442–450
- 54. Pradel M, Aissani L (2019) Environmental impacts of phosphorus recovery from a "product" life cycle assessment perspective: allocating burdens of wastewater treatment in the production of sludge-based phosphate fertilizers. Sci Total Environ 656:55–69
- 55. ISO 14040 (2006) Environmental management life cycle assessment principle. In: Standards for LCA to promote sustainable development, vol 14040. International Organization for Standardization, Geneva
- 56. Curran MA (2016) Goal and scope definition in life cycle assessment. Springer
- 57. Ma X, Yang D, Shen X, Zhai Y, Zhang R, Hong J (2018) How much water is required for coal power generation: an analysis of gray and blue water footprints. Sci Total Environ 636:547–557
- 58. Zhao X, Yang J, Ma F (2018) Set organic pollution as an impact category to achieve more comprehensive evaluation of life cycle assessment in wastewater-related issues. Environ Sci Pollut Res 25:5960–5968
- 59. Hauschild MZ, Rosenbaum RK, Olsen SI (2017) Life cycle assessment: theory and practice. Springer
- Hauschild MZ (2018) Introduction to LCA methodology. In: Life cycle assessment. Springer, pp 59–66
- Goedkoop M, Schryver AD, Oele M, Durksz S, Roest D (2010) SimaPro 7 -. Introduction to LCA with SimaPro, 4.5. PRé Consultants, San Francisco, CA
- 62. ISO 14044 (2006) Environmental management—life cycle assessment—requirements and guidelines (ISO 14044). The International Organization for Standardization (ISO), Geneva
- 63. JRC (2010) ILCD handbook: general guide for life cycle assessment detailed guidance. Joint Research Centre, Luxembourg
- 64. Heijungs R (2014) Ten easy lessons for good communication of LCA. Int J Life Cycle Assess 19:473–476

- 65. ISO 14044 (2006) Life cycle assessment Requirements and guidelines. In: Environmental management, vol 13.020.60 ed. International Organization for Standardization, Geneva, p 46
- 66. MPW (2018) Reports from the sanitary engineering sector in Kuwait. Ministry of Public Work Kuwait
- Wahlberg EJ, Stallings RB, Appleton AR (2005) Primary clarifier design concepts and considerations. Proc Water Environ Fed 2005:4417–4430
- 68. Hamoda M (2013) Advances in wastewater treatment technology for water reuse. J Eng Res 1:1–27
- 69. Hsu A, Emerson J, Johnson L, Malik O, Schwartz JD, Allison A et al (2014) Environmental performance index: full report and analysis. Yale Center for Environmental Law & Policy, Yale University; Center for International Earth Science Information Network, Columbia University; World Economic Forum, Geneva, Switzerland; The Samuel Family Foundation, Toronto, Canada, New Haven, CT
- 70. MPW (2019) Kabd WWTP. Depatment of operation and maintenance of plants (North Zone), Kuwait
- 71. Ecoinvent. Electricity production, oil ROW [Online]
- 72. Lee K-M, Yu S, Choi Y-H, Lee M (2012) Environmental assessment of sewage effluent disinfection system: electron beam, ultraviolet, and ozone using life cycle assessment. Int J Life Cycle Assess 17:565–579
- 73. Al-Shayji K, Aleisa E (2018) Characterizing the fossil fuel impacts in water desalination plants in Kuwait: a life cycle assessment approach. Energy 158:681–692
- 74. Huijbregts MAJ, Steinmann ZJN, Elshout PMF, Stam G, Verones F, Vieira M et al (2016) ReCiPe 2016: a harmonized life cycle impact assessment method at midpoint and endpoint level report I: characterization. RIVM Report 2016–0104, Bilthoven
- 75. Huijbregts MA, Steinmann ZJ, Elshout PM, Stam G, Verones F, Vieira M et al (2017) ReCiPe2016: a harmonised life cycle impact assessment method at midpoint and endpoint level. Int J Life Cycle Assess 22:138–147
- 76. Crenna E, Secchi M, Benini L, Sala S (2019) Global environmental impacts: data sources and methodological choices for calculating normalization factors for LCA. Int J Life Cycle Assess 24:1851–1877
- 77. Raluy G, Serra L, Uche J (2006) Life cycle assessment of MSF, MED and RO desalination technologies. Energy 31:2361–2372
- MEW (2016) Consumption of chemicals for distillation units from 01-01-2016 to 31-12-2016, vol 2016, O. a. maintenance. Ministry of Electricity and Water, Kuwait
- Khawaji AD, Kutubkhanah IK, Wie J-M (2008) Advances in seawater desalination technologies. Desalination 221:47–69
- Vince F, Aoustin E, Bréant P, Marechal F (2008) LCA tool for the environmental evaluation of potable water production. Desalination 220:37–56
- Raluy RG, Serra L, Uche J, Valero A (2004) Life-cycle assessment of desalination technologies integrated with energy production systems. Desalination 167:445–458
- Aleisa E, Alshayji K (2019) Analysis on reclamation and reuse of wastewater in Kuwait. J Eng Res 7
- 83. World Bank (2005) A water sector assessment report on the countries of the cooperation council of the Arab states of the Gulf, Water, Environment, Social and Rural Development Department Middle East and North Africa Region, Washington, DC, 32539-MNA, March 31, 2005
- 84. Al-Zubari WK (1998) Towards the establishment of a total water cycle management and re-use program in the GCC countries. Desalination 120:3–14

Cavitation-Based Processes for Water and Wastewater Treatment



Kirill Fedorov, Elvana Cako, Kumaravel Dinesh, Reza Darvishi Cheshmeh Soltani, Zhaohui Wang, Javed Ali Khan, and Grzegorz Boczkaj

Contents

Introduction	333
Acoustic Cavitation	334
2.1 Optimum Design Parameters for Maximizing the Effects of Acoustic Cavitation	334
Hydrodynamic Cavitation	337
3.1 Optimum Design Parameters for Hydrodynamic Cavitation	338
Cavitation-Based Advanced Oxidation Processes (Cav-AOPs)	343
4.1 Formation of Radical Species Under Cavitation Conditions	343
4.2 Effect of External Oxidants – Oxygen, Ozone, Hydrogen Peroxide, Persulfates:	
Hybrid Processes	343
4.3 Sonocatalytic Advanced Oxidation Process	353
Factors Influencing the Efficiencies of Treatment Processes	357
5.1 Effect of pH	357
5.2 Effect of Temperature	357
	Introduction Acoustic Cavitation 2.1 Optimum Design Parameters for Maximizing the Effects of Acoustic Cavitation Hydrodynamic Cavitation 3.1 Optimum Design Parameters for Hydrodynamic Cavitation Cavitation-Based Advanced Oxidation Processes (Cav-AOPs) 4.1 Formation of Radical Species Under Cavitation Conditions 4.2 Effect of External Oxidants – Oxygen, Ozone, Hydrogen Peroxide, Persulfates: Hybrid Processes 4.3 Sonocatalytic Advanced Oxidation Process Factors Influencing the Efficiencies of Treatment Processes 5.1 Effect of PH 5.2 Effect of Temperature

K. Fedorov, E. Cako, K. Dinesh, and G. Boczkaj (🖂)

Department of Process Engineering and Chemical Technology, Faculty of Chemistry, Gdansk University of Technology, Gdansk, Poland e-mail: grzegorz.boczkaj@pg.edu.pl

R. D. C. Soltani

Department of Environmental Health Engineering, School of Health, Arak University of Medical Sciences, Arak, Iran

Z. Wang

Shanghai Key Lab for Urban Ecological Processes and Eco-Restoration, School of Ecological and Environmental Sciences, East China Normal University, Shanghai, China

Shanghai Engineering Research Center of Biotransformation of Organic Solid Waste, Shanghai, China

Technology Innovation Center for Land Spatial Eco-restoration in Metropolitan Area, Ministry of Natural Resources, Shanghai, China

J. A. Khan

Department of Chemistry, Abdul Wali Khan University Mardan, Mardan, Pakistan

Mahmoud Nasr and Abdelazim M. Negm (eds.), *Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems*, Hdb Env Chem (2023) 118: 331–378, DOI 10.1007/698_2022_866, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022, Published online: 16 April 2022

	5.3	Effect of the Initial Concentration of Pollutant	358
	5.4	Effect of Inorganic Ions	358
6	Appl	ications of Cavitation Processes in Environmental Protection	359
	6.1	Application of Cavitation for Wastewater Treatment Containing Volatile Organic	
		Compounds	359
	6.2	Removal of Pesticides from Wastewater by Cavitation Technologies	360
	6.3	Removal of Pharmaceuticals from Wastewaters Induced by Cavitation	
		Technologies	362
	6.4	Domestic Effluents	364
	6.5	Treatment of Industrial Wastewater by Cavitation	365
	6.6	Miscellaneous Application of Cavitation Technologies	366
7 Conclusions and Future Perspectives		367	
Re	ferenc	res	369

Abstract Cavitation based on advanced oxidation processes (Cav-AOPs) is interesting alternatives for already implemented wastewater treatment technologies. Destructive and strongly undesirable phenomena in the industry, i.e., cavitation, revealed to be useful in a positive manner as a source of energy for chemical reactions. During the implosion of cavitation bubbles, focused energy and resulting high temperature and pressure allows to effectively degrade many chemical compounds present in the cavitated liquid phase. The main reactions taking place in the cavitation zone are the thermal decomposition of chemical moieties as well as oxidation with dissolved oxygen and hydroxyl radicals produced during the implosion of cavitation bubbles. Great interest on this topic is supported by an increased number of publications dedicated to several aspects relating to the formation of cavitation phenomena and its application for water and wastewater treatment as well as hybrid processes based on external oxidants providing effective formation of radical species in cavitation conditions. In this chapter, a state of the art of cavitationbased water treatment technologies, including AOPs, as well as recent trends in this field is discussed. The principles of cavitation combined with AOPs are presented, followed by the evaluation of their effectiveness in the oxidation of organic contaminants. A comparison of hydrodynamic and acoustic cavitation processes for the same type of pollutants has been discussed. For example, the sanitization (disinfection) of water, as well as the degradation of pollutants including sulfide ions and several groups of organic compounds such as sulfur, nitrogen, and oxygencontaining organic compounds, aromatic hydrocarbons, dyes, and pharmaceuticals, has been taken into account while comparing the different cavitation processes.

Keywords Advanced oxidation processes, Cavitation, Ozonation, Persulfates, Radicals, Wastewater treatment

1 Introduction

Cavitation is defined as a phenomenon of formation, growth, and subsequent collapse of microbubbles in extremely short time intervals (milliseconds), which generates large amounts of energy focused in small space. It must also be noted that although energy is released over a very small pocket, cavitation occurs simultaneously in several reactor locations (some indication of the number of cavities in the reactor can be obtained by using theoretical modeling of dynamic bubble equations even if the exact number of cavitation events is difficult to be quantified). Cavitation is generally categorized into four types according to its generation method:

- 1. Acoustic cavitation: Pressure differences inside the fluid are achieved using sound waves, generally ultrasounds, which relates to a frequency range of 16 kHz to 100 MHz. The chemical modifications resulted from cavitation induced by the passage of sound waves are generally known as sonochemistry [1, 2].
- 2. Hydrodynamic cavitation: Cavitation is generated by fluctuations in pressure caused by the fluid flow through different system geometry. For example, a restricted aperture, Venturi flow in the pipe, etc., can be used to achieve an interchange of pressure and kinetic energy [3, 4].
- 3. Optical cavitation: Cavitation is generated by photons of high intensity (laser) light rupturing the fluid [3].
- 4. Particle cavitation: Cavitation is produced by any other type of beam of elementary particles such as protons, which ruptures a liquid, as in a bubble chamber [3].

Acoustic cavitation and hydrodynamic cavitation are of scientific and industrial interest among the numerous ways of producing cavitation. In the last few years, acoustic cavitation/sonochemistry has been extensively studied. However, despite extensive research, the lack of expertise in various areas such as materials science, acoustics, chemical engineering, and others to scale up the successfully developed in the lab-scale processes, it cannot be said that these solutions are ready for implementation in chemical processing performed at the manufacturing level. Some attempts of the scale upended successfully. Similarly, the cavitation phenomenon can be generated readily and identified in hydraulic machinery involving liquid transportation. The researchers in the field of hydraulics were aware of cavitation and studied the effects of cavitation in hydraulic machinery [5]. There were several attempts made to understand the physiochemical effects of the cavitation phenomenon. Few research groups later explored the distinctive properties, mechanisms, and physical/chemical transformation of materials under the influence of the cavitation phenomenon. Up to now, several studies proved the potential of cavitation technology as an alternative energy-saving tool for various applications like wastewater treatment, process industries, etc. [6, 7].

2 Acoustic Cavitation

Acoustic cavitation is a physical phenomenon in a fluid medium characterized by the growth and collapse of bubbles or cavities under the influence of ultrasounds. Generally, sound waves with frequency ranging from 16 kHz to 100 MHz are used for acoustic cavitation. The ultrasound waves in the liquid medium, causing vibration inside of the liquid, promote the generation of cavities or bubbles. The continuous propagation of ultrasounds leads to the expansion of bubbles, followed by their collapse. The collapse of bubbles under the influence of ultrasound generates several physical effects such as turbulence, shock waves, microjets, etc. Also, the bubble collapse releases extreme energy resulting in a rapid increase in temperature and pressure for a short period named hot spots. It has been observed that under these extreme conditions, highly reactive radicals are generated and used for various applications such as degradation of complex compounds, synthesis of medicines, etc. [1, 2, 8, 9].

2.1 Optimum Design Parameters for Maximizing the Effects of Acoustic Cavitation

The important parameters affecting the intensity of collapse and hence the yields from the reactors are:

- 1. The intensity of irradiation;
- 2. Frequency of irradiation;
- 3. Initial radius of the nuclei.

2.1.1 Intensity of Irradiation

The ratio of power introduced to the device and the energy dissipated in the medium is described as the intensity of the ultrasonic equipment. Thus, the intensity of irradiation can be varied by either altering the system power input or by transmission technique where two transducers are placed opposite to each other in the system.

Different types of equipment to induce acoustic cavitation are presented in Fig. 1. In ultrasonic probes (horns), the vibrations are emitted radially in all directions into the solution from the surface of the probe. In ultrasonic bath type systems, the transducers are placed under the bottom of the reactor such that the ultrasound waves are transmitted through the bottom wall of the bath. The equipment with multiple frequency or transducers is supplied to improve the energy dissipation.

The pressure increase created by a collapse of single-cavity reduces with a rise in irradiation intensity. However, certain key points are needed to be considered. Firstly, the positive impacts of cavitation begin to happen at a critical intensity



Fig. 1 Various types of sonocavitation reactors (a) ultrasound probe, (b) ultrasound bath, (c) dual-frequency flow cell

(the optimum range of intensity varied from 10 to 300 W/cm²). It follows the chemical reactions induced by cavitation, which result from the creation of a relatively small amount of free radicals. This amount of free radicals relies on the intensity and amount of cavitation events that, in turn, depend on the intensity of the radiation.

The change in intensity of irradiation plays an essential role in cavitation behavior. This change can be done either by varying the power input to the system or by providing multiple transducers where energy dissipation is increased. If the intensity is increased by raising the system's power input (P/V), there is a rise in the number of cavitation events and an increase in the cumulative pressure pulse (number of produced cavities multiplied by single bubble collapse pressure). In this situation, because of the larger magnitude of the released pressure energy, the degradation rate will be greater. Further increase in energy input enhances the number of cavities causing its coalescence, which results in lowering the degradation rate [10]. At a lower intensity, the change in the transmittance area of ultrasound equipment means that the same energy dissipation happens in a wider area, which results in uniform dispersion, with a greater active region of cavities resulting in increased cavitation output. Thus, the change in transmittance area of ultrasound equipment at lower intensity gives higher cavitational yield. The studies on emulsion characteristics of an oil-water system revealed that, although the power input to the ultrasound bath and horns are virtually identical, bath showed better emulsification effect. In the case of the ultrasound bath, the energy is dispersed over a wider transmission area comparing to the ultrasound horn [11].

It can be inferred that a gain in intensity increases the cavitational effect up to an optimum level. The maximum cavitational yield can be obtained at a lower intensity with a large transmittance area of ultrasound equipment. Campbell and Hoffmann [12] observed that there is a deviation from the increasing trend of cavitational effect when the intensity is increased beyond the optimum value of 250 W/L. At higher intensity, the decreasing effect was attributed to the loss of energy in the form of heat, as well as the increase in bubble coalescence, which ends in a lower intensity of bubble collapse, lowered mass transport, and reaction kinetics.

2.1.2 Frequency of Irradiation

The produced collapse pressure has already been shown to increase with a rise of radiation intensity in the frequency range typically studied (20-200 kHz frequently observed in ultrasonic applications) using theoretical simulations of Rayleigh-Plesset equations governing the bubble dynamics [13, 14]. Higher irradiation frequencies will, therefore, be preferred in the wastewater treatment systems to degrade chemical pollutants [15]. The enhanced sonochemical effects at higher frequencies can be attributed to reduced cavity dimensions (also leading to greater pressure effects during bubble collapse) and the greater region to volume ratio (improved spreading and mass transfer of liquid-phase reactants to vapor phase when pyrolytic degradation occurs). Moreover, at a higher frequency, the generated bubbles go through fewer acoustic cycles before reaching the required resonant dimension for collapse. Therefore, more bubbles at higher frequencies promote diffusion at a faster rate before a transient bubble collapse takes place. The frequency of ultrasound equipment cannot be changed over a variety of ranges since the transducer gives the highest transmission effectiveness at its resonating frequency. The range of frequencies usually used for physical effects is between 20 and 200 kHz, while greater frequencies are still used effectively for some cases.

The liquid inside the reactor is irradiated by immersion type transducer (ultrasound probe/sonotrode/horn) or the transducers placed at the bottom (ultrasound bath). The active regions under the influence of ultrasound waves are localized mostly near the surface of the transducer. To overcome these limitations, two or more transducers with similar or different frequencies are used. Transducers are mostly used in series of few to several pieces localized in a line parallel to the axis of the reaction chamber (often localized vice-versa on both sides of reaction chamber) – but sometimes also other geometries of transducers placing are used. In the case of the immersion type transducer, the irradiation is strongly localized in the place of sonotrode immersion. The irradiation intensity decreases along with the distance of sonotrode.

In the ultrasound reactor, there is a possibility of acoustic standing waves formation with consecutive positive and negative pressure phases from the different medium interface or reflection of waves from the reactor wall [16]. Due to the standing waves, big bubbles tend to coalesce, and thus, the energy is not evenly dissipated, leading to a reduction in reactor efficiency [17]. To overcome these limitations, the use of a dual-frequency processor or a parallel plate ultrasonic processor is a viable alternative. The attenuation of the sound would be decreased when the plates are positioned close together and result in the interference pattern of waves, minimizing standing waves and improving the cavitational process. The use of multiple frequency acoustic cavitation showed a fourfold increase in cavitational yield when compared with the single frequency. These multiple frequency modes (dual-frequency (17 kHz + 33 kHz)) has been employed in the treatment of large volume of wastewater (about 50 L) containing bacteria subtilis (concentration of approximately 10^4 CFU/mL) resulted in 85.25% efficiency (to reduce bacteria contamination) of treatment in 30 min while the single frequency mode (33 kHz) gave only 30.26% [18].

2.1.3 Initial Size of the Nuclei

The growth and collapse of bubbles from small-sized nuclei are more intense. Therefore, the reduction of the initial bubble size promotes a better cavitation effect. The physical properties such as viscosity, surface tension, and vapor pressure of the fluid influence the behavioral characteristics of bubbles produced [19, 20]. The threshold pressure required for bubble collapse increases with the increase in viscosity due to cohesive forces. Thus, the liquid medium with lower viscosity promotes a better cavitation effect. The use of a high vapor pressure medium instantly increases the vapor content inside the bubble, which results in a lesser cavitation effect due to the condensation process. Hence, liquid medium with low vapor pressure is preferred for higher bubble collapse intensity, which will lead to a higher cavitation effect. The surface tension of the liquid medium is directly proportional to the bubble formation and collapse pressure intensity because higher surface tension medium increases bubble contraction. The bubble collapse causes extremely high-pressure increase near the place of collapse; therefore, high surface tension media give higher preference when cavitation is used for treatment applications like disinfection of bacteria, milk process, etc. [21].

3 Hydrodynamic Cavitation

Hydrodynamic cavitation is a rapid transformation in the liquid when the liquid passes through a constriction such as a Venturi tube or orifice. In the place of constriction, the linear velocity of the liquid significantly increases at the cost of pressure drop – often below the vapor pressure of the liquid– leading to the

formation of cavitation bubbles [22]. After the constriction, the diameter of the tubing gets back to normal value, the linear velocity of the liquid falls, and the static pressure recovers, which results in the collapse of the cavities. Turbulence intensity in the cavitation and collapse zones has a high impact on the intensity of cavitation. Thus, by varying the geometric and operating conditions of the reactor, the cavitation intensity is optimized concerning the degradation effects of target pollutants present in the treated medium.

To link flow conditions with the strength of cavitation, a dimensionless number, known as cavitation number (C_v), is used (Eq. 1):

$$C_{\rm v} = \frac{P_2 - P_{\rm v}}{\frac{1}{2} \rho v^2} \tag{1}$$

where P_2 is the fully recovered downstream pressure, P_v is the vapor pressure of the liquid/medium, ρ is the liquid density, and v is the velocity of the liquid at the throat of the constriction [8].

Ideally, the initiation of cavitation happens at $C_v = 1$, and important cavitation impacts occur at C_v values below 1. When C_v reaches zero value, supercavitation takes place. At this condition, a cavitation cloud is formed, which strongly minimizes the effect of the bubbles collapse due to the coalescence of the bubbles.

The major advantages of hydrodynamic cavitation are as follows:

- 1. Reactions that require moderately rigorous conditions can be carried out under the surrounding conditions, which is the main benefit of the hydrodynamic cavitation.
- 2. It is the cheapest and most energy-efficient method of a cavitation generation.
- 3. The construction of cavitational equipment is relatively simple.
- 4. Such reactors are easy and cheap in maintenance.
- 5. It is relatively simple to scale up such processes.

It should be noted that, in terms of temperature and pressure, hydrodynamic cavitation provides a significantly lower intensity of collapse than acoustic cavitation. However, the simplicity and potential for implementation of hydrodynamic cavitation in the industry make it of high interest in scientific work as well as real scenario applications.

3.1 Optimum Design Parameters for Hydrodynamic Cavitation

Three aspects are commonly included in the studies for a full understanding of the hydrodynamic phenomenon:

- 1. Cavitation number.
- 2. Physicochemical properties of the liquid and initial size of the nuclei.
- 3. Type of cavitating reactor and its design details.

In terms of bubble collapse, pressure based upon numerical simulation using bubble dynamics equations and studies in separate reactors, the impact of the multiple design parameters listed above is widely examined. It is worth noting that there has been thorough research about the impacts of multiple design parameters on the efficiency of hydrodynamic cavitation-reactors, and only guidance on the selection of a certain parameter has been provided with fundamental discussions.

3.1.1 Cavitation Number

Cavitation number is one of the most important parameters for measuring the efficiency of the cavitation treatment process. This parameter is mutually interrelated with system inlet pressure. The required pressure on the fluid induces velocity via the cavitation system. With the increasing operating pressures, the flow velocity is increased across the throat, and the number of cavitation is decreased. The lower cavitation number generates more cavities as a result of high-pressure input, resulting in more hydroxyl radicals helping in maximum degradation of the pollutant compound. Many research studies found that the cavitation number ranging from 0.14 to 0.29 with operating inlet pressure 3–5 bar gave maximum efficiency in treatment processes [23].

3.1.2 Physicochemical Properties of the Liquid and Initial Size of the Nuclei

Similar to acoustic cavitation, the degradation process of hydrodynamic cavitation can be influenced by physicochemical properties of the aqueous medium such as liquid vapor pressure, density, viscosity, surface tension, dissolved gas in the liquid, etc. Cavitation takes place in a liquid medium when the cohesive forces are overcome. Thus, liquids with high viscosity have a much lower cavitational effect than liquids with low viscosity. As a result, the maximum cavitation effect can be achieved in liquids with low viscosity, such as water. For non-Newtonian fluids, the effect of viscosity on cavitation effectiveness is even more pronounced. The vapor pressure of the liquid medium also affects the efficiency of the cavitation. The production of cavities increases with the increase in the vapor pressure of the liquid medium. The cavities produced from high vapor pressure medium have lower cavitational intensity, which can efficiently degrade only simple organic compounds. While the lower vapor pressure medium generates cavities with a higher cavitational intensity, which is needed to degrade persistent organic compounds efficiently. The liquid medium with high surface tension has the most powerful cavitational effect (relating to the energy of bubble collapse). The nature of the contaminant molecule in the liquid medium also influences the efficiency of degradation with hydrodynamic cavitation. When the pollutant molecules are hydrophobic, they diffuse to the gas–water interface; thus, they are near the collapse of cavities. This results in the direct attack of 'OH radicals formed during bubble collapse and thus increases the degradation efficiency. If the pollutant molecules are hydrophilic, the molecules remain in the liquid medium and are not affected by the cavities collapse. The radical species need some time to reach these compounds.

3.1.3 Type of Cavitating Reactor

Hydrodynamic cavitation can be generated when the liquid is passed through a constriction. The kinetic energy and velocity of the liquid passing through a constriction increase. At the same time, the static pressure falls to fulfill the Bernoulli equation. Cavitation occurs when the static pressure becomes lower than the vapor pressure of the liquid. Simply, it could be said that under this condition, "the liquid starts to boil." The phenomenon of cavitation generation can take place at an orifice plate, in the throat of the Venturi tube, as well as near the surface of the high-speed rotor or high-speed homogenizer. Orifice and Venturi-based systems are efficient in generating cavitation for chemical reactions. Among orifice and Venturi, the cavitation generation is stable in Venturi-based hydrodynamic cavitation (HC) devices and, therefore, is mostly preferred for water treatment applications. The different types of Venturi-based and orifice-based HC devices are presented in Figs. 2 and 3.



Fig. 2 Venturi-based cavitating device (a) slit Venturi, (b) circular Venturi, (c) elliptical Venturi



The constriction can have a form of a throat (Venturi system, it can have a circular shape or other like elliptical or a slit type), i.e., a short length of Venturi, between the convergence and divergence sections, having much smaller diameter compared to the diameter of the inlet and outlet of the Venturi. In the case of the orifice, a plate placed inside of the orifice has one or mole holes having a small diameter. In each system (throat or orifice), the small internal diameter region is responsible to "speed up" the liquid to a liner velocity allowing to (according to Bernoulli equation) obtain an effective increase of dynamic pressure and a corresponding decrease of static pressure causing the formation of cavitation bubbles (Eq. 1 -cavitation number below 1 and - value P_2) Fig. 4.

A schematic arrangement of the hydrodynamic cavitation reactor is illustrated in Fig. 5 where a Venturi tube is used to generate a cavitation effect. The set-up consists of a closed circuit with a storage tank, a pump, and a cavitating device (Venturi tube). The pump discharge is divided into 2 sections. The primary first line consists



Fig. 5 Schematic representation of hydrodynamic cavitation reactor set-up

of a Venturi or orifice (cavitating device). The pressure gauge (P1) is mounted near the inlet of the Venturi or orifice, another one (P2) is attached to the outlet or discharge line from the Venturi or orifice. The fluid flow rate through the cavitation device is regulated by the pump total flow rate and a bypass line. The bypass line allows the use of optimal rotation speed of the pump and to split the stream to the desired flow rate into the cavitation system, and the remaining volume passed through the bypass. The flow rate through the mainline is regulated at the appropriate places using regulation valves. The application of the bypass is used mainly for research purposes. It allows using one pump with the regulator of the flow rate, which along with the bypass line, allows optimizing the cavitation conditions with respect to cavitation number (affected directly by the volumetric flow rate by the resulting linear velocity through the constriction). The flow rate splitting is not economically feasible; thus, it is not used in industrial practice. Furthermore, this feature should be included in economic analysis performed in research papers for adequate calculation of energy demand for optimized cavitation numbers.

Cavitation-Based Advanced Oxidation Processes

4 Cavitation-Based Advanced Oxidation (Cav-AOPs)

4.1 Formation of Radical Species Under Cavitation Conditions

The energy associated with physical phenomena can be used for intensification of chemical processes, which helps in developing novel solutions in various industries. Thus, the energy released during the cavitation phenomenon can be used to accelerate the formation of reactive radicals used in advanced oxidation processes (AOPs). AOPs have shown significant potential in the removal of organic pollutants over the past few decades. AOPs are defined as a class of techniques involving strong oxidizing species such as hydroxyl radicals (HO[•]) to degrade the pollutants. Having a high capability for destruction of pollutants, HO[•] are generated and used in a majority of AOPs. Various types of AOPs were explored to decompose or mineralize even the refractory organic molecules which possess recalcitrance to be conventional and biological water treatment technologies. As effective treatment technologies, AOPs can be applied as a single treatment process or incorporated into conventional treatment schemes depending on properties of the pollutant, wastewater origin, water matrix, pH, etc. Despite the high efficiency demonstrated in lab-scale experiments, AOPs found limited use in industrial-scale, mainly due to the high cost of the treatments as well as maintenance [24].

This effect of cavitation is often used in effluent treatment technologies because it ensures the disruption of bacterial cultures, decomposition of persistent organic compounds, and dissociation of water molecules into a variety of radical species, including H[•], HO[•], HO[•]₂⁻, HOO[•] [3, 25]. The generated radicals are extremely unstable and reactive due to their high redox potential. The reaction between organic contaminants and these reactive radicals is extremely fast and non-selective, mainly controlled by the production yield of radicals and mass transfer processes between radicals and pollutants. According to recent reports, cavitation is effective in the degradation of organic pollutants present in a variety of water matrices such as tap water, groundwater, and industrial effluents. When applied individually, cavitation was often reported to give a low rate of degradation, which ranges from 20 to 50%. Comparably, high degradation rates were obtained when cavitation was combined with hydrogen peroxide, ozone, and/or peroxone, often leading to 100% removal efficiency [3].

4.2 Effect of External Oxidants – Oxygen, Ozone, Hydrogen Peroxide, Persulfates: Hybrid Processes

A combination of cavitation with an AOP is a physicochemical technique, recently adopted for wastewater treatments. As a hybrid water treatment technique, the

combination of cavitational methods with various AOPs has been reported in the literature for the degradation of many organic pollutants [25–27]. Obtained results indicated a considerable increase in degradation rates of pollutants, which was attributed to the intensification of the production of radicals and their facilitated diffusion into the liquid. It is widely recognized that the enhancement is a result of synergism between cavitation and AOP due to the similarity in the mechanism of pollutant degradation and jointly overcome drawbacks [28]. To measure the improvement obtained in the hybrid technique, the index of synergy (ε) can be calculated using Eq. 2. Its value indicates the degree of synergism between the combined techniques in the observed experiment or its absence if the calculated value of the synergy index is below 1.

$$\varepsilon = \frac{k_{\text{Cav}/\text{AOPs}}}{k_{\text{Cav}} + k_{\text{AOPs}}} \tag{2}$$

Typical hybrid approaches include hydrodynamic and acoustic cavitation at optimum operational conditions coupled with AOPs based on external oxidants, UV irradiation, photocatalysis, electrochemical oxidation, and Fenton's reaction. Most of the typically used external oxidants (oxygen, ozone, hydrogen peroxide, persulfate) were already tested in Cav-AOPs.

4.2.1 Hybrid Processes Based on Ozone and Cavitation Phenomenon

Appreciable insights on the decomposition of methyl tert-butyl ether have been gained by acoustic cavitation in the presence of ozone [29]. In this study, the combination of ozone (0.30 mM) with ultrasonic irradiation (205 kHz, 200 W) compared to sole ultrasonic treatment increased the observed first-order rate constant of methyl tert-butyl ether from 8.5×10^{-4} to 33.2×10^{-4} s⁻¹. It was concluded that the increase in kinetic rates was caused by enhanced direct reaction of the substrate with ozone at the cavitational bubble interface or due to indirect reactions with ozone decomposition products. Further studies of the ozone effect on the formation rate of hydrogen peroxide provided a more plausible explanation for the observed reactions [29]. Thus, in the coupled process of ozone and ultrasound, ozone molecules were proposed to undergo thermal decomposition in the gas phase of the cavitational bubble to yield molecular and atomic oxygen. A wide variety of radical reactions may occur initiated by an unstable oxygen atom, including the formation of hydroxyl radicals (HO[•]) [3]:

~ . .

$$O_3 \xrightarrow{\text{Cavitation}} O_2 + O(^3P)$$
 (3)

$$O(^{3}P) + H_{2}O \rightarrow 2HO^{\bullet}$$
⁽⁴⁾

At the interfacial zone, ozone reacts with hydroxide ion HO⁻ and the conjugate base of H_2O_2 (HO₂⁻) to generate hydroperoxyl (HO₂[•]) and hydroxyl radical (HO[•]) in accordance of reactions (5) and (6).

$$O_3 + HO^- \to HO_2^- + O_2 \tag{5}$$

$$O_3 + HO_2^- \to HO_2^- + O_3^- \tag{6}$$

 HO_2^- can be formed not only as a product of the reaction between ozone and HO^- but also as a result of H_2O_2 disassociation (reaction (7)):

$$\mathrm{H}_{2}\mathrm{O}_{2} \stackrel{\mathrm{pKa=11.8}}{\rightarrow} \mathrm{HO}_{2}^{-} + \mathrm{H}^{+} \tag{7}$$

Substantial enhancement in the degradation of methyl tert-butyl ether was achieved by the combined process of ozonation plus ultrasound compared to the sole use of ozonation or ultrasound. The enhanced degradation was attributed to the significant contribution of the direct reaction of ozone with the pollutant. This reaction is almost negligible at ambient conditions but accelerated due to zones of high temperature at the interfacial regions of the cavitational bubbles and can be illustrated as follows:

Substrate +
$$O_3 \xrightarrow{\Delta} Products + H_2O_2$$
 (8)

During the ozonation-ultrasound process, H_2O_2 was reported to play a crucial role. Being readily formed by sonolysis of water, it also reacts with ozone (reaction (9)) contributing to the overall removal of pollutants:

$$O_3 + H_2O_2 \to HO^{\bullet} + HO_2^{\bullet} + O_2 \tag{9}$$

Reaction (9) initiates a chain of radical reactions, which leads to the decomposition of ozone and the formation of reactive radicals (HO HO₂). On the other hand, the accumulation of H_2O_2 quenches radical species, thus terminating the radical chain reactions. The combination of reactive radicals to form stable products could be considered as chain-termination reactions (e.g., Eqs. 10 and 11):

$$\mathrm{HO}_{2}^{\bullet} + \mathrm{HO}^{\bullet} \to \mathrm{H}_{2}\mathrm{O} + \mathrm{O}_{2} \tag{10}$$

$$\mathrm{HO}^{\bullet} + \mathrm{HO}^{\bullet} \to \mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O}_2 \tag{11}$$

Similarly, the higher removal efficiency of organic contaminants has been reported for ozonation, coupled with hydrodynamic cavitation [30]. Enhancement of mass transfer of ozone along with the accelerated formation of HO[•] and atomic oxygen induced by cavitation was highlighted as the main advantages of the coupled process. The mineralization degree of reactive orange 4 dye was significantly increased when hydrodynamic cavitation was coupled with ozonation. TOC removal

of 14.67% was obtained in the sole hydrodynamic cavitation process, which increased to 76.25% by combining ozone with hydrodynamic cavitation [30]. The synergy index of 3.03 was estimated based on the mineralization rate and indicates that the hybrid process of hydrodynamic cavitation with ozone is better as compared to individual processes [30]. Similar observations were made for the degradation of methyl tert-butyl ether by ultrasound coupled with ozonation and phenol under suction-cavitation in the presence of ozone using orifice as cavitation unit [29, 31]. Studies on the degradation of triazophos revealed the superiority in the effectiveness of ozonation combined with hydrodynamic cavitation over ozonation alone. The Pseudo-first order rate constant of $41.3 \times 10^{-3} \text{ min}^{-1}$ observed in ozonation alone was increased to $58.26 \times 10^{-3} \text{ min}^{-1}$ for the combined process. TOC removal of 96% was achieved in 60 min when ozone loading of 1.95 g/h was injected directly into the solution tank. The introduction of ozone into the solution tank instead of at orifice improved the degradation rate of triazophos by 8%. This was attributed to the effect of a drop-in inlet pressure of the medium before the orifice plate resulting from the introduction of ozone and thus the limitation of the cavitation phenomenon. At the same time, amounts of oxidants in the system become limited due to decreased solubility of ozone and oxygen caused by the lowered pressure. The introduction of ozone at the orifice plate dropped the flow rate of water from 290 to 120 L/h at 5 bar pressure. A lowered flow rate leads to a decrease in the number of passes of the liquid in the reactor, thus affecting the dissociation of water and ozone-producing reactive radical species [32].

Another example of the application of the ozonation, coupled with hydrodynamic cavitation, is the treatment of organic pollutants present in the effluents from bitumen production. Oxygenated organic compounds such as 1-propanal, 2-pentanone, furfural, 1-hexanol, phenol, m-cresol present in the complex composition of real industrial effluent were almost completely degraded by hydrodynamic cavitation aided with ozone after 180 min of treatment. Studies on COD and BOD profiles of the effluent revealed a 40% and 50% reduction of these parameters describing changes in total pollutants load – which in terms of industrial, highly polluted effluents confirms the applicability of this technology for effective pretreatment of such effluents before biological treatment stage [27]. Ozonation combined with hydrodynamic cavitation was suggested as a potentially effective approach to lower the content of toxic organic compounds, especially phenols, its derivatives, as well as other oxygen-containing compounds that are known to be toxic to activated sludge used in biological treatment of refinery effluents. Furthermore, this process is sufficient to simultaneously decolorize, disinfect, and reduce malodorousness of the effluent.

4.2.2 Hybrid Processes Based on Hydrogen Peroxide and Cavitation Phenomenon

The aqueous solution of hydrogen peroxide is an effective and green oxidizing agent commonly used in various technologies. Having pKa = 11.69, hydrogen peroxide is

considered a weak acid, and its properties strongly depend on the pH value of the reaction medium. At acidic conditions, hydrogen peroxide shows an oxidation potential of 1.80 V, while this value drops to 0.87 V at pH 14. Under alkaline conditions, reactions with hydroxyl ions induce an increasing tendency of decomposition of H_2O_2 resulting in the formation of per hydroxyl anion and water (Eq. 12) [33]:

$$H_2O_2 + HO^{-} \xrightarrow{pH>7} HO_2^{-} + H_2O$$
(12)

Low stability of H_2O_2 in alkaline media is the main disadvantage, which limits its practical use as a sole oxidizing agent. As a sole oxidant, H_2O_2 is used in industrial processes involving direct oxidation of carboxylic acids, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, and haloalkenes at acidic conditions. Extreme conditions of collapsing gas bubbles during hydrodynamic and acoustic cavitation, lead to the thermal dissociation of H_2O_2 into HO^{\bullet} , which is capable of decomposing a wide range of organic contaminants in water and wastewater:

$$H_2O_2 \xrightarrow{\text{Cavitation}} 2HO^{\bullet}$$
 (13)

Once generated, HO[•] initiate radical chain reactions and amplify oxidation of organic contaminants, which are reduced or degraded completely. Despite numerous studies, the detailed mechanism of oxidation reactions has not yet been fully elucidated. Nevertheless, it has been established that the oxidation of halogenated organic compounds involves abstraction of halogen atom followed by the addition of oxygen to the formed organic radical. This step results in the formation of the corresponding intermediates, such as aldehydes, ketones, carboxylic acids, etc., which are subsequently converted to CO_2 , H_2O , and halogen anions in the final step.

Both hydrodynamic (HC) and acoustic cavitation (AC), in combination with H₂O₂, showed an enhanced degradation efficiency for a variety of pollutants. The improvement in the degradation efficiency was concluded as a result of the intensification of HO[•] production in treated medium [3, 34, 35]. For example, organosulfur compounds (2-ethylthiophene, dibutyl sulfide, di-tert butyl sulfide) were degraded above 80% under HC induced by Venturi tube ($C_v = 0.14$, inlet pressure 8 bar). Phenol and its derivatives (4-ethylphenol, m-cresol, o-cresol) were completely degraded in 360 min [3]. After 180 min of the treatment, the lowest oxidation degree was observed for 2-nitrophenol ($66.9\% - AC + H_2O_2$, $62.9\% - HC + H_2O_2$). In this case, the lower degradation rate was attributed to the formation of intermediate products, which compete for HO[•] due to its non-selective nature. Comparable results in degradation of 2-nitrophenol were obtained by AC + H₂O₂ under acidic conditions (59% in 90 min at pH 3.7, $C_0 = 1\%$, V = 7 L, T = 28°C, $[H_2O_2] = 5$ g L⁻¹, AC = 25 kHz, 1 W). Complete degradation of imidacloprid was obtained for hydrodynamic cavitation aided with H₂O₂ in 120 min in acidic media (pH 3, $C_0 = 20$ ppm, V = 4 L, $T = 34^{\circ}$ C, $[H_2O_2] = 80$ ppm, inlet pressure = 4 bar, $C_{\rm v} = 0.37$). When comparing two different cavitating devices (hydrodynamic and

acoustic) aided with H_2O_2 in terms of the degradation efficiency, an improvement of 5–10% was observed for hydrodynamic cavitation. It was suggested that the reactor of hydrodynamic cavitation with a cavitation number of 0.14 possesses a higher cavitation intensity and provides a longer residence time in the cavitational zone, increasing the probability of the reaction with HO[•] comparing to an acoustic cavitation system based on 25 kHz frequency ultrasonic transducers. According to these results, both cavitation techniques, in combination with H_2O_2 , can effectively be used in the degradation of organic contaminants in a wider pH range.

Decomposition of diclofenac sodium using hybrid processes based on hydrodynamic cavitation and hydrogen peroxide has been reported by [36]. It was combined with the addition of catalyst (TiO₂). Effect of inlet fluid pressure (2–4 bar), initial pH of the solution (2–7.5) as well as TiO₂ and H₂O₂ loadings were studied to optimize the operating conditions. The maximum extent of degradation of diclofenac sodium achieved by sole hydrodynamic cavitation was 26.85 at an optimized inlet pressure of 3 bar and pH of 4. Hybrid processes of hydrodynamic cavitation with UV, UV/TiO₂, and UV/TiO₂/H₂O₂ resulted in enhanced degradation as compared to individual processes. 95% degradation and 76% TOC removal have been observed when hydrodynamic cavitation was coupled with UV/TiO₂/H₂O₂ at optimal conditions. In this case, the synergy index was estimated to be 2.5.

Studies on the degradation of 2,4-dinitrophenol revealed higher removal efficiency for a homogeneous Fenton process coupled with HC rather than Fenton-like processes coupled with HC. Thus, underestimated optimal conditions, conventional Fenton process ($[H_2O_2] = 0.3 \text{ g/L}$, $[FeSO_4] = 0.6 \text{ g/L}$) in combination with hydrodynamic cavitation gave complete degradation of 2,4-dinitrophenol in 60 min, whereas Fenton ($[H_2O_2] = 0.4 \text{ g/L}$, [Fe] = 0.6 g/L) resulted in 54.1% of degradation in 120 min. The Fenton-like process, with a loading ratio of H_2O_2 : CuO (1:6), achieved 29.8% in 120 min [37]. These processes have demonstrated greater efficiency than the sum of individual efficiencies that could be achieved with a separate treatment – which proved the synergism of the combined processes.

4.2.3 Hybrid Processes Based on Peroxone and Cavitation Phenomenon

The combination of H_2O_2 with O_3 is a type of AOP with a high oxidation capacity and is named as peroxone. The reaction of H_2O_2 with O_3 gives rise to a large number of HO[•], responsible species for the degradation of organic contaminants present in wastewaters. The superior activity of the peroxone process over ozonation was demonstrated for the degradation of refractory organic compounds. An increase in HO[•] concentration in the reaction system was suggested as the main factor of the improvement, which was induced by accelerated decomposition of O_3 in the presence of H_2O_2 [25]. The mechanism of reactive radicals (HO[•] and HO₂[•]) formation during the peroxone process involves decomposition of O_3 via electron transfer with H_2O_2 or activation of H_2O_2 at alkaline conditions. The resulted HO[•] and HO₂[•] are capable of oxidizing practically every contaminant present in the treated medium. The reactions generating reactive radicals during peroxone process can be summarized as follows [23]:

$$H_2O_2 + O_3 \xrightarrow{\text{Cavitation}} HO^{\bullet} + HO_2^{\bullet} + O_2$$
(14)

$$\mathrm{HO}^{\bullet} + \mathrm{O}_{3} \stackrel{\mathrm{Cavitation}}{\to} \mathrm{HO}_{2}^{\bullet} + \mathrm{O}_{2} \tag{15}$$

$$HO_2 + O_3 \xrightarrow{\text{Cavitation}} HO^{\bullet} + 2O_2$$
 (16)

It was reported that H_2O_2 transforms into ionized form (HO_2^- , pKa = 11.6), which rapidly reacts with ozone yielding HO^{\bullet} according to the following reaction [38]:

$$O_3 + HO_2^{\bullet} \rightarrow HO^{\bullet} + O_2 + O_2^{\bullet}$$
(17)

This reaction is significantly intensified at high pH values and increases HO[•] concentration, thereby increasing the efficacy of the process. Favorable contribution of basic pH on the removal of various pollutants by cavitation/peroxone system has been widely reported. For instance, carbon disulfide (CS_2) , dimethyl sulfide (C_2H_6S) , and di-*tert*-butyl-disulfide (t-Bu₂S₂) were effectively removed from the effluent of bitumen production by HC and AC combined with peroxone process at strongly alkaline pH [26]. Complete degradation of CS₂, C₂H₆S, t-Bu₂S₂ by the combined operation of hydrodynamic cavitation ($C_v = 0.14$) with peroxone was achieved in 30 min, while the sole use of HC took 120 min to reach the same degradation rate. Similar trends in the degradation of the target organosulfur compounds were observed during acoustic cavitation (173 W/L, 25 kHz) with peroxone. Based on oxidation rates, the system of AC + peroxone was found faster than HC + peroxone in the degradation of t- Bu_2S_2 , as the sonic energy is effective in breaking down and oxidation of this contaminant. Both techniques demonstrated the rapid removal of sulfide ions and organosulfur contaminants from the caustic industrial effluent without pH adjustment. COD reduction results of the postoxidative effluent showed no significant difference between hydrodynamic and acoustic cavitation in combination with peroxone. Thus, 51 and 59% of COD removal were obtained for acoustic (172.9 W/L, 25 kHz) and hydrodynamic cavitation (220 W/L) aided by peroxone in 360 min, respectively. Slightly higher effectiveness of the HC + peroxone system was attributed to the increase of ozone solubility in the bulk of the effluent as the stream of O_3 is injected into the overpressure zone of the Venturi tube.

Further investigations revealed that both methods are highly effective in the degradation of aromatic compounds, alcohols, aldehydes, and ketones [39]. Similarly, the positive impact of the combination of HC ($C_v = 0.11$, pH 7.8) and peroxone was demonstrated in the elimination of natural organic matter from drinking water. In this case, studies on the efficiency of DOC removal showed a decrease of the initial concentration (up to 3 mg/L) by 40% after 60 min [40].

The application of hybrid processes based on cavitation and peroxone proved to have significant advantages. It follows from [3]:

- increased formation of hydroxyl radicals in cavitation conditions,
- increased mass transfer of ozone to the aqueous phase (it must be absorbed by water from injected gas phase), and
- the higher rate constant values of organic pollutant degradation.

4.2.4 Hybrid Processes Based on Persulfate and Cavitation Phenomenon

In recent years, sulfate radical based AOPs (S-AOPs) have been identified as an alternative to classical AOPs (i.e., hydroxyl radical based AOPs) and received a growing interest of researchers. S-AOPs generate and use sulfate radicals (SO₄^{•-}), which possess a strong oxidation potential (2.6 V). Sulfate radicals have a longer half-life than OH[•] (SO₄^{•-} = 30–40 μ s and [•]OH = <1 μ s) [41]. Therefore, SO₄^{•-} could diffuse efficiently into the reaction mixture with high mass transfer and larger contact time for the reaction with target contaminants [41]. $SO_4^{\bullet-}$ prefer electron transfer reactions, whereas OH[•] react through a series of reactions involving electron transfer, electrophilic addition, and hydrogen abstraction [41]. The combination of the high oxidation potential of $SO_4^{\bullet-}$ and slow consumption rate of precursor oxidant (stability), makes S-AOPs very effective for the degradation of recalcitrant organic compounds. Two types of $SO_4^{\bullet-}$ precursors are commonly used in S-AOPs: persulfate (PS) and peroxymonosulfate (PMS). Persulfate $(S_2O_8^{2-})$ can be activated by heat, UV irradiation, and transition metal ions to produce SO₄^{•-}. Cavitation bubbles induced by ultrasound irradiation or generated by hydrodynamic cavitation were reported to initiate the activation of PS in aqueous solution at ambient conditions. The mechanism of PS activation in a cavitating bubble system was proposed to occur by two possible mechanisms. First, the SO_4^{-} can be formed as a result of the thermal dissociation of PS due to localized high temperature and high pressure in the "hot spots" of collapsing bubbles. Second, extreme conditions in the "hot spots" lead to homolytic cleavage of water molecules yielding HO[•] and H[•]. Interaction of the produced radicals with PS results in the formation of $SO_4^{\bullet-}$ [42, 43]:

$$S_2 O_8^{2-} \xrightarrow{\Delta} 2SO_4^{\bullet-}$$
 (18)

$$H_2O \xrightarrow{\text{Cavitation}} HO^{\bullet} + H^{\bullet}$$
(19)

$$S_2O_8^{2-} + HO^{\bullet} \to H^+ + SO_4^{2-} + SO_4^{\bullet-} + \frac{1}{2}O_2$$
 (20)

 $S_2 O_8^{2-} + H^{\bullet} \to H^+ + S O_4^{2-} + S O_4^{\bullet -}$ (21)

Thermal dissociation of water takes place in the gaseous phase of the cavitational bubble, inside of which the temperature can reach 2,000–5,000 K. The released

temperature heats the liquid sheath surrounding the bubble core resulting in a higher temperature, pressure and possible supercritical water zone in the interfacial region. It is assumed that the formation of $SO_4^{\bullet-}$ takes place in the interfacial region between the gaseous and liquid phase, inside the supercritical water layer, where the diffusivity and reactivity of PS are enhanced. Formed adducts are released from the interfacial region to bulk aqueous solution, where the activation of PS is negligible due to ambient temperature [43]. In addition, the energy emitted during the cavitational bubble collapse increases the production of HO[•] by the reaction of $SO_4^{\bullet-}$ with water and HO⁻. HO[•] can destroy oxidizable contaminants or convert SO_4^{2-} to $SO_4^{\bullet-}$ by electron transfer mechanism [43]:

$$\mathrm{SO}_4^{\bullet-} + \mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O} \to \mathrm{HO}^{\bullet} + \mathrm{SO}_4^{2-}$$
 (22)

$$\mathrm{SO}_4^{\bullet-} + \mathrm{HO}^- \to \mathrm{HO}^{\bullet} + \mathrm{SO}_4^{2-} \tag{23}$$

$$\mathrm{HO}^{\bullet} + \mathrm{SO}_{4}^{2-} \to \mathrm{SO}_{4}^{\bullet-} + \mathrm{HO}^{-}$$
(24)

PS activated by cavitation exhibited a considerable potential in water treatment due to low operating cost and simple design of the equipment. PS activation achieved by HC was found effective in the degradation of persistent organic pollutants, endocrine-disrupting chemicals, bio-refractory dyes, etc. The degradation of bisphenol A was investigated under a cost-effective HC-PS system using varying operating conditions [44]. To achieve optimal degradation efficiency, the operating parameters such as HC inlet pressure, PS loading, pH, temperature, and water matrix have been studied. In this study, an orifice plate with a concentric hole of 2 mm diameter was used as a cavitating device. Application of the PS-HC process at the optimum pressure of 0.5 MPa and cavitation number (C_v) of 1.02 showed that the degradation rate constant of bisphenol A was $12.7 \times 10^{-3} \text{ min}^{-1}$.

On the other hand, degradation rate constants of 1×10^{-3} and 4.7×10^{-3} min⁻¹ were calculated for sole HC and sole PS treatments, respectively. The synergy index was 2.23. Although the main degradation mechanism of bisphenol A using the PS-HC system corresponded to $SO_4^{\bullet-}$, a minor contribution from HO[•] (10.32%) was also observed.

Combined treatment strategy based on cavitation and PS was examined to decolorize model wastewaters containing widely used bio-refractory dyes, i.e., Orange Acid-II and Brilliant Green [45]. Comparison of cavitating conditions generated by HC and AC indicated maximum decolorization for HC combined with PS for both dye effluents. At the optimum conditions, HC combined with PS (C = 535.72 mg/L) completely decolorized Orange Acid-II after 60 min of the treatment. In the case of the AC-PS system, at an oxidant loading of 1.61 g/L, 70% of decolorization was obtained after 120 min. Enhancement in dye decolorization was related to the active zone, over which cavitational events occur. Thus, HC provides more active sites in the pipe line to form SO_4^{--} , whereas cavitational events in AC occur near the tip of the horn generating US irradiation. Significant enhancement in the degradation of naphthol blue-black dye was achieved by PS activated by AC at

low US frequency and power [46]. Sonochemical degradation of naphthol blueblack in the presence of PS investigated at 20 kHz showed enhancement in degradation efficiency of 36% compared to the sole AC process.

On the other hand, the enhancement was only 10% in the US system, with a very high frequency of 585 kHz. These observations coincide with the study on operating acoustic power, where the enhancement of the degradation rate increased significantly at the lower acoustic power. Such a trend of reactions was attributed to the intensification of radical-radical recombination reaction due to excess of radicals production. Generation of $SO_4^{\bullet-}$ was elevated at higher acoustic power as more heat from cavitational bubbles was dissipated. The maximum internal bubble temperature was reported to be 4,140 K at 80 W and 1,147 K at 10 W.

4.2.5 Hybrid Processes Based on Peroxymonosulfate and Cavitation Phenomenon

 $SO_4^{\bullet-}$ can also be produced by breaking the two oxygen bonds from peroxymonosulfate (PMS). Activation technologies of PMS are similar to PS and include different methods such as thermal activation [26, 47], UV irradiation [48], transition metal ions (Fe²⁺, Cu²⁺, Co²⁺) [41, 49, 50], carbonaceous materials [51], etc. Extreme conditions generated by the implosive collapse of cavitational bubbles have also been tried as an activation approach of PMS [41, 52]. Activation of PMS, along with the degradation reactions of target compounds, is all assumed to occur near the interfacial region during the cavitation process. In general, activation of PMS has resulted in the formation of SO₄^{•-} and HO[•] [53]:

$$HSO_{5}^{-} \xrightarrow{Cavitation} SO_{4}^{\bullet -} + HO^{\bullet}$$
(25)

Application of cavitation was reported to be highly efficient in PMS activation toward the degradation of contaminants present in water [42, 52, 53]. Degradation of Cresol Red dye was drastically intensified by the addition of oxone (PMS) under the US with a working frequency of 300 kHz. 99% of decolorization degree was attained in the presence of PMS in 75 min, while sonolysis alone gave 90% in 120 min [54]. The increase in PMS concentration from 10^{-4} to 10^{-1} M substantially increased the apparent rate constant of the bleaching process from 0.042 to 0.083 min^{-1} , respectively. Simultaneous formation of SO₄^{•-} and HO[•] was proposed favorable to the rapid degradation of Cresol Red molecule as both radicals have a unique mechanism of the reaction. Synergistic effect of $SO_4^{\bullet-}$ and HO[•] produced by PMS/acoustic cavitation system (20 kHz, 500 W) resulted in 95% removal of Cresol Red in 60 min, while 83% and 46% of decolorization degree were obtained by using PS/acoustic cavitation and H₂O₂/acoustic cavitation systems, respectively [55]. Simultaneous generation of SO4^{•-} and HO[•] during the PMS/US process (20 kHz, 600 W) was demonstrated by quenching experiments and electron paramagnetic resonance spectrometry. The contribution of both radicals increased the

efficiency of sulfamethazine antibiotic degradation. Kinetic studies revealed that the degradation rate of sulfamethazine by PMS/US was 6.4 and 86 times higher than that of sole PS and US processes [52]. Reduction of the reaction energy barrier required for the oxidation of amoxicillin was observed during its degradation under Co^{2+} /Oxone/US process (20 kHz, 200 W). Studies on mineralization of amoxicillin showed that COD removal efficiencies were in the order of Oxone < Oxone/Co²⁺⁻ < Oxone/US < Co²⁺/Oxone/US [56, 57]. The accelerated formation of free radicals (SO₄^{•-} and HO[•]) provided by an increased number of active cavitation bubbles and fast activation of PMS is considered as the main enhancement routes of PMS/US process assisted by the US irradiation [54, 58].

4.3 Sonocatalytic Advanced Oxidation Process

Recently, the utilization of ultrasound in the presence of an appropriate catalyst is named sonocatalysis and is considered as one of the promising and efficient treatment techniques for the degradation of refractory organic pollutants in aquatic environments. Ultrasound alone cannot directly interact with organic compounds because the ultrasound energy is not sufficient to even change their vibrational energy levels. Moreover, the ultrasound waves are larger than the dimension of the target molecules [59]. Utilization of ultrasound alone leads to the formation of 'OH in the bulk solution to degrade organic pollutants due to the cavitation phenomenon; however, the amount of 'OH generated via ultrasonication is not enough to effectively destruct and mineralize the organic pollutants. Therefore, the treatment of polluted streams by ultrasounds alone needs higher reaction time and, consequently, higher energy to overcome this issue. To solve this limitation, catalytically enhanced ultrasonic degradation, i.e., sonocatalysis, was developed as an AOP for the decomposition of refractory organic pollutants based on the implementation of an appropriate catalyst with sonocatalytic properties [60, 61]. In this regard, nanostructured catalysts such as ZnO [62-64] and TiO₂ [65, 66] are widely applied for the sonocatalytic processes. An aquatic phase with a sufficient amount of heterogeneous catalyst produces many more interfaces for the enhanced creation of cavitation bubbles [67]. The best results have been obtained when nanostructured sonocatalysts are used for the sonocatalysis due to their higher surface area and remarkable active sites. Therefore, nanostructured sonocatalysts produce more free radical species under ultrasonication. The presence of a suitable sonocatalyst results in the fast decomposition of organic pollutant owing to the formation of extra nuclei for the creation of cavitation bubbles. High pressure (>1,800 atm) along with high temperature (>5,000 K) is produced via violent collapse of cavitation bubbles named as "hot spot" phenomenon, promoting the pyrolysis of water molecules to 'OH and H' as presented in the following equations [61, 68]:

$$H_2O + Ultrasound \rightarrow OH + H$$
 (26)

$$OH + OH \to H_2O_2$$
(27)

Therefore, hydrogen peroxide can be produced as a result of the interaction of the generated 'OH in the bulk solution as well as the liquid-bubble interface (Eq. 27). Hydrogen peroxide molecules further reacted with hydrogen radicals, producing 'OH in the solution (Eq. 28):

$$H_2O_2 + H^{\bullet} \to H_2O + {}^{\bullet}OH \tag{28}$$

When an appropriate heterogeneous sonocatalyst (both undoped and doped sonocatalyst) is used, as-generated hydrogen peroxides react with the sonocatalyst surface, thereby generating a number of free radicals for the improved degradation of organic pollutants. In addition, extra nuclei are provided when heterogeneous sonocatalyst is used, which intensifies the formation rate of cavitation bubbles, promoting the pyrolysis rate of water molecules [68, 69]. The cavitation phenomenon is unsymmetrical close to the solid-liquid interface because the sonocatalyst fine particles act as a wall for the transmission of cavitation bubbles. The inrush of liquid from one side of the cavitation bubbles initiates forceful microjets, resulting in the surface cleaning, the boundary layers extermination, and enhanced mass and heat transfer in the bulk solution [59]. From another point of view, heterogeneous sonocatalyst can act as a photocatalyst that can utilize the energy emitted during the bubble collapse (named as "sonoluminescence" phenomenon). In this regard, the ultrasound leads to the formation of a wide-wavelength light during cavitation phenomenon, which stimulates the sonocatalyst to play photocatalytic role generating electron-hole (e^{-}/h^{+}) pairs and subsequently, 'OH in the sono-reactor as shown in the following reactions [68, 69]:

Sonocatalyst + Ultrasound
$$\rightarrow h^+ + e^-$$
 (29)

$$e^- + O_2 \to O_2^{\bullet -} \tag{30}$$

$$h^+ + H_2 O \rightarrow OH + H^+ \tag{31}$$

Organic pollutant +
$$^{\circ}OH \rightarrow$$
 Intermediate byproducts
 \rightarrow Inorganic species + H₂O + CO₂ (32)

According to the above reactions, the as-generated e^- interact with dissolved oxygen molecules producing superoxide radical anion (O₂^{•-}) as well as the reaction of h⁺ with water results in the formation of [•]OH in the solution. At the same time, h⁺ or e⁻ can react directly with adsorbed pollutants. According to the published reports [61, 70–73], sonocatalytic degradation of various organic compounds by different sonocatalysts (ZnO, TiO₂, MgO, etc.) followed pseudo-first-order kinetic model, described as Eq. 33:

Cavitation-Based Processes for Water and Wastewater Treatment

$$\ln C = \ln C_{\rm o} - k_{\rm app} t \tag{33}$$

where C_0 and C are the initial and remaining concentration of the target compound at the specified reaction time of zero and t min, respectively. k_{app} refers to the apparent reaction rate constant of the kinetic model (\min^{-1}) . The application of doped sonocatalysts has also been considered to hinder the recombination of sonogenerated e^--h^+ pairs in order to enhance the production rate of 'OH. For this purpose, heavy and rare-earth metals have been incorporated into pure sonocatalyst lattice that has successfully improved catalytic activity of the sonocatalyst under ultrasonication [64, 68, 73]. Regarding the economic aspects of the sonocatalytic treatment techniques, immobilization of particulate sonocatalysts on suitable support including clay [62, 69, 71] and carbon [65, 66, 74] based substances is considered to avoid the washout of precious catalyst from the sono-reactor. Also, it has been confirmed that the immobilization of particulate sonocatalysts may lead to the enhanced sonocatalytic decomposition of organic contaminants. This enhancement is associated with the creation of additional nuclei for the formation of more cavitation bubbles, thereby generating more 'OH in the liquid phase [62]. Besides, the immobilization prevents the aggregation of fine sonocatalyst particles in the solution [61, 71]. In the case of carbon-based substances supported sonocatalysts, the lower recombination rate of sono-generated e^--h^+ pairs is reported [67]. Overall, the sonocatalysis is an efficient purification method for the decomposition of organic compounds in comparison with the ultrasound alone. However, this process needs to be further examined to verify its ability under real conditions to treat real industrial wastewaters containing both organic and inorganic compounds. Moreover, the release of sonocatalyst particles into various ecosystems must also be considered. It is required to assess the bio-toxicity of the treated effluent before being discharged into the environment.

4.3.1 Applications of Sonocatalysis

Sonocatalysis is considered as a powerful and promising treatment technique for the effective degradation of various persistent pollutants in aquatic environments. In this regard, sonocatalysis has been successfully utilized for the treatment of colored wastewaters containing organic dyes. There are many research results in which the sonocatalysis has been effectively applied for the decolorization of synthetic and real textile wastewaters using various forms of sonocatalysts [66, 75–78]. The efficiency of the sonocatalysis for the treatment of real textile wastewaters is specified in terms of chemical oxygen demand (COD) and total organic carbon (TOC) reduction. However, longer reaction time is required to attain effective decolorization and mineralization in real wastewaters in comparison with synthetic wastewaters. In the case of sonocatalysis for real wastewaters, the issue of the presence of scavenging compounds is of great concern. The hydroxyl radicals formed during sonocatalysis are prone to be deactivated by various inorganic (CO_3^{2-} , Cl^- ,

HCO₃⁻, etc.) and organic (alcoholic compounds, phenols, organic acids, etc.) radical scavengers which are abundant in real textile wastewaters [79]. Overall, the sonocatalysis is an economically feasible treatment process with high usability for the reclamation of real textile wastewaters if the careful selection of the sonocatalyst, along with the optimization of operational parameters, is conducted.

The sonocatalytic process is also used as an effective alternative to the photocatalytic process (ultraviolet irradiation together with a suitable photocatalyst) for the treatment of wastewater generated through the pulping process. The turbidity of the pulping process wastewater decreases the efficiency of photocatalytic processes. Overall, the sonocatalysis has been utilized for the degradation of lignin as well as for the pretreatment of the biomass of lignocellulose for the enhanced saccharification via an enzymatic process [80].

In recent years, the sonocatalytic processes are widely utilized for the effective degradation of emerging contaminants such as antibiotics, endocrine-disrupting compounds, personal care products, pesticides, herbicides, veterinary medications, chromate, perchlorate, nitrosamines, fuel oxygenates, etc. [81-83] from polluted water and wastewater. Sulfa drugs as widely used pharmaceutical compounds were effectively degraded by the sonocatalysis over neodymium-doped lead selenide. The removal efficiency of 86% was obtained within the reaction time of 90 min in the presence of 0.5 mmol/L peroxydisulfate as an effective radical enhancer [63]. There are many successful reports regarding the sonocatalytic degradation of various antibiotic compounds such as gemifloxacin [59], tetracycline [60, 84], ampicillin [85], and ciprofloxacin [86]. Catalytically enhanced ultrasounds have been utilized for the decomposition of hormones such as 17α -ethinylestradiol (EE2), Estrone (E1), and 17β -Estradiol (E2) [81]. Among them, 17α -ethinylestradiol and endocrinedisrupting compound, bisphenol A, are efficiently decomposed through sonocatalysis over TiO_2 -wire mesh. This type of sonocatalyst can be continuously reused for the catalytic production of hydrogen peroxide and subsequent degradation of such emerging contaminants [87].

Because of its high potential to be reused in repeated experimental runs, magnetically separable TiO₂ is also used for the degradation of ibuprofen as a nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID). According to the reported results, an average rate constant value of $17 \pm 0.3 \times 10^{-3} \text{ min}^{-1}$ has been obtained within five repetitive experimental tests [88]. A cost-effective mineral catalyst named sepiolite has also been for the sonocatalytic degradation of methylparaben. This emerging compound is extensively used in a variety of personal care products and cosmetics. Based on the obtained results, the high frequency of ultrasounds favored the sonocatalysis of methylparaben [89]. Overall, sonocatalysis could be considered as an efficient treatment process for the degradation of emerging contaminants, but attempts have been focused on the treatment of emerging contaminants in laboratory scale experiments. The impact of radical scavengers and co-existing inorganic anions on the effectiveness of this type of catalytic process for the treatment of real wastewaters containing emerging contaminants should be assessed.

5 Factors Influencing the Efficiencies of Treatment Processes

5.1 Effect of pH

The efficiencies of the treatment processes depend on the pH of the solution medium. The initial pH of the solution plays an essential role in the formation of pollutant speciation, active intermediates, and the reactivity for their decomposition [90]. The influence of pH on the oxidation potential of intermediate compounds and 'OH produced at the cavitation process is considered for the degradation studies. Many studies reveal that acidic conditions are generally preferable for dye degradation when compared with alkaline conditions. The use of lower pH enhances 'OH formation and reduces the recombination rate. Furthermore, the pollutant in a molecular or ionic state depends on its acid dissociation constant value (pKa) [91]. For different contaminants, the optimum pH value for higher degradation efficiency is different.

In hydrodynamic cavitation processes combined with oxidants or Fenton's reagent, the oxidation potential of the oxidants or Fe concentration in the solution was strongly influenced by the initial solution pH. Fenton's reagent is more efficient at acidic conditions in the range of pH 3–4. At pH lower than 3, the generation of (Fe (II)(H₂O))⁺ enhances, which reacts slowly with hydrogen peroxide, thereby reducing the production of reactive hydroxyl radicals [92]. Furthermore, at a very low pH, the scavenging effect of H⁺ comes into effect, which could restrict the rate of degradation by consuming hydroxyl radicals. Furthermore, hydrogen peroxide reacts with a proton to give an hydroperoxonium ion (H₃O₂⁺) and makes hydrogen peroxide electrophilic. Thus, the stability of hydrogen peroxide increases, and their reactivity with ferrous ion decreases, which results in a reduction of degradation kinetics of Fenton's process at very low pH [93].

Wang et al. [90] reported that the hydrodynamic cavitation process combined with TiO_2 photocatalysis gave a high rate constant for degradation of tetracycline at pH 10. As solution pH increases, hydroxide anions increase, which favors the generation of hydroxyl radicals through holes oxidation in the photocatalytic system. This can be the main cause for higher degradation effect at alkaline pH for the combined hydrodynamic cavitation and photocatalysis process.

5.2 Effect of Temperature

Temperature is considered one of the most influential parameters on the ultrasound cavitation leading to changes in the reaction rate and degree of degradation. Higher temperature causes a rise in the vapor pressure of the solution leading to the formation of vaporous cavities in the system. At higher temperatures, the solution boils, leading to negative acoustic wave pressure. In the meantime, the cavitation bubble fills with water vapor instantly, which decreases degradation efficiency. Choi et al. [44] investigated the effect of temperature in changing the activation energy and behavior of the bisphenol A. It was reported that the increase in temperature from 10 to 50°C results in the increase of reaction rate constant by 12-folds. Son et al. [94] reported that an increase in bulk temperature reduced the cavitation effect. When the temperature was increased beyond the optimum temperature of 30° C, the degradation efficiency of 1,4-dioxane decreased. This is because, at higher temperatures, the collision of cavities occurs, which lower the implosion effect; thus, a steady decline in the generation of hydroxyl radicals occurs. Therefore, lower operating temperature ranges from 25 to 40° C is generally preferred. In some cases, it could be raised to 50° C, where the radical formation from the pollutant also plays an essential role in the degradation mechanism [95].

5.3 Effect of the Initial Concentration of Pollutant

Another essential parameter influencing the effectiveness of treatment processes is the initial pollutant concentration. Generally, the increase in the initial concentration of pollutants leads to a reduced degradation efficiency of a cavitation process. This negative effect in cavitation treatment may be due to the insufficient amount of hydroxyl radicals generated for the available pollutant molecules. The amount of 'OH which attacks the pollutant molecules would be constant while the increase in pollutant concentration gives rise to a greater number of available pollutant molecules. As a result, the level of pollutant degradation percentage would be lowered. In the hydrodynamic cavitation process combined with photocatalytic treatment [96], it has been shown that the degradation of RR 180 dye at an operating pressure of 5 bar was reduced from 67 to 41% (in terms of TOC) as the dye concentration increased from 50 to 150 mg/L.

5.4 Effect of Inorganic Ions

The domestic and industrial wastewater contains inorganic salts in higher proportions. Therefore, many researchers studied the influence of inorganic ions on hydrodynamic cavitation-based wastewater treatment processes. Some studies revealed that the presence of chloride and sulfate salts exerts no significant effect on the treatment process [90]. Khodami and Nezamzadeh-Ejhieh [97] postulated that the increase in chloride ion reduces the degradation efficiency as chloride acts as an electron donor. Thus, the increase in chloride ions reduced the generation of 'OH. Also, the chloride radicals have much lower oxidation potential than 'OH. The inhibition effect of sulfate salts is due to their ability to act as electron scavenger.

The effect of CO_3^{2-} and HCO_3^{-} as hydroxyl radical scavengers was investigated by several researchers. Interestingly it has been found that the carbonate radicals,

resulted from the reaction of carbonate ions with 'OH, react very fast with electronrich organic compounds such as aromatics and anilines. Besides, the recombination rate of these radicals is very slow, and the presence of these compounds increases the pH value, which also contributes to the lower degradation [90, 98, 99].

6 Applications of Cavitation Processes in Environmental Protection

6.1 Application of Cavitation for Wastewater Treatment Containing Volatile Organic Compounds

Volatile organic compounds (VOCs) are organic compounds that can evaporate under normal atmospheric conditions of temperature and pressure. More strictly, according to European Union regulations, it is any organic compound having an initial boiling point less than or equal to 250°C measured at a standard pressure of 101.3 kPa (European Parliament and Council, Directive 2004/42/CE) [100]. Industrial discharges (pharmaceutical, petroleum refinery, paper, dye, and textile industry effluents) are the main sources contributing to the presence of VOCs in municipal wastewater [101–106]. Among other classifications of VOCs, there are three important groups of VOCs, i.e., nitrogen-containing VOCs (N-VOC), sulfur-containing VOCs (S-VOC), and oxygen-containing VOCs (O-VOC). Hydroxyl radicals are very reactive species that effectively degrade pollutant molecules, and a combination of AOPs with cavitation technologies generates more hydroxyl radicals, which will enhance VOC removal from wastewater [107].

High concentrations of VOCs are found in wastewater originated from the refinery industry, i.e., petroleum bitumen effluents containing a high amount of VOCs [27]. These effluents are produced during oxidation of the vacuum distillation of crude oil to produce oxidized bitumen. During vacuum distillation as well as bitumen production (bitumen blowing process), a partial thermal cracking takes place on the heating elements of the installations. Under such conditions, several groups of VOCs are formed – primary aromatic and other unsaturated compounds that undergo further conversion via oxidation reactions. A considerable amount of organosulfur compounds, ketones, aldehydes, pyridine, and its derivatives, as well as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), are present in post oxidative effluents which contributes to its odorous character and high toxicity in the environment [108, 109]. Except for biodegradation and adsorption, the AOPs and their combination with cavitation are seen as a good approach in the treatment of refinery effluents. Treatment of bitumen effluents was performed by AOPs, sole and in combination with hydrodynamic cavitation. A combination of hydrodynamic cavitation and ozone was found to be the most effective process compared with other approaches of HC and AOPs in the treatment of effluents from the production of bitumen with 40% COD and 50% BOD₅ reduction [23]. In another study where wastewater from
bitumen effluents was performed by sole AOPs, the authors claimed that the most effective AOP was the peroxone process (a combination of O_3 and H_2O_2) with 43 and 34% reduction of COD and BOD₅, respectively [27]. The BOD₅ reduction was 10% higher when ozone was coupled with hydrodynamic cavitation, compared to the peroxone(O_3/H_2O_2) process.

The effectiveness of cavitation in the degradation of VOCs was also proved by Gagol et al. [26]. They studied the degradation of sulfide ions and organic sulfides with combined processes of hydrodynamic cavitation and AOPs. They concluded that in 30 min of reaction, 60% of organosulfur compounds were oxidized by the sole cavitation process; meanwhile, complete oxidation was obtained for the coupled process of cavitation and oxidants O₃, H₂O₂, O₃/H₂O₂. Complete degradation was obtained in 15 min for the coupled process of hydrodynamic cavitation and peroxone.

The combination of AOPs and cavitation have shown promising results in degrading the organic pollutants in terms of both treatment time and costeffectiveness. Goel et al. [110] performed the treatment of several volatile and non-volatile organic compounds (Benzene, Toluene, Styrene, Ethylbenzene, Trichloroethylene, Eosin B) in two types of sonication reactors, a probe, and ultrasonic bath. Effect of oxidant (H_2O_2) and electrolyte (NaCl solution) coupled with sonocavitation, was also investigated. They found that sonochemical degradation was a suitable alternative, and the reaction rates were higher for ultrasonication with probe compared to ultrasonic bath for both volatile and non-volatile compounds. Operating conditions are important factors in the decomposition of VOCs. Jiang et al. [111] studied the degradation of volatile chlorinated aromatics (chlorobenzene, 1,4-dichlorobenzene, and 1-chloronaphthalene) using an ultrasonic transducer and found that initial substrate concentration and ultrasonic intensity were important features in the sonochemical decomposition of volatiles.

Hydrodynamic cavitation is a large-scale technique, which generates free reactive radicals and high temperature that easily degrade pollutant molecules, being, therefore, an AOP [112]. Chakinala et al. [113] investigated the mineralization of phenol with hydrodynamic cavitation and heterogeneous advanced Fenton process (AFP). They concluded that AFP, in combination with hydrodynamic cavitation, effectively degraded phenol from wastewater. Moreover, zero-valent iron was considered as a promising catalyst for the treatment of phenolic aqueous solutions by the combination of HC/AFP.

6.2 Removal of Pesticides from Wastewater by Cavitation Technologies

Pesticides are substances used to prevent or destroy certain insects and various types of parasites [114]. Pesticides can be classified into two major groups based on target organisms (insecticide, herbicides, fungicides, rodenticides, wood preservatives,

garden chemicals, and household disinfectants) and based on chemical structure (organochlorine, organophosphate, carbamates, and pyrethroids) [115]. Pesticides are discharged in aqueous systems by agricultural wastewater and non-agricultural wastewater (industrial facilities, public health, forestry activity) [116]. Pesticides acquire a detrimental effect on human health, and they can enter into the body through different routes such as food chain, inhalation, dermal and ocular exposure [114]. Therefore, it was highly important to develop advanced technologies that prevent or destroy pesticides.

Atrazine (1-chloro-3-ethylamino-5-isopropylamine-2,4,6-triazine) is a herbicide widely used in agriculture. Degradation of atrazine was investigated using hydrodynamic cavitation combined with chemical oxidants H₂O₂, UV, SPS (activated sodium persulfate) [117]. Jawale et al. [117] found that the combination of HC + H₂O₂ + SPS resulted in complete degradation and 87% COD reduction. Their results demonstrated that the hybrid treatment approach based on cavitation could be effectively used for the degradation of ATZ. Dicofol, an organochlorine pesticide, was degraded by hydrodynamic cavitation under optimized conditions (inlet pressure 7 bar, $C_v = 0.17$) with 85% total organic carbon (TOC) removal in 60 min treatment time [118].

In another case, the degradation of methyl parathion using hydrodynamic cavitation with different additives (H₂O₂, CCl₄, Fenton's reagent) resulted in 56.4% TOC reduction in 30 min for the process of HC + H₂O₂ [119]. Similarly, Joshi et al. [120] studied the degradation of dichlorvos by hydrodynamic cavitation under optimized parameters and a maximum extent of degradation of 91.5% in 60 min treatment time was obtained for the coupled process of hydrodynamic cavitation and Fenton's process. The same contaminant was degraded in the sonochemical reactor combined with additives (H₂O₂, CCl₄, Fenton's reagent), and the highest degradation was obtained for the combined process of sonocavitation and Fenton's reagent named as a sono-Fenton process [121]. Therefore, it can be understood that in the studies as mentioned above, optimized treatment schemes, based on a combination of sonochemistry or hydrodynamic cavitation with Fenton's chemistry, were effective approaches in the removal of dichlorvos from aqueous systems.

Randhavane et al. [122] studied the effect of geometric parameters in the treatment of chlorpyrifos using hydrodynamic cavitation, and the obtained results confirmed that the highest COD removal (60%) and 98% chlorpyrifos degradation was obtained for orifice plate with a configuration of 17 holes having a 1.5 mm diameter and the cavitational number of 1.54 in 120 min treatment time.

Ultrasonic cavitation, in combination with H_2O_2 , Fenton's, and photo-Fenton's process, was used to degrade methomyl, a carbamate group pesticide that is used against many insects and pests. It was proved that the most effective process with maximum mineralization of 78.8% was ultrasound and photo-Fenton's process in only 9 min time of treatment [123].

6.3 Removal of Pharmaceuticals from Wastewaters Induced by Cavitation Technologies

Emerging Compounds (EC) have become a major concern in the pollution of the aquatic environment; therefore, increased attention toward this problem resulted in the development of new technologies for wastewater treatment [124]. Pharmaceuticals and their by-products have been in the scope of researchers as pollutants of emerging concern that need to be kept under control. The pharmaceuticals are discharged into the aquatic environment via healthcare facilities, hospital discharges, agriculture wastewater, and veterinary activities [125]. The concentration of pharmaceuticals in wastewater is found to be in the range of ng/L to ug/L [126]. The resistance of these compounds to treatment is favored by their physicochemical properties and biodegradability. Low removal of organic compounds, high cost of treatment, and low efficiency are some of the drawbacks related to conventional methods that can be easily overcome by the use of AOPs [124, 127]. AOPs include photocatalysis, sonocatalysis, Fenton, electro-Fenton, ozone-based hybrid processes, and cavitation processes [128, 129]. Sonocavitation is already proved to be an effective method in the removal of ubiquitous compounds from wastewater [130, 131]. Hydrodynamic cavitation (HC) is considered as a good opportunity to fade away the disadvantages of ultrasound, such as high energy consumption, and it is seen as a more viable and worthwhile method [124].

Antibiotics from the representative group of fluoroquinolone and β-lactam antibiotics (cephalosporin and penicillin) are the most consumed pharmaceuticals. They are found in municipal waste treatment plants [MWTP] from hospital wastewater discharges [HWW] [126, 132, 133]. Serna-Galvis et al. [131] studied the sonochemical degradation of six antibiotics from three different classes such as fluoroquinolones (ciprofloxacin and norfloxacin), penicillins (oxacillin and cloxacillin), and cephalosporins (cephalexin and cefadroxil). They concluded that the application of ultrasonic waves leads to a satisfactory result in the degradation of antibiotics. Hydroxyl radicals that are generated from ultrasound attacked the penicillin and cephalosporin cores from the β-lactam antibiotics, whereas the fluoroquinolone was decarboxylated. Other researchers [134] evaluated the effect of high-frequency ultrasound to degrade the penicillin antibiotic (oxacillin). They concluded that under the effect of ultrasound treatment, by-products of antibiotics were converted into biodegradable compounds. Furthermore, it was proved that the combination of the sonochemical process with biological systems could be a practical alternative for the treatment of water containing oxacillin and other pharmacentical additives.

Dicloxacillin (DXC) is another β -lactam antibiotic of the penicillin family. Villegas-Guzman et al. [135] studied the inhibition effect of dissolved salts present in water for the degradation of DXC assisted by ultrasound. They found that antimicrobial activity was eliminated after 360 min under ultrasonic treatment with 30% of COD removal.

Ciprofloxacin (CIP), a fluoroquinolone class pharmaceutical, has an irreversible effect in the ecosystem, resulting in toxicity to microorganisms [130]. CIP removal from aqueous systems by sonochemical, sono-nano-chemical, and sono-nano-chemical/persulfate processes was studied by Igwegbe et al. [129]. They found 99, 70, and 36% removal efficiency of CIP by sono-nano-ZnO/PS process (US/ZnO/PS), sono-nano-chemical (US/ZnO) process, and sonochemical (US) process, respectively, at a frequency of 60 kHz, 10 min treatment time, and neutral pH. The effect of ultrasonic cavitation in the degradation of CIP and ibuprofen in the presence of different organic compositions was investigated by Xiao et al. [136], and a high rate of degradation was reported. Sonochemical degradation of levofloxacin under the effect of rate enhancers (CCl₄) and rate inhibitor (t-butanol) was investigated by Guo et al. [137] and concluded that sonochemical oxidation could be used for pretreatment of effluent containing levofloxacin before biological treatment processes.

Ibuprofen (IBP), a NSAID, is a widely used medicament that helps to reduce fever, headache, toothache, or pains caused by other injuries. It is used for humans and domestic animal healthcare, farming, etc. [138]. Degradation of IBP by sonocavitational treatment was studied by Mendez-Arriaga et al. [139], and they inferred that degradation of IBP under ultrasound treatment was increased from 30 to 98% in 30 min; meanwhile, the same analgesic solution was treated by hydrodynamic cavitation, and over 60% of ibuprofen was degraded in 60 min [124].

Except for uses of ultrasonic cavitation in the degradation of different groups of pharmaceuticals, hydrodynamic cavitation is also considered as a reliable technology to degrade pharmaceutical contaminants. Degradation of six pharmaceuticals such as clofibric acid, ibuprofen, naproxen, ketoprofen, carbamazepine, and diclofenac under the effect of hydrodynamic cavitation (HC), biological processes, and UV was studied by Renita et al. [127]. The studies revealed that under optimal conditions for hydrodynamic cavitation, removal efficiencies were ranging from 72 to 86% in the case of naproxen, carbamazepine, and diclofenac, and from 45 to 52% for clofibric acid, ibuprofen, and ketoprofen. Ibuprofen, naproxen, and ketoprofen were degraded to concentrations below the LOD of the analytical method used for its determination, while the efficiency of >98%, was observed for carbamazepine and diclofenac.

Degradation of diclofenac in the aqueous system based on hydrodynamic cavitation and heterogenous photocatalysis has revealed that combined processes of hydrodynamic cavitation with photocatalysts or AOPs resulted in higher degradation of contaminants than in individual processes [36]. They found that the combination of hydrodynamic cavitation with UV, UV/TiO₂, and UV/TiO₂/H₂O₂ enhances the degradation of target pollutants. The highest degradation was observed for the hydrodynamic cavitation process combined with UV/TiO₂/H₂O₂ with 95% degradation and a 76% reduction in TOC. Another use of the combined process of hydrodynamic cavitation and AOPs was investigated by Thanekar et al. [140]. They found that the degradation of carbamazepine by hydrodynamic cavitation as a sole process reached only 38.7% degradation, while for combined processes of HC + O₃, HC + H₂O₂, HC + UV, HC + O₃ + H₂O₂ obtained degradation rates were, respectively, 91.4%, 58.3%, 52.9%, and 100%. It can be understood the effectiveness of the combined process of HC and AOPs. Degradation of carbamazepine was also studied under the effect of sonoelectrochemical oxidation, sono-photodegradation, and combined hydrodynamic and acoustic cavitation (HAC) [141–143].

Villaroel et al. [144] studied the degradation of acetaminophen (ACE) in water by ultrasound. They found that ultrasound has a great potential in the degradation of ACE because it transforms to biodegradable by-product. The effect of ultrasonic degradation was also studied by other researchers [145, 146]. Mirzaee et al. [128] studied the degradation of paracetamol under ultrasonic irradiation combined with air-dispersion cathode with a sacrificial iron anode, which generates Fe_3O_4 nanostructures that help in the degradation of paracetamol. The hybrid method of US coupled with NADC-ECP (nano-composite air-dispersion cathode) in the presence of Fe_3O_4 nanostructures was proved to be a very effective method with a synergism of 39.8%. The sonocatalysis of ACE over catalysts of nano-sized ZnO incorporated into PSW (powdered stone waste) (ZnO/PSW) was studied by Soltani et al. [61]. They concluded that the highest degradation efficiency of 98.1% was achieved for ZnO/PSW-sonocatalytic process assisted by UVC light.

6.4 Domestic Effluents

The rapid growth of urban communities, along with the development of industrial and agricultural water consumption, raises an increasing demand for water sanitation and protection. The use of water for industrial, agriculture, and domestic purposes is commonly associated with the deterioration of water quality due to the constant accumulation of contaminants. Characterization of wastewater is a part of research activities undertaken to optimize the design of the unit of wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs). Domestic wastewater in municipal WWTPs consists of waste produced by households with various contributions from rainwater, industrial, and agriculture wastewaters. Domestic effluents are produced by individual users and have been less described at habitat scale due to the broad variability of the behavior, lifestyle, and standard of living among different users. Domestic effluent is the water that has been used by a community. It is composed of human body waste, together with the water used for flushing toilets, personal washing, laundry, food preparation, and cleaning of kitchen utensils [147]. Domestic effluents are historically classified into two main categories: blackwater and greywater. Blackwater is collected from toilets and consists of fecal matter, toilet paper, flush water, urine, and spillage. This fraction of domestic effluents contains pathogenic bacteria, which may cause diseases. Greywater includes various emission sources, such as kitchen sink, dishwasher, washing machine, shower, and other personal care activities [147, 148].

The contaminants present in domestic effluents are divided into three categories: suspended solids, organic matter (chemical oxygen demand and biological oxygen demand), and nutrients (nitrogen and phosphorus-containing compounds).

Conventional water treatment processes are used to remove the contaminants for reuse of the treated water [149]. Many studies have been conducted to improve the quality of the treated water by upgrading the existing conventional treatment processes. Thus, suspended and dissolved solids amenable to biological treatment are suggested to be removed by assisting the preliminary treatment with a chemical coagulant [150]. Introduction of AOPs, as well as other physicochemical processes into conventional water treatment practices, is the recent trend in the development of rational use of water resources.

6.5 Treatment of Industrial Wastewater by Cavitation

Industrial activity is a topic of concern in environmental pollution due to the large quantity of wastewater discharge in the aquatic environment, contaminated with pharmaceuticals, dyes, pesticides [140]. Researchers have studied the treatment of industrial wastewater with cavitation, AOPs, and the combination of both [27, 39].

The combined process of HC/O_3 was reported to be a very effective method in the treatment of bitumen effluent with a maximum reduction of 40% in COD and 60% in BOD [39]. Chakinala et al. [151] studied the treatment of industrial wastewater containing phenolic compounds using hydrodynamic cavitation induced by a liquid whistle reactor coupled with the AFP. The combined process of HC/AFP resulted in (60–80%) removal of TOC in 150 min time of treatment.

The treatment of the textile dyeing industry (TDI) effluent was studied using a hybrid combination of HC with air, ozone, oxygen, and Fenton's reagent [152]. The combined process of HC and Fenton's reagent (FeSO₄.7H₂O: H₂O₂ as 1:5) was the most effective process with 48% TOC and 38% COD reduction in 15 and 120 min, respectively, with almost complete decolorization 98% of the TDI effluent. Raut Jadhav et al. [153] studied the efficiency of the combination of hydrodynamic cavitation with additives (H₂O₂ and O₃) for the treatment of pesticide industry effluent. They found that the combined process of HC + H₂O₂ was the most cost-effective due to its higher cavitational yield and lower power consumption.

Gore et al. [30] studied the degradation of orange 4 dye using hydrodynamic cavitation-based hybrid techniques. They revealed that the mineralization rate was higher for the combined process of hydrodynamic cavitation and ozone (76.25%), followed by HC + H_2O_2 (31.90%) and (14.67%) for HC alone. The synergetic coefficient of greater than one for the hybrid processes of HC + H_2O_2 and HC + Ozone showed that the combination of HC with other oxidizing agents is better than the individual processes for the degradation of dye effluent containing orange 4 dye.

Ayare et al. [154] investigated the treatment of phosphonate containing industrial wastewater by sonocatalysis combined with oxidation processes. They found that maximum COD reduction was obtained for the combined operation of sonocatalysis (TiO₂) with ozone and H_2O_2 (US+O₃ + H_2O_2 + TiO₂) with 95.8% COD reduction, while the use of sole ultrasound resulted in 37.2% COD reduction. A study regarding

the removal of dinitrotoluene and trinitrotoluene from industrial wastewater by sonocavitation combined with titanium dioxide was carried out by Chen et al. [155]. They concluded that ultrasonic irradiation, coupled with TiO_2 is a potential method for the treatment of nitrotoluenes in wastewater, and the mineralization of nitrotoluenes leads to carbon dioxide, nitrate ions, and water.

6.6 Miscellaneous Application of Cavitation Technologies

In addition to the wide use of cavitation in wastewater treatment, such as removal and degradation of different types of pollutants (pharmaceuticals, pesticides, volatile and non-volatile organic compounds, heavy metals, dyes, etc.), it also has miscellaneous applications like biotechnology [156], food and water processing [157], mineral processing [158], biodiesel production [159], upgrading of heavy oil [160], desulfurization/denitrogenation of fuels [161].

Hydrodynamic cavitation was found to be an effective application technique in yeast cell breakage and is considered as the most energy-efficient method compared to blade blender and acoustic cavitation techniques [162]. In the food processing industry, hydrodynamic cavitation is used for food sterilization to prolong the shelf life of easily-spoiled products [157, 163, 164].

Hilares et al. [165] studied bioethanol production from sugarcane bagasse using hydrodynamic cavitation assisted-pretreatment and column reactors. They found that HC-assisted alkaline-hydrogen peroxide (NaOH-H₂O₂) pretreatment strategy might offer an option for sugarcane bagasse based biorefineries. Askarian et al. [166] investigated the role of hydrodynamic cavitation in upgrading the heavy oil in the presence of an appropriate hydrogen donor. They revealed that adding 2 vol% gasoline as hydrogen donor into the heavy oil cavitational upgrading process reduced the viscosity of heavy oil by about 33%. It was observed that diesel cuts and API gravity increased by 6.5 vol% and 2.9%; meanwhile, extra heavy cuts and viscosity decreased 20 vol% and 84%, respectively. Ramos et al. [167] studied oxidative desulfurization of model diesel with the ultrasound-assisted synthesis in the presence of mesostructured catalysts (FeOx/SBA-15 and FeOx/Zr-SBA-15). SBA-15 is mesoporous silica which was impregnated with Zr and desired amount of an aqueous solution of Fe(NO₃)₂·9H₂O to obtain FeOx/SBA-15 and FeOx/Zr-SBA-15. They reported that dibenzothiophene (DBT) (30% Fe/Zr-SBA-15, 300 ppm DBT in 100 ml n-hexadecane) was completely removed from model fuel within 30 min of treatment time.

In addition to hydrodynamic cavitation, ultrasound is also an applicable technology in the food industry, mineral processing, nanotechnology, industrial welding, surface cleaning, and environmental protection [168–172].

The literature published so far indicate that cavitation is useful for the major research fields and for economy driving industries such as wastewater treatment plants, food industry, and fuel processing. Currently, ongoing research strongly focuses on improvements of cavitation-based technology concerning environmental protection applications as well as to make it more beneficial from the economic point of view.

7 Conclusions and Future Perspectives

Cavitation-based AOPs already proved its usefulness for several applications. In many cases, the sole use of cavitation allows us to effectively degrade the pollutants present in aqueous phases such as dyes, pharmaceuticals, and VOCs. An important advantageous aspect of hybrid processes based on cavitation is the synergy between this phenomenon and external oxidants, which are effectively converted to reactive radical species.

Future research on this topic should include two essential aspects – first related to the scientific value of published results and second to the applicational character of developed processes.

In the first case, to assure usefulness of obtained results on fundamentals of cavitational phenomena in relation to AOPs, scientists must provide as many details as possible on their system configuration and process conditions. The most important data are often missing, and their importance is explained below.

- 1. A lack of a clear description (or a scheme) of geometry and dimensions of elements present in the hydrodynamic cavitation system, as well as used flow rates and pressure in the system, makes the published results less useful for other researchers. This information is essential to calculate the cavitation number. All necessary data, along with the calculated cavitation number, should always be provided in the article or supplementary material linked to the article. Cavitation number should be calculated based on Eq. 1 instead of other concepts of defining this parameter.
- 2. In the case of sonocavitation systems, geometry and type of ultrasonic device must be characterized, including power and frequency of the instrument, as well as all details of ultrasonic transducers or sonotrodes used in the studies. It should also include the placement of the transducers in the system.
- 3. The aqueous medium treated in the studies must be characterized in terms of all physicochemical parameters that can affect the obtained results. These parameters include pH, color, clarity, the occurrence of emulsions, the presence of inorganic ions, and details of present dissolved organic compounds. In the case of real wastewater, the matrix effects often have a significant influence on the obtained effectiveness. Lack of deep analysis of factors affecting the obtained effectiveness lowers the value of obtained results as well as make them highly uncertain.
- 4. Studies on model effluents must include all these aspects mentioned in point 3 during process optimization.
- 5. Catalytic processes must be characterized in terms of catalyst used and its recycling ability concerning comparable performance over several cycles of

treatment. The high energy of cavitation can cause leaching of several elements, including metal ions from catalyst into the aqueous phase. This aspect must be controlled during the process. Examples of such discussion can be found in paper of Fedorov et al. [173].

- 6. Processes aided by UV light must be characterized concerning power and type of UV lamp. The wavelength at which photooxidation is expected in the spectrum of the lamp should be provided. This allows evaluating what the real power is needed for a specific wavelength to obtain effective degradation of target pollutants is.
- 7. Turbidity values of the aqueous phase and their changes dependent on heterogenous catalyst concentration must be measured for sonocatalytic and photocatalytic processes. This aspect is very important in the discussion of the effect of catalyst dose since the turbidity of the high load of catalyst solutions often is a limiting factor of the sonocatalytic and photocatalytic processes effectiveness.
- 8. Evaluation of the changes of a total load of pollutants (controlled by COD or TOC and BOD) and its mineralization should be studied along with monitoring of target pollutants. If total degradation is not obtained, the COD should be used to measure the degradation of organic pollutants rather than TOC. In the case of TOC, the effect will be underestimated (transformation of one organic compound to another one is not changing the organic carbon content in the effluent).
- 9. Optimization of the process conditions should include the minimization of the addition of external oxidants coupled with the analysis of energy costs of the cavitation process.
- 10. The monitoring of by-products formation should be included in the studies. Especially oxygen-containing compounds should be monitored as one of the most possible by-products formed during AOPs [174].
- 11. Compounds present in the matrix of real wastewater should be characterized along with the defined purpose of the treatment. In several cases, the treatment process is focused on the removal of some target compounds, which should be degraded due to its specific toxicity. Often, the final treatment stage is performed via biological treatment using a dedicated to the type of wastewater activated sludge. Overall load of pollutants (and its change at the pretreatment stage by chemical oxidation) is not so important; however, the presence of "critical" pollutants highly toxic for such a type of microorganisms is the main aspect causing the need of implementation of pretreatment by AOPs. Thus, the context of the research must be pointed out, and the advantages of cavitation-based AOPs highlighted.

The second aspect of future research relates to the applicational value of obtained results. The studies should focus on the evaluation of the effectiveness of cavitation-based AOPs in pilot-scale units. Moreover, the development of protocols allowing to scale up the processes to industrial scale is one of the important niches in this field. Studies on improvements of process economics in the laboratory as well as pilot-scale systems should focus on the energy-efficient generation of cavitation as well as

coupling with solar cell units to make the cavitation processes a fully "green chemistry" approach.

References

- 1. Tzanakis I, Lebon GSB, Eskin DG, Pericleous KA (2017) Characterizing the cavitation development and acoustic spectrum in various liquids. Ultrason Sonochem 34:651–662
- Yusof NSM, Babgi B, Alghamdi Y, Aksu M, Madhavan J, Ashokkumar M (2016) Physical and chemical effects of acoustic cavitation in selected ultrasonic cleaning applications. Ultrason Sonochem 29:568–576
- Gagol M, Przyjazny A, Boczkaj G (2018) Highly effective degradation of selected groups of organic compounds by cavitation based AOPs under basic pH conditions. Ultrason Sonochem 45:257–266
- Yi C, Lu Q, Wang Y, Wang Y, Yang B (2018) Degradation of organic wastewater by hydrodynamic cavitation combined with acoustic cavitation. Ultrason Sonochem 43:156–165
- 5. Luo XW, Ji B, Tsujimoto Y (2016) A review of cavitation in hydraulic machinery. J Hydrodyn 28(3):335–358
- Gregersen SB, Wiking L, Bertelsen KB, Tangsanthatkun J, Pedersen B, Poulsen KR, Andersen U, Hammershøj M (2019) Viscosity reduction in concentrated protein solutions by hydrodynamic cavitation. Int Dairy J 97:1–4
- Li K, Woo MW, Patel H, Metzger L, Selomulya C (2018) Improvement of rheological and functional properties of milk protein concentrate by hydrodynamic cavitation. J Food Eng 221: 106–113
- Gogate PR (2002) Cavitation: an auxiliary technique in wastewater treatment schemes. Adv Environ Res 6(3):335–358
- 9. Ashokkumar M (2011) The characterization of acoustic cavitation bubbles an overview. Ultrason Sonochem 18(4):864–872
- Carpenter J, Saharan VK (2017) Ultrasonic assisted formation and stability of mustard oil in water nanoemulsion: effect of process parameters and their optimization. Ultrason Sonochem 35:422–430
- Hamidi H, Mohammadian E, Asadullah M, Azdarpour A, Rafati R (2015) Effect of ultrasound radiation duration on emulsification and demulsification of paraffin oil and surfactant solution/ brine using Hele-Shaw models. Ultrason Sonochem 26:428–436
- Campbell T, Hoffmann MR (2015) Sonochemical degradation of perfluorinated surfactants: power and multiple frequency effects. Sep Purif Technol 156:1019–1027
- Kanthale P, Ashokkumar M, Grieser F (2008) Sonoluminescence, sonochemistry (H2O2 yield) and bubble dynamics: frequency and power effects. Ultrason Sonochem 15(2):143–150
- Gogate PR, Shirgaonkar IZ, Sivakumar M, Senthilkumar P, Vichare NP, Pandit AB (2001) Cavitation reactors: efficiency assessment using a model reaction. AICHE J 47(11): 2526–2538
- 15. Matafonova G, Batoev V (2019) Review on low-and high-frequency sonolytic, sonophotolytic and sonophotochemical processes for inactivating pathogenic microorganisms in aqueous media. Water Res:115085
- Luo X, Cao J, Gong H, Yan H, He L (2018) Phase separation technology based on ultrasonic standing waves: a review. Ultrason Sonochem 48:287–298
- Hallez L, Touyeras F, Hihn JY, Klima J (2007) Energetic balance in an ultrasonic reactor using focused or flat high frequency transducers. Ultrason Sonochem 14(6):739–749
- Zou H, Wang L (2017) The disinfection effect of a novel continuous-flow water sterilizing system coupling dual-frequency ultrasound with sodium hypochlorite in pilot scale. Ultrason Sonochem 36:246–252

- Sharma A, Gogate PR, Mahulkar A, Pandit AB (2008) Modeling of hydrodynamic cavitation reactors based on orifice plates considering hydrodynamics and chemical reactions occurring in bubble. Chem Eng J 143(1–3):201–209
- Gogate PR, Pandit AB (2000) Engineering design methods for cavitation reactors II: hydrodynamic cavitation. AICHE J 46(8):1641–1649
- 21. Brennen CE (2014) Cavitation and bubble dynamics. Cambridge University Press
- Tao Y, Cai J, Huai X, Liu B, Guo Z (2016) Application of hydrodynamic cavitation to wastewater treatment. Chem Eng Technol 39(8):1363–1376
- 23. Boczkaj G, Gagol M, Klein M, Przyjazny A (2018) Effective method of treatment of effluents from production of bitumens under basic pH conditions using hydrodynamic cavitation aided by external oxidants. Ultrason Sonochem 40:969–979
- 24. Gogate PR, Pandit AB (2004) A review of imperative technologies for wastewater treatment I: oxidation technologies at ambient conditions. Adv Environ Res 8(3–4):501–551
- 25. Gagol M, Przyjazny A, Boczkaj G (2018) Wastewater treatment by means of advanced oxidation processes based on cavitation–a review. Chem Eng J 338:599–627
- 26. Gagol M, Soltani RDC, Przyjazny A, Boczkaj G (2019) Effective degradation of sulfide ions and organic sulfides in cavitation-based advanced oxidation processes (AOPs). Ultrason Sonochem 58:104610
- Boczkaj G, Fernandes A, Makoś P (2017) Study of different advanced oxidation processes for wastewater treatment from petroleum bitumen production at basic pH. Ind Eng Chem Res 56(31):8806–8814
- 28. Bagal MV, Gogate PR (2014) Wastewater treatment using hybrid treatment schemes based on cavitation and Fenton chemistry: a review. Ultrason Sonochem 21(1):1–14
- 29. Kang JW, Hoffmann MR (1998) Kinetics and mechanism of the sonolytic destruction of methyl tert-butyl ether by ultrasonic irradiation in the presence of ozone. Environ Sci Technol 32(20):3194–3199.28
- Gore MM, Saharan VK, Pinjari DV, Chavan PV, Pandit AB (2014) Degradation of reactive orange 4 dye using hydrodynamic cavitation based hybrid techniques. Ultrason Sonochem 21(3):1075–1082
- Wu Z, Franke M, Ondruschka B, Zhang Y, Ren Y, Braeutigam P, Wang W (2011) Enhanced effect of suction-cavitation on the ozonation of phenol. J Hazard Mater 190(1–3):375–380
- Gogate PR, Patil PN (2015) Combined treatment technology based on synergism between hydrodynamic cavitation and advanced oxidation processes. Ultrason Sonochem 25:60–69
- Spalek O, Balej J, Paseka I (1982) Kinetics of the decomposition of hydrogen peroxide in alkaline solutions. J Chem Soc Faraday Trans 78(8):2349–2359
- 34. Pradhan AA, Gogate PR (2010) Degradation of p-nitrophenol using acoustic cavitation and Fenton chemistry. J Hazard Mater 173(1–3):517–522
- Patil PN, Bote SD, Gogate PR (2014) Degradation of imidacloprid using combined advanced oxidation processes based on hydrodynamic cavitation. Ultrason Sonochem 21(5):1770–1777
- 36. Bagal MV, Gogate PR (2014) Degradation of diclofenac sodium using combined processes based on hydrodynamic cavitation and heterogeneous photocatalysis. Ultrason Sonochem 21(3):1035–1043
- Bagal MV, Gogate PR (2013) Degradation of 2,4-dinitrophenol using a combination of hydrodynamic cavitation, chemical and advanced oxidation processes. Ultrason Sonochem 20(5):1226–1235.36
- Paillard H, Brunet R, Dore M (1988) Conditions optimales d'application du système oxydant ozone-peroxyde d'hydrogène. Water Res 22(1):91–103
- 39. Gagol M, Przyjazny A, Boczkaj G (2018) Effective method of treatment of industrial effluents under basic pH conditions using acoustic cavitation – a comprehensive comparison with hydrodynamic cavitation processes. Chem Eng Process-Process Intensif 128:103–113
- 40. Čehovin M, Medic A, Scheideler J, Mielcke J, Ried A, Kompare B, Gotvajn AŽ (2017) Hydrodynamic cavitation in combination with the ozone, hydrogen peroxide and the

UV-based advanced oxidation processes for the removal of natural organic matter from drinking water. Ultrason Sonochem 37:394–404

- 41. Oh WD, Dong Z, Lim TT (2016) Generation of sulfate radical through heterogeneous catalysis for organic contaminants removal: current development, challenges and prospects. Appl Catal Environ 194:169–201
- 42. Fernandes A, Makoś P, Boczkaj G (2018) Treatment of bitumen post oxidative effluents by sulfate radicals based advanced oxidation processes (S-AOPs) under alkaline pH conditions. J Clean Prod 195:374–384.41
- Wei Z, Villamena FA, Weavers LK (2017) Kinetics and mechanism of ultrasonic activation of persulfate: an in situ EPR spin trapping study. Environ Sci Technol 51(6):3410–3417.42
- 44. Choi J, Cui M, Lee Y, Kim J, Son Y, Khim J (2018) Hydrodynamic cavitation and activated persulfate oxidation for degradation of bisphenol A: kinetics and mechanism. Chem Eng J 338:323–332
- 45. Gogate PR, Bhosale GS (2013) Comparison of effectiveness of acoustic and hydrodynamic cavitation in combined treatment schemes for degradation of dye wastewaters. Chem Eng Process Intensif 71:59–69
- 46. Ferkous H, Merouani S, Hamdaoui O, Pétrier C (2017) Persulfate-enhanced sonochemical degradation of naphthol blue black in water: evidence of sulfate radical formation. Ultrason Sonochem 34:580–587
- 47. Oh SY, Kim HW, Park JM, Park HS, Yoon C (2009) Oxidation of polyvinyl alcohol by persulfate activated with heat, Fe2+, and zero-valent iron. J Hazard Mater 168(1):346–351
- Mahdi-Ahmed M, Chiron S (2014) Ciprofloxacin oxidation by UV-C activated peroxymonosulfate in wastewater. J Hazard Mater 265:41–46
- 49. Ji Y, Dong C, Kong D, Lu J (2015) New insights into atrazine degradation by cobalt catalyzed peroxymonosulfate oxidation: kinetics, reaction products and transformation mechanisms. J Hazard Mater 285:491–500
- Guo Y, Shen T, Wang C, Sun J, Wang X (2015) Rapid removal of caffeine in aqueous solutions by peroxymonosulfate oxidant activated with cobalt ion. Water Sci Technol 72(3): 478–483
- 51. Duan X, Ao Z, Sun H, Indrawirawan S, Wang Y, Kang J, Liang F, Zhu ZH, Wang S (2015) Nitrogen-doped graphene for generation and evolution of reactive radicals by metal-free catalysis. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 7(7):4169–4178
- 52. Yin R, Guo W, Wang H, Du J, Zhou X, Wu Q, Zheng H, Chang J, Ren N (2018) Enhanced peroxymonosulfate activation for sulfamethazine degradation by ultrasound irradiation: performances and mechanisms. Chem Eng J 335:145–153
- 53. Fernandes A, Makoś P, Khan JA, Boczkaj G (2019) Pilot scale degradation study of 16 selected volatile organic compounds by hydroxyl and sulfate radical based advanced oxidation processes. J Clean Prod 208:54–64
- 54. Soumia F, Petrier C (2016) Effect of potassium monopersulfate (oxone) and operating parameters on sonochemical degradation of cationic dye in an aqueous solution. Ultrason Sonochem 32:343–347
- 55. Kurukutla AB, Kumar PSS, Anandan S, Sivasankar T (2015) Sonochemical degradation of rhodamine b using oxidants, hydrogen peroxide/peroxydisulfate/peroxymonosulfate, with Fe2+ ion: proposed pathway and kinetics. Environ Eng Sci 32(2):129–140
- 56. Su S, Guo W, Yi C, Leng Y, Ma Z (2012) Degradation of amoxicillin in aqueous solution using sulphate radicals under ultrasound irradiation. Ultrason Sonochem 19(3):469–474
- Guo W, Su S, Yi C, Ma Z (2013) Degradation of antibiotics amoxicillin by Co3O4-catalyzed peroxymonosulfate system. Environ Prog Sustain Energy 32(2):193–197
- Ghanbari F, Moradi M (2017) Application of peroxymonosulfate and its activation methods for degradation of environmental organic pollutants. Chem Eng J 310:41–62
- 59. Gholami P, Dinpazhoh L, Khataee A, Orooji Y (2019) Sonocatalytic activity of biocharsupported ZnO nanorods in degradation of gemifloxacin: synergy study, effect of parameters and phytotoxicity evaluation. Ultrason Sonochem 55:44–56

- 60. Soltani RDC, Mashayekhi M, Naderi M, Boczkaj G, Jorfi S, Safari M (2019) Sonocatalytic degradation of tetracycline antibiotic using zinc oxide nanostructures loaded on nano-cellulose from waste straw as nanosonocatalyst. Ultrason Sonochem 55:117–124
- 61. Soltani RDC, Miraftabi Z, Mahmoudi M, Jorfi S, Boczkaj G, Khataee A (2019) Stone cutting industry waste-supported zinc oxide nanostructures for ultrasonic assisted decomposition of an anti-inflammatory non-steroidal pharmaceutical compound. Ultrason Sonochem 58:104669
- 62. Karaca M, Kıranşan M, Karaca S, Khataee A, Karimi A (2016) Sonocatalytic removal of naproxen by synthesized zinc oxide nanoparticles on montmorillonite. Ultrason Sonochem 31: 250–256
- 63. Khataee A, Arefi-Oskoui S, Karimi A, Fathinia M, Hanifehpour Y, Joo SW (2015) Sonocatalysis of a sulfa drug using neodymium-doped lead selenide nanoparticles. Ultrason Sonochem 27:345–358
- 64. Khataee A, Vahid B, Saadi S, Joo SW (2016) Development of an empirical kinetic model for sonocatalytic process using neodymium doped zinc oxide nanoparticles. Ultrason Sonochem 29:146–155
- 65. Khataee A, Kayan B, Gholami P, Kalderis D, Akay S (2017) Sonocatalytic degradation of an anthraquinone dye using TiO2-biochar nanocomposite. Ultrason Sonochem 39:120–128
- 66. Nuengmatcha P, Chanthai S, Mahachai R, Oh WC (2016) Sonocatalytic performance of ZnO/graphene/TiO2 nanocomposite for degradation of dye pollutants (methylene blue, texbrite BAC-L, texbrite BBU-L and texbrite NFW-L) under ultrasonic irradiation. Dyes Pigm 134:487–497
- 67. Gholami P, Khataee A, Soltani RDC, Bhatnagar A (2019) A review on carbon-based materials for heterogeneous sonocatalysis: fundamentals, properties and applications. Ultrason Sonochem:104681
- Khataee A, Saadi S, Safarpour M, Joo SW (2015) Sonocatalytic performance of Er-doped ZnO for degradation of a textile dye. Ultrason Sonochem 27:379–388
- Soltani RDC, Jorfi S, Ramezani H, Purfadakari S (2016) Ultrasonically induced ZnO–biosilica nanocomposite for degradation of a textile dye in aqueous phase. Ultrason Sonochem 28:69– 78
- Abdullah AZ, Ling PY (2010) Heat treatment effects on the characteristics and sonocatalytic performance of TiO2 in the degradation of organic dyes in aqueous solution. J Hazard Mater 173(1–3):159–167
- Soltani RDC, Safari M, Mashayekhi M (2016) Sonocatalyzed decolorization of synthetic textile wastewater using sonochemically synthesized MgO nanostructures. Ultrason Sonochem 30:123–131
- 72. Wang J, Jiang Y, Zhang Z, Zhao G, Zhang G, Ma T, Sun W (2007) Investigation on the sonocatalytic degradation of Congo red catalyzed by nanometer rutile TiO2 powder and various influencing factors. Desalination 216(1–3):196–208
- 73. Wang J, Lv Y, Zhang Z, Deng Y, Zhang L, Liu B, Xu R, Zhang X (2009) Sonocatalytic degradation of azo fuchsine in the presence of the co-doped and Cr-doped mixed crystal TiO2 powders and comparison of their sonocatalytic activities. J Hazard Mater 170(1):398–404
- 74. Zhang K, Zhang FJ, Chen ML, Oh WC (2011) Comparison of catalytic activities for photocatalytic and sonocatalytic degradation of methylene blue in present of anatase TiO2– CNT catalysts. Ultrason Sonochem 18(3):765–772
- 75. Khataee A, Arefi-Oskoui S, Samaei L (2018) ZnFe-Cl nanolayered double hydroxide as a novel catalyst for sonocatalytic degradation of an organic dye. Ultrason Sonochem 40:703– 713
- 76. Sheydaei M, Khataee A (2015) Sonocatalytic decolorization of textile wastewater using synthesized γ-FeOOH nanoparticles. Ultrason Sonochem 27:616–622
- 77. Pang YL, Abdullah AZ (2013) Fe3+ doped TiO2 nanotubes for combined adsorptionsonocatalytic degradation of real textile wastewater. Appl Catal Environ 129:473–481

- Soltani RDC, Safari M (2016) Periodate-assisted pulsed sonocatalysis of real textile wastewater in the presence of MgO nanoparticles: response surface methodological optimization. Ultrason Sonochem 32:181–190
- 79. Asghar A, Raman AAA, Daud WMAW (2015) Advanced oxidation processes for in-situ production of hydrogen peroxide/hydroxyl radical for textile wastewater treatment: a review. J Clean Prod 87:826–838
- Ninomiya K, Takamatsu H, Onishi A, Takahashi K, Shimizu N (2013) Sonocatalytic–Fenton reaction for enhanced OH radical generation and its application to lignin degradation. Ultrason Sonochem 20(4):1092–1097
- 81. Chu KH, Al-Hamadani YA, Park CM, Lee G, Jang M, Jang A, Her N, Son A, Yoon Y (2017) Ultrasonic treatment of endocrine disrupting compounds, pharmaceuticals, and personal care products in water: a review. Chem Eng J 327:629–647
- 82. Peña-Guzmán C, Ulloa-Sánchez S, Mora K, Helena-Bustos R, Lopez-Barrera E, Alvarez J, Rodriguez-Pinzón M (2019) Emerging pollutants in the urban water cycle in Latin America: a review of the current literature. J Environ Manage 237:408–423
- 83. Robles-Molina J, Lara-Ortega FJ, Gilbert-López B, García-Reyes JF, Molina-Díaz A (2014) Multi-residue method for the determination of over 400 priority and emerging pollutants in water and wastewater by solid-phase extraction and liquid chromatography-time-of-flight mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1350:30–43
- 84. Subramani AK, Rani P, Wang PH, Chen BY, Mohan S, Chang CT (2019) Performance assessment of the combined treatment for Oxytetracycline antibiotics removal by Sonocatalysis and degradation using Pseudomonas aeruginosa. J Environ Chem Eng:103215
- Mirzaei A, Haghighat F, Chen Z, Yerushalmi L (2019) Sonocatalytic removal of ampicillin by Zn (OH) F: effect of operating parameters, toxicological evaluation and by-products identification. J Hazard Mater 375:86–95
- Hassani A, Khataee A, Karaca S, Karaca C, Gholami P (2017) Sonocatalytic degradation of ciprofloxacin using synthesized TiO2 nanoparticles on montmorillonite. Ultrason Sonochem 35:251–262
- 87. Her N, Park JS, Yoon J, Sohn J, Lee S, Yoon Y (2011) Comparative study of sonocatalytic enhancement for removal of bisphenol A and 17α-ethinyl estradiol. Ind Eng Chem Res 50(11): 6638–6645
- Kang K, Jang M, Cui M, Qiu P, Na S, Son Y, Khim J (2015) Enhanced sonocatalytic treatment of ibuprofen by mechanical mixing and reusable magnetic core titanium dioxide. Chem Eng J 264:522–530
- Savun-Hekimoğlu B, Ince NH (2019) Optimization of methylparaben degradation by sonocatalysis. Ultrason Sonochem:104623
- Wang X, Jia J, Wang Y (2017) Combination of photocatalysis with hydrodynamic cavitation for degradation of tetracycline. Chem Eng J 315:274–282
- Rajoriya S, Bargole S, Saharan VK (2017) Degradation of reactive blue 13 using hydrodynamic cavitation: effect of geometrical parameters and different oxidizing additives. Ultrason Sonochem 37:192–202
- 92. Fischbacher A, von Sonntag C, Schmidt TC (2017) Hydroxyl radical yields in the Fenton process under various pH, ligand concentrations and hydrogen peroxide/Fe (II) ratios. Chemosphere 182:738–744
- 93. Sreeja PH, Sosamony KJ (2016) A comparative study of homogeneous and heterogeneous photo-Fenton process for textile wastewater treatment. Proc Technol 24:217–223
- 94. Son HS, Kim SK, Im JK, Khim J, Zoh KD (2011) Effect of bulk temperature and frequency on the sonolytic degradation of 1, 4-dioxane with FeO. Ind Eng Chem Res 50(9):5394–5400
- 95. Wang J, Wang X, Guo P, Yu J (2011) Degradation of reactive brilliant red K-2BP in aqueous solution using swirling jet-induced cavitation combined with H2O2. Ultrason Sonochem 18(2):494–500

- 96. Çalışkan Y, Yatmaz HC, Bektaş N (2017) Photocatalytic oxidation of high concentrated dye solutions enhanced by hydrodynamic cavitation in a pilot reactor. Process Saf Environ Prot 111:428–438
- 97. Khodami Z, Nezamzadeh-Ejhieh A (2015) Investigation of photocatalytic effect of ZnO– SnO2/nano clinoptilolite system in the photodegradation of aqueous mixture of 4-methylbenzoic acid/2-chloro-5-nitrobenzoic acid. J Mol Catal A Chem 409:59–68
- Thi LAP, Do HT, Lee YC, Lo SL (2013) Photochemical decomposition of perfluorooctanoic acids in aqueous carbonate solution with UV irradiation. Chem Eng J 221:258–263
- Merouani S, Hamdaoui O, Saoudi F, Chiha M, Pétrier C (2010) Influence of bicarbonate and carbonate ions on sonochemical degradation of rhodamine B in aqueous phase. J Hazard Mater 175(1–3):593–599
- 100. European Parliament and Council (2004) Directive 2004/42/CE on the limitation of emissions of volatile organic compounds due to the use of organic solvents in certain paints and varnishes and vehicle refinishing products and amending Directive 1999/13/EC. Off J Eur Union 10
- 101. Costa AS, Romão LPC, Araújo BR, Lucas SCO, Maciel STA, Wisniewski Jr A, Alexandre MDR (2012) Environmental strategies to remove volatile aromatic fractions (BTEX) from petroleum industry wastewater using biomass. Bioresour Technol 105:31–39
- 102. Cheng HH, Hsieh CC (2013) Removal of aromatic volatile organic compounds in the sequencing batch reactor of petroleum refinery wastewater treatment plant. CLEAN–Soil Air Water 41(8):765–772
- 103. Xie Y, Chen L, Liu R (2016) Oxidation of AOX and organic compounds in pharmaceutical wastewater in RSM-optimized-Fenton system. Chemosphere 155:217–224
- 104. Cai F, Lei L, Li Y (2019) Different bioreactors for treating secondary effluent from recycled paper mill. Sci Total Environ 667:49–56
- 105. Yakout SM, Hassan MR, Abdeltawab AA, Aly MI (2019) Sono-sorption efficiencies and equilibrium removal of Triphenylmethane (crystal violet) dye from aqueous solution by activated charcoal. J Clean Prod
- 106. Soltani RDC, Jorfi S, Alavi S, Astereki P, Momeni F (2019) Electrocoagulation of textile wastewater in the presence of electro-synthesized magnetite nanoparticles: simultaneous peroxi-and ultrasonic-electrocoagulation. Sep Sci Technol:1–10
- 107. Roy K, Moholkar VS (2019) Sulfadiazine degradation using hybrid AOP of heterogeneous Fenton/persulfate system coupled with hydrodynamic cavitation. Chem Eng J. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cej.2019.03.170
- Boczkaj G, Kaminski M, Przyjazny A (2010) Process control and investigation of oxidation kinetics of postoxidative effluents using gas chromatography with pulsed flame photometric detection (GC-PFPD). Ind Eng Chem Res 49(24):12654–12662
- 109. Boczkaj G, Przyjazny A, Kamiński M (2014) Characteristics of volatile organic compounds emission profiles from hot road bitumens. Chemosphere 107:23–30
- 110. Goel M, Hongqiang H, Mujumdar AS, Ray MB (2004) Sonochemical decomposition of volatile and non-volatile organic compounds – a comparative study. Water Res 38(19): 4247–4261
- 111. Jiang Y, Petrier C, Waite TD (2002) Kinetics and mechanisms of ultrasonic degradation of volatile chlorinated aromatics in aqueous solutions. Ultrason Sonochem 9(6):317–323
- 112. Gogate PR, Pandit AB (2001) Hydrodynamic cavitation reactors: a state of the art review. Rev Chem Eng 17(1):1–85
- 113. Chakinala AG, Bremner DH, Gogate PR, Namkung KC, Burgess AE (2008) Multivariate analysis of phenol mineralisation by combined hydrodynamic cavitation and heterogeneous advanced Fenton processing. Appl Catal Environ 78(1–2):11
- 114. Kumar N, Pathera AK, Saini P, Kumar M (2012) Harmful effects of pesticides on human health. Ann Agri Bio Res 17:125–127
- 115. Yadav IS, Devi NL (2017) Pesticides classification and its impact on human and environment. Environ Sci Eng:6

- 116. Köck-Schulmeyer M, Villagrasa M, de Alda ML, Céspedes-Sánchez R, Ventura F, Barceló D (2013) Occurrence and behavior of pesticides in wastewater treatment plants and their environmental impact. Sci Total Environ 458:466–476
- 117. Jawale RH, Dapurkar O, Gogate PR (2018) Treatment of atrazine containing wastewater using cavitation based hybrid treatment approaches. Chemical Engineering and Processing-Process Intensification 130:275–283
- 118. Panda D, Manickam S (2019) Hydrodynamic cavitation assisted degradation of persistent endocrine-disrupting organochlorine pesticide Dicofol: optimization of operating parameters and investigations on the mechanism of intensification. Ultrason Sonochem 51:526–532
- Patil PN, Gogate PR (2012) Degradation of methyl parathion using hydrodynamic cavitation: effect of operating parameters and intensification using additives. Sep Purif Technol 95:172– 179
- Joshi RK, Gogate PR (2012) Degradation of dichlorvos using hydrodynamic cavitation based treatment strategies. Ultrason Sonochem 19(3):532–539
- 121. Golash N, Gogate PR (2012) Degradation of dichlorvos containing wastewaters using sonochemical reactors. Ultrason Sonochem 19(5):1051–1060
- 122. Randhavane SB (2019) Comparing geometric parameters in treatment of pesticide effluent with hydrodynamic cavitation process. Environ Eng J 24:318–323
- 123. Raut-Jadhav S, Pinjari DV, Saini DR, Sonawane SH, Pandit AB (2016) Intensification of degradation of methomyl (carbamate group pesticide) by using the combination of ultrasonic cavitation and process intensifying additives. Ultrason Sonochem 31:135–142
- 124. Musmarra D, Prisciandaro M, Capocelli M, Karatza D, Iovino P, Canzano S, Lancia A (2016) Degradation of ibuprofen by hydrodynamic cavitation: reaction pathways and effect of operational parameters. Ultrason Sonochem 29:76–83
- 125. Ghoshdastidar AJ, Fox S, Tong AZ (2015) The presence of the top prescribed pharmaceuticals in treated sewage effluents and receiving waters in Southwest Nova Scotia, Canada. Environ Sci Pollut Res 22(1):689–700
- 126. Zupanc M, Kosjek T, Petkovšek M, Dular M, Kompare B, Širok B, Blažeka Ž, Heath E (2013) Removal of pharmaceuticals from wastewater by biological processes, hydrodynamic cavitation and UV treatment. Ultrason Sonochem 20(4):1104–1112
- 127. Renita AA, Kumar PS, Srinivas S, Priyadharshini S, Karthika M (2017) A review on analytical methods and treatment techniques of pharmaceutical wastewater. Desalin Water Treat 87:160– 178
- 128. Mirzaee R, Soltani RDC, Khataee A, Boczkaj G (2019) Combination of air-dispersion cathode with sacrificial iron anode generating Fe2+ Fe3+ 2O4 nanostructures to degrade paracetamol under ultrasonic irradiation. J Mol Liq 284:536–546
- 129. Igwegbe CA, Ahmadi S, Rahdar S, Ramazani A, Mollazehi AR, Igwegbe CA, Ahmadi S, Rahdar S, Ramazani A, Mollazehi AR (2019) Efficiency comparison of advanced oxidation processes for ciprofloxacin removal from aqueous solutions: Sonochemical, sono-nano-chemical and sono-nano-chemical/persulfate processes. Environ Eng Res 25(2):178–185
- 130. Capocelli M, Joyce E, Lancia A, Mason TJ, Musmarra D, Prisciandaro M (2012) Sonochemical degradation of estradiols: incidence of ultrasonic frequency. Chem Eng J 210: 9–17
- 131. Serna-Galvis EA, Montoya-Rodríguez D, Isaza-Pineda L, Ibanez M, Hernandez F, Moncayo-Lasso A, Torres-Palma RA (2019) Sonochemical degradation of antibiotics from representative classes-considerations on structural effects, initial transformation products, antimicrobial activity and matrix. Ultrason Sonochem 50:157–165
- 132. Verlicchi P, Al Aukidy M, Zambello E (2012) Occurrence of pharmaceutical compounds in urban wastewater: removal, mass load and environmental risk after a secondary treatment a review. Sci Total Environ 429:123–155
- 133. Van Boeckel TP, Gandra S, Ashok A, Caudron Q, Grenfell BT, Levin SA, Laxminarayan R (2014) Global antibiotic consumption 2000 to 2010: an analysis of national pharmaceutical sales data. Lancet Infect Dis 14(8):742–750

- 134. Serna-Galvis EA, Silva-Agredo J, Giraldo-Aguirre AL, Flórez-Acosta OA, Torres-Palma RA (2016) High frequency ultrasound as a selective advanced oxidation process to remove penicillinic antibiotics and eliminate its antimicrobial activity from water. Ultrason Sonochem 31:276–283
- 135. Villegas-Guzman P, Silva-Agredo J, Giraldo-Aguirre AL, Flórez-Acosta O, Petrier C, Torres-Palma RA (2015) Enhancement and inhibition effects of water matrices during the sonochemical degradation of the antibiotic dicloxacillin. Ultrason Sonochem 22:211–219
- 136. Xiao R, He Z, Diaz-Rivera D, Pee GY, Weavers LK (2014) Sonochemical degradation of ciprofloxacin and ibuprofen in the presence of matrix organic compounds. Ultrason Sonochem 21(1):428–435
- 137. Guo W, Shi Y, Wang H, Yang H, Zhang G (2010) Intensification of sonochemical degradation of antibiotics levofloxacin using carbon tetrachloride. Ultrason Sonochem 17(4):680–684
- 138. Wang Z, Srivastava V, Ambat I, Safaei Z, Sillanpää M (2019) Degradation of ibuprofen by UV-LED/catalytic advanced oxidation process. J Water Process Eng 31:100808
- Méndez-Arriaga F, Torres-Palma RA, Pétrier C, Esplugas S, Gimenez J, Pulgarin C (2008) Ultrasonic treatment of water contaminated with ibuprofen. Water Res 42(16):4243–4248
- Thanekar P, Panda M, Gogate PR (2018) Degradation of carbamazepine using hydrodynamic cavitation combined with advanced oxidation processes. Ultrason Sonochem 40:567–576
- 141. Tran N, Drogui P, Brar SK, De Coninck A (2017) Synergistic effects of ultrasounds in the sonoelectrochemical oxidation of pharmaceutical carbamazepine pollutant. Ultrason Sonochem 34:380–388
- 142. Expósito AJ, Patterson DA, Monteagudo JM, Durán A (2017) Sono-photo-degradation of carbamazepine in a thin falling film reactor: operation costs in pilot plant. Ultrason Sonochem 34:496–503
- 143. Braeutigam P, Franke M, Schneider RJ, Lehmann A, Stolle A, Ondruschka B (2012) Degradation of carbamazepine in environmentally relevant concentrations in water by hydrodynamic-acoustic-cavitation (HAC). Water Res 46(7):2469–2477
- 144. Villaroel E, Silva-Agredo J, Petrier C, Taborda G, Torres-Palma RA (2014) Ultrasonic degradation of acetaminophen in water: effect of sonochemical parameters and water matrix. Ultrason Sonochem 21(5):1763–1769
- 145. Jagannathan M, Grieser F, Ashokkumar M (2013) Sonophotocatalytic degradation of paracetamol using TiO2 and Fe3+. Sep Purif Technol 103:114–118
- 146. Im JK, Boateng LK, Flora JR, Her N, Zoh KD, Son A, Yoon Y (2014) Enhanced ultrasonic degradation of acetaminophen and naproxen in the presence of powdered activated carbon and biochar adsorbents. Sep Purif Technol 123:96–105
- 147. Mara D (2013) Domestic wastewater treatment in developing countries. Routledge
- 148. Boutin C, Eme C (2016) Domestic wastewater characterization by emission source
- 149. Wang X, Jin P, Zhao H, Meng L (2007) Classification of contaminants and treatability evaluation of domestic wastewater. Front Environ Sci Eng China 1(1):57–62
- Semerjian L, Ayoub GM (2003) High-pH–magnesium coagulation–flocculation in wastewater treatment. Adv Environ Res 7(2):389–403
- 151. Chakinala AG, Gogate PR, Burgess AE, Bremner DH (2008) Treatment of industrial wastewater effluents using hydrodynamic cavitation and the advanced Fenton process. Ultrason Sonochem 15(1):49–54
- 152. Rajoriya S, Bargole S, George S, Saharan VK (2018) Treatment of textile dyeing industry effluent using hydrodynamic cavitation in combination with advanced oxidation reagents. J Hazard Mater 344:1109–1115
- 153. Raut-Jadhav S, Badve MP, Pinjari DV, Saini DR, Sonawane SH, Pandit AB (2016) Treatment of the pesticide industry effluent using hydrodynamic cavitation and its combination with process intensifying additives (H2O2 and ozone). Chem Eng J 295:326–335
- 154. Ayare SD, Gogate PR (2019) Sonocatalytic treatment of phosphonate containing industrial wastewater intensified using combined oxidation approaches. Ultrason Sonochem 51:69–76

- 155. Chen WS, Huang YL (2011) Removal of dinitrotoluenes and trinitrotoluene from industrial wastewater by ultrasound enhanced with titanium dioxide. Ultrason Sonochem 18(5): 1232–1240
- 156. Gogate PR, Kabadi AM (2009) A review of applications of cavitation in biochemical engineering/biotechnology. Biochem Eng J 44(1):60–72
- 157. Gogate PR (2011) Hydrodynamic cavitation for food and water processing. Food Bioproc Tech 4(6):996–1011
- 158. Ladola YS, Chowdhury S, Roy SB, Pandit AB (2014) Application of cavitation in uranium leaching. Desalin Water Treat 52(1–3):407–414
- 159. Chipurici P, Vlaicu A, Calinescu I, Vinatoru M, Vasilescu M, Ignat ND, Mason TJ (2019) Ultrasonic, hydrodynamic and microwave biodiesel synthesis – a comparative study for continuous process. Ultrason Sonochem 57:38–47
- 160. Sawarkar AN (2019) Cavitation induced upgrading of heavy oil and bottom-of-the-barrel: a review. Ultrason Sonochem:104690
- Baradaran S, Sadeghi MT (2019) Intensification of diesel oxidative desulfurization via hydrodynamic cavitation. Ultrason Sonochem 58:104698
- 162. Save SS, Pandit AB, Joshi JB (1994) Microbial cell disruption: role of cavitation. Chem Eng J Biochem Eng J 55(3):B67–B72
- 163. Milly PJ, Toledo RT, Harrison MA, Armstead D (2007) Inactivation of food spoilage microorganisms by hydrodynamic cavitation to achieve pasteurization and sterilization of fluid foods. J Food Sci 72(9):M414–M422
- 164. Arrojo S, Benito Y, Tarifa AM (2008) A parametrical study of disinfection with hydrodynamic cavitation. Ultrason Sonochem 15(5):903–908
- 165. Hilares RT, Kamoei DV, Ahmed MA, da Silva SS, Han JI, dos Santos JC (2018) A new approach for bioethanol production from sugarcane bagasse using hydrodynamic cavitation assisted-pretreatment and column reactors. Ultrason Sonochem 43:219–226
- 166. Askarian M, Vatani A, Edalat M (2017) Heavy oil upgrading via hydrodynamic cavitation in the presence of an appropriate hydrogen donor. J Petrol Sci Eng 151:55–61
- 167. Ramos JM, Wang JA, Flores SO, Chen LF, Nava N, Navarrete J, Domínguez JM, Szpunar JA (2018) Ultrasound-assisted synthesis and catalytic activity of mesostructured FeOx/SBA-15 and FeOx/Zr-SBA-15 catalysts for the oxidative desulfurization of model diesel. Catal Today
- 168. Madhu B, Srinivas MS, Srinivas G, Jain SK (2019) Ultrasonic technology and its applications in quality control, processing and preservation of food: a review. Curr J Appl Sci Technol:1–11
- 169. Nithila SR, Anandkumar B, Vanithakumari SC, George RP, Mudali UK, Dayal RK (2014) Studies to control biofilm formation by coupling ultrasonication of natural waters and anodization of titanium. Ultrason Sonochem 21(1):189–199
- 170. Seymour IJ, Burfoot D, Smith RL, Cox LA, Lockwood A (2002) Ultrasound decontamination of minimally processed fruits and vegetables. Int J Food Sci Technol 37(5):547–557
- 171. Chemat F, Khan MK (2011) Applications of ultrasound in food technology: processing, preservation and extraction. Ultrason Sonochem 18(4):813–835
- 172. Yusaf T, Al-Juboori RA (2014) Alternative methods of microorganism disruption for agricultural applications. Appl Energy 114:909–923
- 173. Fedorov K, Plata-Gryl M, Khan JA, Boczkaj G (2020) Ultrasound-assisted heterogeneous activation of persulfate and peroxymonosulfate by asphaltenes for the degradation of BTEX in water. J Hazard Mater. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2020.122804
- 174. Makoś P, Boczkaj G (2019) Methods of assaying volatile oxygenated organic compounds in effluent samples by gas chromatography a review. J Chromatogr A 1592:143–160

Emerging Organic Compound (EOC) Removal from Water and Wastewater Using Innovative Technologies and Materials



Derya Y. Koseoglu-Imer, Emel Topuz, Tugba Sapmaz, Sama A. Al-Mutwalli, Bahar Ikizoglu, Mustafa N. Taher, Burcu Pala, and Coskun Aydiner

Contents

1	Introduction	381
2	Risk Grouping of Emerging Organic Compounds (EOCs) in Water Media	383
3	Innovative Technologies and Materials Used in Combined Treatment Systems	386
	3.1 Biological Treatment and Membrane Combined System	387
	3.2 Adsorption Process-Membrane Combined System	396
	3.3 Oxidation Process and Combined Membrane System	402
4	Economic Analysis of the Emerging Organic Compound (EOC) Removal with Innovative	
	Technologies	408
5	Future Perspective and Conclusion	409
Re	ferences	411

Abstract There is a growing concern about the presence of EOCs in the environment, which could be preferably called "the contaminants of emerging concern," including pharmaceuticals, specifically antibiotics, antiseptics, hormones, and pesticides that are available commonly in untreated wastewater. These substances that

E. Topuz, B. Pala, and C. Aydiner (🖂)

Mahmoud Nasr and Abdelazim M. Negm (eds.), *Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems*, Hdb Env Chem (2023) 118: 379–420, DOI 10.1007/698_2022_876, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022, Published online: 30 August 2022

D. Y. Koseoglu-Imer (🖾), T. Sapmaz, S. A. Al-Mutwalli, and M. N. Taher Department of Environmental Engineering, Istanbul Technical University, Istanbul, Turkey e-mail: imerd@itu.edu.tr

Department of Environmental Engineering, Gebze Technical University, Gebze, Turkey e-mail: aydiner@gtu.edu.tr

B. Ikizoglu

Department of Environmental Science and Engineering, Suleyman Demirel University, Isparta, Turkey

are produced due to various industrial and human activities constitute a significant environmental risk worldwide. Currently, several treatment methods have been investigated for the removal of EOCs that entail different processes (e.g., adsorption, ozonation, and biological) and advanced processes (e.g., advanced oxidation processes and membrane-based technologies). However, these processes often suffer from operational problems and have inadequate treatment capacity when used as stand-alone solutions for all types of EOCs. Due to the fact that EOCs have different physicochemical properties and distinctive toxic concentrations in water, the treatment processes that are combined with innovative technologies and/or materials are required to sustainably remove EOCs at desirable levels. The combined processes are defined as holistic treatment technologies that could synergistically amass several advantages of single processes such as modularity, low cost, and high removal efficiency. Thus, the membrane processes appear as one of the best available technologies to effectively and safely eliminate EOCs due to their improved applicability potential in combined treatments via maximizing the technical performance of overall treatment. This chapter reviews the technological aspects, performances, and economic analysis of EOC removal methods. The innovative or promising combined technologies and membrane processes has been suggested based on the risk groups that rely upon the basic specific properties of EOCs.

Keywords Combined technologies, Emerging organic contaminants, Membranebased technologies, Removal of priority contaminants, Risk grouping, Water media

Activated carbon
Aerobic membrane bioreactor
Anaerobic membrane bioreactor
Advanced oxidation process
Activated sludge
Best available technology
Biochemical oxygen demand
Capital expense
Catalytic ceramic membrane
Carbon nanotube
Chemical oxygen demand
Cellulose triacetate
Dissolved effluent organic matter
Dissolved oxygen
Effluent organic matter
Emerging organic compound
Environmental risk assessment
Forward osmosis

Abbreviations

GAC	Granular activated carbon
GC-MS	Gas chromatography-mass spectrophotometer
HRT	Hydraulic retention time
LC-MS/MS	Liquid chromatography-mass spectrophotometer
LMP	Low and medium pressure
MBR	Membrane bioreactor
MC	Mesoporous carbon
MEC	Measured environmental concentration
MF	Microfiltration
MP	Mesoporous phenolic
NF	Nanofiltration
OLR	Organic loading rate
OMBR	Osmotic membrane bioreactor
OPEX	Operational expense
PAC	Powder activated carbon
PEC	Predicted environmental concentration
PhAC	Pharmaceutical active Ingredients
PNEC	Predicted no effect concentration
PP	Polypropylene
pPAC	Pressurized powder activated carbon
PVDF	Polyvinylidene fluoride
RO	Reverse osmosis
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RQ	Risk quotient
SBR	Sequencing batch reactor
sPAC	Submerged powder active carbon
SRT	Sludge retention time
TOC	Total organic carbon
TSS	Total suspended solid
UASB	Upflow anaerobic sludge blanket
UF	Ultrafiltration
UV	Ultraviolet
UV-Phc	Ultraviolet photocatalysis
VSS	Volatile suspended solid
WoS	Web of science

1 Introduction

Pharmaceutically active compounds (PhACs), personal care products, pesticides, natural hormones, industrial chemicals (flame retardants, plasticizers, and food additives) are widely used globally due to the increase in industrial activities. Most of these products have the risk potential for the ecosystem even when they are at

trace levels (ng/L or µg/L) in the environment [1], and these compounds are called Emerging Organic Compounds (EOCs) [2]. EOCs should be removed in wastewater treatment plants and discharged at non-toxic concentrations to receiving water bodies. Since conventional wastewater treatment plants were not designed for EOC removal, the treated wastewater with EOC content could be discharged to receiving water bodies due to limited biodegradability [3–5]. When compared to conventional contaminants and other specific organic pollutants, the diversity and specific properties of EOCs make them difficult to control in water media and eliminate using conventional treatment technologies. For instance, the low biodegradability of EOCs reduces the removal efficiency of biological treatment and their molecular size, weight, and surface charge affect their treatability via physical and chemical processes.

Developed countries have started to develop adaptation plans to upgrade existing wastewater treatment plants [6] to include EOC removal; however, most nations still conduct laboratory or pilot-scale studies. Furthermore, it could be argued that single processes are inadequate in complete EOC removal in water media. The hybrid/ combined systems, which have two or more treatment units, improve EOC removal due to the synergistic effects of single processes [7]. Furthermore, the performance of combined systems minimizes the shortcomings of single process systems [8]. Despite the fact that significant research efforts focused on the development of new process configurations for EOCs removal, substantially higher costs of these innovative processes hinder full-scale application. Moreover, the current uncertainties about EOC metabolites and toxicity levels lead to significant treatment problems. It is essential to conduct further studies to (1) determine the toxicity of EOC metabolites after treatment, (2) investigate the effect of operating conditions, and (3) develop further cost-effective applications. The selection of Best Available Technology (BAT) depends on copious factors such as environmental desirability, applicability, technical aspects, social acceptability, and economic viability. Among the BATs, it was determined that the membrane-based treatment processes were promising in alleviation of EOC-oriented problems in water media [9]. The membrane technology represents important and attractive interactions such as electrostatic exclusion/repulsion, steric hindrance, and solution effects between the membrane and the solute [10]. Furthermore, different mechanisms associated with these interactions, namely convection, diffusion, and charge effects, which are extremely interrelated, have been considered during membrane separation. Undoubtedly, the structural properties and limited concentrations of EOCs are other important factors that affect their removal efficiencies with membrane technologies [11].

This chapter aimed to analyze and summarize numerous scientific research papers available in the literature in three main sections: (1) determination of EOC risk groups in water media using a frequency-based approach, (2) the innovative technologies and material applications used in combined treatment systems based on their advantages and drawbacks for EOC risk groups, and (3) economic analysis of combined technologies for EOC removal.

2 Risk Grouping of Emerging Organic Compounds (EOCs) in Water Media

EOCs reach wastewater treatment plants and receiving water bodies after utilization [12]. There are numerous studies that reported relatively high EOC concentrations in wastewater treatment plant effluents in both developed [13-23] and developing countries [24-33]. The upgrade of existing wastewater treatment plants with innovative technologies has been implemented in developed countries such as Switzerland [15, 34, 35], Austria [4], and the USA [36]; however, no treatment plant upgrade strategies have been developed in other developed and developing countries. Furthermore, there are no regulations to control EOCs in wastewater treatment plants and water sources. Despite that, Australia published recommended EOC values in water recycling guidelines for the enhancement of drinking water supply [37]. There are thousands of compounds that could be considered as EOCs in water media; therefore, the contaminants should be prioritized at management levels based on their environmental risks, especially in developing countries due to the technical applicability and economic reasons. The risks induced by chemical compounds depend on their concentrations in the environment and toxicity for organisms. Based on the Environmental Risk Assessment (ERA) approach, the ratio of Predicted Environmental Concentration (PEC) to the Predicted No Effect Concentration (PNEC) equals to the risk quotient (RQ) [38, 39]. Although the risk threshold assumption might vary among different studies, an RQ value between 0.1 and 1 indicates a potential risk. The use of Measured Environmental Concentrations (MEC) rather than PEC could be more reasonable to obtain factual RQ [40]. For two decades, the analytical methods have been developed for EOC measurements, and EOC concentrations have been investigated in various regions in several countries. However, the measurement data are still not complete or limited, especially in developing countries due to the complexity and high cost of measurement methods. Therefore, the use of the existing MEC values when grouping the EOC risks could provide a perspective to determine the focus groups for innovative removal technologies and materials. Due to the fact that there are thousands of EOCs, MEC/PNEC data were combined for EOC groups with quadratic mean in this chapter.

The existing literature demonstrated that MEC and PNEC data were ubiquitous for some PhACs; however, the EOC data for the group of personal care products, pesticides, natural hormones, industrial chemicals (flame retardants, plasticizers, and food additives) were limited to group analysis. For the EOCs, for which MEC and PNEC data are available, PhACs were categorized based on therapeutic groups such as antibiotics, analgesics/anti-inflammatory drugs, psychiatric drugs, β -blockers and lipid regulators and hormones and presented in Table 1. Each group included EOCs with various MEC/PNEC ratios. To indicate the environmental risk by group, quadratic average of the EOCs in the therapeutic group was analyzed and presented in Fig. 1a. Analgesics exhibited the highest MEC/PNEC value since they included several EOCs with a ratio of >1, including the EOC with the highest MEC/PNEC

Groups	Compounds	MEC/PNEC	Frequency I	Frequency II
Antibiotics	Tetracycline	0.02 [41]	0.89 [27]	-
	Norfloxacin	0.22 [42]	0.79 [27]	-
	Chloramphenicol	0.33 [42]	0.65 [43]	-
	Erythromycin	1.89 [42]	0.71 [44]	0.33
	Sulfamethoxazole	1.9 [41]	0.57 [44]	0.65
	Ofloxacin	5.4 [42]	0.63 [27]	0.24
	Trimethoprim	8.93 [41]	0.71 [44]	0.48
	Amoxicillin	16.03 [45]	0 [46]	0.1
Analgesics,	Acetaminophen	0.14 [47]	0.43 [44]	-
Anti-inflammatory drugs	Ketoprofen	0.01 [41]	0.5 [46]	-
	Hydrochlorothiazide	0.01 [41]	-	-
	Salicylic acid	0.076 [48]	1 [46]	-
	Naproxen	0.41 [41]	1 [46]	-
	Acetylsalicylic acid	0.91 [49]	-	-
	Paracetamol	1.03 [42]	0.72 [43]	0.37
	Roxithromycin	1.63 [42]	-	0.19
	Fluoxetine	3.98 [42]	0.14 [44]	0.11
	Ibuprofen	33.71 [42]	1 [46]	0.46
	Diclofenac	246 [42]	1 [44]	0.49
Psychiatric drugs	Diazepam	0.01 [50]	0.65 [43]	-
	Salbutamol	0.38 [49]	0 [46]	-
	Carbamazepine	18.32 [42]	0.86 [44]	0.2
β-Blockers	Sotalol	0.02 [49]	-	-
	Metoprolol	0.29 [51]	-	-
	Propranolol	2.4 [48]	-	0.27
	Atenolol	0.08 [42]	-	0.28
Lipid regulators	Fenofibric acid	0.13 [52]	-	-
	Gemfibrozil	0.21 [42]	0.25 [46]	-
	Clofibric acid	0.92 [53]	1 [12]	-
	Bezafibrate	1.06 [42]	1 [46]	0.27
	Sulfasalazine	64.3 [41]	0 [46]	0.01
Hormones	Estrone	0.32 [42]	0.71 [44]	-
	Estradiol	5.7 [42]	0 [46]	0.17
	Ethynilestradiol	29 [45]	0.14 [44]	0.18
	Estriol (E3)	40.27 [42]	0.43 [44]	0.1

 $\ensuremath{\text{Table 1}}$ Classification of PhACs based on the therapeutic groups with available data for MEC/PNEC

value (diclofenac). Due to widespread use of analgesics for therapeutic purposes and low removal efficiency of existing wastewater treatment plants, analgesic EOCs such as diclofenac exhibit high MEC values. Thus, innovative technologies and materials will be required for efficient removal of EOCs to decrease the MEC/PNEC values. Antibiotics, estrogens, and lipid regulators are also known as widely used therapeutic agent groups and widely studied in environmental research; however, their



Fig. 1 Risk grouping for PhACs based on therapeutic groups by using quadratic average of EOCs shown in Table 1. (a) based on MEC/PNEC with the data available in the literature (maximum MEC and minimum PNEC is used for the worst-case situation) (b) MEC/PNEC multiplied by Frequency I (c) MEC/PNEC multiplied by Frequency II. Error bars show the standard deviation of MEC/PNEC values for each group

MEC/PNEC values were comparatively lower. In fact, MEC and PNEC reflect hazard levels rather than risk levels. The hazard entails the degree of harm, while risk takes into account the probability of occurrence in addition to the degree of harm (hazard). Therefore, risk could be formulized as the MEC/PNEC multiplied by likelihood [42]. Likelihood means the number of times that EOC is present in a sampling period. Although the data were limited, MEC/PNEC values were multiplied by available EOC frequencies in Table 1 and are presented in Fig. 1b. Psychiatric drug, estrogen, and antibiotic groups follow the analgesics in the risk groups based on EOC frequencies and are considered in risk calculations. Figure 1b indicates PhAC risk groups based on prioritization, in addition to highlighting the need for the innovative technologies and materials to improve the removal efficiency of respective EOCs in water media. Due to the limited sampling measurement frequency data, the percentage of EOC content in the total number of EOC removal studies was accepted as the likelihood in risk calculation presented in Table 1, and the results are presented in Fig. 1c. There was no difference between Fig. 1b, c based on the order of risk groups. This might demonstrate that the frequencies reported in studies for a certain EOC was compatible with its frequency in the environment. Thus, the frequencies reported in EOC studies could be used as an approach for the ranking of EOCs in treatment studies with innovative technologies and materials. As seen in Table 1, Frequency I was based on the number of occurrences in a certain number of sampling periods. On the other hand, Frequency II was based on the number of occurrences in published papers on EOC removal. The EOCs in Table 1 were summarized based on the rank of the most studied EOCs in the literature after 99 papers published between 2010 and 2020 were analyzed using the Web of Science (WoS) database in Quartile1 journal ranking with keywords "removal of" followed by the group names presented in Table 1.

3 Innovative Technologies and Materials Used in Combined Treatment Systems

Following the toxic and persistent properties of EOCs that pose a potential threat to humans and aquatic life, several researchers investigated EOC removal possibilities using various treatment technologies [54–56]. These technologies include aerobic and anaerobic biodegradation, chemical oxidation, adsorption, membrane separation, solvent extraction (treatment of sediments, sludge, and soil primarily containing organic compounds), photocatalysis, and ultrasonic degradation technologies. These technologies can be used as a single process in certain cases; however, the recent and innovative studies evidenced that the combination of these technologies with membrane processes would improve EOC reduction in the environment [57–60]. The combined systems provide several advantages such as high selectivity, easy upscaling, and modularity. Moreover, a treatment combined with membrane

systems ensures the integration of innovative technologies and materials. The common membrane technologies for the removal of EOCs include pressure-driven membrane processes (e.g., ultrafiltration (UF), nanofiltration (NF) and reverse osmosis (RO)), forward osmosis (FO), and membrane distillation [9]. In this section, a comprehensive overview is presented on the combination of membrane technologies with biological treatment technologies, adsorption, and advanced oxidation process (AOP) in EOC removal from water and wastewater.

3.1 Biological Treatment and Membrane Combined System

The mechanism of biological treatment is to degrade the EOCs with large molecular size to those with smaller molecular sizes using a microorganism community (e.g., algae, bacteria, and fungi). Generally, during the biodegradation of EOCs, the organic compounds act as a substrate for microorganisms [61]. Commonly, the biological processes provide promising degradation efficiency, which can totally degrade the EOCs in most cases [62]. Biological treatment could be classified as aerobic and anaerobic processes, which could be preferred based on wastewater properties. Membrane Bioreactors (MBR), Sequence Batch Reactors (SBRs), and conventional Activated Sludge (AS) can be preferred in aerobic processes [63]. Various operational conditions should be controlled during conventional AS system; i.e., temperature, pH, Sludge Retention Time (SRT), Hydraulic Retention Time (HRT), and Dissolved Oxygen (DO). Furthermore, other parameters such as Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD), Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD), Volatile Suspended Solids (VSS), Total Suspended Solids (TSS), nutrients (e.g., phosphorus and nitrogen), and pathogens [64] should be monitored. The AS process in EOC removal has various advantages such as low impact on the environment [65] and low operational costs [61, 65]. However, the activated sludge process could not completely remove pharmaceutical compounds [61]. A small section of EOCs could be removed by aerating volatilization, chemical precipitation, sludge absorption, and primary settling, while the major part of EOCs could be removed with biodegradation [61]. The EOCs tend to accumulate on the solid phases such as sediments or activated sludge. The structural properties of EOCs affect its accumulation in the sludge phase, and it mainly occurs due to hydrophobic interactions between the EOCs [66, 67]. Kow (octanol-water partition coefficient) and Kd (soil adsorption coefficient) values are important parameters in the use of hydrophobicity of contaminants. The K_d value is used for the measurement of chemical substance adsorbed onto soil per unit of water. Higher values mean stronger adsorption to soil or organic matter (the higher sorption tendency). If there is more stability across the soil, the contaminants could be adsorbed rather by the sludge in biological treatment [59]. Therefore, it is really important to take not only the liquid phase but also the solid phase into consideration to study the fate of EOCs and their metabolites.

Anaerobic processes could be conducted with anaerobic film reactors, anaerobic filters, and anaerobic sludge reactors [63].

Comparative studies on aerobic and anaerobic degradation of organic pollutants demonstrated that aerobic conditions were more effective for the removal of organic pollutants, whereas it was assumed that anaerobic digestion was more sensitive to toxicants when compared to its aerobic counterparts [68]. The major drawback of aerobic treatment is higher energy consumption when compared to anaerobic conditions. Thus, anaerobic treatment could be preferred in the removal of EOCs [69]. Furthermore, the anaerobic process allows the treatment of high strength wastewater since it requires low sludge yield, less land area, lower operational costs, and fewer nutrients. Besides, both biogas production and energy recovery can be achieved with anaerobic treatment. Nevertheless, due to the recalcitrant and low biodegradable properties of certain EOCs, anaerobic processes are not always practical in the treatment of these types of contaminants [63]. Due to low biomass growth in anaerobic reactors, the biodegradation of recalcitrant contaminant is limited [70, 71]. The operating parameters and/or conditions play an important role in EOC removal or degradation efficiency. These operational parameters are used to analyze the performance of the anaerobic system. These parameters include pH, HRT, SRT, and Organic Loading Rate (OLR) [70]. The performance of anaerobic processes in EOC removal depends on the contaminant molecular/physicochemical properties such as hydrophobicity, polarity, surface charge, and molecular size and structure. According to Tadkaew et al. [72], there is a correlation between the level of biological degradation and the existence of certain moieties in the molecular structure of the specific organic compound. In the same study, it was reported that diclofenac and fenoprop had strong electron withdrawing functional groups (e.g., chloro, amide, and nitro) and they were resistant to biological degradation, leading to lower removal efficiency. Certain studies evidenced that the main EOC removal mechanism was biodegradation with anaerobic treatment [73]. According to a study that was conducted under anaerobic conditions by Joss et al. [74], the removal efficiency of estrogens was very low under anaerobic conditions when compared to aerobic conditions in conventional activated sludge systems. Nevertheless, conventional processes based on activated sludge are often not adequate to ensure high removal of most EOCs. Therefore, the use of only conventional biological treatment is not a practically feasible alternative to several other types of EOC removal. However, encouraging results were reported when the biological processes were combined with membrane technologies [69]. The combination of biological and membrane systems (i.e., membrane bioreactor (MBR)) could achieve higher and more consistent EOC removal when compared to conventional systems. Two MBR configurations could be applied as side-stream MBR and submerged MBR. In side-stream MBR, the membrane module is externally connected to the bioreactor, while in submerged MBR, the membrane module is placed inside the bioreactor [75, 76]. Side-stream MBR consumes more energy than submerged MBR due to pump use for biomass circulation. Furthermore, the submerged MBR system has several benefits due to the preservation of the activated sludge in suspended state and the presence of abundant oxygen in the aeration process. Moreover, the membrane fouling could be easily controlled in submerged MBR system since the membrane surface can be continuously scrubbed by aeration [75]. In MBRs, EOCs are removed with biological reactions adjacent to the surface rejection by the membrane. Furthermore, EOCs with high molecular weight are held by the bioreactor membrane that allows high retention time for the biodegradation of EOCs [77]. Recently, aerobic membrane bioreactors (AeMBRs) were upgraded to anaerobic membrane bioreactors (AnMBRs) due to certain disadvantages of AeMBR such as higher energy consumption, higher solid yield, and greenhouse gas emissions (CO_2 and N_2O) when the nitrification and denitrification processes are implemented. Thus, there is a growing interest in AnMBRs technology to eliminate the drawbacks and improve the advantages [78].

Various studies that employed biological processes and membrane technologies for EOC removal are presented in Table 2. For instance, Sahar et al. [83] investigated two configurations: (1) conventional AS-UF/RO and (2) MBR/RO for the removal of six antibiotics (erythromycin, roxithromycin, clarithromycin, sulfamethoxazole, sulfamethazine, and trimethoprim), three pharmaceuticals (ibuprofen, salicylic acid, and diclofenac), one industrial product (Bisphenol A), and one hormone (cholesterol). It was reported that the removal of hydrophobic macrolide antibiotics (Log $K_{ow} \sim 3$) with the first configuration (conventional AS/UF) was around 72% and 93%, while the removal was 89-91% in the MBR process. The high performance in MBR was explained by the higher SRT (>40 days). Moreover, the hydrophobic interactions between the contaminants and membrane surface contributed to better removal efficiency in PhACs. In higher PhAC concentrations in MBR, low Kow may lead to the sorption of PhACs onto the membrane surface biofilm layer. It was also reported that RO had a positive effect on the removal of contaminants; however, the additional treatment techniques should be reviewed to ensure full removal efficiency [83].

According to pilot study conducted by Holloway et al. [80], an osmotic membrane bioreactor (OMBR) combined with UF and RO was operated to treat 20 organic trace chemicals. The removal mechanisms of contaminants were explained by biodegradation and adsorption. A mass balance in the liquid phase was reported with contaminant Log D values. It was reported that the FO membrane rejection of ionic and nonionic hydrophilic contaminants was higher when compared to nonionic hydrophobic contaminants. This finding demonstrated that except bisphenol A and N, and N-diethyl-m-toluamide, all selected contaminants were removed by the RO membrane in the study. Wei et al. [84] investigated the removal of 15 EOCs with a side-stream AnMBR (i.e., anaerobic reactor followed by ultrafiltration membrane) and an NF membrane. They found that the biological removal of biodegradable EOCs (e.g., sulfamethoxazole, amitriptyline, fluoxetine, Tris (1,3-dichloroisopropyl) phosphate, diphenhydramine, and trimethoprim) was higher when compared to the refractory EOCs (e.g., atrazine, dilantin, carbamazepine, primidone, N, N-diethyl-m-toluamide, and Tris (2-chloroethyl) phosphate). More than 80% biological removal of biodegradable EOCs was achieved, while the refractory EOC removal did not exceed 40%. Generally, the biodegradable EOCs have a strong electron donating group, while the refractory EOCs have a strong

Table 2 Some studies concent	n with the combination o	of biological p	rocesses and membrane	technologies	for the remov	/al of EOCs		
				Treatment ef	ficiency (%)			
		Treatment		Biological			Post	
Treatment system	Membrane properties	Scale	Studied EOC	Reactor	Membrane	Combined	treatment	Reference
MBR	Membrane type:	Lab-scale	Acetaminophen	>84	Ι	95	I	[59]
	Microfiltration		Naproxen	>84		97		
	(MF) module type:		Bezafibrate	70		I		
	Hollow fiber		Ketoprofen	63		87		
	Membrane material:		Atenolol	43		59		
	Polyvinylidene fluo-		Propranolol	17		29		
	ride (PVDF)		Roxithromycin	33		51		
	pore size: 0.4 µm		Trimethoprim	I		36		
	Surface area:		Norfloxacin	I		I		
	$0.02 \text{ m}^2 imes 2$		Tetracycline	I		87		
	Flux: 10.41 L.		Sulfamethoxazole	I		55		
	$\mathrm{m}^{-2}\mathrm{h}^{-1}$		Carbamazepine	I		NS^{a}		
			Clofibric acid	I		I		
			Diclofenac	I		36		
MBR	Membrane type: UF	Pilot scale	Diclofenac	I	I	NS^{a}	I	[66]
	Membrane module:		Sulfamethoxazole			78.5		
	Hollow fiber		Trimethoprim			80		
	Membrane material:		Carbamazepine			NS^{a}		
	PVDF		Naproxen			82.3		
	Surface area: 9 m^2		Propranolol			NS^{a}		
	Flux: $14 \text{ L.m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$		Ibuprofen			100		
			17β -Estradiol			100		
			Gemfibrozil			45.8		
MBR	Membrane type: MF	Lab-scale	Diclofenac	I	I	29	I	[57]
	Membrane module:		Erythromycin			82		
	Flat sheet		Estrone			66		
	Pore size: 0.45 µm		Ethinylestradiol			95 20		
			Ibuprofen			92		

390

Membrane type: UF Lab Membrane type: UF Lab Membrane module: Hollow fiber Pore size: 0.045 µm Pilo Membrane type: UF Pilo Membrane module: Pilo Membrane material: Pilo PVDF Module surface area: 0.44 m ² FO membranes mate- Total membrane area: 1.2 m ² Membrane type: Hollow fiber Membrane type: Hollow fiber Membrane type: Hollow fiber Membrane material: PUPF Membrane material: PVDF
MaprosenNaprosenMembrane type: UFLab-scaleNaprosenMembrane type: UFLab-scaleDiclofenacMembrane module:Hollow fiberErythromycinHollow fiberEaptromycinEstronePore size: 0.045 µmNaprosenEstroneMembrane module:Pore size: 0.045 µmNaprosenMembrane type: UFPoleEstroneMembrane type: UFPilot scaleAcetaminophenMembrane type: UFPilot scaleAcetaminophenMembrane type: UFPilot scaleAcetaminophenMembrane type: UFNaprosenNaprosenMembrane type: UFPilot scaleAcetaminophenMembrane type: UFPilot scaleAcetaminophenMembrane type: UFPilot scaleAcetaminophenMembrane type: UFNaprosenDiclofenacMembrane type: UFPilot scaleSulfamethoxazoMembrane type: UFPilot scaleAcetaminophenMembrane type: UFPilot scaleSulfamethoxazoMembrane type: UFPilot scaleSulfamethoreMembrane type: MFLab-scaleSalicylic acidModule type: HollowNaprosenNaprosenMembrane type: MFLab-scaleSalicylic acidModule type: HollowPilot scaleNaprosenMembrane material:PVDFNaprosenMembrane type: MFPol-sorosenCarbonosenModule type: HollowPole size: 0.4 µmNaprosenMembrane type size: 0.4 µmPole size: 0.4 µm
Membrane type: UF Membrane type: UF Hollow fiber Pore size: 0.045 µm Membrane type: UF Membrane type: UF Membrane module: Hollow fiber Membrane material: PVDF Module surface area: 0.44 m ² FO membranes mate- irial: Cellulose triace- tate (CTA) Total membrane area: 1.2 m ² Membrane type: MF Lab-scale Module type: Hollow fiber Membrane material: PVDF PVDF PVDF PVDF Membrane area: 1.2 m ² Membrane area: 1.2 m ² Membrane material: PVDF Membrane material: PVDF
Membrane type: UF Membrane module: Hollow fiber Pore size: 0.045 µm Membrane type: UF Membrane module: Hollow fiber Membrane material: PVDF Module surface area: 0.44 m ² FO membranes mate- rial: Cellulose triace- rial: Cellulose triace- rial: Cellulose triace- rial: Cellulose triace- fiber Membrane type: MF Membrane type: MF Membrane material: PVDF Membrane type: MF Membrane material: PVDF

Treatment efficie Treatment EOC Reactor Me
cale Studied EOC
Gemfibrozil
Estriol
Estrone
17α-ethinylestra
17β -estradiol
ab-scale Salicylic acid
Ketoprofen
Acetaminophen
Naproxen
Ibuprofen
Diclofenac
Carbamazepin
Gemfibrozil
Estriol
Estrone
17α-ethinyle
17-β-estradic
ilot scale Carbamazepi
Diazepam
Erythromycii
Sulfamethox
Ofloxacin
Atenolol
Metoprolol
Propranolol
Sotalol
Salbutamol

392

Table 2 (continued)

[3]	[2]	[]	ontinued)
	~		<u>ی</u>
97.6 97.2 99.3 99.6 - - > 99	97.6 93.2 99.3 99.9 95.9	1	
69.6 96 90.4 89.5 97–99 97–99 27	60.3 66.4 72.2 81.4 97–99 40	20 15 25 25 33 85 82 82 94	
	4 0 1 2 8 8 9 7 9 8 9 7 9 8 9 7 9 8 9 7 9 8 9 7 9 7 9 7		
1	25 54 66	1	
Sulfamethoxazole Trimethoprim Erythromycin Roxithromycin Ibuprofen Salicylic acid Diclofenac	Sulfamethoxazole Trimethoprim Erythromycin Roxithromycin Ibuprofen Salicylic acid Diclofenac	Carbamazepine Diclofenac Gemfibrozil Ibuprofen, Ketoprofen, Naproxen, Paracetamol, Sulfamethoxazole Trimethoprim	
Pilot scale	Pilot scale	Lab-scale	
Membrane type: UF Membrane module: Submerged hollow fiber Total area: 2 m ² Flux range: 10–20 L. m ⁻² h ⁻¹ Pressure range: 10– 24 kPa	Membrane type: UF Membrane module: Submerged hollow fiber Total area: 1024 m^2 (24 modules) Flux range: $25-47 \text{ L}$. m ⁻² h ⁻¹ Pressure range: $6-$ 7.4 kPa	Membrane type: MF Membrane material: Ceramic Membrane effective area: 0.09 m ² Pore size: 1 µm	
MBR (UF) + RO	(conventional AS + UF) + RO	AnMBR	

Treatment systemMembrane propertiesScaleStudied EOCReactorMembrane $(%)$ AnMBR - NFMembrane type: UFMembrane systemEliologicalSeator8098AnMBR - NFMembrane type: UFLab-scaleFluoxetine80-98Module type: HollowSuffamethoxazole8098Membrane type: UFPUDFCarbamazepine $40-80$ 80-30-PVDFPore size: 30 nmFiltration area:310 cm ² Acetaminophen40-8080-POLSPore size: 30 nmFiltration area:310 cm ² 202020PUDFPore size: 30 nmFiltration area:20202024Outodule type: HollowFiltrationRemotion10-8080-2020Pore size: 30 nmFiltrationBiological0132224Pore size: 30 nmFiltrationCarbamazepine40-8080-2020Pore size: 30 nmFiltrationDickract122224Pore size: 30 nmFiltrationDickract62822324Pore size: 30 nmFiltrationDickract6013202020Pore size: 30 nmFiltration1012222424Pore size: 30 nmFiltration1013232324Pore size: 30 nmFiltrationDickracte6132324Pore size: 0									
Treatment systemMembrane propertiesTreatmentStudied EOCBiologicalBiologicalColAnMBR - NFMembrane type: UFLab-scaleFluoxetine80 $-$ 98AnMBR - NFMembrane type: UFLab-scaleFluoxetine80 $-$ 98Module type: HollowFluoxetine80 $-$ 98 98 Membrane material:PVDFCarbamazepine 40 -80 80 80 PVDFPore size: 30 nmFiltration area: 310 40 -80 40 -80 80 PVDFPore size: 30 nmFiltration area: 310 40 -80 80 80 PVDFPore size: 30 nmFiltration area: 310 40 -80 80 80 PVDFPore size: 30 nmFiltration area: 100 10 20 80 ProblemPore size: 30 nmFiltration area: 100 10 80 80 ProblemPore size: 30 nmFiltration area: 100 100 20 80 Pore size: 0.04Pore size: 100 Pore size: 0.04 µm 12 20 20 22 Pore size: 0.04 µmFux: 12.3 L.m ⁻² .h ⁻¹ Pore size: 0.04 µm 12 20 82^{b} 82^{b} Pore size: 0.04 µmPore size: 0.04 µmPore size: 0.04 µm 12 20 82^{b} 82^{b} Pore size: 0.04 µmPore size: 0.04 µmPore size: 0.04 µm 20 82^{b} 82^{b} Pore size: 0.04 µmPore size: 0.04					Treatment efi	iciency (%)			
Treatment systemMembrane propertiesScaleStudied EOCReactorMembraneConAnMBR – NFMembrane type: UFLab-scaleFluoxetine80 $ 98$ fiberModule type: HollowTrimethoprim80 $ 98$ fiberMembrane type: 30 mTrimethoprim80 $ 98$ PVDFMembrane material:Carbamazepine <400 80 80 PVDFPropRetaininophen $40-80$ 80 80 PropProsSuffamethoxazole 80 $ 98$ PropProsSuffamethoriane 200 80 80 PropProsSuffamethoriane $40-80$ 80 80 PropProsSuffamethoriane $40-80$ 80 80 PropProsSuffamethoriane 100 12 220 80 PropRembrane filtrationMembrane type: UFPilot scaleDiazepam, 12 220 24 Cotal surface area:Distoreme 12 20 20 20 22 24 PromeRembrane filtrationRembrane type: UFDistoremazepine, 12 22 24 Rembrane filtrationMembrane type: UFDistoremazepine, 12 22 24 Rembrane filtrationMembrane type: UFDistorem 12 22 23 24 Rembrane filtrationRembrane type: UFDistorem 12 22 23 24 Rem			Treatment		Biological			Post	
AnMBR - NFMembrane type: UFLab-scaleFluoxetine809fiberSulfamethoxazole8098fiberSulfamethoxazole8098fiberMembrane material:Trimethoprim8030-Membrane material:PVDFCarbamazepine $<40^{-}80$ 80PVDFPvDFAcetaminophen $40^{-}80$ 80-PvDFPvDFAcetaminophen $40^{-}80$ 80-PvDFPvDFAcetaminophen $40^{-}80$ 80-PvDFPvDFAtenolol $40^{-}80$ 80-PvDFPvDFPvDFAcetaminophen $40^{-}80$ 80-PvDFPvDFPvDFAtenolol $40^{-}80$ 80-PvDFPvDFPvDFPvDF $40^{-}80$ 80-PvDFPvDFPvDFPvDF $40^{-}80$ 80-PvDFPvDFPvDFPvDF $40^{-}80$ 80-PvDFPvDFPvDFPvDF $40^{-}80$ 80-PvDFPvDFPvDFPvDF $20^{-}8^{-}8^{-}8^{-}8^{-}8^{-}8^{-}8^{-}8$	Treatment system	Membrane properties	Scale	Studied EOC	Reactor	Membrane	Combined	treatment	Reference
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	AnMBR – NF	Membrane type: UF	Lab-scale	Fluoxetine	80	1	98	I	[84]
fiberfiberTrimethoprim8098Membrane material:PVDFCarbamazepine <40 30 -PVDFPvDFAcetaminophen 40 -80 80 -PVDFPore size: 30 nmFiltration area: 310 cm^2 80 -Piltration area: 310 cm^2 Atenolol 40 -80 80 -Flux: 6 L.m ⁻² .h ⁻¹ Flux: 6 L.m ⁻² .h ⁻¹ $10 - 80$ 80 -Nodule type: HollowMembrane type: UFPilot scaleCarbamazepine, 20 20 Nodule type: HollowModule type: HollowDiclofenac, 12 22 >4 nembrane filtrationModule type: HollowDiclofenac, 15 22 >4 Membrane filtrationModule type: HollowDiclofenac, 12 22 23 MeterDiclofenac, 12 22 23 24 Pare size: $0.04 \ \mum$ Bultovien, 20 82^b 82^b Pare size: $0.04 \ mm$ Bultovien, 20 82^b 82^b Pare size: $0.04 \ mm$ Pare size, 15 20 82^b 82^b Pare size: $0.04 \ mm$ Pare size, 16 10 13 82^b Pare size: $0.04 \ mm$ Pare size, 16 10 <td></td> <td>Module type: Hollow</td> <td></td> <td>Sulfamethoxazole</td> <td>80</td> <td></td> <td>98</td> <td></td> <td></td>		Module type: Hollow		Sulfamethoxazole	80		98		
Membrane material:Carbamazepine <40 30 -PVDFPore size: 30 nm 70^{-6} 40^{-80} 80^{-6} PVDFPore size: 30 nmFiltration area: 310 cm^2 40^{-80} 80^{-6} RiltrationRiltration area: 310 cm^2 40^{-80} 80^{-6} 310 cm^2 310 cm^2 310 cm^2 210 cm^2 80^{-6} 310 cm^2 310 cm^2 310 cm^2 210 cm^2 80^{-6} 310 cm^2 310 cm^2 310 cm^2 30^{-6} 80^{-6} 310 cm^2 310 cm^2 310 cm^2 30^{-6} 80^{-6} 310 cm^2 310 cm^2 310 cm^2 30^{-6} 80^{-6} 310 cm^2 310 cm^2 30^{-6} 30^{-6} 80^{-6} 30^{-6} cm^2 30^{-6} 30^{-6} 30^{-6} 30^{-6} 30^{-6} cm^2 30^{-6} <t< td=""><td></td><td>fiber</td><td></td><td>Trimethoprim</td><td>80</td><td></td><td>98</td><td></td><td></td></t<>		fiber		Trimethoprim	80		98		
PVDFPVDFAcetaminophen $40-80$ 80^{-1} Pore size: 30 nmFiltration area: 310 cm ² 310 cm^2 $40-80$ 80^{-1} Flux: 6 L.m ⁻² .h ⁻¹ Flux: 6 L.m ⁻² .h ⁻¹ 10 cm^2 30 cm^2 80^{-1} UASB + aerobic + external membrane filtrationMembrane type: UFPilot scaleCarbamazepine, 20 20 Nodule type: Hollow fiberModule type: Hollow fiberDiazepam, 12 22 24 Op m ² Flux: 12.3 L.m ⁻² .h ⁻¹ Ethynilestradiol brotesize 0 13 82^{b} 82^{b} Pore size: 0.04 µm Flux: 12.3 L.m ⁻² .h ⁻¹ Estradiol Sulfamethoyram 0 82^{b} 82^{b} 82^{b} Naproxen, Sulfamethoyram 20 82^{b} 82^{b} 82^{b} 82^{b}		Membrane material:		Carbamazepine	<40		30-80		
Pore size: 30 nmAtenolol40-8080-Filtration area: 310 cm ² 310 cm^2 310 cm^2 $80-$ Tux: 6 L.m ⁻² .h ⁻¹ $Filtration$ Membrane type: UFPilot scale 200 20 Nodule type: HollowModule type: HollowDiazepam, 12 22 >44 Total surface area:Dictofenac, 15 22 >44 Pore size: 0.04 µm Fluoxetine 6 12 $>40-80$ Pore size: 0.04 µm Ethynilestradiol 0 13 82^b Pore size: 0.04 µm Estradiol 0 82^b 82^b Pore size: 0.04 µm Estradiol 0 82^b 82^b Pore size: 0.04 µm Estradiol 0 82^b 82^b Pore size: 0.04 µm Estradiol 0 82^b 82^b Pore size: 0.04 µm Estradiol 0 82^b 82^b Pore size: 0.04 µm Estradiol 0 82^b 82^b Pore size: 0.04 µm Estradiol 0 82^b 82^b Pore size: 0.04 µm Estradiol 0 82^b 82^b Pore size: 0.04 µm Estradiol 0 82^b 82^b Pore size: 0.04 µm Pore size 82^b 82^b 82^b Pore size: 0.04 µm Pore size 82^b 82^b 82^b Pore size: 0.04 µm Pore size 82^b 82^b 82^b Pore size: 0.04 µm Pore size <t< td=""><td></td><td>PVDF</td><td></td><td>Acetaminophen</td><td>40-80</td><td></td><td>80–95</td><td></td><td></td></t<>		PVDF		Acetaminophen	40-80		80–95		
FiltrationFiltration area: 310 cm^2 FiltrationFiltrationFiltration 310 cm^2 310 cm^2 310 cm^2 310 cm^2 310 cm^2 310 cm^2 Flux: 6 L.m ⁻² .h ⁻¹ Nodule type: UFPilot scaleCarbamazepine, 20 20 20 Nodule type: HollowDiazepam, 12 22 24 20 20 22 23 24 20 20 20 23 24 20 20 21 23 24 20 0.9 m^2 210 cm^2 22 23 20 90 20 62 82^{b} 20 92 82^{b} 82^{b} 82^{b} 20 20 62 82^{b} 82^{b} 20 20 0 20 62 82^{b} 20 20 0 20 62 82^{b} 20 20 0 20 82^{b} 82^{b} 20 <		Pore size: 30 nm		Atenolol	40-80		80–95		
310 cm^2 310 cm^2 310 cm^2 310 cm^2 310 cm^2 Hux: $6 \text{ L.m}^{-2}.\text{h}^{-1}$ Flux: $6 \text{ L.m}^{-2}.\text{h}^{-1}$ Membrane type: UFPilot scaleCarbamazepine, 20 20 >4UASB + aerobic + externalMembrane type: UFPilot scaleCarbamazepine, 20 20 >4membrane filtrationModule type: HollowDiazepam, 12 22 >4fiberTotal surface area:Diclofenac, 15 23 >4 0.9 m^2 Flux: $12.3 \text{ L.m}^{-2.\text{h}^{-1}}$ Ethynilestradiol 0 13 82^b82^bPore size: 0.04 µm Estradiol 0 82^b 82^b 82^b 82^b 82^b 82^b Flux: $12.3 \text{ L.m}^{-2.\text{h}^{-1}}$ Estrone 0 82^b function 70 NS^a 77 Naproxen, 79 NS^a 77		Filtration area:							
Flux: $6 L.m^{-2}.h^{-1}$ Flux: $6 L.m^{-2}.h^{-1}$ Flux: $6 L.m^{-2}.h^{-1}$ Second Se		$310~\mathrm{cm}^2$							
UASB + aerobic + external membrane filtrationMembrane type: UF module type: HollowPilot scaleCarbamazepine,2020>4membrane filtration chamberModule type: HollowDiazepam,1222>4fiberDisclofenac,1523>4fiberTotal surface area: $0.9 {\rm m}^2$ Fluoxetine612>4Pore size: $0.04 {\rm µm}$ Ethynilestradiol01382Flux: $12.3 {\rm L.m}^{-2}.{\rm h}^{-1}$ Estradiol08282Naproxen,79NS ^a >7Sulfamethorian79NS ^a >7		Flux: 6 L.m ^{-2} .h ^{-1}							
membrane filtrationModule type: HollowDiazepam,1222>44chamberfiberDiclofenac,1523>46Total surface area:Total surface area:Ethynilestradiol013>46 0.9 m^2 Ethynilestradiol013>48>46Pore size: 0.04 µm Ethynilestradiol013>2082Flux: $12.3 \text{ L.m}^{-2.}\text{h}^{-1}$ Estradiol082 ^b 82Ratrone082 ^b 82 ^b 82 ^b 82 ^b Naproxen,92NS ^a >7Sulfamethoprim79NS ^a >7	UASB + aerobic + external	Membrane type: UF	Pilot scale	Carbamazepine,	20	20	>40	1	[58]
chamber fiber fiber chamber fiber 15 23 >44 Total surface area: Total surface area: Total surface area: Total surface area: 15 23 >49 Pure size: $0.04 \ \mu m$ 13 $123 \ Lm^{-2}.h^{-1}$ 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13	membrane filtration	Module type: Hollow		Diazepam,	12	22	>40		
Total surface area: Fluoxetine 6 12 >44 0.9 m^2 Ethynilestradiol 0 13 >4 Pore size: $0.04 \mu \text{m}$ Puprofen, 20 62 82 Pare size: $0.04 \mu \text{m}$ Estradiol 0 13 >4 Rux: $12.3 \text{ Lm}^{-2}.h^{-1}$ Estradiol 0 82 ^b 82 Rux: $12.3 \text{ Lm}^{-2}.h^{-1}$ Estrone 0 82 ^b 82 Naproxen, 92 NS ^a >7 Yaproxen, 79 NS ^a >7 Sulfamethoxazole 90 NS ^a >7	chamber	fiber		Diclofenac,	15	23	>40		
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Total surface area:		Fluoxetine	6	12	>40		
Pore size: $0.04 \ \mu m$ Ibuprofen, 20 62 82 Flux: 12.3 L.m ⁻² .h ⁻¹ Estradiol 0 82 ^b 82 Random Naproxen, 92 NS ^a >7 Trimethoprim 79 NS ^a >7 Sulfamethoxazole 90 NS ^a >7		0.9 m^2		Ethynilestradiol	0	13	>40		
Flux: 12.3 L.m ⁻² .h ⁻¹ Estradiol 0 82^b 82 Estrone 0 82^b 82 Naproxen, 92 NS ^a >7 Trimethoprim 79 NS ^a >7 Sulfamethoxazole 90 NS ^a >7		Pore size: 0.04 µm		Ibuprofen,	20	62	82		
Estrone0 82^b 82 Naproxen,92 NS^a >7Trimethoprim79 NS^a >7Sulfamethoxazole90 NS^a >7		Flux: 12.3 L.m ⁻² .h ⁻¹		Estradiol	0	82 ^b	82		
Naproxen,92 NS^a >7Trimethoprim79 NS^a >7Sulfamethoxazole90 NS^a >7				Estrone	0	82 ^b	82		
Trimethoprim 79 NS^a >7 Sulfamethoxazole 90 NS^a >7				Naproxen,	92	NS^{a}	>75		
Sulfamethoxazole 90 NS ^a >7				Trimethoprim	79	NS^{a}	>75		
				Sulfamethoxazole	90	NS^{a}	>75		
Erythromycin 25 15 40				Erythromycin	25	15	40		
Roxithromycin 31 20 51				Roxithromycin	31	20	51		

394

Table 2 (continued)

Aembrane UASB reactor	Membrane type: UF	Lab-scale	Diclofenac,	I	I	>10	I	[85]
	Module type:		Estriol,			>10		
	20 fibers of hollow		Estrone,			>10		
	fiber		Ibuprofen,			>10		
	Pore size: 0.04 µm		Carbamazepine,			>10		
	Total area: 0.0245 m ²		Atenolol,			<10-50		
	Flux: $10 \text{ L.m}^{-2}.\text{h}^{-1}$		17α-Estradiol,			<10-50		
			17α-ethinylestradiol,			<10-50		
			Gemfibrozil,			<10-50		
			Ketoprofen,			<10-50		
			Trimethoprim			<10–50		
			17β -Estradiol			50->90		
			Naproxen,			50->90		
			Paracetamol			50->90		
			Sulfamethoxazole			<90		

aNS Not significant bRemoved only by UF electron withdrawing group. Furthermore, they found that addition of the NF membrane to the AnMBR, EOC removal (in particular, refractory EOCs) was improved to more than 98% for biodegradable EOCs and up to 80% for refractory EOCs. Moreover, atenolol, acetaminophen, and caffeine required more time (45 days) for adaptation, after which the removal efficiency was steady [84].

Alvarino et al. [58] studied an innovative treatment system that included an AeMBR and upflow anaerobic sludge blanket (UASB) reactor as a pretreatment to remove 16 EOCs in municipal wastewater. The experiments were conducted at low temperature (20–22 °C) and with an HRT of 17 h (12 h in the UASB and 5 h in the aerobic stage). Generally, the EOCs with biotransformation property had a high removal efficiency with the UASB and AeMBR when compared to conventional treatment systems. The removal efficiency in certain compounds exceeded 95% with the innovative system after the experiment (150 days). In the anaerobic step, the biodegradable EOC (e.g., trimethoprim and sulfamethoxazole) removal was 84%. The EOC removal mechanism was mainly due to biotransformation; however, musk fragrances were removed by sorption onto sludge surface. The anaerobic system, as a pretreatment phase, was found to be a promising option to improve EOC removal with biotransformation (e.g., sulfamethoxazole, trimethoprim, and naproxen). During the UASB step, it was found that sorption was a crucial mechanism in EOC removal when compared to MBR.

Innovative biological processes include specifically enzyme-based systems that utilize new material. Enzyme-based treatments are beneficial due to the fact that they operate in high and low pollutant concentrations, low amount of sludge generation, their catalytic function, applicability in a wide range of pollutants, and low energy requirements [86]. Despite the advantages of enzymatic treatment, several challenges such as high catalyst costs, inability to reuse the enzyme, loss of enzyme stability under harsh environmental conditions, and formation of hazardous soluble by-products remain. It is possible to solve these issues by immobilization of the enzyme in different solid supports. Furthermore, various examples of successfully insolubilized enzymes help eliminate the above-mentioned limitations associated with reusability and recycling. The bioremediation of wastewater depends on the use of enzyme laccase and peroxidases, which catalyze the oxidation-reduction-assisted biodegradation of various hazardous pollutants by forming radicals that degrade the parent pollutant into more biodegradable and smaller products that exhibit minimal toxicity [86, 87].

3.2 Adsorption Process-Membrane Combined System

Adsorption is a physicochemical process that could be described as a surface phenomenon. The targeted molecules or particles, usually denoted as adsorbates, immigrate from the liquid phase to the solid phase, usually denoted as adsorbents. Targeted molecules travel from the bulk liquid phase to the solid phase driven by the difference in concentration between the two phases and the solubility of the
molecules in the liquid phase [88, 89]. Adsorption is categorized in two groups: physical and chemical adsorption. Physical adsorption is attributed to Van der Waals bonds, hydrogen binding, and dipole interactions without electron exchange between the liquid and solid phases. On the other hand, chemical adsorption is attributed to the link between the adsorbent and adsorbate. Furthermore, chemical adsorption includes the evolvement of chemical bonds (covalent or ionic) between adsorbent and adsorbent and adsorbent reatment, and its applications in wastewater treatment contribute to the removal of hardness ions, heavy metals, nutrients, chlorine, and various organic contaminants. Also, it is used in taste and odor control in municipal wastewater treatment. The removal of organic and inorganic chemical compounds was investigated using adsorption by different types of materials.

EOCs are part of a vast group of contaminants that could be removed with adsorption, revealing a promising and appropriate method to eliminate this persistent group of contaminants [90–92]. The removal of EOCs by adsorption is popular due to its efficiency in the elimination of dissolved pollutants that exist in biological and chemical oxidation treatment effluents. The adsorption process has numerous advantages that make it attractive for the removal of EOCs in wastewater. These advantages include (a) simple design and operation, (b) flexible operation in continuous and batch configurations, (c) environmentally friendly, (d) low investment costs, and (e) reuse and regeneration of adsorbent after exhaustion [93, 94].

Beside those aforementioned advantages, adsorption is proven to have a significant and effective performance in the treatment of dissolved contaminants that endure biological treatment or chemical oxidation [95–97]. Adsorption is preferred over other processes such as advanced oxidation with a potential of producing harmful by-products, since the targeted EOCs might be transformed without being eliminated from wastewater [91, 98, 99].

Different types of adsorbents, including activated carbon (AC) [100], carbon nanotubes (CNT) [101], clay/mineral based adsorbents [102], graphene [103], biochar [104], zeolite [105], and Mesoporous Carbon (MC) and Mesoporous Phenolic resins (MP) [106], were developed and investigated over the last decades for EOC removal in wastewater. AC is one of the adsorbents that have been extensively investigated in the literature on EOC removal using either granular AC (GAC) or powder AC (PAC) and it is proven to be significantly efficient in removing several EOCs [107–109]. Despite its significant performance in EOC elimination in water media, it was not employed in full-scale applications due to the high regeneration cost and the fact that the regenerated AC is not as efficient as the new AC [110]. More recent studies investigated the use of new adsorbents such as graphene and carbon nanotubes, indicating that these two adsorbents had higher capacity and potential for EOCs removal due to their physical and chemical properties [111-113]. Clay/mineral based adsorbents are another type of low-cost, copiously available adsorbents with satisfactory properties [114]. MC and MP resins, which have a stable nature and high affinity for organic pollutants, are promoted as innovative adsorbents. MC and MP are merged carbon and organic polymers and mesoporous materials [115]. Adsorption application as a single process in EOC removal leads to

certain drawbacks that are mainly attributed to production costs and regeneration of adsorbents. Additionally, fate of exhausted adsorbents used for EOCs removal is not well addressed in the literature which raises the question about the proper disposal of exhausted adsorbents after use. The miss disposal of these adsorbents might pose a threat to the aquatic environment upon potential release of toxic compounds from their surface. The aforementioned drawbacks require further investigation in order to overcome the problems associated with EOCs removal using adsorption [116].

The employment of adsorption with membrane filtration is one of the common combinations in the literature that have been used as a posttreatment process [117] by either using a GAC column or addition of various PAC doses into the membrane system [118]. Adsorption could possibly enhance EOC biodegradability when it is combined with MBR systems due to biolayer formation on the GAC surface. It was reported that PAC addition decreased the fouling of the membrane and enhanced the removal efficiency upon the formation of biofilm on the activated carbon [119]. Table 3 illustrates different studies on the removal of EOCs using a combination of adsorption and membrane systems.

Baumgarten et al. [128] investigated the combination of adsorption with PAC and microfiltration in MBR system. Different PAC doses (50, 200 and 500 mg/l) were investigated. PAC was tested in two configurations: (1) PAC was added to the MBR and (2) PAC was added to permeate MBR stream as a post treatment. The study findings revealed that adsorption with PAC increased the removal efficiency of the targeted EOCs from a poor removal of 27% up to almost total removal in the case of higher PAC dose additions to MBR units. According to the same study, the results for the case where adsorption was conducted as a post treatment after MBR were similar; however, total removal was not achieved with the posttreatment approach even at high PAC doses.

In another study, two hybrid systems that utilized PAC in combination with ultrafiltration (UF) were compared. One system used pressurized PAC/UF (pPAC/ UF) and the other used submerged PAC/UF (sPAC/UF) [124]. Both systems were applied to remove benzotriazole, carbamazepine, diclofenac, mecoprop, and sulfamethoxazole in municipal wastewater treatment plant effluent. pPAC/UF exhibited higher flux and permeability when compared to sPAC/UF. High flux and permeability obtained with pPAC/UF was attributed to the PAC layer formed on the surface of the UF membrane where the development of coating layer helped to protect the membrane surface. Based on targeted EOC removal efficiencies, both systems reported similar removal rates within range of 60-95% at 20 mg/l PAC dose [124]. It was reported that the individual performance of the UF membrane in amoxicillin, carbamazepine, and diclofenac removal was inefficient [120]. However, a combination with PAC increased the removal efficiency to almost 100%. In the same study, PAC was deposited in the membrane system and PAC was circulated within the membrane system. High log Kow and hydrophobicity of compounds had a significant impact on adsorption results where the trend was reported as amoxicillin < carbamazepine < diclofenac [120].

GAC employment in combination with UF was investigated in EOC removal [125]. In that study, several pharmaceutical compounds were investigated: 1000 ng/l

CS
Ĕ
lo
e remova
or th
ies fe
log
techno
membrane
and
sorption
ad
of
combination
he
with t
concern '
le studies
Son
e 3
Tabl

			2				
		Treatment		Treatment E	fficiency (%)		
Adsorption method	Membrane properties	scale	Studied EOCs	adsorption	membrane	Combined	Reference
Adsorption by PAC	Membrane type: UF Membrane module: Hol-	Lab-scale	Amoxicillin Carbamazepine	I	100%	Up to 99	[120]
	low fiber		Diclofenac				
	Membrane material:						
	Polysulfone						
	Membrane size: 100 kDa						
	Effective transfer area: 6.6 cm ²						
Adsorption by PAC	Membrane type: MF	Lab-scale	Fluoxetine	1	82–89	Up to 98	[121]
•	Membrane module: Flat-		Ibuprofen &		>90	4	I
	plate		Naproxen		NS^{a}		
	Membrane size: 0.4 µm		Diclofenac		<20		
	Effective area: 0.1 m^2		Carbamazepine		<20		
			Diazepam		NS^{a}		
			Trimethoprim,		71–86		
			Roxithromycin		42–64		
			Erythromycin				
Adsorption by PAC	Membrane type: UF	Lab-scale	Acetaminophen	12	NS^{a}	>90 for all EOC,	[122]
(trade mark: DOTEX)	Membrane size: 100 kDa		Carbamazepine	80	70	except for acet-	
	Effective area: 240 cm^2		Diclofenac	32	25	aminophen (~20)	
			Gemfibrozil	45	50		
			Ibuprofen	5	NS^{a}		
			Metoprolol	92	40		
			Naproxen	NS^{a}	NS^{a}		
			Sulfamethoxazole	43	18		
			Trimethoprim	93	5		
	Membrane type: MF	Lab-scale	Atenolol	I	I	66	[123]
	Membrane module:		Carbamazepine			99	
							(continued)

		Treatment		Treatment E	fficiency (%)		
thod	Membrane properties	scale	Studied EOCs	adsorption	membrane	Combined	Reference
GAC (coal-	Hollow fiber		Diclofenac			66	
n grade –	Membrane material: Poly-		Fluoxetine			89	
_	acrylonitrile		Gemfibrozil			66	
	Membrane size: 0.10 µm		Ketoprofen			66	
	Effective area: 0.044 m^2		Naproxen			66	
			Paracetamol			96	
			Sulfamethoxazole			97	
			Trimethoprim			66	
PAC	Membrane type: MF & UF	Lab-scale	Carbamazepine	I	NS^{a}	95 (90) ^c	[58]
	Membrane module: Flat		Diclofenac		$(NS^{a})^{b}$	80 (95)	
	sheet (MF),		Erythromycin		29 (62)	66) 26	
	Hollow fiber (UF)		Estrone		82 (91)	(66) 66	
	Membrane size: 0.45 µm		Ethinylestradiol		(66) 66	93 (93)	
	(MF), 0.045 µm (UF)		Ibuprofen		95 (96)	91 (98)	
			Naproxen		92 (99)	89 (98)	
			Roxithromycin		95 (90)	66 (66)	
			Sulfamethoxazole		70 (98)	80 (70)	
			Trimethoprim		80 (74)	97 (91)	
			I		52 (42)		
AC	Membrane type: UF	Pilot scale	Carbamazepine	I	I	89 (pPAC/UF),	[124]
	Membrane material:		Diclofenac			96 (sPAC/UF)	
	Polyethersulfone (pPAC/		Sulfamethoxazole			85(pPAC/UF),	
	UF)					82 (sPAC/UF)	
	& polyvinylidene fluoride					55 (pPAC/UF),	
	(sPAC/UF)					68 (sPAC/UF)	
	Membrane area: 0.2						
	(pPAC/UF), 0.94 (sPAC/						
	UF)						

400

Table 3 (continued)

Adsorption by GAC	Membrane type: UF	Lab-scale	Acetaminophen	12-48	NS^{a}	28-58	[125]
(Clarimex 061 CAE and	Membrane material:		Diazepam	66-89	18-19	66-96	
Epibon YM 12X40)	Polyethersulfone		Diclofenac	94–97	25-42	95–98	
	Membrane size: 3 kDa		Ibuprofen	43–99	12-26	64-99	
	Effective area: 90.28 cm^2		Sulfamethoxazole	54-94	10-20	68–96	
Adsorption by PAC	Membrane type: MF	Lab-scale	Carbamazepine	1	I	98-100	[126]
	Membrane material:		Clofibric			95-99	
	Polyethersulfone mem-		Diclofenac			97-100	
	brane pore size:0.1 μm						
	Effective area: 0.005 m^2						
Adsorption by biochar	Membrane type: UF	Lab-scale	17α-ethinylestradiol,	1	30	Up to 45	[127]
	Membrane module: Flat		Carbamazepine		10	Up to 75	
	sheet		Ibuprofen		40	Up to 75	
	Membrane material: Poly-						
	amide thin film composite						
	Membrane size: 3 kDa						
^a NS Not significant							

⁻NS Not significant ^bRemoval % by MF (removal % by UF) ^cRemoval % by MF + PAC (removal % by UF + PAC acetaminophen and ibuprofen concentrations and 300 ng/L clonazepam, diazepam, diclofenac, and sulfamethoxazole concentrations, which were the usual concentrations found in wastewater. The efficiency of adsorption onto GAC varied between 32 and 95% at 10 mg/l dose and between 43 and 99% at 50 mg/l dose. The same study reported a poor performance for UF with a maximum removal efficiency of 25%. The GAC + UF combination improved UF removal efficiency for all studied EOCs within the range of 58–99%, particularly at high 50 mg/l GAC dose. It was suggested that the removal mechanism of GAC + UF combination could be attributed to log Kow (hydrophobicity) of the studied compounds, as well as to the adsorption onto the UF membrane and GAC surfaces [125]. Biochar was used as an adsorbent in combination with UF membrane in a recent study conducted on 17α -ethinylestradiol, carbamazepine, and ibuprofen removal [127]. The use of the UF membrane alone revealed that ibuprofen removal was the highest, while biochar + UF combination removed the 17α -ethinylestradiol the highest. The UF + biochar removal mechanism in that study entailed hydrophobicity of compounds toward biochar [127].

3.3 Oxidation Process and Combined Membrane System

It is considered that advanced oxidation processes (AOPs) are quite effective on the oxidation of various EOCs. Based on hydroxyl radical generation methods, AOPs are conventionally categorized in four groups: chemical, electrochemical, sonochemical, and photochemical methods. AOPs aim to remove the occasionally non-biodegradable recalcitrant/refractory compounds. Water and wastewater treatments are commonly carried out via several AOPs such as Photo-Fenton reactions, photocatalysis with semiconductors, catalytic oxidation, ozonation, and ultrasound processes [129]. Ozonation is the most preferred AOP in EOC removal. The ozone oxidation includes two general reaction mechanisms: direct ozone reaction and the indirect reaction by OH radicals (•OH) that are formed during the ozone reaction. The primary source for •OH formation is the effluent organic matter (EfOM). EfOM could be considered an AOP due to its high •OH generation potential. HO• is produced with a side reaction of ozone and specific groups of EfOM such as amines. The degradation of EOCs during ozonation depends on the reaction rate constants associated with the respective EOCs, ozone, •OH, and the oxidant exposure. The transformation product and oxidation by-product formation are an important problem for ozonation since the applied doses do not lead to mineralization. However, the use of ozone oxidation in treatment requires further studies on metabolites due to EOC oxidation [6]. EOC elimination with O_3 is energy efficient; however, the kinetics of pollutant removal are rather slow, especially in the removal of persistent compounds that do not include electron-rich chemicals. One way to improve the removal rate is the addition of H₂O₂ to the reaction mixture, which is also called the "peroxone process." Despite its obvious benefits in removal kinetics, the energy cost in the peroxone process is more than five-fold when compared to ozonation.

Similar to the ozonation, the UV/H₂O₂ process is among the most studied commercial oxidation processes utilized in degradation of EOCs. UV/H₂O₂ process entails the production of hydroxyl radicals through irradiation of H₂O₂ with UV light at <300 nm wavelengths. Although it was determined that the UV/H₂O₂ process is more effective when compared to UV photolysis, UV/H₂O₂ energy cost is still 4–5 times higher when compared to the ozonation. The UV/H₂O₂ process also leads to certain significant problems. The first is the requirement for high H₂O₂ concentrations due to a rather low molar absorption coefficient at 254 nm for efficient •OH generation. Furthermore, in real water matrices, •OH production efficiency is further limited by the presence of matrix components, attenuating the penetration of UV light into the solution. The method that entails decomposition of micropollutants by UV/O₃ and UV/O₃/H₂O₂ processe leads to a higher removal rate and lower energy cost when compared to the UV/H₂O₂ process [39, 130].

Several studies were conducted on Photo-Fenton oxidation in wastewater treatment due to its high efficiency in the removal of EOCs in complex aqueous matrices. The process revealed a higher reaction rate when compared to the conventional Fenton method. The Fenton process is based on the reaction of a transition metal (M) with peroxide. Metals such as Fe, Mn, Cu, and Cr are commonly used as transition metals. The reaction between Fe⁺³ and hydrogen peroxide is called Fenton-like reaction, when Fe⁺³ is used instead of Fe⁺².

$$\mathbf{M}^{+\mathbf{n}} + \mathbf{H}_2\mathbf{O}_2 \to \mathbf{M}^{(\mathbf{n}+1)} + \bullet\mathbf{OH} + \mathbf{OH} - \tag{1}$$

Photo-Fenton oxidation is a version of the Fenton process enhanced via photocatalytic activity. In Photo-Fenton process, UV rays ensure the increased •OH formation rate and efficiency through photo-reduction of Fe⁺³ to Fe⁺². Therefore, the redox cycle continues as long as peroxide is present in the environment.

$$Fe(III)OH^{+2} + hv \rightarrow Fe^{+2} + \bullet OH$$
(2)

Photo-Fenton method is a promising AOP in the removal of several EOCs in urban wastewater due to its environmentally friendly nature and the possibility of implementation under natural solar irradiation, lowering the operation costs significantly. The effectiveness of the Photo-Fenton method depends on several operating parameters in EOC degradation, including Fenton reagent dose (H_2O_2 and iron concentrations), pH, and wastewater organic/inorganic content [130].

Several studies investigated removal of various EOCs with heterogeneous photocatalysis. EOCs could be degraded with radicals formed by photoexcited electrons or photoinduced holes, or through direct oxidation in the catalyst surface pores. This method was employed in both bench and pilot-scale investigations, where TiO_2 -based materials were used as catalysts. Two main configurations were developed in a TiO_2/UV reaction system: the suspended catalyst configuration (slurry design) or the catalyst attached to a carrier material (immobilized design) [131]. The efficiency of a heterogeneous photocatalytic slurry system is usually

based on irradiation, catalyst load, initial concentration of target contaminants, and the physical-chemical properties of the wastewater (pH and dissolved effluent organic matter (dEfOM)), where matrix effects are the limiting factors in photocatalytic-based system implementation in urban wastewater treatment plants [6].

In electrochemical treatment, the efficiency is based on the electrode material. The advantages of the electrochemical method include its capacity to mineralize organic compounds and the lack of external reagent use requirement; however, this method requires electric energy. The high energy demand and low removal efficiency in the case of diluted organic pollutant solutions are two main disadvantages. All the above-mentioned technologies are considered as improvements in wastewater or natural water EOC removal. The EOC removal performance is also affected by the intrinsic presence of inorganic anions and dEfOM in wastewater, which could lead to a reaction with the electro-generated hydroxyl radicals and other reactive oxygen species [6].

$$R \rightarrow MO_X(OH)_Z \rightarrow CO_2 + zH^+ + ze + MO_x$$
 (3)

where.

MOx is the oxidized anode,

MOx + 1 is active oxygen,

R is the organic compound, and.

z is the number of hydroxyl radicals adsorbed onto the anode.

Ultrasound radiation, known as sonolysis, is one of the AOPs, and it recently became popular in the literature. Sonolysis is based on a process, where acoustic cavitation bubbles produce free radicals such as •OH via water pyrolysis, and))) refers to ultrasound irradiation.

$$(4) H_2O+))) \to \bullet OH + \bullet H$$

$$2 \cdot OH \rightarrow H_2O_2$$
 (5)

$$2 \bullet OH \to H_2O + O \tag{6}$$

Among different AOPs, sonolysis is a rarely investigated process in the literature among various AOPs, and even fewer studies were conducted on sonolysis EOC degradation in urban wastewater effluents [132].

Recently, innovative studies focused on AOP and membrane process combinations given the fact that the membranes efficiently separate contaminants from water but fail to degrade them. Furthermore, the combination methods could help minimize fouling problems in membrane systems. EOC removal could be optimized based on effluent quality, reliability, and operational costs with treatment method combinations. AOPs produce a strong oxidant that oxidizes the foulant and improves the permeability of membrane performance, facilitating the elimination of membrane fouling and remediating pharmaceutical compounds. The removal of EOCs by Low and Medium Pressure (LMP) processes such as microfiltration and ultrafiltration was reported to be difficult due to their low molecular weight when compared to membrane pores [133]. Consequently, the oxidation pretreatment combined with LPM has the potential of significantly improving removal efficiency. The combination of AOP and membrane processes decreases system costs and increases the removal performance. It was considered that EOCs were not effectively removed by a single AOP due to factors such as (1) uncertainties in the derivatives that form based on the wastewater matrix, (2) the uncertainties in the metabolites that occur due to AOP degradation and related ineffectiveness in their analysis, (3) higher cost of known metabolite standards when compared to EOC active substance standards, (4) lower concentrations of known metabolites, which remain below the detection threshold of equipment such as gas chromatography-mass spectrophotometer (GC-MS) and liquid chromatography-mass spectrophotometer LC-MS/MS, and (5) the higher toxicity of the known metabolites.

The combined treatment systems that utilize AOPs and membranes to remove EOCs from water and wastewater are presented in Table 4. Most studies in the literature were conducted with photocatalytic membrane reactors. Certain studies preferred to use UV-lamps in oxidation, and it was observed that their removal efficiency was high [134]. Studies demonstrated that the water matrix applied in EOC removal was also effective [137, 140]. In addition, removal efficiency depends on the catalyst content, UV-radiance power, type of the membrane, and operating conditions. In a study, Photo-Fenton and TiO₂ photocatalysis were compared and it was observed that the Photo-Fenton process exhibited a higher mineralization level [136]. Lee et al. [143] utilized a combination of catalytic ozonation-membrane filtration process to investigate the degradation of EOCs. Surface morphologies and elemental distributions across the Catalytic Ceramic Membranes (CCMs), fabricated with citrate sol-gel assisted wet impregnation method, were characterized by scanning FESEM-EDX and AFM electron micros. CeOx-impregnated CCM (Ce-CCM) exhibited higher EOCs mineralization when compared to that of MnOx-impregnated CCM (Mn-CCM). Multiple impregnation cycles increased the CeOx load in Ce-CCM and a higher HRT resulted in higher total organic carbon (TOC) removal. It was found that Ce-CCM enhanced the O₃(aq) decomposition and Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) generation. LC-MS/MS and catalytic ozonation were used to identify the intermediate combined process by-products and the EOC degradation pathways, respectively. The proposed heterogenous catalytic ozonation with Ce-CCM mechanism and doubled membrane contact from 6.8 to 13.7 s resulted with 29% improved TOC removal with 1xCe-CCM. The effective EOCs mineralization in membrane micropores was obtained due to the catalytic O₃(aq) decomposition that led to higher ROS generation, highly dispersed surfaceactive sites throughout the CCM pores treated as a microreactor, and the impact of Ce(III/IV) redox pair in facilitation of electron transfer resulted in an enhanced Ce-CCM mineralization capacity. Hence, the authors argued that the proposed combination of catalytic ozonation-new membrane filtration process was effective on EOC degradation.

Oxidation	Membrane			Treatment efficiency (%)	
method	properties	Scale	Studied EOC	Combined	Reference
UV-Phc	Membrane type: UF Module type: Hollow fiber Area: 4.19 m ² Membrane mate- rial: PVDF Pore size: 0.03 μ m Flux: 2.4–3.7 L. m ⁻² h ⁻¹	Pilot scale	Diclofenac	56-100	[134]
UV-Phc	Membrane type: MF Material: Ceramic Pore size: 10 µm	Pilot scale	Atenolol Carbamazepine Diazepam Diclofenac Ibuprofen Naproxen Fluoxetine Estradiol Estrone Ethynylestradiol Gemfibrozil Sulfamethoxazole Trimethoprim	>80	[135]
UV-Phc (TiO ₂) / UV-Fenton	Membrane type: NF/RO Module type: Flat sheet Area: 139 m ² Material: Polyamide Flux: 20 L. $m^{-2} h^{-1}$ for NF	Lab- scale	Sulfamethoxazole Diclofenac Hydrochlorothiazide	95 <95–100 90	[136]
UV-Phc	Membrane type: UF Module type: Hollow fiber Area: 0.097 m^2 Material: PVDF Flux: 15 L. $\text{m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$	Pilot scale	Diclofenac	>96	[137]
UV-Phc	Membrane type: UF Module type: Flat sheet	Pilot scale	Estrone Estradiol Estriol Erythromycin	90 90 90 86	[138]

 $\label{eq:table_$

(continued)

				Treatment efficiency	
Oxidation	Membrane	Gaala	St. 1. 1 EOC	(%)	Defense
method	properties	Scale		Combined	Reference
	Area: 25 m^2 Material: Ceramic Pore size:60 nm Flux: 100 L. $\text{m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$		Trimethoprim Sulfamethoxazole, Metoprolol Roxithromycin	86 86 86 86	
UV-Phc	Membrane type: UF Module type: Hollow fiber Area: 100 cm ² Material: PVDF Pore size: $0.04 \mu m$ Flux: 100 L. $m^{-2} h^{-1}$	Lab- scale	Atenolol Carbamazepine Diazepam Paracetamol Diclofenac Ibuprofen Naproxen Fluoxetine Salicylic acid Gemfibrozil Sulfamethoxazole Trimethoprim	75 75 75 100 100 100 100 95 100 100 100 85	[139]
UV-Phc	Membrane type: UF Module type: Flat sheet Area: 0.014 m^2 Material: Poly- propylene (PP) Pore size: $0.2 \mu \text{m}$ Flux: 8 L. $\text{m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$	Lab- scale	Diclofenac Ibuprofen Naproxen	100 93 94	[140]
UV/H ₂ O ₂	Membrane type: NF Module type: Flat sheet Area: 314 cm^2 Pore size: $0.8 \mu \text{m}$ Flux: 8 L . $\text{m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$	Lab- scale	Diclofenac, Amoxicillin	100 100	[141]
Fenton-like	Membrane type: MF Module type: Tubular Area: 0.85 m ² Material: Ceramic Pore size:50 µm	Pilot scale	Diclofenac	65	[142]

Table 4 (continued)

One-pot coupling process is achieved with the combination of membrane filtration and electrochemical advanced oxidation processes [144]. Electric field enhanced membrane, obtained with electro-kinetic effects such as electroosmosis, electrophoresis, and electrostatic interaction, leads to a high permeation flux and treatment efficiency. In-situ electrochemical oxidation of the EOCs and the microflow disturbance near the electrode surface, which maintains high permeation flux and extends the membrane lifespan, reduce fouling and concentration polarization of the membrane [145]. Non-conductive membranes (polymeric or ceramic) are commonly used as the separation media in coupling systems. Commonly, an electrical potential gradient is present across the membrane when non-conductive membranes are used as the separation media and located between the anode and the cathode in one-pot coupling systems. A membrane with good water permeability and pollutant retention is essential. The one-pot process that relies on the conductive membrane as an electrode has several advantages. For instance, the coupling system becomes more compact and achieves higher removal efficiency at the same voltage, leading to lower energy consumption. Furthermore, EOCs are dragged toward the membrane/electrode surface due to the feed solution flow, resulting in an effectively enhanced mass transfer coefficient in the liquid phase. Press forming and metal powder sintering are among the common applications for the production of frequently used porous metal membranes. Various studies extensively focused on stainless steel and porous titanium membranes. Titanium membranes were widely studied due to their good corrosion resistance and feasibility for electro-catalyst loading. These membranes operate as an anode and filtration medium concurrently in wastewater treatment [144].

4 Economic Analysis of the Emerging Organic Compound (EOC) Removal with Innovative Technologies

The previous studies were focused on technical developments in innovative technologies and materials in EOC removal in water/wastewater treatment plants and their economic analysis is yet to be conducted except for a few studies. Since EOCs are usually new chemical substances, which were introduced to the market only a short while ago, they are not considered in existing wastewater treatment plants in the design stage. During the first decade of the twenty-first century, the studies focused on the development of advanced analytical methods for micro- or nanoconcentration measurements. In environmental monitoring studies, EOC removal capabilities of existing wastewater treatment plants were investigated. Recently, innovative technologies and materials have been emerging due to the inefficient removal capacity of conventional biological treatment for certain high-risk EOCs; however, these studies lacked economic analyses.

The most detailed economical assessment of hybrid technologies in EOC removal was conducted by Echevarría et al. [146]. They calculated the Operational (OPEX)

and Capital (CAPEX) costs for EOC removal (Carbamazepine, Diuron, Erythromycin, Diclofenac, Sulfamethoxazole, Octyl-phenol, Atenolol, Nonylphenol, and Acetaminophen) with MBR and Powdered Activated Carbon (PAC). Furthermore, they compared these approaches with the combinations of conventional biological treatment, Ozonation/UV oxidation and MBR. OPEX was the highest with the PAC and MBR hybrid (0.223 \notin /m³) and the lowest with the conventional biological treatment and O_3/UV oxidation hybrid (0.158 \notin/m^3). Energy and reagent consumption were the highest shares in OPEX with MBR PAC hybrid. CAPEX was the reverse of OPEX with 655 €/m³/d with the conventional biological treatment and O₃/UV oxidation hybrid and 624 €/m³/d with MBR PAC hybrid. Although MBR PAC hybrid seemed to be more expensive, when the space is limited in the plant and wastewater recovery is limited, this hybrid produced better removal efficiency. Vela et al. [147] studied the photocatalytic treatment (ZnO and TiO₂) of bisphenols, phthalates and parabens. Treatment cost was the cheapest in ZnO with 102.98 €/ m³/year. For TiO₂ P25 and TiO₂ vlp 7,000, the costs were 148.83 and 285.34 $€/m^3/$ year, respectively. The high cost of the TiO₂ treatment was due to its low capacity for the targeted removal efficiency (90%). Although the unit cost for all materials were almost similar, the reaction time required for 90% removal was much shorter with ZnO, making it the most economically feasible alternative.

The critical cost items in economic analysis of innovative technologies might be the operating costs associated with energy and reagent consumption. Especially in developing countries, operating costs could be higher if the reagents are imported with high duties. However, recovering energy to produce the required electricity by the plant could decrease the costs. In terms of capital costs, countries that produce technology or utilize natural materials would have an advantage. Nevertheless, there is no regulation for the control of EOCs in any country today, and only Switzerland took action to upgrade the existing plants for EOC removal capacity [6]. Since the measurement, hence the monitoring are already too expensive when compared to conventional pollutants and there are no regulations, it could be suggested that economic analysis will not be the focus until full-scale applications will be on the agenda.

5 Future Perspective and Conclusion

To raise the international awareness about the risks and hazards of EOC discharge to water media without any removal is an inevitable requirement to preserve the habitable planet in the current century. Thus, clarification of significant technological trends, filling the knowledge gaps, and wide adoption of best technological practices are extremely sensitive priorities to ensure healthy water supply. The analysis and effective treatment of emerging pollutants require high-cost techniques. Thus, reliable analysis and risk management of EOCs with a focus on the prioritization of pollution prevention would contribute not only to the selection of adequate technologies but also to improve their effectiveness. There is a trade-off between risk

levels and cost-effective EOC treatments in aquatic medium. In several guidelines, various strategies were proposed to improve EOC treatment techniques. However, the emerging pollutants should be prioritized and standardized at national level, to decide on the adequate and viable treatment technology, especially in developing countries. Thus, a sophisticated integration and comprehensive coordination between benefits and costs of recommended technologies and identification of environmental control initiatives are required, and national level strategies should be developed for eco-efficient management of EOCs, allowing the sustainable preservation of the resources, healthy water supply, and controlled discharge of treated wastewater.

Prevention of EOC discharge into water resources, independent of the national economic and environmental development level, is among the most important current issues. Based on the studies on the detection of EOCs in conventional wastewater effluents, the efforts have been focused on EOC removal with innovative technologies and materials; however, expectations have not been fully met by laband pilot-scale studies. Conventional wastewater treatment plant and novel technological solution hybrids have been pursued at full-scale implementation levels only in a limited number of countries such as Switzerland, Austria, and the USA. For safe and robust ecosystem sustainability, categorization of the EOCs based on their undesired negative effects on nature would be one of the crucial starting points in the facilitation of the development of real scale eco-protective solutions. Developing countries could achieve further benefits from the outcomes of environmental risk categorization in the short term since they could improve R&D support for elimination of diverse EOCs without devoting further financial and temporal resources to the determination of environmental risk groups.

Most research topics on the development of novel solutions for EOC removal were conducted to include performance efficiency and technical feasibility without considering the economic aspects. The most promising combined technologies have been typical membrane treatments assembled with adsorption and advanced oxidation processes. Adsorption materials applied with PAC, GAC, or certain green chemistry products applied after membrane separation enhanced EOC removal efficiency up to 99%. The UV and Fenton are the most widely studied and the most effective advanced oxidation processes that were successfully applied in hybrid systems with membrane technologies to improve EOC removal. The analysis of the expenses of these hybrid technologies in the removal of conventional collective parameters such as organic carbon demonstrated that the operational costs may not be feasible despite no study has fairly supported this claim. Further studies are required to improve the economic perspectives in EOC removal and to invent future economic and innovative technologies and/or optimize the current ones with minimal and acceptable costs. This would contribute to facilitate the advances in fullscale implementations in developed countries. It would also allow the developing countries to develop and implement coordinated mid- and long-term sustainability plans by applying similar technologies or alternative solutions. Another action could entail the facilitation of an international discussion and agreement platform since the permanent nature of hardly removable EOCs could lead to serious legal issues between the nations, as well as health risks and even security conflicts due to their transportation potential across the borders in a not distant future. These platforms for controllable management of EOCs could encourage the collaboration between the developing and developed nations by providing operational opportunities and tools such as central measurement centers or technology sharing. Beside all these control efforts, it was also highly suggested to develop eco-protective technologies for cleaner production of consumables that release EOCs to the environment. Industry 4.0 applications, paving the way for preventing the use of environmental harmful composites, agents and active chemicals and decreasing their volumes in products, could lead to a framework of an environmental protection priority supported by artificial intelligence.

References

- Völker J, Stapf M, Miehe U, Wagner M (2019) Systematic review of toxicity removal by advanced wastewater treatment technologies via ozonation and activated carbon. Environ Sci Technol 53(13):7215–7233. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b00570
- Huang Y, Keller AA (2013) Magnetic nanoparticle adsorbents for emerging organic contaminants. ACS Sustain Chem Eng 1(7):731–736. https://doi.org/10.1021/sc400047q
- Patel M, Kumar R, Kishor K, Mlsna T, Pittman CU, Mohan D (2019) Pharmaceuticals of emerging concern in aquatic systems: chemistry, occurrence, effects, and removal methods. Chem Rev 119:3510–3673. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.8b00299
- Schaar H, Clara M, Gans O, Kreuzinger N (2010) Micropollutant removal during biological wastewater treatment and a subsequent ozonation step. Environ Pollut 158(5):1399–1404. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2009.12.038
- Krzeminski P, Tomei MC, Karaolia P, Langenhoff A, Almeida CMR, Felis E et al (2019) Performance of secondary wastewater treatment methods for the removal of contaminants of emerging concern implicated in crop uptake and antibiotic resistance spread: a review. Sci Total Environ 648:1052–1081. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.08.130
- Rizzo L, Malato S, Antakyali D, Beretsou VG, Đolić MB, Gernjak W et al (2019) Consolidated vs new advanced treatment methods for the removal of contaminants of emerging concern from urban wastewater. Sci Total Environ 655(August 2018):986–1008. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.11.265
- Grandclement C, Seyssiecq I, Piram A, Chung PWW, Vanot G, Tiliacos N, Roche N, Doumenq P (2017) From the conventional biological wastewater treatment to hybrid processes, the evaluation of organic micropollutant removal: a review. Water Res 111:297–317
- Ejraei A, Aroon MA, Saravani AZ (2019) Wastewater treatment using a hybrid system combining adsorption, photocatalytic degradation and membrane filtration processes. J Water Process Eng 28:45–53
- Khanzada NK, Farid MU, Kharraz JA, Choi J, Tang CY, Nghiem LD, Jang A, An AK (2020) Removal of organic micropollutants using advanced membrane-based water and wastewater treatment: a review. J Membr Sci 598:117672
- Gómez-Espinosa RM, Arizmendi-Cotero D (2017) Role of membrane on emerging contaminant removal. In: Ecopharmacovigilance. Springer, pp 157–174
- Bolong N, Ismail AF, Salim MR, Matsuura T (2009) A review of the effects of emerging contaminants in wastewater and options for their removal. Desalination 239(1–3):229–246
- 12. Tran NH, Li J, Hu J, Ong SL (2014) Occurrence and suitability of pharmaceuticals and personal care products as molecular markers for raw wastewater contamination in surface

water and groundwater. Environ Sci Pollut Res 21(6):4727-4740. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-013-2428-9

- Zoboli O, Clara M, Gabriel O, Scheffknecht C, Humer M, Brielmann H et al (2019) Occurrence and levels of micropollutants across environmental and engineered compartments in Austria. J Environ Manag 232(July 2018):636–653. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman. 2018.10.074
- Carpenter CMG, Helbling DE (2018) Widespread micropollutant monitoring in the Hudson River estuary reveals spatiotemporal micropollutant clusters and their sources [researcharticle]. Environ Sci Technol 52(11):6187–6196. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b00945
- 15. Bourgin M, Beck B, Boehler M, Borowska E, Fleiner J, Salhi E et al (2018) Evaluation of a full-scale wastewater treatment plant upgraded with ozonation and biological post-treatments: abatement of micropollutants, formation of transformation products and oxidation by-products. Water Res 129:486–498. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.10.036
- Neale PA, Munz NA, Aït-Aïssa S, Altenburger R, Brion F, Busch W et al (2017) Integrating chemical analysis and bioanalysis to evaluate the contribution of wastewater effluent on the micropollutant burden in small streams. Sci Total Environ 576:785–795. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.scitotenv.2016.10.141
- Launay MA, Dittmer U, Steinmetz H (2016) Organic micropollutants discharged by combined sewer overflows – characterisation of pollutant sources and stormwater-related processes. Water Res 104:82–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2016.07.068
- Phillips PJ, Schubert C, Argue D, Fisher I, Furlong ET, Foreman W et al (2015) Concentrations of hormones, pharmaceuticals and other micropollutants in groundwater affected by septic systems in New England and New York. Sci Total Environ 512–513:43–54. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.12.067
- Verlicchi P, Al Aukidy M, Jelic A, Petrović M, Barceló D (2014) Comparison of measured and predicted concentrations of selected pharmaceuticals in wastewater and surface water: a case study of a catchment area in the Po Valley (Italy). Sci Total Environ 470–471:844–854. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.10.026
- Sánchez-Avila J, Vicente J, Echavarri-Erasun B, Porte C, Tauler R, Lacorte S (2013) Sources, fluxes and risk of organic micropollutants to the Cantabrian Sea (Spain). Mar Pollut Bull 72(1):119–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2013.04.010
- 21. Al Aukidy M, Verlicchi P, Jelic A, Petrovic M, Barcelò D (2012) Monitoring release of pharmaceutical compounds: occurrence and environmental risk assessment of two WWTP effluents and their receiving bodies in the Po Valley, Italy. Sci Total Environ 438:15–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.08.061
- 22. Verliefde A, Cornelissen E, Amy G, Van der Bruggen B, van Dijk H (2007) Priority organic micropollutants in water sources in Flanders and the Netherlands and assessment of removal possibilities with nanofiltration. Environ Pollut 146(1):281–289. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envpol.2006.01.051
- Vogelsang C, Grung M, Jantsch TG, Tollefsen KE, Liltved H (2006) Occurrence and removal of selected organic micropollutants at mechanical, chemical and advanced wastewater treatment plants in Norway. Water Res 40(19):3559–3570. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2006. 07.022
- 24. K'oreje KO, Okoth M, Van Langenhove H, Demeestere K (2020) Occurrence and treatment of contaminants of emerging concern in the African aquatic environment: literature review and a look ahead. J Environ Manag 254:109752
- 25. Chakraborty P, Mukhopadhyay M, Sampath S, Ramaswamy BR, Katsoyiannis A, Cincinelli A, Snow D (2019) Organic micropollutants in the surface riverine sediment along the lower stretch of the transboundary river ganga: occurrences, sources and ecological risk assessment. Environ Pollut 249:1071–1080. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.10.115
- 26. Toušová Z, Vrana B, Smutná M, Novák J, Klučárová V, Grabic R et al (2019) Analytical and bioanalytical assessments of organic micropollutants in the Bosna River using a combination

of passive sampling, bioassays and multi-residue analysis. Sci Total Environ 650:1599–1612. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.08.336

- Wang J, Tian Z, Huo Y, Yang M, Zheng X, Zhang Y (2018) Monitoring of 943 organic micropollutants in wastewater from municipal wastewater treatment plants with secondary and advanced treatment processes. J Environ Sci 67:309–317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jes.2017. 09.014
- 28. Yan Z, Yang H, Dong H, Ma B, Sun H, Pan T, Jiang R, Zhou R, Shen J, Liu J, Lu G (2018) Occurrence and ecological risk assessment of organic micropollutants in the lower reaches of the Yangtze River, China: a case study of water diversion. Environ Pollut 239:223–232
- Wanda EMM, Nyoni H, Mamba BB, Msagati TAM (2017) Occurrence of emerging micropollutants in water systems in Gauteng, Mpumalanga, and north west provinces, South Africa. Int J Environ Res Public Health 14(1):8–20. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijerph14010079
- 30. Qi W, Singer H, Berg M, Müller B, Pernet-Coudrier B, Liu H, Qu J (2015) Elimination of polar micropollutants and anthropogenic markers by wastewater treatment in Beijing, China. Chemosphere 119:1054–1061. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014.09.027
- 31. Sari S, Ozdemir G, Yangin-Gomec C, Zengin GE, Topuz E, Aydin E, Pehlivanoglu-Mantas E, Okutman Tas D (2014) Seasonal variation of diclofenac concentration and its relation with wastewater characteristics at two municipal wastewater treatment plants in Turkey. J Hazard Mater 272:155–164
- 32. Félix-Cañedo TE, Durán-Álvarez JC, Jiménez-Cisneros B (2013) The occurrence and distribution of a group of organic micropollutants in Mexico City's water sources. Sci Total Environ 454–455:109–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.02.088
- 33. Jiang L, Hu X, Yin D, Zhang H, Yu Z (2011) Occurrence, distribution and seasonal variation of antibiotics in the Huangpu River, Shanghai, China. Chemosphere 82(6):822–828. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2010.11.028
- Logar I, Brouwer R, Maurer M, Ort C (2014) Cost-benefit analysis of the swiss national policy on reducing micropollutants in treated wastewater. Environ Sci Technol 48(21):12500–12508. https://doi.org/10.1021/es502338j
- 35. Löwenberg J, Zenker A, Krahnstöver T, Boehler M, Baggenstos M, Koch G, Wintgens T (2016) Upgrade of deep bed filtration with activated carbon dosage for compact micropollutant removal from wastewater in technical scale. Water Res 94:246–256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. watres.2016.02.033
- 36. Shreve MJ, Brennan RA (2019) Trace organic contaminant removal in six full-scale integrated fixed-film activated sludge (IFAS) systems treating municipal wastewater. Water Res 151: 318–331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.12.042
- 37. Environment Protection and Heritage Council (Australia), Natural Resource Management Ministerial Council (Australia), Australian Health Ministers' Conference (2007) Australian guidelines for water recycling: augmentation of drinking water supplies: draft for public comment. Canberra, ACT. http://www.ephc.gov.au/pdf/water/ AugmentationofDrinkingWaterSupplies_ConsultationDraft_July07.pdf
- 38. Nikinmaa M (2014) An introduction to aquatic toxicology. Elsevier
- 39. Li Y, Zhang L, Ding J, Liu X (2020) Prioritization of pharmaceuticals in water environment in China based on environmental criteria and risk analysis of top-priority pharmaceuticals. J Environ Manag 253:109732
- 40. EU Commission (2003) Technical guidance document on risk assessment. Institute for Health and Consumer Protection, European Chemicals Bureau. Part II. http://echa.europa.eu/ documents/10162/16960216/tgdpart2_2ed_en.pdf
- 41. Chen Y, Xi X, Yu G, Cao Q, Wang B, Vince F, Hong Y (2015) Pharmaceutical compounds in aquatic environment in China: locally screening and environmental risk assessment. Front Environ Sci Eng 9(3):394–401
- 42. Zhou S, Di Paolo C, Wu X, Shao Y, Seiler TB, Hollert H (2019) Optimization of screeninglevel risk assessment and priority selection of emerging pollutants – the case of

pharmaceuticals in European surface waters. Environ Int 128(April):1–10. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.envint.2019.04.034

- 43. K'oreje KO, Vergeynst L, Ombaka D, De Wispelaere P, Okoth M, Van Langenhove H, Demeestere K (2016) Occurrence patterns of pharmaceutical residues in wastewater, surface water and groundwater of Nairobi and Kisumu city, Kenya. Chemosphere 149:238–244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.01.095
- 44. Kim SD, Cho J, Kim IS, Vanderford BJ, Snyder SA (2007) Occurrence and removal of pharmaceuticals and endocrine disruptors in south Korean surface, drinking, and waste waters. Water Res 41(5):1013–1021. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2006.06.034
- 45. der Aa V (2011) Assessment of potential risks of 11 pharmaceuticals for the environment. RIVM Letter Report, The Netherlands
- 46. Nam SW, Jo BI, Yoon Y, Zoh KD (2014) Occurrence and removal of selected micropollutants in a water treatment plant. Chemosphere 95:156–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere. 2013.08.055
- 47. Nieto E, Drake P, Trombini C, González-Ortegón E, Hampel M, Blasco J (2010) Toxicity testing and behavioural changes in 2 species exposure to several compounds. Ingenio
- Claessens M, Vanhaecke L, Wille K, Janssen CR (2013) Emerging contaminants in Belgian marine waters: single toxicant and mixture risks of pharmaceuticals. Mar Pollut Bull 71(1–2): 41–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2013.03.039
- 49. Schlabach M (2007) Human and veterinary pharmaceuticals, narcotics, and personal care products in the environment. IVL, NILI, NIVA, The Norway
- 50. Stuer-Lauridsen F, Birkved M, Hansen LP, Holten Lützhøft HC, Halling-Sørensen B (2000) Environmental risk assessment of human pharmaceuticals in Denmark after normal therapeutic use. Chemosphere 40(7):783–793. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(99)00453-1
- 51. http://www.fass.se. Accessed 18 Jan 2020
- 52. Besse JP, Kausch-Barreto C, Garric J (2008) Exposure assessment of pharmaceuticals and their metabolites in the aquatic environment: application to the French situation and preliminary prioritization. Hum Ecol Risk Assess 14(4):665–695. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 10807030802235078
- Ferrari B, Paxéus N, Giudice RL, Pollio A, Garric J (2003) Ecotoxicological impact of pharmaceuticals found in treated wastewaters: study of carbamazepine, clofibric acid, and diclofenac. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 55(3):359–370. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0147-6513(02) 00082-9
- Ahmed MB, Zhou JL, Ngo HH, Guo W (2015) Adsorptive removal of antibiotics from water and wastewater: progress and challenges. Sci Total Environ 532:112–126. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.scitotenv.2015.05.130
- Homem V, Santos L (2011) Degradation and removal methods of antibiotics from aqueous matrices - a review. J Environ Manag 92(10):2304–2347. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman. 2011.05.023
- Rodriguez-Narvaez OM, Peralta-Hernandez JM, Goonetilleke A, Bandala ER (2017) Treatment technologies for emerging contaminants in water: a review. Chem Eng J 323:361–380. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2017.04.106
- Alvarino T, Torregrosa N, Omil F, Lema JM, Suarez S (2016a) Assessing the feasibility of two hybrid MBR systems using PAC for removing macro and micropollutants. J Environ Manag 203:831–837
- 58. Alvarino T, Suárez S, Garrido M, Lema JM, Omil F (2016b) A UASB reactor coupled to a hybrid aerobic MBR as innovative plant configuration to enhance the removal of organic micropollutants. Chemosphere 144:452–458
- 59. Park J, Yamashita N, Park C, Shimono T, Takeuchi DM, Tanaka H (2017) Removal characteristics of pharmaceuticals and personal care products: comparison between membrane bioreactor and various biological treatment processes. Chemosphere 179:347–358

- 60. Verlicchi P, Al Aukidy M, Zambello E (2012) Occurrence of pharmaceutical compounds in urban wastewater: removal, mass load and environmental risk after a secondary treatment—a review. Sci Total Environ 429:123–155
- Ahmed MB, Zhou JL, Ngo HH, Guo W, Thomaidis NS, Xu J (2017) Progress in the biological and chemical treatment technologies for emerging contaminant removal from wastewater: a critical review. J Hazard Mater 323:274–298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2016.04.045
- 62. Tran NH, Urase T, Ngo HH, Hu J, Ong SL (2013) Insight into metabolic and cometabolic activities of autotrophic and heterotrophic microorganisms in the biodegradation of emerging trace organic contaminants. Bioresour Technol 146:721–731. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biortech.2013.07.083
- Deegan AM, Shaik B, Nolan K, Urell K, Oelgemöller M, Tobin J, Morrissey A (2011) Treatment options for wastewater effluents from pharmaceutical companies. Int J Environ Sci Technol 8(3):649–666. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03326250
- 64. Buttiglieri G, Knepper TP (2007) Removal of emerging contaminants in wastewater treatment: conventional activated sludge treatment. In: Emerging contaminants from industrial and municipal waste. Springer, pp 1–35
- 65. Shi BJ, Wang Y, Geng YK, Liu RD, Pan XR, Li WW, Sheng GP (2018) Application of membrane bioreactor for sulfamethazine-contained wastewater treatment. Chemosphere 193: 840–846
- 66. Wu CY, Bai L, Gu F, Wei W, Guo LX, Wen DM (2018) Elimination of typical polycyclic musks in a full-scale membrane bioreactor combined with anaerobic–anoxic–oxic process in municipal wastewater treatment plant. Water Sci Technol 78(7):1459–1465
- 67. Abargues MR, Robles A, Bouzas A, Seco A (2012) Micropollutants removal in an anaerobic membrane bioreactor and in an aerobic conventional treatment plant. Water Sci Technol 65(12):2242–2250
- 68. Neilson AH, Allard A-S (2007) Environmental degradation and transformation of organic chemicals. CRC Press
- 69. Ghattas AK, Fischer F, Wick A, Ternes TA (2017) Anaerobic biodegradation of (emerging) organic contaminants in the aquatic environment. Water Res 116:268–295
- Smith AL, Stadler LB, Love NG, Skerlos SJ, Raskin L (2012) Perspectives on anaerobic membrane bioreactor treatment of domestic wastewater: a critical review. Bioresour Technol 122:149–159
- 71. Song X, Luo W, McDonald J, Khan SJ, Hai FI, Price WE, Nghiem LD (2018) An anaerobic membrane bioreactor-membrane distillation hybrid system for energy recovery and water reuse: removal performance of organic carbon, nutrients, and trace organic contaminants. Sci Total Environ 628:358–365
- 72. Tadkaew N, Hai FI, McDonald JA, Khan SJ, Nghiem LD (2011) Removal of trace organics by MBR treatment: the role of molecular properties. Water Res 45(8):2439–2451
- Wijekoon KC, McDonald JA, Khan SJ, Hai FI, Price WE, Nghiem LD (2015) Bioresour Technol 189:391–398
- 74. Joss A, Andersen H, Ternes T, Richle PR, Siegrist H (2004) Removal of estrogens in municipal wastewater treatment under aerobic and anaerobic conditions: consequences for plant optimization. Environ Sci Technol 38(11):3047–3055
- 75. Besha AT, Gebreyohannes AY, Tufa RA, Bekele DN, Curcio E, Giorno L (2017) Removal of emerging micropollutants by activated sludge process and membrane bioreactors and the effects of micropollutants on membrane fouling: a review. J Environ Chem Eng 5(3):2395– 2414. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jece.2017.04.027
- 76. Judd SJ (2016) The status of industrial and municipal effluent treatment with membrane bioreactor technology. Chem Eng J 305:37–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2015.08.141
- 77. Arous F, Hamdi C, Bessadok S, Jaouani A (2019) Innovative biological approaches for contaminants of emerging concern removal from wastewater: a mini-review. Adv Biotechnol Microbiol 13(October):114–120. https://doi.org/10.19080/AIBM.2019.13.555875

- Stuckey DC (2012) Recent developments in anaerobic membrane reactors. Bioresour Technol 122:137–148
- 79. Prasertkulsak S, Chiemchaisri C, Chiemchaisri W, Itonaga T, Yamamoto K (2016) Removals of pharmaceutical compounds from hospital wastewater in membrane bioreactor operated under short hydraulic retention time. Chemosphere 150:624–631
- Holloway RW, Regnery J, Nghiem LD, Cath TY (2014) Removal of trace organic chemicals and performance of a novel hybrid ultrafiltration-osmotic membrane bioreactor. Environ Sci Technol 48(18):10859–10868
- Nguyen LN, Hai FI, Kang J, Price WE, Nghiem LD (2013) Removal of emerging trace organic contaminants by MBR-based hybrid treatment processes. Int Biodeterior Biodegradation 85:474–482
- Dolar D, Gros M, Rodriguez-Mozaz S, Moreno J, Comas J, Rodriguez-Roda I, Barceló D (2012) Removal of emerging contaminants from municipal wastewater with an integrated membrane system, MBR–RO. J Hazard Mater 239:64–69
- Sahar E, David I, Gelman Y, Chikurel H, Aharoni A, Messalem R, Brenner A (2011) The use of RO to remove emerging micropollutants following CAS/UF or MBR treatment of municipal wastewater. Desalination 273(1):142–147
- Wei CH, Hoppe-Jones C, Amy G, Leiknes T (2016) Organic micro-pollutants' removal via anaerobic membrane bioreactor with ultrafiltration and nanofiltration. J Water Reuse Desalin 6 (3):362–370
- Monsalvo VM, McDonald JA, Khan SJ, Le-Clech P (2014) Removal of trace organics by anaerobic membrane bioreactors. Water Res 49:103–112
- Bilal M, Adeel M, Rasheed T, Zhao Y, Iqbal HM (2019) Emerging contaminants of high concern and their enzyme-assisted biodegradation–a review. Environ Int 124:336–353
- Morsi R, Bilal M, Iqbal HM, Ashraf SS (2020) Laccases and peroxidases: the smart, greener and futuristic biocatalytic tools to mitigate recalcitrant emerging pollutants. Sci Total Environ 714:136572
- Weber WJ (1972) Physicochemical processes for water quality control. Wiley Interscience, New York
- 89. Cheremisinoff NP (2001) Handbook of water and wastewater treatment technologies. Butterworth-Heinemann
- 90. Lu X, Shao Y, Gao N, Chen J, Zhang Y, Wang Q, Lu Y (2016) Adsorption and removal of clofibric acid and diclofenac from water with MIEX resin. Chemosphere 161:400–411
- Benstoem F, Nahrstedt A, Boehler M, Knopp G, Montag D, Siegrist H, Pinnekamp J (2017) Performance of granular activated carbon to remove micropollutants from municipal wastewater—a meta-analysis of pilot-and large-scale studies. Chemosphere 185:105–118
- 92. Saucier C, Karthickeyan P, Ranjithkumar V, Lima EC, Dos Reis GS, de Brum IA (2017) Efficient removal of amoxicillin and paracetamol from aqueous solutions using magnetic activated carbon. Environ Sci Pollut Res 24(6):5918–5932
- Alvarez-Torrellas S, Ribeiro RS, Gomes HT, Ovejero G, García J (2016) Removal of antibiotic compounds by adsorption using glycerol-based carbon materials. Chem Eng J 296:277–288
- Bhatnagar A, Anastopoulos I (2017) Adsorptive removal of bisphenol A (BPA) from aqueous solution: a review. Chemosphere 168:885–902
- 95. Fagan R, McCormack DE, Dionysiou DD, Pillai SC (2016) A review of solar and visible light active TiO₂ photocatalysis for treating bacteria, cyanotoxins and contaminants of emerging concern. Mater Sci Semicond Process 42:2–14
- 96. He Y, Sutton NB, Rijnaarts HH, Langenhoff AA (2016) Degradation of pharmaceuticals in wastewater using immobilized TiO_2 photocatalysis under simulated solar irradiation. Appl Catal B Environ 182:132–141
- 97. Xu X, Cheng Y, Zhang T, Ji F, Xu X (2016) Treatment of pharmaceutical wastewater using interior micro-electrolysis/Fenton oxidation-coagulation and biological degradation. Chemosphere 152:23–30

- Huber MM, Canonica S, Park GY, Von Gunten U (2003) Oxidation of pharmaceuticals during ozonation and advanced oxidation processes. Environ Sci Technol 37(5):1016–1024
- Wert EC, Rosario-Ortiz FL, Drury DD, Snyder SA (2007) Formation of oxidation byproducts from ozonation of wastewater. Water Res 41(7):1481–1490
- 100. Song JY, Bhadra BN, Jhung SH (2017) Contribution of H-bond in adsorptive removal of pharmaceutical and personal care products from water using oxidized activated carbon. Microporous Mesoporous Mater 243:221–228
- 101. Ncibi MC, Sillanpaa M (2017) Optimizing the removal of pharmaceutical drugs carbamazepine and dorzolamide from aqueous solutions using mesoporous activated carbons and multiwalled carbon nanotubes. J Mol Liq 238:379–388
- 102. Putra EK, Pranowo R, Sunarso J, Indraswati N, Ismadji S (2009) Performance of activated carbon and bentonite for adsorption of amoxicillin from wastewater: mechanisms, isotherms and kinetics. Water Res 43(9):2419–2430
- 103. Zambianchi M, Durso M, Liscio A, Treossi E, Bettini C, Capobianco ML et al (2017) Graphene oxide doped polysulfone membrane adsorbers for the removal of organic contaminants from water. Chem Eng J 326:130–140
- 104. Ahmed MB, Zhou JL, Ngo HH, Guo W, Chen M (2016) Progress in the preparation and application of modified biochar for improved contaminant removal from water and wastewater. Bioresour Technol 214:836–851
- 105. Sun K, Shi Y, Wang X, Li Z (2017) Sorption and retention of diclofenac on zeolite in the presence of cationic surfactant. J Hazard Mater 323:584–592
- 106. Omri A, Wali A, Benzina M (2016) Adsorption of bentazon on activated carbon prepared from Lawsonia inermis wood: equilibrium, kinetic and thermodynamic studies. Arab J Chem 9: S1729–S1739
- 107. Behera SK, Oh SY, Park HS (2010) Sorption of triclosan onto activated carbon, kaolinite and montmorillonite: effects of pH, ionic strength, and humic acid. J Hazard Mater 179(1–3):684– 691
- 108. Baccar R, Sarrà M, Bouzid J, Feki M, Blánquez P (2012) Removal of pharmaceutical compounds by activated carbon prepared from agricultural by-product. Chem Eng J 211:310–317
- 109. Qurie M, Khamis M, Malek F, Nir S, Bufo SA, Abbadi J et al (2014) Stability and removal of naproxen and its metabolite by advanced membrane wastewater treatment plant and micelle–C lay complex. CLEAN Soil Air Water 42(5):594–600
- 110. Sharma PK, Wankat PC (2010) Solvent recovery by steamless temperature swing carbon adsorption processes. Ind Eng Chem Res 49(22):11602–11613
- 111. Apul OG, Wang Q, Zhou Y, Karanfil T (2013) Adsorption of aromatic organic contaminants by graphene nanosheets: comparison with carbon nanotubes and activated carbon. Water Res 47(4):1648–1654
- 112. Yu F, Sun S, Han S, Zheng J, Ma J (2016) Adsorption removal of ciprofloxacin by multiwalled carbon nanotubes with different oxygen contents from aqueous solutions. Chem Eng J 285:588–595
- 113. Babaei AA, Lima EC, Takdastan A, Alavi N, Goudarzi G, Vosoughi M et al (2016) Removal of tetracycline antibiotic from contaminated water media by multi-walled carbon nanotubes: operational variables, kinetics, and equilibrium studies. Water Sci Technol 74(5):1202–1216
- 114. Srinivasan R (2011) Advances in application of natural clay and its composites in removal of biological, organic, and inorganic contaminants from drinking water. Adv Mater Sci Eng 2011:872531
- 115. Muylaert I, Verberckmoes A, De Decker J, Van Der Voort P (2012) Ordered mesoporous phenolic resins: highly versatile and ultrastable support materials. Adv Colloid Interf Sci 175:39–51
- 116. Wang J, Wang S (2016) Removal of pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs) from wastewater: a review. J Environ Manag 182:620–640

- 117. Nguyen LN, Hai FI, Kang J, Price WE, Nghiem LD (2012) Removal of trace organic contaminants by a membrane bioreactor–granular activated carbon (MBR–GAC) system. Bioresour Technol 113:169–173
- 118. Sirotkin AS, Koshkina LY, Ippolitov KG (2001) The BAC-process for treatment of waste water containing non-ionogenic synthetic surfactants. *Water Res* 35(13):3265–3271
- 119. Remy M, Van der Marel P, Zwijnenburg A, Rulkens W, Temmink H (2009) Low dose powdered activated carbon addition at high sludge retention times to reduce fouling in membrane bioreactors. Water Res 43(2):345–350
- 120. Secondes MFN, Naddeo V, Belgiorno V, Ballesteros Jr F (2014) Removal of emerging contaminants by simultaneous application of membrane ultrafiltration, activated carbon adsorption, and ultrasound irradiation. J Hazard Mater 264:342–349
- 121. Serrano D, Suárez S, Lema JM, Omil F (2011) Removal of persistent pharmaceutical micropollutants from sewage by addition of PAC in a sequential membrane bioreactor. Water Res 45(16):5323–5333
- 122. Sheng C, Nnanna AA, Liu Y, Vargo JD (2016) Removal of trace pharmaceuticals from water using coagulation and powdered activated carbon as pretreatment to ultrafiltration membrane system. Sci Total Environ 550:1075–1083
- 123. Shanmuganathan S, Loganathan P, Kazner C, Johir MAH, Vigneswaran S (2017) Submerged membrane filtration adsorption hybrid system for the removal of organic micropollutants from a water reclamation plant reverse osmosis concentrate. Desalination 401:134–141
- 124. Löwenberg J, Zenker A, Baggenstos M, Koch G, Kazner C, Wintgens T (2014) Comparison of two PAC/UF processes for the removal of micropollutants from wastewater treatment plant effluent: process performance and removal efficiency. Water Res 56:26–36
- 125. Vona A, Di Martino F, Garcia-Ivars J, Picó Y, Mendoza-Roca JA, Iborra-Clar MI (2015) Comparison of different removal techniques for selected pharmaceuticals. J Water Process Eng 5:48–57
- 126. Saravia F, Frimmel FH (2008) Role of NOM in the performance of adsorption-membrane hybrid systems applied for the removal of pharmaceuticals. Desalination 224(1–3):168–171
- 127. Kim S, Park CM, Jang A, Jang M, Hernández-Maldonado AJ, Yu M et al (2019) Removal of selected pharmaceuticals in an ultrafiltration-activated biochar hybrid system. J Membr Sci 570:77–84
- 128. Baumgarten S, Schröder HF, Charwath C, Lange M, Beier S, Pinnekamp J (2007) Evaluation of advanced treatment technologies for the elimination of pharmaceutical compounds. Water Sci Technol 56(5):1–8
- 129. Taheran M, Brar SK, Verma M, Surampalli R, Zhang TC, Valero JR (2016) Membrane process for removal of pharmaceutically active compounds (PhACs) from water and wastewaters. Sci Total Environ 547:60–77
- 130. Wardenier N, Liu Z, Nikiforov A, Van Hulle SWH, Leys C (2019) Micropollutant elimination by O3, UV and plasma-based AOPs: An evaluation of treatment and energy costs. Chemosphere 234:715–724
- 131. Ribeiro AR, Nunes OC, Pereira MFR, Silva AMT (2015) An overview on the advanced oxidation processes applied for the treatment of water pollutants defined in the recently launched Directive 2013/39/EU. Environ Int 75:33–51
- 132. Naddeo V, Landi M, Scannapieco D, Belgiorno V (2013) Sonochemical degradation of twenty-three emerging contaminants in urban wastewater. Desalin Water Treat 51:6601–6608
- 133. Li K, Wen G, Li S, Chang H, Shao S, Huang T, Li G, Liang H (2019) Effect of pre-oxidation on low pressure membrane (LPM) for water and wastewater treatment: a review. Chemosphere 231:287–300
- 134. Plakas KV, Sarasidis VC, Patsios SI, Lambropoulou DA, Karabelas AJ (2016) Novel pilot scale continuous photocatalytic membrane reactor for removal of organic micropollutants from water. Chem Eng J 304:335–343

- 135. Benotti MJ, Stanford BD, Wert EC, Snyder SA (2009) Evaluation of a photocatalytic reactor membrane pilot system for the removal of pharmaceuticals and endocrine disrupting compounds from water. Water Res 43(6):1513–1522
- 136. Martínez F, López-Muñoz MJ, Aguado J, Melero JA, Arsuaga J, Sotto A et al (2013) Coupling membrane separation and photocatalytic oxidation processes for the degradation of pharmaceutical pollutants. Water Res 47(15):5647–5658
- 137. Sarasidis VC, Plakas KV, Patsios SI, Karabelas AJ (2014) Investigation of diclofenac degradation in a continuous photo-catalytic membrane reactor. Influence of operating parameters. Chem Eng J 239:299–311
- 138. Fan X, Tao Y, Wang L, Zhang X, Lei Y, Wang Z, Noguchi H (2014) Performance of an integrated process combining ozonation with ceramic membrane ultra-filtration for advanced treatment of drinking water. Desalination 335(1):47–54
- 139. Fernández RL, McDonald JA, Khan SJ, Le-Clech P (2014) Removal of pharmaceuticals and endocrine disrupting chemicals by a submerged membrane photocatalysis reactor (MPR). Sep Purif Technol 127:131–139
- 140. Darowna D, Grondzewska S, Morawski AW, Mozia S (2014) Removal of non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs from primary and secondary effluents in a photocatalytic membrane reactor. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 89(8):1265–1273
- 141. Żyłła R, Boruta T, Gmurek M, Milala R, Ledakowicz S (2019) Integration of advanced oxidation and membrane filtration for removal of micropollutants of emerging concern. *Process Saf Environ Prot* 130:67–76
- 142. Plakas KV, Mantza A, Sklari SD, Zaspalis VT, Karabelas AJ (2019) Heterogeneous Fentonlike oxidation of pharmaceutical diclofenac by a catalytic iron-oxide ceramic microfiltration membrane. Chem Eng J 373:700–708
- 143. Lee WJ, Bao Y, Hu X, Lim TT (2019) Hybrid catalytic ozonation-membrane filtration process with CeOx and MnOx impregnated catalytic ceramic membranes for micropollutants degradation. Chem Eng J 378:121670
- 144. Pan Z, Song C, Li L, Wang H, Pan Y, Wang C, Li J, Wang T, Feng X (2019) Membrane technology coupled with electrochemical advanced oxidation processes for organic wastewater treatment: recent advances and future prospects. Chem Eng J 376:120909
- 145. Li C, Zhang M, Song C, Tao P, Sun M, Shao M, Wang T (2018) Enhanced treatment ability of membrane technology by integrating an electric field for dye wastewater treatment: a review. J AOAC Int 101:1341352
- 146. Echevarría C, Valderrama C, Cortina JL, Martín I, Arnaldos M, Bernat X et al (2019) Technoeconomic evaluation and comparison of PAC-MBR and ozonation-UV revamping for organic micro-pollutants removal from urban reclaimed wastewater. Sci Total Environ 671:288–298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.03.365
- 147. Vela N, Calín M, Yáñez-Gascón MJ, Garrido I, Pérez-Lucas G, Fenoll J, Navarro S (2018) Solar reclamation of wastewater effluent polluted with bisphenols, phthalates and parabens by photocatalytic treatment with TiO₂/Na2S2O8 at pilot plant scale. Chemosphere 212:95–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.08.069

Trihalomethanes (THMs) in Wastewater: Causes and Concerns



Minashree Kumari and Sunil Kumar Gupta

Contents

1 Introduction	422
2 Disinfection of Wastewater	423
3 THMs Formation Mechanism	425
4 Factors Affecting THMs Formation	426
4.1 pH Effect	427
4.2 Temperature Effect	428
4.3 Organic Matter	428
4.4 Effect of Chlorine Dose and Contact Time	428
4.5 Effect of Ammonia	429
4.6 Effect of Bromide Ion	430
5 Risk of THMs	430
6 Models to Predict the Concentration of THMs	431
7 Guidelines	432
8 Summary and Conclusions	432
9 Future Prospective	434
References	435

Abstract Effective wastewater treatment is critical to public health and well-being. The main function of a wastewater treatment plant is to minimize the environmental impact of discharging untreated wastewater into natural water systems. Disinfection is a vital process to inactivate pathogenic microorganisms in drinking water and wastewater. It also acts as the cornerstone unit operation of the water treatment process that secures drinking water safety. Since the 1970s, it has been recognized that disinfection can produce harmful by-products and cause health concerns.

M. Kumari (🖂)

S. K. Gupta

Mahmoud Nasr and Abdelazim M. Negm (eds.),

Environment Engineering Section, Department of Civil Engineering, Indian Institute of Technology Delhi, New Delhi, India

Department of Environmental Science and Engineering, Indian Institute of Technology (ISM), Dhanbad, Jharkhand, India

Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems, Hdb Env Chem (2023) 118: 421–440, DOI 10.1007/698_2022_872, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022, Published online: 16 April 2022

Chlorination is the most widely used approach to achieve the disinfection of wastewater but it leads to the formation of disinfection by-products (DBPs) on reaction with the organic matter present. Trihalomethanes (THMs) are the major DBPs formed during the disinfection of water and wastewater. Several water quality operational parameters influence the formation of THMs. The presence of ammonia in wastewater leads to the formation of nitrogenous DBPs in addition to chlorinated and brominated THMs. THMs have been recognized as potential carcinogenic substances, which adversely affects the human health. Owing to the carcinogenic nature of DBPs, guidelines values have been recommended by the regulatory agencies to control their formation and subsequent discharge. The present chapter would describe all the aspects related to THMs formation in wastewater.

Keywords Chlorination, Disinfection by-products, Human health, Risk, Wastewater

1 Introduction

Wastewater must be disinfected to prevent the spread of pathogenic microorganisms essentially when the wastewater is to be used for activities such as irrigation or agricultural uses or groundwater recharge [1]. The main function of wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) is to minimize the environmental impact of discharging untreated wastewater into natural water systems. Wastewater effluents are generally discharged into the surrounding water bodies such as freshwater or marine water. Recreational water activities are significant from environmental prospective and need protection. Typically, wastewater is transported via sewer pipes to WWTP, where it is treated prior to its discharge into nearby water bodies, such as stream, lakes, or rivers [2]. Domestic wastewater usually contains high level of organic matter, nutrients (nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium), pathogens, solids, and other substances which deteriorate the water quality if released without proper treatment [3]. Disinfection of wastewater is carried out to kill harmful microorganisms and safeguard human beings from the exposure to waterborne pathogens. During the course of disinfection, inactivation of microorganisms is achieved by introducing biochemical changes in their DNA. This biochemical modification depends on the type of microorganisms present in the wastewater and the disinfectant applied.

Chlorination is the most common practice to achieve the disinfection of treated wastewater, but may produce certain cancer-causing substances and toxic by-products that are potentially harmful to human health and aquatic organisms [4–10]. In early 1970s, it was discovered that disinfection of water leads to the formation of harmful by-products, which has adverse effects on human health. Wastewater disinfection also leads to the formation of these toxic disinfection by-products (DBPs) [11, 12]. DBPs are designated as toxic by-products that are

formed by the reaction of disinfectants with organic compounds present in water [13]. THMs are the most prevalent form of DBPs formed in water and wastewater treatment plants and are used as indicators of total (DBP) formation [14]. Total THMs (TTHMs) comprise four different THMs species, namely chloroform or trichloromethane (CHCl₃), bromodichloromethane (CHBrCl₂), chlorinedibromomethane (CHBr₂Cl), and bromoform or tribromomethane (CHBr₃). Studies showed that natural organic matter (NOM) and dissolved organic matter (DOM) are the major precursors of DBPs formation in water and wastewater. In wastewater, the reaction between chlorinated compounds and DOM during course of disinfection is much more complex than those during water disinfection [12]. Presence of several classes of pathogens including inorganic and organic substances makes the disinfection of wastewater a cumbersome process compared to drinking water [15].

Formation of THMs in wastewater mainly depends on parameters like organic matter content, chlorine dose, pH, temperature, bromide ion concentration, and the presence of ammonia. High concentrations of organic carbon may result in the production of several chlorinated DBPs compounds after reaction with chlorine [16]. In addition to chlorinated DBPs, brominated or iodinated DBPs are also formed if the source water contains high level of bromide/iodide ions.

Several epidemiological studies suggested links between DBPs exposure with different types of cancers (bladder, colon, and rectal) and adverse reproductive effects [17]. Owing to the potential adverse effects of THMs on human health, THMs are designated as probable carcinogens by USEPA. In human beings, exposure to THMs not only occurs by drinking water intake, i.e. oral ingestion but also by THMs volatilization during day to day activities like bathing, showering, and cooking. Oral ingestion, dermal absorption and inhalation are the three possible pathways of THMs exposure [18]. To regulate THMs, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) Stage 2D/DBP rule sets the maximum contaminant level for four THMs, represented as total THMs (TTHMs) and five HAAs as 80 μ g/L and 60 µg/L, respectively, for drinking water [19]. The National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) specified the acceptable guideline values of pathogen indicators such as enterococci which should be considered low risk for activities such as swimming and boating [20]. Unlike the USEPA Stage 2 D/DBP drinking water rules, the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) recommended guideline values for each THMs species for surface water discharge. Thus, disinfection of wastewater effluents is required to manage the potential risk exposure to human health.

2 Disinfection of Wastewater

Disinfection is the most crucial phase of the wastewater treatment process. It is the last and final step to remove pathogens from the treated water prior to discharge of effluent into the water system. Several types of bacteria such as *Vibrio cholerae*,



Fig. 1 Unit operations and disinfection of wastewater influent

Salmonella typhi, Escherichia coli), protozoa (Cryptosporidium, Giardia), viruses (Rotavirus, Poliovirus, Adenovirus), and helminth ova (Ascaris) are present in water and wastewater [21, 22]. Disinfection inhibits the growth of these harmful microorganisms by reducing their numbers to a regulated level, and thereby prevents the spread of waterborne diseases.

The goal of WWTPs is to generate an effluent which is devoid of pathogenic microbial population and possess negligible risk to human and environmental health [23] Wastewater treatment generally includes several stages, such as biological degradation of organic matter, sedimentation of suspended solids, removal of nutrients, and finally, disinfection to inactivate pathogenic microorganisms [24]. Wastewater disinfection is usually carried out after primary, secondary, and sometimes tertiary treatment. Figure 1 shows flowchart of WWTPs unit operations used for the disinfection of wastewater.

Different types of physical and chemical treatment techniques have been applied to disinfect wastewater before it is released back to the natural water course. Historically, chlorine is the most widely used disinfectant for municipal wastewater treatment owing to its high efficiency, low cost, and higher oxidation potential [10]. However, chlorine disinfection possesses detrimental effects on human health as it leads to the formation of carcinogenic DBPs such as THMs and halo acetic acids (HAAs), affecting surface water quality where the treated wastewater is discharged. In addition to this, during the chlorination process, high concentration of nitrogen in wastewater may also produce nitrogenous DBPs such as N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) [25], which are usually considered to be highly toxic as compared to carbon-based DBPs [26]. The problem of storage and safe handling of chlorine led to the identification of alternative agents for the disinfection of water/wastewater. Other physical methods of wastewater disinfection such as ozonation or ultraviolet (UV) light has also been used [27–30]. Ozone, as a disinfecting agent, has additional advantage as it increases the dissolved oxygen content of the treated wastewater. But ozone needs to be generated, which adds up to the capital cost and expenditure in

comparison with traditional chlorination [31]. Use of UV light as a wastewater disinfection method has gained widespread popularity over the traditional chlorine-based disinfection methods due to low construction and maintenance cost including long-term operation and also provides substantial protection to societies, plant workers, and receiving water bodies [32]. The process is advantageous as neither does it add anything to the water nor does it alter the chemical composition or the dissolved oxygen content of the water [33]. Although the above-mentioned chemicals and processes will disinfect wastewater and have certain advantages over one another, none of them are found to be universally applicable.

3 THMs Formation Mechanism

THMs are the major DBPs formed during the disinfection of water and wastewater. DBPs formation usually takes place via three common reactions, i.e. oxidation, substitution, and addition [34–36]. The majority of chlorinated DBPs are formed by oxidation and substitution reactions. In oxidation reactions, NOM especially the humic substances react with chlorinated compounds mainly chlorine and break down the annular structure. As the reaction proceeds, pseudohynol formed first followed by the electrophile substitution of C atom in α -position of carboxyl group [37, 38]. The formed carbonium ion then reacts with chlorine to form trichloromethyl ketone, which further breaks down to produce chloroform [37]. Substitution reactions are important with respect to humic substances. Aromatic compounds like phenol and aromatic acids are easily chlorinated in the water medium by HOCl⁻ and OCl⁻, producing chlorinated equivalents. Methoxyl, phenol, and keto groups are more reactive with chlorine than alkyl or carboxyl groups [38]. Chlorine undergoes an addition reaction if the organic compound has a double bond. Chloroform may be produced through a series of reactions with functional groups (such as acetyl, carboxyl, phenol, and alcohol) of humic substances. Resorcinol structure was identified as the major humic material precursor for chloroform formation and set the platform to study the mechanism of DBPs formation [35]. THMs symbolize a systemic halogenation and show a structural variation of the methane molecule (CH₄), wherein the hydrogen atoms are substituted by four halogen atoms, i.e., fluorine (F), chlorine (Cl), bromine (Br), or iodine (I). Figure 2 represents the mechanism of THMs formation.

NOM is a complex and diverse mixture of organic compounds derived from vegetation decay and animal residues or substances. It may come from natural sources such as the soil or from anthropogenic sources or discharge from sanitary landfills. NOM mainly consists of aromatic and aliphatic hydrocarbons with functional groups such as amides, carboxyl, hydroxyl, and ketones and others in smaller amounts [39–41]. During the process of disinfection, chlorine reacts with NOM especially humic substances to form THMs. Wastewater organic matter generally consists of proteins, carbohydrates, oils, and fats [42], which is considerably different from those found in drinking water. Other than organic matter, bromide ions are



Fig. 2 Process of THMs formation

major inorganic precursors of DBPs formation. Bromide ions are omnipresent in water and wastewater and are rapidly oxidized by chlorine to bromine during chlorination which on further reaction with organic matter leads to the formation of brominated DBPs as mentioned by Eqs. (1), (2), and (3) [19, 43].

$$HOCl + Organics = DBPs$$
 (1)

$$HOCl + Br^{-} = HOBr + Cl^{-}$$
(2)

$$HOBr + Organics = DBPs$$
 (3)

where HOCl is hypochlorous acid and HOBr indicates hypobromous acid.

When ammonia is present in treated effluents, it reacts with chlorine to form chloramines (Eqs. (4), (5), and (6))

$$NH_3 + HOCl = NH_2Cl + H_2O \tag{4}$$

$$NH_2Cl + HOCl = NHCl_2 + H_2O$$
(5)

$$NHCl_2 + HOCl = NCl_3 + H_2O$$
(6)

where NH₂Cl indicates monochloramine, NHCl₂ as dichloramine, and NCl₃ as trichloramine.

Formation of NH₂Cl, NHCl₂, and NCl₃ depends on pH and Cl₂:NH₃ ratio. For example, monochloramine formation is predominant at 5:1 Cl₂: NH₃ ratio. Chloramines form fewer DBPs, i.e., THMs and HAAs compared to free chlorine. Figure 3 shows a conceptual mechanism for the formation of THMs from disinfecting agents such as chlorine and chloramines.

4 Factors Affecting THMs Formation

Chlorination is most widely used practice to achieve the disinfection of wastewater. As mentioned earlier, chlorine reacts with organic compounds which results in the formation of DBPs, including THMs. The formation and speciation of THMs in



Fig. 3 A theoretical model of THMs formation

WWTP is majorly influenced by several water quality operational parameters [44], including the source, water quality, organic matter content, presence of ammonia, and bromide and iodide concentrations [45, 46]. Plant-specific disinfection variables affecting THMs formation includes contact time, pH, chlorine dose, and temperature. The effect of water quality operational parameters like pH, temperature, organic matter concentration, chlorine dose, ammonia concentration has been discussed below.

4.1 pH Effect

In general, the rate of THMs formation increases with pH [47]. For instance, a threefold increase in the reaction rate per unit pH increases THMs formation [48]. pH has two effects, viz., decreased pH results in low THM formation, and similarly, increased pH results in high THMs formation [49]. The initial attack is dependent on HCIO concentration, which is related to pH. The lower the pH, the higher will be the HCIO concentration and results in higher concentration of humics. THMs formation depends on the last step of THM reaction pathway, which is basecatalyzed halo form reaction. The formation of THMs increases with an increase in pH, at pH = 8 THMs production is higher than for pH = 6 [50]. Similarly, the formation of chloroform is predominant at higher pH [51–53]. THM concentration increased by a factor of 2.8 and 1.6, respectively, when pH was increased from 5 to 7 and 10 for a 24 h contact time [45]. When the pH was lowered to 7.0, the TTHMs concentration decreased by 50%. Thus, it can be said that maintaining a low pH during disinfection could help to reduce the formation of THMs [54].

4.2 Temperature Effect

Temperature is one of the most important parameters for THMs formation since it provides the activation energy required for the reaction of NOM with the residual disinfectant. TTHMs increased from 89.37 µg/L to 105.4 µg/L when temperature was augmented by 2°C, and to 139.31 µg/L when temperature increased by 4°C [55]. A 100% increase in THMs was observed when the temperature was increased from 5°C to 30°C [19]. Thus, a rise in temperature could result in an increased THMs formation [24]. Control of temperature during the process of disinfection might be helpful in reducing the formation of THMs at later stages.

4.3 Organic Matter

Organic matter is the chief precursor for the formation of DBPs in the secondary effluent from the WWTPs. Wastewater contains more DOM and suspended matter compared to drinking water. The occurrence of DOM results in chlorine decay in the reused water distribution systems, which decreases the efficacy of chlorine disinfection [56, 57]. Besides this, particles that shelter microorganisms from inactivation by disinfectants also affect the disinfection of wastewater for reuse [58]. TTHM formation increased from 6 μ g/L to 8 μ g/L when the total organic carbon (TOC) concentration increased from 2 mg/L to 9.5 mg/L, respectively [54]. Therefore, the organic matter concentration shows significant effect and influences THMs formation.

4.4 Effect of Chlorine Dose and Contact Time

Wastewater chlorine requirements vary considerably depending on the effluent quality. Chlorine dose influences the disinfection efficacy of wastewater. High amount of applied chlorine dose would kill more pathogens leaving a higher chlorine residual [24]. In WWTPs, increase or decrease in the chlorine dose either increases the rate of pathogen survival leading to contamination in the receiving water or increases the rate of THM formation [59]. Concentration of THMs increases linearly with increase in chlorine dose [13, 19].

The presence of diverse organic compounds in wastewater is related to THMs formation. Some of organic matter are simple and react with +1-valent halogens to form THMs and are referred to as "fast formers," while other complex molecules react with +1-valent halogens, referred to as "slow formers." Moreover, the relative yields of these "fast formers" and "slow formers" compounds are influenced by the wastewater disinfection scheme employed [7]. Chlorine added to wastewater first reacts with the "fast formers" to form THMs. Marked effect of chlorine dose varies

with the different species of THMs. The effect is more considerable for CHBr₂Cl followed by CHBr₃ and CHBrCl₂ whereas insignificant in case of CHCl₃. A logarithmic increase in the formation of CHCl₃ and CHBrCl₂ occurs with increase in chlorine dose [13]. Formation of CHBr₃ also increases linearly with increase in bromide ion levels, while CHCl₂Br and CHClBr₂ increased with increasing bromide concentration from 0 to 3.2 mg/L and thereafter the increase was marginal. A sharp decline in the concentration of CHCl₃ takes place when the initial bromide levels were increased up to 12.8 mg/L [7]. The evolution of THMs species can be explained by the increase of the relative Cl_2/Br^- molar ratio [60]. During wastewater chlorination, higher Cl₂/DOC mass ratio leads to increased formation of THMs in which chloro-THMs formation was more predominant, and increases with an increase in the chlorine dose [61]. However, the yield of THM species did not change as the contact time was varied for each chlorine dose. This can be explained by the fact that no interconversion occurred between THMs under the specified chlorine dose [62]. THMs were formed independently with constant apparent reaction rates, indicating a minor effect of contact time on THMs speciation. Effect of reaction time is similar to that of chlorine dose in a way that a decrease in the reaction time may cause inadequate disinfection, but an increase may lead to high THM formation potential, THMFP [59]. The formation of THMs increased initially within the first few hours, followed by an insignificant increased phase [19].

4.5 Effect of Ammonia

The presence of ammonia in wastewater significantly influences the formation of THMs. If the wastewater contains high level of ammonia, the formation of combined chlorine, i.e., mono-chloramines, di-chloramines and tri-chloramines, exceeds that of free chlorine. As compared to free chlorine, combined chlorine is a weaker disinfecting agent and forms fewer DBPs [24]. Chloramines, formed by the addition of ammonia are also applied to achieve the disinfection of wastewater. Though, chloramines are used to control the formation of THMs but may elevate the concentration level of total nitrogen in the effluent. The formation of chloramines during the disinfection of water containing ammonia nitrogen and organic matter is faster than TTHM formation [63]. Ratio of chlorine-to-ammonia also plays a significant role in THMs formation. Less TTHMs will be formed if the chlorine-to-ammonia ratio is equal to 1, and a decrease in concentration levels would occur when the ratio is equal to 2 [54]. An increase in ammonia nitrogen results in a TTHM decrease [64–66] due to chloramines formation [67].

4.6 Effect of Bromide Ion

Bromide ion is one of the major parameters which influences the formation of THMs in wastewater. The disinfection process becomes complicated due to the presence of bromide (as HOBr⁻) in wastewater. HOBr⁻ formed in the wastewater will react with ammonia and organic substances to produce bromamines and brominated THMs. The reaction mechanism of bromide is similar to that of chlorine [68]. Bromide ions present in the wastewater will be oxidized by hypochloric acid (HClO) to hypobromous acid (HBrO), a much strong halogenating agent than HOCl. Brominated THMs will be formed first, wherein bromine occupies nearly all the existing vacant sites on DOM in the wastewater samples. Several studies advocated that the formation of bromine containing THMs was related to the bromine and chlorine incorporation into THMs [60, 61, 69]. Bromine incorporations into THMs and HAAs increased with increasing the molar ratio of bromide to DOC [70]. The formation of CHBr₃ increases nearly linearly with increasing the bromide ion levels, while CHCl₂Br and CHClBr₂ increase with increasing bromide concentration from 0 to 3.2 mg/L and thereafter remain constant or slightly decrease [64, 71, 72]. Thus, with an increase in the bromide ion concentration, the formation of brominated THMs is more predominant than the chlorinated THMs. The concentration of bromide ion has been reported to be much higher in the treated effluent from sewage treatment in areas where seawater is used for sanitary purposes instead of drinking [73].

5 Risk of THMs

THMs are designated as potential carcinogenic substances and possess hazardous effect on human health and environment. Human beings can be affected if the treated wastewater discharged into the surrounding water body is used downstream as potable water supply or used as agricultural irrigation source [74]. DBPs in effluent wastewater adversely affect the aquatic life directly and the human health indirectly. Numerous epidemiological studies were conducted to identify the relation between THMs and different health effects; for instance, different types of cancers and reproductive consequences [75, 76]. Several investigations have reported that THMs exposure increases the chance of bladder, colon, and rectal cancers [73, 77–79]. Research on animal studies revealed that chronic ingestion of THMs is related to liver, kidney, and intestinal tumors [80]. In addition, spontaneous abortion and other adverse reproductive outcomes have also been reported. THMs not only cause central nervous system depression, but may also cause hepatotoxicity, nephrotoxicity, teratogenicity, and carcinogenicity [81].

Human beings can be exposed to THMs through different exposure pathways such as oral ingestion (water intake), dermal absorption (skin contact during regular indoor activities such as showering, bathing, and cooking), and inhalation



Fig. 4 Human exposure to THMs

(showering/breathing) (Fig. 4). Traditional risk assessment studies only consider oral ingestion of water as the possible route of THMs exposure but other pathways such as dermal absorption and inhalation also need to be considered for precise and accurate risk estimates [82]. Due to the possible toxic effects and impacts of THMs on human health, appropriate treatment technologies must be developed to remove these harmful by-products from water and wastewater matrices.

6 Models to Predict the Concentration of THMs

Since the detection of DBPs in the early 1970s [34, 83], significant amount of research has been carried out to characterize the influence of parameters involved in DBP formation. During disinfection process, the formation of THMs needs to be closely monitored to ensure compliance with the regulatory guidelines or standards limits. A more appropriate perspective can be attained by the application of predictive models to determine the concentration of THMs. Predictive models to determine the concentration of THMs involve establishing empirical or mechanistic relationships between the THMs levels with various water quality operational parameters. Several mechanistic and empirical models have been developed to describe the formation of THMs. The models considered total organic carbon concentration, pH, temperature, bromide ion concentration, chlorine dose, reaction time, etc. as variables. The correlation between THMs and NOM levels has been used to predict the THMs formation [84]. Correlation also exists between THMs precursors and water quality operational parameters responsible for THMs formation [85-88]. The validity of developed models is determined on the basis of R^2 values obtained. The higher the R^2 value, the more significant the model is. The accuracy and validity of the model developed is tested using field scale data. Over the past three decades, numerous models have been developed to predict DBP/THMs formation in drinking waters. A chronological review of the THMs prediction models in drinking water is provided by Chowdhury et al. [89]. But most of these models were developed to predict the concentration of THMs in drinking water supplies. Predictive models to determine the concentration of THMs on wastewater are limited [66] and have not been well explored. Hence, in wastewater treatment, this aspect needs to be considered and special emphasis should be given to develop models which can more suitably predict the concentration of THMs. A list of some of the predictive models is given in Table 1.

7 Guidelines

Even though existence of THMs has been reported in wastewater however, it is not considered as a wastewater effluent parameter even after it has been recognized as a potential carcinogenic and mutagenic substance [97]. EPA suggested that prolonged exposure to THMs has been known to cause several types of cancers in humans. For this reason. Surface Water Ouality Standards have been developed and regulated at the discharge point of wastewater plants. USEPA has set the maximum allowable concentration of TTHMs in drinking water as 80 µg/L based on the probable cancer risk to human and other health effects. In order to safeguard the surface water quality, the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) recommended guideline values of THMs for wastewater effluents discharged to surface waters. Unlike the USEPA Stage 2 D/DBP drinking water rules, the FDEP recommends the guideline values for each THMs species, i.e., chloroform (470.8 µg/L), BDCM $(22 \ \mu g/L)$, DBCM $(34 \ \mu g/L)$, and bromoform $(360 \ \mu g/L)$ for Class II/III surface water discharge [98]. The European Community's (EC) environmental regulations aimed to mitigate surface water pollution triggered by municipal wastewater (Council Directive 91/271/EEC 1991 as amended by the Commission Directive 98/15/ EEC of 27 February 1998) [99, 100]. The regulations make it mandatory for the European Union member states to assure that effluents discharged by wastewater and its subsequent impacts are studied regularly [101]. The current Italian guidelines suggest WWTP effluent discharge values for vast range of chemical contaminants, toxicity, and bacterial discharge to prevent the risk associated with receiving water bodies [102]. In Italy, the regulation recommends that the concentration of active chlorine and E. coli concentration should not exceed 0.2 mg/L and 5,000 CFU/ 100 mL [103]. Wastewater disinfection levels are determined by standards and recommendations that are specific to each country and region [104]. In general, these guidelines/standards are becoming more and more stringent in order to ensure better public health and environmental protection.

8 Summary and Conclusions

The presence of chlorinated DBPs, THMs in wastewater effluents is a cause of concern to public health and is a matter of major environmental problem. A wide variety of parameters influence the formation of THMs in wastewater, but it is primarily influenced by the presence of ammonia in the effluent. It is imperative to

Table 1 Models to predict the concentration levels of THMs in water and wastewater		
Models	R^2	References
$THMs = 0.0412 \ [TOC]^{1.098} [Cl_2]^{0.152} [Br^-]^{0.068} [Temp]^{1.069} [pH]^{0.263}$	1	[06]
THMs = 16.9 + 16.0(TOC) + 3.319(DOC) - 1.135(Temp.1) + 1.139(Reaction time)	0.920	[91]
$THMs = -150.83 + 40.95(pH) + 6.153(Temp) - 13.876(Res. Cl_2) + 8.10(Reaction time) + 6.221(TOC) + 292.31(UV_{254}) THMs = 33.436 [pH]^{0.062}[Temp.]^{0.069}[-Res Cl_2]^{-0.048}[RT]^{0.018}[TOC]^{0.079}[UV_{254}]^{0.045}$	0.955; 0.903	[13]
$THMs = 415.39 + 2.914(pH) + 2.129(Temp.) - 0.129(RT) + 9.397(Cl_2 dose) - 17.753(RC) - 22.872(TOC) - 802.21(UV_{254}) + 2.129(RC) - 802.21(UV_{254}) + 2.129(RC) - 802.21(UV_{254}) + 2.129(RC) + 2.$	0.937	[92]
$THMs = 10 - 6.677 [TOC]^{1.171} [pH]^{4.469} [Cl_2 dose]^{1.765}$ $THMs = -0.155 + 0.017 (TOC) + 0.001 (RT) + 0.010 (pH) + 0.017 (Cl_2 dose)$	Not given	[93]
$THMs = 0.000395[RT]^{0.32}[CI_2]^{1.3}[pH]^{2.62}[Temp]^{0.71}$ $THMs = 0.2[Temp]^{0.28}[CI_2]^{1.24}[NH_4 - N]^{-0.75}$	0.973; 0.999	[66]
$THMs = 0.0101 [Temp]^{0.119} [Time]^{0.37} [pH]^{3.0} [TOC]^{0.238} [Cl_2]^{1.067 \times 10^{-5}} [Algae]^{-1.86 \times 10^{-2}} [Br]^{9.534 \times 10^{-3}}$	0.844	[94]
$THMs = 7.07 \times 10^{-2} [TOC + 3.2]^{1.314} [pH 4.0]^{1.496} [Dose - 2.5]^{-0.197} [Temp + 10]^{0.724}$	0.986	[95]
$THMs = 3.296[DOC]^{0.801}[Cl_2]^{0.261}[Br]^{0.223}[Temp]^{0.264}$	0.87	[96]

wastewater
er and
n wate
·=
THMs
JC
~
levels
ц
9
E.
Ë
Ē
8
ğ
8
~
þ
t
<u></u>
÷Ð
e
d
2
s
ы
p
Ę
2
_
5
Ĕ
identify and recognize the effect of DBPs in aquatic environment, as DBPs will inexorably be produced during the chlorination of wastewater. The probability of inadequate decontamination caused by these practices leads to additional risk that needs to be considered in organizing appropriate control measures for the better discharge of treated water to the receiving water bodies. Although adverse effects of chlorine can be diminished by de-chlorinating the effluent prior to its discharge into the surrounding water environment, this practice does not eliminate DBPs. To reduce THMs formation, removal of NOM as well as precursors of THMs formation needs to be carried out. WWTPs should aim to reduce the aromatic content of NOM in order to reduce the DBP precursors before chlorination of wastewater. In addition to NOM removal, the chlorine dose also needs to be regulated to control the formation of THMs.

9 Future Prospective

Formation of THMs in wastewater is widely recognized all across the globe, thus it becomes imperative to implement new approaches/practices which will help to reduce the concentration of THMs in wastewater. Certain practices or modifications/suggestions can be made in the WWTPs and disinfection approaches to control THMs formation are discussed below:

- 1. Generally, in WWTPs uncovered chlorine contact basins are used for disinfection which exposes the wastewater to UV irradiation from sunlight. Sunlight irradiation may lead to the dissociation of chlorine which results in chlorine loss in contact basins. To overcome this, chlorine contact basins should be covered to effectively reduce chlorine loss and THMs formation.
- In WWTPs normally sodium hypochlorite is used for disinfection which leads to an increase in wastewater pH because of hypochlorite hydrolysis. Effective pH control in chlorine contact basins will help to reduce the concentration of THMs during disinfection/chlorination.
- 3. Alike chlorine, bromine is also highly effective as a disinfecting agent and may appear to be a more robust method for wastewater disinfection including THMs especially CHBrCl₂ and CHBr₂Cl control.
- 4. Alternate disinfecting agents such as chloramines can be applied to achieve WW disinfection. As disinfectants, chloramines are weaker than free chlorine, but are known to be more stable and stay longer than free chlorine due to their lower oxidation potential. Thus, addition of ammonia would provide longer chlorine residual during wastewater disinfection and subsequently helps to control THMs formation especially bromoamines, formed by the reaction of ammonia with bromine.

Acknowledgement The authors thank the Department of Environmental Science and Engineering, Indian Institute of Technology (ISM) Dhanbad, Jharkhand, India for providing all the necessary facilities required for this work.

References

- 1. Gori R, Caretti C (2008) Experimental study on municipal and industrial reclaimed wastewater refinement for agriculture reuse. Water Sci Technol 58:217–223
- Elbana TA, Bakr N, Karajeh F, El Quosy DE (2014) Treated wastewater utilization for agricultural irrigation in Egypt. The national conference on water quality: challenges and solutions. National Research Centre, Cairo, pp 35–46
- Hunter JV, Heukelekian H (1965) The composition of domestic sewage fractions. J Water Pollut Control Fed 37(8):1142–1163
- Yang M, Zhang X (2013) Comparative developmental toxicity of new aromatic halogenated DBPs in a chlorinated saline sewage effluent to the marine polychaete Platynereis dumerilii. Environ Sci Technol 47:10868–10876
- 5. Yang G, Zhang G, Wang H (2015) Current state of sludge production, management, treatment and disposal in China. Water Res 78:60–73
- Liu J, Zhang X (2014) Comparative toxicity of new halophenolic DBPs in chlorinated saline wastewater effluents against a marine alga: halophenolic DBPs are generally more toxic than haloaliphatic ones. Water Res 65:64–72
- Sun YX, Wu QY, Hu HY, Tian J (2009) Effects of operating conditions on THMs and HAAs formation during wastewater chlorination. J Hazard Mater 168:1290–1295
- Wu MN, Wang XC, Ma XY (2013) Characteristics of THMFP increase in secondary effluent and its potential toxicity. J Hazard Mater 261:325–331
- Sorlini S, Collivignarelli MC, Canato M (2015) Effectiveness in chlorite removal by two activated carbons under different working conditions: a laboratory study. J Water Supply Res Technol AQUA 64:450–461
- Watson K, Shaw G, Leusch FDL, Knight NL (2012) Chlorine disinfection by-products in wastewater effluent: bioassay-based assessment of toxicological impact. Water Res 46:6069– 6083
- Bayo J, Angosto JM, Gómez-López MD (2009) Ecotoxicological screening of reclaimed disinfected wastewater by Vibrio fischeri bioassay after a chlorination–dechlorination process. J Hazard Mater 172(1):166–171
- Wang LS, Hu HY, Wang C (2007) Effect of ammonia nitrogen and dissolved organic matter fractions on the genotoxicity of wastewater effluent during chlorine disinfection. Environ Sci Technol 41(1):160–165
- Kumari M, Gupta SK (2015) Modelling of trihalomethanes in drinking water supplies a case study of eastern region of India. Environ Sci Pollut Res 22:12615–12623
- 14. Kitis M (2003) Disinfection of wastewater with peracetic acid: a review. Environ Int 30:47-55
- 15. Barker DJ, Stuckey DC (2001) Modeling of soluble microbial products in anaerobic digestion: the effect of feed strength and composition. Water Environ Res 73(2):173–184
- Mcbean E, Zhu Z, Zeng W (2008) Systems analysis models for disinfection by-product formation in chlorinated drinking water in Ontario. Civil Eng Environ Syst 25(2):127–138
- 17. Hua G, Yeats S (2010) Control of trihalomethanes in wastewater treatment. Fla Water Resour J 4:6–12
- Kumari M, Gupta SK (2018) Age dependent adjustment factor (ADAF) for the estimation of cancer risk through trihalomethanes (THMs) for different age groups-a innovative approach. Ecotox Environ Saf 148:960–968

- 19. USEPA (1998) National primary drinking water regulations: disinfectants and disinfection by-products. Fed Regist 63:69390–69476
- 20. NHMRC (2008) Guidelines for managing risks in recreational waters. National Health and Medical Research Council, Australian Government Publishing Service, Canberra
- Beltran N, Jimenez B (2008) Faecal coliforms, faecal enterococci, salmonella typhi and Acanthamoeba spp. UV inactivation in three different biological effluents. Water SA 34: 261270
- 22. Tchobanoglous G, Abu-Orf M, Burton FL, Bowden G, Metcalf E, Stensel HD, Pfrang W, Education MH (2014) Wastewater engineering: treatment and resource recovery. McGraw-Hill Education
- 23. Davis C, Tchobanoglous G (2016) Evaluation of disinfection units for onsite wastewater treatment systems. Report. Citeseer
- 24. Crittenden J, Trussell R, Hand D, Howe K, Tchobanoglous G (2012) MWH water treatment: principles and design. Wiley, Hoboken
- 25. Najm I, Trussel RR (2001) NDMA formation in water and wastewater. J Am Water Works Assoc 93:92–99
- Plewa MJ, Wagner ED, Muellner MG, Hsu K-M, Richardson SD (2008) Comparative mammalian cell toxicity of N-DBPs and C-DBPs. In: Disinfection by-products in drinking water. ACS, pp 36–50. https://doi.org/10.1021/bk-2008-0995.ch003
- 27. Lee Y, von Gunten U (2016) Advances in predicting organic contaminant abatement during ozonation of municipal wastewater effluent: reaction kinetics, transformation products, and changes of biological effects. Water Res Technol 2:421–442
- Shahawy AEL, El-Shatoury S, Bayomi S, El-Monayeri D (2018) Wastewater disinfection using artificial ultraviolet rays technology. In: Unconventional water resources and agriculture in Egypt 2018. Springer, Cham, pp 241–312. https://doi.org/10.1007/698_2018_306
- 29. Turtoi M (2013) Ultraviolet light potential for wastewater disinfection. Ann Food Sci Technol 14(1):153–164
- 30. Mezzanotte V, Antonelli M, Citterio S, Nurizzo C (2007) Wastewater disinfection alternatives: chlorine, ozone, peracetic acid, and UV light. Water Environ Res 79:2373–2379
- Xu P, Janex ML, Savoye P, Cockx A, Lazarova V (2002) Wastewater disinfection by ozone: main parameters for process design. Water Res 36:1043–1055
- 32. Andreadakis A, Mamais D, Christoulas D, Kabylafka S (1999) Ultraviolet disinfection of secondary and tertiary effluent in the Mediterranean region. Water Sci Technol 40:253–260
- 33. Lee OM, Kim HY, Park W, Kim TH, Yu S (2015) A comparative study of disinfection efficiency and regrowth control of microorganism in secondary wastewater effluent using UV, ozone, and ionizing irradiation process. J Hazard Mater 295:201–208
- 34. Rook JJ (1974) Formation of haloforms during chlorination of natural waters. Water Treat Exam 23(2):234–238
- Rook JJ (1977) Chlorination reactions of fulvic acids in natural waters. Environ Sci Technol 11:478–482
- Reckhow DA, Singer PC, Malcolrn RL (1990) Chlorimation of hurnic materials, byproduct formation and chemical interpretations. Environ Sci Technol 24(11):1655–1664
- 37. Korshin GV, Li CW, Benjamin MM (1997) Monitoring the properties of natural organic matter through UV spectroscopy: a consistent theory. Water Res 31(7):1787–1795
- Guo G, Chen X (2009) Halogenating reaction activity of aromatic organic compounds during disinfection of drinking water. J Hazard Mater 163:1207–1212
- Leenheer JA, Croue J-P (2003) Characterizing aquatic dissolved organic matter. Environ Sci Technol 37(1):18A–26A
- 40. Vancampenhout K, Wouters K, De Vos V, Buurman P, Swennen R, Deckers J (2009) Differences in chemical composition of soil organic matter in natural ecosystems from different climatic regions-a pyrolysis-GC/MS study. Soil Biol Biochem 41(3):568–579
- Nebbioso A, Piccolo A (2013) Molecular characterization of dissolved organic matter (DOM): a critical review. Anal Bioanal Chem 405(1):109–124

- 42. Metcalf and Eddy (2002) Wastewater engineering. Treatment and reuse
- Hua G, Reckhow DA (2008) DBP formation during chlorination and chloramination: effect of reaction time, pH, dosage, and temperature. J Am Water Works Assoc 100(8):82–95
- 44. Kumari M, Gupta SK (2020) Water quality assessment, statistical analysis and kinetics of trihalomethanes (THMs) formation in drinking water supplies - a complete batch study. Environ Eng Manage J 19(3):427–438
- 45. Chen C, Zhang XJ, Zhu LX, Liu J, He WJ, Han HD (2008) Disinfection byproducts and their precursors in a water treatment plant in North China: seasonal changes and fraction analysis. Sci Total Environ 397:140–147
- 46. Sirivedhin T, Gray KA (2005) Comparison of the disinfection by-product formation potentials between a wastewater effluent and surface waters. Water Res 39:1025–1036
- Stevens AA, Slocum CJ, Seeger DR, Robert GG (1976) Chlorination of organics in drinking water. J Am Water Works Assoc 68:615–620
- 48. Kavanaugh MC, Trussell AR, Cromer J, Trussell RR (1980) An empirical kinetic model for trihalomethanes formation: applications to meet the proposed THM standard. J Am Water Works Assoc 72:578–582
- Adin A, Katzhendler J, Alkaslassy D, Rav AC (1991) Trihalomethanes formation in chlorinated drinking water: a kinetic model. Water Res 25:797–805
- 50. Liang L, Singer PC (2003) Factors influencing the formation and relative distribution of haloacetic acids and trihalomethanes in drinking water. Environ Sci Technol 37(13): 2920–2928
- 51. Morris JC, Baum B (1978) Precursors and mechanism of haloform formation in the chlorination of water supplies. In: Water chlorination, environmental impact and health effects (2). Ann Arbour Science Publisher
- Fleischaker SJ, Randtke SJ (1983) Formation of organic chlorine in public water supplies. J Am Water Works Assoc 75:132–138
- 53. Reckhow DA, Singer PC (1985) Mechanism of organic halide formation during fulvic acid chlorination and implication respect to preozonation. In: Water chlorination chemistry, environmental impact and health effect. Lewis Publisher
- 54. Zhang Y, Collins C, Graham N, Templeton MR, Huang J, Nieuwenhuijsen M (2010) Speciation and variation in the occurrence of haloacetic acids in three water supply systems in England. Water Environ J 24(3):237–245
- Kovacs MH, Ristoiu D, Voica C, Moldovan Z (2013) Climate change influence on drinking water quality. AIP Conf Proc 1565:298–303. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4833749
- Fisher I, Kastl G, Sathasivan A (2011) Evaluation of suitable chlorine bulk-decay models for water distribution systems. Water Res 45:4896–4908
- 57. Kohpaei AJ, Sathasivan A (2011) Chlorine decay prediction in bulk water using the parallel second order model: an analytical solution development. Chem Eng J 171:232–241
- Dietrich JP, Basagaoglu H, Loge FJ, Ginn TR (2003) Preliminary assessment of transport processes influencing the penetration of chlorine into wastewater particles and the subsequent inactivation of particle-associated organisms. Water Res 37:139–149
- 59. Singer P (1994) Control of disinfection by-products in drinking water. J Environ Eng 120: 727–744
- Uyak V, Ozdemir K, Toroz I (2007) Multiple linear regression modeling of disinfection by-products formation in Istanbul drinking water reservoirs. Sci Total Environ 378:269–280
- Sun YX, Wu QY, Hu HY, Tian J (2010) Effect of bromide on the formation of disinfection by-products during wastewater chlorination water. Water Res 44:2391–2398
- 62. Navalon S, Alvaro M, Garcia H (2008) Carbohydrates as trihalomethanes precursors. Influence of pH and the presence of Cl⁻ and Br⁻ on trihalomethane formation potential. Water Res 42:3990–4000
- Matamoros V, Mujeriego R, Bayona JM (2007) Trihalomethane occurrence in chlorinated reclaimed water at full-scale wastewater treatment plants in NE Spain. Water Res 41:3337– 3344

- 64. Amy GL, Chadik PA, King PH, Cooper WJ (1984) Chlorine utilization during trihalomethane formation in the presence of ammonia and bromide. Environ Sci Technol 18:781–786
- 65. Wistrom AO, Chou T, Chang PY, Schroeder DE (1996) A method for measuring haloform formation during wastewater chlorination. Water Res 30(12):3146–3151
- 66. Koukouraki E, Diamadopoulos E (2003) Modelling the formation of THM (trihalomethanes) during chlorination of treated municipal wastewater. Water Sci Technol Water Supply 3(4): 277–284
- Fayyad MK, Al-Sheikh AM (2001) Determination of N-chloramines in Aas-samra chlorinated wastewater and their effect on the disinfection process. Water Res 35(5):1304–1310
- Luong TV, Peters CJ, Perrry R (1982) Influence of bromide and ammonium of trihalomethanes under water-treatment conditions. Environ Sci Technol 16:473–479
- 69. Kampioti AA, Stephanou EG (2002) The impact of bromide on the formation of neutral and acidic disinfection by-products (DBPs) in Mediterranean chlorinated drinking water. Water Res 36:2596–2606
- Yang X, Shang C, Huang JC (2005) DPB formation in breakpoint chlorination of wastewater. Water Res 39(19):4755–4767
- Nikolaou AD, Lekkas TD (2001) The role of natural organic materials during formation of chlorination by-products, a review. Acta Hydrochim Hydrobiol 2:63–77
- 72. Saidan MN, Khaled SM, Rawajfeh K, Al-Weshah RA, Al-Zu'bi SF (2016) Effect of bromide and other factors on brominated trihalomethanes formation in treated water supply in Jordan. Desalin Water Treat 57:33
- 73. Llopis-Gonzalez A, Sagrado-Vives S, Gimeno-Clemente N, Yusa-Pelecha V, Marti-Requena-P, Monforte-Monleon L, Morales-Suarez-Varela M (2011) Ecological study on digestive and bladder cancer in relation to the level of trihalomethanes in drinking water. Int J Environ Res 5(3):613–620
- 74. Krasner SW (1999) Chemistry of disinfection by-products formation on formation and control of disinfection by-products in drinking water, Chapter 2. AWWA
- 75. Tardiff RG, Carson ML, Ginevan ME (2006) Updated weight of evidence for an association between adverse reproductive and developmental effects and exposure to disinfection by-products. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol 45:185–205
- Hrudey SE (2009) Chlorination disinfection by-products, public health risk tradeoffs and me. Water Res 43:2057–2092
- 77. Viana RB, Cavalcante RM, Braga FMG, Viana AB, Araujo JC, Nascimento RF, Pimentel AS (2009) Risk assessment of trihalomethanes from tap water in Fortaleza, Brazil. Environ Monit Assess 151:317–325
- McGeehin MA, Reif JS, Becher JC, Mangione EJ (1993) Case-control study of bladder cancer and water disinfection methods in Colarado. Am J Epidemiol 138:492–501
- 79. Teuschler LK, Hertzberg RC, Lipscomb JC (2000) The risk of mixtures of disinfection by-products (DBPs) in drinking water. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Cincinnati
- Dodds L, King W, Woolcott C, Pole J (1999) Trihalomethanes in public water supplies and adverse birth outcomes. Epidemiology 10(3):233
- Waller K, Swan SH, DeLorenze G, Hopkins B (1998) Trihalomethanes in drinking water and spontaneous abortion. Epidemiology 9:134–140
- 82. Kumari M, Gupta SK, Mishra BK (2015) Multi-exposure cancer and non-cancer risk assessment of trihalomethanes in drinking water supplies-a case study of eastern region of India. Ecotox Environ Saf 113:433–438
- Bellar TA, Lichtenberg JJ, Kroner RC (1974) The occurrence of organohalides in chlorinated drinking waters. J Am Water Works Assoc 66:703–706
- Singer PC, Chang SD (1989) Correlations between trihalomethanes and total organic halides formed during water treatment. J Am Water Works Assoc 81(8):61–65
- Chen WJ, Weisel CP (1998) Halogenated DBP concentrations in a distribution system. J Am Water Works Assoc 90(4):151–163

- Arora H, LeChevallier MW, Dixon KL (1997) DBP occurrence survey. J Am Water Works Assoc 89(6):60–68
- Gallard H, von Gunten U (2002) Chlorination of natural organic matter: kinetics of chlorination and of THM formation. Water Res 36(1):65–74
- Gang DC, Clevenger TE, Banerji SK (2003) Relationship of chlorine decay and THMs formation to NOM size. J Hazard Mater 96(1):1–12
- Chowdhury S, Champagne P, McLellan J (2009) Models for predicting disinfection byproduct (DBP) formation in drinking waters, a chronological review. Sci Total Environ 407:4189– 4206
- Westerhoff P (2006) Chemistry and treatment of disinfection by-products in drinking water. Southwest Hydrol 12:20–21
- Serodes JB, Rodriguez MJ, Li H, Bouchard C (2003) Occurrence of THMs and HAAs in experimental chlorinated waters of the Quebec City area (Canada). Chemosphere 51(4): 253–263
- 92. Mishra BK, Priya T, Gupta SK, Sinha A (2016) Modeling and characterization of natural organic matter and its relationship with the THMs formation. Global NEST J 18(4):803–816
- 93. Abdullah MP, Yew CH, Ramli MSB (2003) Formation, modeling and validation of trihalomethanes (THM) in Malaysian drinking water: a case study in the districts of Tampin, Negeri Sembilan and Sabak Bernam, Selangor, Malaysia. Water Res 37:4637–4644
- Basiouny ME, Elmitwalli TA, Ghazy MR (2008) Modeling of trihalomethanes in Benha water supply network, Egypt. Twelfth international water technology conference, IWTC12 Alexandria, Egypt
- 95. Uyak V, Toroz I, Meric S (2005) Monitoring and modeling of trihalomethanes (THMs) for a water treatment plant in Istanbul. Desalination 176:91–101
- 96. Kassouf H (2016) Formation of trihalomethanes (THMs) as disinfection by-products (DBPs) when treated municipal wastewater is disinfected with sodium hypochlorite. Graduate Theses and Dissertations, University of South Florida
- 97. Zhang F, Wang Y, Chu Y, Gao B, Yue Q, Zhang Z, Li Q (2013) Reduction of organic matter and trihalomethane formation potential in reclaimed water from treated municipal wastewater by coagulation and adsorption. Chem Eng J 233:696–703
- Zainudin FM, Abu Hasan H, Sheikh Abdullah SR (2016) Characterization of trihalomethanes (THMs) levels in surface water, domestic and industrial wastewater. J Environ Sci Technol 9: 268–276
- Council Council Directive of 21 May 1991. Concerning urban wastewater treatment (91/271/ EEC). Off J Eur Commun No L 135/40, 30 May 1991
- 100. European Commission Directive 98/15/EC of 27 February 1998. Amending council directive 91/271/EEC with respect to certain requirements established in annex I thereof. Off J Eur Commun No. L 67/29, 7 March 1998
- 101. Farre ML, García M-J, Tirapu L, Ginebreda A, Barcelo D (2001) Wastewater toxicity screening of non-ionic surfactants by Toxalert[®] and Microtox[®] bioluminescence inhibition assays. Anal Chim Acta 427:81–189
- 102. Pignata C, Fea E, Rovere R, Degan R, Lorenzi E, de Ceglia M, Schiliro T, Gilli G (2012) Chlorination in a wastewater treatment plant: acute toxicity effects of the effluent and of the recipient water body. Environ Monit Assess 184:2091–2103
- 103. Collivignarelli MC, Abba A, Alloisio G, Gozio E, Benigna I (2017) Disinfection in wastewater treatment plants: evaluation of effectiveness and acute toxicity effects. Sustainability 9:1704. https://doi.org/10.3390/su9101704
- 104. Lazarova V, Savoye P, Janex ML, Blatchley ER, Pommepuy M (1999) Advanced wastewater disinfection technologies: state of the art and perspectives. Water Sci Technol 40(4–5): 203–213

Part V Wastewater Management and Sustainability

Sustainable and Green Management of Wastewater Under Climate Change Conditions



Heba Elbasiouny, Hassan El-Ramady, and Fathy Elbehiry

Contents

1	Introduction					
2	Common Methods of Wastewater Management					
3	Vulnerabilities of Wastewater Management Sector by Climate Change	448				
	3.1 The Effect of Temperature on Wastewater Treatment	449				
	3.2 The Effect of Precipitation on Wastewater Treatment	450				
	3.3 The Effect of Sea-Level Rise on Wastewater Treatment	450				
	3.4 Drought Conditions on Wastewater Treatment	451				
4	Greenhouse Gas Emissions from the Wastewater System 4					
5	Sustainable and Green Management of Wastewater: Concepts and Approaches 45					
6	Conclusion 4					
Ref	References					

Abstract Climate change affects significantly the natural water cycle in many locations as projected for the future. Due to the increasing scarcity of water resources, reusing wastewater will become more crucial especially because of climate change acceleration. As well, climate change is one of the main challenges to wastewater treatment systems in the future. On the other hand, greenhouse gas (GHGs) emissions during wastewater treatment can be released into the atmosphere (such as carbon dioxide (CO₂) that results from (oxidation processes), methane

H. Elbasiouny

H. El-Ramady

F. Elbehiry (🖂) Central Laboratory of Environmental Studies, Kafrelsheikh University, Kafr El-Sheikh, Egypt

Mahmoud Nasr and Abdelazim M. Negm (eds.), *Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems*, Hdb Env Chem (2023) 118: 443–462, DOI 10.1007/698_2021_787, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021, Published online: 28 July 2021

Environmental and Biological Sciences, Home Economics Faculty, Al-Azhar University, Tanta, Egypt

Soil and Water Department, Faculty of Agriculture, Kafrelsheikh University, Kafr El-Sheikh, Egypt

 (CH_4) that results from anaerobic processes, and nitrous oxide (N_2O) associated with nitrification and denitrification processes). The water demand increased per capita due to the pressures associated with population growth. Thus, many researchers try to address sustainable and green water management approaches that can state the root causes of such challenges. This not only mitigates the climate change impacts on water resources but also facilities using treated wastewater safely in sustainable and greenways.

Keywords Climate change, Green management, Sustainable management, Wastewater

1 Introduction

Water is a basic and valuable resource on Earth. It is necessary for human life either for direct consumption or food production [1, 2]. It is one of the world's most abundant resources; however, less than 1% of the global water supply is available and safe for human consumptions [3]. The water in the world exists naturally in many forms and locations, in the air, surface, and under the ground. The average available water per capita has been estimated that it has dropped from 3,300 m³ (in 1960) to 1,200 m³ (in 2002) [2]. As well, it has been estimated that by 2025, many countries will suffer chronic water stress and about 3.5 billion people will subject to water stress. Furthermore, it has been estimated that the decreasing of total actual renewable water resources will particularly affect large cities in developing countries, especially these countries suffer considerable challenges for meeting increased water demand [2].

Parween and Ramanathan [4] stated that one among five persons over the world does not safely have access to water, which gives an awful picture and pay the attention to the importance of the management of wastewater. Thus, it has been stated in the policy and technical literature as well as in national and international professional meetings that water scarcity has made the need for wastewater reuse more obvious [5]. Water scarcity has increasingly emerged as one of the most important concerns in many countries and regions. Large quantities of wastewater effluents are yearly discharged from municipal and industrial wastewater treatment plants into the adjacent water bodies (such as rivers and lakes) [6]. With population growth, urbanization, and a rise in living standards, water scarcity problems will increase, in which the previous factors will increase both water consumption and water resource pollution by releasing chemicals, energy, and other pollutants that deteriorate the water quality for other users. Therefore, policymakers are interested in developing additional water resources and preserving the existing ones. Recycling and reclaiming water is one of the important components of the national resources policy as it is considered to encourage integrated and effective use and management of water resources [7, 8]. In addition to population growth, global climate change and water pollution are the major challenges that increase the struggles met by water supply systems. Moreover, nature itself is one of the contamination sources of water through water storm runoffs, animal wastes, etc. In this context, Ibrahim et al. [8] reported that the Environmental Protection Agency-United States (EPAUS) classifies six categories of water pollution: (1) plant nutrients; (2) biodegradable waste; (3) heat; (4) sediment; (5) hazardous and toxic chemicals; in addition to (6) radioactive pollutants. Accordingly, water pollutants include pathogens, organic pollutants, industrial discharge having different anions and heavy metals, etc. that are added to the water bodies and cannot be naturally degraded tending to change the water body properties [8].

Wastewater systems (including wastewater collection - pump stations - wastewater treatment plants) play critical functions in society such as collecting, treating liquid organic wastes, and discharging seepage water of satisfactory quality for protecting the public health and environment [9]. However, the health concerns of water pollution are increasing for both citizens and policymakers. Also, the unaddressed health impacts at regional and global levels pose major policy challenges. In general, rising environmental awareness associated with more strict regulation standards has prompted numerous industries to challenge themselves in pursuing appropriate technologies for wastewater treatment [10]. Consequently, one of the major challenges facing the globe is to provide convenient access to clean water under rapidly increasing water demands [8]. When the demand for freshwater increases, treated wastewater becomes an important water source that can be reused not only for agricultural usages such as crop irrigation, but also for other uses such as groundwater recharge, landscape irrigation, and even several recreational purposes [5]. Thus, the application of wastewater is becoming popular in the regions where the water shortage is common and water demand is rising [11]. In addition, for sustainable existence, wastewater treatment, reuse, and safe disposal have become crucial [12] and wastewater should be considered as a resource that must be recovered and included in the water budget [1]. Treated wastewater can be used for replacing freshwater in agricultural irrigations and can decrease the pressure of water scarcity [6]. Therefore, wastewater management plays a key role in achieving world water security in the future. Inadequate/inefficient wastewater management can severely threaten human health, ecosystems, and economic activities [4]. There is an urgent need to establish many plants for wastewater treatment and removing contaminants from water to be suitable for irrigation and other uses [13].

Wastewater comes from different sources, for example, the agricultural wastewater used for irrigation comes in different qualities from different sources, varying from raw to diluted. Domestic wastewater comes from kitchens, bathrooms, laundries, and any other wastes that people may intentionally or accidentally pour down the drain. Sanitary wastewater contains domestic wastewater and water discharged from institutional, commercial, and similar facilities. The properties of wastewater discharges vary from location to location based on the population and the sector served, land uses, groundwater levels, as well as the degree of separation between stormwater and sanitary wastes. Industrial wastes will be varied because of varying industries that generate the wastes [2]. Typically, wastewater contains organic pollutants, such as pesticides, pharmaceuticals, detergents, processed foods, and inorganic pollutants such as salts and heavy metals. Mainly, heavy metals (HMs) come from the Earth's crust, are not degradable, or cannot be destroyed. Some metals such as Cu and Zn that are found in limited concentrations are essential to maintain the human body metabolisms. However, the accumulation of non-biodegradable heavy metals such as Fe, Pb, Ni, Cd, Cr, As, Se, and Hg in different oxidation forms by humans and plants causes severe health and environmental problems. Thus, there is also an urgent need to remove these pollutants from wastewater to be able to be reused [14].

Climate can significantly affect the hydrological cycle and water resources evolving from changes in precipitation intensity and frequency, which result in extensive flooding and expanded drought. As well, socio-economic changes like population increase and urbanization have put other stress on water resources that can worsen the concerns of water scarcity and food production. Although climate change (CC) is a global issue, its impact is probably to be severe in agriculturalbased rural economy countries [15]. Therefore, the wastewater treatment sector is addressing now the challenges posed by CC, including pressure for reducing emissions, the adapting challenge to a changing climate, alongside regulatory burdens. The range of challenges interrelated to CC and cities regarding water supply and wastewater treatment systems is very wide and varies according to economics, geography, administrative capacity, and demography. Many of these challenges are general, while some of them are more specific to particular places [16]. As well, CC is one of the major challenges to urban wastewater systems in upcoming decades. It is estimated that CC has a double impact on wastewater treatment plants. The processes in these plants are then affected by CC. Further extreme weather events and earlier snowmelt runoff may result in more untreated sewer flows, increased flooding, etc. As a result of increased water scarcity, the need for wastewater reuse will be more necessary as accelerating CC. Conversely, throughout wastewater treatment, greenhouse gases (GHGs) such as carbon dioxide (CO₂) resulting from oxidation processes, methane (CH_4) resulting from anaerobic processes (approximately 3-19% of global anthropogenic CH₄ emissions), in addition to nitrous oxide (N₂O) (about 3% of N₂O emissions) related to nitrification/denitrification processes (as an intermediate product) can be released to the atmosphere [15]. Although several studies have been performed on the effect of CC on water resources, there is a lack of available information on the potential impacts of CC on wastewater treatment [17]. Thus, this chapter focuses on the effect of CC on wastewater treatment and thus addresses some of the sustainable and green treatments of wastewater to avoid the negative impacts of CC on the wastewater treatment sector.

2 Common Methods of Wastewater Management

The most commonly applied systems for wastewater disposal, mostly in rural areas, are small boreholes, cesspits, septic tanks, simple pits, and ventilated adjusted pit latrines. Cesspools, although they are usually badly managed in most cases, they are

the most familiar alternative for wastewater dumping. The strong concern is now paid to seepage from cesspools because they have contaminated the scarce freshwater resources creating several negative impacts for health and the environment. Also, the opportunity of reusing wastewater is lost as it is discharged and buried away in these deep pits [7]. Adhikari and Mandal [18] reported that in developing countries, a simple system as having a stabilization pond is proposed as a cost-effective for waste recycling. Sewage water has high organic matter content, heavy metals, and essential readily available inorganic nutrients for fish-pond fertilizing.

Essentially, the wastewater treatments involve physical, chemical, and biological methods and it commonly occurs in four steps: (1) preliminary, (2) primary, (3) secondary, and (4) tertiary advanced treatments as in Fig. 1 [8, 12]. The technologies that are usually used to purify water are coagulation and flocculation, sedimentation, dissolved air float, filtrating, steam distillation, ion exchange, deionizing, reverse osmosis, and sterilization. Sediment filters, coagulants, activated carbon, ceramics, ion exchangers, organic polymers, activated alumina, and several hybrid materials are usually used in these technologies. Nevertheless, the traditional water treatment methods might be expensive and could release toxic contaminants into the environment. Recently, nanotechnology supports extremely efficient, flexible, and multifunctional processes providing a promising route, to retrofit aging infrastructures and developing high-performance and inexpensive treatment solutions that depend less on large infrastructures. Thus, the current progress in nanotechnology highlights great opportunities for developing the next generation of water supply systems and exposing the probabilities to afford modern and cost-effective treatment capabilities. This can overcome the main challenges facing current treatment methods to expand water supplies [8].



Fig. 1 Wastewater treatment designs and technologies included in each stage. Source: Yenkie [12]

3 Vulnerabilities of Wastewater Management Sector by Climate Change

The CC is one of the major challenges for wastewater systems in the future decades. As a result of increasing CHGs concentrations in our atmosphere, temperatures are expected to rise from 2 to 5 °C globally by 2050 [16, 19]. Depending on the projection data by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), about 7% of the global population will suffer a decline in renewable resources of water. CC augments the complication of managing water resources. Undoubtedly, the uncertainty factor is associated with the CC impacts hydrological variability. Nevertheless, considering the intensity of the unseen crisis, preparation is crucial. Thus, strategies must be planned to flexibly suit the expected changes aiming also at causing no further deteriorations in CC [4]. Furthermore, the wastewater treatment, distribution, disposal, and reuse are subject to the effects of CC through increased energy costs and wastewater volumes and stormwater that enters treatment facilities in the increased precipitation areas, as well through increased requests for reuse when drought becomes more prevalent [16]. Heavy rains and floods, in the UK, for example, overwhelmed wastewater systems putting hundreds of systems out of service [9]. This failure suggests struggling wastewater systems to manage recent extreme storms since climate change is possible to cause things worst with further frequent extreme expected events of precipitation in the future [9]. Zouboulis and Tolkou [16] also stated that CC affects the hydrological cycle in various ways. Thus, updating the infrastructure to afford the increasing water is an urgent need [20].

The impact of CC on hydrology has been investigated widely, with a focus on water quantity. Several approaches have been offered to assess the potential changes in water quality because of CC and indicated a direct effect on water quality through numerous climate-related mechanisms either in the short or the long term. These include influences on air temperature increase, also changes in hydrological factors (such as limited dilution of point source emissions in the period of low river flows), and some other factors including terrestrial factors (such as changes in soil structure and vegetation) and resource-use factors (such as increased water use and water demand for cooling water) [21]. According to IPCC guidelines on GHGs, inventories, collecting, and treating wastewater in centralized systems can be related to the reduction of GHG emissions compared to no collection and untreated discharges [20]. The IPCC argues that wastewater in closed underground sewers is not supposed to be a considerable source of CH4. However, in open sewers, the situation is unalike closed one because it heats by the sun and the sewers may be sluggish allowing anaerobic conditions to emit CH₄. Likewise, centralized treatments allow capturing biogas as an energy source and using sewage sludge either in agriculture or as an energy source also, which decreases, in both cases, the role of fossil fuels in GHGs emission processes [20].

3.1 The Effect of Temperature on Wastewater Treatment

Temperature: Temperature plays a crucial role in some processes of treatment, particularly the natural-based and non-mechanized processes. Warm temperatures decline the land area requirements, improve conversion processes, enhance removal efficiencies, and make the utilization of some treatment processes feasible. As well, some treatment processes, like anaerobic reactors, may be applied in diluted wastewater (such as domestic sewage) only in warm climate areas [16]. Conversely, Martínez et al. [22] reported that the high temperatures in the industrial zone in the coastal Mexico region affect negatively the performance of the different wastewater plants, where it increases the pollutants discharge into the river in the high temperatures period in the year (35–38 °C). Other processes (such as stabilization ponds) may be operated in lower temperature areas but they engage much larger areas and subject to a decrease in performance in the winter. However, other processes (such as activated sludge and aerobic biofilm reactors) are less reliant on temperature; thus, they require higher technological inputs and mechanization levels. Furthermore, the warmer temperature can indirectly cause more severe weather, aggravated by urban heat islands that consequently could result in further hail, convective thunderstorms, cyclonic events (such as cyclones, tornadoes, and hurricanes), in addition to higher winds which may exceed the infrastructure design capacity. Moreover, the increasing temperature will raise the probability of sewer corrosion and odor problems [16].

Specifically, biological wastewater treatment is greatly affected by climate [16]. Higher temperature will increase the wastewater biological activity; the microbial population growth will increase, which will elevate the biological oxygen demand (BOD) of wastewater [18]. Martínez et al. [22] reported also that the high temperatures affect the air temperature at the exit of the compressor increasing a considerable air temperature up to 82° C or higher. When the air goes into the diffusers, it activates the temperature increase in the bioreactor liquor. The actual temperature within the bioreactor reaches 32° C in their area in October/November and 41° C in August/September. The microorganism's activity is influenced due to the effect of high temperature; thus, temperature acts an important role in the biological system performance. Therefore, this must be considered in dynamic process modeling. Ahsan et al. [23] stated that wastewater with quite high temperatures, from 40 to 50 °C, is sometimes discharged from industrial factories. At room temperature, it is very effective to treat the wastewater; thus, it is needed to cool the wastewater down to ambient temperature. On another side, the wastewater quality could be declined with expected higher temperatures because higher water temperature will promote excessive algal bloom growth in wastewater, which will, in turn, reduce the concentration of dissolved oxygen. The organic matter decomposition could also increase due to higher temperature, and thus the nutrients release such as N and P in water will in turn increase the eutrophication chance in wastewater. Simultaneously, the heavy metals availability and pesticides in the wastewater could be higher to the organisms in the wastewater [18].

3.2 The Effect of Precipitation on Wastewater Treatment

The CC is not just a temperature change, also the whole water cycle is affected. A warmer globe means that the atmosphere capacity for holding moisture is increasing in addition to the intensification of the water cycle. Thus, there are changes in the water vapor amount, rainfall, and water circulation in the atmosphere [16, 17, 24]. The CC affects the hydrological cycle in various ways. Atmospheric water vapor and evaporation are increasing, precipitation patterns are changing, and snow and ice are melting [16, 17]. As evaporation increases due to surface heating and increased temperature, the atmospheric water-holding capacity increases. Since atmospheric moisture content affects directly precipitation, stronger rainfall events are expected with CC. For every increase of 1 $^{\circ}$ C in global temperatures, there is an increase of 7% in the atmospheric moisture-holding capacity. Then, more atmospheric moisture ultimately causes changes in rainfall patterns [16].

Heavy rains and high winds, besides hurricanes, are enough to cause many problems such as flooding, widespread power outages, and the passing of billions of gallons of partially treated or untreated sewage into neighboring waterways [9]. Thus, wastewater systems are potentially influenced by intensive rainfall, aggravating flooding, as well combined sewer overflows affecting wastewater treatment plants efficiency The wastewater industry is beginning to address the challenges posed by CC, including regulatory burdens, the pressure to reduce emissions, and the challenge of adapting to a changing climate [16]. Conversely, if the wastewater will be diluted. Thus, the negative quality of wastewater will be decreased, and the wastewater will be used for agriculture practices with no problems. Conversely, if the precipitation is reduced especially in the tropics, the deterioration chance of wastewater quality will increase [18].

3.3 The Effect of Sea-Level Rise on Wastewater Treatment

Climate change is expected to exacerbate the wastewater systems failures by rising sewer floods, lessening the absorptive capacity of receiving waters, changing treatment efficiency, and subjecting more infrastructures to damage and inundation by sea-level rise. Subsequently, because wastewater systems are old and vulnerable to sea-level rise and the impacts of extreme events, they are gradually at risk of failing to protect the environment and public health [9]. Cao et al. [25] reported that sea-level rise has been widely recognized as one of the biggest challenges that humankind will be confronting in the twenty-first century. Mean sea levels are presently rising in the globe by approximately 3.2 mm yearly; however, the speed of sea-level rise is expected to gradually increase with time to be between 0.98 and 2.92 m more than the current by 2,100. Higher levels of water would heighten the flooding risk to coastal communities and infrastructure located in low-lying areas

[25]. Zouboulis and Tolkou [16] reported that with the rising of sea levels, flooding threatens many water utilities, which can have several negative impacts. These impacts will depend on the degree of rising. Flooded and damaged wastewater facilities may lead to release of untreated wastes into the ecosystem for an extended time until fixing the plant. This causes significant damages to the environment and humans. Thus, flood damages would be costly to municipalities of wastewater either regarding financial loss or regarding the threats to public health. It is assumed that only facilities that lie near tidally influenced water bodies will be affected shortly. Furthermore, sea-level rise endangers the location of many plants. Furthermore, the rising downstream water level may make pushing effluent a requirement and increase energy need. As well, the rising sea-level can decrease the hydraulic capacity of downstream sewers and increase salt-water intrusion. Therefore, careful planning is essential to take care of the consequences of sea-level rise and flooding [16].

3.4 Drought Conditions on Wastewater Treatment

Regional and global scale studies reveal that CC may cause increases in intensity and frequency of heatwaves and droughts. Water quality may weaken to critical values in the prolonged low-flow periods that are associated also with high-water temperature. So, insight and understanding of the impact of drought periods on the quality of water are essential [21]. Wastewater agencies are interested in reliably eliminating pollutants from water discharged to sewers, even with declining water quality and quantity. Drought as climate pressure poses a major challenge for the wastewater management sector [26]. van Vliet and Zwolsman [21] assessed the effects of droughts on the water quality of the river Meuse in Western Europe. They examined time series of water quality at two monitoring stations in two severe drought periods; 1976 and 2003 compared to water quality in reference periods, representing similar hydrological conditions and chemical pollution. They also assessed the effects of discharge changes and water temperature on the concentration of the chemical substance through establishing empirical relationships between discharge and concentration and between water temperature and concentration. Their results indicate a deterioration of the water quality of the river during droughts, concerning water temperature, major elements, some heavy metals and metalloids, and eutrophication. They primarily attributed the decline in water quality to the favorable conditions for the algae bloom's development (i.e. high-water temperatures, high nutrient concentrations, long residence times) and the reduction of the dilution capacity of point source effluents. This direction should be considered also in wastewater treatment.

Hur et al. [27] reported that effluents of municipal sewage and industrial wastewater can have major effects on chemical loads in surface water downstreams of developed urban areas and these effluents may have greater impacts on streams and rivers during drought periods. They reported that previous investigators have stated high nutrients concentration in the wastewater treatment plants effluents, demonstrating that wastewater treatment plants can be a major point source of pollution in urban-impacted watersheds. They cited from Marti et al. [28] based on data about 15 streams that receive effluents from wastewater treatment plants that P loads from these plants were, averagely, higher 10 times than the upstream loads and provided about 90% of the total P measured downstream of the wastewater treatment plants. They also cited that Andersen et al. [29] described the effects of wastewater treatment plants' effluent discharge on the water chemistry and nutrients concentration. They demonstrated that wastewater treatment plant effluent affects the chemistry of downstream water chemistry. These effects could be considered in a watershed in temperate climate regions under severe drought conditions. The influence of wastewater inputs on river nutrients load may be motivated in highly populated areas due to higher water demands for consumption or irrigation, associated with the long drought periods expected under CC scenarios in semiarid areas. Additionally, during drought periods, the influence of wastewater treatment system inputs on the chemistry of streams may increase whereas that of diffuse nutrients source (e.g. from agricultural activities) may decline. In contrast, the wastewater treatment system loads are quite constant regardless of hydrologic conditions, while the inputs from diffuse sources increase with precipitation and runoff [30].

4 Greenhouse Gas Emissions from the Wastewater System

The treatment of domestic wastewater can be a large source of both direct and indirect anthropogenic GHG emissions such as CO_2 , CH_4 , and N_2O [31, 32]. It is globally estimated that the entire wastewater sectors contribute up to 1.5% of total GHGs and 5% of non- CO_2 GHGs emission [32]. GHG emissions from wastewater treatment systems are often classified as on-sites and off-sites based on the emission point. Very few studies, however, are available about the GHGs emission from wastewater treatment plants on a country scale, maybe due to scarcity of the appropriate data and the complexity of the models [31]. For instance, despite about 20% of the population depend on on-site wastewater treatment and disposal in the European Economic Area and the USA, only a few studies have been performed based on the direct measurements of GHG emissions from on-site and decentralized wastewater treatment sectors [32].

Furthermore, GHG emissions from wastewater treatment sectors are classified as direct and indirect emissions. Direct emissions are related to biological processes. On the other hand, indirect internal emissions are related to energy consumption, and indirect external emissions are associated with the outside of the activities of wastewater treatment plants (such as wastewater and biosolid disposals, chemicals production, and biosolids' transportation). Among released GHGs, biogenic and nonbiogenic CO_2 is essentially associated with the processes of applied wastewater and sludge treatments and through energy consumption for operating wastewater treatment plants. CH_4 is mostly released during the sludge treatment processes (i.e. sludge anaerobic digestion, sludge disposals to the soil or the landfill).

Conversely, the biological processes connected to ammonia-oxidizing bacteria and the denitrification process essentially contribute to the emissions of N₂O emissions. The global warming potential of CH_4 and N_2O is 28 and 265 times higher, respectively, than CO₂ in a period of 100-year. It has been reported that the emissions of CH_4 from municipal and industrial wastewater are approximately 5% of the global CH_4 production, while direct emissions of N₂O during wastewater treatment contribute by 2% of the global warming potential of the water cycle [31]. Also, Koutsou et al. [31] cited that Zhou et al. [33] evaluated GHG emissions from domestic and industrial wastewater in China from 2003 to 2009 and reported that N₂O emissions from domestic wastewater were estimated to be almost 50% of the total CO₂e emissions. As well, they cited that Chen and Kuo [34] approximated, in Taiwan, the annual emissions of GHG from sewage sludge management and stated that sludge incineration is the source of CO₂e. Conversely, sludge dewatering recorded the lowest C footprint. Thus, the quantification of GHG emissions at a country scale is essential for both scientific and social awareness levels. This is because it aims to a better understanding of how to reduce GHG emissions from wastewater treatment plants and to increase public awareness about the role of wastewater treatment sectors as important sources of GHG emissions [31]. Adhikari and Mandal [18] reported that big cities are sources of concentrated wastewater. They added that the CH₄ emission during wastewater transporting, treating, and disposal, including sludge, was assessed by 3-19% of the global anthropogenic emissions of GH₄. The main source of N_2O is wastewater treatment and human sewage and the N_2O and CH₄ emissions from wastewater are estimated to increase by almost 25 and 50%, respectively, in the next decades. Accordingly, the GHG emissions can be mitigated through improvements in the collection and management of urban wastewater, using technologies that are most suitable to the economies and situations involved in these processes.

5 Sustainable and Green Management of Wastewater: **Concepts and Approaches**

The wastewater that is treated as waste should be eliminated by consuming a huge amount of energy and materials, regardless of the potential value of wastewater components. For example, P fertilizers production from easily accessible phosphate rock could be exhausted in about 50-100 years causing worldwide food security issues. Therefore, high-priced treatment technologies are performed for removing P as waste from wastewater for reducing eutrophication in receiving water bodies. Recently, emerging biological and chemical contaminants from wastewater penetrate the water bodies, making the water treatment more technically and economically challenging. These nasty cycles become worse with the growth of the cities, the intensity of agricultural practices, and condensing material flows [35]. Furthermore, wastewater has been considered, for a long time, as a human health issue and environmental hazard. However, currently, a paradigm shift is proceeding from perspective of seeing wastewater as a waste that should be treated to a proactive concern in recovering energy and materials. Thus, treated wastewater can be reused for many purposes for providing ecological benefits, reducing the potable water demand, and augmenting water supplies [36] (Figs. 2 and 3).

Sustainable development indicators are receiving growing acceptance globally as they enable a simpler monitoring and advanced assessment toward specific targets. The No. 7 of Millennium Development Goal (MDG) on ensuring environmental sustainability contains one target linked to drinking water and sanitation. The world challenges are to reduce, by 2015, the percentage of people with no sustainable supply of safe drinking water and basic sanitation [39]. The sanitation part of this target is assessed by the indicator of "proportion of the population using an improved sanitation facility" [40]. Also, in the future, further attention should be paid to existing and emerging pollutants sources regarding human health and environmental perspectives, socio-economic perspective, and both sustainable investment strategies and affordability. To do this in the context of global and climate changes, unremitting research, innovation efforts, and investments are required, particularly to (1) develop progressive and resilient monitoring and treatment solutions, (2) support cost-effective micropollutants management, and (3) better incorporate circular systems for water/sludge reusing and recovery of components [20]. The transition toward reusing wastewater derived resources in wastewater treatment plants is considered a promising solution toward shifting wastewater treatment from standard treatment way to the current emphasis on sustainability [36]. In developing countries, water management should look alternative, cost-effective, and more sustainable strategies that perhaps depend on the natural services provided potentially by ecosystems such as nutrients and organic matter removal by fluvial stream communities. However, the retention efficiency of N and P declines as increasing the proportion of the pressure of urban land use. For such reason, restoration tasks should be addressed in the management plans for these stressed streams to maximize this ecosystem service [30].

Indeed, 50% of the population in the world lives in cities with inadequate infrastructures and resources and cannot manage wastewater efficiently and sustainably. To be successful and sustainable, there is no option except to consider wastewater as part of the solution. Thus, wastewater management must be integrated into rural and urban development planning, through all sectors. This can sustainably offer greater returns within multiple sectors than the water infrastructure development and the promotion of improved wastewater management. Wastewater's successful and sustainable management needs a mixture of inventive approaches that consider the private and public sectors locally, nationally, and transboundary [41]. Judicious water use and minimizing in the release of wastewater are equally important because of the water resource scarcity and energy costs in the wastewater treatment sector. Considerations may include overall quantity reduction, pollutant strength reduction, or a combination. This can have a considerable impact on the technical capacity, flow/loadings of wastewater treatment plants, operation/maintenance costs, energy requirements, and ecological impacts. About, 20–30% water







savings can be done with flow reduction devices such as sensors for fault detections and concentration measurements and efficient controllers. Industrial plants can achieve the volume of wastewater reductions by using multi-point waste collections, reuse, and eliminating sludge discharges. Finally, wastewater treatment plants need efficient design and evaluation metrics to minimize costs, energy requirements, and subsequent environmental impacts while meeting the regulatory guidelines [12]. Yenkie [12] summarized the most modern developments in the fields of wastewater characterization, treatment technologies, modeling, and optimization framework for designing efficient wastewater treatment plants, economic analysis, and sustainability assessment in Fig. 4. Yenkie [12] mentioned that the complexity is in (1) the selection of suitable technologies for treatment network synthesis depending on contaminants in different wastewater sources, then in (2) the cost valuations, and in (3) the sustainability assessment.

Vasantha and Jyothi, [42] reported that sustainable wastewater treatment comprises the following safeguards:

- *Health safeguards* including accepted features standard for microorganisms in water bodies that contribute hygienically harmless water.
- Water safeguards including the eutrophication reduction through nutrient elimination (P and N) to the highest feasible scope, elimination of nanoparticles, micropollutant, and microplastics for both of the precautionary health care and safeguard of marine fauna.
- Resource safeguards through the diminution of sources used for wastewater treatment and decreasing ecological impact.

In the context of sustainable and green management of wastewater, some concepts and approaches should be recognized:





The Concept of Sustainable Vs. Green

According to Spacey [43]:

- Green is called to the practice applied to protect the environment.
- *Sustainable* is called to the practice applied to protect the environment and improve life quality.

Although various conventional methods are used for water treatment they are not economical and not environment-friendly, innovative green materials and technologies are being used currently to overcome these problems [42, 44]. In this context, the concepts of green chemistry and green technology should be recognized.

- *Green Chemistry*: A promising alternative to produce biocompatible and stable nanoparticles that are nontoxic and eco-friendly [44].

- Green Technology refers to the development and expansion of the practices, processes, and applications that improve or replace the current technology and enable society to meet their requirements while substantially decreases the human impacts on the globe amid environmental scarcity and ecological risks. Environmental Sustainability and Green Technologies are focused on the goals of green technologies giving progressively more importance to guaranteeing sustainability. Thus, Green Technology is an ecological remedial technology that reduces the ecological damage caused by the products and technology for citizens' conveniences. Green technology can enhance materials along with waste consumption, energy efficiency, and recycling. The design of green technologies focusing on reducing, reusing, recycling principles (3Rs). Regarding wastewater treatment, green technology can remove the contaminants and undesirable components from domestic, industrial, and polluted water to safely reuse it and return it to the environment for many usages such as drinking, irrigation, industrial, and others. This could be accomplished through: Developing clean alternate technologies to replace those that have negative impacts on health and the environment and improving human manufacturing and expenses behavior to decrease the pollution resulted from releasing the waste release and contamination [42].

6 Conclusion

Water is necessary for human life; however, 1% of the global water supply is available and safe. One among five persons over the world does not safely have access to water, which pay the attention to the importance of the management of wastewater. Also, because climate can significantly affect the hydrological cycle and water resources, climate change will put threats on wastewater systems and their treatments including pressure for reducing emissions. Sustainable development indicators are receiving growing acceptance worldwide, thus further attention should be paid to existing and emerging pollutant sources regarding human health and environmental perspectives, socio-economic perspective, and both sustainable investment strategies and affordability. Eco-friendly and sustainable technologies in addition to green chemistry should be recognized as safe wastewater treatment for human health and the environment under the pressure of water scarcity and climate change.

References

 Loutfy NM (2010) Reuse of wastewater in Mediterranean region, Egyptian experience. In: Barceló D, Petrovic M (eds) Waste water treatment and reuse in the Mediterranean region. The handbook of environmental chemistry, vol vol 14. Springer, Berlin. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 698_2010_76

- Makoni FS, Thekisoe OMM, Mbati PA (2016) Urban wastewater for sustainable urban agriculture and water management in developing countries. In: Younos T, Parece TE (eds) Sustainable water management in urban environments. Hdb Env Chem, vol 47. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-29337-0_9
- Chauhan N, Jain U, Soni S (2019) Nanotools for irrigation water remediation. In: Pudake RN et al (eds) Nanoscience for sustainable agriculture. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-97852-9_11
- Parween M, Ramanathan AL (2019) Wastewater management to environmental materials management. In: Hussain CM (ed) Handbook of environmental materials management. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-58538-3_72-1
- Alfarra A, Kemp-Benedict E, Hötzl H, Sader N, Sonneveld B (2011) A framework for wastewater reuse in Jordan: utilizing a modified wastewater reuse index. Water Resour Manag 25:1153–1167. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11269-010-9768-8
- Cao C, Zhan Q, Ma Z, Wang X, Chen H, Wang J (2018) Fractionation and mobility risks of heavy metals and metalloids in wastewater-irrigated agricultural soils from greenhouses and fields in Gansu, China. Geoderma 328:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2018.05.001
- Zimmo OR, Imseih N (2010) Overview of wastewater management practices in the Mediterranean region. In: Barcelo D, Petrovic M (eds) Waste water treatment and reuse in the Mediterranean region, Hdb Env Chem, vol 14. Springer, Berlin, pp 155–181. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/698_2010_63
- Ibrahim RK, Hayyan M, AlSaadi MA, Hayyan A, Ibrahim S (2016) Environmental application of nanotechnology: air, soil, and water. Environ Sci Pollut Res 23:13754–13788. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11356-016-6457-z
- Kirchhoff CJ, Watson PL (2019) Are wastewater systems adapting to climate change? J Am Water Resour Assoc 55(4):869–880. https://doi.org/10.1111/1752-1688.12748
- 10. Wang Q, Yang Z (2016) Industrial water pollution, water environment treatment, and health risks in China. Environ Pollut 218:358–365. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2016.07.011
- Adhikari P, Shukla MK, Mexal JG (2012) Spatial variability of soil properties in an arid ecosystem irrigated with treated municipal and industrial wastewater. Soil Sci 177:458–4769. https://doi.org/10.1097/SS.0b013e318257c331
- 12. Yenkie KM (2019) Integrating the three E's in wastewater treatment: efficient design, economic viability, and environmental sustainability. Curr Opin Chem Eng 26:131–138
- Elbasiouny H, Elbehiry F (2020) Rice production in Egypt: the challenges of climate change and water deficiency. In: Omran E-SE, Negm AM (eds) Climate change impacts on agriculture and food security in Egypt. Springer water. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-41629-4_14
- Jawed A, Saxena V, Pandey LM (2020) Engineered nanomaterials and their surface functionalization for the removal of heavy metals: a review. J Water Process Eng 33:101009. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jwpe.2019.101009
- Jin L, Whitehead PG, Rodda H, Macadam I, Sarkar S (2018) Simulating climate change and socio-economic change impacts on flows and water quality in the Mahanadi River system, India. Sci Total Environ 637–638:907–917. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.04.349
- 16. Zouboulis A, Tolkou A (2015) Effect of climate change in wastewater treatment plants: reviewing the problems and solutions. In: Shrestha S, Anal A, Salam P, van der Valk M (eds) Managing water resources under climate uncertainty. Springer water. Springer, Cham
- Singh S, Tiwari S (2019) Climate change, water and wastewater treatment: interrelationship and consequences. In: Singh R, Kolok A, Bartelt-Hunt S (eds) Water conservation, recycling and reuse: issues and challenges. Springer, Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-3179-4_ 11
- Adhikari S, Mandal RN (2019) Effects of climate change on the use of wastewater for aquaculture practices. In: Singh RP et al (eds) Water conservation, recycling and reuse: issues and challenges. Springer, Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-3179-4_6

- Elbasiouny H, Elbehiry F (2020) Soil carbon sequestration for climate change mitigation: some implications to Egypt. In: Omran E-SE, Negm AM (eds) Climate change impacts on agriculture and food security in Egypt. Springer water. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-41629-4_14
- 20. European Commission (2019) Brussels, 13.12.2019 SWD. 700 final PART 1/2 Commission Staff Working Document Evaluation of the Council Directive 91/271/EEC of 21 May 1991, concerning urban waste-water treatment {SEC(2019) 448 final} – {SWD(2019) 701 final}
- van Vliet MTH, Zwolsman JJG (2008) Impact of summer droughts on the water quality of the Meuse river. J Hydrol 353:1–17
- 22. Martínez SA, Morales M, Rodríguez M, Aguilar R, Narváez D (2006) Effect of the temperature on the performance of a sludge activated petrochemical wastewater treatment plant. In: Waste management and the environment III. WIT transactions on ecology and the environment, vol vol 92. WIT Press, p 171. https://doi.org/10.2495/WM060191
- Ahsan S, Rahman MA, Kaneco S, Katsumata H, Suzuki T, Ohta K (2005) Effect of temperature on wastewater treatment with natural and waste materials. Clean Techn Environ Policy 7:198–202
- 24. Stagl J, Mayr E, Koch H, Hattermann FF, Huang S (2014) Effects of climate change on the hydrological cycle in central and Eastern Europe. In: Rannow S, Neubert M (eds) Managing protected areas in central and Eastern Europe under climate change. Advances in global change research, vol vol 58. Springer, Dordrecht. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-7960-0_3
- 25. Cao A, Esteban M, Mino T (2020) Adapting wastewater treatment plants to sea level rise: learning from land subsidence in Tohoku, Japan. Nat Hazards. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-020-04017-5
- Chappelle C, McCann H, Jassby D, Schwabe K, Szeptycki L (2019) Managing wastewater in a changing climate. Public Policy Institute of California
- 27. Hur J, Schlautman MA, Karanfil T, Smink J, Song H, Klaine SJ, Hayes JC (2007) Influence of drought and municipal sewage effluents on the baseflow water chemistry of an upper Piedmont River. Environ Monit Assess 132:171–187. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-006-9513-1
- Marti E, Aumatell J, Gode L, Poch M, Sabater F (2004) Nutrient retention efficiency in stream receiving inputs from wastewater treatment plants. J Environ Qual 33:285–293
- Andersen BC, Lewis GP, Sargent KA (2004) Influence of wastewater-treatment effluent on concentrations and fluxes of solutes in the Bush River, South Carolina, during extreme drought conditions. Environ Geosci 11:28–41
- 30. Martí E, Riera JL, Sabater F (2009) Effects of wastewater treatment plants on stream nutrient dynamics under water scarcity conditions. In: Sabater S, Barceló D (eds) Water scarcity in the Mediterranean. The handbook of environmental chemistry, vol vol 8. Springer, Berlin
- Koutsou OP, Gatidou G, Stasinakis AS (2018) Domestic wastewater management in Greece: greenhouse gas emissions estimation at country scale. J Clean Prod 188:851–859. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.04.039
- Somlai C, Knappe J, Gill L (2019) Spatial and temporal variation of CO2 and CH4 emissions from a septic tank soakaway. Sci Total Environ 679:185–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2019.04.449
- 33. Zhou X, Zheng YF, Wu RJ, Kang N, Zhou W, Yin JF (2012) Greenhouse gas emissions from wastewater treatment in China during 2003_2009. Adv Clim Change Res 3:205–221
- 34. Chen YC, Kuo J (2016) Potential of greenhouse gas emissions from sewage sludge management: a case study of Taiwan. J Clean Prod 129:196–201
- Ma X, Xue X, González-Mejía A, Garland J, Cashdollar J (2015) Sustainable water systems for the city of tomorrow – a tomorrow – a conceptual framework. Sustainability 7:12071–12105. https://doi.org/10.3390/su70912071
- van der Hoek JP, de Fooij H, Struker A (2016) Wastewater as a resource: strategies to recover resources from Amsterdam's wastewater. Resour Conserv Recycl 113:53–64. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.resconrec.2016.05.012

- Wastewater treatment and reuse in MENA countries. https://water.fanack.com/specials/ wastewater-treatment-reuse-mena-countries/. Accessed 18 May 2020
- 38. Cornejo PK (2015) Environmental sustainability of wastewater treatment plants integrated with resource recovery: the impact of context and scale. A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Environmental Engineering Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering College of Engineering University of South Florida
- United Nations Millennium Development Goals. GOAL 7: ENSURE ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY. https://www.un.org/millenniumgoals/environ.shtml. Accessed 12 Nov 2020
- 40. Karnib A (2014) A methodological approach for quantitative assessment of the effective wastewater management: Lebanon as a case study. Environ Process 1:483–495. https://doi. org/10.1007/s40710-014-0032-8
- 41. Corcoran E, Nellemann C, Baker E, Bos R, Osborn D, Savelli H (2010) Sick water? The central role of wastewater management in sustainable development. UNEP and UN-Habitat, Nairobi
- 42. Vasantha T, Jyothi NVV (2020) Green technologies for wastewater treatment. In: Naushad M, Rajendran S, Lichtfouse E (eds) Green methods for wastewater treatment. Environmental chemistry for a sustainable world, vol vol 35. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16427-0_9
- Spacey J (2016) Green vs sustainable. https://simplicable.com/new/green-vs-sustainable. Accessed 20 May 2020
- 44. Paul P, Pattnaik Y, Panda PK, Jha E, Verma SK, Suar M (2020) Green synthesized metal oxide nanomaterials Photocatalysis in combating bacterial infection. In: Naushad M et al (eds) Green methods for wastewater treatment. Environmental chemistry for a sustainable world, vol 35. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16427-0_4

Check for updates

Microbial Biosurfactants and Their Implication Toward Wastewater Management

Geeta Rawat, Renu Choudhary, and Vivek Kumar

Contents

Introduction					
Production of Biosurfactants					
3 Types of Biosurfactants					
3.1 Glycolipids	467				
3.2 Lipoproteins or Lipopolypeptides	468				
3.3 Fatty Acid, Phospholipids, and Neutral Lipids	469				
3.4 Polymeric	469				
3.5 Particulate Biosurfactants	470				
4 Biosurfactants and Decontamination					
Petrochemical in Wastewater					
Management and Treatment by Biosurfactants					
Non-biological Wastewater Treatment					
Heavy Metals in Water					
Biosurfactants in Hazardous Chemicals Removal					
Pesticides in Water					
Indirect Reduction in Agro-Chemicals by Biosurfactants					
Limitations of Biosurfactants Application					
Conclusion					
Future Perspectives	478				
References					
	Introduction Production of Biosurfactants				

Abstract Environmental problems associated with water sanitation are gradually on increase by superfluous human activities and also due to developmental issues. Wastewater contains various types of pollutants such as pesticides, heavy metals, dyes, and petrochemicals. This has become a global issue for balanced ecosystem since different types of pollutants are responsible for health hazards, owing to their

G. Rawat, R. Choudhary, and V. Kumar (🖂)

Himalayan School of Biosciences, Swami Rama Himalayan University, Jolly Grant, Dehradun, India

Mahmoud Nasr and Abdelazim M. Negm (eds.),

Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems, Hdb Env Chem (2023) 118: 463–484, DOI 10.1007/698_2022_877, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022, Published online: 18 April 2022

toxicity and poor biodegradability. The removal of these pollutants as well as their sources from water is one of the biggest challenges for both researcher and community. Recently, methods using microbes and microbial products have been employed for the removal of petrochemicals, heavy metals, and pesticides from the water and soil. These methods have been positively used to treat different wastewater types like sewage, sludge, and industrial effluents. There are other treatment approaches also, such as chemical, physical, and other conventional methods, but some of them are not cost effective and some result in secondary pollutants and therefore unsafe to the environment. In this chapter, we will discuss the effective biological treatment approaches, which is bioremediation using microbial biosurfactants. Biosurfactants are the surface-active biomolecules that have several unique properties such as amphipathic in nature, biodegradable, emulsion forming property, tolerant to extreme conditions, and biological origin. Biosurfactants have a great potential for the removal of complex hydrophobic pollutants and pesticides from wastewater because they can be easily interact with those pollutants by their amphipathic nature. It is an extracellularly produced bio-product, and also considered as microbial secondary metabolite which is being produced in the stationary phase of the growth pattern of microbes. Here we have also briefly discussed the production of biosurfactants.

Keywords Biosurfactants, Hydrophobic organic compounds, Pesticides, Remediation, Wastewater

1 Introduction

Generally, surfactants are emulsifying, surface-active, and amphipathic molecules obtained from the commercial sources. Surfactants synthesized chemically or artificially are known as synthetic surfactants; these might be toxic and pose adverse effects to the environment. Surfactants isolated from microbial sources are called microbial surfactants, biological surfactants, or biosurfactants and they are considered quite safe from the environmental perspective compared to the synthetic surfactants. Therefore, nowadays, biosurfactants are gaining a worldwide research interest [1]. Biosurfactants are eco-friendly with long-established abilities for contaminant removal from the soil and wastewater by the bioremediation processes [2]. They are highly desirable because of their huge advantages such as low environmental impact, high specificity, surface tension reduction, biodegradability, solubilization, low toxicity, stable at extreme conditions, and emulsion forming properties [3, 4].

Biosurfactants are heterogeneous and their structures contain diverse groups of microbial secondary metabolites, which are extracellularly secreted by microorganisms in the stationary phase of their growth. They are synthesized by a huge group of microbiotas like bacteria, fungi, algae, and yeast [5]. Glycolipids (rhamnolipid and sophorolipids) and surfactin are the most extensively studied biosurfactants produced from *Bacillus* and *Pseudomonas* genera, respectively [6].

Various research works have been conducted based on the production, extraction, and purification, characterization and optimization of new biosurfactants producing microorganisms [7]. Based on their chemical composition, biosurfactants are divided into six major classes as follows: (1) glycolipids, (2) phospholipids, (3) fatty acids, (4) lipopeptides and lipoproteins (5) neutral acids, and (6) polymeric and particulate surfactants [8, 9]. Owing to some special or unique properties of biosurfactants, these are considered as future promising biomolecule for environmental sustainability. For example, biosurfactants are used as (1) dispersive or wetting agent (they have hydrophobic and hydrophilic end that is why they are easily interacting with hydrophobic molecules and disperse them), (2) great emulsion forming property (biosurfactants have lower critical micelle concentration (CMC); therefore, they form micelles at lower biosurfactants concentration with water-insoluble pollutants and reduce their surface tension), (3) stable in extreme conditions (at either very low or high temperature and pH, biosurfactants are stable and their properties also persist unchanged), (4) low toxicity (biosurfactants are generally isolated from non-pathogenic microorganisms; therefore, toxicity issue is near to negligible) [3, 10, 11]. Keeping all the above-mentioned properties in view, biosurfactants have remarkably potential applications in the restoration and protection of environments. The acceptance of biosurfactants for effective use toward environmental bioremediation is considered one of the best properties of biosurfactants, since they are eco-friendly in nature [12].

This chapter does not attempt to elucidate the several applications of biosurfactants, but rather its effort will be to focus through the sustainability lens on the applications of biosurfactants in reducing environmental pollution mainly toward wastewater treatment or its management.

There are a number of microbes (bacteria, fungi, algae, yeast, and also from plant sources) which are producing biosurfactants that can be utilized in wastewater treatment. For example, Saponins are one of the group of biosurfactants, having soap like activity. Biosurfactants have a great potential to clean-up contaminated water sites. Table 1 shows the list of microorganisms which produce biosurfactants, which is being employed in wastewater management.

2 Production of Biosurfactants

Production processes of biosurfactants depend on metabolic pathways or cultivation process of bacteria and carbon sources present in the growth media. Several metabolic pathways are associated with the production of precursors of biosurfactants according to the substrates used. Lipogenic and glycolytic pathways regulate the flow of carbon and secrete hydrophobic and hydrophilic moiety of the biosurfactant molecules, respectively. A series of enzymes are involved in the synthesis of

C	Missossiama	Discurfo stores	Application in waste water	Deferences
5. 110.	Microorganisms	Biosurfactants		References
1	Pseudomonas aeruginosa	Rhamnolipid	Bioremediation, heavy metals floatation	[13]
2	P. fluorescens, Serratia rubidaea, Agrobacterium spp.	Viscosin	Emulsion stabilization and food industry	[14]
3	Bacillus subtilis	Lipoprotein	Removal of Ca ²⁺ and Cr ³⁺ in aqueous solution	[11]
5	P. chlororaphis	Rhamnolipid	Bioremediation	[13]
5	S. marcescens	Serrawettin	Biocontrol agent	[15]
6	Bacillus subtilis	Surfactin	Bioremediation, inactiva- tion of herpes and retrovirus	[16]
7	Bacillus Licheniformis, B. subtilis	Lipopeptides, Lichenysin	Chelating agent	[16]
8	Rhodococcus erythropolis, Corynebac- terium spp.	Trehalose lipid	Reduce surface and inter- facial tension, dispersive agent	[17]
9	Agrococcus terrus	BS produced but not determined	Oil degradation from water	[18]
10.	Candida bombicola	Sophorolipid	Removal of heavy metals from water	[19]
11.	Candida bombicola	Sophorolipid, rhamnolipid	Removal of phenol from wastewater	[20]
12.	Starmerella bombicola	Sophorolipid	Removal of petroleum pollutants and MEOR	[21]
13.	Trichosporon asahii	Sophorolipid	Shows higher solubility	[22]
14.	Nocardiopsis alba	Lipopeptides	Bioremediation and emul- sifying property	[23]
15.	Y. lipolytica	Liposan	Emulsification activity and emulsion stabilization	[24]
16	Bacillus subtilis	Lipoprotein biosurfactants	Fish processing waste water	[25]

Table 1 Microorganisms producing biosurfactant and their applications in wastewater

precursors of biosurfactants (trehalose, sophorose, rhamnose, and phospholipids) [26, 27].

Some multienzyme complexes are required to overall process for the formation of lipid and sugar moieties of biosurfactants. Among all the reported biosurfactants, the molecular biosynthetic regulation for rhamnolipid by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and surfactin synthesized by *Bacillus subtilis* were the earliest biosurfactants to be encoded [27].

According to [27], rhamnolipids biosurfactants (Fig. 1) are manufactured through two sequential glycosyl transfer reactions, which are catalyzed by an enzyme rhamnosyl transferase. The production of surfactin is catalyzed by surfactin



Polar head, dissolve in water Non polar tail, dissolve in oil

synthetase, which is a peptide synthetase complex [28]. In case of lipopeptides, they are generally synthesized with non-ribosomal peptide synthetases in a ribosomeindependent manner [29]. Generally, biosurfactants producing microorganisms are heterotrophs, whereby they utilize organic components solely from the growth media [30]. For the production of secondary metabolites such as biosurfactants at large and commercial scale, the use of cheaper and renewable feedstock will reduce the production cost. Basically, there are three types of carbon sources being used in biosurfactants productions, viz., (1) hydrocarbon groups, (2) carbohydrate, and (3) oils and fats.

3 Types of Biosurfactants

Fig. 1 Biosurfactant structure with the hydrophilic and

hydrophobic end

Biosurfactants are many diversified biomolecules, on the bases of their chemical composition and structures. Generally, biosurfactants have come under the glycoconjugates group, which is formed by carbohydrates covalently linked with the non-carbohydrate constitutes. The non-carbohydrate moiety may be amino acids, protein, and lipids. As per these associated moieties, the biosurfactants differ in their glycoconjugate name such as amino sugar (glucosamine), glycoproteins or peptido-glycan and glycolipids, respectively. On the bases of chemical composition biosurfactants are divided into six major classes, given below:

3.1 Glycolipids

Glycolipids consist of sugar and lipids molecules. The most common types of glycolipids are rhamnolipids, sophorolipids, and trehalolipids, which are given below in detail.

3.1.1 Rhamnolipid

These are made up of one or two units of rhamnose connected to one or two β -hydroxyl fatty acids. It is the widely studied biosurfactants, which are the principal glycolipids produced by *P. aeruginosa*. The maximum production of rhamnolipid was 22.5 g/L, obtained in batch fermentation [31]. Rhamnolipid biosurfactants have huge potential and future in environmental applications for wastewater clean-up, including the bioremediation of petroleum hydrocarbons, heavy metals, and pesticides from the wastewater sites [11].

3.1.2 Sophorolipids

These are formed by dimeric carbohydrate sophoros molecule connected to a longchain hydroxy fatty acid by a glycosidic bond [9]. Sophorolipids are the most extensively studied microbial biosurfactants produced by *Starmerella bombicola*. Sophorolipids are generally preferred for many applications in the wastewater cleanups techniques. It has shown good stability toward temperature and pH fluctuations. Its surface-active properties are consistent at pH values about 6–9 and at a temperature ranging from 20 to 90 °C [32].

3.1.3 Trehalolipids

These are composed of disaccharides trehalose linked to two long-chain α -branched β -hydroxy fatty acids. These are produced by many spp. of *Corynebacterium Nocardia*, and *Mycobacterium* [31].

3.2 Lipoproteins or Lipopolypeptides

These consist of proteins or amino acids covalently linked with the lipid part (mostly, hydroxyl fatty acid). Lipoprotein biosurfactants were produced from the lipid layers taken from fish processing wastewater [25]. The common examples are lichenysin, viscosin, and surfactin, i.e., these are lipoproteins which are also playing a major contribution in wastewater treatment [33].

3.2.1 Surfactin

The chemical assembly of the surfactin molecule is comprised of seven amino acids that are connected to hydroxyl and carboxyl groups on long-chain fatty acids (C13–C15). Surfactin is one of the most potent biosurfactants formed by the

endospore-forming and Gram-positive bacteria like *Bacillus subtilis*. The future prospective uses of these biosurfactants are for environmental cleanliness and also for its sustainability [34].

3.2.2 Lichenysin

Lichenysin biosurfactants are quite similar to the surfactin. These biosurfactant molecules are produced by *Bacillus licheniformis*, which shows exceptional steadiness under high salt, pH, and temperature situations. These are anionic lipopeptide biosurfactants, including gramicidin, polymyxa, ornithine, taurine, cerilipin, viscosin, and arthrofactine [16].

3.3 Fatty Acid, Phospholipids, and Neutral Lipids

These biosurfactants are cell membrane constituents and possess surface activity. These biosurfactants have the potential to manufacture an optically transparent micro-emulsion of alkane in aqua solution. The phospholipid and fatty acid surfactants are generated by numerous bacterial and yeast species in huge amounts, utilizing n-alkanes as carbon source produced from *Thiobacillus thiooxidans*. Such biosurfactants consisted of complex C 12 to C 14 that are saturated fatty acids having alkyl and hydroxyl [16].

3.4 Polymeric

Different genera of microbial species produce exocellular polymeric biosurfactants which consist of either lipopolysaccharides, proteins, and polysaccharides or a multifaceted combination of these biological polymers [26]. *Acinetobacter* spp. produces phosphatidyl ethanolamine-rich vesicles that are capable to form an optically clear micro-emulsions of alkanes in water [35]. These vesicles are micro-emulsions comprised of a backbone of polysaccharide to which covalently linked are fatty acids side chain. The best investigated polymeric biosurfactants are liposan, emulsan, and alasan. The emulsan is an active emulsifying agent for petro-hydrocarbons contaminants in water. *Candida lipolytica* synthesizes an extracellular water-soluble emulsifier and their significant role in food industries as an emulsifier has been well established [36].

3.5 Particulate Biosurfactants

These are of two types, viz., total microbial cell and vesicles, which are extracellular. Extracellular membrane vesicles break the petrohydrocarbons and convert it into micro-emulsions. These micro-emulsions play a significant role in attaching hydrocarbons by the cells of microbes. Strains of *Acinetobacter sp.* form micro-emulsion vesicle, which has a diameter of 20–50 nm and thickness of 1.158 g/cm³. This vesicle is composed of proteins, phospholipid, and lipopolysaccharides [37].

4 Biosurfactants and Decontamination

Globally, about 842,000 people and children die each year from various diseases caused by unsafe drinking water, as well as the contamination of water bodies with unwanted chemicals. To prevent this type of dangerous consequence due to contaminated water, there is a crucial need for wastewater treatment. In this process, hydrophobic contaminants, heavy metals, and pesticides from wastewater are removed. This results in clean water which can be returned back to the natural water cycle; therefore, this process will help in environmental cleanliness. Because, the excess amount of heavy metals in soils could accumulate in the food chain and will cause hazard to human health.

Biosurfactants are the candidate, which possess a huge potential to treat wastewater having different types of unwanted contaminants. In previous investigations carried out by [15, 38–40], the biosurfactants bear some unique properties, which make this biomolecule as one of the important molecules for environmental sustainability and restoration in the twenty-first century [11]. An imperative function of biosurfactant on the decontamination of wastewater containing pesticides, petrochemical, and heavy metals is shown in Fig. 2.

5 Petrochemical in Wastewater

Increasing the society demand and concerns on environmental sustainability relating to the storage of hydrocarbons and its transport has led to the creation of innovative storage and pipeline technologies, as well as environmentally appropriate remediation processes. Due to the geographical location of coastlines, marine sectors play a significant role in delivering ecosystem goods and services [41]. Therefore, the marine ecosystem can be negatively affected by urban development and movement of crude oil ships [16]. Wastewater is associated with petrochemical and toxic organic compounds, which are again a major concern to the balanced ecosystem. Moreover, several health concerns, depletion of natural water sources, and negative



Fig. 2 Biosurfactant in decontamination of petrochemicals, pesticides, and heavy metals in wastewater

ecological impacts have resulted in wastewater generation by petrochemical pollutants; and this problem is increasing day by day [42].

Oilfield industries are also linked to petrochemical wastewater, which is being produced regularly during the extraction of oil in oil fields. Petrochemical wastewater usually contains various organic pollutants such as polymer, radioactive substances, benzenes, phenols, humus, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), complex recalcitrant, and some heavy mineral oil [37, 43].

Oil and gas exploration by the industry generates petrochemical wastes that has been identified as a key source of water and soil contamination.

- (a) Drilling wastes: Drilling waste is majorly generated by the drilling operation or drill cuttings. Drill cutting is the major by-products of oil and gases, which pose a major waste management problem. Drill cuttings discharges are the secondlargest waste generated at the water sites from oil and gas activities [44]. Furthermore, drill cuttings possess several organic and inorganic contaminant contents, which are extremely toxic to humans and nature and a key potential source of oil pollution in the marine world [45, 46].
- (b) Hydrocarbon-contaminated soil: Hydrocarbon-contaminated soils are also a major issue. The erosion of hydrocarbon-contaminated soils into water bodies has resulted into secondary problems. Freshwater, especially river water contaminated by hydrocarbon products becomes a serious challenge [47]. This challenge is further aggravated by the addition of metals and other obnoxious chemicals. Industrial activities, which include spillage of crude oil from

exploration and transportation, pipeline leakages, and leakages from underground storage tanks in stations, as well as the release of oil that occurs accidentally during drilling operations leads to the accumulation of hydrocarbon-contaminated soils from where the contaminates leached or slipped to the water bodies [48, 49]. Petro-hydrocarbon contamination occurs in any stage of crude oil processing and use [50]. It is not a country-specific problem but rather a global issue; therefore, the contamination by petro-hydrocarbon remains a contemporary concern.

6 Management and Treatment by Biosurfactants

In addition to the wastewater treatment by biosurfactants, various other bacterial metabolic processes are also always 'on' to manufacture enzymes, which play a major role in biodegradation of petrochemicals in water. Therefore, enzymes plus biosurfactants degrade or decontaminate the pollutants in a better and efficient way. Furthermore, biosurfactants play a significant role for the extraction of petrochemicals. This results in preventing the wastage of petro products, thus there is a reduction in environment pollution in water bodies [51, 52].

In biological treatment process, the incorporation of different microorganisms and their bio-products into wastewater treatment results in stabilizing hazardous pollutants in petrochemical wastewater. Biosurfactants are secondary metabolites of microbes which usually lead to the emulsification of the heavy oil from the petrochemical wastewater. It facilitates the transport of substrate via membrane [53–55]. Biosurfactants enhance the surface area of oil pollutants present in wastewater, resulting in greater bioavailability of pollutants by the micelles formation, so that hydrocarbons are easily metabolized by the microbial cell, as shown in Fig. 3. Apart from that, there are numerous other treatments, viz., physical, chemical, and



Fig. 3 Petrochemical contaminants uptake by bacterial biosurfactants with the help of micelle formation
physico-chemical, but these are not enough to solve the issue. The treatment processes of wastewater containing petrochemicals depend on the source of contaminant, discharge requirement, and treatment efficiencies [56].

7 Non-biological Wastewater Treatment

Before biological treatment, various primary treatments are used to remove gross solids and free oil by filtration, flocculation, flotation, sedimentation, and microelectrolysis [57].

Physical treatment includes adsorption by active carbon, copolymers, and zeolite, based on the characteristics of wastewater. Microfiltration (MF) and ultrafiltration (UF) can also be used to remove hydrocarbons and oil/fats, as well as suspended solids in the petrochemical wastewater; however, all these processes increase the cost of treatment [58]. Chemical treatments are also used before biological treatments. Three major chemical treatment processes are listed here:

Micro-aeration: This process breakdowns the hydrocarbon components in wastewater, and converts it into organic group which are easily biodegraded.

Ozonation: The appropriate ozone dosage and reaction time of pre-ozonation treatment conversion have been determined to be $100-200 \text{ mg O}_3/\text{h}$ and 30 min, respectively. However, the change of pH in pre-ozonation treatment was unremarkable [59].

Coagulation-flocculation: Ferric chloride is a most effective coagulant and addition of it along with a polyacrylamide improves the sludge filtration [60].

8 Heavy Metals in Water

Expansion of mining resulted in the wide use of heavy metals in various sectors, therefore, discharge of industrial, urban, household waste and agricultural soils are often contaminated with heavy metals. The excess amount of heavy metals in soils could pollute the environmental water bodies and potentially damage human health through accumulation in the food chain, since contaminated water is also used for irrigation purposes [61]. There are several causes of heavy metal contamination in water sites such as contact with industrial discharge, improper disposal of waste, biofertilizers (metal corrosion), domestic sewage, mining drainage, acid mining drainage, ores, paints, and incidence of spills. Lead is one of the most common contaminants at the battery disposal and recycling sites [62]. The contamination of groundwater by heavy metals like lead, cadmium, zinc, chromium, arsenic, and mercury has potential to cause toxicological impact on human health. Studies carried out by [63, 64] showed that these heavy metals could cause carcinogenic, teratogenic, acutely toxic, mutagenic disorders, and damage to red blood cells, the liver,

and the kidneys [65]. Heavy metals are the contaminant that causes long-term effects on the environments because they cannot be degraded or readily detoxified. They have the potential to not only disturb the microbial communities but also cause longterm threat to environments [66]. Sophorolipids produced by Starmerella bombicola have been capable of removing Cd and Pb from contaminated soil and water. The removal process of Cd and Pb from soil and water has been affected by the types, concentrations, and pH of the sites [11, 14].

9 **Biosurfactants in Hazardous Chemicals Removal**

The remediation and treatment process of heavy metal-contaminated wastewater is particularly a big challenge. As such, remediation methods must focus on either altering the redox state of a metal to a less toxic form or should focus on removal of metal from the water [67]. Therefore, biological processes play a crucial role for the removal of heavy metal from contaminated water and sludge. Microbes are well studied to interact with an extensive range of toxic and non-toxic metals and change their properties [2]. For example, metals are mostly used as electron donors and electron acceptors for the production of energy within the cell. So that is why it may be used to shuttle or transport electron within organisms in syntrophic relationships and also used as a cofactor for enzymatic reactions [11, 16]. Biosurfactants producing microbes can influence the mobility of heavy metal indirectly by affecting pH. According to [11], the mechanism behind metal removal from soil could be the binding of biosurfactants molecule with metal adsorbed substrate, forming metalbiosurfactant complex by the incorporation of the metal into micelle followed by mineralization. Figure 4 demonstrates the mechanism of metal removal from water body. These mechanisms are helpful for the prevention of groundwater contamination.



metal by micelles formation

Fig. 4 Heavy metal removal from wastewater by the formation of micelles of biosurfactants

Heavy metals present in aquatic and terrestrial environments lead to groundwater contamination. In such conditions, treatment using biosurfactants is an appropriate way for heavy metals removal from such environments. Banat et al. [14] studied the effect of sophorolipid on heavy metals like Cd and Pb which are removed in batch soil washing by artificially created contaminated soil sample. Sophorolipids are an extracellular glycolipid biosurfactants which are produced by various microorganisms. Sophorolipids produced by the *Starmerella bombicola* have shown great efficiency than synthetic surfactants.

Moreover, it has been observed that a specific amount of biosurfactants needs to remove a particular concentration of heavy metals present in soil. So according to that, 44.8% of Pb and 83.6% of Cd have been removed by 8% crude acidic sophorolipids [68]. Acidic sophorolipid (SLs) has good solubility property while lactonic sophorolipids (SLs) are better in enhancing remediation of heavy metal-contaminated soils. The complexion of Cd with the free carboxyl group of the acidic SLs has been observed by Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) [69]. Similarly Ramani et al. [70] investigated the microbial lipoprotein biosurfactants produced from a slaughterhouse lipid waste and used the microbial surfactants for removing the metal ion from the slaughterhouse waste aqueous solution, which resulted in sequestering the metal ions from the aqueous solution.

10 Pesticides in Water

Nowadays, farmers use different pesticides for crop protection and improving crop productivity and yield by controlling pests, weeds, and rodents. Pesticides are the chemically derived compounds that contain sulfur, chlorine, nitrogen, oxygen, phosphorous, and bromine as well as heavy metals such as copper, sulfates, arsenic, mercury, and lead. All these elements are toxic, carcinogenic, and non-degradable which are simply used in the agriculture sector in large quantities [71]. The leftover residues of these pesticides accumulate in agricultural soil particulates and other organic matter for long period, resulting in a major disturbance of environmental conditions and water pollution [72]. There are three main pesticides which are mostly observed in wastewater, these are malathion, triazophos, and dimethoate, since these chemicals are widely used in agriculture. Pesticides are one of the reasons for groundwater contamination, i.e., when pesticides are sprayed on crop plant, there are chances that pesticides come in the contact with surface water and finally leach down or runoff into water bodies and then the contaminated streams can be highly lethal to aquatic life [73]. Industries involved in manufacturing pesticides are also responsible for polluting the environment, since wastewater is not properly treated up to the desirable level.

Biosurfactants are the biological agents that can control pests and pesticides related to contamination from the environment. Köck-Schulmeyer et al. [73] evaluated the removal of pesticides by wastewater treatment plants. The same group also studied the environmental relevance of this treatment of pesticides into the aquatic ecosystem. They have studied not only the pesticide concentration but also their toxicity against three aquatic microorganisms: algae, daphnia, and fish. Since long time, people have used different physical and chemical techniques for the management of wastewater containing pesticides and several other contaminates. Considering the high toxicity and cost of these conventional treatments, biological treatment comes in the trends due to its uncountable benefits. Their applications would cause significant results for wastewater treatment and the prevention of water pollution.

11 Indirect Reduction in Agro-Chemicals by Biosurfactants

It is well known that use of pesticides especially insecticides leads to the contamination of field soils, which ultimately resulting in pollution of groundwater or surface water. An effective substitute of harmful agro-chemicals could be the employment of potential biosurfactants molecules. Mnif and Ghribi [74] judiciously reviewed the function of Bacillus and Pseudomonas bacterial species for the formulations of biopesticides in the management of the pests. The *Bacillus* species are well known for the huge production of biosurfactants. They produce lipopeptides, surfactin, fengycin, bacillomycin, iturin, and lichenysin [75]. These all biosurfactants are bioactive metabolites that can lead to hemolysis with strong larvicidal activity [31]. Bacillus amyloliquefaciens produce surfactin, a type of biosurfactant that has showed insecticidal potency. This potency of bacteria is helpful for fighting against green peach aphid in Myzus persicae; here, biosurfactants induce significant dehydration of insect cuticle membrane that may result in insects' death. Besides, lipopeptide produced by *B. amyloliquefaciens* may regulate the *Tuta* absoluta larvae. Lipopeptides act by binding to the receptor which is located in the brush-border membrane vesicles of the larvae. Similarly, biosurfactants produced by bacterium B. thuringiensis and B. amyloliquefaciens also have shown insecticidal potency against Spodoptera littoralis which is a cotton leaf worm; i.e., a species of the moth in the family Noctuidae [76]. Biosurfactants are successfully replacing various chemically synthesized pesticides. Although dozens of bacterial and fungi species have been reported to produce biosurfactants which act as pesticides, only a few species like Bacillus species have been well studied. Bacterial species, their biosurfactants, and the insecticidal properties of respective biosurfactants are given in detail in Table 2.

12 Limitations of Biosurfactants Application

Despite well studied and identified beneficial aspects of biosurfactants application in various fields, especially in wastewater management, desired results have not yet been attained. In literature, a common theme is that the biosurfactants are the

Bacterial species	Biosurfactants	Insecticidal potency against insect	References
B. amyloliquefaciens	Lipopeptides	Larvicidal, against Tuta absoluta	[77]
B. subtilis	Surfactin	Larvicidal against mosquito	[31, 78]
B. thuringiensis	Not given	Larvicidal Colorado potato beetle	[79]
Bacillus thuringiensis	Not given	Larvicidal against Spodoptera littoralis	[80]
Bacillus subtilis	Cyclic lipopeptides	Larvicidal Aedes aegypti L.	[81]
B. amyloliquefaciens	Lipopeptides Surfactin	Insecticidal Myzus persicae	[82]
B. amyloliquefaciens	Cyclic lipopeptides	Pupicidal	[31]

 Table 2 Pesticidal properties of some biosurfactants producing bacterial spp.

biomolecule which compete with their synthetic counterparts. However, the high cost of production of biosurfactants and sometimes low yield make them more costly to use. In comparison to the synthetic surfactants, biosurfactants are 20–30% more expensive as reported by Hazra et al. [83]. To address the cost aspects of biosurfactant production that could be covered in three key aspects, one is the choice of cost-effective substrate, second finding or making a microbe to produce higher amount and the third one is purification processes, which increase the production cost. All the three points are responsible for biosurfactants production cost and yield [2, 84].

13 Conclusion

Whatever have been discussed above, it can be concluded that biosurfactants are noticeable agents and are causing exciting waves across research and industrial sectors, particularly in environmental clean-up aspects of wastewater treatment and some other clean-up strategies. In this chapter, the authors have tried their best to put concrete or reliable information about the key role of biosurfactants in wastewater treatment planning. Biological treatment using biosurfactants is more effective and appropriate than the other conventional approaches. In terms of pesticides, biosurfactants can be formulated to be employed as biopesticides. Biopesticides are far better than synthetic pesticides in the environmental sustainability perspective. In terms of heavy metals, biosurfactants molecules bind with metal adsorbed substrate and form a metal-biosurfactant complex by the incorporation of the metal into micelle and mineralize them. In terms of petrochemical contaminants in wastewater, biosurfactant molecule can act as a tensioactive compound and decrease the surface tension between oil/water that make them easy to access by microbes.

The regular discharge of organic and inorganic contaminants, especially the pesticides, heavy metals and petrochemical products and their accumulation in the aquatic and terrestrial environment are the major source of contamination. There are uncountable advantages behind biosurfactants biodegradation processes instead of

using conventional methods for wastewater treatment. Many approaches are suggested, including physical and chemical but the use of live microbes to restore and decontaminate polluted sites is a well suitable and sustainable tactic. It has been observed that the efficacy and potency of these conventional processes are limited. Biosurfactants offer an attractive choice to remediate the non-soluble pollutants; the reason being self-biodegradability, ecological safety, and flexibility and overall its environmental acceptance. To conclude, it is very clear that there is no ambiguity that biosurfactants are multifunctional substances, which will certainly restore the sustainability of the environment not only in the present but also in future conditions.

14 Future Perspectives

The choice of using biological surfactants over synthetic surfactants is also important because surfactants having biological origin do not produce secondary contamination. Moreover, they are low or non-toxic to environments. The major issue with biosurfactants is that they are not cost effective. Also we are not able to produce sufficient quantity to fulfill our requirement. Therefore, it becomes necessary for us to develop efficient microbial strains which can produce a huge amount of biosurfactants on cheap raw materials. Furthermore, research work has to be carried out under laboratory conditions, and then finally in field for concrete results to prove the worth of biosurfactants. A positive report from the field is required to finally evaluate the effectiveness and efficiency of biosurfactants in situ. In future, there is a need to assess the long-time stability of biosurfactants and micelles synthesized by potential microbes. Genetic changes in potential microbes to produce more amount of biosurfactants using cheap substrates will make this process cost effective. Moreover, biosurfactants purification process also needs to be simplified and improved so that cost of production process should be cost effective.

References

- Reis RS, Pacheco GJ, Pereira AG (2013) Biosurfactants: production and applications, biodegradation. INTECH. https://doi.org/10.5772/56144
- Pacwa-Plociniczak M, Plaza GA, Piotrowska Z, Singh SC (2011) Environmental applications of biosurfactants: recent advances. Int J Mol Sci 12(1):633–654
- 3. Sen R, Ward OP (2010) Microbial biosurfactants and biodegradation. In: Sen R (ed) Biosurfactants. Springer Springer-Verlag, New York, pp 65–74
- 4. Luna JM, Rufino RD, Jara AMAT, Brasileiro PPF, Sarubbo LA (2015) Environmental applications of the biosurfactant produces by *Candida sphaerica* cultivated in low-cost substrates. Colloid Surf A Physicochem Eng Asp 480:413–418
- 5. Ron EZ, Rosenberg E (2002) Biosurfactants and oil bioremediation. Curr Opin Biotechnol 13(3):249–252

- Brumano LP, Soler MF, da Silva SS (2016) Recent advances in sustainable production and application of biosurfactants in Brazil and Latin America. Ind Biotechnol 12(1):31–39. https:// doi.org/10.1089/ind.2015.0027
- Singh P, Patil Y, Rale V (2018) Biosurfactant production: emerging trends and promising strategies. J App Microbiol 126:2–13. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.14057
- Ramírez IM, Tsaousi K, Rudden M, Marchant R, Alameda EJ, Román MG, Banat IM (2015) Rhamnolipid and surfactin production from olive oil mill waste as sole carbon source. Bioresour Technol 198:231–236
- Varjani SJ, Upasani VN (2017) Critical review on biosurfactant analysis, purification and characterization using rhamnolipid as a model biosurfactants. Bioresour Technol 232:389–397
- Okoliegbe IN, Agarry O (2012) Application of microbial surfactant (a review). Scholarly J Biotechnol 1(1):15–23
- 11. Santos DKF, Rufino RD, Luna JM, Santos VA, Sarubbo LA (2016) Biosurfactants: multifunctional biomolecules of the 21st century. Int J Mol Sci 17(3):401. https://doi.org/10. 3390/ijms17030401
- Benincasa M, Contiero J, Manresa MA, Moraes IO (2002) Rhamnolipid production by *Pseu-domonas aeruginosa* LBI growing on soapstock as the sole carbon source. J Food Eng 54:283–288
- Jadhav M, Kalme S, Tamboli D, Govindwar S (2011) Rhamnolipid from *pseudomonas* desmolyticum NCIM-2112 and its role in the degradation of Brown 3REL. J Basic Microbiol 51:385–396
- Banat IM, Franzetti A, Gandolfi I, Bestetti G, Martinotti MG, Fracchia L, Smyth TJ, Marchant R (2010) Microbial biosurfactants production, applications. J Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 87: 427–444. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-010-2589-0
- Matsuyama T, Tanikawa T, Nakagawa Y (2011) Serrawettins and other surfactants produced by Serratia. In: Biosurfactants, vol 20. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg, pp 93–120
- Vijayakumar S, Saravanan V (2015) Biosurfactants-types sources and applications. Res J Microbiol 10(5):181–192
- Franzetti A, Gandolfi I, Bestetti G, Smyth TJP, Banat IM (2010) Production and applications of trehalose lipid biosurfactants. European J Lipid Sci Technol 112(6):617–627. https://doi.org/10. 1002/ejlt.200900162
- Soltanighias T, Singh AE, Surekha K, Banpurkar A, Koolivand A, Rahi P (2019) Assessment of biosurfactants producing bacteria from oil contaminated soils and their hydrocarbon degradation potential. Environ Sustain 2(3):285–296. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42398-019-00074
- Gudiña EJ, Fernandes EC, Rodrigues AI, Teixeira JA, Rodrigues LR (2015) Biosurfactant production by *Bacillus subtilis* using corn steep liquor as culture medium. Front Microbiol 6:1– 7
- 20. Elshafie AE, Joshi SJ, Al-Wahaibi YM, Al-Bemani AS, Al-Bahry SN, Al-Maqbali D, Banat IM (2015) Sophorolipids production by *Candida bombicola* ATCC 22214 and its potential application in microbial enhanced oil recovery. Front Microbiol 6:1324
- Wang H, Roelants S, Patria RD, Kaur G, Lau NS, Lau CY, Lin CS, Bogaert V (2019) *Starmerella bombicola*: recent advances on sophorolipids production and prospects of waste stream utilization. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 94(4):999–1007. https://doi.org/10.1002/jctb. 5847
- Chandran P, Das N (2011) Characterization of sophorolipid biosurfactant produced by yeast species grown on diesel oil. Int J Eng Sci 2:63–71
- Karthik L, Kumar G, Rao KVB (2010) Comparison of methods and screening of biosurfactants producing marine actinobacteria isolated from Nicobar marine sediment. IIOAB J Short Commun Env-biotechnol 1(2):34–38
- 24. Amaral PF, Coelho MAZ, Marrucho IMJ, Coutinho JAP (2010) Biosurfactants from yeasts: characteristics, production and application. AEMB, vol vol 672236-249. Springer
- 25. Saranya P, Swarnalathaa S, Sekaran G (2014) Lipoprotein biosurfactant production from an extreme acidophile using fish oil and its immobilization in nanoporous activated carbon for the

removal of Ca^{2+} and Cr^{3+} in aqueous solution. RSC Adv 4:34144–34155. https://doi.org/10. 1039/C4RA03101F

- Rosenberg E, Ron EZ (1999) High and low molecular-mass microbial surfactants. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 52:154–162
- Nurfarahin AH, Mohamed MS, Phang LY (2018) Culture medium development for microbialderived surfactants production. J Mol 23(5):1049
- Das P, Mukherjee S, Sen R (2008) Genetic regulations of the biosynthesis of microbial surfactants: an overview. Biotechnol Genet Eng Rev 25:165–186
- Roongsawang N, Washio K, Morikawa M (2011) Diversity of nonribosomal peptide synthetases involved in the biosynthesis of lipopeptide biosurfactants. Int J Mol Sci 12:141–172
- 30. Obayori OS, Ilori MO, Adebusoye SA, Oyetibo GO, Omotayo AE, Amund OO (2009) Degradation of hydrocarbons and biosurfactant production by *Pseudomonas* sp. strain LP1. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 25:1615–1623
- Geetha I, Manonmani AM, Prabakaran G (2011) Bacillus amyloliquefaciens: a mosquitocidal bacterium from mangrove forests of Andaman & Nicobar Islands, India. Acta Tropica 120(3): 155–159
- 32. Li Y, Héloir MC, Zhang X, Geissler M, Trouvelot S, Jacquens L, Henkel M, Su X, Fang X, Wang Q, Adrian M (2019) Surfactin and fengycin contribute to the protection of a *Bacillus subtilis* strain against grape downy mildew by both direct effect and defence stimulation. Mol Plant Pathol 20(8):1037–1050
- 33. Moya RI, Tsaousi K, Rudden M, Marchant R, Alameda EJ, Garcia RM, Banat IM (2015) Rhamnolipid and surfactin production from olive oil mill waste as sole carbon source. Bioresour Technol 198:231–236
- 34. Lai CC, Huang YC, Wei YH, Chang JS (2009) Biosurfactant enhanced removal of total petroleum hydrocarbons from contaminated soil. J Hazard Mater 167:609–614
- Gautam KK, Tyagi VK (2006) Microbial surfactants: a review. J Oleo Sci 55:155–166. https:// doi.org/10.5650/jos.55.155
- 36. Alizadeh-Sani M, Hamishehkar H, Khezerlou A, Azizi-Lalabadi M, Azadi Y, Nattagh-Eshtivani E, Fasihi M, Ghavami A, Aynehchi A, Ehsani A (2018) Bioemulsifiers derived from microorganisms: applications in the drug and food industry. Adv Pharm Bull 8(2): 191–199
- 37. Tong K, Zhang Y, Liu G, Ye Z, Chu PK (2013) Treatment of heavy oil wastewater by a conventional activated sludge process coupled with an immobilized biological filter. Intl Biodeterio Biodegr 84:65–71
- Ławniczak L, Marecik R, Chrzanowski L (2013) Contributions of biosurfactants to natural or induced bioremediation. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 97(6):2327–2339
- 39. Usman MM, Dadrasnia A, Lim KT, Mahmud FAF, Ismail S (2016) Application of biosurfactants in environmental biotechnology; remediation of oil and heavy metal. AIMS Bioeng 3(3):289–304
- 40. Sajna KV, Gottumukkala LD (2019) Biosurfactants in bioremediation and soil health. In: Kumar A, Sharma S (eds) Microbes and enzymes in soil health and bioremediation. Springer Nature Singapore, pp 353–359
- 41. Sarda R (2013) Ecosystem services in the Mediterranean Sea: the need for an economic and business oriented approach. In: Hughes TB (ed) Mediterranean Sea. Ecosystems, economic importance and environmental threats. Nova Science Publishers, New York, pp 1–35
- 42. Joseph PJ, Joseph A (2009) Microbial enhanced separation of oil from a petroleum refinery sludge. J Hazard Mater 61(1):522–525. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2008.03.131
- 43. Kang SW, Kim YB, Shin JD, Kim EK (2010) Enhanced biodegradation of hydrocarbons in soil by microbial biosurfactant, sophorolipid. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 160:780–790
- 44. Agwa A, Leheta H, Salem A, Sadiq R (2013) Fate of drilling waste discharges and ecological risk assessment in the Egyptian Red Sea: an aquivalence-based fuzzy analysis. Stoch Environ Res Risk Assess 27(1):169–181

- 45. Ball AS, Stewart RJ, Schliephake KA (2012) Review of the current options for the treatment and safe disposal of drill cuttings. Waste Manag Res 30(5):457–473
- 46. Eames I, Leeuw B, Conniff P (2002) Formation and remediation of drill-cutting piles in the North Sea. Environ Geol 41(5):504–519
- 47. Karlapudi AP, Venkateswarulu TC, Tammineedi J, Kanumuri L, Ravuru KB, Dirisala VR, Kodali VP (2018) Role of biosurfactants in bioremediation of oil pollution-a review. Petroleum 4(3):248–249
- Souza EC, Vessoni-Penna TC, Souza D, Oliveira RP (2014) Biosurfactant-enhanced hydrocarbon bioremediation: an overview. Int Biodeterior Biodegrad 89:88–94
- 49. De Silva R, Almeida DG, Rufino RD, Luna JM, Santos VA, Sarubbo LA (2014) Applications of biosurfactants in the petroleum industry and the remediation of oil spills. Int J Mol Sci 15(7): 12523–12542
- Urum K, Grigson S, Pekdemir T, McMenamy SA (2006) Comparison of the efficiency of different surfactants for removal of crude oil from contaminated soils. Chemosphere 62(9): 1403–1410
- 51. Pei XH, Zhan X-H, Wang SM, Lin YS, Zhou LX (2010) Effects of a biosurfactant and a synthetic surfactant on phenanthrene degradation by a *Sphingomonas* strain. Pedosphere 20: 771–779
- 52. Lee DW, Lee H, Kwon BO, Khim JS, Yim UH, Kim BS, Kim JJ (2018) Biosurfactant-assisted bioremediation of crude oil by indigenous bacteria isolated from Taean beach sediment. Environ Pollut 241:254–264. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.05.070
- Mulligan CN (2005) Environmental applications for biosurfactants. Environ Pollut 133:183– 198
- 54. Liu Z-F, Zeng G-M, Wang J, Zhong H, Ding Y, Yuan X-Z (2010) Effects of monorhamnolipid and tween 80 on the degradation of phenol by *Candida tropicalis*. Process Biochem 45:805– 809
- 55. Shahaby AF, Alharthi AA, El Tarras AE (2015) Bioremediation of petroleum oil by potential biosurfactant producing bacteria using gravimetric assay. Int J Curr Microbiol Appl Sci 4(5): 390–403
- 56. Nievas ML, Commendatore MG, Esteves JL, Bucalá V (2007) Biodegradation pattern of hydrocarbons from a fuel oil-type complex residue by an emulsifier-producing microbial consortium. J Hazard Mater 154(1–3):96–104
- Santo CE, Vilar VJP, Bhatnagar A, Kumar E, Botelho CMS, Boaventura RAR (2013) Biological treatment by activated sludge of petroleum refinery wastewaters. J Desalin Water Treat 51(34–36):6641–6654
- 58. Rawat G, Kumar V (2021) Contributions of biosurfactants in environment: a green and clean approach. In: Bioprocessing of agri-food residues for production of bioproducts. Apple Academic, New York
- 59. Lin CK, Tsai TY, Liu JC, Chen MC (2001) Enhanced biodegradation of petrochemical wastewater using ozonation and BAC advanced treatment system. J Water Res 35(3):699–704
- 60. Verma S, Prasad B, Mishra IM (2010) Pretreatment of petrochemical wastewater by coagulation and flocculation and the sludge characteristics. J Hazard Mater 178(1–3):1055–1064
- 61. Franzetti A, Gandolfi I, Fracchia L, Van Hamme J, Gkorezis P, Marchant R, Banat IM (2014) Biosurfactant use in heavy metal removal from industrial effluents and contaminated sites. In: Kosaric N, Sukan FV (eds) Biosurfactants: production and utilization - processes, technologies and economics. CRC Press, pp 361–369
- 62. Nedwed TJ (1996) Extraction and recovery of lead from lead-battery recycling site soil using concentrated chloride solutions. Ph.D. thesis, University of Houston, Tex
- 63. Jarup L (2003) Hazards of heavy metal contamination. Br Med Bull 68:167-182
- 64. Jaishankar M, Tseten T, Anbalagan N, Mathew BB, Beeregowda KN (2014) Toxicity, mechanism and health effects of some heavy metals. Interdiscip Toxicol 7(2):60–72

- 65. Stearns DM, Silveira SM, Wolf KK, Luke AM (2002) Chromium (III) tris (picolinate) is mutagenic at the hypoxanthine (guanine) phosphoribosyltransferase locus in Chinese hamster ovary cells. Mutat Res 13(1–2):135–142
- 66. Kim J, Vipulanandan C (2006) Removal of lead from contaminated water and clay soil using a biosurfactants. J Environ Eng 132(7):777–786
- Subramanium V, Divyashree M (2015) Bioremediation of heavy metals using biosurfactants producing microorganisms. Int J Pharma Sc Res (IJPSR) 6(5):840–847
- 68. Qi X, Xu X, Zhong C, Jiang T, Wei W, Song X (2018) Removal of cadmium and lead from contaminated soils using sophorolipids from fermentation culture of Starmerella bombicola CGMCC 1576 fermentation. Int J Environ Res Public Health 15(11):2334. https://doi.org/10. 3390/ijerph15112334
- 69. Gomaa EZ, El-Meihy RM (2019) Bacterial biosurfactant from *Citrobacter freundii* MG812314.1 as a bioremoval tool of heavy metals from wastewater. Bull Nat Res Centre 43: 69. https://doi.org/10.1186/s42269-019-0088-8
- 70. Ramani K, Jain SC, Mandal AB, Sekaran G (2012) Microbial induced lipoprotein biosurfactant from slaughterhouse lipid waste and its application to the removal of metal ion from aqueous solution. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 97:254–263
- Edosa TT, Jo YH, Keshavarz M, Han YS (2019) Biosurfactants: production and potential application in insect pest management. Trends Entomol 14:79–87. https://doi.org/10.31300/ TENT.14.2018.79-87
- Cahill MG, Caprioli G, Stack M, Vittori S, James KJ (2011) Semi-automated liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC–MS/MS) method for basic pesticides in wastewater effluents. Anal Bioanal Chem 400(2):587–594
- 73. Köck-Schulmeyer M, Villagrasa M, López de Alda M, Céspedes-Sánchez R, Ventura F, Barceló D (2013) Occurrence and behaviour of pesticides in wastewater treatment plants and their environmental impact. Sci Total Environ 1(458–460):466–476. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2013.04.010
- Mnif I, Ghribi D (2015) Potential of bacterial derived biopesticides in pest management. Crop Prot 77:52–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2015.07.017
- 75. Ghribi D, Elleuch M, Abdelkefi L, Ellouze-Chaabouni S (2012) Histopathological effects of *Bacillus subtilis* SPB1 biosurfactant in the midgut of *Ephestia kuehniella* (lepidoptera: Pyralidae) and improvement of its insecticidal efficiency. J Plant Dis Protect 48:68–72
- 76. Khedher BS, Boukedi H, Dammak M, Kilani-Feki O, Sellami-Boudawara T, Abdelkefi-Mesrati L, Tounsi S (2017) Combinatorial effect of *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* AG1 biosurfactant and *Bacillus thuringiensis* Vip3Aa16 toxin on *Spodoptera littoralis* larvae. J Invert Pathol 144(2):11–17
- 77. Khedher BS, Boukedi H, Kilani-Feki O, Chaib I, Laarif A (2015) Bacillus amyloliquefaciens AG1 biosurfactant: putative receptor diversity and histopathological effects on Tuta absoluta midgut. J Invertebr Pathol 132:42–47
- Das K, Mukherjee AK (2006) Assessment of mosquito larvicidal potency of cyclic lipopeptides produced by *Bacillus subtilis* strains. J Acta Tropica 97(2):168–173
- Ochoa-Campuzano C, Real MD, Martínez-Ramírez AC, Bravo A, Rausell C (2007) An ADAM metalloprotease is a Cry3Aa bacillus thuringiensis toxin receptor. J Biochem Biophys Res Comm 362:437–442
- BenFarhat-Touzri D, Saadaoui M, Abdelkefi-Mesrati L, Saadaoui I, Azzouz H, Tounsi S (2013) Histopathological effects and determination of the putative receptor of Bacillus thuringiensis Cry1Da toxin in Spodoptera littoralis midgut. J Invertebr Pathol 112(2):142–145

- Revathi K, Chandrasekaran R, Thanigaivel A, Kirubakaran SA, Sathish-Narayanan S, Senthil-Nathan S (2013) Effects of *Bacillus subtilis* metabolites on larval *Aedes aegypti* L. Pestic Biochem Physiol 107(3):369–376
- Perez-Ameneiro M, Vecino X, Cruz JM, Moldes AB (2015) Wastewater treatment enhancement by applying a lipopeptide biosurfactant to a lignocellulosic biocomposite. Carbohydr Polym 131:186–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2015.05.075
- 83. Hazra C, Kundu D, Ghosh P, Joshi S, Dandi N, Chaudhari A (2011) Screening and identification of Pseudomonas aeruginosa AB4 for improved production, characterization and application of a glycolipid biosurfactant using low-cost agro-based raw materials. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 86:185–198
- 84. Patel S, Homaei A, Daverey A, Patil S (2019) Microbial biosurfactants for oil spill remediation pitfalls and potentials. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 103(1):27–37

Best Practices in Wastewater Management in Poland with Particular Emphasis on Swimming Pool Waters



Katarzyna Kubiak-Wójcicka, Dariusz Domszy, and Sylwia Machula

Contents

1	Introduction	486
2	Methods and Data	487
3	The State of Water and Wastewater Management in Poland	487
4	Selected Wastewater Treatment Technologies	491
5	Modern Wastewater Treatment Methods Used in Poland: Water Recovery on the Example	
	of Swimming Pool Water Treatment	493
	5.1 Swimming Pools in Poland and Pool Water Treatment Methods	493
	5.2 Lumi-Ultra Technology for Pool Water Recovery	495
	5.3 Economic Benefits of the Solution	497
6	Summary	501
7	Recommendations	502
Re	ferences	502

Abstract Growing demand for water with its limited resources requires rational water management. The problem of proper water management is not only decreasing fresh water resources, but also its quality deteriorating to an extent that prevents natural self-purification processes. The paper presents the state of water and sewage management in Poland. Particular attention was paid to the issues related to water

K. Kubiak-Wójcicka (🖂)

Nicolaus Copernicus University, Faculty of Earth Sciences and Spatial Management, Toruń, Poland e-mail: kubiak@umk.pl

D. Domszy Lumi-tech Sp. z o.o., Opole, Poland e-mail: domszy.d@lumi-tech.pl

S. Machula

Mahmoud Nasr and Abdelazim M. Negm (eds.), *Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems*, Hdb Env Chem (2023) 118: 485–504, DOI 10.1007/698_2022_878, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022, Published online: 18 April 2022

West Pomeranian University of Technology in Szczecin, Department of Commodity Science, Quality Assessment, Process Engineering and Human Nutrition, Szczecin, Poland e-mail: sylwia.machula@zut.pl

recovery and reuse. The current state of water and sewage management in Poland, including infrastructure and growing demand for water by various sectors of the national economy requires special attention to water quality. The paper provides a short review of technological processes used in wastewater treatment in Poland. As a case study the issue of recovery of water used in swimming pools and possibilities of its further use were discussed.

Keywords Poland, Sewage, Swimming pool water, Water and sewage management, Water treatment

1 Introduction

The rapid increase in demand for water with limited water resources requires rational water management at national, regional, and local levels [1]. Water supply depends not only on the amount of geologically available water, but also on the legal, economic, and social framework related to the system of its distribution [2]. It is possible to reduce water abstraction and consumption by obtaining effective technologies and relevant technical infrastructure related to water abstraction and wastewater disposal [3]. Significant progress has been made in this respect in EU countries with the adoption of common EU legislation, in particular the Water Framework Directive [4], the Urban Wastewater Directive [5], and the Drinking Water Directive [6]. These key legislative acts form the basis for improving water quality and sustainable use of the aquatic environment in Europe. Poland is among these countries as it acceded to the European Union on 1 May 2004. The common goal of the EU Member States is to significantly reduce the negative effects of pollution, excessive water abstraction, and other factors exerting pressure on water and to ensure that there is sufficient good-quality water for both human and environmental use [7]. It is particularly important for Poland to achieve this goal due to its small water resources compared to other EU countries [8]. Poland's water resources are characterised by considerable spatial diversity which is a consequence of high variability of natural environment conditions shaping the hydrological cycle (precipitation, evapotranspiration) and anthropogenic factors (high water abstraction). Water shortages are more and more frequent, especially during meteorological drought, which affects various regions of Poland [9-11]. Being aware of the limitations of water resources, authorities take appropriate measures to reduce risks. Therefore, the rational use of those resources for the needs of the population, economy, and ecosystems is extremely important [12]. Water and wastewater management is one of the key areas of Poland's development. This is evidenced by documents which present the main trends, concepts of the country's development, and challenges in the short and long term, such as the National Urban Wastewater Treatment Programme [13], the National Development Strategy 2020 [14], the Long-term National Development Strategy 2030 [15].

This paper discusses the state of water and wastewater management in Poland over the last several years, including the infrastructure and demand by various sectors of the national economy. Bearing in mind the particular importance of rational water management and water purity, a brief review of the technological processes used in wastewater treatment in Poland was carried out. In addition, due to the growing demand for water, attention was paid to issues related to water recovery and reuse and the respective legal solutions. As a case study, we discussed the issue of recovering swimming pool water and possibilities for its further use.

2 Methods and Data

The study is based on statistical information, legal regulations in force in Poland and reports on the implementation of national programmes available on ministerial websites. The paper uses the data collected from the Central Statistical Office of Poland (CSO) [16] and the Environmental Protection yearbooks [17]. Data on water and wastewater management in Poland are presented in general terms for the years 2002–2018. The study also uses the information contained in the Report on the Implementation of the National Urban Wastewater Treatment Programme [13].

Based on the available literature, the water treatment process and wastewater treatment technologies used in Poland were discussed. The use of water in swimming pools and the attempt to recover it were presented as a case study. On the basis of data from the Lumi-tech company, the technological process and technical possibilities of effective water recovery were discussed. We then analysed, on the basis of four selected swimming pool facilities, the economic viability of installing the original Lumi-ultra Hybrid Membrane Reactor technology.

3 The State of Water and Wastewater Management in Poland

The problem of proper water management lies not only in decreasing the fresh water resources whose consumption exceeds the possibilities of their renewal, but also in water quality deteriorating to an extent that precludes its natural self-purification processes. The development of the economy, especially the increase in industrial production, intensification of agriculture, and the emergence of large urban agglomerations, is conducive to the emergence of new types of pressure on water ecosystems. However, surface waters are most vulnerable to contamination. The biggest threat are discharges of industrial and municipal sewage into surface waters or to the ground [17].

All natural waters, before being used for drinking and industrial purposes, must be properly prepared, which is achieved through treatment processes. The types of individual processes used and their arrangement depend on the type of substances that must be removed from the water. The choice of the suitable water treatment process must be preceded by a water quality analysis. Depending on the results obtained, an appropriate treatment method is selected. Further technological research is carried out into the removal of contaminants, as well as the disposal of concentrations generated during the treatment of water, wastewater, and sludge.

The main source of water supply for the national economy in Poland is surface water. Its abstraction in 2017 was 8.4 km³ and covered 83% of needs. Surface water was used mainly for the industrial production purposes. Groundwater abstraction reached 1.7 km³ and as water of much better quality than surface water, it was mainly used to supply the population with drinking water. Poland is a country with relatively low water consumption. The water consumption indicator in 2015 was 292 m³ per inhabitant [17].

Water consumption for the national economy and population is closely linked to the volume of water abstraction. The greatest threat to the aquatic environment is the discharge of industrial and municipal wastewater into surface water or to soil. Therefore, surface water is both a source of drinking water supply and a wastewater receiver. Water pollution is understood as any adverse changes: physical, chemical, and biological, reducing its quality.

According to the Central Statistical Office of Poland [17], in 2017, water consumption in Poland was 9656.3 hm³. The largest share in water consumption for the national economy and population was held by the industrial sector (73%) (mainly the energy and chemical industries). Water consumption by the municipal sector through the operation of the water supply network amounted to 16%, while in agriculture and forestry, it reached about 11% of total water consumption for the national economy.

The current quality and quantity of discharged wastewater is a result of the state policy in the field of water management. In order to identify the actual needs in terms of wastewater management rearrangement and to prioritise the implementation of respective actions, the National Urban Wastewater Treatment Programme was established [13]. This programme was adopted by the Council of Ministers on 16 December 2003, and it has been regularly implemented and updated.

In recent years, a change in approach to wastewater treatment has been observed. Methods oriented exclusively towards mechanical removal of pollutants are displaced by highly efficient and complex wastewater treatment technologies with the deepened removal of nitrogen and phosphorus compounds. According to CSO data [17], in 2017, the amount of wastewater subjected to advanced treatment processes was 1138.0 hm³ (54.5% of wastewater subjected to treatment processes), while the amount of wastewater treated mechanically was 497.4 hm³ (23.8%). However, still some of the wastewater requiring treatment was not treated (4.9%).

In order to improve the country's water and wastewater management, further development of municipal wastewater collection and treatment systems took place. This manifested itself in the commissioning of new wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs), the modernisation of existing plants, in particular in terms of removing biogenic compounds from wastewater, as well as the expansion of the water supply



Fig. 1 Total number of WWTPs in Poland and their overall capacity (according to data [16])

and wastewater networks, and decommissioning of obsolete and inefficient facilities. The result of these activities is an increase in the total amount of treated wastewater (including a rise in treatment with increased removal of nutrients) and a decrease in the amount of untreated wastewater [17].

The most important task in improving water quality is to enhance the processes of wastewater collection and treatment. These activities aim at removing pollution from wastewater to an extent that allows water to be reused and reduces the burden on the natural environment. Due to the type of wastewater treatment methods and processes used, WWTPs are divided into the following groups:

- mechanical: only removing insoluble contaminants, i.e., solids and fats that settle or float, by means of grids, racks, and grit chambers.
- chemical: treating wastewater by precipitation of certain soluble compounds or neutralisation of wastewater by chemical methods such as coagulation, and sorption onto activated carbon.
- biological: removing organic pollutants, biogenic and refractory compounds from wastewater using the biodegradation process through the action of microorganisms and microbes.
- with increased nutrient removal: enabling increased nitrogen and phosphorus reduction.

The total number of WWTPs in Poland in the years 2002–2018 ranged from 4,120 in 2002 to 4,336 in 2009 (Fig. 1) [16]. In 2017, the number of industrial WWTPs was 926, while the number of municipal WWTPs was 3,258. Over the last few years, there has been a systematic increase in the number of municipal WWTPs (there were only 2,417 plants in 2000) and a decrease in the number of industrial WWTPs (1,626 in 2000). This change is dictated by the decommissioning of a portion of industrial WWTPs together with the closure of industrial plants or reorganisation due to the launch of industrial wastewater pre-treatment plants.

Industrial wastewater pre-treatment plants produce wastewater with a preliminarily lowered pollutant load, to the extent that it can be discharged to municipal WWTPs or WWTPs in individual factories.

The significant increase in the number of municipal WWTPs results from the systematic implementation of Directive 91/271/EEC through the National Urban Wastewater Treatment Programme [13]. It provided for equipping urban agglomerations with collective sewage systems and municipal WWTPs. Between 2000 and 2017, the number of cities covered by WWTPs increased from 801 in 2000 to 921 in 2017. Out of a total of 923 cities in Poland in 2017, two cities were not served by WWTPs.

According to CSO data [17], the share of the population using WWTPs increased from 53% in 2000 to 81% in 2017, while in cities it increased from 79% to about 95% and in villages from 11% to 42%. In the European Union, the share of population covered by WWTPs of at least 95% was recorded in seven countries (Luxembourg, the Netherlands, the United Kingdom, Spain, Germany, Malta, Austria) [17]. The lowest percentage of the population served by WWTPs was recorded in Cyprus (30%), Romania (48%), and Croatia (55%).

Also noteworthy is the increase in the number of people using WWTPs with increased nutrient removal. In 2017, twenty-one WWTPs with a total capacity of $68,000 \text{ m}^3$ /day (including 18 municipal WWTPs with a total capacity of $5,000 \text{ m}^3$ / day) were put into operation. The newly commissioned treatment plants were located in rural areas [17].

In the case of rural areas with dispersed development, running a sewage system is not cost-effective. One of the methods of wastewater treatment there is the use of household wastewater treatment systems [18-21]. The method of wastewater discharge and treatment in non-urbanised areas depends on the development structure and may vary in individual parts of a locality or commune. Constructing a sewage collection system for an entire village is not economically viable [22]. Household wastewater treatment systems should be used when the average length of the gravity sewer per one household exceeds 10 m [23]. Among the technologies used for the treatment of small amounts of wastewater, we can distinguish treatment systems with leach drains, tunnels or boxes, sand filters, and hydrophyte beds, as well as container treatment plants: with activated sludge tanks (including a sequencing batch reactor), with biological beds, and hybrid treatment systems which are a combination of activated sludge and biological bed technologies [24]. To obtain a permit for the construction of a household wastewater treatment system the household must meet specific criteria [25]. Household wastewater treatment systems are an important element of the wastewater infrastructure, as their use in areas with dispersed housing complements collective wastewater systems. At the same time, they are more economical, especially in the light of construction costs [26].

4 Selected Wastewater Treatment Technologies

According to the Act on Collective Water Supply and Collective Wastewater Disposal of 7 June 2001 [27], the sources of wastewater are classified into domestic, municipal, or industrial.

Domestic wastewater is wastewater from residential buildings, collective housing, and public utilities, resulting from human metabolism or household functioning, and similarly composed wastewater from these buildings.

Municipal wastewater is domestic wastewater or mixture of domestic wastewater with industrial wastewater or rainwater or snowmelt resulting from atmospheric precipitation, discharged by means of equipment used to carry out the municipality's own tasks in the field of sewage system and municipal wastewater treatment. Industrial wastewater is wastewater that is not domestic wastewater or rainwater or snowmelt resulting from precipitation, arising in connection with the commercial, industrial, storage, transport, or service activities of a plant, as well as a mixture of the above and wastewater of another entity, discharged by the sewage system of that plant.

Industrial wastewater arises in connection with the undertaking's commercial, industrial, storage, transport or service activities and which is mixed with the wastewater of another undertaking, and which is discharged by the sewerage system of that undertaking.

Other types of wastewater include

- (a) water used for domestic or commercial purposes
- (b) liquid animal faeces, excluding manure and slurry intended for agricultural use
- (c) Landfill leachate

the extractive waste in which the extractive waste is storedhazardous and non-hazardous and inert extractive waste, storage locations

- (d) water from cooling circuits of power plants or combined heat and power plants
- (e) water originating from the dehydration of mining plants
- (f) water used, discharged from the fish-farming facilities in flow facilities
- (g) water used, discharged from fish-farming facilities or other aquatic organisms in ponds with standing water.

Details on the classification of wastewater into particular groups can be found in the Act of 7 June 2001 [27] and the Water Law Act of 2017 [28]. Depending on the types of sewage, different sewage treatment processes are used.

Physical, chemical, and biological methods are used in wastewater treatment processes. They can be combined into systems, e.g. physico-chemical and physico-biological. Each process also removes other contaminants in addition to the main purpose for which it is used. Depending on the type of wastewater, the treatment process should be selected to achieve the highest possible treatment outcome at minimum cost. One or more methods are used for this purpose. The processes of aeration, coagulation, sedimentation, flotation, filtration, ion exchange, chemical precipitation, sorption, chemical oxidation, membrane processes, and disinfection are used for water treatment [29, 30].

One of the methods is mechanical purification consisting of grinding, straining, filtering, sedimentation (settling of contaminants at the bottom), centrifugation, and flotation (flowing of contaminants onto the water surface in the form of foam). Water aeration is used to rid water of dissolved gases affecting its taste and smell, as well as volatile organic compounds. Aeration increases the content of dissolved oxygen in water, creating conditions for the oxidation of iron and manganese compounds and prevents the formation of a reducing environment. In water and wastewater technology, coagulation is used to remove colloids, colour, slowly settling suspensions, and other micro-pollutants. Different coagulants can be used in the coagulation process, which, occurring in jonic form, adsorb on the surface of colloidal particles (in the adsorbed layer) and reduce their electrokinetic potential to a value at which there is no significant influence of electrostatic repulsion. Sedimentation and flotation processes ensure the removal of suspensions present in the water both before treatment and after other processes, e.g. coagulation and chemical precipitation. During the sedimentation process, suspensions with a density higher than water are removed, while flotation eliminates particles with a density lower than water, but also higher when aeration is used. Filtration is the expulsion from water of solid-phase particles on the surface or in intergranular spaces of a porous material. The process can be used for the pre-treatment of raw water and to support other technological processes such as coagulation, de-ironing, and de-manganisation.

Biological wastewater treatment has been of great interest in recent years. It is associated with biochemical changes in which microorganisms play an essential role. Wastewater treatment with this method is carried out by the mineralisation of organic pollutants contained in the wastewater through microorganisms that are part of activated sludge. The classic active sludge is a flocculent suspension composed mainly of bacteria, protozoa, and other organisms [31]. The applied technical solutions allow for creation of optimal conditions for their development and reflect the intensified self-purification processes that take place in natural waters. The main purpose of biological wastewater treatment is to convert biodegradable pollutants into desired end products. It is particularly important to rid the treated wastewater of biogenic substances (mainly nitrogen and phosphorus compounds) causing an increase in eutrophication. Biological wastewater treatment processes used in WWTPs can be divided into aerobic, anoxic, and anaerobic. Microorganisms used in the biological wastewater treatment processes can be attached to the ground (fixed or mobile) as a biological membrane (sedimentary biomass, biological beds) or exist in the open space of the tank in the form of flocs (agglomerates or clusters of various types of bacteria and other organisms and pollutants, i.e. suspended biomass and activated sludge). Pollutants are converted into: internal energy stored in the bacterial cell, the final products of decomposition discharged at the wastewater outlet, and new biomass [32].

Treatment plants using the activated sludge technology are operated in large agglomerations as well as in rural settlement units. Wastewater treatment with activated sludge consists in creating in the wastewater flocculation of $50-100 \ \mu m$

with a very strongly developed surface. The flocs are made of a mineral nucleus and on the surface in a mucous membrane, they contain numerous heterotrophic bacteria such as *Acinetebacterium*, *Pseudomonas*, *Zoogloea*, *Enterobactericeae*, *Aeromonas*, *Flavobacterium*, *Achromobacter*, and *Micrococcus*. Organic pollutants are absorbed on the surface of the flocs and mineralised during the metabolic processes of the microorganisms. This process can also be used to remove ammonia, hydrogen sulphide, and other gases dissolved in wastewater through the operation of autotrophic bacteria such as *Nitrosomonas*, *Nitrosococcus*, *Nitrobacter*, and *Beggiatoa*, *Thiothrix*.

The effects of wastewater treatment vary depending on the technological solutions used [33, 34]. At present, in modern WWTPs that neutralise sludge in the fermentation process, it is becoming good practice to use the biogas generated in fermentation chambers for the combined production of heat and power in the cogeneration process. In it, the biogas obtained during sludge digestion is directed to cogeneration units for the cogeneration of electricity and heat. The treatment plant thus covers part of the electricity demand from its own production. The heat released when the biogas is burned in the generator's gas engine feeds the heating network through heat exchangers. Polish WWTPs are producing more and more sludge every year. Currently, more than 650,000 Mg s.m. are built in Poland annually (dry matter) of sludge in municipal treatment plants. It is expected that in 2020, over 780,000 Mg s.m. of sewage sludge will be generated in municipal treatment plants. As a result, and due to the option to intensify biogas production and the increasing efficiency of cogeneration units, more and more WWTPs are starting to generate both heat and electricity in the cogeneration process and are increasingly securing their own energy needs [35]. In turn, gasification residues are a valuable source of phosphorus and macroelements which can be used for fertiliser production [36].

5 Modern Wastewater Treatment Methods Used in Poland: Water Recovery on the Example of Swimming Pool Water Treatment

5.1 Swimming Pools in Poland and Pool Water Treatment Methods

The reuse of treated wastewater plays an important role in water and environmental management for economic and social reasons [37]. Under Polish conditions, only a small amount of water is recovered and reused. The best example is the water used to fill swimming pools. Bathing water is subject to strict quality requirements. The standards that must be met by water in swimming pools in Poland were established in the Regulation of the Minister of Health of 9 November 2015 [38]. The supervision of swimming pools in terms of water health safety has been regulated by the Act on the State Sanitary Inspectorate of 14 March 1985 [39]. The functioning of

swimming pools has been regulated by the Act on the Safety of Persons Staying in Water Areas of 18 August 2011 [40]. According to the said Act, a swimming pool is understood as an indoor or outdoor facility, with flowing water, intended for swimming or bathing, having at least one swimming pool basin, with a permanent edge and bottom, equipped with sanitary facilities, changing rooms, and showers.

In 2016, the register of the State Sanitary Inspectorate included a total of 1849 swimming pools. The most numerous class of swimming pool facilities comprised indoor swimming pools (including water parks) totalling 1,420, which accounted for about 77% of all facilities. The number of outdoor swimming pools was 366 (ca. 20%), while mixed (indoor-outdoor) swimming pools constituted the least numerous class of 63 facilities (ca. 3%) [41]. In 2018 (as of December 31), the State Sanitary Inspectorate supervised water quality surveys for 1889 swimming pools in Poland, and in that number 82% were indoor swimming pools [42]. This means that the number of swimming pools in Poland is systematically increasing. The decision on the choice of pool water treatment technology should be made as early as at the facility design stage and adapted to the function and type of facility. In the case of existing pools, multiple methods of pool water treatment are most often used, which allows them obtaining water with satisfactory parameters. According to Wyczarska-Kokot [43, 44], we can distinguish the following methods of cleaning through:

- filtration in sand filters + chlorine disinfection + pH correction
- coagulation + filtration in multilayer or hydroanthracite sand filters + chlorine disinfection + pH correction
- coagulation + filtration + ozonisation + sorption filtration + chlorination + pH correction
- coagulation + ozonisation + filtration in a multilayer bed (including with a sorption layer) + chlorination + pH correction
- ozonisation + sorption filtration + chlorination + pH correction
- coagulation + filtration in a multilayer bed + ozonisation of part of the circulating water stream + chlorination + pH correction
- coagulation + filtration in a multilayer bed + UV irradiation + chlorination + pH correction.

If there are impurities in the water pool that cannot be removed by means of coagulation, filtration, and disinfection, they can be quantitatively reduced only by replacing the used pool water with fresh water. The supply of fresh water to the pool contributes to the dilution of water in the pool and therefore reduces the concentration of individual parameters. Disinfection is required in public swimming pools according to sanitary and hygienic guidelines. Most often water is disinfected with chlorine compounds. The basic water purification system for sports and recreation pools should include the process of filtration, or rather surface coagulation, carried out in sand and gravel bed filters and the process of chlorine disinfection using sodium hypochlorite produced on site by membrane electrolysis.

In the field of water treatment for public swimming pools in Poland and Europe, the German DIN 19643 standard has become widespread. It indicates the need to apply the following processes in swimming pool systems: filtration, coagulation,

water pH correction, and chlorine disinfection. The length of the filtration cycle, filter rinsing, the dosing of coagulant, disinfectant, and water pH corrector, as well as the measurement of basic parameters controlling and demonstrating the effects of pool water treatment (measurement of free and bound chlorine concentration, redox potential, water pH, and temperature) should be fully automated in all types of public swimming pools.

All the pool water treatment methods described above cover only issues related to the quality of swimming pool water. Yet, they do not solve the problem of recovering the water that was already used but does not meet accepted standards and is disposed of as wastewater.

5.2 Lumi-Ultra Technology for Pool Water Recovery

One of the technical solutions used for water recovery is the Lumi-ultra technology which can successfully replace an MBR biological WWTP. However, the process of biological disposal of contaminants has been replaced by an original solution of the Hybrid Membrane Reactor in which, depending on the nature and content of contaminants, the type of chemical reaction, its duration, and membrane separation technology are individually selected (Fig. 2).

The water recovery process based on the Lumi-ultra technology can be divided into several stages.

- measurement of initial parameters affecting the planned chemical process
- correction of these parameters if they do not comply with the assumptions
- introduction of reagents into the wastewater
- support for the chemical process through physical methods



Fig. 2 Wastewater treatment technology scheme



496



Fig. 3 Pool washings (a) and post-treatment water (b)

- coagulation or flotation of chemical reaction products
- fraction separation by suitable membrane technology, also multistage
- permeate polishing (photochemical method)
- re-measurement and correction of basic parameters and disinfection with ClO₂ if necessary.

The starting point is the selection of an appropriate method that will effectively arrive at the assumed outcome and determine the feasibility of the task. This can be achieved through water quality tests directly at the customer's premises with a mobile set.

The attached photographs show samples of washings from a swimming pool (Fig. 3) and a saline jacuzzi (Fig. 4), and the water after passing through the installation. Water quality tests include such parameters as: the number of *Escherichia coli*, the number of coagulase-positive staphylococci, the number of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, and the total number of microorganisms in $36 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C. According to the Regulation of the Minister of Health of 2017 [45], water in a swimming pool must meet the same requirements as drinking water. The results of microbiological analyses are assessed in a 0/1 system where 0 means that the water meets the standards, while 1 means that the standards provided for in the Regulation are not met, so the water is unfit for consumption.



Fig. 4 Saline jacuzzi washings (a) and recovered water (b)

5.3 Economic Benefits of the Solution

Each installation is designed individually for each facility. This study presents economic calculations made in 2019 for four swimming pool facilities (Table 1).

Investments in process water recovery installations in swimming pool facilities pay for themselves within a period of over a year to a maximum of 3 years, depending on the volume of water used, the amount of washings disposed of, the price of water, wastewater, and the price of the heating agent used to heat the water. Of pivotal importance is the economic calculation, and it shows that thanks to the operation of modern installations, the cost of water, wastewater disposal, and heat energy required to heat water is reduced by up to 75%.

The above summary gives an example of how much water can be saved. Assuming that there are 1,700 indoor swimming pool facilities in Poland and each of them pours about 15,000 m³ of water into the sewage system each year, this gives a total of 25,500,000 m³ of water, i.e. over 61 million USD (250 million PLN) on average. The replenished water must be heated on average by 20°C, which uses about 2,200,000 GJ of heat. Its production releases 198,000 Mg/CO₂ (tons of CO₂) into the atmosphere. In short, the amount of water wasted only during the operation of swimming pools would meet the needs of a city with a population of 100,000 for more than a year (on average, a resident of Poland uses 24 m³ of drinking water). Meanwhile, the proposed treatment technology helps the environment and the

	; - -		- -		, - -			
	P001 1		Pool 2		P001 3		Pool 4	
		With the		With the		With the		With the
		designed		designed		designed		designed
Parameters of process water		recovery		recovery		recovery		recovery
recovery installations	Currently	installation	Currently	installation	Currently	installation	Currently	installation
Net price of UF installation (\$)		414,634		53,659		73,171		60,976
Monthly amount of wastewater entering the UF installation (m^3)		9,150		950		1,500		1,200
month)								
Percentage of water recovered from		0.85		0.85		0.85		0.85
wasicwalci								
Amount of water recovered per month (m ³ /month)		7,778		808		1,275		1,080
The cost of operating the UF instal- lation per m ³ of wastewater intro-		0.56		0.56		0.56		0.56
duced into the installation (\$/m ³								
The cost of operating the UF instal-		0.66		0.66		0.66		0.66
lation per m ² of recovered water (\$/m ³)								
Fees for water abstraction and		Fee		Fee		Fee		Fee
wastewater discharge								
Net price of water from the network $(\$/m^3)$		1.09		1.14		1.47		0.81
Price for wastewater disposal (\$/m3)		1.68		1.32		2.08		1.66
The cost of heating water by 19°C (\$/m ³)		1.05		1.18		1.03		0.95
Total cost of water abstracted and		3.82		3.64		4.59		3.42
discharged and the cost of its heating $(\$/m^3)$								

 Table 1
 Investment analysis for four swimming pool facilities (based on Lumi-tech data)

Best Practices in Wastewater Management in Poland with Particular Emphasis									49	9							
With installation	4	6,695	8,078	42,629	9,769	34,551	22	With	installation	6,695	8,078	14,773	17,275	32,049	Savings	1,239	(continued)
		49,324						Currently		49,324	I	49,324	1	49,324			
With installation	4	15,313	10,098	67,362	12,094	57,265	16	With	installation	15,313	10,098	25,411	28,632	54,043	Savings	1,463	
		82,676						Currently		82,676	I	82,676	I	82,676			
With installation	4	7,424	6,395	34,027	9,612	27,632	24	With	installation	7,424	6,395	13,819	13,816	27,635	Savings	875	
		41,451						Currently		41,451	I	41,451	I	41,451			
With installation	16	72,704	53,561	346,422	83,157	292,861	17	With	installation	72,704	53,561	126,265	41,463	167,728	Savings	6,995	
Currently		419,126	1	1	I	I	1	Currently		419,126	I	419,126	I	419,126			
Basic parameters and calculations	Amount of wastewater processed by the installation (m^3/h)	Annual cost of water abstraction, wastewater disposal, and water heating in basins (\$)	Annual operating cost of the UF installation (\$)	Annual savings on water abstrac- tion, wastewater, and heating (\$)	Annual energy outcome (savings) (PLN) (\$)	Annual savings on expenses with UF installation (\$)	Payback period of the UF installa- tion (months)	Comparison of the current and	future situation – Annually	Cost of water abstraction, wastewa- ter disposal and heating (\$)	Cost of operating the UF installation (\$)	Cash expenses (\$)	Deprectation of the UF installation (10% per year) (\$)	Charge to the accounting result (\$)	Quality factors of the UF installa- tion – annually	Heat savings (GJ)	

Table 1 (continued)								
	Pool 1		Pool 2		Pool 3		Pool 4	
		With the		With the		With the		With the
		designed		designed		designed		designed
Parameters of process water		recovery		recovery		recovery		recovery
recovery installations	Currently	installation	Currently	installation	Currently	installation	Currently	installation
Reduction of CO ₂ emissions		585		74		124		106
Water savings (m^3)		93,330		9,690		15,300		12,960
Reduction of the volume of		93,330		9,690		15,300		12,960
discharged wastewater (m ³)								
Summary								
Installation cost including financial		353,449		46,510		61,220		50,853
bonus from the sale of White Cer- tificates (\$)								
Payback period including financial		14		20		13		18
bonus from the sale of White Cer- tificates (months)								
Amount increasing the accounting result (Syyear)		257,517		22,981		51,143		29,465

1 \$USD exchange rate 4.1 PLN

Table 1 (continued)

pockets of facility managers and owners, who can save over 85% of the costs associated with water abstraction, wastewater discharge, and water heating. For the time being, however, local governments, which are most often the operators of swimming pools or Aquaparks, are not interested in this or are probing the topic. They show far-reaching distrust of new technologies, hiding behind regulations and the fact that water used in swimming pools must be drinking water. And in fact, it is only potable at the entry into the tank where it is prepared before being discharged to the pool basin. It should be noted that currently the cost of building an indoor swimming pool, depending on the standard, size, number, and type of swimming pool basins and other attractions, ranges from ten to several hundred million PLN for aquapark facilities, and the estimated monthly maintenance cost of the facility starts at 12–14 thousand \$USD (about 50–60 thousand PLN).

6 Summary

Poland's water resources are small compared to other European countries. There still is a conviction among Polish citizens that since Poland has a well-developed river and lake network, and groundwater resources, the problem of water shortage is not important. The increase in awareness of the Polish society is very slow and unfortunately it is connected with the droughts that have swept the country in recent years. The main problem in the use of water resources and wastewater treatment is the lack of appropriate legal standards governing the design and operation of water recovery installations. Water recovery is not only important for environmental protection, but can also bring measurable financial benefits. The use of recycled water will reduce both the need for drinking water and the generation of wastewater.

As a case study, the authors presented the possibilities of recovering water from washings from sand filters in swimming pools using the original Lumi-ultra solution. As the presented economic analyses show, the water recovery system is a financially advantageous option for swimming pool facilities. The investment payback period can range from over a year to about 3 years. The system can be successfully used in buildings such as hotels and spas. Unfortunately, high installation costs still do not allow for the spread of this technology in households. In many cases it requires state support and should be part of a long-term policy on wastewater treatment and water recovery. The activities should first of all be addressed to industry as the largest water user in Poland. However, not all production plants are aware of the extent to which it is possible to reduce the costs associated with water abstraction and wastewater disposal using modern water treatment technologies. Agriculture will also potentially benefit from water reuse. The recovered water can be employed for watering crops. Such solutions have been used for a long time in Israel, Spain, Italy, Greece, the United States, and Mexico, among other countries. Solutions of this type are not widely used in Poland. A wide range of educational and informational activities in this area are therefore advisable.

7 Recommendations

The content of this chapter is important for sustainable water management on a local and regional scale in Poland. The information presented is addressed to water users, designers, and decision-makers responsible for developing appropriate wastewater treatment policies. Making decision-makers aware of the technical possibilities of water recovery, installation costs, and the lack of legal solutions will indicate the directions of work that will help to fill the gaps in this area. The support of the state administration and the establishment of a multi-annual programme will allow greater interest in modernising existing water installations and building new facilities using new water recovery technology. These activities will contribute to the increased interest of users and designers and, consequently, to the improvement of water quality in the environment.

References

- Hu P, Chen N, Li Y, Qiwei Xie Q (2018) Efficiency evaluation of water consumption in a Chinese Province-level region based on data envelopment analysis. Water 10(6):793. https:// doi.org/10.3390/w10060793
- 2. Bower KM (2014) Water supply and sanitation of Costa Rica. Environ Earth Sci 71:107–123. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12665-013-2416-x
- 3. Kubiak-Wójcicka K, Kielik M (2020) The state of water and wastewater management in Poland. In: Zelenakova M, Kubiak-Wójcicka K, Negm A (eds) Water resources management in Poland, part II, quality. Springer (in print)
- 4. Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 October 2000
- 5. Urban Wastewater Directive (91/271/EEC)
- 6. Council Directive 98/83/EC of 3 November 1998
- 7. https://www.eea.europa.eu/pl/sygna142y/sygnaly-2018/artykuly/zuzycie-wody-weuropie-2014
- Kubiak-Wójcicka K (2020) Assessment of water resources in Poland. In: Zelenakova M, Kubiak-Wójcicka K, Negm A (eds) Water resources management in Poland, part II, quality. Springer (in print)
- Kubiak-Wójcicka K, Bąk B (2018) Monitoring of meteorological and hydrological droughts in the Vistula basin (Poland). Environ Monit Assess 190:691. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-018-7058-8
- Kuśmierek-Tomaszewska R, Dudek S, Żarski J, Januszewska-Klapa K (2018) Temporal variability of drought in field crops in the region of Kujawsko-Pomorskie, Poland. Res Rural Dev 2:62–68. https://doi.org/10.22616/rrd.24.2018.052
- Kubiak-Wójcicka K (2019) The course of hydrological drought in the river Drawa catchment (northern Poland) as characterized by the standardized runoff index. AIP Conf Proc 2186: 120004. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.5138035
- 12. Kubiak-Wójcicka K, Piątkowski K (2015) Analiza zmian poboru wody w woj. kujawsko-pomorskim na tle kraju [Analysis of changes in water abstraction in the Kujawsko-Pomorskie Voivodeship against the background of the country]. Ecol Technol XXIII 5:397–304
- National Urban Wastewater Treatment Programme. https://www.kzgw.gov.pl/index.php/pl/ materialy-informacyjne/programy/krajowy-program-oczyszczania-sciekow-komunalnych

- National development strategy 2020 active society, competitive economy, efficient state, Warsaw, September 2012. "Monitor Polski" Warsaw, 22 November 2012, item 882
- 15. Long-term national development strategy 2030. The third wave of modernity. Ministry of Administration and Digitisation. Warsaw 9 November 2012
- 16. Local Data Bank of the Central Statistical Office of Poland. https://bdl.stat.gov.pl/BDL/start
- 17. Environmental Protection (2018) Statistical analyses. Warsaw
- Krzanowski S, Wałęga A (2007) New technologies of small domestic sewage volume treatment applied in Poland. Infrastruct Ecol Rural Areas 3:69–78. http://www.infraeco.pl/pl/art/a_15103. htm?plik=292
- Marzec M (2017) Reliability of removal of selected pollutants in different technological solutions of household wastewater treatment plants. J Water Land Dev 35(X–XII):141–148. https://doi.org/10.1515/jwld-2017-0078
- Pawlita-Posmyk M, Wzorek M (2017) Domestic sewage treatment plant or ecological septic tank. Tech Trans 5:195–203. https://doi.org/10.4467/2353737XCT.17.081.6438
- Kruszelnicka I, Ginter-Kramarczyk D, Wyrwas B, Idkowiak J (2019) Evaluation of surfactant removal efficiency in selected domestic wastewater treatment plants in Poland. J Environ Health Sci Eng 17:1257–1264. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40201-019-00387-6
- 22. Boruszko D, Piotrowski P, Miłaszewski R (2013) Ocena ekonomicznej efektywności komunalnej oczyszczalni ścieków w gminie Sokoły [Evaluation of the economic efficiency of the municipal wastewater treatment plant in the Sokoły commune]. Rocznik Ochrony Środowiska 15:1086–1097
- 23. Błażejewski R (2003) Kanalizacja wsi [Village sewage system]. Polish Association of Sanitary Engineers and Technicians, Poznań
- Karolinczak B (2014) Zastosowanie indywidualnych oczyszczalni ścieków w niekorzystnych warunkach gruntowo-wodnych [Application of individual wastewater treatment systems in unfavourable soil and water conditions]. Inżynieria Ekologiczna 40:129–136. https://doi.org/ 10.12912/2081139X.76
- 25. Jawecki B, Pawęska K, Sobota M (2017) Operating household wastewater treatment plants in the light of binding quality standards for wastewater discharged to water bodies or to soil. J Water Land Dev 32:31–39. https://doi.org/10.1515/jwld-2017-0004
- 26. Pawełek J, Bugajski P (2017) Rozwój przydomowych oczyszczalni ścieków w Polsce- zalety i wady rozwiązań [The development of household wastewater treatment systems in Poland – advantages and disadvantages]. Acta Sci Pol Formatio Circumiectus 16(2):3–14. https://doi. org/10.15576/ASP.FC/2017.16.2.3
- 27. Act on collective water supply and collective wastewater disposal of 7 June 2001 (Journal of Laws of 2019, item 1437, 1495)
- 28. Water Law Act of 20 July 2017 (Journal of Laws of 2020, item 310)
- 29. Kowal A, Świderska-Bróż M (2007) Oczyszczanie wody [Water treatment]. Wydawnictwo Naukowe PWN, Warsaw
- 30. Nawrocki J (2010) Uzdatnianie wody [Water processing]. Wydawnictwo Naukowe PWN, Warsaw
- 31. Ryschka J (2015) Analiza procesu biologicznego oczyszczania ścieków w warunkach ich nierównomiernego dopływu i zróżnicowanego ich składu [Analysis of the process of biological wastewater treatment in conditions of its uneven inflow and varied composition]. Technologia Wody 3(41):34–40
- Miksch K, Sikora J (2010) Biotechnologia ścieków [Wastewater biotechnology]. Wydawnictwo Naukowe PWN, Warsaw
- 33. Matamoros V, Rodríguez Y, Albaigés J (2018) A comparative assessment of intensive and extensive wastewater treatment technologies for removing emerging contaminants in small communities. Water Res 88:777–785. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2015.10.058
- 34. Reyes Contreras C, López D, Leiva AM, Dominguez C, Bayona JM, Vidal G (2019) Removal of organic micropollutants in wastewater treated by activated sludge and constructed wetlands: a comparative study. Water 11:2515. https://doi.org/10.3390/w11122515

- 35. Barbusiński K (2016) Innowacyjne technologie oczyszczania ścieków komunalnych kierunki rozwoju [Innovative technologies of municipal wastewater treatment – directions of development]. Napędy i sterowanie 1:40–45
- 36. Gorazda K, Tarko B, Werle S, Wzorek Z (2018) Sewage sludge as a fuel and raw material for phosphorus recovery: combined process of gasification and P extraction. Waste Manag 73:404– 415. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2017.10.032
- 37. Khaliq SJA, Ahmed M, Al-Wardy M, Al-Busaidi A, Choudri BS (2017) Wastewater and sludge management and research in Oman: an overview. J Air Waste Manage Assoc 67(3):267–278. https://doi.org/10.1080/10962247.2016.1243595
- 38. Regulation of the Minister of Health of 9 November 2015 on the requirements to be met by water in swimming pools
- Act on the State Sanitary Inspectorate of 14 March 1985 (Journal of Laws 2015, No. 12, item 49)
- 40. Act on the safety of persons staying in water areas of 18 August 2011 (Journal of Laws 2011, No. 208, item 1240)
- 41. Chief Sanitary Inspectorate. https://stansanitarny.gis.gov.pl/index.php/rozdzial/plywalnie
- 42. The sanitary condition of the country in 2018 (2019) Chief Sanitary Inspectorate, Warsaw
- Wyczarska-Kokot J (2013a) Nowoczesne i innowacyjne technologie oczyszczania wody basenowej [Modern and innovative technologies of swimming pool water purification] (part 1). Rynek Instalacyjny 1–2:75–78
- Wyczarska-Kokot J (2013b) Nowoczesne i innowacyjne technologie oczyszczania wody basenowej [Modern and innovative technologies of swimming pool water purification] (part 2). Rynek Instalacyjny 3:70–75
- 45. Regulation of the Minister of Health of 7 December 2017 on the quality of water intended for human consumption (Dz. U 2017, item 2294)

Towards the Global Rise of Zero Liquid Discharge for Wastewater Management: The Mining Industry Case in Chile



Sergio Santoro, Ahmet H. Avci, Marco Aquino, Lorenzo Pugliese, Salvatore Straface, and Efrem Curcio

Contents

Water-Energy-Raw Materials Nexus in Chile	506
Water Provision and Brine in Chilean Mining Industry	507
Mine Tailings and Acid Mine Drainage (AMD) in Chile	508
Membrane Technology: A Key Technology for the Implementation of the Paradigms	
of Zero Liquid Discharge (ZLD) and the Circular Economy in Chilean Mining	
Industry	510
Solar-Driven Membrane Distillation (MD) for a Sustainable Water Management	511
Membrane Technologies: A New Route for Mining from Wastewater	513
Outlooks	514
ferences	515
	Water-Energy-Raw Materials Nexus in Chile

Abstract The depletion of water has been recognized as the most pressing challenge to socioeconomic and human development. The implementation of Zero Liquid Discharge strategies is essential to drive the transition from linear to circular water management.

Mining ventures require enormous amounts of water and energy in the extraction and transformation phases while generating tremendous volumes of wastewater with a detrimental impact on the environment. By modernization of mining process and implantation of novel technologies (i.e., membrane technologies), there are opportunities such as reduction of water and energy consumption, and extraction of water and valuable components from mine tailings.

Mahmoud Nasr and Abdelazim M. Negm (eds.),

S. Santoro (🖂), A. H. Avci, M. Aquino, S. Straface, and E. Curcio

Department of Environmental Engineering, University of Calabria, Arcavacata di Rende, Italy e-mail: sergio.santoro@unical.it; marco.aquino@unical.it; salvatore.straface@unical.it; e.curcio@unical.it

L. Pugliese

Department of Agroecology, Aarhus University, Tjele, Denmark e-mail: lorenzo.pugliese@agro.au.dk

Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems, Hdb Env Chem (2023) 118: 505–518, DOI 10.1007/698_2021_785, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021, Published online: 14 August 2021

For instance, Chile, an arid country experiencing a mega drought, has established the mining sector as the central pillar of its sustainable economic development. However, the intensive mining activities have exacerbated the water-energy nexus. Therefore, a new approach for optimization of water and energy consumption is a necessity for Chile.

This chapter provides the prospects of the exploitation of membrane technologies in the Chilean mining industry, coherently with the Zero-Liquid Discharge paradigm. Besides the traditional practices for freshwater production and remediation, possible applicable strategies are discussed taking into account the recent achievements in membrane technologies for the wastewater valorization by the recovery of valuable minerals.

Keywords Antiscaling agents, Circular economy, Desalination, Reverse osmosis, Zero liquid discharge

1 Water-Energy-Raw Materials Nexus in Chile

Water crisis represents one of the most severe global challenges of our time imposing to find a balance between the economic and the demographic growth and the water footprint of humanity [1, 2]. Under this scenario, Chile calls for more attention as figurehead in the mining sector (in particular as largest Copper producer) experiencing a dramatic mega-drought (Fig. 1a) [3, 4]. Despite the mining sector is a pillar of the Chilean economy accounting since the 1960 from 5 to 15% of the gross domestic product (GDP), of which 88% raises from Copper production, extraction activities put intense pressure on the water-energy nexus because of the enormous demands required in the extraction and transformation phases [5]. In fact, water is essential in different stages of mining activities such as dust suppression, mineral processing, mainly for grinding and flotation, and hydrometallurgical extractions. Moreover, the water management in mining sector is based on the linear economy producing 1.6 million tons of tailings every day in Chile implying dire environmental risks, such as acidification and heavy metal contamination of ground-water [6].

The alarming future scenario foresees a deficit of water resources in the coming 30 years [9-11] caused by the negative trend in rainfall (-40%) observed in the last decade [12] coupled with an increase of around 4.5% in consumptive water use by 2030 [13]. As a result, a socio-environmental conflict and the rise of a popular resistance to mining ventures are inevitable [14]. Antofagasta region represents a good example to describe the picture of the situation since copper extraction contributes to the 65% of the local GDP demanding the 59% and the 91% of regional water and electricity consumption, respectively [8] (Fig. 1b).

Definitively, the water crisis imposes an urgent need to rethink the Chilean copper mining chain from water provision to wastewater treatment with the aim to integrate



Fig. 1 (a) Climatic maps and water supply of Chile [7]. Available under a Creative Commons Attribution License. Water (b) and electricity (c) demand in different economic sectors in the Antofagasta region (data from [8])

sustainable water management solutions. Herein, we describe a series of membrane technologies reaching the maturity to alleviate the water-energy nexus and to implement the paradigms of the zero liquid discharge (ZLD) and circular economy in Chilean copper mining industry.

2 Water Provision and Brine in Chilean Mining Industry

Desalination technology, in particular reverse osmosis (RO), is widely recognized as a sustainable and feasible solution to address water scarcity. Recently, Chilean institutions have launched a 5-year strategic plan able to guarantee an improvement of freshwater production from seawater from 5.6 m³ s⁻¹ to 14.5 m³ s⁻¹ [15]. This challenging goal will be achieved due to the development of 22 new desalination projects added to the 23 active plants. Overall, the long-term programming forecasts that seawater consumption will expand up to 47% by 2030 [16, 17] (Fig. 2).

RO dominates the business of the desalination because of its technical, economical, and energetic feasibility in comparison with thermal evaporative processes. However, valid concerns have recently arisen about the severe negative impacts of RO on the environment. In fact, the osmotic pressure and the concentration polarization phenomena limit the water recovery factor at values less than 50% resulting



Fig. 2 Forecast of water provision and consumption by the Chilean copper mining industry 2019–2030 (data from [16])

in the production of enormous volume of hypersaline solutions (e.g. brine) as byproduct. Brine is usually discharged into the ocean causing detrimental environmental effects due to its high salinity, superior temperature with respect to the seawater, and presence of chemicals (i.e. antiscaling agents) [18, 19].

A look at available data helps to understand the seriousness of the situation: $1.6 \text{ Mm}^3 \text{ day}^{-1}$ of brine was directly discharged into the sea between 1997 and 2018 by Chilean desalination plants [20]. Moreover, the topography of Chile amplifies the question related to the energetic sustainability of desalination since the mining sites in Northern Chile are located at high altitudes. Thus, pumping freshwater from coastal area drastically increases the energetic demand of the mining industry.

Concisely, the cost for pumping to Chilean mining sites (adsorbing nearly 90% of the energy input) accounts for 77.4% of the desalination process [21] raising the freshwater production cost to US\$ 5.00 per cubic meter, one of the highest value in the world [22]. These stressing issues encourage a step change in desalination for water supply to Chilean mines and ores by potentially improving the water recovery factor and minimizing the environmental impact and the energetic footprint of RO.

3 Mine Tailings and Acid Mine Drainage (AMD) in Chile

Mining activities generate significant amounts of highly concentrated wastewater disposed in tailings dams or stored in impoundments. Chile produces 1,400,000 tons day⁻¹ of mine tailings and ca. 8,300 million m³ of tail slurry that are presently

Element	Ionic form	Concentration range [mg L ⁻¹]
Aluminum	Al ³⁺	5–1,500
Arsenic	AsT	0–3
Calcium	Ca ²⁺	50-400
Carbonates	CO3 ²⁻	0–50
Chloride	Cl ⁻	0–200
Copper	Cu ²⁺	60–2,500
Total iron	FeT	0-800
Magnesium	Mg ²⁺	100-800
Manganese	Mn ²⁺	5–350
Potassium	K ⁺	0–10
Sodium	Na ⁺	0–15
Zinc	Zn ²⁺	0–200
Sulfate	SO4 ²⁻	800–16,000
pH	-	2–6
Total dissolved solids	-	1,500-22,000

 Table 1
 AMD composition from Chilean mining industries [27]

disposed in 742 tailing deposits [23], hitting over 915 million tons per year in 2026 [24].

Severe apprehensions emerged about tailings generated from metal-sulfide mines containing large amounts of non-valuable sulfide minerals, able to generate acid mine drainage (AMD) in water upon the exposure to oxygen. As an example, chalcopyrite, the major source of copper, oxidates according to the following reaction [25]:

$$2\text{CuFeS}_{2(s)} + \frac{17}{2}\text{O}_2 + 5\text{H}_2\text{O} \rightarrow 2\text{Cu}^{2+} + 2\text{Fe}(\text{OH})_{3(s)} + 4\text{SO}_4^{2-} + 4\text{H}^+.$$
(1)

AMD is a serious environmental problem because of its acidic nature (pH in the range of 2–4) and the leaching of hazardous heavy metals and toxic metalloids with adverse impact on the aquatic ecosystems [26, 27], whereas AMD soil infiltrations lead to serious implications for plant growth and human health [28] (Table 1).

Washing steps for the flue gas and/or the treatment of flue dust in smelting plant are another source of wastewater characterized by high acidity and the presence of heavy metals such as arsenic, usually neutralized by lime and resulting in a massive production of waste sludge [29, 30].

In the last decade the Chilean institutional framework has been committed to protect the environment by imposing stringent standards aiming to mitigate the environmental footprint of mining industry [31]. However, AMD is a worldwide problem and solely a radical rethinking of their disposal will meet the global challenge of a sustainable mining industry.
4 Membrane Technology: A Key Technology for the Implementation of the Paradigms of Zero Liquid Discharge (ZLD) and the Circular Economy in Chilean Mining Industry

Brine and AMD have been erroneously recognized for a long time as high volumelow value waste. Recently, water crisis and the urgent need for sustainability have changed this perception and both brine and AMD have been considered as valuable resources of water, minerals, and energy.

In fact, brines from RO are essentially concentrated seawater (salt concentration: $44.0-75.2 \text{ g L}^{-1}$, twice concentrated than seawater) containing basically almost all elements of the periodic table dissolved in water [32]. Similarly, mine tailings are rich of valuable minerals (among them critical raw materials such as rare earths, vanadium, and antimony) and recent studies demonstrated the feasibility to recover sulfuric acid from AMD [33].

Mechanical/thermal evaporation is economically and energetically prohibitive, whereas well-established and innovative membrane technologies have paved the way for a sustainable post-treatment and valorization of brines and AMD aimed to recover a large amount of water and valuable minerals from waste effluents according to the zero liquid discharge (ZLD) paradigm [34]. An economic assessment carried out by the Ministry of Mining of Chile estimated a profit of US\$ ten million per one million tons of post-treated tailing with a tremendous economic impact considering the 525 million tons of tailings produced each year by mining sites [35].

Noteworthy, mining is an energy intensive industry with a considerable carbon footprint demanding roughly one-fifth of the total electricity consumption in Chile [36]. Conversely, Chile ratified the Paris Agreement and committed to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 30% from 2007 levels by 2030 [37]. This challenging goal will be achieved by the reduction of the energy demand of mining ventures by the rational exploitation of renewable energy; mostly considering that Chile has the best worldwide solar energy potential for energy generation reaching an irradiation of 9–10 kWh m⁻² per day in the northern regions [37]. With this in mind, membrane technology plays a key role because of their low carbon and energy footprint, easy integration with traditional renewable energy, and the unprecedented opportunity to generate blue energy from brine by exploiting their superior salinity [38, 39].

Hence, membrane technologies opened up new horizons to implement the ZLD strategies in Chilean mining industry (Fig. 3) ensuring a suitable water management and its valorization through the production of:

- 1. Water from tailings and hyper-concentrated brine via solar-driven membrane distillation (MD);
- 2. Valuable raw materials from AMD, thanks to the implementation of membrane crystallization (MCr).



Fig. 3 Membrane technologies for wastewater valorization according to ZLD and circular economy

5 Solar-Driven Membrane Distillation (MD) for a Sustainable Water Management

A MD process is considered as a membrane-thermal hybrid process because water is firstly vaporized at 50–70 °C and then permeates through the micro-porosity of the membrane, whereas the hydrophobicity of membrane surface ensures the rejection of liquid water and dissolved non-volatile salts. On the basis of the principle of condensation, MD can be categorized into four main configurations: (1) direct contact MD (DCMD), (2) air gap MD (AGMD), (3) sweeping gas MD (SGMD), and (4) vacuum MD (VMD).

The low sensitivity of MD towards the high salinity offers a unique opportunity in brine post-treatment according to the ZLD paradigm. In fact, MD easily treats feed solution with a salinity up to 350,000 mg L^{-1} (one order of magnitude higher than seawater) [40], ensuring as a consequence a water recovery factor of 90% [41]. Roughly, the cost for water production via DCMD with heat recovery is 1.17 \$ m⁻³ [42].

Analogously, MD has been recently investigated to AMD and acid rock drainage (ARD) treatment opening the door for a shift of paradigm from linear to circular economy reaching water recovery factor of 80% (Table 2). Interestingly, the

Feed	Membrane	J [kg m ^{-2} h ^{-1}]	Water recovery (%)	Ref.
Synthetic AMD	PTFE	14.5	80	[43]
Synthetic AMD	PTFE/PP	20-36	>80	[44]
Synthetic ARD	PVDF	38	80	[45]
Synthetic AMD	PVDF	2.5	50	[46]
Gold-mining effluent ^a	PTFE	14–10	80	[47]

Table 2 Performance of DCMD in water recovery from mining wastewater

^aPre-treatment: ultrafiltration



Fig. 4 (a) Temperature polarization in DCMD; (b) Reversing of temperature polarization due to photothermal effect in DCMD

retentate consists of concentrated valuable materials and the versatility of MD guarantees their recovery by the integration with other technologies. For instance, DCMD ensured a recovery of 80% of water from AMD obtaining a retentate concentrated more than 2.5 fold in terms of Cu concentration, subsequently absorbed by mesoporous silica tailored with Mn and amine to enhance the adsorption capacity and selectivity [43]. Analogously, the integration of DCMD with solvent extraction (SX) enabled the effective recovery of water and H_2SO_4 [44].

DCMD dominates with respect to other configurations because the condensation is obtained by basically flowing the cold distillate directly in contact with the membrane (Table 2). On the other side, the implementation at large scale of MD processes, included DCMD, is hampered by the thermal polarization phenomenon caused by the heat losses due to the vaporization of the water and the thermal conductivity of the membrane [48, 49] (Fig. 4a). In the last decades efforts have been focused on the exploitation of the solar energy converted into heat by solar collector to satisfy the energetic demand of MD (30.6–241.8 kWh m⁻³) [50]. A single loop solar stand-alone AGMD set-up (membrane area 10 m^2) equipped with a solar collector of 5.73 m², used to supply the energy required for heating and pumping the feed, proved to produce 120 L day^{-1} of freshwater [51].

Interestingly, the recent achievements of thermoplasmonics in membrane technology have radically changed the perception of heat harvesting: photothermal materials immobilized into/onto the membranes efficiently absorb the radiation and guarantee high light-to-heat conversion heating in situ the membrane surface [52], reversing the temperature polarization (Fig. 4b).

A pioneering study of Politano et al. (2017) proved the advantages of implementing thermoplasmonics in MD processes: Ag nanoparticles dispersed into PVDF acted as hot-spots resulting in a boosting of the process performance [53]. In fact, the flux increased by 11 times under the exposure of the resonant UV radiation because the light-to-heat conversion at membrane surface ensured a reversing of the thermal polarization opening unprecedented horizon for a sustainable solar-driven MD. Since then, efforts have been devoted to improve the economic and technological feasibility of photothermal MD by the employment of inexpensive materials able to convert the natural radiation [54, 55].

6 Membrane Technologies: A New Route for Mining from Wastewater

Although desalination has strengthened the water-energy nexus in Chile, freshwater production from wastewater is currently more cost-beneficial (US\$ 0.40-1.26 m⁻³) [56]. Traditional pressure-driven processes, such as RO or nanofiltration (NF), were found to be beneficial in AMD wastewater treatment, process water reusing, and metal recovery. A critical assessment clarified that NF is preferable to RO because of superior flux combined with lower operating pressure and excellent rejection over multivalent ions [57]. For instance, NF showed higher flux (86.6 L m⁻² h⁻¹) with respect to RO (10 L m⁻² h⁻¹) in treating wastewater from a Brazilian gold-mining company [58]. From an economic point of view, US\$ 131,250 of total capital cost (CAPEX) are required for NF system with a total operational cost (OPEX) of 0.263 US\$ per m^{-3} of treated effluent [58]. Similarly, systematic studies demonstrated the opportunity to treat via NF 100 kL h⁻¹ of AMD (typical flow rate of mine water treatment plant) recovering more than 57 kg h^{-1} of \mbox{Cu}^{2+} and the 70% of water [59]. Unfortunately, the long-term stability of NF in AMD treatment is limited by the fouling and the scaling, especially related to precipitation of calcium and magnesium sparingly soluble salts, hindering the economic feasibility at large scale [60]. From a practical point of view, studies demonstrated the opportunity of the production of vanadium pentoxide by the valorization of Chilean mine tailings for an investment of 14 years with a return rate of US\$ 76 million [6].

In this scenario, an emerging application is membrane crystallization (MCr) able to ensure a precise control on the supersaturation and the subsequent crystallization of the solutes leading to the recovery of dissolved salts by taking the advantage of the mechanism of working of MD characterized by low sensitivity to feed concentration. In fact the morphological and physico-chemical properties of the membrane (e.g. porosity, contact angle, and roughness) represent a unique and powerful tool to control the kinetics of crystallization, thanks to the heterogeneous nucleation on the polymeric surfaces [61, 62]. MCr was found to be beneficial in the recovery of a wide variety of salts, such as NaCl, $MgSO_4 \cdot 7H_2O$, Na_2SO_4 , and LiCl, from seawater and brine [63–65].

Also the selective diffusion of ions through ion exchange membranes was explored to induce the crystallization: Nafion N-117 cation exchange membrane facilitates the transport of Ca^{2+} into Na₂CO₃ solution driving the crystallization of tube-structured CaCO₃ on its surface [66].

In general, the immobilization of carriers into/onto the membranes for the ion target facilitates their transport and therefore their recovery. In the case of supported liquid membranes (SLMs) the polymeric membranes play the passive role to support the organic stripping phase (i.e. alkaline tertiary and quaternary amines or thiadiazine derivatives, acidic and chelating extractants, neutral or solvating carriers, and ionic liquids) dispersed in appropriate solvent (typically kerosene, toluene, n-dodecane, etc.). Despite their efficiency in the extraction of heavy metals and rare-earth elements from hydrometallurgical wastewaters [67], the leaching of the carrier from the membrane hampered their practical exploitation. Anchoring the carrier to the polymeric structure is the solution to ensure long-term stability offered by polymer inclusion membranes (PIMs) [68], whereas plasticizers may play the role to improve the flexibility and the homogeneity of the membrane [69]. Mixed matrix membranes (MMMs) consist in alternative candidates based on the immobilization of inorganic active fillers into the membrane. Among the myriad of inorganic nanoparticles, metal-organic frameworks (MOFs) have gained more attention because of their hybrid organic-inorganic nature based on metal ions and bridging organic ligands organized in well-defined structure with chemically tailored nanochannels [70, 71]. The promising recent results in removing metal ions (e.g. Cu^{2+} and Pb^{2+}) [72, 73] or in the recovery of valuable metals such as Au [74] from wastewater combined with the facile routes of synthesis and modification of MOFs has increased the confidence in the scalability of MMMs.

7 Outlooks

The growing Chilean water crisis affected by the mining footprint and the megadrought imposes the urgent need to identify sustainable solutions to drive the transition from linear to circular blue economy. Even though copper extraction has relevant weight on the Chilean GDP, the depreciation of water bodies and the detrimental environmental impacts related to AMD disposal expose the mining companies to social resistance and restrictive policies. Desalination technologies, particularly RO, have been adopted to mitigate issues related to water provision, but serious environmental concerns emerged about the effect of brine disposal on the marine ecosystem.

Membrane technology has the potentials to implement circular practices in treating brine, AMD, and mining effluents ensuring high recovering factor according to the ZLD paradigm. Moreover, MCr has recently emerged as a feasible route for the recovery of valuable minerals from wastewater ensuring extra-profit, whereas

innovative nanotechnologies such as thermoplasmonics and MOFs will play a key role to favor the exploitation of the renewable solar energy and to enhance the selective recovery, respectively.

Overall, the evaluation of membrane technologies for mining wastewater valorization is in an early stage but the promising results demonstrated their relevant position in the blue growth of the copper mining industry of Chile.

References

- Drioli E, Santoro S, Simone S et al (2014) ECTFE membrane preparation for recovery of humidified gas streams using membrane condenser. React Funct Polym 79:1–7. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.reactfunctpolym.2014.03.003
- Brunetti A, Santoro S, Macedonio F et al (2014) Waste gaseous streams: from environmental issue to source of water by using membrane condensers. Clean (Weinh) 42:1145–1153. https:// doi.org/10.1002/clen.201300104
- 3. Comisión Nacional de Productividad (2017) La productividad en Chile: una mirada a largo plazo
- Taucare M, Daniele L, Viguier B et al (2020) Groundwater resources and recharge processes in the Western Andean front of Central Chile. Sci Total Environ 722:137824. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.scitotenv.2020.137824
- 5. Medina JP (2018) Mining development and macroeconomic spillovers in Chile. Resour Policy 70:101217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resourpol.2018.06.008
- Kinnunen PHM, Kaksonen AH (2019) Towards circular economy in mining: opportunities and bottlenecks for tailings valorization. J Clean Prod 228:153–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jclepro.2019.04.171
- Villamar C-A, Vera-Puerto I, Rivera D, la Hoz F (2018) Reuse and recycling of livestock and municipal wastewater in Chilean agriculture: a preliminary assessment. Water 10. https://doi. org/10.3390/w10060817
- Meza FJ, Vicuna S, Gironás J et al (2015) Water–food–energy nexus in Chile: the challenges due to global change in different regional contexts. Water Int 40:839–855. https://doi.org/10. 1080/02508060.2015.1087797
- 9. Ministerio de Medio Ambiente (2014) Plan Nacional de Adaptación al Cambio Climático. Santiago, Chile
- 10. Dirección General de Aguas (2018) Aplicación de la metodología de actualización del balance hídrico nacional en las cuencas de las macrozonas norte y centro. SIT N° 435. Santiago, Chile
- 11. Dirección General de Aguas (2019) Aplicación de la metodología de actualización del balance hídrico nacional en la macrozona sur y parte norte de la macrozona Austral, SIT N° 441. Santiago, Chile
- 12. McPhee J, De la Fuente A, Herrera P et al (2012) El sector del agua en Chile: su estado y sus retos in Diagnòstico del agua en las amèricas. Foro Consultivo Científico y Tecnológico, México, Distrito Federal
- 13. Dirección General de Aguas (2017) Estimación de la demanda actual, proyecciones futuras y caracterización de la calidad de los recursos hídricos en Chile. Santiago, Chile
- Furnaro A (2019) Hegemony and passivity in mining regions: containing dissent in northcentral Chile. Extr Ind Soc 6:215–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exis.2018.07.009
- 15. Dirección General de Aguas (2020) Informe de Prensa DGA-MOP
- 16. Cochilco (2019) Proyección de consumo de agua en la minería del cobre 2019-2030
- 17. Garcia A (2020) Abordando la escasez hídrica para la minería del futuro

- Ahmad N, Baddour RE (2014) A review of sources, effects, disposal methods, and regulations of brine into marine environments. Ocean Coast Manag 87:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ocecoaman.2013.10.020
- Missimer TM, Maliva RG (2018) Environmental issues in seawater reverse osmosis desalination: intakes and outfalls. Desalination 434:198–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.desal.2017.07. 012
- 20. Sola I, Sánchez-Lizaso JL, Muñoz PT et al (2019) Assessment of the requirements within the environmental monitoring plans used to evaluate the environmental impacts of desalination plants in Chile. Water (Switzerland) 11:1–17. https://doi.org/10.3390/w11102085
- 21. Edwards G, Cristi O, Díaz C (2012) The effect of regulation uncertainty on water-right prices: the case of the Loa Basin in the Antofagasta region of Chile, Santiago
- 22. Jamasmie C (2013) Large miners affected by cost of desalinating water in Chile: twice as much as in the US
- 23. Sernageomin (2019) Catastro Nacional de Depósitos de Relaves en Chile
- 24. Fundación Chile (2020) Transforming mining tailing program. https://fch.cl/en/initiative/ tranque/
- Dold B (2010) Basic concepts in environmental geochemistry of sulfidic mine-waste management. In: Waste management. Springer, Berlin, pp 173–198
- 26. Correa JA, Castilla JC, Ramírez M et al (1999) Copper, copper mine tailings and their effect on marine algae in northern Chile. J Appl Phycol 11:57–67. https://doi.org/10.1023/ A:1008027610826
- 27. Blowes DW, Ptacek CJ, Jambor JL et al (2014) The geochemistry of acid mine drainage.2nd edn. Elsevier, Amsterdam
- Naidu G, Ryu S, Thiruvenkatachari R et al (2019) A critical review on remediation, reuse, and resource recovery from acid mine drainage. Environ Pollut 247:1110–1124. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.envpol.2019.01.085
- Zhang X, Tian J, Hu Y et al (2020) Selective sulfide precipitation of copper ions from arsenic wastewater using monoclinic pyrrhotite. Sci Total Environ 705:135816. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.scitotenv.2019.135816
- Figoli A, Ursino C, Santoro S et al (2020) Cellulose acetate nanofiltration membranes for cadmium remediation. J Membr Sci Res 6:226–234. https://doi.org/10.22079/jmsr.2020. 120669.1336
- Obreque-Contreras J, Pérez-Flores D, Gutiérrez P (2015) Acid mine drainage in Chile: an opportunity to apply bioremediation technology. J Waste Water Treat Anal 06:3. https://doi.org/ 10.4172/2157-7587.1000215
- 32. Herrero-Gonzalez M, Admon N, Dominguez-Ramos A et al (2020) Environmental sustainability assessment of seawater reverse osmosis brine valorization by means of electrodialysis with bipolar membranes. Environ Sci Pollut Res 27:1256–1266. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-019-04788-w
- Nleya Y, Simate GS, Ndlovu S (2016) Sustainability assessment of the recovery and utilisation of acid from acid mine drainage. J Clean Prod 113:17–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro. 2015.11.005
- Wenten IG, Ariono D, Purwasasmita M, Khoirudin (2017) Integrated processes for desalination and salt production: a mini-review. AIP Conf Proc 1818:5. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4976929
- 35. Centro de Estudios del Cobre y la Mineria (CESCO) (2019) Tailings are an opportunity to advance towards a loweer impact mining. https://www.cesco.cl/en/2019/08/16/tailings-are-anopportunity-to-advance-towards-a-lower-impact-mining/
- 36. Cochilco (2013) Copper market trends report January-March 2013
- Simsek Y, Lorca Á, Urmee T et al (2019) Review and assessment of energy policy developments in Chile. Energy Policy 127:87–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2018.11.058
- 38. Avci AH, Messana DA, Santoro S et al (2020) Energy harvesting from brines by reverse electrodialysis using nafion membranes. Membranes (Basel) 10:168. https://doi.org/10.3390/ membranes10080168

- Avci AH, Van Goethem C, Rijnaarts T et al (2021) Tuning the electrochemical properties of novel asymmetric integral sulfonated polysulfone cation exchange membranes. Molecules 26:265. https://doi.org/10.3390/MOLECULES26020265
- 40. Tun CM, Groth AM (2011) Sustainable integrated membrane contactor process for water reclamation, sodium sulfate salt and energy recovery from industrial effluent. Desalination 283:187–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.desal.2011.03.054
- 41. Quist-Jensen CA, Macedonio F, Drioli E (2016) Membrane crystallization for salts recovery from brine—an experimental and theoretical analysis. Desalin Water Treat 57:7593–7603. https://doi.org/10.1080/19443994.2015.1030110
- 42. Al-Obaidani S, Curcio E, Macedonio F et al (2008) Potential of membrane distillation in seawater desalination: thermal efficiency, sensitivity study and cost estimation. J Membr Sci 323:85–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2008.06.006
- 43. Ryu S, Naidu G, Moon H, Vigneswaran S (2020) Chemosphere selective copper recovery by membrane distillation and adsorption system from synthetic acid mine drainage. Chemosphere 260:127528. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.127528
- 44. Kesieme UK, Aral H (2015) Application of membrane distillation and solvent extraction for water and acid recovery from acidic mining waste and process solutions. J Environ Chem Eng 3:2050–2056. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jece.2015.07.008
- 45. Hull EJ, Zodrow KR (2017) Acid rock drainage treatment using membrane distillation: impacts of chemical-free pretreatment on scale formation, pore wetting, and product water quality. Environ Sci Technol 51:11928–11934. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.7b02957
- 46. Ryu S, Naidu G, Hasan Johir MA et al (2019) Acid mine drainage treatment by integrated submerged membrane distillation–sorption system. Chemosphere 218:955–965. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.11.153
- 47. Silva MR, Reis BG, Grossi LB, Amaral MCS (2020) Improving the energetic efficiency of direct-contact membrane distillation in mining effluent by using the waste-heat-and-water process as the cooling fluid. J Clean Prod 260:121035. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020. 121035
- 48. Santoro S, Vidorreta I, Coelhoso I et al (2019) Experimental evaluation of the thermal polarization in direct contact membrane distillation using electrospun nanofiber membranes doped with molecular probes. Molecules 24:638
- 49. Santoro S, Vidorreta IM, Sebastian V et al (2017) A non-invasive optical method for mapping temperature polarization in direct contact membrane distillation. J Membr Sci 536:156–166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2017.05.001
- Gopi G, Arthanareeswaran G, Ismail AF (2019) Perspective of renewable desalination by using membrane distillation. Chem Eng Res Des 144:520–537. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cherd.2019. 02.036
- Banat F, Jwaied N, Rommel M et al (2007) Desalination by a "compact SMADES" autonomous solarpowered membrane distillation unit. Desalination 217:29–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. desal.2006.11.028
- 52. Politano A (2019) The impact of thermoplasmonics in membrane technology. In: Basile A, Curcio E, Inamuddin Current trends and future developments on (bio-) membranes. Elsevier, 55–80
- Politano A, Argurio P, Di Profio G et al (2017) Photothermal membrane distillation for seawater desalination. Adv Mater 29:1603504. https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.201603504
- Huang Q, Gao S, Huang Y et al (2019) Study on photothermal PVDF/ATO nanofiber membrane and its membrane distillation performance. J Membr Sci 582:203–210. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.memsci.2019.04.019
- 55. Li W, Chen Y, Yao L et al (2020) Fe3O4/PVDF-HFP photothermal membrane with in-situ heating for sustainable, stable and efficient pilot-scale solar-driven membrane distillation. Desalination 478:114288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.desal.2019.114288
- 56. Guo T, Englehardt J, Wu T (2014) Review of cost versus scale: water and wastewater treatment and reuse processes. Water Sci Technol 69:223–234. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2013.734

- Mohammad AW, Teow YH, Ang WL et al (2015) Nanofiltration membranes review: recent advances and future prospects. Desalination 356:226–254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.desal.2014. 10.043
- 58. Aguiar AO, Andrade LH, Ricci BC et al (2016) Gold acid mine drainage treatment by membrane separation processes: an evaluation of the main operational conditions. Sep Purif Technol 170:360–369
- Mullett M, Fornarelli R, Ralph D (2014) Nanofiltration of mine water: impact of feed pH and membrane charge on resource recovery and water discharge. Membranes (Basel) 4:163–180. https://doi.org/10.3390/membranes4020163
- Jiang S, Li Y, Ladewig BP (2017) A review of reverse osmosis membrane fouling and control strategies. Sci Total Environ 595:567–583. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.03.235
- Di Profio G, Curcio E, Drioli E (2010) Supersaturation control and heterogeneous nucleation in membrane crystallizers: facts and perspectives. Ind Eng Chem Res 49:11878–11889. https:// doi.org/10.1021/ie100418z
- Curcio E, López-Mejías V, Di Profio G et al (2014) Regulating nucleation kinetics through molecular interactions at the polymer-solute interface. Cryst Growth Des 14:678–686. https:// doi.org/10.1021/cg4015543
- Quist-Jensen CA, Ali A, Mondal S et al (2016) A study of membrane distillation and crystallization for lithium recovery from high-concentrated aqueous solutions. J Membr Sci 505:167–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2016.01.033
- 64. Quist-Jensen CA, Macedonio F, Drioli E (2016) Integrated membrane desalination systems with membrane crystallization units for resource recovery: a new approach for mining from the sea. Crystals 2016:6. https://doi.org/10.3390/cryst6040036
- Salmón IR, Luis P (2018) Membrane crystallization via membrane distillation. Chem Eng Process Process Intensif 123:258–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cep.2017.11.017
- 66. Takiguchi M, Igarashi K, Azuma M, Ooshima H (2006) Tubular structure agglomerates of calcium carbonate crystals formed on a cation-exchange membrane. Cryst Growth Des 6:1611–1614. https://doi.org/10.1021/cg060045x
- Amini M, Rahbar-Kelishami A, Alipour M, Vahidi O (2018) Supported liquid membrane in metal ion separation: an overview. J Membr Sci Res 4:121–135. https://doi.org/10.22079/ JMSR.2017.63968.1138
- Gherasim CV, Cristea M, Grigoras CV, Bourceanu G (2011) New polymer inclusion membrane. Preparation and characterization. Dig J Nanomater Biostruct 6:1507–1516
- 69. Nghiem LD, Mornane P, Potter ID et al (2006) Extraction and transport of metal ions and small organic compounds using polymer inclusion membranes (PIMs). J Membr Sci 281:7–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2006.03.035
- Furukawa H, Cordova KE, O'Keeffe M, Yaghi OM (2013) The chemistry and applications of metal-organic frameworks. Science 80:341. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1230444
- 71. Zhao X, Wang Y, Li DS et al (2018) Metal–organic frameworks for separation. Adv Mater 30:1–34. https://doi.org/10.1002/adma.201705189
- 72. Rao Z, Feng K, Tang B, Wu P (2017) Surface decoration of amino-functionalized metal-organic framework/graphene oxide composite onto Polydopamine-coated membrane substrate for highly efficient heavy metal removal. Appl Mater Interf 9:2594–2605
- Yin N, Wang K, Wang L, Li Z (2016) Amino-functionalized MOFs combining ceramic membrane ultrafiltration for Pb (II) removal. Chem Eng J 306:619–628. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.cej.2016.07.064
- 74. Sun DT, Gasilova N, Yang S et al (2018) Rapid, selective extraction of trace amounts of gold from complex water mixtures with a metal–organic framework (MOF)/polymer composite. J Am Chem Soc 140:16697–16703. https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.8b09555

Part VI Conclusions and Recommendations

Updates, Conclusions, and Recommendations for "Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems"



Mahmoud Nasr 💿 and Abdelazim M. Negm

Contents

1	Introduction	522	
2	Aerobic Biological Treatment of Sewage	523	
3	Anaerobic Biological Treatment of Sewage	523	
4	Membrane Technology for Wastewater Treatment	524	
5	Electrochemical Methods of Wastewater Treatment	525	
6	Disinfection for Pathogen Reduction	525	
7	Improving Bioremediation Using Biosurfactants	526	
8	Emerging Organic Contaminants (EOCs) Removal	526	
9	Nanotechnology for Wastewater Treatment	527	
10	Biochar Synthesis and Applications to Treat Wastewater	527	
11	Wastewater Management	528	
12	Life Cycle Assessment (LCA)	528	
13	Conclusions	529	
Refe	References		

Abstract Recently, increasing the population growth rates has been associated with substantial evolution in urbanization, municipal activities, and the agro-industrial practices. These current progress and developments have contributed to the increase

M. Nasr (🖂)

e-mail: mahmoud-nasr@alexu.edu.eg; mahmoud.nasr@ejust.edu.eg

A. M. Negm

Mahmoud Nasr and Abdelazim M. Negm (eds.), *Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems*, Hdb Env Chem (2023) 118: 521–532, DOI 10.1007/698_2022_912, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022, Published online: 18 October 2022

Environmental Engineering Department, Egypt-Japan University of Science and Technology (E-JUST), Alexandria, Egypt

Sanitary Engineering Department, Faculty of Engineering, Alexandria University, Alexandria, Egypt

Water and Water Structures Engineering Department, Faculty of Engineering, Zagazig University, Zagazig, Egypt

of wastewater disposals, carrying pathogenic organisms and several organic and inorganic pollutants. The design and implementation of wastewater treatment technologies have been upgraded to maintain pollution reduction strategies and costsaving opportunities. Wastewater treatment systems could be classified into either natural (ecological) or mechanized (equipped) based, mainly according to resource utilization and operating conditions. The natural wastewater treatment systems, such as ponds, wetlands, and retention soil filters, are commonly constructed outdoor from simple and ecological material (sand, gravel, plants, etc.). The engineered systems are used to treat wastewater (primary, secondary, and tertiary processes) by installing several reactors connected to equipment such as pumps, diffusers, heaters, etc. This chapter contains some updates and conclusions acquired from the application of the engineered-based processes in wastewater treatment. Some recommendations that could enhance the performance of mechanized systems in treating different wastewater types to meet the strict national and international regulations are given.

Keywords Biological wastewater treatment, Mechanized units, Pre- and posttreatment, Recycle and reuse, Water quality regulation

1 Introduction

Recently, various domestic, municipal, agricultural, and industrial activities have been substantially increased as a result of rapid population growth [1, 2]. The expansion of these practices is associated with disposing of large volumes of waste discharges [3]. The released wastewater carries various inert materials, toxic/hazard elements, persistent/emerging substances, micro/nano-particles, and organic and inorganic contaminants [4, 5]. Once these pollutants reach the environmental dimensions (water, soil, and air), they cause negative and adverse impacts on human health [6, 7]. Various infectious diseases and symptoms (neurologic, hematologic, and immunologic) are observed due to exposure to wastewater [8, 9]. In this regard, environmental engineers, scientists, and researchers are exerting extra efforts to develop wastewater treatment methods that could reduce waste and achieve additional benefits such as energy and fertilizer productions [10, 11].

The wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) can be designed, implemented, and operated to remove pollutants via three sequential stages [12]. Some contaminants are removed in the primary step through screening, floatation, and/or precipitation. Other pollutants with biodegradable characteristics are removed in the biological (secondary) treatment process, where microorganisms tend to utilize/oxidize the organic substances for their maintenance and growth [13]. Moreover, nitrogen species are removed in this stage via a sequential nitrification/denitrification process. Certain pollutants related to heavy metals, pathogenic organisms [14], nonbiodegradable compounds, and other species not utilized by microorganisms

are removed in the tertiary phase. This step includes disinfection (chlorination), ion exchange, micro/ultra-filtration (e.g., membrane separation technology), and adsorption (activated carbon as adsorbent). It's essential to gain knowledge about these wastewater treatment phases to recover main resources (e.g., water, energy, and nutrients) and have a final effluent complying with the reuse standards [15, 16].

To highlight the idea and concept of engineered wastewater treatment systems, representing the primary, secondary, and tertiary stages, the following sections briefly describe the main updates, conclusions, and recommendations of this book volume titled "Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems."

2 Aerobic Biological Treatment of Sewage

Aerobic treatment technologies, including suspended and attached growth bioreactors, could convert a wide range of organic pollutants into carbon dioxide and settleable substances such as bacterial biomass [17]. Some aerobic-based treatment systems are also used to oxidize ammonium and nitrite to form nitrate via a nitrification process [18]. Aerobic systems could also be integrated with anaerobic and anoxic treatment processes for nitrogen and phosphorus recovery from wastewater [19]. The anaerobic/anoxic/aerobic integrated scheme is used to have a final effluent complying with the disposal of regulations and guidelines and applicable for reuse in agriculture and aquaculture [20]. Although the aerobic treatment systems have been broadly employed for pollution reduction, they suffer from both excess energy utilization (due to air supply) and high sludge production [21]. Moreover, they are inefficient in completely removing color/dyes with complex chemical structures recalcitrant toward degradation [22]. Furthermore, the aerobic process is not recommended for treating high-strength wastewater with a low biological oxygen demand (BOD): chemical oxygen demand (COD) ratio (e.g., 0.3:1). In addition, a post-treatment step is required to remove micropollutants, antibiotic-resistant bacteria, and waterborne pathogenic microbes. Hence, more studies are required to optimize the process configuration (suspended, attached, or hybrid), feed condition (batch, continuous, or semi-batch), and oxidation state (use oxygen as an electron acceptor).

3 Anaerobic Biological Treatment of Sewage

Anaerobic digestion is an environmentally valuable process used in waste management [23]. This technology is developed to treat both domestic and industrial wastes combined with green energy generation. Some points related to the anaerobic digestion of wastes should be discussed and evaluated, as follows:

• Environmental, techno-economic, and policy of biogas production by anaerobic digestion.

- Biogas-based cooking technology is considered a smart investment for gender empowerment and livelihood enhancement.
- Integration of heat, power, and biogas as an effective solution for carbon emission reduction.
- Identifying microbial communities involved in the conversion of organic matters into bioenergy via an anaerobic digestion process.
- Collaboration and information-sharing between scientific research entities, private industries, and governmental agencies for encouraging bioenergy production [24].
- The application of clean and renewable energy should be promoted for better human empowerment and livelihood.

4 Membrane Technology for Wastewater Treatment

Membrane distillation is an emerging technique used to enable a sustainable wastewater management strategy [25]. Membrane distillation is operated under temperature difference (vapor pressure difference), where a hydrophobic membrane separates the volatile solutes from the nonvolatile liquid. In particular, the vapor from the liquid phase passes through a hydrophobic membrane and further condensates (as a high-quality product) on the other side of the membrane. Solar-driven membrane distillation systems are beneficial for the dual benefit of water desalination and energy-saving [26]. The distillation process is used not only for desalination but also for heavy metal removal and valuable substance recovery. The implementation of membrane distillation for resource recovery (e.g., water, energy, and raw materials) complies with the zero liquid discharge and the circular economy paradigms [25].

Membrane bioreactor (MBR) is another application of membrane technology for water treatment. In this system, ultra- or microfiltration membranes are used to separate the solid phase (suspended biomass) and liquid phase (water), equivalent to the secondary settler of the conventional biological treatment system [27]. The configuration of MBRs could be either immersed MBR (the membrane module is submerged in the aeration basin) or cross-flow MBR (the membrane module is separated from the aeration tank). Although the immersed MBR occupies a smaller area of land, it requires larger energy inputs to supply air for maintaining both aerobic conditions and membrane surface scouring/cleaning. The MBR system has the advantages of producing a high-quality effluent, reducing the plant footprint, enhancing the control of hydraulic retention time (HRT) and sludge retention time (SRT), and enriching the nitrifying bacteria [28].

5 Electrochemical Methods of Wastewater Treatment

Electrochemical methods depend on the interrelation between the electrical and chemical routes for pollutants removal from wastewater. For example, electrocoagulation is a process that depends on the application of electric current between metal electrodes (Al and Fe), resulting in the dissolution of a sacrificial anode; and further coagulant species are formed [29]. These species include colloidal particles of Al(OH)₃ and Fe(OH)₃, attaining adsorption (physically or chemically) with pollutants. In parallel, pollutants could be removed due to the cathodic reaction via (1) flotation (hydrogen gas (H₂) evolution at the cathode) and/or (2) deposition on the cathode electrode. The enhancement in these pathways depends on the optimization of various operational factors such as current density, solution pH and temperature, electrode design (arrangement, surface area, and inter-distance), and water conductivity [30].

Some points related to the electrochemical processes should be discussed and evaluated, as follows:

- More efforts should be put into manufacturing new electrode material and selecting the proper oxidants, catalysts, and reagents.
- Enhance the understanding of the pollutant degradation kinetics and routes.
- Optimize the operational factors, including electrode surface area, solution pH and temperature, and current density, which affect gas evolution during electrochemical treatment of wastewaters.
- By-products generated from the degradation process should be recycled for sustainable development, especially in real wastewater treatment systems.
- Develop and evaluate new and inexpensive catalytic materials, with fast preparation pathways, to comply with the continuous expansion of industrial practices.

6 Disinfection for Pathogen Reduction

Disinfection is generally employed at the tertiary stage to inhibit or destroy the microbial pathogens before final disposal [31]. This process is achieved via chlorination (adding chlorine, chlorine dioxide, or chloramines), ozonation, and ultraviolet (UV) light radiation. However, the dose of disinfectants should be optimized because excess chlorine addition would generate trihalomethanes (THMs); i.e., the main disinfection by-products (DBPs) [32]. The occurrence of THMs in water bodies might cause risks to the public's health. Hence, it's essential to develop efficient predictive models for determining the levels of THMs. Moreover, the chlorine contact tanks should be properly designed and constructed to avoid chlorine loss and reduce the formation of THMs.

7 Improving Bioremediation Using Biosurfactants

Biosurfactants are biomolecules produced by different microorganisms for improving the relevant bioremediation, biodegradation, and detoxification performances [33, 34]. Biosurfactants could enhance the bioavailability of substrate for microbial species, offering various applications in environment protection (e.g., oil recovery, and treatment of agro-industrial and animal wastes) [35]. It's essential to:

- Well define the popular microbes and substrates involved in biosurfactant production [36].
- Highlight the challenges in biosurfactant production and its application in different industries [37]
- Evaluate the economic feasibility of the large-scale application of biosurfactants in wastewater treatment.
- Predict and demonstrate the biosurfactants' performance for oil recovery.
- Use cheap and green materials for developing efficient microbes to produce more amounts of biosurfactants with lower expenses.
- Ensure the implementation of guidelines and regulations for maintaining adequate biosurfactant purification technologies.

8 Emerging Organic Contaminants (EOCs) Removal

Emerging organic contaminants (EOCs) include any chemicals or microorganisms that enter the environment synthetically or naturally but are not commonly monitored in the environment [38]. This group of newly discovered contaminants has the potential to pose risks to human health and ecosystems, even if they are present in the aquatic environment with trace levels (ng/L or μ g/L). Several groups of EOCs are most completely persistent to common biological degradation processes, which take place in nature or during conventional wastewater treatment [39]. The complexity, persistence, and concentration of EOCs are the main barriers for selecting the most suitable water/wastewater treatment systems. It's required to:

- Investigate innovative technologies, with economic analysis, for the elimination of EOCs.
- Raise awareness among citizens about the risks associated with increasing the EOCs levels in the aquatic environment.
- Fill the knowledge gaps and clarify key ideas and technological trends for adopting the best EOCs removal methods.
- Perform further studies to improve the socio-economic perspectives in EOC removal and optimize the current innovative technologies, with acceptable costs.

9 Nanotechnology for Wastewater Treatment

Nanotechnology has been recently used for tackling the global issues of water and soil environmental pollution [40]. The nanotechnology applications include [41, 42] (1) adsorption and biosorption (e.g., carbon, metal, and polymer based), (2) nano-filtration, (3) photocatalysis, (4) disinfection and pathological control, and (5) sensing and monitoring. Future studies associated with nanotechnology applications for environmental remediation should include:

- Overcome the challenges of nanoparticles transfer, (eco)toxicity, and cost-effectiveness.
- Develop advanced characterization of nanomaterial before and after application.
- Green synthesis of nanomaterials, such as using green tea leaves extract, is essential to maintain environmental sustainability [43].
- Due to their biocompatibility, biodegradability, and eco-friendless, nanoparticles fabricated from the plant biomass could be used in various biomedical and biotechnology applications [42].
- Identify the concentrations (levels), physicochemical properties, and reactivities of nanoparticles in the environment.

10 Biochar Synthesis and Applications to Treat Wastewater

The thermochemical treatment of biomass feedstock under an oxygen-limited condition is used to prepare a solid material, known as biochar [44]. Biochar has been progressively used in several industrial and agricultural activities due to its unique physical, mechanical, and chemical properties [45]. These properties depend on the type and source of biomass feedstock and the pretreatment method [46]. Moreover, the biochar properties depend on the pyrolysis operating factors (e.g., residence time, temperature, heating rate, and reactor type). Biochar could be modified using chemical or thermal treatment processes to improve its tendency to adsorb more quantities of pollutants from wastewater [47]. Biochar application in wastewater treatment has been broadly increased, mainly depending on its degree of carbonization [48]. Biochar's ability to treat wastewater also relies on its surface area, pore size distribution, surface functional groups, and the target pollutants to be removed. The sorption mechanisms vary mainly based on the properties of both contaminants (adsorbate) and biochars (adsorbent). The adsorption of heavy metals by biochar occurs by multiple mechanisms, including [44] (a) electrostatic attraction between cations and negatively charged function groups, (b) complexation with π electronrich domain or surface functional groups, (c) ion exchange between positive metal ions and alkaline earth metals (or protons), and (d) pore-filling/co-precipitation as insoluble compounds. Biochar could be used as a low-cost material to maintain the adsorption process, either by mixing (batch) or fixed-bed column methods. Adsorption process could be integrated with the conventional wastewater treatment plants to

enhance the removal of heavy metals and inorganic pollutants. The desorption, reactivation, and regeneration of biochars exhausted with the organic and inorganic compounds should be well defined. Techno-economic analysis of engineered biochar should be conducted to better understand its sustainability for large-scale applications.

11 Wastewater Management

The exponential growth in the world population has recently increased the gap between water supply and demand [49]. The collection, treatment, and reuse of wastewater are essential tasks to protect and conserve water resources. These processes require additional work such as GHGs emissions control, monitoring and regulation activities, and material recycling and composting. Some points should be considered for achieving the best wastewater management practices, as follows:

- Decision-makers should be aware of the technical possibilities of water recovery, installation costs, and the lack of legal solutions.
- Water recovery and reuse issues and the respective legal solutions should be highlighted [50].
- Overcome the lack of appropriate legal standards governing the design and operation of water recovery installations.
- Water, nutrients, and energy recovery is not only important for environmental protection, but can also bring measurable financial benefits.
- The use of recycled water will reduce both the need for drinking water and the generation of wastewater [11].
- The support of the state administration and the establishment of a multi-annual program should be integrated for maintaining new water recovery technologies.

12 Life Cycle Assessment (LCA)

Life cycle assessment (LCA) is an advanced evaluation tool used for analyzing the environmental impacts accompanied by project implementation; hence, it's considered a cradle-to-grave or cradle-to-cradle analysis technique [51]. Life cycle assessment (LCA) should be applied to evaluate the environmental burden of recycling wastewater generated from various residential, governmental, commercial, and public activities [52]. The scope of the LCA includes evaluation of primary, secondary, and tertiary treatments, with sludge management. Policies, public awareness, and supporting the legislation are essential factors used to address freshwater scarcity worldwide and achieve water sustainability [13]. Wastewater should be subjected to appropriate treatment techniques for adhering to the four stages outlined

by the ISO 14040/44 LCA standards. More LCA studies are essential to solve the most significant issues influencing the development of a combined reclaimed water use scheme in the agro-industrial applications.

13 Conclusions

In this chapter, some of the major updates and conclusions covered by the book volume "Cost-efficient Wastewater Treatment Technologies: Engineered Systems" are highlighted. In addition, a set of recommendations for enhancing the performances of primary (physical), secondary (biological), and tertiary (advanced) processes for treating wastewater was developed. The recommendations include the design, implementation, and operation of engineered wastewater treatment systems, giving a final effluent obeying the reuse standards. The key information and findings of this chapter would encourage environmental researchers, engineers, managers, and scientists in selecting practical and cost-effective mechanized systems for wastewater treatment.

Acknowledgments The editors who wrote this chapter would like to thank the authors of the chapters for their efforts during the different phases of the book including their inputs in this chapter. The first author acknowledges Nasr Academy for Sustainable Environment (NASE). The second author acknowledges the support of the Science, Technology, and Innovation Authority (STIFA) of Egypt in the framework of the grant no. 30771 for the project titled "A Novel Standalone Solar-driven Agriculture Greenhouse - Desalination System: That Grows its Energy and Irrigation Water" via the Newton-Mosharafa Funding Scheme Call 4.

References

- Ansari F, Ravindran B, Gupta S, Nasr M, Rawat I, Bux F (2019) Techno-economic estimation of wastewater phycoremediation and environmental benefits using Scenedesmus obliquus microalgae. J Environ Manage 240:293–302
- Ansari F, Nasr M, Rawat I, Bux F (2021) Artificial neural network and techno-economic estimation with algae-based tertiary wastewater treatment. J Water Process Eng 40:101761. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jwpe.2020.101761
- 3. Fawzy M, Nasr M, Helmi S, Nagy H (2016) Experimental and theoretical approaches for Cd (II) biosorption from aqueous solution using Oryza sativa biomass. Int J Phytoremediation 18(11):1096–1103
- 4. İlyasoglu G, Kose-Mutlu B, Mutlu-Salmanli O, Koyuncu I (2022) Removal of organic micropollutans by adsorptive membrane. Chemosphere 302:134775
- Ansari F, Singh P, Guldhe A, Bux F (2017) Microalgal cultivation using aquaculture wastewater: integrated biomass generation and nutrient remediation. Algal Res 21:169–177
- Bayat F, Didar T, Hosseinidoust Z (2021) Emerging investigator series: bacteriophages as nano engineering tools for quality monitoring and pathogen detection in water and wastewater. Environ Sci Nano 8(2):367–389

- Gupta S, Kumar N, Guldhe A, Ansari F, Rawat I, Nasr M, Bux F (2018) Wastewater to biofuels: comprehensive evaluation of various flocculants on biochemical composition and yield of microalgae. Ecol Eng 117:62–68
- 8. USEPA (2009) Targeted National Sewage Sludge Survey Sampling and Analysis Technical Report. United States Environmental Protection Agency, Washington
- Fawzy M, Nasr M, Adel S, Helmi S (2018) Regression model, artificial neural network, and cost estimation for biosorption of Ni(II)-ions from aqueous solutions by Potamogeton pectinatus. Int J Phytoremediation 20(4):321–329
- Nasr M, Shmroukh A (2020) Gray-to-green infrastructure for stormwater management: an applicable approach in Alexandria City, Egypt. In: Negm A (ed) Flash floods in Egypt. Advances in science, technology & innovation (IEREK interdisciplinary series for sustainable development). Springer, Cham, pp 369–379. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-29635-3_16
- Fawzy M, Nasr M, Nagy H, Helmi S (2018) Artificial intelligence and regression analysis for Cd(II) ion biosorption from aqueous solution by Gossypium barbadense waste. Environ Sci Pollut Res 25(6):5875–5888
- 12. Abdulla H, El-Shatoury S, El-Shahawy A, Ghorab S, Nasr M, Trujillo M (2019) An integrated bioaugmentation/electrocoagulation concept for olive mill wastewater management and the reuse in irrigation of biofuel plants: a pilot study. Environ Sci Pollut Res 26(16):15803–15815
- Dewalkar S, Shastri S (2022) Integrated life cycle assessment and life cycle cost assessment based fuzzy multi-criteria decision-making approach for selection of appropriate wastewater treatment system. J Water Process Eng 45:102476
- 14. Wang M, Zhu J, Mao X (2021) Removal of pathogens in onsite wastewater treatment systems: a review of design considerations and influencing factors. Water 13(9):1190
- Jorge C, Almeida M, Brito R, Covas D (2022) Water, energy, and emissions nexus: effect of inflows in urban drainage systems. Water 14(6):868
- Ahmad Ansari F, Nasr M, Guldhe A, Kumar Gupta S, Rawat I, Bux F (2020) Techno-economic feasibility of algal aquaculture via fish and biodiesel production pathways: a commercial-scale application. Sci Total Environ 704:135259
- Jin L, Sun X, Ren H, Huang H (2023) Hotspots and trends of biological water treatment based on bibliometric review and patents analysis. J Environ Sci 125:774–785
- Zulkifli M, Abu Hasan H, Abdullah SS, Muhamad M (2022) A review of ammonia removal using a biofilm-based reactor and its challenges. J Environ Manage 315:115162
- He Y, Zhang Y, Li T, Peng X, Jia X (2022) High-concentration COD wastewater treatment with simultaneous removal of nitrogen and phosphorus by a novel Candida tropicalis strain: removal capability and mechanism. Environ Res 212:113471
- 20. Nasr M, Ismail S (2015) Performance evaluation of sedimentation followed by constructed wetlands for drainage water treatment. Sustain Environ Res 25(3):141–150
- Xu D, Li J, Liu J, Qu X, Ma H (2022) Advances in continuous flow aerobic granular sludge: a review. Process Saf Environ Prot 163:27–35
- 22. Nasr M (2019) Environmental perspectives of plant-microbe nexus for soil and water remediation. In: Kumar V, Prasad R, Kumar M, Choudhary D (eds) Microbiome in plant health and disease. Springer, Singapore, pp 403–419. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-8495-0_18
- 23. Long S, Liu X, Chen J, Zhao L, Pavlostathis S (2022) Effect of tetracycline on bio-electrochemically assisted anaerobic methanogenic systems: process performance, microbial community structure, and functional genes. Sci Total Environ 837:155756
- 24. Jaiswal M, Hussain J, Gupta S, Nasr M, Nema A (2019) Comprehensive evaluation of water quality status for entire stretch of Yamuna River, India. Environ Monit Assess 191(4):208
- 25. Pawar R, Zhang Z, Vidic R (2022) Laboratory and pilot-scale studies of membrane distillation for desalination of produced water from Permian Basin. Desalination 537:115853
- 26. Ali M, Shahat A, Ayoub T, Kamel R (2022) Fabrication of high flux polysulfone/mesoporous silica nanocomposite ultrafiltration membranes for industrial wastewater treatment. Biointerface Res Appl Chem 12(6):7556–7572

- 27. Wang C, Ding M, Ng TA, Yong Ng H (2022) Enhanced dissolved methane recovery and energy-efficient fouling mitigation via membrane vibration in anaerobic membrane bioreactor. Resour Conserv Recycl 184:106404
- Zhang M, Leung K-T, Lin H, Liao B (2022) Evaluation of membrane fouling in a microalgalbacterial membrane photobioreactor: effects of SRT. Sci Total Environ 839:156414
- 29. Biswas B, Goel S (2022) Electrocoagulation and electrooxidation technologies for pesticide removal from water or wastewater: a review. Chemosphere 302:134709
- 30. Asfaha Y, Zewge F, Yohannes T, Kebede S (2022) Application of hybrid electrocoagulation and electrooxidation process for treatment of wastewater from the cotton textile industry. Chemosphere 302:134706
- 31. Ghordouei Milan E, Mahvi A, Nabizadeh R, Alimohammadi M (2022) What is the effect on antibiotic resistant genes of chlorine disinfection in drinking water supply systems? A systematic review protocol. Environ Evid 11(1):11
- 32. Li R, McDonald J, Sathasivan A, Khan S (2022) Multivariate experimental design provides insights for the optimisation of rechloramination conditions and water age to control disinfectant decay and disinfection by-product formation in treated drinking water. Sci Total Environ 830:154324
- Vieira I, Santos B, Ruzene D, Silva D (2021) An overview of current research and developments in biosurfactants. J Ind Eng Chem 100:1–18
- 34. Saharan B, Sahu R, Sharma D (2012) A review on biosurfactants: fermentation, current developments and perspectives. Genet Eng Biotechnol J:1–14
- Markande A, Patel D, Varjani S (2021) A review on biosurfactants: properties, applications and current developments. Bioresour Technol 330:124963
- 36. Karlapudi A, Venkateswarulu T, Tammineedi J, Kanumuri L, Ravuru B, Dirisala V, Kodali V (2018) Role of biosurfactants in bioremediation of oil pollution a review. Petroleum 4(3): 241–249
- 37. Saleem H, Pal P, Haija M, Banat F (2019) Regeneration and reuse of bio-surfactant to produce colloidal gas aphrons for heavy metal ions removal using single and multistage cascade flotation. J Clean Prod 217:493–502
- Omi F, Rastgar M, Sadrzadeh M (2022) Synergistic effect of thermal dehydrating on the emerging contaminants removal via electro-Fenton. J Clean Prod 356:131880
- 39. Escolà Casas M, Larzabal E, Matamoros V (2022) Exploring the usage of artificial root exudates to enhance the removal of contaminants of emerging concern in slow sand filters: synthetic vs. real wastewater conditions. Sci Total Environ 824:153978
- 40. Fito J, Kefeni K, Nkambule T (2022) The potential of biochar-photocatalytic nanocomposites for removal of organic micropollutants from wastewater. Sci Total Environ 829:154648
- 41. Tee G, Gok X, Yong W (2022) Adsorption of pollutants in wastewater via biosorbents, nanoparticles and magnetic biosorbents: a review. Environ Res 212:113248
- 42. Nakum J, Bhattacharya D (2022) Various green nanomaterials used for wastewater and soil treatment: a mini-review. Front Environ Sci 9:724814
- 43. Raza A, Altaf S, Ali S, Ikram M, Li G (2022) Recent advances in carbonaceous sustainable nanomaterials for wastewater treatments. Sustain Mater Technol 32:e00406
- 44. Kumi A, Ibrahim M, Fujii M, Nasr M (2022) Petrochemical wastewater treatment by eggshell modified biochar as adsorbent: a techno-economic and sustainable approach. Adsorpt Sci Technol 2022:2323836
- 45. He Q, Li X, Ren Y (2022) Analysis of the simultaneous adsorption mechanism of ammonium and phosphate on magnesium-modified biochar and the slow release effect of fertiliser. Biochar 4(1):25
- 46. Ezz H, Ibrahim M, Fujii M, Nasr M (2021) Dual biogas and biochar production from rice straw biomass: a techno-economic and sustainable development approach. Biomass Convers Bioref
- 47. Kumi A, Ibrahim M, Fujii M, Nasr M (2020) Synthesis of sludge-derived biochar modified with eggshell waste for monoethylene glycol removal from aqueous solutions. SN Appl Sci 2(10): 1696

- 48. Kumi A, Ibrahim M, Nasr M, Fujii M (2020) Biochar synthesis for industrial wastewater treatment: a critical review. Mater Sci Forum 1008:202–212
- 49. Fawzy M, Nasr M, Abdel-Rahman A, Hosny G, Odhafa B (2019) Techno-economic and environmental approaches of Cd2+ adsorption by olive leaves (Olea europaea L.) waste. Int J Phytoremediation 21(12):1205–1214
- 50. Deepnarain N, Nasr M, Kumari S, Stenström T, Reddy P, Pillay K, Bux F (2020) Artificial intelligence and multivariate statistics for comprehensive assessment of filamentous bacteria in wastewater treatment plants experiencing sludge bulking. Environ Technol Innov 19:100853. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eti.2020.100853
- Deepak A, Sharma V, Kumar D (2022) Life cycle assessment of biomedical waste management for reduced environmental impacts. J Clean Prod 349:131376
- 52. Al-Anbari M, Altaee S, Kareem S (2022) Using life cycle assessment (LCA) in appraisal sustainability indicators of Najaf wastewater treatment plant. Egypt J Chem 65(9):513–519